
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, September 3, 2013 
6 p.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Special Presentation: Colorado State Senator for District 18, Rollie Heath, will discuss 
the State ballot item related to education 

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 

address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place, any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time. (Roll call vote required) 
 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from August 5, 

2013 
 

B. Consideration of a motion to accept the City Council Study Session Summary from July 
30, 2013 on Boulder’s Climate Commitment, Energy Efficiency Programs and 
Market Innovation Program Updates 
 

C. Consideration of a motion to accept the City Council Study Session Summary from July 
30, 2013 on the preliminary draft plan of the Boulder Civic Area 
 

D.  Fourth reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7832 amending 
Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, regarding standards for congregate care 
facilities 
 

E. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7924 vacating 
and authorizing the City Manager to execute a deed of vacation to vacate a portion of a 
twenty-foot emergency access and utility easement in association with an approved use 
review request to locate 68 attached multi-family residential units in an industrial zoning 
district at 6655 lookout Road 
 

F. Consideration of the following items related to Boulder County properties identified as 
5399 Kewanee Drive and 5697 South Boulder Road commonly referred to as the 
Hogan-Pancost site: 
 

Packet Page     1



 
 

1. A resolution finding the annexation petition in compliance with state statutes and 
establishing Oct. 3, 2013, as the date for a public hearing; 

 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, an ordinance vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute a deed of 
vacation to vacate a portion of unused public right-of-way of 55th Street pursuant to 
section 8-6-9(c), “Vacation of Public Rights of Way and Public Access Easements,” 
B.R.C. 1981, and 

 
3. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, an ordinance annexing the subject properties including adjacent parts of 55th 

Street with an initial zoning classification of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2) 
 

G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only the 
three ordinances as follows: An ordinance amending Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” 
B.R.C. 1981; an ordinance adding a new Chapter 6-16, “ Recreational Marijuana,” and a 
new Section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, and an 
ordinance amending Section 5-10 “Marijuana Offenses”, all to implement and comply 
with the requirements of Amendment 64 to the Colorado State Constitution. 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7923 designating 
the building and property at 3015 Kalmia Ave., to be known as the Lundgren-Harper 
House, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation Ordinance 
 

B. Second Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7925 amending 
chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7, 10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5 and 10-10, B.R.C. 1981, 
adding new chapter 10-8.5; adopting by reference, with amendments, the 2012 
International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, Energy Conservation, 
Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas and Plumbing Codes, and the 
2011 Electrical National Code, amending sections 4-20-47, “Zoning Adjustment 
Filing Fees”, and 2-3-4 “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 1981; and setting forth 
related details 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to accept the Boulder Police Master Plan, approve the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Police Master Plan Summary and 
amend the BVCP Urban Service Criteria and Standards for Urban Police Protection 
 

Packet Page     2



 
 

D. Consideration of a motion to approve The Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   
 
None 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

A. Update on Ballot Order 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
1. Site and Use Review for 1852 Arapahoe Information Packet Date: September 3 Last 

Opportunity: September 3 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 

under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 
p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification 
prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish 
interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con 
relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 
días antes de la junta. Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at 
the time of sign up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  
Electronic media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical 
support is provided by staff. 

 

Packet Page     3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     4



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

August 5, 2013 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Mayor Appelbaum called the regular August 5, 2013 City Council meeting to order at 
6:00 PM in Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, 
Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, and Plass. Council Member Wilson was absent.  

 
A. PRESENTATION BY HEATH HARMON FROM BOULDER COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT REGARDING IMPACTS OF MARIJUANA ON YOUTH 
 

Heath Harmon from the Boulder County Health Department gave a presentation on 
Marijuana and its impacts on youth and the developing brain. 

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE  

 
None 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
None 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 
NO. 7910, SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD 
ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION OF AMENDING SECTION 98, 
“TERM OF BONDS-DISPOSAL OF BONDS,” OF THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER TO AUTHORIZE NEGOTIATED OR PRIVATE SALES OF BONDS AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

Chief Financial Officer Bob Eichem presented on this item.  
 
Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Cowles, to amend 
Ordinance No. 7910, submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the 
general municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 5, 2013, the 
question of amending section 98, “Term of bonds-disposal of bonds,” of the Charter 
of the City of Boulder to authorize negotiated or private sales of bonds, by removing 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

the words “instead of a public sale” in the ballot measure language. The motion 
carried 8:0 with Council Member Wilson absent. Vote was taken at 6:50 PM. 

 
B. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 

NO. 7914 SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD 
ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 THE QUESTION OF AMENDING CHARTER 
SECTION 130 AND OTHER RELATED CHARTER SECTIONS REMOVING THE 
REQUIREMENT THAT INDIVIDUALS BE CITY ELECTORS TO SERVE ON CITY 
BOARDS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 

C. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 
NO. 7915 SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD 
ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE QUESTION OF EXTENDING ORDINANCE 
7907, THE MORATORIUM ON ACCEPTING AND PROCESSING APPLICATIONS FOR 
DRILLING PERMITS ON CITY OF BOULDER OPEN SPACE PROPERTIES AND ON ANY 
CITY PERMITS OR USE REVIEW OF NEW MINING INDUSTRY USES INVOLVING OIL 
AND GAS EXTRACTION AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS  
 

City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 
The public hearing for items 5A, 5B and 5C was opened at 6:36 PM: 
 

1. Janet Heimer – Spoke in support of removing the requirement that only 
registered voters were allowed to serve on boards and commissions. 

 
2. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke as a private citizen in favor of removing the 

registered elector requirement from boards and commissions. 
 
3. Carolyn Bninski – Spoke in favor of removing the registered elector 

requirement for serving on boards and commissions. She also spoke in favor of 
the moratorium on hydraulic fracturing. 

 
4. James Duncan – Spoke in favor of extending the moratorium on hydraulic 

fracturing. 
 
There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 6:43 PM. 
 
Council Member Becker moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to continue 
Ordinance No. 7914 and Ordinance No. 7915 to the August 20 meeting on the 
Consent agenda. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member Wilson absent. Vote 
taken at 6:543 PM. 

 
D. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 

NO. 7912 AND ORDINANCE 7913 SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION 
TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE ISSUES OF WHETHER THE 
CITY OF BOULDER SHOULD: 1) EXTEND AND DEDICATE TO OPEN SPACE, 
TRANSPORTATION AND GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES A 0.33 CENT SALES 
TAX; AND 2) IMPOSE A NEW 0.15 CENT SALES TAX TO BE DEDICATED TO 
TRANSPORTATION AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 

E. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE 
NO. 7916 SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD 
ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE CITY OF 
BOULDER TAXES SHOULD BE INCREASED BY AN EXCISE TAX OF UP TO 10 
PERCENT OF THE AVERAGE MARKET VALUE OF UNPROCESSED RECREATIONAL 
MARIJUANA FROM A RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA CULTIVATION FACILITY AND A 
SALES AND USE TAX OF UP TO 10 PERCENT ON RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 

 
The public hearing for items 5D and 5E was opened at 7:20 PM: 
 

1. Jeff Almony – Spoke as a child psychiatrist and employee of Mental Health 
Partners in favor of higher taxes on recreational marijuana to assist in covering 
costs related to intervention and prevention. 

 
2. Tom Isaacson – Spoke in favor of dedicating taxes to acquisition of open space 

land.  
 
3. Karey Christ-Janer – Spoke about the recreational marijuana taxes and urged 

Council to consider dedicating more of the revenue to education and 
prevention. 

 
4. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke on behalf of the Boulder Chamber in favor of 

passing taxes for open space, transportation and the general fund. She urged 
Council to allocate resources evenly to fulfill the needs of the city. 

 
5. Sue Prant – Spoke on behalf of Community Cycles in favor of the 

transportation tax.  
 
6. Zane Selvans – Spoke as a private citizen in favor of a tax dedicated to 

transportation. He mentioned that he is a member of the Transportation 
Advisory Board (TAB), but was not speaking on its behalf. 

 
7. Dick Harris – Spoke as a private citizen urging Council to separate the 

dedicated taxes into two separate ballot questions to give the public the choice 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 
 

as to what they would like to fund and/or not fund. He supported the taxes 
being proposed. 

 
8. Allyn Feinberg – Spoke as the Chair of the Open Space Board of Trustees 

(OSBT) in favor of dedicated tax revenue for open space acquisition. She 
agreed that the taxes should be two separate ballot questions because they are 
dedicated to two separate purposes. 

 
9. Edie Stevens – Spoke on behalf of FOBOS (Friends of Boulder Open Space) 

expressing concern about lowering the dedicated tax revenues for open space.  
 
10. Donald Misch – Spoke about recreational marijuana taxes and compared the 

proposed taxes in other states to those being proposed in Colorado. 
 
11. Jessica Yates – Spoke as the Chair of TAB in favor of dedicated tax revenue 

for transportation purposes. 
 
12. Shawn Coleman – Discussed problems that may arise if recreational marijuana 

was overtaxed. He warned that the underground market would prevail if 
commercial prices were higher. 

 
There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 8:07 PM. 
 
Discussion of Ordinance 7912 regarding the .33% Open Space tax: 
 
Council Member Morzel moved to amend Ordinance No. 7912 as presented in 
Attachment C. The motion failed for lack of a second (8:10 PM). 
 
Council Member Jones moved, seconded by Council Member Ageton, to amend 
Ordinance No. 7912 to provide a .22 cent tax dedicated to the acquisition and 
preservation of open space, and a .11cent sales tax dedicated to general governance 
purposes from January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2034 dedicated to general 
governance purposes, then beginning January 1, 2035 a .10 cent tax dedicated to 
acquisition and preservation of Open Space and a .23 cent tax dedicated to general 
governance purposes in perpetuity. The motion carried 7:1, Council Member Morzel 
opposed and Council Member Wilson absent. Vote taken at 8:27 PM. 
 
 Discussion of Ordinance No. 7913 : 
 
Council Member Jones commented that she wanted to ensure the vision for the open 
space program would be fully funded through 2034. She wanted to find a balanced 
approach to funding the vision programs that Boulder had in place. 
 
Council Member Ageton agreed with Council Member Jones that the community had 
many needs and the funding would have to be balanced. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 
 

Council Member Becker agreed that a balanced approach was required to close the 
funding gaps across the city. She wanted to ensure that open space would have the 
ability to bond. 
 
Council Member Cowles noted that he was supportive of the 0.33 tax for open space 
and the general fund. He also agreed that funding gaps should be closed and the open 
space acquisition plan should be made whole. 
 
Council Member Becker moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to approve 
Ordinance No. 7913 a new 0.15 cent sales and use tax for transportation purposes 
with an amendment to go through December 31, 2019. The motion carried 8:0 with 
Council Member Wilson absent. Vote taken at 8:37 PM. 
 
Discussion of a dedicated transportation tax: 
 
Council Members inquired about whether or not there would be available funds to 
complete the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) once it was adopted. 
 
Director of Transportation Tracy Winfree noted that when there is a guaranteed 
revenue stream that can be forecasted and the length of time that revenue stream 
would be available was the main driver in knowing whether the TMP would be fully 
funded or not. 
 
City Manager Brautigam suggested changing the wording to “in perpetuity” in order 
to ensure the TMP would be completed. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum commented that he was not comfortable with extending the tax 
indefinitely. He wanted staff to continue to look for other funding mechanisms. 
 
Council Member Morzel agreed with the Mayor and noted that she would prefer the 
ballot question only request a five-year tax. She agreed that she could compromise on 
a twenty-year tax. 

 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Becker, to introduce 
and order published by title only Ordinance No. 7922 submitting to the registered 
electors of the City of Boulder at the general coordinated municipal election held on 
November 5, 2013, the question of a new 0.15 cent sales and use tax for twenty years 
with the first ten years, starting January 1, 2019, dedicated to transportation purposes 
and the last ten years (2029 - 2039) going to the general fund.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum offered a friendly amendment, which was not accepted by the 
maker of the main motion, to have the tax extended in perpetuity for the General 
fund. 
 
Council Member Ageton expressed support for ongoing funding for transportation 
operations and maintenance. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



 
 

Council Member Plass explained that normally he would prefer taxes in perpetuity, 
but since the proposed tax would only be dedicated for the first ten years, he would 
like to see it brought back to the voters in the future. He commented that he would 
prefer an ongoing tax dedicated to general government needs. 
 
Council Member Karakehian stated that he was not sure how voters would respond to 
another tax on the ballot. He noted that he would vote for a twenty-year tax with it 
dedicated to transportation the first ten years and the general fund the latter ten years. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum commented that he would support the motion, but he wasn’t sure 
about dedicating funds to the general fund when a tax would sunset. 
 
Council Member Jones agreed with Mayor Appelbaum and Council Member 
Karakehian.  
 
Council Member Morzel reminded Council how important it was that ordinances 
were ready to be adopted on August 20. 
 
Vote was taken on the motion to amend Ordinance No. 7922 by extending the general 
fund portion into perpetuity. The motion failed 1:7 with Council Member Cowles in 
favor. Vote taken at 9:13 PM 
 
Vote was then take on the main motion to introduce and order published by title only 
Ordinance No. 7922 submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the 
general coordinated municipal election held on November 5, 2013, the question of a 
new 0.15 cent sales and use tax for twenty years with the first ten years, starting 
January 1, 2019, dedicated to transportation purposes and the last ten years (2029 - 
2039) going to the General fund. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member 
Wilson absent. Vote taken at 9:16 PM 
 
Discussion of Ordinance No. 7916  Recreational Marijuana Excise and Sales 
Tax: 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to approve and 
amend Ordinance No. 7916 relative to recreational marijuana as presented in the lime 
green handout from the City Attorney’s Office with additional amendments to insert 
the amount of $3,360,00 dollars and with 5%  implementation for both the sales and 
excise taxes. 
 
 Member Plass noted that it was much simpler to put a tax in place at the beginning of 
a new program than after the fact. He expressed concern that the language of “up to 
fifteen percent” may not be high enough. 
 
Council Member Jones asked if the purpose of the tax was only to cover the indirect 
costs to the city for licensing recreational marijuana businesses within the city. She 
commented that if that was the case, she would like the purpose stated in the ballot 
language to help voters understand it better. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



 
 

Council Member Ageton suggested removing the funding for enforcement from the 
section related to intervention programs. She wanted voters to understand that there 
were some costs that were unavoidable and others that were voluntary dedications. 
 
Council Member Morzel stated that she would like the costs broken out between 
direct and indirect. She felt this would better justify the tax to the public and the costs 
were unknown for the most part. She was concerned that dedicating any portion of the 
revenue would prevent the actual costs from being recovered. 
 
Council Member Becker commented that she was strongly in favor of dedicating 
funding to education and prevention for youth. She was concerned there would be no 
funding for such programs if it wasn’t planned for at the onset. 
 
Council Member Karakehian agreed that Council should identify the most important 
direct and indirect costs that would be of the highest priority when revenue started to 
be realized. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he thought the level of taxation was too 
high and should be capped at ten percent. He also called out that the Netherlands were 
not a cautionary tale, but rather one of success. He briefly reviewed the education and 
language requirements for students in the Netherlands as being much higher than in 
the United States. He also recalled a previous speaker that came to Council that 
presented evidence that many education and prevention programs simply did not 
work. 
 
Council Member Jones suggested making mention to youth programs and responsible 
use in the ordinance, but she preferred placing costs to the city at the top of the list of 
priorities.  
 
Council member Becker clarified that education for parents was just as important as 
direct programs for youth. 
 
Council Member Ageton asked if any revenues would be needed for administrative 
purposes. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum responded that the funds dedicated to the general fund would 
cover those costs, but he would be fine with adding those costs in with the licensing 
costs. 
 
Council Member Morzel commented that she wanted to align with other cities to 
prevent competition. 
 
Council agreed to change the wording in the ordinance to direct sufficient revenues 
for public safety, enforcement, administrative purposes and comprehensive substance 
abuse programs. They specified that the there would be an emphasis on youth in 
relation to the education and prevention programs. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



 
 

Vote was then taken on the motion to approve and amend Ordinance No. 7916 
relative to recreational marijuana as presented in the lime green handout from the City 
Attorney’s Office with additional amendments to insert the amount of $3,360,00 
dollars and with 5%  implementation for both the sales and excise taxes.  The motion 
carried 8:0, with Council Member Wilson absent. Vote taken at 10:16 PM 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   

 
None 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
 

None 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

 
None 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS 
 

None 
 

11. DEBRIEF  
 

Council Member Cowles expressed concern about misinformation by Xcel Energy, 
Inc. in relation to municipalization. He wanted the city to mail an informational piece 
to all residences within the city. 
 
City Attorney Carr clarified to Council that the printer would not be able to 
accomplish such a task before the city could no longer circulate information related to 
the election. 
 
Council Member Morzel suggested asking other printers, she had the same concerns 
as Council Member Cowles. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum also agreed and suggested a newspaper insert. 
 
City Manager Brautigam noted that having a newspaper insert would reduce the 
quality of printing and it may still be difficult to get the information into the hands of 
all residents in a timely manner. 
 
Council Member Ageton urged caution in distributing information due to election 
law. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



 
 

Council directed staff to attempt to find the best way to distribute information related 
to the election and use their discretion in doing so. 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on August 5, 2013 
at 10:31 PM. 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
        APPROVED BY: 
            
ATTEST:      ______________________ 

      Matthew Appelbaum 
________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 9Packet Page     13



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 10Packet Page     14



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the July 30, 
2013, Study Session on Boulder’s Climate Commitment, Energy Efficiency Programs 
and Market Innovation Program Updates. 
 
 
PRESENTERS:   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Brett KenCairn, Senior Environmental Planner 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
This agenda item provides a summary of the July 30, 2013, Study Session on Boulder’s 
Climate Commitment, Energy Efficiency Programs and Market Innovation Program 
Updates. The purpose of the study session was for City Council to review and provide 
comments and feedback on Boulder Climate Commitment target goals.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to accept the summary of the July 30, 2013, Study Session on Boulder’s Climate 
Commitment, Energy Efficiency Programs and Market Innovation Program Updates. 
(Attachment A).  
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
A:  Summary of the July 30, 2013, Study Session on Boulder’s Climate Commitment, 

Energy Efficiency Programs and Market Innovation Program Updates.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     15



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     16



 

 
 

City Council Study Session Summary 
July 30, 2013 

Boulder’s Climate Commitment 
 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Lisa Morzel, Suzy Ageton, K.C. 
Becker, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Tim Plass, Ken Wilson 
 
Staff Presenters: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager ; David Driskell, Executive Director of 
Community Planning and Sustainability and Brett KenCairn, Senior Environmental Planner  
 
Purpose 
The key objectives for this study session are to: 

 Update council and seek feedback on the options and analysis underway to define a new 
long-term goal for Boulder’s Climate Commitment (the city’s next generation of climate 
action planning) and the implications for near-term targets and related implementation 
strategies. 

 Provide an introduction to the new data management platform being developed to monitor 
and report greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions related information for both the city 
organization and the larger community. 

 Describe the overarching  engagement strategy for expanding community participation in 
developing and implementing GHG reduction strategies. Review the remaining work plan 
elements to further analyze, finalize and adopt the new goal, targets and implementation 
strategies for Boulder’s Climate Commitment. 

 Provide an update on 2013 progress in achieving residential and commercial energy 
efficiency goals, and key initiatives in each program area, including ongoing work related to 
the city’s commercial energy efficiency strategy. 

 Provide an update on the status of planning for the new market innovations grant program. 
 Briefly highlight the city’s participation in a new energy data research project and co-

sponsorship of the Net Zero Cities conference this October  with the City of Fort Collins and 
the Colorado Clean Energy Cluster. 

 
OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION  
D. Driskell presented the purpose and objectives for the study session which was to discuss 
potential goals for how Boulder can think about climate commitment (carbon neutrality or 
reducing 80% of emissions by 2050) and how that might affect daily lives. He gave an update on 
the energy efficiency work, both residential energy use and commercial energy use. B. KenCairn 
stated the key messages to be taken away from the study session which were: Climate change is 
impacting us now and it could intensify; The causes and necessary response are clear; There are 
viable technical and technological options now; Boulder has learned an enormous amount that it 
can use to leverage a rapid shift to a low-carbon future; and Developing early leadership in the 
transition to a low-carbon economy is the safest and most dynamic investment Boulder can make 
in its long-term healthy and prosperity. He presented different example communities working 
toward carbon reduction and gave council a timeline of what is next is this process. 
 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     17



 

 
 
Questions for Council 
Staff requested council direction on the following five questions: 
 
Climate Commitment 
1. Does City Council have feedback on the magnitude and timeframe for the city’s long-term 

goal for GHG reduction? 
2. Does council have feedback on the related near-term GHG reduction targets? 
3. Does council have feedback on the proposed outreach and engagement strategy? 

   
Energy Efficiency & Market Innovations Programs 
1. Does council have comments or questions regarding the energy efficiency program updates 

and proposed direction on the work plan items?  
2. Specifically, does council agree with staff’s recommendation to decide on the path of the 

city’s future utility structure before designing a commercial building energy rating and 
reporting requirement, using the interim period to launch a new energy data initiative in 
collaboration with the Pecan Street Research Institute and other partners?    

 
 
COUNCIL RESPOSNES TO STUDY SESSION QUESTIONS 
Feedback on the magnitude and timeframe for the city’s long-term goal for GHG reduction? 
One member of Council described the significant accomplishments that European cities are 
making in their efforts to implement ambitious carbon reduction goals and expressed support for 
the most ambitious—carbon neutrality goal.  The remaining eight councilors indicated that they 
supported the 80% reduction below 1990 levels by 2050 as the city’s goal.  Several council 
members did indicate that this does not have to remain the city’s goal in the future and that the 
goal could be revised as new information becomes available. 
 
 
Feedback on the related near-term GHG reduction targets? 
Council members asked about the figures included in the memo that showed the significant 
reductions in personal energy use that would be required to meet the goal and whether this was 
meant to indicate the proposed objectives and their implications or to illustrate the amount of 
carbon-based energy reduction required.  Staff indicated that the figures provided in the report 
were intended to show what the consequences might be if the community continued to rely 
solely on fossil fuels in a coming era in which mandatory carbon emissions might be 
implemented and the amount of fossil energy was curtailed.  Staff indicated their belief that the 
long-term prospects for energy use were positive if the community made significant steps in 
replacing fossil-based energy sources with renewable energy sources. 
 
Staff was also asked to send Council copies of several studies cited: (Pacala and Socolow study 
on Stabilization Wedges, and Price Waterhouse analysis of climate change). 
 
A council member expressed concern that the implementation of significant GHG reductions 
related to changing energy supply could be significantly delayed if municipalization is pursued 
because of the long timeframe for resolution of the financial and legal issues associated with that 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     18



 

action.  Staff noted a variety of other programs and strategies that it is exploring that are intended 
to achieve substantial reductions irrespective of whether municipalization is pursued or not.  
Determining which strategies to pursue will take place after this fall’s elections and there is 
clarity about which approach the city is proceeding with (municipalization, partnership with Xcel 
etc). 
 
Feedback on the proposed outreach and engagement strategy? 
A council member suggested that the proposed technical working group include an 
environmental economist form CU.  They also suggested that youth be actively involved in 
jointly presenting information about the city’s climate efforts.   
 
A council member also requested continued consideration of green leasing programs that would 
provide greater incentives for building owners to invest in energy efficiency and allow them to 
recoup those investments through their lease fees. 
 
Several specific recommendations were made for the working group including Roger Pielke 
from CU and Hunter Lovins. 
 
It was also recommended that when selecting neighborhoods or districts that we go outside the 
normal set of places that are often selected.   Include places in east Boulder and areas with 
different demographics than usually participate in city efforts.   
 
A council member urged staff to consider using a model created in Europe to utilize 
“neighborhood ambassadors”. 
 
Comments or questions regarding the energy efficiency program updates and proposed 
direction on the work plan items? 
Council members also recommended that the business community be very actively involved, 
possibly through a series of “industry clusters” that would bring together like businesses—car 
dealerships, grocery stores, building management companies. 
 
Does council agree with staff’s recommendation to decide on the path of the city’s future 
utility structure before designing a commercial building energy rating and reporting 
requirement, using the interim period to launch a new energy data initiative in collaboration 
with the Pecan Street Research Institute and other partners? 
Council members urged staff to use the SmartRegs business engagement approach with 
businesses to work collaboratively to identify energy saving and other decarbonization options in 
ways that emphasize the benefits to the businesses.  This will likely be more effective than just a 
“hammer” approach. 
 
Pecan Street—Council memers asked whether the participants in the Pecan St Research project 
have been selected.  Staff indicated that the selections have not yet been made.  The selection 
process is still be formulated but is anticipated to take place in September/October of 2013.  
Efforts are underway to get a reduced cost for the hardware which might make it possible for 
additional residents to participate.  In addition to the 50 residents who will participate there will 
also be 25 commercial businesses taking part in a related program.   
 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     19



 

A council member asked if the potential of different building types was going to be considered 
(traditional stick framed, strawbale etc).  Staff indicated that Boulder County may be adding 
money to bring in additional residents and that Fort Collins is also doing a similar program so 
there was a hope that a broad range of building types would be examined. 
 
OTHER TOPICS 
Portland/Boulder staff exchange 
Council members asked what lessons had been learned through the US Sustainability Network 
sponsored exchange between Boulder and Portland.  Staff agreed to send Council the summary 
report on the lessons learned. 
 
Carbon Intensity Comparison with Fort Collins 
Council members questioned how Fort Collins carbon intensity could be substantially lower than 
Boulder’s given their reliance on coal based energy from Platt River Power Authority.  Staff 
responsded that they would further research this question. 
 
Energy Information Acquisition Challenges 
Council members asked for more information related to references staff had made in the memo 
about the ongoing difficulty in getting information from Xcel on energy usage for the 
community.  As a result of PUC rule changes, energy advisors have been having a difficulty in 
getting businesses energy use data and the City of Boulder has not received updated total 
community energy data since 2010.  Council members asked about the status of PUC dockets 
related to this topic.  Staff provided a brief update, noting that there were two dockets currently 
pending at the PUC.  Staff noted that the challenges getting data in a useful format continue and 
are a major stumbling block to implanting both the EnergySmart programs and accounting 
around the larger Climate Commitment. 

 
Offsets 
A council member asked staff for more background on offset options and to forward information 
about these options for Council to review. 

 
Unique Opportunities 
The energy used by Comcast boxes is significant and may be more than a refridgerator.  Talk 
with Comcast about a pilot to implement more energy efficient boxes in Boulder. 
 
Next Steps 
1. Finish the GHG/Data management tool     Aug--Sept. 2013 
2. Strategy refinement and analysis   August--Nov 2013 
3. Technical Working Group formation & review  Aug--Dec 2013 
4. Community outreach and engagement   August--Nov 2013 
5. Draft Climate Commitment plan development  Nov '13--Jan '14 
6. Council review     Q1 2014 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     20



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the July 30, 
2013, study session on the preliminary draft plan of the Boulder Civic Area. 
 
 
PRESENTERS:   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager   
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
This agenda item provides a summary of the July 30, 2013, study session on the 
preliminary draft plan of the Boulder Civic Area.  The purpose of the study session was 
for City Council to review and provide comments and feedback on the preliminary Civic 
Area Plan.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to accept the summary of the July 30, 2013, study session on the preliminary 
draft plan of the Boulder Civic Area (Attachment A) 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
A:  Summary of the July 30, 2013, study session on the preliminary draft plan of the 

Boulder Civic Area

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     21



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     22



 

 
 

City Council Study Session Summary 
July 30, 2013 

Preliminary Civic Area Draft Plan 
 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Lisa Morzel, Suzy Ageton, K.C. 
Becker, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Tim Plass, Ken Wilson 
 
Staff Presenters: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; David Driskell, Executive Director of 
Community Planning and Sustainability; Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer; Lesli Ellis, 
Comprehensive Planning Manager; Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent  
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of the July 30, 2013 study session was to present the preliminary Civic Area draft 
plan, answer questions and concerns, and have a discussion and receive City Council feedback 
on the preliminary plan.  
 
OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION  
D. Driskell described how the plan was formed and emphasized how people-focused the 
outcome will be. J. Dillon described the importance of park space as the core of the Civic Area 
and how it will invite people and activities, as well as link nature with urban areas. He 
emphasized the importance of incorporating art, music, water elements, educational 
opportunities and safety. S. Assefa then described the improvements for access and mobility and 
explained the program possibilities for the East End and West End. Lastly, L. Ellis described 
possible implementation and phasing strategies to make the vision a reality. 
 
QUESTIONS 

Q: If the Bandshell is moved/relocated, what happens to its landmark status, and how does 
this impact applying for grants and funds for improving the structure? 
A: Moving it does not automatically delist it as a landmark, but it does challenge the city’s 
ability to apply for grants and funding. 
 
Q: In terms of removing parking, is it 300 spaces total (including both the library and 
Municipal parking?) 
A: There are about 670 surface parking spaces and approximately 300 are in the High 
Hazard Flood Zone (HHZ), and the plan looks at how to significantly reduce the ones in 
the HHZ and the others for a number of reasons. To gain the park and permeable space, 
the surface parking needs to be relocated; and also, it’s really about a choice of types of 
uses that occupy the limited land. The parking study identifies a range of needs from low 
end to high end. All of them should be located in either structured parking or behind 
buildings, not as surface parking. As things develop, there may be some surface parking, 
such as ADA required spaces. The vision says that parking should not take a significant 
part of the public realm, that all the costs and trade-offs need to be identified and that 
we’ll have future discussions about parking policy.  

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     23



 

 
Q: In the near-term phasing chart, what types of land-swap options are possible? 
A: There is no specific land-swap proposed; but this idea came up from the CU NAIOP 
proposal about public/private partnerships and swaps. 
 
Q: The flood analysis recommended not building in any of the flood zones, and this plan is 
a long term vision. Has there been any climate modeling or mitigation of flood plains with 
respect to anticipating changes with global warming? 
A: The city works closely with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 
(NOAA) and the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD) to determine the 
appropriate hydrology for those studies. Hydrology for flood mapping studies is based on 
historic rainfall updated over time, rather than on predictions about future events. The 
delineation of the floodplain through the Civic Area will likely change over the life of the 
plan due to climate change, hydrologic and hydraulic changes and improved 
technology.  It is also likely that projected flood impacts to some areas of the plan may 
increase. However, the city continues to support a policy that accepts some risks to enjoy 
the benefits of the land adjacent to the creek. 
 
Q: The public safety piece recommends removing shrubs and old trees, but the plan also 
discusses of planting more native vegetation.  How do those two pieces work together? 
A: It will be done in balance – maintain shrubs so you can see over them, trees so you can 
see under them to address safety concerns. Revegetating the creek area with native trees 
and shrubs promotes water and soil quality as well as natural habitat. 
 
Q: The vision aims to remove surface parking while the parking analysis indicates that the 
Civic Area needs more parking. How will the plan go forward and remain highly 
accessible? 
A: The vision is not to remove all parking spaces, but to relocate those in the HHZ and 
elsewhere to parking structures out of the HHZ. Any increase in the overall number of 
parking spaces will be driven by the program of uses. The parking analysis suggests 
adding 25 percent more spaces at the low end and doubling the spaces at the high end. 
Optimally, programs can share parking spaces and reduce parking through transportation 
demand management, etc.  More detailed planning will be needed during implementation. 
 
Q: What is the embodied energy for New Britain and Park Central? 
A: Staff will provide information on Sept. 3, and additional investigation of embodied 
energy can be part of Phase 1 of implementation of the plan. 
 
Q: What is the cost of moving and/or rehabbing the Bandshell? 
A: Additional analysis on feasibility and costs of moving the Bandshell are proposed as 
part of Phase 1 of implementation for the plan. 
 
Q: Has the Dairy Center been talked to about the potential effects of a new performing 
space? 
A: Yes, members of Dairy have talked with staff, and there are mixed perspectives and 
concerns. There is no strong position regarding the potential effects. On Aug. 12, staff met 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     24



 

with representatives of the Dairy to better understand their needs and can answer 
questions on Sept. 3. 
 
Q: The plan shows Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) coming downtown – what kinds of changes 
can we expect to see? 
A: No specific changes are proposed for the downtown area, but BRT will be looked at 
holistically with the rest of transit and the Transportation Master Plan.  
 
Q:  How can we reinvigorate the first floor of Canyon Boulevard as the rest of the area 
changes? 
A: The performance criteria speak to how buildings on the first floor must function (i.e., 
no blank walls, active uses, transparency, etc). Things such as loading docks may not be 
appropriate in the pedestrian environment. Once uses are proposed, it is important to look 
at what it means in terms of performance. Also, in terms of implementation it is important 
to look at other changes we might need to make in terms of zoning and land use code on 
private land beyond city owned land.  

 
Q: How can we capture the inclusivity of cultural and historical aspects of the area, and 
what other groups need to be part of the process? 
A: The staff team has been reaching out to groups not usually part of planning processes 
such as the homeless, and also working on ideas to have ethnic food festivals and other 
ways to reach out to groups not usually involved. A big part of making the plan work is 
forming strong partnerships including non-profits, for-profits, existing users on site, as 
well as organizations such as Bridge House and Colorado Ocean Coalition. Bridge House 
had interesting idea such as an "adopt-a-creek" program where a private business could 
work with Bridge House to engage some of the transients in the park who don't have work. 
 
Q: The plan mentions public restrooms and with a high transient population in the area, 
how will we make sure that everyone can use the restrooms and avoid any issues? 
A: The restrooms on Pearl Street are very similar and do take a lot of care to maintain. 
They are not 24 hours a day either. Locating them in highly used areas or attached to 
buildings is helpful in maintaining and securing them. 
 
Q: Broadway splits the area in two, even with the underpass. Is there any way to connect 
the two sides of Broadway? 
A: One great example is the crossing of Broadway on Pearl Street Mall because the brick 
texture helps make it feel like one place.   
 
Q: We need to get started on this project, but are there any larger ticket items that might 
not be done or might be done differently based on the vision plan? 
A: Nothing notable stands out. The city might defer expenses for flood proofing (e.g., for 
New Britain and Park Central) knowing that these buildings will be removed. 
 
However, the park provides opportunities to make immediate positive changes and 
improve perception, such as lighting, creek restoration, and landscape. We can program 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page     25



 

park space and Bandshell more and pilot new programs, bring more art into the park and 
improve the children's play area. 
 
Q: The West Senior Center has wanted to do renovations for several years now. Could we 
use the senior center space for city offices at some point to better utilize that building? 
A: Yes, it is a possibility.  Human Services is doing a plan for the West Senior Center, and 
that will help inform what that site might be in the future. 
 
Q: The current plan calls for a big playground by the library.  What about compatibility 
with the library? 
A: The play space would not be a large structure, but it would be nature focused and 
closely coordinated with library programming for arts and related activities aimed at 
making the area more kid and family friendly. 
 
Q: The plan talks about a small performing arts space on the West End and a large one on 
the East End: Are those competing ideas? 
A: It is unlikely that the area would contain both.  The feasibility analysis will help 
determine the need, size and the best location.  
 
Q: Will BMoCA expand on its current site or move to the West End? 
A: There are options: 1) expand existing BMoCA; 2) Repurpose the Municipal Building 
for BMoCA; and 3) Use a portion of the Civic Use Pad for it. 
 
Q: Is there urban drainage money to help with the deconstruction of Park Central and New 
Britain? 
A: No, that money does not go towards deconstruction of buildings. 

 
Q: If the Municipal Building is repurposed, where would the current services and 
functions go? 
A: If the city is consolidated into one space, then City Chambers could move to a new 
facility, or council could stay in the current location and only the first floor would be 
repurposed. In terms of location, it could move to the 13th Street block or adjacent 
properties or somewhere in the downtown area. 
 
Q: The technical experts recommend not building anything in even the 100-year 
floodplain, but this plan suggests creating new structures. How is that rectified? 
A: Boulder is unique because it flood proofs structures instead of not building in the flood 
plan; we also don't channelize the creek. Flood proofing is done conservatively and is a 
balance of engineering solutions that are available and safe. 
 
 Q: Boulder Housing Partners has property on Arapahoe between the library and the 
senior center. Where are discussions with them? 
A: Boulder Housing Partners has expressed that in the future, they desire to move and 
expand their facility, but need to coordinate with federal H.U.D., which will take time. 

 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page     26



 

Q: The Boulder Farmers’ Market expressed concern over loss of parking and over possible 
competition from a market hall. Is there anyone here to clarify this? 
(Christian Tooey, Farmers' Market) A: A market hall could complement or enhance the 
Farmers’ Market. The Boulder Farmers’ Market is all locally produced whereas a market 
hall is often specialty foods and products that aren’t necessarily local. Where our concern 
lies is if these two models mix, how it might compromise our mission of providing locally 
grown food and how it might affect our farmers’ ability to make a living.  
 
Q: This is an issue of compatibility with an existing model focusing on local. If a year 
round market hall could be compatible with the Farmers’ Market model, then would that 
dissuade some of the concern? 
(Tooey) A: We are interested in continuing this discussion and even in the possibility of 
the Farmers’ Market being able to provide that service. We are in the process of doing 
research with our farmers and producers to see if we are able to grow into that role and if 
there is a desire to do that. We are concerned about an outside entity coming in and the 
public perceiving that entity as part of the Farmers’ Market, which would change our 
message and what we stand for. 
 
Q: If you do a market place, how does it change from two days a week for seven months 
to seven days a week year round? Can the Farmers’ Market sustain this? 
(Tooey) A: That is part of our concern that we might burden ourselves with something we 
are not able to handle. That said, we do have products that we can provide throughout the 
year and there are farmers that use greenhouses to target those months. 
 
Q: That speaks to the year round aspect, but what about the operations changing from 10 
hours per week to 70 hours per week? To be able to cover rent, either someone is going to 
subsidize that, or the farmers are going to need a lot more to sell and they will also need to 
have full time staff. It’s a big jump from its current operation to a seven days/week eight 
hours/day operation. I love the idea but don’t understand the business model. 
(Tooey) A: If this is done with the Farmers’ Market as part of it, then it would have to be 
scaled properly and will also need to integrate our office functions and possibly an 
educational component, such as cooking classes. We can’t handle a “Ferry Building” 
scale model, but maybe there are adjacent complementary uses that will bring people 
there and take some of the pressure off of our having to provide everything.  
 
Q: Before we get the public excited about this market hall idea, we need to do a feasibility 
study because there are a lot of moving pieces. When will this be done? 
(Staff) A: The vision defines what this space ought to be and how it needs to be compatible 
with existing Farmers’ Market. We need to do a feasibility analysis to determine which 
business model would work best. The organizational structure is what will be challenging, 
but staff is excited to work with the Farmers’ Market and other partners to develop a 
feasible organizational structure. If we have buy in for this vision, then the next step will 
be to find out what is feasible. 
(Tooey) A: The Farmers’ Market also wants to find out if it is feasible before entering into 
something. To summarize our position, we want to remain a place where local people 
come to get their food and don’t want to turn into a solely tourist type destination or a 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page     27



 

destination that only caters to a small portion of the community. We want to broaden our 
base and involve more of the community so hopefully this can help us do that. 
 
Q: What about competition? Maybe it is not going to be the Farmers’ Market who is 
interested in the other days of the week. We have to maintain the city’s good relationship 
with the Farmers’ Market, but I’m not sure it is them who will run 360 days per year 
market hall. We don’t want to jeopardize the Farmers’ Market. 
 
Q: What about the Atrium Building? If is not repurposed to fit a market hall, will it remain 
offices?  
A: The plan calls to look at both options. We know it is not efficient for office space, but it 
has potential to be repurposed for a market hall. However, we need to determine if the 
size is appropriate for a market hall. Also, the plan calls for all structures to be mixed-use, 
and it is hard to tell if the Atrium Building’s size can support a market hall and a mix of 
uses. The desired use and the performance criteria should drive the decision, not the 
building. 
 
Q: Does the ADA require accessibility by automobile? Can you park in a structure and 
then transfer to a scooter for those who have trouble walking? 
A: Staff did not find any specification in the American for Disabilities Act (ADA) 
regarding location of parking facilities in relation to building location.  The International 
Building Code (IBC) does require that where parking is provided, the accessible spaces 
must be located on the shortest accessible route to an accessible building entrance.  
Neither the IBC nor the ADA requires motorized means of travel for remote parking 
facilities.  But if a visitor chooses to park in a structure and transfer to their own scooter 
to complete the trip, there will be an accessible route to do so. 

 
COMMENTS 

Boulder Creek is a sensational resource and one plan shows water coming off the creek for 
children’s play. This resource needs to be emphasized because water attracts people. 
 
There needs to be more discussion with the Dairy Center in relation to a possible new 
performing space. 
 
Need to make sure that the Civic Area is complementary to the downtown and does not 
take away from it. 
 
Fantastic work has been done on this plan. This is a special place and big thinking is 
appropriate. No building should have one use, because there really should be a mix of 
civic and commercial uses. The overarching theme of all of this is safety and will go 
beyond programmatic elements. The children’s park and play area is exciting and should 
include interactive art for all ages. In terms of the Bandshell and Atrium Building, look at 
what is appropriate for the area, which may not be what is currently there.  Don’t let these 
buildings drive the outcome. 
 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page     28



 

This plan, and the process to develop it, is fabulous. The building materials should be 
stone and brick to be timeless. The plan has reached a compromise for the Bandshell -- 
where we can try to program it and see how it works. To engage more people in the 
process, staff might investigate Catherine Long Gates Community Gardens that has very 
distinctive and different gardening traditions there which could contribute to the Civic 
Area’s park like place. 
 
This plan came together quickly, and it will be exciting to see it move forward. With a nod 
tonight, it would be nice to start a land acquisition plan and identify funds and avoid 
missing opportunities. This may be an opportunity for the Chamber to move downtown or 
to the Civic Use Pad, and this is an opportunity to bring more people downtown. This may 
be the only opportunity to fund the Civic Use Pad. This year or next, let’s move plans 
forward. 
 
This is a great plan, and this has been the most inclusive, inspiring and engaging process 
we have done at the city level. It’s good that we are moving forward immediately.  Thank 
you for capturing the Civic Use Pad in this plan. We need to make sure we integrate the 
two bookends with the residential neighborhoods.  It’s still not clear that a parking garage 
will work on 9th and Arapahoe. 
 
It is an excellent plan.  Nothing jumps off the page that doesn’t fit. Some priority goals 
need to be made, but at this point it is good. We still need to look at climate change and 
the floodplain but don’t let it hinder our plans. We aren’t going to abandon the downtown 
or build a large concrete channel, so we need to be conservative with our approach.   
Secondly,  we need to look long-term.  While it may be hard to take down Park Central 
and New Britain, because they may have some value, we do need to consider what will be 
implemented and how this will impact the use/need of these buildings. It is appropriate to 
rethink the structure of city buildings every 70 years or so, as we are doing here. The 
concept of having more intensity on the East and West ends makes sense to help enhance 
the park’s use. On the East end, consider the role and relationship of private properties 
further to the east. On the West end, a restructured senior center with housing might make 
sense, along with a performing arts center. 
 
This is a great plan that may lead to a true heart for the Civic Center. Taking out surface 
parking, especially from the floodplain, is a primary goal, as it is. Gaining permeable 
surface and greenery will lessen the urban heat island effect. This plan looks almost ready; 
we should start finding funds to begin the first phase. The book, “Street Design: The 
Secret to Great Cities and Towns,” By Dover and Cole could help inform the development 
of Canyon Boulevard as a complete street.  Building materials should be permanent (not 
cheap). This plan should be sustained for the next 50-100 years. The bookends make sense 
and should have 24/7 uses and a mix of uses. Art as part of the landscape and musical 
instruments in the park are very exciting ideas. 
 
This is an exciting project reflective of a lot of hard work. The idea of the bookends as 
where developments go is sensible. The connection issue across Broadway is important, 
and Pearl Street connections could serve as a model. Go forth. 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page     29



 

 
Further explore the concept of value-capture for properties in and around the area. 
 
The most important aspect is that city services continue to be woven into the fabric of 
downtown. With regard to the Bandshell, there has been some disagreement, but the plan 
has landed in a good place. The plan addresses the Atrium Building reasonably, too. 
Safety issues trump embodied energy for New Britain and Park Central. Connectivity is 
exciting, and it is good to see us expand connectivity and space along the ditch to create 
better access and mobility. The space should be fun with iconic element(s). 
 
The graphics really help show the vision. Work really hard to keep the senior center 
downtown. It is really important to keep that group of folks connected because this is 
going to be an exciting place which is going to generate more opportunities for them to 
participate in our community. Secondly, city chambers should remain, because the 
landmarked Municipal Building has a unique location and space.   Moving it may lose 
something of value. Before repurposing it, consider leaving city functions. 

 
 

Attachment A 
July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page     30



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Sept. 3, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  
Fourth reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7832 amending Title 9, 
“Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, regarding standards for congregate care facilities. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Marie Zuzack, Planner 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this item is for City Council to consider adoption of an ordinance amending the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (B.R.C.) to strengthen the requirements for the density bonus for 
new congregate care facilities (Attachment A).  The proposed amendments do not apply to 
existing congregate care facilities. 
 
The draft ordinance in Attachment A includes the following code changes approved by council 
on third reading on April 3, 2012, for facilities to qualify for the congregate care density bonus: 

 A new minimum project size of ten units; 
 A new maximum average unit size limit of 1,000 square feet and a maximum individual 

unit size of 1,200 square feet (not including garage space); 
 A revised requirement to provide three (previously two) out of the five services listed in 

the congregate care definition (meal service, transportation, housekeeping, linen and 
organized activities); and 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page     31



 

 A revised requirement that at least 80 percent of the occupied units of a congregate care 
facility eligible for the density bonus be occupied by at least one person who is 65 years 
of age or older (previously 60 years of age). 

 
Since council’s third reading of this ordinance, an exemption for existing congregate care 
facilities from the above changes has been added, so that existing facilities will not become non-
conforming uses, as this would have limited them to no more than a 10 percent expansion. 
 
If council adopts the draft ordinance in Attachment A, a fifth reading will be required. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Council approved introduction and first reading of a proposed ordinance on Jan. 17, 2012, to 
require congregate care facilities seeking a density bonus to have at least 10 units and a 
maximum unit size.  Council revised the ordinance at second reading on Feb. 7, 2012, to: lower 
the maximum unit size (from an average of 1,200 square feet to an average of 1,000 square feet 
and 1,200 square feet for individual units); raise the age restriction (from 60 years to 65 years) 
and require three (rather than two) of five listed services. 
 
At the third reading on April 3, 2012, council revised the age restriction to require at least 80 
percent of occupied units in a congregate care facility seeking to qualify for the density bonus to 
be occupied by at least one person who is 65 years of age or older.  This revision complies with 
federal and state fair housing acts and will provide more flexibility for facilities to accommodate 
those under age 65.  
 
The fourth reading was scheduled for April 17, 2012, but was pulled from the agenda to allow 
staff to further consider the effects of the proposed amendments on existing congregate care 
facilities wishing to expand.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Staff is now proposing adding provisions (in bold redline in Attachment A) to the code 
amendments that were approved on the third reading, to exempt existing congregate care 
facilities from the amendments:  
 

 The revised congregate care definition and density bonus requirements would apply only 
to new congregate care facilities (those established after the effective date of the 
amendments), and 
 

 Existing facilities would be exempt from the revised definition and requirements.  This 
would address the fact that a number of existing congregate care facilities do not meet 
the proposed new unit size maximums and may not meet the revised age restrictions.  
Exempting them from the revised definition and requirements will preclude their 
becoming non-conforming uses.  Non-conforming uses are limited to expansion of no 
more than 10 percent of the existing use.  This exemption will allow existing facilities to 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page     32



 

expand by more than 10 percent.  Attachment B provides a list of existing facilities, 
which would be exempt from the proposed code amendments. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A. Draft ordinance 
B. Existing senior housing facilities exempt from proposed code amendments 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page     33



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page     34



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 7832 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” 
B.R.C. 1981, REGARDING STANDARDS FOR CONGREGATE 
CARE FACILITIES AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-8-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-8-6   Occupancy Equivalencies for Group Residences 

…. 

(g)  Congregate Care Facility: In congregate care facilities, five sleeping rooms or 
accommodations without kitchen facilities constitute one dwelling unit, three attached 
dwelling units constitute one dwelling unit, and one detached dwelling unit constitutes 
one dwelling unit.   

(1) A congregate care facility that is built or the use is established after the 
effective date of ordinance no. 7832 (add date, final reading date plus 30 
days) and uses the dwelling unit equivalency of three attached dwelling units to 
constitute one dwelling unit shall meet the following additional standards: 

 (A1)  The facility shall include a minimum of ten attached congregate care 
dwelling units. 

 (B2)  The average dwelling unit floor area for attached congregate care facilities 
shall not exceed 1,000 square feet per unit and no single dwelling unit shall 
exceed 1,200 square feet.  The average dwelling unit floor area shall include the 
floor area within the attached dwelling unit and associated storage areas and shall 
exclude common areas and garages.  

(2) A congregate care facility built or the use is established prior to the effective 
date of ordinance no. 7832 (add date, final reading date plus 30 days) may 
use the definition of “congregate care” to define the use classification and the 
average floor area per dwelling units for attached and detached dwelling 
units in effect when the congregate care facility was built or the use was  
established. 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7832

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page     35



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 2.  The definition of “Congregate Care” in Section 9-16-1, B.R.C. 1981 is 

amended to read: 

"Congregate care facility" means a facility for long-term residence: 

(a)   where at least 80 percent of the occupied units are occupied by at least one exclusively by 
persons who is  sixty-five years of age or older,  

(b) the facility is in compliance with the requirements of the federal Fair Housing Act, 42 
U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. and the Colorado Housing Practices Act, 24-34-501, C.R.S. et seq. 
with respect to housing for older persons, and  

(c) which shall include, without limitation, common dining and social and recreational 
features, special safety and convenience features designed for the needs of the elderly, 
such as emergency call systems, grab bars and handrails, special door hardware, cabinets, 
appliances, passageways, and doorways designed to accommodate wheelchairs, and the 
provision of social services for residents which must include at least two three of the 
following: meal services, transportation, housekeeping, linen, and organized social 
activities. 
 

Section 3. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of January 2012. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 
 
 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7832

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page     36



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 7th day of February 2012. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

READ ON THIRD READING, AMENDED, PASSED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of April 2012. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

READ ON FOURTH READING, AMENDED, PASSED AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___th day of ______2013. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7832

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page     37



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page     38



 

Existing Senior Housing Facilities* 
Exempt from proposed congregate care code amendments 

 

Senior Housing Facility* Year initially 
approved 

Approved as  
congregate care Number of units 

The Academy    
970 Aurora Ave.  1992 Y 54 

Boulder Meridian  
801 Gillaspie 1985 Y 96 

Canyon Pointe (Boulder Housing 
Partners - BHP) 
700 Walnut 

1980 N/A (pre-dates congregate 
care definition**) 82 

The Carillon at Boulder Creek 
2525 Taft Dr. 

2007 Y 117 

Dunn Memorial Senior Housing  
4805 Baseline Rd.  2001 N 14 

Frasier Meadows Retirement 
Community 
350 Ponca Place 

1960 N/A (pre-dates congregate 
care definition) 202 

Golden West - Flatirons Terrace 
930 28th Street 2004 Y 55 

Golden West - The Towers  
1055 Adams Cir. 

Late 1960s N/A (pre-dates congregate 
care definition) 252 

Mapleton Place (Howe Mortuary) 
1045 Spruce and 
2125 & 2135 11th 
 

2006 Y 
3 congregate units 
+ 1 non-congregate 

attached unit 

Northport (BHP) 
1133 Portland Place 1971 N/A (pre-dates congregate 

care definition) 50 

Presbyterian Manor 
1050 Arapahoe Ave. 

1965 N/A (pre-dates congregate 
care definition) 80 

Sunrise of Boulder 
3955 28th St. 2001 Y 109 

Villas at the Atrium  
Brookdale Senior Living 
3350 30th St. 

1987 N (converted from existing 
apartment building) 82 

Walnut Place (BHP) 
1940 Walnut 1980 N/A (pre-dates congregate 

care definition) 95 

 
* List does not include approved “group homes” (e.g., The Academy at Bella Vista, Shawnee 
Gardens, Mary Sandoe House), which is a separate land use definition from congregate care. 
** Congregate care definition entered the Boulder Revised Code in the mid-1980s 

Attachment B 
Existing Snr. Housing Facilities Exempt from Proposed Code Amendments

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page     39



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page     40



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  September 3, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7924 vacating and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute a deed of vacation to vacate a portion of a 
twenty-foot emergency access and utility easement in association with an approved use 
review request to locate 68 attached multi-family residential units in an industrial zoning 
district at 6655 Lookout Road. 
 
Applicant: Bruce Dierking, Packard and Dierking, LLC 
Property Owner: 6655 Lookout Road, Ltd., a Colorado limited partnership 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Associate Planner 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The applicant requests vacation of a 5,071 square foot portion of an existing twenty-foot 
emergency access and utility easement at 6655 Lookout Road (see Figure 1). A utility 
easement will be reserved in the vacation ordinance. The easement was originally 
dedicated on the Greens Industrial Park subdivision plat, recorded August 7, 1979. A Use 
Review request to locate a residential use in an industrial zoning district and redevelop 
the site with 68 attached multi-family residential units was approved by the city manager 
on March 28, 2013 (see LUR2012-00093). There is no public need for the portion of 
emergency access and utility easement to be vacated because a separate emergency 
access easement has been dedicated to accommodate access to the new buildings. 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page     41



On August 20, 2013, City Council approved first reading of the draft ordinance and did 
not have any questions for staff. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff finds that the criteria of section 8-6-9, “Vacation of Public Rights-of-Way and 
Public Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981 can be met and recommends that the City 
Council take the following action: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to: 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7924 vacating and authorizing the City Manager to 
execute a Deed of Vacation vacating a portion of a twenty-foot emergency access and 
utility easement located at 6655 Lookout Rd. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  None identified. 

 Environmental:  None identified. 

 Social: None identified. 
 
OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal: No impact. 

 Staff time: The vacation application has been processed through the provisions of 
a standard vacation process and is within normal staff work plans. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Notification was sent to the Planning Board on August 9, 2013 in conformance with 
Section 79 of the Boulder City Charter.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 
have been met.  Public notice of this proposed vacation was sent to property owners 
within 600 feet of the project on May 29, 2013.  Staff has received no comments from the 
public. 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page     42



BACKGROUND 
The subject property is located north of and adjacent to Lookout Road, at the northern-
most terminus of Gunpark Drive, in an Industrial General (IG) zone district (refer to 
Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The property is currently encumbered by a twenty-foot 
emergency access and utility easement that runs along the west property line 
(see Figure 1).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1. 
 

The subject easement was dedicated to the public by the original subdivision plat for The 
Greens Industrial Park to provide for emergency access and utility connections from 
Lookout Road to the cul-de-sac terminus of Odell Place. The portion of easement to be 
vacated currently provides emergency access to the west side of the existing building.  
 
On April 4, 2013, Planning Board approved a multi-family residential development on 
the site to include three buildings served by an internal access drive accessed from 
Lookout Road (please refer to Attachment B, Site Plan). The proposed vacation was a 
requirement of the approval and helps to implement the recently proposed development 
plan. The recently dedicated emergency access easement is configured to provide 
emergency access to the buildings along the internal access drive. The entire northern 
“flag” portion of the lot will be reserved for a future secondary road and pedestrian 
connection to Odell Place.  In addition, the proposal accounts for a secondary road 
connection located along the western edge of the project site. There are currently water 
and underground electrical mains located within the existing easement and a utility 
easement interest will be reserved in the ordinance for utility purposes. The area of 
vacation will be converted to usable open space and drainage for the new multi-family 
development.  

Subject Property 

Portion of Easement 
to Be Vacated 

Odell Pl 

Lookout Rd 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page     43



 
ANALYSIS 
In order for the existing easement to be vacated the City Council would have to conclude 
that the criteria under subsection 8-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981 are met and an ordinance would 
have to be approved.  The subject easement has historically carried vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic and thus needs to be vacated by ordinance. Staff has reviewed this 
vacation request and has concluded that the criteria can be met as discussed below. 

(1) The applicant must demonstrate that the public purpose for which an easement or 
right-of-way was originally acquired or dedicated is no longer valid or necessary 
for public use; 

 Located within the Gunbarrel subcommunity, the subject easement was dedicated to 
the public by The Greens Industrial Park subdivision plat, which was recorded in 
1979.  At that time, the subject easement was intended to provide emergency access 
and utility services to the property from Odell Place. Since its original platting, the 
character of Gunbarrel subcommunity has changed. The Gunbarrel Community 
Center Plan was adopted in 2004, guiding the redevelopment of the Gunbarrel 
subcommunity away from an automobile dominated landscape toward a more 
urban, walkable community. As such, Use Review and Technical document 
approvals were granted for a multi-family development known as Boulder Views 
Apartments with an internal access drive from Lookout Road.  

 The area to be vacated will be converted from a drive access to open space and 
drainage in the new multi-family development. The recently dedicated emergency 
access easement is configured to provide emergency access to the buildings along 
the internal access drive. The entire northern “flag” portion of the lot will be 
reserved for a future secondary road and pedestrian connection to Odell Place.  In 
addition, the proposal accounts for a secondary road connection located along the 
western edge of the project site. For these reasons, the existing easement will no 
longer serve a public benefit. The improvements proposed with the new 
development will provide a greater public benefit than retaining the property in its 
present status. 

(2) All agencies and departments having a conceivable interest in the easement or 
right-of-way must indicate that no need exists, either at present or conceivable in 
the future, to retain the property as an easement or right-of-way, either for its 
original purpose or for some other public purpose unless the vacation ordinance 
retains the needed utility or right-of-way easement; 

The proposed vacation has been evaluated by the Planning, Public Works and Fire 
Departments and it has been collectively concluded that the public entities would 
have no conceivable future interest in the existing easement. A new emergency 
access easement has been dedicated to serve the recently approved redevelopment. 
There are currently water and underground electrical mains located within the 
existing easement. Therefore, a utility easement interest will be reserved in the 
ordinance. CenturyLink, Comcast, and Xcel have approved the request. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page     44



(3) The applicant must demonstrate, consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations, either: 

(A) That failure to vacate an existing right-of-way or easement on the property 
would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the property consistent with 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and the City's land use regulations; 
or 

 Not Applicable.  

(B) That vacation of the easement or right-of-way would actually provide a 
greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present status. 

The vacation would result in a greater public benefit by providing for an 
improved site design at time of redevelopment. The vacation would minimize 
the existing paved area by allowing the existing drive access to be converted 
to open space and drainage for the new multi-family development. The 
development proposal furthers connectivity by accommodating future 
connections as identified in the Gunbarrel Community Center Plan 
Transportation Network Plan. After redevelopment the subject area of 
vacation will no longer serve a public benefit as emergency access. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:  Site Plan 
Attachment C: Proposed Ordinance No. 7924 
Attachment D: Draft Deed of Vacation 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page     45



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page     46



 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A 
Vicinity Map

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page     47



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page     48



 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B 
Site Plan

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page     49



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page     50



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 7924 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEED OF VACATION 
FOR A PORTION OF A 20’ EMERGENCY ACCESS AND 
UTILITY EASEMENT GENERALLY LOCATED AT 6655 
LOOKOUT ROAD, CITY OF BOULDER, COUNTY OF 
BOULDER, COLORADO, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER FINDS AND RECITES THAT: 

A.  6655 Lookout Road, Ltd., a Colorado limited partnership, the owner of the property 

located at 6655 Lookout Road, Boulder, CO (“Property”), has requested that the city vacate a 

portion of a 20’ emergency access and utility easement located within The Greens Industrial 

Park Subdivision; and 

B.  The City Council is of the opinion that the requested vacation is in the public interest 

and that said 20’ emergency access and utility easement is not necessary for the public use. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  The City Council vacates and authorizes the city manager to execute a deed of 

vacation a portion of a 20’ emergency access and utility easement as dedicated to the City of 

Boulder on The Greens Industrial Park Subdivision plat recorded in the records of the Boulder 

County Clerk and Recorder at Film No. 1076, Reception No. 352392, on the 7th day of August, 

1979 and as more particularly described in Exhibit A, reserving an easement interest for any and 

all utility purposes. 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7924

Agenda Item 3E     Page 11Packet Page     51



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 20th day of August, 2013. 

      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7924

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12Packet Page     52



EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE 
 
 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7924

Agenda Item 3E     Page 13Packet Page     53



 
 
 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. 7924

Agenda Item 3E     Page 14Packet Page     54



 
 

DEED OF VACATION 
 

 The City of Boulder, Colorado, does hereby vacate and release to the present 
owner of the land, in the manner prescribed by Section 43-2-302, C.R.S., a portion of the 
20’ emergency access and utility easement previously dedicated to the City of Boulder on 
The Greens Industrial Park subdivision plat recorded in the records of the Boulder 
County Clerk and Recorder at Film 1076, Reception No. 352392, on the 7th day of 
August, 1979 located at 6655 Lookout Road and as more particularly described as 
follows: 

 
See Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 

 
 Reserving unto the City an easement for the installation, construction, repair, 
maintenance and reconstruction of utilities and appurtenances thereto, together with all 
rights and privileges as are necessary or incidental to the reasonable and proper use of 
such easement in and to, over, and under and across the real property described on 
Exhibit A.   
 

The above easement vacation and release of said easement at 6655 Lookout Road 
shall extend only to the portion and the type of easements specifically vacated.  The 
within vacation is not to be construed as vacating any rights-of-way, easements or cross-
easements lying within the description of the vacated portion of the easement. 
 
 Executed this _______ day of ________________, 2013, by the City Manager 
after having received authorization from the City Council of the City of Boulder, 
Colorado, pursuant to Ordinance No. ______, adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Boulder, Colorado. 
 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 
By: ____________________________ 
 Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Attorney 

Attachment D 
Draft Deed of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 15Packet Page     55



EXHIBIT A TO DEED OF VACATION 
 

Attachment D 
Draft Deed of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 16Packet Page     56



 

Attachment D 
Draft Deed of Vacation

Agenda Item 3E     Page 17Packet Page     57



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 18Packet Page     58



 
 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Consideration of the following items related to Boulder County properties identified as 
5399 Kewanee Drive and 5697 South Boulder Road commonly referred to as the Hogan-
Pancost site: 
 

1. A resolution finding the annexation petition in compliance with state statutes 
and establishing Oct. 3, 2013, as the date for a public hearing; 

 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only, an ordinance vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
deed of vacation to vacate a portion of unused public right-of-way of 55th Street 
pursuant to section 8-6-9(c), “Vacation of Public Rights of Way and Public 
Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981, and 

 
3. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only, an ordinance annexing the subject properties including adjacent parts 
of 55th Street with an initial zoning classification of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2). 

 
Applicant/Property Owner:   East Boulder Properties, LLC 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager (Planning) 
Heidi Schum, Development Review Manager (Engineering) 
Jeff Yegian, Housing Manager 
Michelle Allen, Housing Planner 
Karl Guiler, Planner II 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Discussions regarding the annexation and development of the subject 22 acre properties, 
commonly referred to as the Hogan-Pancost site have been underway for nearly 20 years. A 
detailed description and planning history of the project and surrounding area is provided within 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page     59



Attachment A. The annexation application, which is currently under review, was originally 
submitted in 2006 following review of two Concept Plans, which did not progress to Planning 
Board. A new Concept Plan was submitted in early 2012 and reviewed by Planning Board, 
followed by a Site Review application. The Site Review application was considered by Planning 
Board in April 2013, but subsequently withdrawn. 
 
On April 26, 2013, Planning Board unanimously recommended denial of the proposed 
Annexation and Site Review application on a 7-0 vote.  Planning Board, while finding the 
community benefits associated with the proposal consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), found that the proposal did not fully meet the BVCP with respect 
to other cited policies – namely the BVCP Natural Environment and Built Environment policies. 
This is discussed under the Board and Commission Feedback section beginning on page 4.   
 
Per the state’s annexation statutes, council is asked to consider the annexation resolution as 
provided in Attachment B.  The annexation resolution establishes that the petition to annex a 
total of 23.6 acres is in compliance with Section 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. and sets the hearing to 
determine compliance with other annexation requirements.  The ordinance to annex the 
properties is provided for first reading in Attachment D. 
 
On Oct. 3rd, second readings are scheduled for the following ordinances: 
 

1. An ordinance vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute a deed of vacation to 
vacate a portion of the 55th Street public right-of-way pursuant to section 8-6-9(c), 
“Vacation of Public Rights of Way and Public Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981, and 

 
2. An ordinance annexing the subject properties including adjacent parts of 55th Street with 

an initial zoning classification of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2). 
 
Staff has found that the criteria for the requested vacation of public right-of-way of section 8-6-
9(c), B.R.C. 1981 have been met. In addition, staff finds that the proposed amount of affordable 
housing and environmental protection associated with the annexation are consistent with the 
BVCP and has recommended approval of the annexation.   
 
Given the withdrawal of the Site Review application, much of the specific analysis focused on 
the site design and associated engineering to mitigate environmental impacts is less relevant as it 
may be subject to change. Any updated engineering analyses should be executed, as appropriate 
in conjunction with any future Site Review application, should the site receive annexation 
approval.  
 
There is extensive information on the city website related to the proposal. Materials that were 
forwarded to Planning Board can be accessed at the following link: 
 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/planning-board 
 
 “Search for Past Materials- Planning Board” can then be accessed in the right column and the 
April 24th meeting materials will be listed within the April folder.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page     60



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
1. Motion to approve a resolution finding the annexation petition in compliance with 

state statutes and establishing Oct. 3, 2013, as the date for a public hearing and 
council action on the annexation ordinance. 

 
2.   Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance 

vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute a deed of vacation to vacate a 
portion of unused public right-of-way of 55th Street pursuant to section 8-6-9(c), 
“Vacation of Public Rights of Way and Public Access Easements,” B.R.C. 1981 

 
3.   Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance 

annexing the subject properties including adjacent parts of 55th Street with an initial 
zoning classification of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2).  

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  The proposed Boulder County properties are designated in the BVCP for 

eventual annexation to the city. It is in the interest of the city to annex properties so-
designated. City policies has been to annex properties that are within the service area as to 
avoid the economic burden that could arise should independent septic systems fail and 
impact city assets, such as creek systems or open space properties.   
 

 Environmental:  There are environmental benefits of having properties connected to city 
water and sewer, specifically, the avoidance of the potential impacts of independent septic 
system failure. Given the site’s proximity to South Boulder Creek and reports of high 
groundwater in the area, it will be important that any future development proposal includes 
detailed studies that demonstrate that the development will not exacerbate observed 
conditions in the area. As part of the annexation agreement, the applicant has agreed to place 
a conservation easement on the east parcel leaving its sensitive environmental features 
protected and to maintain other areas on the property in their natural state. Further, the 
annexation agreement prohibits the construction of basements on the site in light of high 
groundwater levels in the area. 

 
 Social: The properties have additional development potential. It is the city’s policy to annex 

such properties only if annexation provides a community benefit.  The BVCP lists providing 
affordable housing as such community benefit.  The applicant has agreed to provide 48 
percent of any future housing as permanently affordable. The provision of permanently 
affordable housing within Boulder creates and maintains social diversity within the 
community.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal: City services are existing and available to this site.  All development will be subject to 

city development fees including payment of Storm Water, Flood Management, and utility 
Plant Investment Fees (PIFs). 

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page     61



 Staff time: The annexation application has been processed through the provisions of a 
standard annexation process and is within normal staff work plans. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Boulder County Commission: Annexations are subject to county referral and city Planning 
Board recommendation prior to City Council action. The county has reviewed the request and 
has not objected to the proposal. 
 
Planning Board: Planning Board has reviewed the proposal to annex and develop the Hogan-
Pancost site on a number of occasions in past years as enumerated below: 
 
 Environmental and Engineering Assessment and Feasibility Study: In January 2011, 

Planning Board evaluated an Environmental and Engineering Assessment and 
Feasibility Study that was prepared by consultants hired by the applicant. The study was 
reviewed by the neighborhood as well as third party consultants hired by the city. The 
studies were prepared in response to environmental concerns raised by neighbors during 
a previous Concept Plan review regarding development of the property. City staff 
recommended the applicant conduct more in-depth environmental studies on the 
properties prior to advancing any Concept Plan to Planning Board and applicant agreed. 
The purpose of the 2011 public hearing was for Planning Board to evaluate the studies 
and determine whether there was enough information to conclude that the site was 
suitable for development to the extent that a specific site development plan could be 
evaluated as part of a Concept Plan. 

 
Based on the results of the studies, the board noted that a specific Concept Plan could be 
submitted. The board asked that the applicant follow-up on a few items including 
additional testing of neighboring lots, including the East Boulder Recreation Center if 
possible, to understand the groundwater issues in the area, and further analysis of 
potential traffic impacts. The Jan. 6, 2011 materials can be accessed using the link 
provided on page 2 and selecting the folders for 2011. 

 
 Concept Plan: On Jan.19, 2012, Planning Board reviewed a concept plan for the site. The 

board had a variety of perspectives on the appropriateness of development on the site due 
to the information provided by the Concept Plan and public information provided. The 
Jan. 19, 2012 materials can be accessed using the link provided on page 2 and selecting 
the folders for 2012. 

 
At the Concept Plan hearing, members of the public provided information on 
groundwater and flooding that conflicted with the engineering reports and analysis 
provided by the applicant’s consultants.   The board agreed that it would like to see 
additional review and analysis at the Site Review stage to evaluate the conflicting 
information that was presented at the public hearing.  The chair recommended that all 
scientific information be provided in advance of any public hearings so that such 
technical and complicated information could be reviewed and analyzed by all parties in 
preparation for the public hearing. This recommendation guided staff’s review of the 
subsequent Site Review application, which was submitted in June 2012 and is discussed 
as follows:   
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page     62



 Site Review: As part of the Site Review, staff retained a 4th party review consultant to 
review materials.  Staff also worked with the neighborhood throughout the process to 
answer questions and review the neighborhood studies related to the project. 
 
Given the complexity of the project, a special study session before Planning Board was 
scheduled for April 18, 2013. At this study session, staff presented a detailed overview of 
the history of the project, the findings of the updated studies and a refresher on the BVCP 
and criteria by which the Planning Board would make a recommendation to City Council. 
The materials and audio from the April 18th study session can be accessed at the web link 
provided on page 2. 
 
The public hearing on the Annexation and Initial Zoning and Site Review application 
occurred on April 24th, 25th and 26th.  Staff and applicant presentations and public 
comment were held on the 24th and 25th of April with Planning Board clarifying questions 
on the latter date.  On April 26th the board deliberated the proposal. 
 
In general, the board felt that the community benefits offered with the project, particular 
the permanently affordable housing, senior housing close to the senior center, and 
protection of environmentally sensitive areas, were significant and consistent with the 
BVCP. However, the following concerns were raised in the deliberations: 
 
 Considering the reported activity of sump pumps on developed properties in the 

area, the board discussed the potential effect of the development on groundwater 
levels and how that may potentially negatively impact already developed 
properties in the area. There were requests that additional testing be done and 
more extensive data on groundwater levels be obtained. 

 While stormwater channels were part of the proposed project plans and most of 
the proposed development would have been located outside of the regulatory 
(100-year) floodplain, board members were concerned about flooding based on 
testimony that flooding had been observed on and around the site in the past. 

 Parts of the proposed development, including the proposed congregate care 
facility would have been located in the 500-year floodplain.  The Board had 
reservations about allowing a facility for an at-risk population (i.e., seniors) 
within the 500-year flood plain. 

 Some board members were concerned that the proposed wetland mitigation was 
not consistent with the Wetlands Ordinance in that there had not been a 
demonstration that the loss of wetlands on the site were appropriately minimized 
or mitigated.  

 One board member felt that the environmental issues discussed above could be 
resolved through effective engineering. 

 A majority of the board felt that RL-2 was appropriate for the site; however, one 
board member was opposed and alternatively suggested RL-1 zoning because it 
would permit accessory dwelling units, larger lot sizes and would not permit 
congregate care – a use the board member found to be incompatible with the 
neighborhood.  

 One board member found that congregate care should not be permitted as a 
special use through the annexation process. Another board member expressed 
concern about the massing of the congregate care structure. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page     63



 Most of the board found the proposed site design consistent and compatible with 
the surrounding area, although some board members did not think that the layout 
of the project was conducive to solar energy installation. 

 The board was generally supportive of the vehicular connections through the site, 
but did express concern about increased traffic impacts on surrounding 
neighborhoods.  

 
Following extensive deliberation and based on the concerns outlined above, Planning 
Board did not find the proposal fully consistent with the BVCP or Site Review criteria. 
The board concluded that the community benefits of the project did not outweigh the 
potential impacts from development of the site and unanimously recommended that City 
Council deny the Annexation and Initial Zoning and Site Review applications. The 
Planning Board passed the following motions: 
 
Motion: 
On a motion by S. Weaver and seconded by L. May the Planning Board recommended 7-0 that 
City Council reject the application for the annexation of the Boulder Creek Commons citing the 
reasons summarized by the board.  
 
Motion:  
On a motion by A. Brockett and seconded by S. Weaver, the Planning Board recommend 7-0 
that City Council deny the application for Site Review based on the findings that it failed to meet 
Site Review Criteria 1A: Consistency with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  

 
Motion:  
On a motion by A. Brockett and seconded by S. Weaver, the Planning Board recommended 7-0 
that should City Council move to approve the annexation, the project should be sent to the 
Planning Board for a full Site Review process.  

 
Motion: 
On a motion by S. Weaver and seconded by J. Putnam, the Planning Board recommended 6-1 
(C. Gray in opposition) to City Council that RL-2 zoning would be acceptable should 
annexation be approved. 

 
The minutes of the meetings can be found in Attachment F and the materials and audio 
the meetings can be accessed in the web link provided on page 2. 

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK  
Required public notice was given in the form of written notification mailed to all property 
owners within 1000 feet of the subject site and a sign was posted on the property for at 
least 10 days. All notice requirements of Section 9-4-10(g), B.R.C. 1981 have been met.  
An additional courtesy notice of the Planning Board study session and public hearing was 
also sent to neighbors. Staff has also routinely sent update emails to the list serve of the 
Southeast Boulder Neighborhood Association (SEBNA) keeping them and other 
interested parties apprised of each step of the process. 
 
A number of neighborhood meetings have also been held in the past.  Concerns expressed 
by neighbors are discussed in detail within this memorandum. During the 2012 Concept 
Plan review, an online survey was distributed to the public and posted on the city 
website. The results of the survey are summarized as follows: 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page     64



 
 Most respondents did not find the 2012 Concept Plan proposal compatible with the 

neighborhood. 
 Traffic and environmental impacts were the most voiced concerns. 
 A reduction in density, increase in open space and elimination of the Kewanee 

Drive connection to 55th Street were recommended by many who participated in the 
survey. 

 Potential for flooding and groundwater impacts were identified as the most 
important environmental concerns for the site. 

 Seventy percent (70percent) of respondents opposed any residential development of 
the property and ninety-seven percent (97percent) of respondents opposed the 
Kewanee Drive connection to 55th Street. 

 
Question and Answer Sessions and Open House 
Staff met with representatives of SEBNA in the fall of 2012 to discuss some of the 
neighbor concerns relative to groundwater, flood and other engineering issues. Staff also 
held an open house regarding the project on January 30, 2013. The purpose of the open 
house was to provide an opportunity for neighbors and other interested parties to view the 
proposed plans, ask questions of city staff about review processes and standards, and with 
the applicant’s consultants, discuss the proposed plans. The open house was well attended 
and public comments were received. These comments can be found in Attachment G. 
 
Attachment H contains other written public comments on the proposal received during 
the review process. 
 
Extensive public comment was also heard at the April 2013 Planning Board meetings. 
 
ANALYSIS 
Overview 
Key issues before the City Council at time of second reading are: 
 
 Whether or not to approve the proposed right-of-way vacation of an unused portion of 

the 55th Street right-of-way; 
 Whether or not to annex the property, and 
 What city zoning would be appropriate for the site, if annexed.  
 
The factors that inform these decisions are based on whether the proposed annexation is 
consistent with state statutes, city annexation and other BVCP policies and whether the 
proposed zoning is consistent with the BVCP Land Use Map. The decision regarding the 
pubic right-of-way vacation is based on specific code criteria. 
 
Right-of-way vacation 
In order to vacate the public right-of-way easement, City Council must find consistency with the 
criteria of Subsection 8-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981.  The vacation would have to be approved by 
ordinance. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page     65



Figure 1 below shows the unused portion of right-of-way on the subject site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   Figure 1- Public right-of-way on subject site. 
 
With the subject right-of-way of 55th Street not being used for any current or future public 
purpose and considering that it is a remnant piece of right-of-way following extension of 55th 
Street to the East Boulder Recreation Center, staff finds that the criteria of section 8-6-9(c) 
B.R.C. 1981 have been met and has provided responses to the bolded criteria below:   
 
 Section 8-6-9(c), “Vacation of Public Rights of Way and Public Access 

Easements,” B.R.C. 1981: 
 

1) The applicant must demonstrate that the public purpose for which an easement or 
right-of-way was originally acquired or dedicated is no longer valid or necessary for 
public use; 

 
 With development of the East Boulder Community Park and the extension of 55th Street, 

which now provides access to the property, the portion of the 55th Street Right-of-Way to be 
vacated ceased to serve a valid public purpose or the public interest. The Right-of-Way to be 
vacated currently functions as an access drive to the Boulder Creek Commons property. 

 
2) All agencies and departments having a conceivable interest in the easement or right-
of-way must indicate that no need exists, either at present or conceivable in the future, 
to retain the property as an easement or right-of-way, either for its original purpose or 
for some other public purpose. 

 
 The proposed vacation has been evaluated by the Departments of Planning, Public Works 

and Fire and it has been collectively concluded that the public entities would have no 
conceivable interest in the right-of-way. The original purpose of the 55th Street right-of-way 
was to provide legal access to the Boulder Creek Commons property. The extended 55th 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page     66



Street right-of-way that was condemned across the property now serves as legal access to the 
property. The utilities within the portion of 55th Street to be vacated are private services that 
will be demolished or relocated with development of the property. 

 
3) The applicant must demonstrate, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan and the City's Land Use Regulations, either 

   
 a) that failure to vacate an existing right-of-way or easement on the property 

would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the property consistent with the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and the City's Land Use Regulations, or  

 
Failure to vacate the existing right-of-way on the property would create a substantial 
hardship to the use of the property by restricting development. The existing right-of-
way configuration does not provide a logical location for extending a roadway into 
the property to serve potential new development and thus is no longer needed.  
 
b) that vacation of the easement or right-of-way would actually provide a 
greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present status.   

   
        Not Applicable.  
 
The proposed ordinance relative to the proposed vacation of a portion of public right-of-way can 
be accessed in Attachment C. 
 
Annexation and Initial Zoning 
 
Compliance with Colorado Revised Statutes 
Starting broadly in the context of state annexation statutes (Section 31-12-101, C.R.S.), staff has 
reviewed the annexation petition for compliance with the C.R.S. and finds that the application is 
consistent with those sections, as affirmed by the criteria below: 
 
 Landowners of more than 50 percent of the area (i.e., the area proposed for annexation) 

and more than 50 percent of landowners of the area  have petitioned to annex; 
 The petition was filed with the City Clerk; 
 There is a community interest between the property proposed for annexation and the city 

of Boulder; 
 The subject property does not include any area included in another annexation proceeding 

involving a city other than the city of Boulder; 
 The annexation would not remove the property from one school district and add it to 

another; and 
 The property has, at least, one-sixth contiguity with the perimeter of the city of Boulder. 
 
Consistency with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 

Pursuant to Land Use Code section 9-2-16(a), “Annexation Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981, “all 
annexations to the City shall meet the requirements of 31-12-101 et seq., C.R.S., and shall be 
consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and other ordinances of the City.” 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page     67



The BVCP provides guidance with its land use map and extensive policies to help determine 
whether a development (or annexation in this case) is appropriate. The following analysis 
section focuses on whether the proposed project is consistent with BVCP policies. The BVCP 
can be accessed at the following web address: 
 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan 

General Land Use, Annexation and Community benefit 

The properties are currently part of Boulder County and are subject to the BVCP. The BVCP 
designates the properties as Planning Area II making the site eligible for annexation into the city. 
Area I properties are those that are already annexed to the city, Area II properties are those that 
are anticipated to be annexed to the city within the planning period (generally 15 years from 
adoption of the BVCP) and Area III properties are those designated for open space.  As part of 
the Annexation and Initial Zoning process, the appropriate city zoning must be determined and 
any zoning district and resultant proposal must be found consistent with goals and policies of the 
BVCP as well as the BVCP Land Use Map.  

 

  Figure 2- BVCP land use designations on and around the site. 

As Figure 2 shows, the BVCP designates the site as Low Density Residential on the parcel west 
of 55th Street and Environmental Protection on the parcel east of 55th Street. Low Density 
Residential land use permits two to six dwelling units per acre. Based on the land area, the site 
could yield over 130 dwelling units. The Environmental Protection designation includes private 
lands in Areas I and II with environmental values that the city and county would like to preserve 
through a variety of preservation methods including but not limited to intergovernmental 
agreements, dedications, development restrictions, rezonings, acquisitions, and density transfers. 

The applicant submitted a Site Review application for 121 dwelling units (including 50 attached 
senior congregate care units), but has since withdrawn this request.  The eastern parcel would 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page     68



remain as an enhanced protected wetland under a conservation easement as a requirement of 
annexation. This conforms to the Environmental Protection land use designation. This is also 
consistent with BVCP Policies 2.04, Open Space Preservation and 3.06, Wetland and Riparian 
Protection. 

BVCP Policy 1.24, Annexation, requires that any parcel proposed to be annexed into the city 
where there is significant development potential must include significant benefit to the 
community. In this case, the applicant has agreed to provide 48 percent of the units on the 
properties as deed-restricted permanently affordable units. As stated above, the proposal also 
entails the preservation of the 2.73 acre eastern parcel to provide wetland mitigation.   

BVCP Policy 1.18, Growth Requirements, also touches on the “community benefit” requirement, 
by stating: “the overall effect of urban growth must add significant value to the community, 
improving quality of life. The city will require development and redevelopment as a whole to 
provide significant community benefits and to maintain or improve environmental quality as a 
precondition for further housing and community growth.”  Policy 1.24 (subsection d) further 
specifies that permanently affordable housing and environmental preservation are key 
considerations in determining community benefit. 

Staff finds that the combination of 48 percent of the units as permanently affordable and 
environmental protection of the 2.73 acre eastern parcel would be considered significant 
community benefit for the site consistent with BVCP Policies 1.18 and 1.24 above. Further, the 
applicant has also agreed to deed two and one half shares owned in the Dry Creek Ditch no. 2 to 
the city for use in park irrigation and other community purposes; an additional factor in the 
consideration of community benefit.  This combination of community benefits is consistent with 
other projects that have been approved for annexation where annexation guidelines generally 
require 40 to 60 percent of units as permanently affordable. This percentage can be lowered from 
60 percent based on other associated community benefits.  

BVCP Land use designation and proposed RL-2 zoning 

The site is designated for Low Density Residential land use in the BVCP, which permits two to 
six dwelling units per acre, which as stated above could result in the potential for over 130 
dwelling units on the site. The only applicable zoning districts in this density range are RL-1 
(Residential Low- 1) and RL-2 (Residential Low – 2), which are found in the vicinity of the 
project as represented in Figure 3 as follows:  

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page     69



 

   Figure 3- City zoning around the site. 

The primary difference between RL-1 and RL-2 is that RL-1 has a minimum lot size of 7,000 
square feet and RL-2 has a minimum open space of 6,000 square feet per unit, both of which 
determine total density. It is not uncommon to see lots under 7,000 square feet or lots with less 
than 6,000 square feet of open space as these amounts can be modified in the Site Review 
process so long as the overall density does not exceed the total permitted in the gross land area 
and/or open space requirements. Many of the developments in the area were approved under 
Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) or the more contemporary Site Review process to permit 
these conditions. 

RL-1 neighborhoods typically pre-date 1970 and include generally larger lot sizes to meet the 
7,000 square feet minimum lot size requirement, whereas RL-2 zoned areas typically have 
occurred after 1970 when open space determined density. It is more common in RL-2 areas to 
see PUD or Site Review approvals for lots that do not have 6,000 square feet individually, but 
include common open space areas to meet the requirement. Setback modifications are also not 
uncommon in such areas as opposed to RL-1 properties that were developed by-right without 
PUDs or Site Review and have generally resulted in more suburban designs with homes that are 
set back further from the street and spaced further apart. Figure 3 shows that RL-2 areas typically 
occur along the eastern boundary of the city and are proximate to open space areas. 

Staff finds that RL-2 zoning is appropriate, because: 
 

 RL-2 zoning is consistent with the BVCP Low Density Residential land use applied to 
the property. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page     70



 RL-2 zoning matches the zoning of other edge properties around the city limits of the city 
adjacent to open space. 

 RL-2 generally enables more flexibility at the Site Review stage as open space can be 
modified to create more meaningful common open spaces and lot sizes that are more 
traditional with buildings set closer to the street. 

 Unlike RL-1 which only permits detached dwelling units, attached housing can be 
permitted (e.g., duplexes, townhomes), which is more consistent with BVCP policies 
encouraging diversity of housing types. 

 
The annexation map can be found in Attachment I and the proposed ordinance to annex and 
initially zone the site is within Attachment D. The annexation agreement can be found in 
Attachment E. The proposed annexation conditions can also be reviewed on page 15 of this 
memorandum. 
 
As part of the Site Review, Planning Board reviewed extensive studies related to the 
environmental conditions on the property.  Based on the studies and extensive expert reviews, 
staff concurred with the consistent conclusions of the three engineering firms that state the 
proposed development would not adversely affect groundwater sump pumping in the area.  
However, given the applicant’s withdrawal of the Site Review application, these assessments are 
no longer as relevant to this analysis as they are largely based on the specifics of the proposed 
development and the site design. 
 
Most of Planning Board’s objections to the project related to environmental concerns on 
the site; specifically, that there was not enough assurance that the design would properly 
mitigate against flooding and high groundwater levels, and that the design did not go far 
enough in restoring impacted wetlands. The studies, staff findings on this matter and 
audio from the board hearing can be found at the web link provided at the bottom of page 
2. 
 
Congregate care as a special use 
The previous Site Review proposal included 50 congregate care senior units, which were 
considered a community benefit given the need for senior housing in Boulder and the close 
proximity of the facility to the East Boulder Senior Center. Despite withdrawal of the Site 
Review application, the applicant continues to request approval to build a congregate care 
facility. Congregate care is not a permitted use in the low density residential zones and could 
only be permitted as a special use outlined in the annexation agreement.  
 
Staff found that the use was appropriate and consistent with the BVCP and supported its 
inclusion in the agreement. However, some Planning Board members objected to the use as a 
special use that was inconsistent with the zoning. Some board members also had concerns about 
the scale of the congregate care building and found the use incompatible with the surroundings. 
As a result, staff has eliminated the special use provision in the annexation for congregate care. If 
City Council finds that the congregate care should be allowed on the subject property, the 
annexation agreement would need to be updated to explicitly permit the use. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page     71



Questions posed by City Council 
 
Question: If City Council were to annex the site with a low density residential BVCP land use 
designation and zoning, as requested, is the city obligated to approve future development of the 
site? 
 
Annexing the site and applying low density residential zoning sets up the expectation that the site 
will eventually develop according to the underlying regulations provided that any future 
development proposal met the Site Review requirements and criteria.   
  
Question:  What is the procedure for disconnecting territory from the city limits after it has been 
annexed? 
 
There are limited circumstances in which a city may disconnect land from the city.  A property 
owner of a parcel of land consisting of more than five acres and located on the boundary of a city 
may petition for disconnection from the city if municipal services have not been provided to the 
area within three years after annexation on the same terms and conditions as the rest of the 
municipality.  This may be accomplished either by ordinance or by court decree, depending upon 
the local circumstances.  See C.R.S. § 31-12-119.   
 
The state annexation statute also has provisions related to disconnections from statutory cities 
(See, C.R.S. § 31-12-601, et seq.) and statutory towns (See, C.R.S. § 31-12-701, et seq.).  Those 
provisions do not apply to Boulder because it is a home rule city.  Annexation and disconnection 
powers are essentially legislative and do not exist unless expressly spelled out in statute; there 
being no inherent power in court to grant annexation or disconnection.   City of Littleton v. 
Wagenblast, 139 Colo. 346, 338 P.2d 1025 (1959).   

In arguing that the above referenced statutes did not apply to an attempt by a property owner to 
use the statute as a basis for disconnecting from a home rule city, the court in Allely v. City of 
Evans, 124 P.3d 911, 914 (Colo. Ct. App. 2005) noted that the power of disconnection is 
legislative, and absent an express statutory authorization, courts lack jurisdiction to order it.   In 
that case, the City of Evans adopted a disconnection ordinance.    The court recognized the City’s 
ordinance, but did not review the merits of its disconnection.   

It appears that home rule cities have the authority to adopt legislation addressing disconnection.  
Boulder has not adopted any ordinances related to disconnection of land from the city.   
 
STAFF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION: 
Based on the submitted plans and extensive studies on the property, staff has the following 
conclusions: 
 
 Staff finds that the criteria to vacate a portion of 55th Street public right-of-way can be 

met; 
 
 The community benefits of the project, including 48percent of the total units as 

permanently affordable units and the environmental protection of wetlands on the site 
associated with the selling of ditch shares to the city, are in combination consistent with 
BVCP annexation policies; and 

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page     72



 RL-2 zoning is appropriate and consistent with the BVCP Land Use Map and 
surrounding zoning. 

 
Staff, therefore, finds the project consistent with the BVCP and recommends that the City 
Council consider the following motion at time of second reading: 
 
 Motion to adopt an ordinance vacating and authorizing the City Manager to execute a 

deed of vacation to vacate a portion of the 55th Street public right-of-way, and 
 
 Motion to annex the subject properties, including adjacent parts of 55th Street, with an 

initial zoning of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2). 
 
PROPOSED ANNEXATION CONDITIONS: 
 

1. Requirements.  The Applicant shall be required to do the following: 
 
a. Prior to first reading of the annexation ordinance before City Council, the 

Applicant shall: 
 

 i. Provide an updated title commitment current within 30 days. 
 
ii. Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee of 

$4,009.50, in accordance with Section 11-5-7, B.R.C. 1981, based upon an 
impervious area of 2,025 square feet. 

 
b. Prior to second reading of the annexation ordinance before City Council, the 

Applicant shall: 
 

i. Dedicate to the City, at no cost to the City, a conservation easement, in a 
form acceptable to the City Manager, for that portion of the Property 
described on Exhibit B (“Conservation Easement Area”).  The 
Conservation Easement Area shall be counted as land area within the 
Property for purposes of calculating allowable density and as required 
open space area under City ordinances existing at the time of development 
triggering such calculation. Otherwise, this Conservation Easement Area 
shall be governed by City ordinances existing at the time of development.   
Prior to the acceptance of the Conservation Easement by the City, the 
Applicant shall obtain the written and notarized agreement of any existing 
senior mortgagee or lienholder in that Conservation Easement Area to 
subordinate their interest in the Conservation Easement Area to the City’s 
rights to retain in effect and enforce this Agreement. 

 
ii. Convey to the City, at no cost to the City, all of the shares of the Dry 

Creek Ditch No. 2 Ditch associated with the Property by quitclaim deed 
and stock assignment.   

 
2. Zoning.  The Property shall be annexed to the City with an initial zoning 
classification of “Residential Low - 2”, and except as set forth herein, shall be subject to 
all of the rights and restrictions associated with that zoning. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page     73



 
3. Affordable Housing.  The parties agree that this Agreement is a voluntary agreement 
between the City and the Applicant that may limit rents on dwelling units on the Property 
to insure that they are constructed and maintained as affordable housing.  The Applicant 
agrees that forty-eight percent (48%) of any dwelling units on the Property shall be 
permanently affordable and shall meet the requirements provided below as units that are 
owned by individual home owners or rented to tenants.  Permanently affordable deed 
restricting covenants to secure the affordability of dwelling units shall be signed and 
recorded with the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder prior to application for any 
residential building permit. The City Manager shall have the authority to modify the 
requirements set forth in subparagraphs a, b, c, d (ii) and e of this Paragraph 3 provided 
that the specifically proposed development would provide an affordable housing benefit 
that is equivalent to the benefit required under subparagraphs 3.a, b, c, d (ii) and e.  

 
a. Permanently Affordable – Low to Moderate Income.  The Applicant agrees to 

provide fifty percent (50%) of any permanently affordable units to be affordable 
for low or moderate income households consistent with Chapter 9-13, 
“Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981.  The total number of required low to 
moderate income permanently affordable units shall be rounded down to the 
nearest whole number if a fractional number results from the calculations. 
 

b. Permanently Affordable – Middle Income. The Applicant agrees to provide fifty 
percent (50%) of any permanently affordable units to be affordable for middle 
income households. 

 
i. The total number of required middle income permanently affordable units 

shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number if a fractional number 
results from the calculations. 

 
ii. Affordable middle income buyer household income shall not exceed 35% 

above the HUD Low Income Limit applicable to the City. 
 
iii. The maximum price shall be affordable to a household whose income does 

not exceed the HUD Low Income Limit applicable to the City by more 
than 25%. 

 
c. Final Unit Pricing.  Affordable for-sale unit pricing shall be based on the unit’s 

type (attached or detached), size, and number of bedrooms and bathrooms, and on 
the HUD income limits described above when either the interim affordable 
covenant or final affordable covenant is executed, whichever is first. 

 
d. Consistency with Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981.  The 

Applicant agrees that with the exception of the specific requirements listed in this 
Agreement, implementation will be consistent with Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary 
Housing,” B.R.C. 1981, including but not limited to:  

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page     74



i. Affordable rental unit pricing; 
ii. Proportionality for the affordable units to the type (for example, detached, 

duplex, and four-plex), and number of bedrooms and bathrooms to the 
market rate units on the Property; 

iii. Unfinished floor area substitution for finished floor area; and 
iv. Covenants and deed restriction requirements prior to a building permit 

application for any new unit. 
 

e. Affordable Unit Size.  The minimum size of each permanently affordable 
detached unit shall be: 

  
i. One bedroom units – 900 square feet 
ii. Two bedroom units – 1,100 square feet 
iii. Three bedroom units – 1,300 square feet 
iv. Four bedroom units – 1,500 square feet  

 
The minimum size of each permanently affordable attached unit shall be: 

  
i. One bedroom units – 700 square feet 
ii. Two bedroom units – 900 square feet 
iii. Three bedroom units – 1,100 square feet 
iv. Four bedroom units – 1,300 square feet  

 
f.  Concurrency.  The permanently affordable units must be provided concurrently 

with the market units such that for each building permit issued for one market rate 
unit one building permit must have been issued for an affordable unit. 
 

g. Floor Plan Approval.  Prior to signing the affordable covenant and no later than a 
building permit submittal for any permanently affordable units, the Applicant 
shall submit and obtain approval from the City Manager for documentation, 
including, but not limited to, floor plans and finish specifications, demonstrating 
that the permanently affordable units meet the requirements of Chapter 9-13, 
“Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981, and are consistent with the City’s 
Livability Guidelines and Standards for Permanently Affordable Housing.  

 
h. Agreement to Abide by Restrictions.  The Applicant agrees to construct, restrict, 

and sell permanently affordable units as described and required by this 
Agreement.  The Applicant agrees that no dwelling units shall be established 
unless the requirements of this paragraph have been met.  The Applicant further 
agrees that the City may withhold any approval affecting the Property, including, 
without limitation, a building permit, administrative review, use review, site 
review, and subdivision, until the requirements of this paragraph have been 
satisfied. 

 
4. Laws, Rules, Guidelines and Indexes.  Except as provided in this Agreement, the 
Parties intend to apply the law, rules and guidelines that are effective at the time of 
development or the issuance building permits.  In the event that any such laws, rules, or 
guidelines are not in place, the City Manager will create similar standards for the 
purposes of implementing this Agreement.  In the event that any indexes including 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 17Packet Page     75



without limitation the HUD Low Income Limit applicable to the City that are used in this 
Agreement are not in place at the time of development or the issuance of building 
permits, the City Manager will select or create a similar index for the purpose of 
implementing the requirements of this Agreement.   
 
5. Reimbursement to Department of Parks and Recreation.  Prior to recordation of a 
final plat or prior to obtaining any building permit for the Property, whichever occurs 
first, the Applicant shall reimburse the City of Boulder Department of Parks and 
Recreation for the previous construction of 55th Street across the Property pursuant to the 
Agreement dated October 20, 1993 between the City and The Estate of Thomas P. 
Hogan, Deceased, Thomas Grant Hogan, Successor Personal Representative recorded in 
the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office at Film #1903, Reception #01361390 on 
November 15, 1993 (“Settlement Agreement”).  The parties agree that said 
reimbursement amount described above shall be $267,758.00. 
 
6. Areas to be Preserved in Undeveloped State.  The Applicant agrees to preserve the 
most western 60 feet of the Property along the western Property line and the eastern 
portion of the northeastern corner of the part of the Property located west of 55th Street, 
as depicted on Exhibit C which is a copy of the map attached as Exhibit 3 to the 
Settlement Agreement, in an undeveloped state except as approved by the City Manager 
in a landscape or other plan that is submitted for review and approval by the City 
Manager.  The area so to be preserved in an undeveloped state shall be entitled to be 
counted as land area within the Property for purposes of calculating allowable density 
and as required open space area under City ordinances existing at the time of 
development triggering such calculation. Otherwise, this area to be preserved in an 
undeveloped state shall be governed by City ordinances existing at the time of 
development.   

 
7. Basements Prohibited.  The Applicant agrees that basements shall not be constructed 
in any structures on the Property.  “Basement” shall have the meaning as described in the 
generally applicably definition for “basement” in Section 9-16-1, “Definitions,” B.R.C. 
1981. 
 
8. Subordination.  Prior to the issuance of any building permit for any additional 
buildings on the Property, the Applicant shall obtain the written agreement or consent, in 
a form acceptable to the City Manager, of any existing senior mortgagee or lienholder in 
the Property included in the Annexation, to subordinate their interest in the Property to 
the City’s rights to retain in effect and enforce this Agreement.   

 
9. Conveyance of Drainage.  The Applicant shall convey drainage from the Property in a 
historic manner that does not materially and adversely affect abutting property owners. 

 
10. Waiver of Vested Rights.  The Applicant waives any vested property rights that may 
have arisen under Boulder County jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall replace any such 
rights that may have arisen under Boulder County jurisdiction.  The Applicant 
acknowledges that nothing contained herein may be construed as a waiver of the City’s 
police powers or the power to zone and regulate land uses for the benefit of the general 
public. 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 18Packet Page     76



11. Breach of Agreement.  In the event that the Applicant breaches or fails to perform any 
required action under or fails to pay any fee specified under the Covenants of this 
Agreement, the Applicant acknowledges that the City may take all reasonable actions to 
cure the breach, including but not limited to, the filing of an action for specific 
performance of the obligations herein described.  In the event the Applicant fails to pay 
any monies due under this Agreement or fails to perform any affirmative obligation 
hereunder, the Applicant agrees that the City may collect the monies due in the manner 
provided for in Section 2-2-12, B.R.C. 1981, as amended, as if said monies were due and 
owing pursuant to a duly adopted ordinance of the City or the City may perform the 
obligation on behalf of the Applicant and collect its costs in the manner herein provided. 
The Applicant agrees to waive any rights it may have under Section 31-20-105, C.R.S., 
based on the City’s lack of an enabling ordinance authorizing the collection of this 
specific debt, or acknowledges that the adopting of the annexation ordinance is such 
enabling ordinance. 
 
12. Additional Documents.  The Owner agrees to execute and deliver any additional 
documents and perform any additional acts necessary or appropriate to effectuate and 
perform the provisions of this Agreement when requested by the City. 
 
13. Binding Agreement.  The Agreement and covenants as set forth herein shall run with 
the land and shall be binding upon the Applicant, his/her heirs, successors, 
representatives and assigns, and all persons who may hereafter acquire an interest in the 
Property, or any part thereof.  If it shall be determined that this Agreement creates an 
interest in land, that interest shall vest, if at all, within the lives of the undersigned plus 
twenty years and three hundred and sixty-four days. 
 
14. Null and Void.  This Agreement and any document executed pursuant hereto shall be 
null and void and of no consequence in the event that the Property is not annexed to the 
City.   
 
15. Dedications.  The Applicant acknowledges that the dedications and public 
improvements required herein are rationally related and reasonably proportionate to the 
projected impact of the development of the Subject Property as set forth in this 
Agreement. 

 
16. Original Instruments.  Prior to the first reading of the annexation ordinance, the 
Applicant shall provide an original of this Agreement signed by the Applicant, along with 
any instruments required in this Agreement.  The City agrees to hold such documents 
until after final legislative action on the annexation of this Property has occurred.  Final 
legislative action by the City Council shall constitute acceptance of such documents by 
the City.  In the event that the City does not annex the Property, the City agrees that it 
will return all such original documents to the Applicant.  The Applicant agrees that it will 
not encumber or in any way take any action that compromises the quality of such 
documents while they are being held by the City. 

 
17. Right to Withdraw.  The Applicant retains the right to withdraw from this Agreement 
up until the time that final legislative action has been taken on the ordinance that will 
cause the Property to be annexed into the City.  The final legislative action will be the 
vote of the City Council after the final reading of the annexation ordinance.  The 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 19Packet Page     77



Applicant’s right to withdraw shall terminate upon the City Council’s final legislative 
action approving the annexation.  In the event that the Applicant withdraws from this 
Agreement in the manner described above, this Agreement shall be null and will have no 
effect. 

 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A:   Background 
Attachment B:  Resolution 
Attachment C:  Ordinance to vacate portion of public right-of-way  
Attachment D:  Annexation ordinance 
Attachment E:   Annexation Agreement 
Attachment F:  Minutes from April 24th, 25th and 26th Planning Board meetings 
Attachment G:  Public comments received at Jan. 30, 2013 open house 
Attachment H:  Other public comments received 
Attachment I:  Annexation Map 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 20Packet Page     78



BACKGROUND 
 
The roughly 22-acre vacant site, known as the Hogan-Pancost property (see Figures 1 
and 2 below) is located at 5399 Kewanee Drive and 5697 South Boulder Road in east 
Boulder near the East Boulder Recreation Center. The site can be accessed from 55th 
Street from South Boulder Road to the south of the site or from 55th Street from the north 
by way of the East Boulder Recreation Center. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1- Vicinity map and context. 
 
The Hogan-Pancost properties have been historically used for grazing and agricultural 
purposes and are within Boulder County; however, as shown in Figure 2 as follows, 
almost the entirety of the site is surrounded by city annexed land – namely the single-
family residential developments of Keewayden Meadows to the west, Greenbelt 
Meadows to the south, and the East Boulder Recreation Center to the northeast. 

 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 21Packet Page     79



 
   Figure 2- site respective to city limits shown shaded. 

 
As shown in Figure 3, there are existing wetland areas on the site.  There has been 
environmental concern from the community related to development upon wetlands and 
the impact to wildlife on the site, including but not limited to prairie dogs and Preble 
mice.   
 
Environmental studies have indicated that the wetland areas are a result of seepage from 
unlined ditches that run through the site and that the property does not contain suitable 
habitat for Preble mice.  Extensive environmental studies have been conducted on the 
site and conclusions have indicated that permanent impacts to wetland areas on the 
western parcel can be mitigated at a 2:1 ratio by creating additional wetland areas on the 
eastern parcel.  The wetlands and natural areas on the eastern parcel would be preserved 
and enhanced.  No development is proposed for the eastern parcel.   

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 22Packet Page     80



Figure 3- Wetland areas. 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 23Packet Page     81



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 24Packet Page     82



The site also contains 100-year and 500-year floodplain areas as shown on Figure 4.  The 
majority of the 100-year floodplain areas is on the eastern parcel and would be preserved 
as a wetland area. Any development within the 100-year floodplain would require a 
floodplain development permit.  Residential structures within the 100-year floodplain are 
required to have the lowest floor level elevated to the flood protection elevation (two-feet 
above the base flood elevation). There are limited areas of 100-year flood plain on the 
west side of the property. Most of these areas are proposed to be preserved within open 
space; however, there may be several homes that must meet the flood protection elevation.  
The City of Boulder does not currently have any regulations for the 500-year floodplain, 
but is in the process of developing regulations for critical facilities and lodging facilities 
within the 500-year floodplain.  It is not anticipated that the proposed regulations would 
impact this development other than a possible need to floodproof the proposed congregate 
care facility and develop an emergency management plan.   

 

Figure 4- Floodplain Map 

 
 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 25Packet Page     83



The properties are currently part of Boulder County. Like properties within the City of 
Boulder and those within Boulder Valley portions of Boulder County, the property is 
subject to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). The BVCP is the overarching 
policy document that establishes the vision and policies that guide land use and 
development within the Boulder Valley. It is a jointly adopted plan between the City of 
Boulder and Boulder County and includes community adopted policies ranging from 
community design and community services to energy and the environment. The official 
BVCP land use map informs how properties will be zoned and informs city decisions on 
zoning and other community matters. Zoning and development in general is required to be 
consistent with the BVCP.  

The BVCP also three specific “Planning Areas”, where urban development is allowed 
(Area I), areas where future development may occur contingent on eventual annexation 
(Area II), and areas that are not intended for urban development (Area III- Rural 
Preservation). The line separating Area II lands from Area III lands is effectively the 
urban growth boundary for the City of Boulder. The subject property is designated 
Planning Area II making it eligible for annexation into the city. 

As Figure 5 below shows, the BVCP land use map designates the site as Low Density 
Residential on the parcel west of 55th Street and Environmental Protection on the parcel 
east of 55th Street. Low Density Residential land use permits two to six dwelling units per 
acre. 

 

Figure 5- BVCP land use designations on and around the site. 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 26Packet Page     84



The potential development of the Hogan-Pancost site has been a prominent discussion 
topic for several years.  The topic of the property’s eventual development, or likelihood of 
development, has spanned from earlier than the 1980s, and before consideration of the 
East Boulder Community Park, to updates to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) in the 1990s and 2000s where the site’s Low Density Residential land use 
designation has been continually analyzed.  Three Concept Plans have been reviewed in 
the last 10 years relative for this site. A comprehensive environmental study of wetlands, 
flood, groundwater, wildlife, and other environmental issues was undertaken by the 
applicant’s consultants at the recommendation of city staff following review of the 2007 
Concept Plan review to address the site’s general suitability for development. The site’s 
complex history is discussed below.  
 
East Boulder Community Park master plan 
During the 1980s, there was extensive public involvement in the Department of Parks and 
Recreation’s preparation of a master plan for the East Boulder Community Park, where 
access to the park was a primary issue of discussion. Neighborhood concerns related to the 
extension of 55th Street north from South Boulder Road to connect to 55th Street north of 
the subject site and potential connections of Kewanee Drive from the adjacent Keewayden 
Meadows to the west to 55th Street.  
 
The East Boulder Community Park master plan was approved in 1986, which included the 
extension of 55th Street (as it exists today) to provide park access and access to what 
would become the East Boulder Recreation Center. In order to address neighborhood 
concerns, the connection was designed in a manner that was circuitous to provide access, 
but discourage through traffic. Further, the Department of Parks and Recreation 
committed to not extending Kewanee Drive for access to the park.  A 1992 memorandum 
from Parks and Recreation indicates that, “during discussions on the future of traffic 
circulation in this area (related to the development of the park), staff and Planning Board 
made assurances to the neighborhood on Manhattan Drive that this connection would not 
be made in the future.”  This is reflected in the master plan, which shows Kewanee Drive 
as a cul-de-sac.  

 
Additional memoranda from the time indicate that the Planning Board reviewed the 
Kewanee Drive connection issue and concluded that the board would evaluate such a 
connection as part of any future development plans.  Based on the attached 1986 
memoranda, future consideration of a connection as part of a development plan was not 
specifically ruled out. The documents referenced above were attached to the April 18, 
2013 staff memorandum to the Planning Board. 
 
BVCP Updates and Land Use Analyses 

 
A land use analysis that included the subject property was conducted in the 1990s when a 
Community Review Group, composed of neighborhood residents and a Staff Review 
Group, was created to evaluate the area and identify issues related to future development.  
Since 2000, three requests as part of the BVCP updates that have been made by the 
Southeast Boulder Neighborhood Association to change the BVCP Planning Area from 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 27Packet Page     85



Area IIA to Area III-Rural Preservation. As part of the Year 2000 major update to the 
BVCP, the city and county reviewed a land use suitability study of undeveloped Area II 
properties to determine their suitability for urban development as part of the consideration 
to change the Planning Area to Area III-Rural Preservation for the Hogan-Pancost site.  

 
As part of that study, it was concluded by City Council that the west portion of the Hogan-
Pancost site was appropriate for residential development while the portion east of 55th 
Street would be more appropriate for environmental preservation.  Consequently, the city 
and the county kept the site in Area II, changed the land use designation on the eastern 
portion of the site to Environmental Protection, and retained the existing Low Density 
Residential designation on the remaining portion of the site.  Low Density Residential 
land use permits two to six dwelling units per acre. 
 
In regard to the most recent request to change the BVCP land use designation, which 
occurred in 2010, staff recommended against a change to Area III-Rural Preservation 
pending the results of environmental studies discussed below and also to allow the review 
of the development applications currently under review.  Ultimately if Planning Board and 
City Council did not agree with the proposed plans to develop the property, 
reconsideration of the Planning Area change to Area III-Rural Preservation would be 
appropriate. Staff presented this option to City Council as part of the 2010 BVCP Major 
Update and the council agreed. 
 
Environmental Study and Concept Plans 
The current applicant has been involved in the potential development of the site since the 
early 2000s.  The applicant has been involved in several Pre-Application reviews and has 
applied for Concept Plan reviews in 2003 and 2007.  The applicant also submitted their 
Annexation and Initial Zoning application in 2006 (#LUR2006-00099) and this 
application is included in this review. During these reviews, the applicant conducted a 
number of neighborhood meetings to solicit public input on the proposals where neighbors 
expressed concerns related to wetlands, ground water, flood and wildlife habitat as well as 
potential impacts to the surrounding neighborhood from additional density and traffic. 
Based on these concerns and the South Boulder Creek flood study, the applicant withdrew 
the 2007 application to further refine the proposal.   

 
As part of a Concept Plan review application in 2007 (which did not proceed to Planning 
Board for review and was subsequently withdrawn as noted above), the property owners 
agreed that prior to the submittal and review of a subsequent Concept Plan application, the 
property owners would provide staff with more detailed environmental analyses for the 
property to determine whether the property could support any type of development. This is 
not a typical requirement of land use review, particularly during the Concept Plan review 
stage, but considering the concerns of neighbors and the history of the site, these 
comprehensive environmental analyses were completed by the applicant’s consultants and 
were submitted to the city and city-contracted third party review consultants for analysis 
in 2010.  
 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 28Packet Page     86



The studies were distributed to the neighborhood for review and were presented to the 
Planning Board at a public hearing on Jan. 6, 2011. To assist the board, staff retained an 
engineering consultant who prepared a “Groundwater 101” presentation to help inform the 
board about the complex groundwater issues in Boulder that would relate to the subject 
site.  At the Jan. 6th public hearing, Planning Board found that the studies affirmed that the 
site could support residential development.  
 
Staff and the city’s independent third party consultants concluded that the environmental 
studies affirm that the site would be suitable for development.  Their analyses concluded 
the following: 
 

 Stormwater management facilities designed to support the proposed development 
will not be adversely affected, and in some cases may improve, conditions on the 
surrounding properties and facilities,  

 development of the site will decrease the overall recharge to groundwater by 
eliminating pasture irrigation and ditch leakage, which in turn will lower the 
groundwater elevation,  

 existing soil conditions were shown to be able to support spread footings,  
 there are no natural communities, rare plants, riparian corridors, or critical wildlife 

habitat as identified by the Boulder County Comprehensive Plan on the Hogan-
Pancost property, 

 all existing wetland areas on site will have to be maintained or mitigated per the 
Boulder Revised Code (1981), and 

 the Traffic Impact Feasibility Study demonstrated that the existing street network 
will be able to accommodate the expected Hogan-Pancost traffic. 

 
Based on the results, the board noted that a specific Concept Plan detailing proposed land 
use, density, site and building design etc. could be submitted for evaluation.  

 
2012 Concept Plan 
Planning Board reviewed the following Concept Plan on Jan. 19, 2012.  
 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 29Packet Page     87



 
Figure 1- 2012 Concept Plan 

 
In summary, the board ranged on agreement on the appropriateness of development on the 
site due to the information provided by the Concept Plan and public information provided. 
At the Concept Plan hearing, members of the public provided information on groundwater 
and flooding that conflicted with the engineering reports and analysis provided by the 
applicant’s consultants.   The board agreed that it would like to see more scientific 
information at the Site Review stage to evaluate the conflicting information that was 
presented at the public hearing.  The chair recommended that all scientific information be 
provided in advance of any public hearings so that such technical and complicated 
information can be reviewed and analyzed by all parties in preparation for the public 
hearing. This would also allow staff to provide an overview in the memo and attach the 
information to the memo giving board members the opportunity to review such technical 
information in preparation for the hearing. This recommendation has guided staff’s review 
of the current application.  As part of that review, staff has retained a 4th party review 
consultant to review materials.  Additional information on the role of the 4th party 
reviewer is included later in this memo.  Staff has been working with the neighborhood 
throughout the process to answer questions and review the neighborhood studies prepared 
related to the project. 
 
The following other points were discussed by the board on January 19, 2012: 
 
 Land Use - RL2 zoning: The majority of the board felt the proposed land use and 

incorporation of senior housing was appropriate.  One board member felt the land 
uses were not appropriate and the site should be designated Area III, Rural 
Preservation, due to the lack of availability of services and transit.    

 
 Community Benefit: As discussed within this memorandum, a finding of 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 30Packet Page     88



community benefit is a requirement for properties proposed for annexation with 
additional development potential. This was preliminarily discussed at the Concept 
Plan level where some board members found the affordable housing benefit and 
the annexation acceptable. There was some concern that more senior affordable 
units would be preferable to the proposed eight middle income single family 
homes. Another board member felt it may not be acceptable to place 50 senior 
units in the 500 year floodplain. 

 
 General Design: The board agreed that the design needed to be simplified to be 

more gridded and with open space provided throughout the site. For the open 
space, the board acknowledged the area has a large city park next door, so the 
board wanted to see a more creative use of the open space and have it flow better 
through the project and be more consistent with wildlife corridors (“fingers of 
open space”).  Regarding the grid, the board would like to see a simpler plan that 
is easier to navigate and provides a better connection to the north.  It was 
suggested to take advantage of the open space by having the homes on it instead 
of the roads. 

 
 Kewanee Drive connection: The board felt that from a city connection standpoint 

it makes sense to connect Kewanee to 55th Street to balance the traffic on 55th.  
 

Proposed Resolution 
At the Jan. 19th hearing, the board expressed concern about the conflicting environmental 
and engineering information as presented by the neighborhood and the applicant’s 
consultants and asked that the applicant and neighborhood should share such technical 
information well in advance of public hearings to allow all parties and the board sufficient 
time to review such information so it can be adequately considered by the board. In 
response to this request, staff proposed that the board adopt a resolution encouraging 
cooperation and timely sharing of information among all parties. The proposed resolution 
was not acted upon based on lack of support of the neighborhood and the applicant. The 
staff memorandum can be accessed through the web link on page 2. 
 
2013 Open House 
Staff held an open house on the project on January 30, 2013. The purpose of the open 
house was to provide an opportunity for neighbors and other interested parties to view the 
proposed plans and ask questions of city staff about review process and standards and the 
applicant’s consultants about the proposed plans. The open house was well attended and 
public comments were received. These comments will be attached to the packet included 
with the upcoming public hearing.  
 
The following web address contains extensive materials related to the proposal and site: 
 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/plan-develop/boulder-creek-commons-project-hogan-
pancost-project 

Attachment A 
Background

Agenda Item 3F     Page 31Packet Page     89



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 32Packet Page     90



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

RESOLUTION NO. 1126 

A RESOLUTION TO DETERMINE THAT THE PETITION TO ANNEX 
APPROXIMATELY 23.6 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT 
5399 KEWANEE DRIVE AND 5697 SOUTH BOULDER ROAD IS IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 31-12-107(1), C.R.S. AND TO SET A 
HEARING TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER STATUTORY 
ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS. 

A. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, hereby finds that the Petition 
to Annex the property more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, is in compliance with subsection 31-12-107(1), C.R.S., as 
amended; 

B. The City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds that the following 
requirements have been met: 

i. More than fifty percent of the landowners and landowners of more than 
fifty percent of the area, excluding public streets and alleys, meeting the 
requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, 
have petitioned the City of Boulder for annexation of such territory; 

 ii. The Petition has been filed with the city clerk; 

iii. The Petition alleges it is desirable and necessary that such area be annexed 
to the City of Boulder; 

iv. The Petition alleges that the requirements of Sections 31-12-104 and 
31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, exist or have been met; 

v. The Petition contains a request that the City of Boulder approve the 
annexation of the area proposed to be annexed; 

vi. The Petition alleges that signers of the Petition comprise more than fifty 
percent of the landowners in the area proposed to be annexed and 
comprise the landowners of more than fifty percent of the territory 
included in the area proposed to be annexed, exclusive of streets and 
alleys; 

 vii. The Petition contains signatures of such landowners; 

 viii. The Petition contains the mailing address of each signer; 

ix. The Petition contains the legal description of the land owned by each 
signer; 

 x. The Petition contains the date of signing of each signature; and 

Attachment B 
Resolution No. 1126

Agenda Item 3F     Page 33Packet Page     91



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

xi. The Petition contains the affidavit of each circulator of such Petition, that 
each signature therein is the signature of the person whose name it purports to be. 

C. Four copies of an annexation map accompanied the Petition and contained the 
following information: 

i. A written legal description of the boundaries of the area proposed to be 
annexed; 

ii. A map showing the boundary of the area proposed to be annexed; 

iii. Within the annexation boundary map, a showing of the location of each 
ownership tract in unplatted land and, if part or all of the area is platted, 
the boundaries and the plat numbers of plots or of lots and blocks; and 

iv. A drawing of the contiguous boundary of the City of Boulder next to the 
boundary of the area proposed to be annexed and the contiguous boundary 
of any other municipality abutting the area proposed to be annexed. 

D. All signatures on the Petition have been dated no more than 180 days prior to the 
date of filing the Petition with the city clerk; 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, THAT: 

A hearing will be held to determine whether the requirements delineated in Sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., as amended, have been met and whether an election is 
required under subsection 31-12-107(2), C.R.S. The hearing will be held at 6 p.m. on October 3, 
2013 at 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

 

 

                                             
 _____________________________ 
 Mayor 

Attest: 

 

______________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B 
Resolution No. 1126

Agenda Item 3F     Page 34Packet Page     92



Attachment B 
Resolution No. 1126

Agenda Item 3F     Page 35Packet Page     93



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 36Packet Page     94



Attachment B 
Resolution No. 1126

Agenda Item 3F     Page 37Packet Page     95



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 38Packet Page     96



 

\
    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEED OF VACATION 
FOR A PORTION OF 55TH STREET RIGHT OF WAY, CITY 
OF BOULDER, COUNTY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT 5697 SOUTH BOULDER 
ROAD, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER FINDS AND RECITES THAT: 

A.  East Boulder Properties, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, the owner of 

the property located north of the existing 55th Street Right of-Way on property known as 5697 

South Boulder Road, Boulder, CO, has requested that the city vacate a portion of 55th Street 

right-of-way; and 

B.  The City Council is of the opinion that the requested vacation is in the public interest 

and that said right-of-way is not necessary for the public use. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  The City Council vacates and authorizes the city manager to execute a deed of 

vacation for a portion of 55th Street right-of-way as dedicated to the City of Boulder pursuant to a 

quitclaim deed recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Film No. 

1580, Reception No. 00983929 on the 24th day of May, 1989 and as more particularly described 

in Exhibit A. 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way

Agenda Item 3F     Page 39Packet Page     97



 

 
    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of October, 2013. 

 
      
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment C 
Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way

Agenda Item 3F     Page 40Packet Page     98



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way

Agenda Item 3F     Page 41Packet Page     99



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way

Agenda Item 3F     Page 42Packet Page     100



Attachment C 
Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way

Agenda Item 3F     Page 43Packet Page     101



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 44Packet Page     102



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

  ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
APPROXIMATELY 23.6 ACRES OF LAND GENERALLY LOCATED AT 
5399 KEWANEE DRIVE AND 5697 SOUTH BOULDER ROAD, WITH AN 
INITIAL ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF RESIDENTIAL LOW – 2 (RL-2) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 1981; 
AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A PART OF SAID 
CHAPTER TO INCLUDE THE PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-MENTIONED 
ZONING DISTRICT, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS AND 

RECITES THAT: 

A. East Boulder Properties, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, is the owner 

of the parcels which comprise the real property more particularly described in Exhibit A (the 

"Property").  

B. The owners of 100 percent of the area proposed for annexation, excluding streets 

and alleys, have been petitioned for annexation of the Property; with an initial zoning 

designation of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2) for the Property; and the Property is not embraced 

within any city, city and county, or incorporated town; and the Property abuts, and is contiguous 

to, the City of Boulder by at least one-sixth of its perimeter.  

C. A community of interest exists between the Property proposed for annexation and 

the City of Boulder, the Property is urban or will be urbanized in the near future, and the 

Property is capable of being integrated into the City of Boulder.  

D. The Property does not include any area included in another annexation proceeding 

involving a city other than the City of Boulder.  

Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 45Packet Page     103



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

E. This annexation will not result in the detachment of the area from one school 

district and the attachment of same to another school district.  

F. This annexation will not have the effect of extending the City of Boulder's 

boundaries any further than three miles from any point of the existing city boundaries in any one 

year.  

G. The Property does not include any area which is the same or substantially the 

same area in which an election for the annexation to the City of Boulder was held within twelve 

months preceding the filing of the above petition.  

H. The Planning Board recommended that the City Council reject the application for 

annexation.  Further, the board recommended that if the Property is annexed that it receive an 

initial zoning designation of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2), as provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular 

Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

I. A public hearing on the proposed annexation and initial zoning of the Property 

annexed and zoned hereby was duly held before the City Council on October 3, 2013.  

J. The initial zoning designation of Residential Low – 2 (RL-2) for the Property is 

consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and bears a substantial relation to and 

will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of the residents of the City of Boulder. 

K. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority to annex and zone the 

Property. 

Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 46Packet Page     104



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The territory more particularly described in Exhibit A is hereby annexed to 

and included within the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Section 2.  Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning district 

map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the Property within 

the Residential Low – 2 (RL-2) zoning district. 

Section 3.  The City Council adopts the recitals in this ordinance and incorporates them 

herein by this reference. 

Section 4.  The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreement associated with this annexation. 

Section 5.  The City Council authorized the city manager to implement the terms of the 

agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of 

the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 

Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 47Packet Page     105



 

   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

__________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of October, 2013. 

______________________________ 
       Mayor 
        

Attest: 

_______________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 48Packet Page     106



Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 49Packet Page     107



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 50Packet Page     108



Attachment D 
Annexation Ordinance No. ___

Agenda Item 3F     Page 51Packet Page     109



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 52Packet Page     110



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 53Packet Page     111



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 54Packet Page     112



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 55Packet Page     113



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 56Packet Page     114



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 57Packet Page     115



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 58Packet Page     116



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 59Packet Page     117



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 60Packet Page     118



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 61Packet Page     119



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 62Packet Page     120



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 63Packet Page     121



Attachment E 
Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 64Packet Page     122



CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

April 24, 25 and 26, 2013 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

  
A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) are 
retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also available on 
the web at: http://bouldercolorado.gov/ 
  
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Aaron Brockett 
Bryan Bowen 
Crystal Gray 
Leonard May 
John Putnam 
Mary Young, Chair 
Sam Weaver 
  
STAFF PRESENT: 
Michelle Allen, Housing Planner 
Bill Cowern, Traffic Engineer 
David Driskell, Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager for CP&S 
Karl Guiler, Planner II 
Jeff Hirt, Planner II 
Katie Knapp, Flood Plain and Wetlands Administrator 
Scott Kuhna, Development Review Supervisor 
Susan Meissner Administrative Specialist III 
Chris Meschuk, Planner II 
Hella Pannewig, City Attorney 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Heidi Schum, Development Review manager for PW 
David Thompson, Civil Engineer II- Transportation 
 
  
  
 April 24th, 2013 
  

1.       CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
  

2.       APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
There were no minutes for approval 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 65Packet Page     123



  
3.       PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

No one spoke 
  

4.       DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-
UPS/CONTINUATIONS 
There were no items for discussion 

  
5.       PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

  
A.    Public hearing and consideration of the following applications for two parcels of land 

located at 5399 Kewanee Drive and 5697 South Boulder Road: 
  

1.      Annexation and Initial Zoning, LUR2006-00099: Application to annex the 
approximately 22- acre properties at 5399 Kewanee Drive and 5697 South 
Boulder Road with an initial zoning of Residential Low -2 (RL-2) zoning; and 
  

2.      Site Review and Preliminary Plat, LUR2012-00048: Application to subdivide 
and develop the site with 50 permanently affordable congregate care rental 
units, six permanently affordable duplex ownership units, two permanently 
affordable single-family ownership units, and 63 market rate single-family 
units for a total of 121 dwelling units. The Applicant is seeking to establish a 
vested property right pursuant to section 9-2-19, B.R.C. 1981. 

  
Notice to Planning Board of pendency of application to vacate an unused portion of 
the 55th Street public right of way pursuant to charter section 79 and section 8-6-9, 
B.R.C. 1981. 

  
Applicant/Property Owner:  Michael Boyers 

  
Staff Presentation: 
C. Ferro and K. Guiler presented the item to the board. 
  
Board Questions: 
K. Guiler, H. Schum, K. Knapp, H. Pannewig, D. Thompson answered questions from the board. 
  
Applicant Presentation: 
Bruce Dierking, the attorney for the applicant, presented to the board. 
Dave Williams, the architect from DTJ Design, presented to the board. 
David Gregg from Boulder Creek Builders, presented to the board 
Jerry Gloss, the architect for Boulder Creek Builders, presented to the board 
Walt Niccoli, engineer for the applicant, presented to the board. 
  
Board Questions 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 66Packet Page     124



  
  
Public Participation: 

1.      Emily Ditty, 951 Arapahoe Ave, works with the Senior Community in Boulder County and 
supports the addition of units for seniors in Boulder. 

2.      Suzanne DeLucia, 86 Minneola, spoke in opposition due to environmental impacts. 
3.      Christine Rubin, 5355 Kewanee Dr., (pooled with Kathryn E. Lewis) spoke in opposition 

to the project and showed a video produced by the neighborhood group. 
4.      Gordon McCurry, 3266 Berea Dr., (pooled with Patricia Coats, John Weiner, MaryAnn 

Mc Whitter), a groundwater hydrologist, spoke about the key issues that he found in his 
review of the reports. He did not think that development was appropriate on this site. 

5.      Jeff Rifkin, 32 Cimmaron Way, (pooled with Clare Telleen) spoke in opposition due to a 
lack of understanding of the hydrology. 

6.      Ron Craig, 260 Cimmaron Way (pooled with Deb Grojean) spoke in opposition to the 
project due to groundwater concerns through personal observation over years of living in 
this neighborhood. 

7.      Ramon Jesch, 250 Cimmaron Way (pooled with MaryAnne Eckert, Joyce Takamine) 
opposed the project due to flooding concerns. He showed a presentation of historical flood 
photos. 

8.      Jeff McWhirter, 5435 Illini Way (pooled with Bill Eckert, Carol Atkinson, Luan Jesch) 
spoke in opposition to the project due to flooding concerns. 

9.      Jeff Hale, 5390 Kwanee Dr, spoke in opposition to the project due to flood and traffic 
concerns. 

10.  Harry Holland, 5323 Aztec Drive, (pooled with Roger Kautz) spoke in opposition to the 
project due to traffic concerns. 

11.  Geno Treppeita, 265 Cimmaron Way, spoke in opposition to the project due to traffic 
concerns. 

12.  Christy Vaughn, 140 Manhattan Dr., (pooled with Warren Barker, Julie Hale), spoke in 
opposition to the project due to the degradation of the wetlands. 

13.  Karin Chin, 130 Cimmaron Way, (pooled with Jeff Scharch) spoke in opposition to the 
project due to the importance of retaining critical habitat for wildlife. 

14.  Debra Flora, 150 Seminole Dr., (pooled with Michelle Travis) spoke in opposition to the 
project citing that it fails to support the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

15.  Bill Silberstein, 5459 Illini Way, spoke in opposition to this project due to flood and traffic 
concerns. 

16.  Gary Klein, 4973 Clubhouse Ct., spoke in opposition to the project and submitted a letter to 
the board. 

17.  Gary Myre, 3175 11th Street, spoke in favor of senior housing in Boulder. 
18.  Mike Befeler, 890 Cypress Drive, spoke in opposition of the project. 
19.  Raymond Bridge, 435 S. 38th Street, spoke on behalf of PLAN Boulder County. He noted 

the need for senior housing but expressed concern about the degradation of wetlands and 
flooding potential. 

  
Meeting Adjourned at 11:01 p.m. 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 67Packet Page     125



  
  
April 25, 2013 
Meeting Called to Order at 6:08 p.m. 
  

20.  Mike Trynosky, 218 Irquois Dr., Spoke in opposition due to safety concerns due to 
increases in traffic and impacts on school children. 

21.  Tim Beal, 1480 Violet Ave., the director of Boulder Housing Partners spoke to the need for 
affordable senior housing in Boulder. He encouraged support of the project. 

22.  Wendy Meyer, 5284 Pueblo Place, spoke in support of housing for seniors and in opposition 
of the annexation. 

23.  Ruth Blackmore, 705 S. 41st Street, spoke in opposition of the annexation and development 
of the property due to hydrology issues. 

24.  Paul Romotschke, 230 Cimmaron Way, spoke in opposition to the project based upon 
flawed scientific modeling in the applicant’s hydrology report. 

25.  Connie Holubar, 1536 Harrison Ct., Louisville, came to represent Elisabeth Borden. She 
supports affordable housing for seniors and this project. 

26.  T. Carpenter, 5395 Kewanee Drive, spoke in opposition to the project. 
27.  Steve Meyer, 5482 Pueblo Place, spoke in opposition to the project. 
28.  Robert Prostko, P.O. Box 286, spoke in opposition to the project. 
29.  Peter Ornstein, 556 Aztec Drive, spoke in opposition to the project. 
30.  Steve Koester, 5467 Blackhawk Rd, spoke in opposition to the project due to the social 

impacts of this development. 
31.  Alan Katz, 103 Genesee Ct., (pooled time with Marilyn Larson and Mireille Key), spoke 

in opposition to the project. 
  

  
Board Questions about Groundwater concerns: 
Scott Parker, an engineer from Anderson Consulting, answered questions from the board. 
S. Kuhna, answered questions from the board. 
Walt Niccoli, an engineer for the applicant, answered questions from the board. 
Terry Fairbanks, an engineer for the applicant, answered questions from the board. 
Gordon McCurry, an engineer from the neighborhood, answered questions from the board. 
Lesli Ewy, an engineer from Sanitas Group, answered questions from the board. 
  
Board Questions about Flood concerns: 
Katie Knapp answered questions from the board. 
Leslie Ewy, Sanitas Group engineer, answered questions from the board. 
  
Board Questions about Wetland concerns: 
Katie Knapp answered questions from the board. 
Leslie Ewy, Sanitas Group engineer, answered questions from the board. 
Bruce Dierking, attorney for the applicant, answered questions from the board. 
David Johnson, an engineer for the applicant, answered questions from the board. 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 68Packet Page     126



  
Board Questions about Traffic concerns: 
Bill Fox, traffic engineer, answered questions from the board. 
Chris McGranahan, traffic consultant, answered questions from the board. 
Bill Cowern, city traffic engineer, answered questions from the board. 
Leslie Ewy, an engineer, answered questions from the board. 
Jeff McWhirter, a representative from the neighborhood, answered questions from the board. 
    
The Planning Board adjourned at 11:04 p.m. 
  
 
April 26, 2013 
Meeting was called to order at 1:07 p.m. 
  
Bruce Dierking, the applicant’s attorney, spoke briefly to address emails sent to the board. 
  
Board Disclosures: 
C. Gray visited the site. 
  
S. Weaver visited the site and received two emails. He was contacted by members of the public but did 
not have conversations about the topic. 
  
J. Putnam visited the site and received emails to which he did not respond. 
  
M. Young visited the site. 
  
A. Brockett visited the site and received an email from a member of the public. 
  
B. Bowen visited the site and received the same emails as the other board members. 
  
L. May visited the site and received the same emails as the other board members. 
  
The board agreed not to read any emails pertaining to the public hearing beyond that point. 
  
 
Board Discussion: 
  
Temperature Check 
L. May felt neutral due to uncertainties. 
  
B. Bowen felt undecided at this point. He thought the RL-2 zoning would be in compliance with the 
Comprehensive Plan. The use, proximity to open space and Recreation Center are beneficial. He felt 
comfortable with the traffic and flood plain issues but was nebulous about the groundwater issues. 
  

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 69Packet Page     127



A. Brockett was still undecided but expressed concern about more development in this area because the 
existing developed areas already have significant issues with traffic, flood and groundwater. The new 
development would also have these issues, whether or not they affect their neighbors. He did not want to 
remake mistakes made in the past or adversely impact neighbors. He felt that the use would provide a 
great community benefit and the applicant has dealt with the issues as best as possible. He did not want to 
put seniors in harm’s way. 
  
M. Young agreed with A. Brockett. She is still concerned about the groundwater and the fact that the 
neighbors have no recourse. She thought that could be addressed via the Annexation. 
  
J. Putnam felt similarly to B. Bowen but was leaning toward denial at that point. The annexation would 
provide significant benefit to the community but did not know if it outweighed the impacts. He felt that 
there has been a high level of engineering pertaining to the floodplain. He felt that groundwater still poses 
a significant risk and wanted to see a better mitigation plan. He wanted to hear more about renewable 
energy. 
  
S. Weaver felt similarly to J. Putnam. He believed strongly in the need for congregate care and 
affordable housing in the community. He felt comfortable with the wetlands, traffic and the flood 
engineering. He did not think that the groundwater had not been fully vetted or that the siting considered 
solar orientation for passive and active systems. 
  
C. Gray agreed with the previous comments. She thought the congregate care met the community benefit 
requirement but did not think it was an allowed use in the surrounding zones. She liked the affordable 
housing and thought it hit the mark on housing design with the master bedroom on the ground floor. That 
is a need in this community. 
  
  
Annexation and Initial Zoning: Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan compliance 
  
BVCP Natural Environmental Policies: 
J. Putnam thought the proposed wetland configuration would be higher functioning and better connected 
than the existing low functioning, fragmented wetland condition. Though this would be preferable, he did 
not think it met the BVCP objective as currently stated in section 3.06 of the Wetland Ordinance. 
  
B. Bowen thought that wetlands removal was the largest problem facing this project. This is mitigated by 
how the water is channeled. The wetland on the east parcel makes sense and is good. 
  
L. May agreed with J. Putnam’s concerns. The wetland issue is not a deal breaker but in conjunction 
with other issues, he felt more uncertain. The proposal does not meet the intent of the code about wetlands 
preservation. 
  
A. Brockett noted that the surveys were done after alterations to the site in 2008. The wetlands as 
currently documented are the product of a disturbance. He is concerned about the effects. He does feel 
that it could be good to have the high functioning wetlands but does not feel that it balances. 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 70Packet Page     128



  
L. May drew a parallel between the Landmarks Board and this issue of preserving a current condition 
versus improving upon history. 
  
S. Weaver was uncomfortable that the survey was done after 2008 because the precondition information 
is spotty and unclear. The developers and city need to understand the wetlands and groundwater 
conditions. 
  
C. Gray agreed with J. Putnam on the wetlands. She would prefer that they not be disturbed. 
  
M. Young agreed with the concern that there is no baseline data for the property prior to 2008. 
  
J. Putnam agreed with concerns about the alteration but noted that this is common with the acquisition of 
open space land; County agricultural land is handled differently. This is not a deal breaker, but it could 
require more information. 
  
L. May did not think the owner did anything inappropriate but did not want to set a precedent that other 
landowners could shift baseline data through similar action. 
  
B. Bowen thought that building on this site would make sense since it is an isolated piece of open space. 
But, it should only be done if it is worthwhile. This site could be used for a wetlands mitigation project to 
dewater neighborhoods to the east and preserve habitat as open space land. 
  
J. Putnam noted that this would likely be a low priority for Open Space acquisition because it is 
surrounded by urbanized uses, does not have great habitat value and is a low functioning wetland. 
  
Groundwater: 
S. Weaver did not think that that groundwater was at an environmental risk for pollution by the proposed 
development but did think there was a potential risk that neighbors could incur external costs as a result of 
the development. He quoted code section 8.03 about equitable distribution of resources. Geographic 
groups cannot be impacted unduly. 
  
A. Brockett agreed with S. Weaver. He thought that it was still very unclear as to whether the 
groundwater will affect the neighbors. The original data is so poor that the board cannot come to any 
definitive conclusions. 
  
B. Bowen agreed that the uncertainty is a real problem. He suggested getting a snapshot of current 
conditions via sump pump data, and then to taking steps to dewater the current condition. 
  
L. May noted that the exact characteristics of the aquifer are unknown and difficult to predict. He didn’t 
find fault with the applicant’s work but did not think the groundwater conditions could be predicted. He 
noted that there is no recourse for the neighborhood and this gives him a growing sense of unease. This is 
a good project but perhaps not in this location. 
  

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 71Packet Page     129



S. Weaver noted that there is a correlation between the timing between the groundwater issues and the 
construction of the soccer fields. In the absence of true knowledge and proof of causation, he thought that 
there was evidence that they’re related. He could only conceive of annexation if there is much better data 
about these. Anecdotes are not data but they are informative in the absence of data. 
  
M. Young noted that there were other related issues occurring in the neighborhood that seemed to 
correlate to sump pump usage. This pluralized the anecdotes. 
  
J. Putnam did not think that the process was well served by the consultants’ polar positions and thought 
that the groundwater issue could be solvable; many other communities have groundwater but he didn’t 
feel that he had enough information about the scope of impact. He thought that there could be creative 
approaches and encouraged that applicant and neighborhood to work together to solve them. 
  
M. Young noted that there is no prototype for development but that there are often things that have not 
been considered. It is difficult to assure that nothing wrong will occur. 
  
B. Bowen disagreed. He noted that this issue has been troubleshot in other locations and can be mitigated. 
There are concrete engineering solutions for dewatering the site. This could be included in an annexation 
agreement. It is doable but may not be feasible. 
  
C. Gray referenced section 3.28: Surface and Ground Water in the BVCP. She noted the potential 
impacts to dewatering and how those could impact the adjacent properties. She did not think that they had 
been resolved. There was still ambiguity in the Anderson report and data. 
  
L. May didn’t find it possible to impose a condition for dewatering the site when the conditions are not 
understood. He agreed with B. Bowen that it is solvable but didn’t think that the board should consider it 
unless it was fully understood. He noted that groundwater goes wherever it wants. Any measure short of 
dewatering the site is always going to have a great deal of uncertainty. 
  
B. Bowen suggested that a performance criterion could be instated. 
  
A. Brockett quoted a letter from a resident who stated that the adjacent neighborhood should not have 
been developed due to groundwater. There are unintended impacts on the residents. 
  
J. Putnam noted that the groundwater issues would likely be improved by piping the ditches and the 
water used to currently flood irrigate the property would be added to the wetlands. This area should not 
have homes with basements. It might not be necessary to dewater the site if other measures could be taken 
to protect the existing homes. 
  
L. May noted that groundwater could impinge on houses that are not currently affected. He recommended 
dewatering to make sure that neighbors do not incur the cost. 
  
S. Weaver thought the applicant would be responsible for assuring that the engineers make the best 
possible effort to assure that external costs will not be imposed on the neighbors. He does not feel 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 72Packet Page     130



comfortable with the current engineering and is not convinced that there will not be a problem. 
  
J. Putnam was not convinced that the larger-scale engineering piece needs to be done. The whole 
community already has a water problem. At most, he thought that the neighbors would have to pump 
more. The board has two choices: 1. Give the applicant and staff the opportunity to devise a better 
solution prior to going before Council. The plan is not met as it stands today.  2. Put together more 
procedural means of approval; approve the annexation with conditions that solutions be met. He would 
favor the first option at this point. There is still room for creativity and analysis. 
  
Flood: 
L. May explained that the possibility of flood is the only deal breaker for him. The engineering by Sanitas 
has been well done but he is concerned that there may be other factors to be considered. He cited section 
3.23 of the BVCP: Large Flooding Events. The board does not have enough information about the South 
Boulder Creek floodplain analysis to see the whole picture.  Potential problems could be avoided by not 
developing in the floodplain. Groundwater causes property damage, but flood relates to life safety. He did 
not dispute the analysis that has been done on this site, but he didn’t think the right information had been 
considered. He didn’t think this is a safe location for development and isn’t willing to put people at risk. 
  
M. Young agreed with L. May. She thought the intensity of storms will increase due to climate change 
and did not feel comfortable locating a vulnerable population in the floodplain. 
  
B. Bowen thought the proposed floodwater management strategy is the best approach that he has ever 
seen. However, the historical photos of the properties under water resonate with him. Despite the 
technical solutions, there are other unknowns. 
  
A. Brockett agreed with B. Bowen. He was impressed with the engineering but noted that different 
storms will flood differently; it is not known how this site will flood. He did not think congregate care for 
vulnerable population is a good use for this flood prone area. 
  
S. Weaver agreed with L. May that the confluence of climate change, the congregate care and flood zone 
combine to make this application difficult to support. 
  
J. Putnam disagreed with L. May’s comments. Critical facilities and floods are going to affect all of 
Boulder given the historical layout of the city. The standards that are being suggested are much more 
stringent than those in other parts of the city as much of it is in the 500 year floodplain. The whole burden 
of the issue should not be applied to this project. He thought that the risk is relatively low. They’re 
looking at inches to a foot of water in the event of a large flood event. The issue will be more about 
property damage than safety. 
  
S. Weaver was concerned about the externality. The fact that it hasn’t been developed yet makes this a 
different situation. He did not want to repeat the same mistakes twice. 
  
L. May thought continued development in the floodplain would exacerbate the problem and did not want 
to take a casual approach to this. Annexation has a different bar for development; he did not think the 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 73Packet Page     131



community benefit criteria would be met due to potential impacts to the people external to this site. 
Neighbors may be worse off as a result of this development 
  
J. Putnam thought this proposal would create an improved scenario given the proposed improvements 
and volume of water that could be held on the site. The greater problem will not be solved by keeping a 
small number of units outside of the floodplain. It is important to understand the consequences of saying 
that congregate care cannot be built in a 500-year floodplain because much of the city is already built out. 
  
Community Benefit: 
B. Bowen thought the application met the requirement for community benefit. He would like to push for 
higher energy requirements but this is not the key issue for the current decision-making at hand. 
  
S. Weaver saw community benefits due to the proposed housing type but also acknowledged potential 
severe impacts of developing this site. 
  
C. Gray noted that though affordable housing is a community benefit, she found congregate care to be an 
incompatible use in this case, thus taking away from the community benefit. 
  
L. May agreed that the uses warrant community benefit but was concerned about some other land use 
issues. There is no easily accessible commercial space in the area to support seniors. 
  
A. Brockett agreed that there are powerful community benefits as well as some deterrents. 
  
M. Young thought that senior housing is very important and needed use; this project gives as much 
community benefit as it takes. 
  
  
Community Design and Neighborhood Compatibility: 
C. Gray thought the project should be compatible with RL-1in order to protect and enhance 
neighborhood character. She did not find congregate care to be compatible with RL-1. 
  
J. Putnam disagreed with C. Gray. He thought the density would fit in the area because the congregate 
care is located away from the existing neighborhood and adjacent to the Senior and Recreation Centers. 
He didn’t think the height of the building along 55th Street was appropriate, but did think the traffic 
increase, albeit noticeable, was acceptable. The design addresses those issues well. He thought that speed 
bumps might help to mitigate traffic concerns. 
  
S. Weaver generally thought the design was consistent and compatible with the surrounding urban fabric. 
He had some concerns about how to get to zoning that would allow for the congregate care. He 
commended the energy efficiency measures taken, but did not find the layout conducive to supporting 
renewable energy. 
  
A. Brockett thought the proposal was consistent with the existing neighborhood but shared S. Weaver’s 
concerns about siting for solar access. 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 74Packet Page     132



   
L. May agreed with the previous comments. He would like to see development patterns that decrease 
automotive traffic and dependence in the future. 
  
C. Gray thought that additional traffic could degrade the neighborhood. RL-1 zoning allows for OAU 
and ADUs which promote ageing in place and provide additional income by bringing rentals into the 
neighborhood. She wanted more compatibility with the existing zone because it adds additional benefits. 
  
B. Bowen agreed with C. Gray. He thought it would be difficult to add ADUs to this plan but would like 
to continue the conversation. 
  
A. Brockett would support the Kewanee connection. 
  
L. May thought the volume of cut though traffic may have been underestimated and wanted to discuss 
how this might be remediated after the fact if necessary. He didn’t want to recommend something that 
would have an economic impact on the neighbors. 
  
C. Gray noted that there is no money in the city’s traffic mitigation program. The costs for these different 
mechanisms vary. 
  
M. Young wanted to make the accommodation of seniors congruent with the zoning per C.Gray’s 
comments, quoting BVCP sections 2.21: Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City, 2.22: Improve 
Mobility Grid, and 2.3: Trail Corridors/Linkages. She felt those issues were of primary importance, but 
did think that traffic issues will be important. 
  
B. Bowen noted that the developer could be made responsible for traffic calming measures through 
conditions of approval. 
  
J. Putnam noted that traffic calming measures by the developer can only be done within the bounds of 
the site and not in the adjacent neighborhood. 
  
S. Weaver suggested that the developer designate a fund to mitigate traffic within the neighborhood as a 
whole. 
  
 
Initial Zoning: 
L. May wanted to discuss the definition of congregate care. The allowed density will be affected by the 
definition. 
  
C. Gray noted that the developer would need to comply with specific requirements to meet the ordinance. 
Per the site development notes, 88 residential units would be allowed under RL-2 because a ratio of 3:1 is 
allowed under this ordinance. While she would like to see affordable options, she thought these units 
should be deemed “congregate care” as opposed to “affordable units for seniors” to meet the ordinance. 
  

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 75Packet Page     133



A. Brockett is okay with the percentage as defined but would support additional affordable housing if the 
board were to reach that agreement. 
  
C. Gray wanted to make a case for RL-1 zoning because it would create more community benefit though 
the incorporation of ADUs. This would require larger lot sizes but it would not be possible to monitor that 
the ADUs remain affordable. She did not think that prohibited uses should be added to the Annexation 
Agreement. 
  
Staff noted that RL-1 would decrease the allowable densities. Only 10 percent of homes in an area are 
allowed to have ADUs but this could be altered through the Annexation Agreement. 
  
M. Allen explained how affordable housing was accomplished in Northfield Commons. There is no 
means to require that ADUs comply with affordable housing requirements. 
  
C. Gray did not want a congregate care facility because she thought it would be incompatible with the 
neighborhood. She thought it would be overreaching to add another use. 
  
J. Putnam thought the congregate care was compatible with the BVCP and the source of much of the 
community benefit. He recommended that the design be revised to appear less monolithic. He was okay 
with the initial zoning as proposed. 
  
A. Brockett thought that the congregate care facility would be compatible from a use perspective but it 
would not be compatible from a critical facilities perspective. 
  
L. May did not think the building traffic would compatible with the neighborhood but thought that the 
community benefit outweighed those concerns. However, he had a fundamental issue with development 
of the site due to flood concerns. 
  
S. Weaver thought that the alterations to the zoning would be feasible and should be considered as a part 
of the annexation package.  
  
C. Gray thought adding a new use would appear as spot zoning. She would prefer to designate it as RL-1. 
   
B. Bowen noted that this is the most straightforward annexation language that he has seen. 
  
The board requested that the minutes reflect that some members had concerns about the annexation and 
zoning. 
  
The board took a straw poll whether to recommend annexation to City Council and unanimously 
recommended against annexing this property. 
  
  

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 76Packet Page     134



Summary of Issues: 
  
Wetlands: 
BVCP section 3.06: Wetland and Riparian Protection 
There was general agreement that there has not been a demonstration that the filling of wetlands could not 
have been avoided or minimized.  
There was some concern that the earthwork performed on site prior to this application impacted the 
mapping of wetlands, thus creating a new baseline for the amount of wetlands impacted. The board did 
not want to set this as a precedent for future projects on similar sites. 
The board was concerned that the proposal did not meet the requirement of the BVCP section 3.06 to 
avoid and minimize the filling of wetlands and destruction of riparian areas. 
  
Groundwater:  
BVCP section 8.03: Equitable Distribution of Resources 
The board felt the proposal violated the intent of the section 8.03: Equitable Distribution of Resources in 
the case of groundwater. It violated the portion pertaining to: the City and County will consider the 
impacts of policies and planning efforts on moderate and low income and special needs populations and 
ensure costs of sustainable decision making do not unfairly burden any one geographic or socioeconomic 
group. This case pertains to a geographic group. 
  
The board felt that the application did meet BVCP section 3.28: Surface and Groundwater. 
 
The board’s concerns were based on the uncertainty of the degree of potential impacts to other neighbors. 
Much of this the hesitation is due to a lack of data. Any future attempts to annexation this property should 
include more robust data. In addition, the engineering solutions presented were fraught with other 
challenges.  
  
Flood:  
BVCP section 3.23 Larger Flood Events 
The board, with the exception of one member, felt uncomfortable with the externalization of the costs and 
impacts of floods offsite. The data that was used in the evaluation and engineering looked to historical 
flood events but the board felt it necessary to look at the probabilities of larger flood events in the future. 
An additional challenge for many board members was the intentional placement of a critical facility for a 
vulnerable population in the floodplain.  
  
Community benefit: 
Some board members felt that the community benefit was met and others felt that it was outweighed by 
the potential impacts of the project. There was broad agreement that senior housing is a high priority in 
the community but not in this location, the wetland enhancement on the eastern parcel was of value, and 
more housing helps with the housing-jobs balance.  
  
Built Environment: 
The majority of the board did not think that the proposal met code section 4.03: Energy Conservation and 
Renewable Energy. The conservation portion was reasonably well done but the renewable energy portion, 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 77Packet Page     135



namely passive and active solar, was not sufficiently addressed. 
 
Despite the undesirable impact on the neighborhood, the majority of the board agreed that the proposed 
Kewanee connection should be implemented. A minority of board members thought that the cut through 
could potentially overburden and impact the liveability of the neighborhood per BVCP section 2.10 
Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhood. 
 
The board was comfortable with the general traffic scenario but would like to encourage further traffic 
calming devices on and off site. The board wanted to assure that there not be financial consequences to 
the neighboring sites as a consequence of this development. 
 
The board felt that the multifamily building had inappropriate bulk and scale boarding Open Space and 
edging the residential neighborhood. The renewable energy possibilities of the building were poor.  
  
Initial Zoning: 
The majority of the board felt that the RL-2 zoning was appropriate for the site, however, one member felt 
that the zoning should be RL-1 and that the addition of congregate care to a low density zone was not 
consistent with the Boulder Valley Land Use Designation. Another member felt uncomfortable with spot 
zoning and preferred to designate zoning and assure that the plan match the zoning. 
  
Motion: 
On a motion by S. Weaver and seconded by L. May the Planning Board recommended 7-0 that City 
Council reject the application for the annexation of the Boulder Creek Commons citing the reasons 
summarized by the board. 
 
L. May recommended that this parcel be changed back to Area 3 during the next major update to the 
BVCP. 
  
J. Putnam and C. Gray disagreed with L. May’s proposal because the topic was not fully explored. 
  
S. Weaver did not want to accept this as a friendly amendment or link the Area designation in the BVCP 
to this particular motion. 
  
  
Site Review: 
B. Bowen did not think the proposed site plan could be approved. 
  
A. Brockett felt his issues with the site had been captured in the comments about the annexation. 
  
The board agreed that the site review does not meet the first site review criteria 1A; it does not meet the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 
  
J. Putnam requested that the board briefly discuss what the board liked and did not like. 
  

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 78Packet Page     136



S. Weaver did not think the roof layout was conducive to solar access. The wetlands were well done. 
  
J. Putnam liked the connection of open spaces to the park and East Boulder Recreation Center. 
  
B. Bowen had concerns with the site and massing of the congregate care facility. 
  
L. May noted that little was done to foster placemaing and to create quality spaces. He did not feel that 
the structures represented quality architecture and thought the site plan could have been improved. 
  
B. Bowen liked the site plan but did not like the traffic flow. 
  
C. Gray agreed with L. May that she would have liked to see improved placemaking. 
  
S. Weaver and A. Brockett recommended that the project go through a separate Site Review process if 
City Council decides to approve the annexation. 
  
The site plan needed more pedestrian connectivity and better solar access especially at the center of the 
site. The congregate care facility needed improved massing and solar orientation. The eastern and 
southern wetlands and pocket park were done well. The “fingers” could have better connectivity to East 
Boulder Park and enhanced placemaking. The board found that the proposal fails to meet Site Review 
Criteria 1A in particular that the policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan were not met. 
 
Motion: 
 On a motion by A. Brockett and seconded by S. Weaver, the Planning Board recommend 7-0  that City 
Council deny the application for Site Review based on the findings that it failed to meet Site Review 
Criteria 1A: Consistency with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  
 
  
Motion: 
On a motion by A. Brockett and seconded by S. Weaver, the Planning Board recommended 7-0 that 
should City Council move to approve the annexation, the project should be sent to the Planning Board for 
a full Site Review process. 
  
On a motion by S. Weaver and seconded by J. Putnam, the Planning Board recommended 6-1 (C. Gray 
in opposition) to City Council that RL-2 zoning would be acceptable should annexation be approved.  
 
A. Brockett thanked the applicant, neighbors and board. 
  
M. Young thanked the applicant for making the effort to look at the groundwater issues. 
  
S. Weaver thanked everyone for the civility. 
  

B.     MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY 
ATTORNEY 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 79Packet Page     137



  
        DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 
  
        ADJOURNMENT 
  
The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 5:05 p.m. 
  
APPROVED BY 
  
 APPROVED 5-0 (M. Young and L. May absent) and signed by A. Brockett 
Board Chair 
 
August 15, 2013 
DATE 
  
  
 
 

Attachment F 
April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes

Agenda Item 3F     Page 80Packet Page     138



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 81Packet Page     139



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 82Packet Page     140



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 83Packet Page     141



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 84Packet Page     142



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 85Packet Page     143



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 86Packet Page     144



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 87Packet Page     145



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 88Packet Page     146



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 89Packet Page     147



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 90Packet Page     148



Attachment G 
Public Comments from January 30 Open House

Agenda Item 3F     Page 91Packet Page     149



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 92Packet Page     150



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 93Packet Page     151



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 94Packet Page     152



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 95Packet Page     153



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 96Packet Page     154



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 97Packet Page     155



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 98Packet Page     156



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 99Packet Page     157



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 100Packet Page     158



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 101Packet Page     159



April 19, 2013 
 
TO:  Boulder Planning Board Members 
 
SUBJECT:  Boulder Creek Commons (Hogan-Pancost) Project Comments 
 
This letter expresses my deep concern regarding the foreseeable impacts of the plan for 
development of the Hogan-Pancost properties, as proposed, on traffic volumes in the existing 
Kewaydin 2 community, specifically Kewanee Drive, Cimmaron Way and Manhattan Drive.  As 
you are probably aware, this issue was raised and resolved in the mid-1980’s.  At that time 
representatives of the City, including members of the Planning Board and several City 
departments, made commitments to residents of our neighborhood that Kewanee Drive would not 
be connected in the future to the then-proposed 55th Street extension. This connection has again 
been proposed despite a these commitments. 
 
The reasons for the broad support expressed by City for the Kewanee-Cimmaron-Manhattan 
(KCM) neighborhood in 1986 are at least as compelling now as they were then.  Kewanee and 
Cimmaron are relatively narrow, local residential streets.  Manhattan is designed to be a low 
volume collector.  Building Kewanee through to 55th Street would create a primary access route 
to the East Boulder Community Park and Center (EBCP) for thousands of users. It would also 
become the preferred route for the 121 residences in the proposed development and for many in 
the existing Greenbelt Meadows community with the rest of Boulder.  This will result in 
substantially increased traffic volumes that would be unsafe, and which would unduly and 
unnecessarily disturb the existing neighborhood’s peace and quiet.  
 
The potential traffic impact of connecting Kewanee to 55th Street now far exceeds the potential 
impacts when this issue first arose.  Now there would be impacts from the expanded EBCP, with 
a dog park and all-weather soccer fields.  Now there would be impacts from the proposed 121 
residence development.  The modeling done by the developer suggests that 53% of trips from the 
new development will use Kewanee Drive.  This is a wild underestimation meant to hide the real 
impact.  Kewanee-to-Manhattan-to-Baseline would be the shortest route from the Hogan-Pancost 
development to all points in Boulder from Baseline to the north and the Foothills Parkway area 
and points west (i.e., most of the City).  So it is far more likely that 75% or more of trips 
to/from the proposed development will be on Kewanee.  In addition there will be many trips to 
and from EBCP from the surrounding area.  Finally, connecting Kewanee to 55th Street will result 
in the use of the Kewanee /Manhattan/ Baseline route by the residents of Greenbelt Meadows, 
which adjoins the proposed development on the south, and from which current ingress/egress is 
confined to 55th Street.  The current modeling vastly underestimates (or completely ignores in the 
latter case) these mind-boggling impacts. 
 
To be clear, I am not opposed to the new development, assuming that the integrity of the existing 
KCM neighborhood is maintained, and that the other two key issues (potential flooding and 
groundwater impacts) can be satisfactorily addressed.  Certainly the traffic impacts to KCM can 
be effectively controlled by limiting ingress/egress from the new development to KCM to a 
portion of the development by constructing a closed loop or cul-de-sac access for a portion of the 
proposed development at the east end of the existing Kewanee Drive.  (I would propose no-more-
than one-third of the residences be able to access Kewanee to the west.)  This would be consistent 
with the City’s previous commitment, and it would mimic precisely the current traffic alignment 
of Greenbelt Meadows, where only a small portion of the residences of that development can 
travel west on Illini Way to Manhattan Drive. 
 
As stated above, traffic from the Greenbelt Meadows community to Manhattan Drive is limited 
because Illini Way is not connected to 55th Street.  However, connecting Kewanee to 55th Street 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 102Packet Page     160



will create a shortcut that will attract much of the Greenbelt Meadows traffic that is currently 
limited to using 55th Street.  If the City moves ahead with the current proposal, its actions would 
treat two adjoining neighborhoods in a diametrically opposite way, to the detriment of the KCM 
neighborhood.  This is brought into even higher relief by the City’s previous actions to disconnect 
existing streets, thereby lessoning through-traffic, in the Goss-Grove and Pine-Mapleton 
neighborhoods.  The City has yet to explain satisfactorily why the KCM neighborhood should be 
treated oppositely to these other neighborhoods, causing its actions to appear arbitrary and 
capricious.  Nor has it remotely shown that the benefit of connecting Kewanee to 55th Street 
outweighs the impacts of increased noise and congestion, and decreased safety that would result.   
 
Please understand that the decrease in safety would extend beyond the residents of the KCM 
neighborhood to the children (and their families) that attend Manhattan Middle School; and to the 
children (and their families) that use the fields around Manhattan Middle School for soccer and 
other sports in the spring and fall.  Before the Planning Board Members or Council Members 
make a decision to increase traffic during the times when Manhattan Drive is already 
overburdened, I urge you to observe personally the existing congestion on Manhattan during 
school day rushes (8:15-8:40am and 3:30-3:55pm), or any Saturday during soccer season.  In the 
former case, it is common for cars on Manhattan Drive to wait for two or three cycles of the 
traffic light at Baseline Road.  In the latter case, you will see that children’s safety is already 
threatened, with cars parked the length of Manhattan on both sides from Tenino to Kewanee and 
beyond, with busses running this narrow gauntlet, with cars making U-turns, and with severely 
decreased visibility caused by the congestion. 
 
The Planning Board’s previous support for connecting Kewanee Drive to 55th Street is even more 
puzzling given the City’s strong record of supporting pedestrian and bicycle transportation.  By 
not connecting Kewanee to 55th Street for car traffic, but by allowing access for pedestrians and 
bikes (and emergency vehicles), as with the Greenbelt Meadows street alignment, the City could 
create a pedestrian and bicycle-friendly, low-traffic corridor that runs from the new 
development all the way to the Meadows Shopping Center. (I regularly walk this way now.)  
It is hard to fathom why the City prefers a narrow, high volume, bicycle and pedestrian-
unfriendly through-street given the high value it places on alternative transportation.  
 
It is very difficult to accept the apparent intent by some representing the City to walk away from a 
decades-old understanding, and, I believe, a handshake agreement, with the KCM neighborhood.  
I could accept the impact to my and my neighbors’ quality of life if there is a substantial benefit 
to the larger community.  My 30-plus year career with the US EPA afforded me the opportunity 
to weigh public interest tradeoffs many times.  In this case the sacrifice that the existing 
neighborhood and the larger community will make if Kewanee Drive is connected to 55th Street is 
concrete and significant.  Yet the benefits are abstract and theoretical at best.  The Planning Board 
should honor the previous understanding/ commitment for reasons both moral and ethical, and 
decide, consistent with the City’s values and policies, that Kewanee Drive terminate within any 
development on the Hogan-Pancost property and not connect to 55th Street.  I am willing to 
discuss this further at your convenience.   
 

Sincerely,  
 

Steve Tuber 
5375 Kewanee Drive 

303-903-9722 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 103Packet Page     161



Dear Mr. Guiler, 
These are my comments as a concerned citizen, about the published plan to develop 
Boulder Creek Commons: 
 
1. Manhattan Dr. already has two dangerous traffic situations that will be 
worsened by allowing traffic to and from Boulder Creek Commons via Kewanee Drive. 
There have been several accidents in the last six months at the intersection of 
Manhattan Dr. and South Boulder Rd. Also, the outlet of Kewanee Dr. is near 
Manhattan Middle School. Additional traffic from Boulder Creek Commons will 
endanger children from the Middle School as well as exacerbate the dangerous 
intersection at Manhattan Dr. and South Boulder Rd. 
The new public right of way at Kewanee Dr. should not be allowed. By the way, 
adding a stoplight at Manhattan Dr. and South Boulder Rd. should be done, anyway. 
 
2. The Boulder Creek Commons plan will block the view of the Flatirons and Front 
Range from the East Boulder Community Center Park. The City recently spent lots 
of money to develop the "commons" of the soccer fields, dog park, and trails 
there. The City should require a 200 foot easement from the boundary along 55th 
and the Soccer field boundaries, so that the view is not blocked. Thousands of 
citizens use this park every week. The "commons" 
should not be impaired for private development greed. This public view of the 
Flatirons is one of the best remaining in the City. 
 
3. Many of us have home offices in the neighborhood. The developer should post a 
$100,000 escrow account for service interruptions (internet, power, phone, water) 
to be compensated at $100 per hour per household of service interruption during 
the construction. 
 
4. Again, because of the many home offices in the neighborhood, the developer 
should build a construction barrier wall on the south and west boundaries of the 
development, at least as tall as the tallest structure in the development, to 
block construction dust and noise during construction. 
 
Regards, 
 
Tom Voll 
107 Manhattan Dr. 
Boulder, CO 
 

 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 104Packet Page     162



Mr.$Karl$Guiler$
Planner$II,$City$of$Boulder$
1777$Broadway$
Boulder,$CO$80302$
$
Dear$Mr.$Guiler,$$$
$
I$am$writing$today$to$express$my$unconditional$support$for$the$Boulder$Creek$
Commons$Annexation$and$Site$Review$applications$as$planned$and$presented$by$the$
applicants.$$$
$
While$I$have$no$financial$interest$or$connection$to$the$project$whatsoever,$I$do$
disclose$that$I$am$somewhat$biased.$$Having$just$started$a$family$in$Boulder,$my$wife$
and$I$–$who$both$work$fullQtime$to$afford$living$here$–$are$struggling$to$figure$out$
how$to$maintain$incomes,$and$still$raise$a$child$consistent$with$our$vision,$care,$and$
values.$$$
$
Both$my$wife’s$mother$and$my$parents$in$their$retirement$are$available$to$support$
us$in$raising$our$children,$however,$have$all$found$that$they$are$not$able$to$find$
“senior$friendly”$housing$in$Boulder$that$they$can$reasonably$afford$in$order$to$be$
able$to$do$that.$$This$lack$of$quality$and$reasonably$priced$options$has$been$a$
challenge$and$disappointment$to$our$family,$and$I$believe$that$Boulder$Creek$
Commons$will$go$a$long$way$to$address$this$problem$for$our$family$and$others$in$
Boulder.$$$
$
I$think$that$this$issue$–$even$in$this$narrow$example$–$articulates$the$costs$to$a$
community$and$its$families$when$there$is$a$lack$of$diversity$of$housing$options.$$I$
applaud$the$applicant$for$identifying$and$addressing$this$need$in$our$community.$$$
$
As$an$affordable$housing$advocate$and$developer,$myself,$I$also$am$also$delighted$at$
the$amount$of$affordable$housing$the$applicant$will$provide.$$This$aspect$of$the$
project$is$commendable,$provides$substantial$community$benefit$to$Boulder,$and$
therefore$merits$not$only$our$community’s$approval,$but$also$its$steadfast$support.$$$
$
Thank$you,$$
$
$
$
Scott$Holton$
2050$Walnut$Street$
Boulder,$CO$80302$
$
$
$

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 105Packet Page     163



Greetings, 
I'm in favor of the development and will consider living there if they offer single family 
homes under $600K or patio homes under $375K.  
I hope this is possible since the required affordable housing is subsidized by market rate homes 
so once again, middle income folks suffer the biggest burden financially by paying more for a 
market rate home than cities that don't have the affordable housing requirement.   
  
Neighbors who complain about losing the view or possible ground water issues must face the 
reality that their own neigborhood was also an eye sore or possible flood threat at one time to 
others in the area including wildlife.  
 
I grew up near 55th & Pennsylvania and when my mom bought a new home there in the late 60s, 
a friend later commented, "Oh I remember when that street was mostly under water."   Like 
much of Boulder, flooding is a reality and wetlands are common in areas of SE Boulder. 
Apparently the water issue was addressed and I know of no one who has complained of water 
problems in my old neighborhood.  
  
On another note, I'd like to suggest energy efficient designs for new homes and developments 
that are seldom thought of - 
 
Small windows, tube lights or skylights when possible in interior bathrooms and closets - to 
avoid having to turn on a light. 
Apparently CFLs are being required or encouraged - but recent studies show they are not so 
"green" and might cause cancer due to high UV levels.  
http://www.livescience.com/25999-cfl-uv-radiation-skin.html 
  
Natural light is always best.  CFLs and LEDs do something odd to my brain - much like the old 
fluourescent lights from long ago.  
  
I heard tall privacy fences being in place and hope the builders know that privacy fences are 
subject to being blown down with the strong winds and need some gaps for the wind to blow 
through to avoid homeowners replacing fence portions and creating hazards with fence 
boards and nails. 
  
Also, if it was up to me, I'd prefer alleys with rear loading garages or at the least, at least some 
homes not include garages but have another area designated for carports and garages like Bear 
Creek Apts.  They have to be placed strategically but then homes could avoid having the 
"welcome to my garage" look and also avoid having to back out into the street traffic and 
endangering walkers or kids on the sidewalks. 
 
The builder talked about having the houses closer to the street which I don't like because of noise 
from the streets heard inside the house - especially the bedrooms.  He talked about having 
garages set further back but that means backing out further and more snow to shovel with a 
longer driveway.  
  

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 106Packet Page     164



Boulder needs more housing - for seniors and middle income - primarily one level homes.  One 
of the reasons housing inventory is so low in Boulder are the many seniors who have delayed 
selling their larger family home because they can't find an affordable smaller home in the area.   
This is long overdue.  
 
Thank you for your work on this, 
Bev Pogreba 
  
303-499-1029 
Thank you for your work on this, 
Bev 
 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 107Packet Page     165



Good morning - 
 
I was thinking about the things going on between the City and the Applicant since the PB vote 
and our apparent victory over this poorly conceived development plan. 
 
There are emails and hearsay flying around about how the applicant is working with City Staff to 
overcome a handful of issues that were deemed as problems which led to a 7-0 vote by PB 
against the plan.   We are being told that City Staff has come up with corrected data and other 
things to counter the many discrepancies pointed out by the presentations made by citizens over 
the overwhelming concerns around the annexation plan. 
 
This has all the makings to set a (negative) precedent for public and community governmental 
process.  If City Council decides to do their own thing with the outcome of this very well 
debated annexation issue and works with the Applicant to remedy these things after the fact, then 
what was the Boulder Planning Board put in place for?  Where is the respect from their peers 
for the tireless effort to hear both sides of this issue over many hours of public and non-public 
hearings and then fairly and democratically vote unanimously against the continuation of this 
annexation plan?   If something that has this much history and heat around it, something that was 
judged fairly by a board of 7 City appointees, something that is clearly wrong for so many 
reasons, be rehashed after the vote by City Staff and the Applicant to try and sway City Counsel 
regardless of everything that was done by and decided previously?  These are the same people 
who garnered so much incorrect information and were clearly on the side of the applicant.   They 
are essentially saying, "We don't care about the process that strives to make this City better and 
we will work around things to do what we ever want." 
 
That leads this process into very dangerous ground for what our and other municipalities can do 
with these checks and balances that were put into place to avoid that very thing.  They are 
essentially saying that the opinions of hundreds of tax paying citizens and the decisions of the 
appointed PB do not matter anymore in the process - they can make it work anyway.  
 
I for one do not wish to live in a place that lets people at the top of the process veto the very 
process that has been put into place to avoid bad decisions for our community.    
 
 
Jeff S. 
 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 108Packet Page     166



July 24, 2013 
 
To: Members of Boulder City Council 
 
Re: Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I am writing today as a concerned citizen, in support of annexation and development of the 
proposed Boulder Creek Commons neighborhood in SE Boulder. I was quite dismayed and 
disappointed at how poorly this much needed project was handled by our City Planning Board 
last April. Their negative reactions seemed to be pre‐programmed to happen, favoring (only) a 
very small group of neighbors’ wishes over the needs of the entire Community. I sincerely hope 
that this same treatment does not occur at City Council. 
 
This well designed residential project is offering 58 Permanently Affordable, deed restricted 
housing units to low and moderate income senior families. This is a much needed housing type 
for our City.  
 
I believe that even a small supply of new, permanently affordable housing units for Seniors is 
very difficult to obtain within the City limits; and therefore this community contribution to 
housing should be welcomed with open arms. 
 
These local owners have been working to get their project approved for more than eleven 
years; have agreed to the most stringent conditions ever imposed on a project development in 
the City; and have strong staff support.  It is beyond understanding that our Planning Board 
treated the project and its Community Benefit contributions so poorly last April.   This has to be 
one of the lowest impact, highest community value projects Boulder has ever seen.  I mean 
really, what are the negative consequences to the neighbors….seniors racing their mobility 
scooters down the sidewalk??   Seriously, It’s time for you all to step up and do the right thing 
on this one!   
 
Please turn the public decision making around and approve this sorely needed, and well 
planned, new residential neighborhood on behalf of the Community.  It is high time the 
deserving Senior population of our Community received the same attention as do small groups 
of self‐serving neighbors. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Tim Borst 
5414 Westridge Drive 
Boulder, CO. 80301 

 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 109Packet Page     167



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 110Packet Page     168



July 26, 2013 
 
To: Boulder City Council 
 
Re: Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I have been following the City process for the Boulder Creek Commons project 
for a fair amount of time, and write to you all today to plead for fairness and 
good reasoning in deciding the fate of this very worthy proposed project. 
 
It appears to have been a one sided Planning Board decision process recently, 
even though prior Planning Board decisions were supportive of the project.  In 
my judgment, it is time to make things right for the Community at large, and City 
Council is the body we look to for these decisions.  
 
While not as prevalent in the past as it appears to be presently, neighborhoods 
with little stake in local development projects, seem to have the “ear” of our City 
leadership in demanding selfish and narrow minded decision making in the 
public process.  I for one, would like to see the “risk takers” (those who risk their 
time and money to develop well designed and planned projects) get more 
consideration for their efforts and for following the process rules set out by our 
local government. 
 
The “rules” that were followed here by the property owners and City Staff are:  a) 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive plan which designated this land as Area IIA, 
“land to be developed in the Near Future”;  b) reports prepared by multiple 
engineering firms who know that this land is fully developable (despite all the 
exaggerated claims being made by the neighborhoods adjoining);  and c) 
decisions made by prior Planning Boards supporting this project.   There is strong  
Staff support for this project, and while not as outspoken, there also is strong 
public support for fair process, as well as for this very worthy project.  
 
I urge all of you to consider the needs of the entire Community here and 
approve this sorely needed and well planned new residential neighborhood on 
behalf of our broader Community.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
_____________________ (Chase Fraser) 
 
Boulder, CO 
 
 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 111Packet Page     169



July 26, 2013 
 
To: Members of Boulder City Council 
 
Re: Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I am writing today as a concerned citizen, in support of annexation and 
development of the proposed Boulder Creek Commons neighborhood in 
SE Boulder. I was quite dismayed and disappointed at how poorly this 
much needed project was handled by our City Planning Board last April. 
Their negative reactions seemed to be pre-programmed to happen, 
favoring (only) a very small group of neighbors’ wishes over the needs of 
the entire Community. I sincerely hope that this same treatment does not 
occur at City Council. 
 
This well designed residential project is offering 58 Permanently Affordable, 
deed restricted housing units to low and moderate income senior families. 
This is a much needed housing type for our City.  
 
I believe that even a small supply of new, permanently affordable housing 
units for Seniors is very difficult to obtain within the City limits; and therefore 
this community contribution to housing should be welcomed with open 
arms. 
 
These local owners have been working to get their project approved for 
more than eleven years; have agreed to the most stringent conditions 
ever imposed on a project development in the City; and have strong staff 
support.  It is beyond understanding that our Planning Board treated the 
project and its Community Benefit contributions so poorly last April. 
 
Please turn the public decision making around and approve this sorely 
needed, and well planned, new residential neighborhood on behalf of 
the Community.  It is high time the deserving Senior population of our 
Community received the same attention as do small groups of self serving 
neighbors. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
_____________________ (Chase Fraser) 
 
Boulder, CO 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 112Packet Page     170



July 24, 2013 
 
To: Members of Boulder City Council 
 
Re: Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I am writing today in support of annexation and development of the 
proposed Boulder Creek Commons neighborhood in SE Boulder.  This well 
designed residential project is offering permanently affordable, deed 
restricted housing units to senior families as well new “Boulder Green-Built” 
market rate single family homes for sale. These are much needed housing 
types for our City.  
 
The local owners have been working for many years to come up with a 
cogent plan which targets the needs of the local community and the 
city’s goals and I believe they have done it aside from all the 
neighborhood pushback.  It is also a bit puzzling why the Planning Board 
treated the project and its Community Benefit with such poorly reviews 
last April when the city staff was in full support of this project. 
 
I hope you see the merits of this project and approve it for annexation 
and development.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
_____________________ (Chase Fraser) 
 
Boulder, CO 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 113Packet Page     171



July 28, 2013 
 
To: Members of Boulder City Council 
 
Re: Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I am writing today in support of annexation and development of the 
proposed Boulder Creek Commons neighborhood in SE Boulder.  This well 
designed residential project is offering permanently affordable, deed 
restricted housing units to senior families as well new “Boulder Green-Built” 
market rate single family homes for sale. These are much needed housing 
types for our City.  
 
The local owners have been working for many years to come up with a 
cogent plan which targets the needs of the local community and the 
city’s goals and I believe they have done it aside from all the 
neighborhood pushback.  It is also a bit puzzling why the Planning Board 
treated the project and its Community Benefit with such poorly reviews 
last April when the city staff was in full support of this project. 
 
I hope you see the merits of this project and approve it for annexation 
and development.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Kate Clement 
 
 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 114Packet Page     172



Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 115Packet Page     173



August 6, 2013 
 
To: City Council 
 
Re:  Boulder Creek Commons proposed neighborhood project 
 
Dear City Council, 
 
I am writing to you to explain why I, as a citizen of the City of Boulder, am in support of annexation and 
development of the proposed Boulder Creek Commons neighborhood in SE Boulder.  I was quite 
concerned and dismayed at how this needed project was handled by our City Planning Board last April. 
They totally disregarded strong staff support and favored a small group of development’s bordering 
residents’ wishes over the need s of the Community of Boulder.  I would hope this same treatment will 
not be forthcoming from Council when the matter comes up. 
 
My support is based on the following points: 

1.  This is and eleven year project that has been thoroughly researched and documented by 

certified engineering firms  

2. The project has been studied and recommended for approval by the Boulder planning staff to 

the planning board 

3. It provides for fifty eight affordable units (fifty of which are for seniors) and amounts to 48% of 

the project 

4. The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan has listed this property as Area IIA for over 30 years, 

meaning it is designated for annexation and development 

Sincerely, 
 
Lew Frauenfelder 
 
Lewis Frauenfelder 
1302 Baseline Rd. 
 

Attachment H 
Other Public Comments Received

Agenda Item 3F     Page 116Packet Page     174



Attachment I 
Annexation Map

Agenda Item 3F     Page 117Packet Page     175



Agenda Item 3F     Page 118Packet Page     176



 

 
 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only the three ordinances as follows:  An ordinance amending Section 
6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981; an ordinance adding a new Chapter 6-16,  
“Recreational Marijuana,” and a new Section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana 
Businesses,”  B.R.C. 1981, and an ordinance amending Section 5-10 “Marijuana 
Offenses,” all to implement and comply with the requirements of Amendment 64 to the 
Colorado State Constitution. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager  
Beverley Bookout, Police Officer 
Dale Goetz, Building Code Compliance Specialist 
Jeff Kessler, Police Sergeant 
Mike Whitney, Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
On November 6, 2012, Colorado voters approved Amendment 64 to the Colorado State 
Constitution regarding the use and regulation of marijuana.  The legalization of marijuana 
presents several regulatory challenges for the City of Boulder.  These include whether to 
license businesses, how to regulate private cultivation and the extent to which local laws 
are necessary to regulate underage use and public consumption.   On March 5, 2013, staff 
brought forward three ordinances to respond to Amendment 64:  Ordinance No. 7891 
making changes to Chapter 6-14 regarding medical marijuana to coordinate with the 
proposed new chapter 6-16 regarding recreational marijuana (which was not adopted); 
Ordinance No. 7892 adding a new Chapter 5-10, “Marijuana Offenses,”  B.R.C. 1981 
which was adopted by council on April 16, 2013; and Ordinance 7893 adopting a new 
chapter 6-16 to regulate and license recreational marijuana (which was not adopted).  The 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page     177



 

proposed ordinances replacing Ordinance 7891 and 7893 are Attachments A (Medical 
Marijuana) and B (Recreational Marijuana) to this memo.  Attachment C are amendments 
to Chapter 5-10 adopted by Ordinance No. 7892.   
 
The proposed new Chapter 6-16 regulates recreational marijuana similar to medical 
marijuana with adjustments as recommended by the cross-departmental marijuana 
enforcement team.  It maintains the regulatory philosophy that council applied to medical 
marijuana to the extent possible.  However, there are differences that make simple 
duplication unworkable.  Recreational marijuana is legal for anyone 21 years of age and 
older; medical marijuana is available to those who qualify as a patient regardless of age.  
In regulating medical marijuana, council adopted a wellness model that requires that 
dispensaries provide wellness services in addition to selling marijuana.  Medical 
marijuana businesses are vertically integrated because of a state law requiring that 
medical marijuana dispensaries grow at least 70 percent of the marijuana offered for sale.  
The vertical integration requirement for retail marijuana expires at the end of 2014.  
Medical marijuana businesses are limited on the number of plants or marijuana product it 
can produce or sell by the number of patients that have registered with at business.  There 
is no limit the amount of marijuana on recreational marijuana businesses at the state 
level. Sales of recreational marijuana are limited to one ounce while patients are allowed 
two ounces. 
 
As council made it clear that it did not want to ban recreational marijuana businesses or 
impose a significant moratorium, the proposed ordinances provide for a phase-in period 
of preparing for and processing recreational marijuana applications first from medical 
marijuana that want to convert.  This would be accomplished by abating acceptances of 
medical marijuana applications from 3-1-14 to 9-30-14to prepare for accepting 
recreational marijuana applications. Applications for conversion of existing medical 
marijuana businesses to recreational marijuana businesses would be accepted and 
processed between 6-1-14 and 9-30-14.Applications would be accepted and processed 
beginning October 1, 2014 for new recreational or medical marijuana businesses.     
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
the three ordinances as follows, (a) an ordinance amending Section 6-14, “Medical 
Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981; (b) an ordinance adding a new chapter 6-16, “Recreational 
Marijuana,” and a new section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 
1981, and (c) an ordinance amending Section 5-10 “Marijuana Offenses,” all to 
implement and comply with the requirements of Amendment 64 to the Colorado State 
Constitution. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page     178



 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
  

• Economic: It is not clear yet what economic impact the production and sale of 
marijuana for recreational use will have.  Medical marijuana businesses average 
approximately $200 million in annual sales in Boulder.  Thus far, the federal 
government has sent at least nine notices to former businesses that were within 
1,000 feet of schools (including CU), but otherwise has not interfered 
significantly with medical marijuana businesses in Colorado.  It remains to be 
seen whether the federal government will continue the hands-off approach when it 
comes to recreational use.  The nature and extent of federal enforcement or the 
uncertainty of the federal approach could limit the economic impact of 
recreational marijuana businesses.   The application fees for recreational 
marijuana business applications are limited by Amendment 64 to an amount less 
than the city found was the cost for processing medical marijuana applications.  
Unless the licensing fee imposed for recreational marijuana makes up the 
difference in the cost of processing applications, the city will have to subsidize 
those costs.       

• Environmental: The most significant impacts are associated with cultivation 
facilities and marijuana infused product manufacturers (MIPs).  The state now 
allows for testing facilities that will have similar impacts. Boulder’s code 
currently requires that medical marijuana cultivation facilities use only pesticides 
deemed safe for food production.  Marijuana businesses face a challenge to 
control the odor associated with growing, processing and possessing marijuana.  
Council recently increased the requirements for MIPs as their processes can 
produce flammable and noxious gases.    

• Social: There is insufficient data to address the social impacts of the availability 
of marijuana without legal constraints. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS:  
 

• Fiscal: The city received $789,720.84 in sales and use tax revenue from medical 
marijuana businesses in 2012 and for the first six months of 2013 was 
$434,751.30.  A ballot measure has been placed on the November 5, 2013 ballot 
for an excise tax of up to 10 percent (2014 levy would be five percent) and a sales 
and use tax up to 10 percent (2014 levy would be 3.5 percent).  The application 
fee that the city can charge for converting a medical marijuana business to a 
recreational marijuana business is capped at $500, with half going to the state and 
half to the city.  The city’s half is approximately 5 percent of the cost to the city 
of processing a new medical marijuana license application.  The state must send 
one-half of the state application fee for a new recreational marijuana business to 
the city ($2,500), which is approximately 50 percent of the cost to the city of 
processing applications.  There is no limit on the licensing or operating fees that 
the city can charge. 

• Staff time: Drafting an ordinance regarding recreational marijuana businesses has 
been accomplished with existing staff.  If council elects to follow the schedule 
and abate acceptance of new applications for medical marijuana businesses for 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page     179



 

several months in order to process conversion of phase in applications for new 
marijuana businesses, staff believes that it can implement the proposed ordinances 
without additional staff.  Whether additional staff will need to be hired will 
depend upon the changes that council makes to the proposed ordinance.  If 
council does not want to phase in the acceptance of applications, additional staff 
resources, at least temporarily, will be required.  

  
PUBLIC FEEDBACK AND REQUESTS:  
 
Meetings with Existing Medical Marijuana Businesses: 

City staff held meetings with medical marijuana businesses on November 26, 2012, and 
July 26, 2013, to obtain information about the anticipated effect of recreational marijuana 
on medical marijuana businesses.  Staff had originally proposed that the use districts for 
retail stores be changed from “personal services” to “2,000 sq. feet convenience stores” 
for retail locations and to cap the number of plants allowed in cultivation facilities to 500 
plants. Because existing marijuana businesses indicated both were too limiting, the staff 
is now recommending that recreational marijuana retail locations be allowed as a 
personal services use with a maximum total square footage of 3,000 square feet as are 
retail medical marijuana centers and the maximum number of plants as 1,000 at each 
recreational cultivation facility.  Some of the businesses thought the limit was still too 
low and that at least 100 cultivation facilities of 1,000 plants each would be needed to 
meet the market demand in Boulder.  Others estimated that the demand would increase 
two to three times for recreational over medical marijuana and others thought the demand 
would quadruple.  As council has discussed, we do not know the impact of this new 
industry, so staff recommends starting with these requirements, and change them in the 
future if the industry becomes that large. 

The businesses also made the following requests that are not recommended by staff: 

Warehouses:  Staff has recommended that warehouses of marijuana be prohibited 
because the state law requires only a state license, not a local license, for warehouses.  
Warehouses are a use by right in all industrial zones, so if the city does not prohibit 
warehousing of marijuana, the city would have no licensing authority over them.  The 
proposed ordinance prohibits marijuana warehouses in the city. 

Recreational marijuana tourism:  Some of the businesses also expressed that Boulder 
should advertise itself as a tourism destination for recreational marijuana as it would fill 
hotels and restaurants.  We asked for the input of the Boulder Convention and Visitor’s 
Bureau and the Boulder Chamber on that suggestion.  The Bureau responded:   The CVB 
is not in favor of promoting marijuana as a tourism focus as it could alienate and offend 
other potential visitors.   

Lights vs. plants:  Some cultivators want the city to limit the size of grows by the number 
of lights rather than the number of plants.  There are various types of light fixtures, 
wattages and grow methods used by cultivation facilities. Neither the police nor licensing 
departments have the expertise to determine on an inspection whether the code 
requirements are being met; however plants can be counted easily.  Therefore, staff is not 
recommending this change to reduce the cost of staff needed to inspect recreational 
marijuana cultivation facilities. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page     180



 

Grandfather medical locations for recreational:  Some businesses want the city to allow 
conversion of medical marijuana businesses that do not meet the location requirements 
for recreational marijuana businesses.  Because medical marijuana businesses opened 
before the city had regulations, a few medical marijuana businesses are located too close 
to schools or daycares, but the council allowed them to stay open under a grandfathering 
provision.  The grandfathering provisions are limited to the current owner of the business 
and do not transfer to other owners.  Staff does not recommend extending the 
grandfathering to recreational marijuana businesses in order to maintain the separation 
from incompatible uses that council determined was necessary.  

Co-location of medical and recreational marijuana businesses:  The state allows co-
location if there are separate entrances and physical separation of the two businesses, or if 
the business does not allow anyone younger than 21 in the premises.  This issue came up 
for the city with respect to grows and MIPs that wanted to co-locate.  The city did not 
allow co-location and required separate premises (that could be adjacent) with separate 
security systems, ventilation and all other requirements of each business.  The different 
types of businesses have certain requirements (for instance, MIPs are creating edibles and 
have to meet food safety requirements which grows cannot meet; medical and 
recreational marijuana businesses have different ages of customers, amounts of marijuana 
that can be sold, taxes due, etc).  Because the businesses have separate requirements, and 
accurate records management has been a large enforcement issue, the staff recommends 
that co-location not be allowed. 

City Council   

The council held a public hearing on March 5 when these ordinances were introduced and 
asked several questions: 

Should the city limit the number of marijuana businesses by limiting the total number of 
businesses rather than relying on the limitation of three retail centers within 500 feet?  
Staff recommends that the city stay with the limitation on the number of marijuana 
establishments within a specified radius for a few reasons.  First, the area is easy to 
measure on the city’s GIS.  While the current limitation applies in all areas, except 
Industrial, it has been effective at limiting the number of retail outlets.  To further address 
council’s concern, the ordinance extends the limitation of only three businesses within 
500 feet to new recreational marijuana cultivation facilities.  Existing cultivation facilities 
would be allowed to remain in their current locations and convert to recreational 
marijuana, but the exception would not transfer to any new business.1

Most importantly, limiting the number of licenses requires the city to establish a system, 
probably a lottery system, to determine which applicant would get the location when a 
current business closes.  Such systems would require substantial additional research and 
drafting time for staff, and once adopted, are fraught with legal challenges.  Exposing the 
city to additional legal risk seems unnecessary when the same purpose is accomplished 
with the limitation on the number of businesses within a specified radius.  If the council 

           

                                                           
1 This is a different response to extending grandfathering provisions than staff recommends for the distance 
requirement from schools and daycares.  Since the impact of recreational marijuana on minors is one of the 
largest concerns of this new industry, the separation requirement from schools it is not recommended to 
grandfather locations closer to schools for recreational marijuana businesses.  For the concentration of 
cultivation facilities, staff attempted to address council’s concern about limiting the number of marijuana 
businesses without negatively impacting existing businesses in the city to the extent possible.   

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page     181



 

wants to limit the number of cultivation facilities, it could extend the limitation of a 
certain number within 500 feet to industrial zones as it has done in all other zones. 

Should a place defined as “open to the general public” include a fenced area of a private 
residence?  Council was concerned that if the backyard of a private residence was visible 
from a public place, that the resident would not be able to consume marijuana in their 
own back yard.  The definition of “places open to the general public” has been changed 
to exclude fenced areas of private residences, and only include private property only for 
the portion, if any, where there is a license to enter the property.   

What is Denver doing with respect to recreational marijuana? As of a meeting on August 
19, 2013, Denver plans to start accepting applications for conversion of medical 
marijuana businesses starting October 1, 2013.  As Amendment 64 does not impose any 
time limit on processing those applications (the state is limited to 90 days), the time 
before any conversion licenses will be issued may be up to a year.  Denver is not 
accepting applications for new recreational businesses (that are not converted from a 
medical marijuana business) until January 1, 2016.  Denver is not imposing an excise tax 
but is asking the voters to approve a sales and use tax capped at 15 percent with 3.5 
percent levied the first year.   

 
BACKGROUND:    
 
Amendment 64 legalizes the following: 

• Possessing marijuana accessories or one ounce or less of marijuana; 

• Growing up to six marijuana plants, with three or fewer being mature, flowering 
plants, provided that the growing takes place in an enclosed, locked space, is not 
conducted openly or publicly, and is not made available for sale; 

• Transfer of one ounce or less of marijuana without remuneration to a person who 
is 21 years of age or older; 

• Using marijuana in private. 
 

State Enforcement 

While the state legislature expressed its intent to better fund recreational marijuana 
licensing and enforcement than it did for medical marijuana, there is no assurance or 
indication that the state will provide any assistance to the city.  For instance, the state 
does not always physically inspect marijuana businesses before issuing a license, and 
rarely does inspections for renewal of licenses.  The state issues “conditional” licenses 
based on approval by local jurisdictions to marijuana businesses even if the city has 
denied the application for the same businesses.  Therefore, the staff has found it essential 
to have local laws to enforce rather than relying on state laws.  The Department of 
Revenue did adopt emergency rules by the 7-1-13 deadline in Amendment 64. 

 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page     182



 

Status of Other Cities 

Attachment E is a chart from the Colorado Municipal League of actions of other cities 
around the state on recreational marijuana.  Notably Colorado Springs, which allows 
medical marijuana businesses, has decided to ban recreational marijuana businesses.  In 
Boulder County, Longmont, Superior and Broomfield County have banned recreational 
marijuana businesses, Nederland has adopted licensing provisions and Erie has extended 
its moratorium until the end of 2013, Lafayette has extended its moratorium until April 1, 
2014, and Louisville is considering regulations on the same schedule as the city.  
Audits of State and Denver 

Both the state Medical Marijuana Enforcement Division and Denver have received 
scathing audits of their performances in licensing and regulating medical marijuana 
businesses.  In the case of Denver, the Department of Excise and Licensing was not given 
any additional resources to deal with the applications of the estimated 600 + businesses in 
the city.   
 
The interdepartmental staff group that has been working on marijuana enforcement issues 
has analyzed the effects of Amendment 64 to the extent known at this time against the 
backdrop of its experience in licensing and enforcement compared to the state and 
Denver.  What is presented today is the staff’s best effort to produce an ordinance that 
council could adopt to regulate recreational marijuana similar to the way the city 
regulates medical marijuana.  The goal was also to draft an ordinance and impose a 
timeline so that existing staff could responsibly and reasonably implement licensing for 
conversions of existing medical marijuana businesses and new marijuana businesses to 
the city without additional staff. 
 
ANALYSIS:  
 
I. Changes to Medical Marijuana Chapter 6-14 (Attachment A) 
 
      The proposed changes would:  

1.  Remove the definition of marijuana as illegal under Colorado law; 

2. Clarify definitions of business manager and medical marijuana, and add a 
definition of marijuana business (to include both recreational and medical), 
marijuana establishment (a licensed recreational marijuana business), marijuana 
warehouse (prohibited in the city); 

3. Add requirements of applications for disclosure of extraction process and 
electrical load;  

4. Add that denial of an application for a recreational marijuana license is grounds 
for denial of a medical marijuana business application; 

5. Abate acceptance of applications for new medical marijuana business between 
March 1, 2014 and October 1, 2014. 

6. Add the changes to the provisions regarding locations of medical marijuana 
businesses to: 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 7Packet Page     183



 

a. Mixed use developments. The proposed ordinance would ban medical 
marijuana businesses in mixed use developments that have at least one 
residential unit.2

b.  Incorporate the federal 1000 foot separation standard from schools, day cares, 
and universities, into medical marijuana licensing for locations established 
after March 5, 2013. 

 

7. Allow only MIP in city if grow also in city. 

8. Expand the section regarding restricted areas to refer not only to underage people, 
but to patients, licensees and employees; and 

9. Add a prohibited act for falsely labeling medical marijuana infused products.  

   
II. New Recreational Marijuana Chapter 6-16 (Attachment B) 
 
Staff proposes that recreational marijuana in residences be handled the same as medical 
marijuana.  Possession of more than six plants, the marijuana from those plants contained 
in the same locked and enclosed space in which the plants were grown, or more than one 
ounce of marijuana is by definition a “recreational marijuana business.”  The description 
of the number of plants, product from the plants and one ounce are the same as what is 
decriminalized by Amendment 64.  Amendment 64, like medical marijuana, prohibits 
more than one-half of the plants on any premises to be mature flowering plants.   
 
For recreational marijuana businesses staff proposes that the size be limited (a) to protect 
the safety of emergency responders entering the business, and (b) to the size that can be 
inspected by one officer so that a team of officers is not required to inspect a recreational 
marijuana business.  For cultivation facilities is the maximum would be 1,000 plants, and 
for retail locations, the maximum would be 3,000 square feet for the entire business and a 
maximum of 1,000 square feet for the restricted area (where marijuana can be)3

 

.  For 
MIPs (marijuana-infused products manufacturers), the size of the building is limited to 
15,000 square feet by the use category, the amount of marijuana is  limited to 600 pounds 
of unprocessed marijuana and 150 pounds of marijuana-infused products, based on the 
average of the amount of marijuana that is cultivated from 250 flowering plants.  For 
testing facilities, the maximum is 100 pounds of each raw and infused products. 

The current requirement for industrial hygienist review of the processing and handling 
methods continues for both MIPs and licensed testing facilities for health and safety 
reasons. The proposed ordinance does not allow MIPs in the city unless the primary 
cultivation facility supplying the MIP is also located in the city.  All six of the current 
MIPs have their cultivation facilities in the city.  Maintaining that requirement for the 
future assures that the city receives the excise tax revenue applicable to the MIP (but 
charged at the time of transfer from the grow), and limits the number of marijuana 
manufacturers that can be in the city.   
 
                                                           
2 The Recreational Marijuana ordinance includes an identical provision. 
3 The ordinance does not require recreational marijuana facilities to have wellness facilities or consultation 
rooms like medical marijuana facilities.  Thus, recreational marijuana facilities will have more floor space 
to devote to retail and storage of marijuana. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 8Packet Page     184



 

In addition, the ordinance provides that all recreational marijuana locations will be 
subject to the 1,000 foot distance measurement to schools, day cares and universities 
(even those current businesses who are applying for conversion) and retail recreational 
marijuana businesses are still subject to the no more than 3 within 500 feet of each other 
restriction.  The increase in the distance from 500 to 1,000 is because the federal 
government seems to be enforcing federal laws within 1,000 feet of schools, including 
universities.  The 1,000 foot federal limit does not apply to daycare facilities.  The 
proposed ordinance expands the distance requirements to 1,000 feet for daycares, but 
could stay at 500 feet without incurring additional federal enforcement if the federal 
government enforces in the future as it has in the past. 
 
To avoid retail business monopolies, the proposed ordinance allows an owner to own 
only one recreational marijuana center just as an owner can own only one retail liquor 
store.  The proposed ordinance does allow the owner of a recreational marijuana center to 
also own a cultivation facility and a MIP. The proposed ordinance retains the existing use 
categories for all marijuana businesses.4  A center is allowed in the zone districts that 
allow a personal services uses as a use by right.  A cultivation facility is permitted in any 
zone district in which a greenhouse/nursery is permitted as a right (the zone districts in 
which there is an “A” on the chart below).  Recreational infused product facilities are 
permitted in any zone district allowing 15,000 square feet or less for manufacturing5

 
.   

The following table lists the zone districts for the existing uses:6

Use Modules 
 

R7 M1 M2 M3 B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 D1 D2 D3 I1 I2 I3 I4 P A 

Personal service uses A A A A A A A A A A A A * * * * * * 

Manufacturing uses ≤15,000 square feet * * * * * * * A * * * * A A A A * * 

Manufacturing uses >15,000 square feet * * * * * * * * * * * * U A A A * * 

Greenhouse and plant nurseries * * * * * * * * * * * * A A A A A A 

  
The city has continued to have problems with MIPs because extracting marijuana from 
the plant involves untested processes and alcohol or solvents.  Further, defining when 
doing anything with marijuana qualifies as cultivation (allowed at a cultivation facility) 
or production (allowed at a MIP) is not always a bright line.  Some provisions that we 
learned from medical marijuana are being carried over into the provisions regarding 
recreational marijuana.  For instance, placing “shake” that falls off of the raw marijuana 
at a center into a package is not considered “production” or “repackaging” that is not 
normally allowed at a center, so that employees at centers can package the shake for sale 
rather than throwing it away or taking it back to the cultivation facility for packaging 
                                                           
4 This is a change from Ordinance No. 7893.  Staff had originally proposed changing to a more retail use 
category and a smaller size for the dispensaries.  At the request of the existing businesses, staff changed its 
recommendation. 
5 For medical marijuana, the MIP is allowed in either manufacturing use category, but the size is limited by 
the state. 
6 The abbreviations have the following meanings: 
 A: Allowed use. 
 C: Conditional use.  
 *: Use prohibited. 
 U: Use review.  
 G: Allowed use provided that it is located above or below the ground floor. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 9Packet Page     185



 

(Section 6-14-8(t) and 6-16-8(t)).  If there is not a higher requirement in the building 
codes regarding the type of separation between a MIP and a cultivation facility, for 
marijuana, there is a minimum of a one-hour fire wall required to separate the businesses 
(Section 6-14-8(r)(2) and 6-16-8(r)(2)).   
 
The city has also encountered problems with the electricity load of cultivation facilities 
and MIPs.  There have been several electrical fires inside businesses and residences.  
Growing marijuana requires the use of lights 24/7 to grow plants and having to keep air 
temperatures cool.  It is only in the flower stage (approximately the last three weeks) that 
light usage is reduced to 12/12. In addition, recently there have been two transformers 
that have blown because of overload and caused fires in the vicinity of the poles with the 
transformers.  Fortunately, neither of those poles were located where there was a lot of 
nearby fuel for the fire and were put out by the Fire Department quickly.  In one of the 
circumstances, the “solution” by Xcel was to install a second pole close to the first one 
with two additional transformers in violation of the city code.  Because the problem is 
increasing, the proposed ordinance adds a requirement that the business identify its 
anticipated peak and hourly load, and provide verification from the utility provider and 
the owner of the building that the building is wired to handle that load.  For renewals, the 
businesses will also have to report the actual load for the previous year.      
 
The proposed ordinance allows for conversion of a medical marijuana business to a 
recreational marijuana business by submitting an application similar to an application for 
renewal of an existing license if the business meets all of the requirements for a 
recreational marijuana license (Section 6-16-3(f)).  As shown in the chart which is 
Attachment D, staff proposes that only medical marijuana businesses that applied for 
their licenses by October 1, 2013, be allowed to convert to avoid a rush on applications.  
Staff also proposes that no applications for new medical marijuana businesses be 
accepted between March 1, 2014, and October 1, 2014, to allow time to process all 
applications received before March 1, 2014, and reserve June 1, 2014, to September 30, 
2014 for processing applications for conversions.  There are currently 29 pending 
applications for new medical marijuana businesses, which is not an abnormal number of 
applications to be pending at one time.  Acceptance of new applications will have to be 
abated for six months to finish processing those in the pipeline and to develop the forms 
and process the number of conversion applications expected without hiring additional 
staff. 
 
The ordinance does not permit consumption anywhere that is open to the public.  The 
city’s smoking ban includes marijuana.  It prohibits smoking of any substance in any 
structure in the city, with limited exceptions including residences.  Amendment 64 does 
not protect consumption of marijuana “that is conducted openly and publicly or in a 
manner that endangers others.”  Thus any place where members of the public can go runs 
afoul of both Boulder’s smoking ordinance and Amendment 64 at least with respect to 
smoked marijuana.  Amendment 64 does not define “publically.”  The definition in the 
proposed ordinance does not include fenced areas of private residences (so marijuana can 
be consumed in such areas), but does include private membership clubs as places where 
marijuana cannot be consumed.  Attachment D is a chart of the differences staff proposes 
for recreational marijuana than those that exist for medical.  The state has extensive 
requirements for labeling so we have removed those from this ordinance. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 10Packet Page     186



 

 
III.  Ordinance making changes to chapter regarding Marijuana Offenses (Attachment C) 
 
The proposed ordinance amending Chapter 5-10 addresses several recent issues.  The city 
receives numerous complaints about cultivation facilities that are located in county 
enclaves.  The city does not have any authority to require those businesses to have 
ventilation to prohibit those odors, except when the odors cross into the city boundaries.  
There have also been recent issues related to marijuana being provided to persons who 
are visibly intoxicated.  The proposed amendments to Chapter 5-10 include provisions so 
that the city can cite businesses that allow marijuana odors to waft into the city, and to 
limit sales to intoxicated persons.   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

A.  Ordinance Amending Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981 
B.  Ordinance  Adding a new chapter 6-16, “ Recreational Marijuana,” and a new   

section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,”  B.R.C. 1981 
C.  Ordinance Amending Section 5-10 “Marijuana Offenses” 
D.  Chart of comparison of requirements for medical marijuana businesses and proposed 

requirements for recreational marijuana businesses  
E.   Colorado Municipal League Chart  
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 11Packet Page     187



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 12Packet Page     188



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-14 TO 
IMPLEMENT AND COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS 
OF AMENDMENT 64 TO THE COLORADO STATE 
CONSTITUTION, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Subsection 6-14-1(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-14-1 Legislative Intent and Purpose. 

(a) Legislative Intent. The city council intends to regulate the use, acquisition, cultivation, 
production and distribution of medical marijuana in a manner that is consistent with Article 
XVIII, Section 14 of the Colorado Constitution (the "Medical Marijuana Amendment.") 

… 
 (2) Use, distribution, cultivation, production, possession and transportation of medical 
marijuana remains illegal under federal law, and marijuana remains classified as a 
"controlled substance" by both Colorado and federal law. 

Section 2.  Section 6-14-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to add the following definitions: 

6-14-2 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

… 
Business manager means the individual designated by the owner of the medical marijuana 
business as the person responsible for all operations of the business in the absence of the 
owner from the business premises.  Business manager shall include any person with 
managerial authority in the business, and any person that has access to lock or unlock the 
safe, to unlock or lock the business, or set or disarm the alarm. 

Marijuana for this Chapter 6-14 means 

(1) The same as the term "usable form of marijuana" as set forth in the Medical 
Marijuana Amendment; or 

(2) May be more fully defined in any applicable state law or regulation. 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 13Packet Page     189



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Marijuana business means a recreational marijuana business or a medical marijuana 
business. 

Marijuana establishment shall have the same meaning as marijuana establishment in Chapter 
6-16. 

Marijuana warehouse means a marijuana establishment that is not a licensed medical 
marijuana business or a licensed recreational marijuana business.  No marijuana warehouses 
are allowed in the city.   

… 

Place open to the general public means any property owned, leased or used by a public 
entity, and any place on private property retail malls, business open to the public, common 
areas of buildings, private clubs, and vehicles, and any place visible from such places.  

… 
Section 3.  Section 6-14-5(a)(3)(A) and (13), B.R.C. 1981, are amended and a new 

subsection (14) is added to read: 

6-14-5 Application. 

(a) Application Requirements. An application for a medical marijuana business license shall be 
made to the City on forms provided by the city manager for that purpose. The applicant shall use 
the application to demonstrate its compliance with this chapter and any other applicable law, rule 
or regulation. In addition to the information required by chapter 4-1, "General Licensing 
Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, the application shall include the following information: 

… 
(3) A statement of whether or not any of the named owners, members, business managers, 
financiers, primary caregivers or persons named on the application have been: 

(A) Denied an application for a medical marijuana business license pursuant to this 
chapter, for a recreational marijuana license pursuant to chapter 6-16, or any similar state 
or local licensing law, rule or regulation, or had such a license suspended or revoked. 

… 
(13) A description of all toxic, flammable or other materials regulated by a federal, state or 
local government that would have with authority over the business if it was not a marijuana 
business, that will be used or kept at the medical marijuana business, the location of such 
materials and how such materials will be stored. 

(14) A description of the process(es) used to extract or distill marijuana from its source and 
the process used to incorporate marijuana into all products produced, including verifying 
compliance of all processes regulated by a federal state or local government that would have 
authority over the business if it was not a marijuana business. 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 14Packet Page     190



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(15) A statement of the amount of the projected daily average and peak electric load 
anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the landlord and utility provider 
that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric load, or necessary upgrades 
will be performed prior to final inspection of the premises. 

 (16) For applications for a medical marijuana-infused product manufacturer,  the location of 
the cultivation facility in the city owned by the licensee. 

(17) No applications for new medical marijuana businesses shall be accepted between March 
1, 2014 and October 1, 2014. 

 

Section 4.  Section 6-14-7(c) and (f), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-14-7 Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses. 
… 

(c) No Recreational Marijuana Business in Building with Residences or Residential Zone 
Districts.  It shall be unlawful to operate a medical marijuana business in a building which 
contains a residence, or within a dwelling unit within any zone district, or within a residential 
zone district  or on the premises of a development within a mixed-use zone district that includes 
a residence, as such districts are described in Table 5-1 of section 9-5-2, "Zoning Districts," 
B.R.C., 1981.  

... 
(f) Separation From Schools, Day Care Centers or Other Medical Marijuana Uses. No medical 
marijuana business license shall be issued for the following locations: 

(1) Within five hundred feet of any elementary, junior high, middle or high school or state 
licensed day care center. Distances shall be measured by the City on official maps as the 
radius from the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point 
of the property of the school or day care center. This restriction shall not apply to a medical 
marijuana business that is licensed by the City on November 1, 2012.  

(2) Within one thousand feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 
vocational, or secondary school or a public or private college, junior college, or university, or 
a playground, or housing facility owned by a public housing authority.  This restriction shall 
not apply to a medical marijuana business that washeld a valid licensed byfrom the City on 
March 5, 2013.   

(3) Within five hundred feet of three other marijuana businesses, except that this limitation 
shall not apply in Industrial zones. 

(A) Distances shall be measured by the City on official maps as the radius from the closet 
points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point of the property of 
any other medical marijuana business. 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 15Packet Page     191

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-5.htm#section9_5_2�


 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(B) To determine the proximity to other medical marijuana businesses and the priority of 
applications, businesses shall have priority in the following order: 

(i) Businesses that are open and operating; 

(ii) Businesses whose applications have been approved; and 

(iii) Applications for medical marijuana business licenses that have been submitted by 
the applicant and declared complete by the City. 

(iv) No other applications shall be considered "businesses" for this determination. 

. . . .  

(h) Limitations on Medical Marijuana-Infused Product Manufacturers.  No medical 
marijuana-infused product manufacturer shall be allowed in the city unless the same licensee has 
a medical marijuana cultivation facility located in the city. 

 
 
Section 5.  Section 6-14-8(b) and (p) are amended to read: 
 

6-14-8 Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  
… 
 
(b) Restriction on Access to Restricted Area:  Age Limitations. No person, other than a patient, 
licensee, employee, or a contractor  under eighteen years of age shall be in the restricted area.  
No patient shall be allowed entry into the restricted area without showing a valid picture ID and 
evidence that the person is a patient, unless the person is accompanied by a parent or guardian.   
. . .  
(p) Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business may not 
advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal to minors. 
Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use other than for 
medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following conditions shall apply: 

(1) Any person licensed as a medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused 
products manufacturer shall include in any advertisement for medical marijuana or any 
medical marijuana-infused product the following language: "For registered Colorado medical 
marijuana patients only." Provided, however, this language shall not be required to be 
displayed upon any sign identifying a medical marijuana center, as permitted by 
subparagraph (2)(a) below. 
(2) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any medical marijuana or medical 
marijuana-infused product anywhere in the City where the advertisement is in plain view of 
or in a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any of the following 
media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as defined by the zoning 
code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 16Packet Page     192



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle or 
posted upon any public or private property without the consent of the property owner. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

a. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which exists 
solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana center and 
which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city laws and 
regulations; 

b. Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine or other periodical of 
general circulation within the City or on the internet; or 

c. Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event by a 
medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused products manufacturer. 

(3) It is an affirmative defense if a medical marijuana business employee provided another 
individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of providing that person's name and 
business affiliation, including, without restriction, title, mailing address, email address and 
telephone number. 
 

Section 6.  Section 6-14-9(g) is amended to read: 

6-14-9 Right of Entry – Records to be Maintained. 

(g)  Reporting of Energy Use and Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Purchases.  The records to be 
maintained by each medical marijuana business shall include without limitation records showing 
on a monthly basis the use and source of energy and the number of certified Renewable Energy 
Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy acquisition 
program approved by the city manager.  A statement of the projected daily average peak electric 
load anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the building owner or landlord 
and utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric load, or 
necessary upgrades will be performed. Such records shall include all statements, reports or 
receipts to verify the items included in the report of the business.  By application for a medical 
marijuana business license from the city, the medical marijuana business grants permission to 
providers of the energy or point of origin of the RECs or other renewable energy acquisition 
program to disclose the records of the business to the city.   For medical marijuana business that 
cultivate medical marijuana the report shall include the number of certified Renewable Energy 
Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy acquisition 
program approved by the city manager.   

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 17Packet Page     193



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Section 7.  Section 6-14-13(a)(1) is amended and a new subsection (33) is added to read: 

6-14-13 Prohibited Acts. 

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

(1)  Cultivate, distribute, possess, produce, smoke, use or ingest marijuana for recreational 
use in plain view of, or in a place open to the general public. 

…  
 (33) Label or distribute a marijuana-infused product that is not labeled as required by this 
code or other applicable law. 

Section 78.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 89.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this _________ day of __________ 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 18Packet Page     194



 

K:\CMAD\o-6-14 amendments-FP 1st rdg 9-3-13-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A  
Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 19Packet Page     195



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 20Packet Page     196



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 6-16, 
“RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA,”  B.R.C. 1981 AND 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 4-20-67, “RECREATIONAL 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES,” B.R.C. 1981  TO IMPLEMENT 
AND COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF 
AMENDMENT 64 TO THE COLORADO STATE 
CONSTITUTION, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER,  

Section 1.  A new chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, is added to read: 

Title 6:  Health and Safety and Sanitation 
 

Chapter 6-16:  Recreational Marijuana 
 

6-16-1 Legislative Intent, Findings, and Purpose. 
(a) Legislative Intent and Findings. The city council intends to regulate the use, possession, 
cultivation, production and distribution of marijuana in a manner that is consistent with Article 
XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution (the "Recreational Marijuana Amendment”, also 
known as Amendment 64.) and finds that the provisions of this Chapter 6-16 are directly and 
demonstrably related to the operation of marijuana establishments in a manner to minimize 
negative impacts on the community.  

(1) The city adopts this law to apply to all recreational marijuana operations in the 
city under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment, or any recreational marijuana 
business permitted under the state law. 

(2) Marijuana use, distribution, cultivation and production can have an impact on 
health, safety, and community resources and the Code is intended to permit 
marijuana cultivation, distribution, production and testing where it will have a 
minimal impact, and potential negative impacts are minimized. 

(3) Use, distribution, cultivation, production, possession and transportation of 
marijuana remains illegal under federal law, and marijuana remains classified as a 
"Level 1 Controlled Substance" by federal law. 

(4) The General Assembly has indicated that it will adopt enabling legislation that 
will provide for local licensing, however the anticipated state law is not intended 
to address the local impacts of marijuana operations, making it appropriate for 
local regulation of marijuana operations.  

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 21Packet Page     197



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(5) Nothing in this chapter is intended to promote or condone the production, 
distribution or possession of marijuana in violation of any applicable law. 

(6)  This chapter is to be construed to protect the public over marijuana business 
interests.  Operation of a recreational marijuana business is a revocable privilege 
and not a right in the city.  There is no property right for an individual or business 
to have marijuana in the city. 

(7)  Marijuana businesses are a heavily regulated industry in the city, and the city has 
a zero tolerance policy for violations of this chapter. 

(8) This chapter is not intended to replace the Medical Marijuana law in Chapter 6-14 
of this Code, and any person may apply for and operate a medical marijuana 
business pursuant to Chapter 6-14 without complying with this chapter.     

(9) This chapter is intended to specify the time place and manner restrictions for 
operating a recreational marijuana business in the city as specified in the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

(10) The operation of a marijuana business without a license from the city as provided 
in this chapter is prohibited within the city.   

(11) The experience of the city in processing and enforcing medical marijuana 
business licensing evidences that the provisions herein are capable and worthy of 
being carried out in practice by a reasonably prudent businessperson. 

(12) The Colorado Administrative Procedures Act, Article 4 of Title 24 of the 
Colorado Revised Statutes (the “APA”), does not apply to local governments and 
the state has not been able to resource the process thereof in a timely manner.  
The procedures herein for issuance and enforcement of a recreational marijuana 
business license are consistent with the requirements of the APA and have been 
determined by the Boulder District Court to provide the level of due process 
required by the United States and Colorado Constitutions. 

(13) A licensee is not acting in his or her capacity as an owner, employee, or agent of a 
licensed marijuana establishment if the licensee is operating in violation of this 
chapter or any other applicable law. 

(14) The City Council has determined to allow marijuana establishments in the city on 
the condition that the establishments are operated in compliance with this chapter 
rather than banning marijuana establishments in the city as permitted by the 
Recreation Marijuana Amendment.  

(b) Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 
the residents, businesses, and property in the city by prescribing the manner in which recreational 
marijuana businesses can be conducted in the city. Further, the purpose of this chapter is to: 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 22Packet Page     198



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(1) Provide for a means of cultivation, production, and distribution of marijuana to 
persons permitted to obtain, possess and use marijuana for recreational purposes 
under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

(2) Protect public health and safety through reasonable limitations on business 
operations as they relate to noise, air and water quality, food safety, neighborhood 
and public safety, security for the business and its personnel, and other health and 
safety concerns. 

(3) Promote lively street life and high quality neighborhoods by limiting the 
concentration of any one type of business in specific areas. 

(4) Impose fees for licensing recreational marijuana businesses in an amount 
sufficient for the city to recover its costs of the licensing program. 

(5) Adopt a mechanism for monitoring compliance with the provisions of this 
chapter. 

(6) Create regulations that address the particular needs of the residents and businesses 
of the city and coordinate with laws that may be enacted by the state regarding 
recreational marijuana. 

(7) Facilitate the implementation of the Recreational Marijuana Amendment without 
going beyond the authority granted by it. 

(8) Support Boulder’s Sustainability and Climate Action Plan goals by requiring 
renewable sources for energy use to grow recreational marijuana. 

(9) Issue recreational marijuana business licenses only to individuals and entities that 
have demonstrated an intent and ability to comply with this chapter without 
monitoring by city officials. 

(10) Protect public safety and residential areas by limiting the areas of the city where 
more than six marijuana plants may be grown. 

(11) Exclude from the definition of a recreational marijuana business the private 
possession, production and recreational use of marijuana by an individual or the 
private possession, production, distribution and recreational use of marijuana by 
an individual, in the person's residence, to the extent permitted by Article XVIII, 
Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution. 

(12) Designate the city manager as the recreational marijuana licensing authority 
responsible for licensing recreational marijuana for the City of Boulder. 

(c) Relationship to State Law. The provisions in this chapter that are different from the 
applicable state law are consistent with the city's responsibility to protect the public health, safety 
and welfare as authorized by applicable law, and by the home rule authority granted to the city 
by Article XX of the Colorado Constitution and the Charter of the City. The city intends that 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 23Packet Page     199



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

both state law and this chapter apply within the city. Where this chapter conflicts with the state 
law, this chapter shall apply. 

(d) Adoption of this chapter 6-16 is not intended to waive or otherwise impair any portion of 
the local option available under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

6-16-2 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

Advertise means the act of drawing the public’s attention, whether on print, signs or 
electronic means, to a recreational marijuana business in order to promote the sale of 
marijuana by the business.   

Business manager means the individual designated by the owner of the recreational 
marijuana business as the person responsible for all operations of the business in the 
absence of the owner from the business premises.  Business manager shall include any 
person with managerial authority in the business, and any person that has access to lock 
or unlock the safe, to lock or unlock the business, or set or disarm the alarm. 

Cultivation or cultivate means (i) all phases of growth of marijuana from seed to harvest; 
or (ii) preparing, packaging or repackaging, labeling or relabeling of marijuana prior to 
consumption or incorporation into a recreational marijuana-infused product.   

Cultivation facility means a licensed recreational marijuana business that produces and 
harvests marijuana plants for distribution by a licensed recreational marijuana center or a 
licensed recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer.  Except as included in this 
definition, a cultivation facility may not operate any production on its premises. 

Distribute or distribution means the actual, constructive or attempted transfer, delivery, 
sale or dispensing of marijuana to another, with or without remuneration. 

Fermented malt beverage has the same meaning as its meaning under the Colorado Beer 
Code, C.R.S. 12-46-103.   

Financier means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any person 
applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter. Financier shall 
not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit union or industrial bank 
supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal government. 

Licensee means the recreational marijuana business named on the recreational marijuana 
business license, and all individuals named in the recreational marijuana business license 
application or later reported to the city, including without limitation, owners, business 
managers, financiers and individuals owning any part of an entity that holds a financial or 
ownership interest in a recreational marijuana business. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 24Packet Page     200

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-14.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Malt, vinous and spirituous liquor has the same meaning as its meaning under the 
Colorado Liquor Code, C.R.S. 12-47-108. 

Marijuana for this Chapter 6-16 means: 

(i) The  same as set forth in the Recreational Marijuana Amendment; or  

(ii) As may be more fully defined in any applicable state law or regulation. 

Marijuana accessories shall have the same meaning as in the Recreational Marijuana 
Amendment. 

Marijuana business means any medical marijuana business as defined in Chapter 6-14 
 or recreational marijuana business as defined in this chapter. 

Marijuana establishment means a recreational marijuana business that has a license from 
the state and the city to operate. 

Marijuana testing facility means a recreational marijuana business that has been licensed 
as a marijuana testing facility by the state that is in good standing, and has a license in 
good standing with the city.    

Marijuana warehouse means a marijuana establishment that is not licensed by the city as 
a medical marijuana business or a licensed recreational marijuana business.  No 
marijuana warehouses are allowed in the city.   

Place open to the general public means any property owned, leased or used by a public 
entity, and any place on private property open to the public, common areas of buildings, 
private club, vehicles, those portions of any private property upon which the public has 
an express or implied license to enter or remain, and any place visible from such places.  
Place open to the general public shall not include any fenced area of a private residence 
regardless of whether it can be seen from a place open to the public  

Possess or possession means having physical control of an object, or control of the 
premises in which an object is located, or having the power and intent to control an 
object, without regard to whether the one in possession has ownership of the object. 
Possession may be held by more than one person at a time. Use of the object is not 
required for possession. The owner of a recreational marijuana business shall be 
considered in possession of the recreational marijuana business at all times. The business 
manager of a recreational marijuana business shall be considered in possession of the 
recreational marijuana business at all times that the business manager is on the premises 
of the business or has been designated by the owner as the business manager in the 
absence of the owner in accordance with this chapter. 

Premises means a distinct and definite location, which may include a building, a part of a 
building, a room, or any other defined contiguous area. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 25Packet Page     201



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Private club means any location, other than a residence of a person at the residence, or a 
marijuana establishment. 

Produce or production means (i) combining marijuana with any other substance for 
distribution, including storage and packaging for resale; or (ii) preparing, compounding, 
processing, encapsulating, packing or repackaging, labeling or relabeling of marijuana or 
its derivatives, whether alone or mixed with any amount of any other substance.  
Production shall not include packaging or repackaging labeling or relabeling of marijuana 
if no production has occurred and such packaging and labeling qualify as cultivation. 

Recreational marijuana means any marijuana intended for recreational use which meets 
all requirements for recreational marijuana contained in Chapter 6-16 of this code, the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment, and any other applicable law. 

Recreational marijuana amendment means Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado 
Constitution 

Recreational marijuana business means (a) any person that cultivates, produces, 
distributes, possesses, transports or makes available more than six marijuana plants or 
one ounce of marijuana, or (b) any person that sells any amount of marijuana or (c) any 
person who possesses marijuana openly or publicly. The term recreational marijuana 
business shall not include the private cultivation, possession, production or use within a 
person’s residence of no more than (a) six plants in an enclosed, locked space, or (b) one 
ounce of marijuana, or (c) the marijuana produced by no more than six plants on the 
premises where the plants were grown if the plants were grown in an enclosed locked 
space.   

Recreational marijuana center means a licensed recreational marijuana business that 
distributes marijuana to any person or to recreational marijuana-infused product 
manufacturers or to another recreational marijuana center. 

Recreational marijuana-infused product means a product infused with marijuana that is 
processed for use or consumption, including, without limitation, edible products, 
concentrates, ointments, tinctures and any item defined as a “marijuana product” in the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

Recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer means a licensed recreational 
marijuana business that produces recreational marijuana-infused products.  

Recreational marijuana local licensing authority means the city manager. The city 
manager shall be the local licensing authority responsible for processing applications 
under this chapter for the purpose of any state law that requires the city to designate a 
local licensing authority and the recreational marijuana amendment. 

Recreational marijuana plant means a marijuana seed and all parts of the growth 
therefrom including, without limitation, roots, stalks and leaves so long as the flowers, 
roots, stalks and leaves are all connected and in a growing medium. For purposes of this 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 26Packet Page     202



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

chapter, any part of the plant removed is considered harvested and no longer part of a 
recreational marijuana plant, but marijuana. 

Restricted area means the portion of a recreational marijuana business premises within 
which the licensee defines on its application it intends to cultivate, distribute, possess or 
produce recreational marijuana and which area is clearly identified as the restricted area 
on the floor plan submitted with the recreational marijuana business license application 
for the business. 

Violation of any law or violated any law means a plea or finding of a violation of any law 
in a criminal, civil or administrative proceeding, whether part of a plea agreement, 
settlement agreement, or determination by an arbitrator, hearing officer, court or jury. 

6-16-3 License Required. 

(a) License Required. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a recreational marijuana 
business without obtaining a license to operate pursuant to the requirements of this chapter and a 
license in good standing from the state.  

(b) Additional Licenses and Permits May be Required. The license requirement set forth in 
this chapter shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other licensing and permitting 
requirements imposed by any other federal, state or local law, including, by way of example, a 
retail sales and use tax license, a retail food establishment license or any applicable zoning or 
building permit. 

(c) License Does Not Provide any Exception, Defense or Immunity from other Laws. The 
issuance of any license pursuant to this chapter does not create an exception, defense or 
immunity to any person in regard to any potential criminal liability the person may have for the 
production, distribution or possession of marijuana. 

(d) Separate License Required for Each Location. A separate license shall be required for 
each premise from which a recreational marijuana business is operated.  No two or more 
different businesses, including recreational marijuana businesses may be treated as one premise.  
Unless higher performance is required by applicable law, there must be a minimum of a one-hour 
fire separation wall between a recreational marijuana business and any adjacent business.   

(e) License Non-Transferable; Exceptions. A recreational marijuana business license is not 
transferable or assignable, including without limitation, not transferable or assignable to a 
different premise, to a different type of business (including another marijuana business), or to a 
different owner or licensee. A recreational marijuana business license is valid only for the owner 
named thereon, the type of business disclosed on the application for the license, and the location 
for which the license is issued. The licensees of a recreational marijuana business license are 
only those persons disclosed in the application or subsequently disclosed to the city in 
accordance with this chapter.  

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 27Packet Page     203



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(f) Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business.  A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business.  A license for 
a medical marijuana business for which an application was submitted before October 1, 2013, 
may be converted to the same type of marijuana establishment by complying with the 
requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a marijuana license and paying the application fee 
specified in Section 4-20-67 of this code.  The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business license will be issued.   

6-16-4 General Provisions. 

(a) General Licensing Provisions. The general procedures and requirements of licenses, as 
more fully set forth in Chapter 4-1, "General Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, shall apply to 
recreational marijuana business licenses. To the extent there is any conflict between the 
provisions of this chapter and Chapter 4-1, the provisions of this chapter shall control for 
recreational marijuana business licenses. 

(b) Defense to Criminal Prosecutions. Compliance with the requirements of this chapter shall 
not provide an exception, immunity or defense to criminal prosecution under any applicable law, 
except in the Boulder Municipal Court for a violation of this chapter as specifically provided 
herein. 

(c) Insurance Required. The insurance specified in section 4-1-8, "Insurance Required," 
B.R.C. 1981, is required for a license under this chapter. 

(d) Costs of Inspection and Clean-Up. In the event the city incurs costs in the inspection, 
clean-up, surrender of plants, or any other requirements to remove marijuana of any recreational 
marijuana business, or any person cultivating, producing, distributing or possessing marijuana, 
the business and responsible person shall reimburse the city all actual costs incurred by the city 
for such inspection or clean-up. 

(e) Decisions on Application or Revocation Final. The decision of the city manager on an 
application for a recreational marijuana business license or revocation thereof pursuant to this 
chapter shall be the final decision of the city subject only to judicial review pursuant to Colorado 
Rule of Civil Procedure 106(a)(4), unless the notice of the decision includes an opportunity for a 
hearing as provided in Section 1-3-3 of this code. No defense or objection may be presented for 
judicial review unless it is first presented to the city manager prior to the effective date of the 
decision. 

(f) Forfeiture of License.  In the event that a recreational marijuana business does not 
commence operations within 30 days of issuance of a license from the city, the license shall be 
deemed forfeited, and the business may not commence operations. 

(g) Landlord Duty. It shall be unlawful for the owner of a building to lease space or allow the 
use of any portion of the building by a recreational marijuana business unless the tenant has a 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 28Packet Page     204

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm#section4_1_8�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm#section1_3_3�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

valid recreational marijuana business license or has applied for and not been denied a 
recreational marijuana business license or no marijuana is located on the premises until a license 
has been issued by the city. In the event that the city has an articulable reason to believe that a 
recreational marijuana business is being operated in a building, it shall be unlawful for the owner 
of the building to refuse to allow the city access to the portion of the building in which the 
suspected recreational marijuana business is located to determine whether any marijuana is on 
the premises.  

(h) Time Periods for Accepting Applications for Recreational Marijuana Businesses.   

(i) No applications for conversion of a medical marijuana business to a recreational 
marijuana business shall be accepted before June 1, 2014. 

 (ii) No applications for a new recreational marijuana business (that is not a 
conversion from a medical marijuana business for which the application was submitted 
before October 1, 2013) shall be accepted before October 1, 2014.   

6-16-5 Application. 

(a) Application Requirements. An application for a recreational marijuana business license 
shall be made to the city on forms provided by the city manager for that purpose. The applicant 
shall use the application to demonstrate its compliance with this chapter and any other applicable 
law, rule or regulation. In addition to the information required by Chapter 4-1, "General 
Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, the application shall include the following information: 

(1) Name and address of the owner or owners of the recreational marijuana business 
in whose name the license is proposed to be issued. 

A. If an owner is a corporation, the name and address of any officer or 
director of the corporation and of any person holding issued and 
outstanding capital stock of the corporation. 

B. If an owner is a partnership, association or company, the name and address 
of any person holding an interest therein and the managing members. If a 
managing member is an entity rather than an individual, the same 
disclosure shall be required for each entity with an ownership interest until 
a managing member that is a natural person is identified. 

C. If an owner is not a natural person, the organizational documents for all 
entities identified in the application, identification of the natural person 
that is authorized to speak for the entity and contact information for that 
person. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 29Packet Page     205

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(2) Name and address of: 

A. Any business managers of the recreational marijuana business, if the 
business manager is proposed to be someone other than the owner; 

B. All financiers of the recreational marijuana business; and 

C. All agents of the recreational marijuana business who either (I) act with 
managerial authority, (II) provide advice to the recreational marijuana 
business for compensation, or (III) receive periodic compensation totaling 
$1,000 or more in a single year for services related to the recreational 
marijuana business.  It shall be an affirmative defense that the undisclosed 
person was an attorney, accountant, bookkeeper,  mail delivery person, or 
other contractor performing services for the business that are unrelated to 
the cultivation, production, or distribution of recreational marijuana. 

(3) A statement of whether or not any of the named owners, members, business 
managers, financiers, or persons named on the application have been: 

A.  Denied an application for a marijuana business license pursuant to this 
chapter, Chapter 6-14 of this code, or any similar state or local licensing 
law, rule or regulation, or had such a license suspended or revoked. 

B.  Denied an application for a liquor license pursuant to Title 12, Article 47 
or Article 46, C.R.S., or any similar state or local licensing law, or had 
such a license suspended or revoked. 

C. Violated any law, other than a traffic offense, or completed any portion of 
a sentence due to a violation of any law. 

D.  Convicted of driving or operating other machinery under the influence of 
alcohol, drugs or medication, driving while impaired or driving with 
excessive alcohol content in violation of § 42-4-1301, C.R.S., or any 
comparable law, or a misdemeanor related to abuse of alcohol or a 
controlled substance. 

(4) Proof of ownership or legal possession of the restricted area for a recreational 
marijuana business for the term of the proposed license.  If the recreational 
marijuana business is not the owner of the premises of the business, the applicant 
shall provide written authorization to the city from the owner to enter the property 
for inspection of the premises on a form approved by the city.   

(5) Proof of insurance as provided in Section 4-1-8, "Insurance Required," B.R.C. 
1981. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 30Packet Page     206

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm#section4_1_8�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(6) An operating plan for the proposed recreational marijuana business, including the 
following information: 

A. A description of the products and services to be provided by the 
recreational marijuana business. 

B. A dimensioned floor plan, clearly labeled, showing: 

(i) The layout of the structure and the floor plan in which the 
recreational marijuana business is to be located; 

(ii) The principal uses of the floor area depicted on the floor plan, 
including but not limited to the areas where underage persons will 
be permitted, private consulting areas, storage areas, retail areas, 
and restricted areas where recreational marijuana will be located; 

(iii) Areas where any services other than the distribution of recreational 
marijuana are proposed to occur in the premises; and 

(iv) The separation of the areas that are open to persons who are 
underage from those areas open to persons qualified to use 
marijuana. 

C. A neighborhood responsibility plan that demonstrates how the business 
will fulfill its responsibilities to the neighborhood, including neighborhood 
outreach, methods for future communication and dispute resolution. 

D. For cultivation facilities and recreational marijuana-infused product 
manufacturers, a plan that specifies the methods to be used to prevent the 
growth of harmful mold and compliance with limitations on discharge into 
the wastewater system of the city as set forth in Chapter 11-3, "Industrial 
and Prohibited Discharges," B.R.C. 1981. 

E. For a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer or a 
recreational marijuana testing facility, a plan that specifies all means to be 
used for extraction, heating, washing, or otherwise changing the form of 
the recreational marijuana plant, or testing any marijuana, and verification 
of compliance with all applicable laws for ventilation and safety measures 
for each process.  The city shall require the recreational marijuana 
business to obtain a report from an industrial hygienist to verify that the 
plan submitted, and the improvements to be constructed, adequately 
protect the business and adjacent properties and persons and comply with 
all applicable laws. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 31Packet Page     207

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter11-3.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

F. The maximum amount of marijuana or marijuana-infused products that 
may be on the business premises.   

(7) A security plan indicating how the applicant will comply with the requirements of 
this chapter and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. The security plan 
includes specialized details of security arrangements and will be protected from 
disclosure as provided under the Colorado Open Records Act, § 24-72-
203(2)(a)(VIII), C.R.S. If the city finds that such documents are subject to 
inspection, it will attempt to provide at least twenty-four-hour notice to the 
applicant prior to such disclosure. 

(8) A lighting plan showing the lighting outside of the recreational marijuana 
business for security purposes and compliance with applicable city requirements. 

(9) A zoning confirmation form from the city, to ascertain within a radius of one-
quarter mile from the boundaries of the property upon which the recreational 
marijuana business is located, the proximity of the property to any school or other 
facility identified in this chapter, or state licensed child care center, to any other 
marijuana business or to any residential zone district or a mixed-use development 
containing one or more residences.  

(10) Fingerprints and personal histories as may be specified on forms provided by the 
city manager. This requirement shall apply to all owners, business managers, and 
financiers employed by or under contract to provide services to the recreational 
marijuana business, including all individuals who have an interest as described 
herein of any portion of the recreational marijuana business, directly or as an 
agent, or a member, partner or officer of a corporation, partnership, association or 
company, and the reports from the Colorado and Federal Bureaus of Investigation 
for each person. 

(11) A plan for disposal of any recreational marijuana or recreational marijuana-
infused product that is not sold in a manner that protects any portion thereof from 
being possessed or ingested by any person or animal. 

(12) A plan for ventilation of the recreational marijuana business that describes the 
ventilation systems that will be used to prevent any odor of recreational marijuana 
off the premises of the business. For recreational marijuana businesses that grow 
recreational marijuana plants, such plan shall also include all ventilation systems 
used to control the environment for the plants and describe how such systems 
operate with the systems preventing any odor leaving the premises.  For 
recreational marijuana businesses that produce recreational marijuana infused 
products, such plan shall also include all ventilation systems used to mitigate 
noxious gases or other fumes used or created as part of the production process.   

(13) A description of all toxic, flammable or other materials regulated by a federal, 
state or local government that would have authority over the business if it was not 
a marijuana business, that will be used, kept, or created at the recreational 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 32Packet Page     208



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

marijuana business, the location of such materials and how such materials will be 
stored. 

(14) A description of the process(es) used to extract or distill marijuana from its source 
and the process used to incorporate marijuana into all products produced, 
including verifying compliance of all processes regulated by a federal state or 
local government that would have authority over the business if it was not a 
marijuana business. 

(15) A statement of the amount of the projected daily average and peak electric load 
anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the landlord and 
utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric 
load, or necessary upgrades will be performed prior to final inspection of the 
premises. 

(16) For applications for a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer, the 
location of the cultivation facility which will supply the marijuana for processing 
in the city owned by the licensee. 

(b) Evidence of Rehabilitation May Be Submitted. In the event the history of an owner, 
member, business manager, financier, or other person named on the application contains 
information regarding violations of any law, or previous denial or revocation of a license, that 
person may include with the license application any information regarding such violation, denial 
or revocation. Such information may include, but is not limited to, evidence of rehabilitation, 
character references and educational achievements, and other regulatory licenses held without 
compliance violations, especially those items pertaining to the period of time between the 
applicant's last violation of any law and the date of the application. 

(c) Fee Required. Unless the state has forwarded the application fee pursuant to Colorado 
Constitution art. XVIII, § 16(5)(g)(II) to the city, the applicant shall submit the  application fee 
set forth in Section 4-20-67, B.R.C., 1981 to the city.  In addition to the application fee, in the 
event a recreational marijuana business license application is approved by the city, such license 
shall not be issued until the applicant has provided the license fee for the first year of the license 
in the amount required by Section 4-20-67,  B.R.C. 1981, and any other applicable fees. 

(d) Inspection. An inspection of the proposed recreational marijuana business by the city 
shall be required prior to issuance of a license. Such inspection shall occur after the premises are 
ready for operation, but prior to the stocking of the business with any recreational marijuana, and 
prior to the opening of the business to the public. The inspection is to verify that the business 
facilities are constructed and can be operated in accordance with the application submitted and 
the applicable requirements of the code and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. 

(e) Complete Application. For purposes of this chapter an application shall not be considered 
complete until the city manager has (i) determined that all requirements of the application have 
been provided to the city, (ii) received the reports from the fingerprint cards of each person 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 33Packet Page     209

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-20.htm#section4_20_64�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

required to submit such cards from the Colorado and Federal Bureaus of Investigation,   (iii) 
received the local share of $2,500 for the application fee from the state and (iv) obtained all other 
information the city manager determines necessary to make a decision whether to approve or 
deny the license application, or approve it with conditions.   

(f) Approval Requirements. The city manager may issue a recreational marijuana business 
license if the inspection, background checks and all other information available to the city verify 
that the applicant has submitted a full and complete application, has made improvements to the 
business location consistent with the application, is prepared to operate the business with other 
owners and managers as set forth in the application, and has submitted the annual operating fee, 
all in compliance with this Code and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. The city 
manager will deny any application that does not meet the requirements of this chapter or any 
other applicable law, rule or regulation or that contains any false or incomplete information. The 
conditions of an approval of a recreational marijuana business license shall include, at a 
minimum, operation of the business in compliance with all of the plans and information made 
part of the application. 

6-16-6 Persons Prohibited as Licensees and Business Managers. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any of the following persons to have an ownership or a financial 
interest in a recreational marijuana business, and no license provided by this chapter shall be 
issued to or held by, and no recreational marijuana business shall be managed by: 

(1) Any person until the annual fee for the license has been paid; 

(2) Any person not of good moral character; 

(3) Any corporation, any of whose officers, directors or stockholders are not of good 
moral character; 

(4) Any partnership, association or company, any of whose officers or members 
holding an interest therein, or a managing member, are not of good moral 
character; 

(5) Any person employing, assisted by or financed in whole or in part by any other 
person who is not of good moral character; 

(6) Any person, unless such person's character, record and reputation are satisfactory 
to the city manager; 

(7) Any natural person who is under twenty-one years of age;  

(8) Any person who operates or manages a recreational marijuana business contrary 
to the provisions of this chapter, any other applicable law, rule or regulation, or 
conditions imposed on land use or license approvals, or contrary to the terms of 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 34Packet Page     210



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

the plans submitted with the license application, as such plans may be amended as 
provided in this chapter, or has operated a business in violation of any law; 

(9) A person licensed to operate a recreational marijuana center in the city pursuant to 
this chapter; 

(10) A person licensed pursuant to this article who, during a period of licensure, or 
who, at the time of application, has failed to remedy an outstanding delinquency 
for taxes owed, or an outstanding delinquency for judgments owed to a 
government; 

(11) A sheriff, deputy, police officer, or prosecuting officer, or an officer or employee 
of the state licensing authority or a local licensing authority; 

(12) A person whose authority to be a primary caregiver as defined in § 25-1.5-106(2), 
C.R.S. has been revoked by the state health agency;  

(13) A person that is a licensee for the application location that is currently licensed as 
a retail food establishment or a wholesale food registrant.  

(b) In making the evaluation of the good moral character of an individual identified on an 
application or amendment thereof, the city manager shall consider the following: 

(1) An applicant’s violation of a law shall not, by itself, be grounds for denying an 
application; 

(2) Verification of, or lack of ability to verify, items disclosed by the individual; 

(3) When an individual has a history of violation of any law, or a history including 
denial, revocation or suspension of a license, the types and dates of violations; the 
evidence of rehabilitation, if any, submitted by the individual; whether the 
violations of any laws are related to moral turpitude, substance abuse or other 
violations of any laws that may directly affect the individual's ability to operate a 
recreational marijuana business; or whether the violations of any law are 
unrelated to the individual's ability to operate such a business; 

(4) The evidence or lack of evidence regarding the ability of the individual to refrain 
from being under the influence of intoxicating or controlled substances while 
performing regular tasks and operating a recreational marijuana business; 

(5) Rules adopted by the city manager to implement this chapter; 

(6) Law, rules and regulations applicable to evaluation of other types of licenses 
issued by governments that consider the good moral character of the applicants; 
and 

(7) Any additional information the city manager may request of the individual if the 
individual has a violation of any laws, evidence of substance abuse issue, or items 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 35Packet Page     211



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

disclosed by the individual which require additional information in order for the 
city manager to make a determination regarding issuance of the license. 

6-16-7 Locations of Recreational Marijuana Businesses. 

(a) Fixed Location Required. It shall be unlawful to operate a recreational marijuana 
business or to grow recreational marijuana outside of a locked enclosed space within a building. 
All recreational marijuana business licenses shall be issued for a specific fixed location within an 
enclosed building. The portion of such premises upon which the floor plan shows recreational 
marijuana may be produced, dispensed or possessed shall be considered the "restricted area" 
portion of the business premises. 

(b) Location – Permitted Use in Zoning District. A recreational marijuana business license 
may be issued only if the business qualifies as a use permitted as a matter of right in the zone 
district where it is proposed to be located as follows: 

(1) as "personal service” for a recreational marijuana center; or 

(2) as "greenhouse/nursery" for a cultivation facility; or  

(3) as "manufacturing ≤15,000 square feet" for a cultivation facility or for a 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer. 

(c) No Recreational Marijuana Business in Building with Residences or Residential Zone 
Districts.  It shall be unlawful to operate a recreational marijuana business in a building which 
contains a residence, or within a dwelling unit within any zone district, or within a residential 
zone district or on the premises of a development within a mixed-use zone district that includes a 
residence, as such districts are described in Table 5-1 of Section 9-5-2, "Zoning Districts," 
B.R.C., 1981.  

(d) No Retail Sales in Cultivation Facilities or Manufacturing. It shall be unlawful for any 
person to permit retail sales within a recreational marijuana business that is not a licensed 
recreational marijuana center. 

(e)   Separation From Schools and Other Facilities. No recreational marijuana business 
license shall be issued for the following locations: 

(1) Within 1000 feet of any public or private elementary, vocational, secondary 
school, or a college, university, or a state licensed day care center. Distances shall 
be measured by the city on official maps as the radius from the closest points on 
the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point of the property of the 
school or named facility.  

(2) Within 500 feet of three other marijuana businesses. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 36Packet Page     212

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-5.htm#section9_5_2�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

A. Distances shall be measured by the city on official maps as the radius from 
the closet points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest 
point of the property of any other recreational marijuana business. 

B. To determine the proximity to other recreational marijuana businesses and 
the priority of applications, businesses shall have priority in the following 
order: 

(i) Licensed medical marijuana businesses;  

(ii) Marijuana establishment;  

(iii) Businesses for either medical or recreational business whose 
applications have been approved but licenses not yet issued;  

(iv) Applications for medical or recreational marijuana business 
licenses that have been submitted by the applicant and declared 
complete by the city; 

(v) No other applications shall be considered "businesses" for this 
determination. 

C. Businesses that convert from a medical marijuana business pursuant to 
section 3(f) of this chapter are not subject to this limitation.  This 
exception is not transferrable. 

(f) Limitations on Dual Licenses. A recreational marijuana business license may not be 
issued for any location which also is a part of the restricted area of a business holding a 
beverages license pursuant to Section 4-2-3, "Authority to Issue City Licenses," B.R.C. 1981 or a 
marijuana business license under this chapter or Chapter 6-14 "Medical Marijuana." 

(g) Limitations on Recreational Marijuana Centers. The following shall be the minimum 
requirements for a recreational marijuana center: 

(1) The area of the business is ≤3,000 square feet, and the restricted area components 
of the required security and all paper and electronic records are 1,000 square feet 
or less; 

(2) The business does not sell or distribute anything other than marijuana and 
marijuana products or marijuana accessories; 

(3) There is a separate reception area for verification of age. 

(h) Limitations on Recreational Marijuana-Infused Product Manufacturers.  No recreational 
marijuana-infused product manufacturer shall be allowed in the city unless the same licensee has 
a recreational marijuana cultivation facility located in the city. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 37Packet Page     213

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-2.htm#section4_2_3�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

6-16-8 Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses. 

(a) Onsite Use Prohibited. No marijuana shall be smoked, eaten or otherwise consumed or 
ingested within the recreational marijuana business. 

(b) Restriction on Access to Restricted Area. No person under twenty-one years of age shall 
be in the restricted area.  No person shall be allowed entry into the restricted area without 
showing a valid picture ID.  The business shall have a scanner approved by the police 
department to verify the legitimacy of the ID. 

(c) Display of Licenses Required. The name and contact information for the owner or owners 
and any business manager of the recreational marijuana business, the recreational marijuana 
business license and the sales tax business license shall be conspicuously posted in the business. 

(d) Business Conducted Within Building. Any and all cultivation, production, distribution, 
possession, storage, display, sales or other distribution of marijuana shall occur only within the 
restricted area of a recreational marijuana business and shall not be visible from the exterior of 
the business. 

(e) Owner or Business Manager Required on Premises. No recreational marijuana business 
shall be managed by any person other than the licensee or the business manager listed on the 
application for the license or a renewal thereof. Such licensee or business manager shall be on 
the premises and responsible for all activities within the licensed business during all times when 
the business is open or in the possession of another person. In the event the licensee intends to 
employ a business manager that was not identified on the license or renewal application, the 
licensee shall report the name of such business manager to the city, and such business manager 
shall submit to the city, at least thirty days prior to commencing serving as the business manager, 
an application containing all of the information required by this chapter and on the license 
application. Such licensee shall report to the city any change in business managers at least thirty 
days prior to employing an additional business manager, and no more than five days after a 
business manager is released from such position. 

(f) Hours of Operation. A recreational marijuana center shall be closed to the public, and no 
sale, or other distribution of marijuana shall occur upon the premises or via delivery from the 
premises, between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. 

(g) Use of Pesticides. No pesticides or insecticides which are prohibited by applicable law 
for fertilization or production of edible produce shall be used on any marijuana cultivated, 
produced, or distributed by a recreational marijuana business. A recreational marijuana business 
shall comply with all applicable law regarding use of pesticides including without limitation, 
Chapter 6-10, "Pesticide Use," B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 38Packet Page     214



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(h) Ventilation Required. A recreational marijuana business shall be ventilated so that the 
odor of marijuana cannot be detected by a person with a normal sense of smell at the exterior of 
the recreational marijuana business or at any adjoining use or property. 

(i) Renewable Energy Usage Required. A recreational marijuana cultivation facility shall 
directly offset 100% of its electricity consumption through the purchase of renewable energy in 
the form of Windsource, a verified subscription in a Community Solar Garden or renewable 
energy generated onsite, or an equivalent that is subject to approval by the city. 

(j) Limitations on Inventory. The recreational marijuana business shall not maintain any 
more marijuana within the premises than the amount stated on the business’ license application 
to the state and city.  No plants shall be located in a recreational marijuana center or a 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer. In addition, the establishment shall not 
maintain any more marijuana within the restricted area than: 

Cultivation facility:  1,000 plants  

MIP: 600 pounds of marijuana that has not been incorporated into a product and  
150 pounds of recreational marijuana infused products. 

 
Testing facility:  100 pounds of raw marijuana and  

100 pounds of marijuana infused product  

(k) Reporting Requirements. A recreational marijuana business shall report to the 
recreational marijuana licensing authority each of the following within the time specified.  If no 
time is specified, the report shall be provided within 72 hours of the event. 

(1) transfer or change of financial interest, business manager, or financier in the 
license to the city at least thirty days before the transfer or change.  

(2) sales and taxable transactions and file sales and use tax reports to the city 
monthly. 

(3)  a violation of any law by any licensee or applicant of a recreational marijuana 
business. 

(4)  a notice of potential violation of any law related to the  licensee. 

(5)  any report that the recreational marijuana business is required to provide to the 
state. 

(6)  reports of all criminal activities or attempts of violation of any law at the 
recreational marijuana business or related thereto shall be reported to the Boulder 
Police Department within 12 hours of occurrence. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 39Packet Page     215

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-10.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(l) No Sales Except Directly to User; No Deliveries.   All sales of recreational marijuana 
shall be made in person in the restricted area of a recreational marijuana center.  All sales shall 
be in person, directly to the purchaser.  No sales shall be made via telephone, internet or other 
means of remote purchase.  Deliveries shall occur only in person to the purchaser at the time of 
purchase in the restricted area of a recreational marijuana center.  

(m) Delivery Between Recreational Marijuana Businesses. It shall be unlawful for any person 
to transport recreational marijuana, except as specifically allowed by applicable law, unless the 
recreational marijuana being transported meets the following requirements: 

(1) All recreational marijuana-infused products are hand-packaged, sealed and 
labeled as provided in this chapter and the products stored in closed containers 
that are labeled as provided in this section. 

(2) All recreational marijuana in a usable form is packaged and stored in closed 
containers that are labeled as provided in this section. 

(3) Each container used to transport recreational marijuana is labeled with the amount 
of recreational marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused products, or the 
number and size of the plants, in the container. The label shall include the name 
and address of the recreational marijuana business that the recreational marijuana 
is being transported from and the name and address of the recreational marijuana 
business that the recreational marijuana is being transported to. The label shall be 
shown to any law enforcement officer that requests to see the label. 

(4) Unless otherwise specifically allowed by applicable law, recreational marijuana 
may be transported with proper bill of sale completed before transport only: 

(A) From a cultivation facility to a recreational marijuana center or 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer, and which 
recreational marijuana business is owned by the same person as owns the 
cultivation facility; or 

(B) Between one recreational marijuana center to another center; or 

(C) Between a recreational marijuana infused product manufacturer and a 
recreational marijuana center. 

(5) The recreational marijuana must be accompanied by the manifest and 
confirmation e-mail from the state in accordance with state requirements for 
transportation of recreational marijuana.    

(6) The recreational marijuana must be accompanied by the e-mail receipt 
confirmation from the Boulder Police Department in accordance with the rules 
therefore established by the police department. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 40Packet Page     216



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(7) When determining and reporting the route for delivery, licensees should select the 
most direct route that provides efficiency and safety.  

(8) Transport may occur only during the hours allowed for operation of the center. 

(n) Disposal of Recreational Marijuana and Marijuana Byproducts. All recreational 
marijuana and any product containing a usable form of marijuana must be made unusable and 
unrecognizable prior to removal from the business in compliance with all applicable laws.  This 
provision shall not apply to licensed law enforcement, including without limitation the Boulder 
Police Department and the Boulder Fire Department. 

(o) Possession of Mature Flowering Plants. No more than one-half of the recreational 
marijuana plants within a recreational marijuana business may be mature, flowering plants. 

(p) Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal to minors.   The following conditions shall 
apply:  

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection (1), it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any recreational 
marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where 
the advertisement is in plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, 
including advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other 
outdoor general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign 
mounted on a vehicle, any hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, 
leaflet or flier directly handed to any person  in a public place, left upon a motor 
vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property.  The prohibition set forth 
in this paragraph (1) shall not apply to: 

A. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center 
which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the 
recreational marijuana center and which otherwise complies with this 
Code and any other applicable city laws and regulations; or 

B.  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet; or 

C.  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a recreational marijuana center or a recreational marijuana- infused 
products manufacturer. 

(2) It is an affirmative defense if a recreational marijuana business employee 
provided another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of 
providing that person’s name and business affiliation, including without 
restriction title, mailing address, email address, and telephone number.  

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 41Packet Page     217



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(q) The owner or a business manager of a recreational marijuana business is required to 
respond by phone or email within 24 hours of contact by a city official concerning its 
recreational marijuana business at the phone number or e-mail address provided to the city as the 
contact for the business.  Each 24 hour period during which an owner or manager does not 
respond to the city official shall be considered a separate violation. 

(r) Separation of Cultivation Facility and Recreational Marijuana-Infused Product 
Manufacturer.  A cultivation facility and manufacturer are separate marijuana businesses 
requiring separate licenses and separate premises.  In addition to all other application 
requirements for separate premises, each business shall  

(1)  have separate operations, ventilation, security, and fire suppression systems, and 
separate access from a public area; and  

(2)  be divided within a building from floor to roof.  Unless higher performance is 
required by applicable law, there must be a minimum of a one-hour fire separation 
between a recreational marijuana business and any adjacent business; 

(3)  obtain delivery documents and manifests for movement of any marijuana between 
the cultivation facility and the manufacturer.   

(s)   Additional Requirements for Testing or Production of Recreational Marijuana.   

(1)  No recreational marijuana business may use metals, butane, propane, or other 
solvent or flammable product, or produce flammable vapors to process marijuana 
unless the process used and the premises are verified as safe and in compliance 
with all applicable codes by a qualified industrial hygienist.   

(2)  The city shall require the business to obtain verification from a qualified industrial 
hygienist that the manner in which the business is producing recreational 
marijuana complies with all applicable laws and does not produce noxious or 
dangerous gases or odors or otherwise create a danger to any person or entity in or 
near the businesses.   

(t) Packaging at a Recreational Marijuana Center.  Provided that recreational marijuana has 
been delivered to a recreational marijuana center from a cultivation facility packaged and labeled 
as provided in this chapter, employees at a recreational marijuana center may package and label 
any marijuana that results from the sale of recreational marijuana in amounts less than as 
packaged for delivery to the center. 

(u) Packaging of Marijuana-Infused Product.  Unless the actual amount of marijuana in a 
marijuana-infused product is contained on the label of the packaged product, any product over 
one ounce shall be presumed to have more than one ounce of marijuana in the product.  

(v) Scanner for proof of age.  The business shall verify the proof of age of every person 
entering the business with an electronic ID scanner.  An “electronic ID scanner” is a device that 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 42Packet Page     218



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

is capable of quickly and reliably confirming the validity of an identification using computer 
processes. 

6-16-9 Right of Entry – Records to be Maintained. 

(a)  Records to Be Maintained. Each licensee shall keep a complete set of books of account, 
invoices, copies of orders and sales, shipping instructions, bills of lading, weigh bills, 
correspondence, bank statements including cancelled checks and deposit slips and all other 
records necessary to show fully the business transactions of such licensee. Receipts shall be 
maintained in a computer program or by pre-numbered receipts and use for each sale. The 
records of the business shall clearly track recreational marijuana product inventory purchased 
and sales and disposal thereof to clearly track revenue from sales of any recreational marijuana 
from other paraphernalia or services offered by the recreational marijuana business. The licensee 
shall also maintain inventory records evidencing that no more recreational marijuana was within 
the recreational marijuana business than allowed by applicable law. All such records shall be 
open at all times during business hours for the inspection and examination of the city or its duly 
authorized representatives. The city may require any licensee to furnish such information as it 
considers necessary for the proper administration of this chapter. The records shall clearly show 
the source, amount, price and dates of all marijuana received or purchased, and the amount, 
price, and dates for all recreational marijuana sold. 

(b)  Separate Bank Accounts. The revenues and expenses of the recreational marijuana 
business shall not be commingled in a checking account or any other bank account with any 
other business or individual person's deposits or disbursements. 

(c)  Disclosure of Records. By applying for a recreational marijuana business license, the 
licensee is providing consent to disclose the information required by this chapter. Any document 
that the applicant considers eligible for protection under the Colorado Open Records Act shall be 
clearly marked as confidential, and the reasons for such confidentiality shall be stated on the 
document. In the event that the licensee does appropriately submit documents so as not to be 
disclosed under the Colorado Open Records Act, the city shall not disclose it to other parties who 
are not agents of the city, except law enforcement agencies. If the city finds that such documents 
are subject to inspection, it will attempt to provide at least twenty-four-hour notice to the 
applicant prior to such disclosure. 

(d)  Audits. The city may require an audit to be made of the books of account and records of a 
recreational marijuana business on such occasions as it may consider necessary. Such audit may 
be made by an auditor to be selected by the city that shall likewise have access to all books and 
records of the recreational marijuana business. The expense of any audit determined necessary 
by the city shall be paid by the recreational marijuana business.  

(e)  Consent to Inspection.  Application for a recreational marijuana business license or 
operation of a recreational marijuana business, or leasing property to a recreational marijuana 
business constitutes consent by the applicant, and all owners, managers and employees of the 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 43Packet Page     219



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

business, and the owner of the property to permit the city manager to conduct routine inspections 
of the recreational marijuana business to ensure compliance with this chapter or any other 
applicable law, rule or regulation.  The owner or business manager on duty shall retrieve and 
provide the records of the business pertaining to the inspection, including the security tapes from 
the cameras required by the security plan.  For purposes of Rule 241 of the Colorado Rules of 
Municipal Procedure and Section 2-6-3(e) of this Code, inspections of recreational marijuana 
businesses and recordings from security cameras in such businesses are part of the routine policy 
of inspection and enforcement of this chapter for the purpose of protecting the public safety, 
individuals operating and using the services of the recreational marijuana business, and the 
adjoining properties and neighborhood, as provided in Section 6-14-1.  Application for a 
recreational marijuana business license constitutes consent to inspection of the business as a 
public premise without a search warrant, and consent to seizure of any surveillance records, 
camera recordings, reports or other materials required as a condition of a recreational marijuana 
license without a search warrant.   

(f) Reporting of Source, Quantity and Sales.  The records to be maintained by each 
recreational marijuana business shall include the source and quantity of any marijuana 
distributed, produced or possessed within the premises.  Such reports shall include, without 
limitation, for both acquisitions from wholesalers and retail sales transactions, the following: 

 (1)  Date, weight, type of marijuana and dollar amount or other consideration of 
transaction; and 

 (2) For wholesale transactions, the Colorado, and city if any, sales and use tax license 
number of the seller; and 

 (3)  The amount of marijuana within the restricted area. 

(g) Reporting of Energy Use and Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Purchases.  The records to 
be maintained by each recreational marijuana business shall include without limitation records 
showing on a monthly basis the use and source of energy and the number of certified Renewable 
Energy Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy 
acquisition program approved by the city manager.  A statement of the projected daily average 
peak electric load anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the building 
owner or landlord and utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required 
electric load, or necessary upgrades will be performed.  Such records shall include all statements, 
reports or receipts to verify the items included in the report of the business.  By application for a 
recreational marijuana business license from the city, the recreational marijuana business grants 
permission to providers of the energy or point of origin of the RECs or other renewable energy 
acquisition program to disclose the records of the business to the city.   For recreational 
marijuana business that cultivate recreational marijuana the report shall include the number of 
certified Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another 
renewable energy acquisition program approved by the city manager.   

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 44Packet Page     220



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

6-16-10 Requirements Related to Monitoring and Security of Restricted Areas and 
Inventory. 

All components of the security plan submitted with the application, as it may be amended, shall 
be in good working order, monitored and secured 24-hours per day.  A separate security system 
is required for each business.  The security plan must include, at a minimum, the following 
security measures: 

(a) Cameras.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use security cameras to 
monitor and record all areas of the premises (except in restrooms), and where persons may gain 
or attempt to gain access to marijuana or cash maintained by the recreational marijuana business.  
Cameras shall record operations of the business to the off-site location, as well as all potential 
areas of ingress or egress to the business with sufficient detail to identify facial features and 
clothing.  Recordings from security cameras shall be maintained for a minimum of forty days in 
a secure off-site location in the city or through a service over a network that provides on-demand 
access, commonly referred to as a “cloud.”  The off-site location shall be included in the security 
plan submitted to the city and provided to the Boulder Police Department upon request, and 
updated within 72 hours of any change of such location.  

(b)  Use of Safe for Storage.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use a safe 
for storage of any processed marijuana and cash on the premises when the business is closed to 
the public.  The safe shall be incorporated into the building structure or securely attached thereto.  
For recreational marijuana infused products that must be kept refrigerated or frozen, the business 
may lock the refrigerated container or freezer in a manner authorized by the city in place of use 
of a safe so long as the container is affixed to the building structure.   

(c)  Alarm System.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use an alarm system 
that is monitored by a company that is staffed twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a 
week.  The security plan submitted to the city shall identify the company monitoring the alarm, 
including contact information, and updated within 72 hours of any change of monitoring 
company.  

6-16-11 Requirements for Public Health and Labeling. 

(a) Recreational Marijuana-Infused Products. The production of any recreational marijuana-
infused product shall be at a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer that meets all 
requirements of a retail food establishment as set forth in § 25-4-1601, et seq., C.R.S., the Food 
Protection Act. The production of any product containing recreational marijuana shall comply 
with all health and safety standards thereof. The licensee shall comply with all applicable state 
and local health regulations related to the production, preparation, labeling and sale of prepared 
food items as if the recreational marijuana infused products were food items. 

(b) Labeling and Packaging Requirements. All recreational marijuana sold or otherwise 
distributed by the licensee shall be packaged and labeled in a manner that advises the purchaser 
that it contains marijuana and specifies the amount of marijuana in the product, and that the 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 45Packet Page     221



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

marijuana is intended for use solely by a person lawfully possessing recreational marijuana. The 
label shall be in compliance with all applicable requirements of the state. 

(c)  The product shall be packaged in a sealed container that cannot be opened without 
obvious damage to the packaging. 

6-16-12 Compliance with Other Applicable Law. 

(a)  Application of State Law. Except as may be provided otherwise in this chapter, or rules 
adopted pursuant to this chapter or interpretations by the city, any law or regulation adopted by 
the state governing the cultivation, production, possession or distribution of marijuana for 
recreational use shall also apply to recreational marijuana businesses in the city. Provided 
however, if a state law or regulation permits what this chapter prohibits, this chapter shall 
prevail. Compliance with any applicable state law or regulation that does not permit what this 
chapter prohibits shall be deemed an additional requirement for issuance or denial of any license 
under this chapter, and noncompliance with any applicable state law or regulation is unlawful 
and shall be grounds for revocation or suspension of any license issued under this chapter. No 
recreational marijuana business shall continue operations in violation of an additional state law 
or regulation, which does not permit what this chapter prohibits, applicable within the city after 
the effective date of the state law or regulation. 

(b)  Revocation of License Upon Denial or Revocation of State License or Applicable Federal 
Prohibition. If the state prohibits the cultivation, production, possession or other distribution of 
marijuana through recreational marijuana businesses, or if a recreational marijuana business is 
denied a recreational marijuana business license or has such license revoked pursuant to § 12-
43.3-101, et seq., C.R.S. or if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the federal 
government's prohibition of the cultivation, production, possession or other distribution of 
marijuana through recreational marijuana businesses supersedes state law, any license issued 
pursuant to this chapter shall be deemed to be immediately revoked by operation of law, with no 
ground for appeal or other redress on behalf of the licensee. 

(c)   Revocable Privilege.  A recreational marijuana business license is a revocable privilege, 
and no applicant therefore or holder thereof shall be deemed to have acquired any property 
interest therein. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 46Packet Page     222



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

6-16-13 Prohibited Acts. 

(a)  Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to:   

(1)  Cultivate, distribution, possess, produce, smoke, use or ingest marijuana in plain 
view of, or in a place open to the general public.  

(2)  Smoke, use or ingest on the premises of the recreational marijuana business (1) 
marijuana, (2) fermented malt beverage, (3) malt, vinous and spirituous liquor,  or 
(4) a controlled substance, except in compliance with the directions on a legal 
prescription for the person from a doctor with prescription writing privileges. 

(3)  Operate or be in physical control of any recreational marijuana business, liquor 
establishment, vehicle, aircraft or motorboat while under the influence of alcohol 
or marijuana, or other intoxicant. 

(4)  Possess more than six marijuana plants without a recreational marijuana business 
license for a cultivation facility.  

(5)  Possess more than one ounce of a usable form of marijuana without a recreational 
marijuana business license for a center or a recreational marijuana-infused 
product manufacturer.    

(6)  Obtain marijuana for remuneration from a person who is not licensed as a 
recreational marijuana business. 

(7)  Possess or operate a recreational marijuana business in violation of this chapter. 

(8)  Produce, distribute or possess more marijuana than allowed in this chapter, or 
than disclosed in the application to the state for a recreational marijuana business 
license, or other applicable law. 

(9)  Distribute marijuana for remuneration without a recreational marijuana business 
license or outside of the restricted area of the recreational marijuana business. 

(10)  Possess recreational marijuana, or own or manage a recreational marijuana 
business, or own or manage a building with a recreational marijuana business, 
where there is possession of recreational marijuana, by a person who is not 
lawfully permitted to possess recreational marijuana. 

(11)  Possess or operate a recreational marijuana business in a location or in a manner 
for which a recreational marijuana business license is prohibited by the terms of 
this chapter.  

(12)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without a recreational marijuana 
business license from the city. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 47Packet Page     223



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(13)  Operate a recreational marijuana business in a manner that is not consistent with 
the items disclosed in the application for the recreational marijuana business, or is 
in violation of any plan made part of the license application.  

(14)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without disclosing, in the application 
for a recreational marijuana business license or an amendment thereto, an agent 
who either (I) acts with managerial authority, (II) provides advice to the 
recreational marijuana business for compensation, or (III) receives periodic 
compensation totaling $1,000 or more in a single year for services related to the 
recreational marijuana business.  It shall be an affirmative defense that the 
undisclosed person was an attorney, accountant, bookkeeper, or mail delivery 
person. 

(15)  Own or manage a recreational marijuana business where distribution occurs of a 
marijuana-infused product that was produced in a manner that is not in 
compliance with this chapter.  

(16)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without a recreational marijuana 
business license prior to passing the inspection required by this chapter.   

(17)  Make any changes, or for the licensee to allow any changes, to the items included 
in the plans submitted with the license application and approved by the city, or the 
individuals identified in the application, without prior approval of the city. 

(18)  Attempt to use or display a recreational marijuana business license at a different 
location or for a different business entity than the location and business entity 
disclosed on the application for the issued license. 

(19)  Own or manage a recreational marijuana business in which another person 
cultivates, produces, distributes or possesses marijuana, in violation of this 
chapter or any other applicable law. 

(20)  Allow an owner or business manager that has not been disclosed to the city as 
required by this chapter to operate the business. 

(21)  Own, manage or possess a recreational marijuana business where marijuana is 
outside of the restricted area portion of such business.  

(22)  Possess a number of flowering plants that is more than one-half of the recreational 
marijuana plants that are lawfully possessed by a person.  

(23)  Dispose of marijuana or any byproduct of marijuana containing marijuana in a 
manner contrary to this chapter. 

(24)  Distribute a marijuana plant to any person. 

(25)  Deliver or transport marijuana to a person or between recreational marijuana 
businesses in a manner contrary to this chapter or other law. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 48Packet Page     224



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(26)  Refuse to allow inspection of a recreational marijuana business upon request of a 
city employee.  Any licensee, owner, business manager, or operator of a 
recreational marijuana business, or the owner of the property where a recreational 
marijuana business is located, may be charged with this violation. 

(27)  Advertise or publish materials or display signs that are in violation of this code. 

(28)  Violate any provision of this code or any condition of an approval granted 
pursuant to this code or any law, rule or regulation applicable to the use of 
recreational marijuana or the operation of a recreational marijuana business. 

(29)  Permit any other person to violate any provision of this code or any condition of 
an approval granted pursuant to this code, or any law, rule or regulation 
applicable to the use of recreational marijuana or the operation of a recreational 
marijuana business. 

(30) Lease any property to a recreational marijuana business that has marijuana on the 
property without a recreational marijuana business license from the city. 

(31)  Operate a private club where marijuana is possessed or used by any person at the 
private club. 

(32) Remove marijuana harvested from a plant from the enclosed locked space where 
the plant was grown, except as provided in this chapter. 

(33) Distribute marijuana within a recreational marijuana center to any person who 
shows visible signs of intoxication from alcohol, marijuana, or other drugs. 

(b)   Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on tongue, 
dilated pupils, or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 

6-16-14 Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines. 
(a) A recreational marijuana business license may be suspended or revoked for any of the 
following violations: 

(1) Conviction of the business, a licensee or any owner, business manager, or 
financier of any violation of this chapter or any other law, rule or regulation 
applicable to the use of recreational marijuana or operation of a recreational 
marijuana business; 

(2) Misrepresentation or omission of any material fact, or false or misleading 
information, on the application or any amendment thereto, or any other 
information provided to the city related to the recreational marijuana business; 

(3)  Violation of any law by which, if occurring prior to submittal of the application, 
could have been cause for denial of the license application; 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 49Packet Page     225



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(4) Distribution of recreational marijuana, including, without limitation, delivery or 
transporting marijuana, in violation of this chapter or any other applicable law, 
rule or regulation; 

(5) Operation of a recreational marijuana business in violation of the specifications of 
the license application, any conditions of approval by the city, or any violation of 
this chapter or any other law, rule or regulation applicable to the use of 
recreational marijuana or operation of a recreational marijuana business; 

(6) Failure to maintain, or provide to the city upon request, any books, recordings, 
reports or other records required by this chapter; 

(7) Failure to timely notify the city and to complete necessary city forms for changes 
in financial interest, business managers, financier or agent; 

(8) Temporary or permanent closure, or other sanction of the business, by the city, or 
by the county or State Public Health Department or other governmental entity 
with jurisdiction, for failure to comply with health and safety provisions of this 
chapter or otherwise applicable to the business or any other applicable law; 

(9) Revocation or suspension of another recreational marijuana business license or 
any other license issued by the city, the state, or any other jurisdiction held by any 
licensee of the recreational marijuana business; 

(10)  Failure to timely correct any violation of any law, or comply with any order to 
correct a violation of any law within the time stated in the notice or order. 

(b)   In the event a business or licensee is charged with violation of any law, upon which a 
final judgment would be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license, the city may 
suspend the license pending the resolution of the alleged violation. 

(c)   Civil Penalties for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the city against the 
business or any licensee up to $5,000 per licensee per occurrence.   

(d)   If the city revokes or suspends a license, the business may not move any marijuana from 
the premise except under the supervision of the Boulder Police Department.  

6-16-15 Term of License – Renewals – Expiration of License.  

(a)  Term of License. A recreational marijuana business license shall be valid for one year. 
The license shall expire on date stated on the license, but no more than twenty-four months, to 
facilitate the administration by the city of renewals and coordinate with the date for renewal of 
the state license of such licenses. 

(b)  Renewal of License. The licensee shall apply for renewal of the recreational marijuana 
business license at least forty-five days before the expiration of the license. The licensee shall 
apply for renewal using forms provided by the city. If the applicant fails to apply for renewal at 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 50Packet Page     226



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

least 45 days before the expiration of the license, but does apply for renewal prior to expiration 
of the license, the city may process the renewal application if the application submits a late filing 
fee of $5,000 at the time of submittal of the renewal application. 

(1)  The renewal license fee, and late fee if applicable, shall accompany the renewal 
application. Such fee is nonrefundable. 

(2)  In the event there has been a change to any of the plans identified in the license 
application which were submitted to and approved by the city with the application 
or an earlier renewal, the renewal application shall include specifics of the 
changes or proposed changes in any of such plans. 

(3)  In the event any person who has an interest as described in the disclosures made 
to the city pursuant to this chapter, or any business manager, financier, agent as 
defined herein or employee has been charged with or accused of violations of any 
law since such disclosure, the renewal application shall include the name of the 
violator, the date of the violation, the court and case number where the violation 
was filed and the disposition of the violation with the renewal application. 

(4)  In the event the business license has been suspended or revoked or a licensee has 
received any notice of violation of any law, the renewal application shall include a 
copy of the notice, suspension, or revocation.   

(5)   The renewal application shall include verification that the business has a valid 
state license and the state license is in good standing. 

(6)  The renewal application shall include a summary report for the previous twelve 
months showing the amount of marijuana purchased, the amount of marijuana 
sold, the forms in which marijuana was sold, the police report numbers or case 
numbers of all police calls to the recreational marijuana business, and for calls 
resulting in a charge of a violation of any law, the charge, case number and 
disposition of any of the charges. 

(7) The city shall not accept renewal applications after the expiration of the license, 
but instead shall require the applicant to file a new license application. 

(8) In the event there have been allegations of violations of this code by any of the 
licensees or the business submitting a renewal application, the city may hold a 
hearing pursuant to Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, prior to 
approving the renewal application. The hearing shall be to determine whether the 
application and proposed licensees comply with this chapter and whether the 
operation of the business has been in compliance with this code. If the city does 
not hold a hearing and the application and the licensees do not meet the 
requirements of this chapter, or the business has been operated in the past in 
violation of this code, the renewal application may be denied or issued with 
conditions, and the decision shall be final subject to judicial review as provided in 
Section 16-4-4(e). 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 51Packet Page     227

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-14.htm#section16_4_4�


 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(c) Nonpayment of Tax. In the event a recreational marijuana business that has been open 
and operating and submitting monthly sales and use tax returns to the city ceases providing sales 
and use tax returns to the city for a period of three months or longer, the recreational marijuana 
business license shall be deemed to have expired and a new license shall be required prior to 
reopening at the location of the business. 

(d) Expiration of License. Expiration of a recreational marijuana business license for any 
reason including without limitation, pursuant to subsection (c) above shall be considered an 
inactive local license as described in § 12-43.3.312, C.R.S. 

6-16-16 City Manager Authorized to Issue Rules. 

The city manager may adopt rules and regulations that the city manager determines are 
reasonably necessary to implement the requirements of this chapter. 

Section 2.  A new section 4-20-67, B.R.C. 1981, is added to read: 4-20-67 Recreational 
Marijuana Businesses.  

Application and license fees for recreational marijuana businesses shall be up to the 
following amounts: 

(a)      Application fee for conversion of licenses under Chapter 6-14, 
B.R.C. 1981 (to be received from the state before application is 
deemed complete):    

 
(b)      Application fee for new recreational marijuana licenses not 

converted from medical marijuana businesses (to be received 
from state before application is deemed complete): 

$   250 
 
 
 
 
$2,500 
 

(c)       Criminal background check fee, per person checked:    
 
Actual 
Costs 

(d)      License fee, per year: $4,075 

(e)      Renewal application fee, per year: $3,480 

  
(f)      Application for a new business manager: $   150 

(g)      Business entity changes or addition of financiers: $2,000 

(h)       Modification of premises: $3,000 
The application fee and costs and renewal fee paid are nonrefundable. The new license fee may 
be refunded if the new license application is denied. No fee will be refunded in the instance of 
suspension or revocation. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 52Packet Page     228



 

K:\CMAD\o-Rec Marijuana  new chapter 1st rdg FP 9-3-13-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ________ day of ______________ 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B 
Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 53Packet Page     229



 

K:\CMAD\o-Marijuana odor ordinance-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 5-10-6 ___________ 
B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Adding 5-10-6 to read: 
 
5-10-6 Marijuana Odor Emissions  
 
(a) No person, tenant, occupant, or property owner shall permit the emission of marijuana odor 

from any source to result in detectable odors that leave the premises upon which they 
originated and interfere with the reasonable and comfortable use and enjoyment of another’s 
property.  
 

(b) Whether or not a marijuana odor emission interferes with the reasonable and comfortable use 
and enjoyment of a property shall be measured against the objective standard of a reasonable 
person of normal sensitivity. 

 

(c) A marijuana odor emission shall be deemed to interfere with reasonable and comfortable use 
and enjoyment of property if the city manager receives three (3) or more complaints from 
individuals representing separate households, rooming units, or places of business within the 
city relating to a single marijuana odor source. 

 

(d) No person shall be convicted of a violation of this section unless the city manager has 
delivered or posted a written warning, in the previous 12 months, that conduct violating this 
section is occurring or has occurred and, 14 or more days following the warning, the 
marijuana odor emission is repeated or continued.   

 

(1) Fourteen days after a warning, a separate violation of this section occurs on each day 
that the marijuana odor emission repeats or continues.   

(2) The warning shall cite this section.   
(3) The warning may be delivered personally or posted on the property.   

Attachment C 
Proposed Chapter 5-10 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 54Packet Page     230



 

K:\CMAD\o-Marijuana odor ordinance-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(4) It shall be presumed that a person charged under this section received the warning if 
the warning was delivered to the property owner or an occupant or if the warning was 
posted on the property. 

 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ____ day of __________, 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment C 
Proposed Chapter 5-10 Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 55Packet Page     231



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 56Packet Page     232



 
 
 

Difference between Medical Marijuana and Recreational Marijuana Laws 
 Medical Marijuana Recreational Marijuana 
Chapter 6-14 BRC 1981 6-16 BRC 1981 
Constitution Amendment 20 (2000) 

XVIII § 14 
Amendment 64 (2012) 
XVIII § 16 

Ownership  No limit 1 center 
Density / # of Businesses Medical Marijuana Recreational Marijuana 
Center 3 within 500 ft 3 within 500 ft 
Grow No limit 3 within 500 ft (for new businesses) 
MIP No limit Only if grow in city 
 Medical Marijuana Recreational Marijuana 
Distances State City State City 
• Schools 1000 ft 500 ft None 1000 ft 
• Universities 1000 ft None None 1000 ft 
• Daycares None 500 ft None 1000 ft 
 Medical Marijuana Recreational Marijuana 
Size of Business / Amount 
of Marijuana 

State City State City 

• Center Determined 
by # of 
Patients 

Determined by # 
of Patients 

No limit 1,000 sf product 
3,000 sf for sale 

• Grow Determined 
by # of 
Patients 

Determined by # 
of Patients 

No limit 1,000 plants 

• MIP Determined 
by # of 
Patients 

Determined by # 
of Patients 

No limit 600 lbs raw / 
150 lbs plants 

• Testing Facility Not 
applicable 

Not applicable No limit 100 lbs raw / 
100 lbs product 

 
 
 
 

Application Timing 
 State City 
Medical Marijuana  - New Continuous Abated 3-1-14 to 9-30-14 
Conversion of Medical 
Marijuana to Recreational 
Marijuana 

If had license by 10-1-13 or 
applied by 12-10-12, can apply 
10-1-13. No recreational 
marijuana effective before 1-1-
14. 

If had license by 6-1-14 or applied 
by 10-1-13, can apply 6-1-14. 

Recreational Marijuana – 
New 

Can submit Notice of Intent 1-1-
14. Can apply 7-1-14; not 
effective before 10-1-14 

Can apply 10-1-14 

 

Attachment D 
Chart of Comparison of Requirements

Agenda Item 3G     Page 57Packet Page     233



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 58Packet Page     234



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015

Alamosa Prohibition of  the  operation  of  marijuana  cultivation  facilities, 
marijuana  product  manufacturing  facilities,  marijuana  testing  
facilities,  retail marijuana stores, or retail marijuana 

t bli h t

ADOPTED^

Arvada Moratorium until March 31, 2014 on the operation of marijuana 
establishments, private marijuana clubs, and similar businesses.

ADOPTED

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Aurora Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Moratorium until May 5, 2014 on the operation of marijuana 
cultivation facilities, marijuana product manufacturing facilities, 
marijuana testing facilities, retail marijuana stores, and marijuana 
clubs.

ADOPTED

Avon Temporary suspension and delay in the acceptance, processing, 
and approval of all applications for any permit, license, or any other 
application pertaining to the operation of marijuana cultivation 
facilities, marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana 
testing facilities, retail marijuana stores, and marijuana clubs until 
Sept. 30, 2014.

ADOPTED

Bayfield Moratorium on the acceptance of any application to operate any 
marijuana establishment as authorized by Amendment 64 until Oct. 
1, 2013. 

ADOPTED

Bennett Prohibition of  the  operation  of  marijuana  cultivation  facilities, 
marijuana  product  manufacturing  facilities,  marijuana  testing  
facilities,  retail marijuana stores, or retail marijuana 

t bli h t

ADOPTED^

Moratorium on private clubs until July 1, 2014 ADOPTED

Berthoud Prohibition of  the  operation  of  marijuana  cultivation  facilities, 
marijuana  product  manufacturing  facilities,  marijuana  testing  
facilities,  retail marijuana stores, or retail marijuana 

t bli h t

ADOPTED^

Blanca Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Brighton Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Broomfield Prohibition of the operation of marijuana establishments. ADOPTED^

Buena Vista Prohibition of the use of property as a marijuana cultivation facility, 
marijuana product manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility 
or retail marijuana store. Prohibition of marijuana clubs.

ADOPTED^

Burlington Prohibition of the use or possession of marijuana in or on city 
owned property. Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product 
manufacturing, testing facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Calhan Prohibition of the use of property as a marijuana cultivation facility, 
marijuana product manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility 
or retail marijuana store.Prohibition of marijuana clubs.

ADOPTED^

Carbondale Moratorium on the establishment of any new medical or retail 
marijuana facility to 12/11/2013.

ADOPTED

Castle Rock Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age and possession 
provisions.

ADOPTED-

Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 59Packet Page     235



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015
Centennial A moratorium to Sept. 30, 2014 on the operation of marijuana 

cultivation facilities, marijuana product manufacturing facilities, 
marijuana testing facilities, retail marijuana stores, and marijuana 
clubs.

ADOPTED

Ordinance regulating the manner in which marijuana is grown for 
personal use, prohibiting the operation of certain marijuana 
enterprises, and prohibiting marijuana on city owned or leased 
property.

ADOPTED-

Cherry Hills Village Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Cokedale Prohibition of the retail sale of marijuana for any use or purpose ADOPTED^

Colorado Springs Prohibition of  the  operation  of  marijuana  cultivation  facilities, 
marijuana  product  manufacturing  facilities,  marijuana  testing  
facilities,  retail marijuana stores, or retail marijuana 

t bli h t

ADOPTED^

Craig Moratorium on the use or consumption of marijuana or marijuana 
products on commerical and industrial zoned property that 
operates as a place of private assembly for the purpose of inviting 
persons to use or consume marijuana products on site (pot clubs) 
to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Crawford Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Crested Butte Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Crestone Moratorium on the licensing of marijuana cultivation, 
manufacturing, and testing facilities until Feb. 11, 2013.

ADOPTED

Dacono Prohibition of marijuana establishments (including clubs). ADOPTED^

Del Norte Prohibiting the operation of all Marijuana Cultivation Facilities, 
Marijuana Manufacturing Facilities, Marijuana Testing Facilities or 
Retail Marijuana Store, and Private Membership Marijuana Clubs 
and Hash Bars.

ADOPTED^

Dillon Moratorium on the submission, acceptance or processing of 
applications and the licensing, permitting, establishment or 
operation of any recreational marijuana business to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Englewood Prohibition of recreational marijuana, cultivation facilities, 
recreational marijuana product manufacturing facilities, recreational 
marijuana testing faciltiies and recreational marijuana stores.

ADOPTED^

Erie Moratorium on the submission, acceptance or processing of 
applications and the licensing, permitting, establishment or 
operation of any recreational marijuana business to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Evans Prohibition of marijuana cultivation facilities, marijuana testing 
facilities, marijuana product manufacturing facilities, and retail 
marijuana stores.

ADOPTED^

Fairplay Prohibition of the retail sale, distribution, cultivation and dispensing 
of recreational and medical marijuana. 

ADOPTED^

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Federal Heights Moratorium on the licensing, establishment, or operation of any 
recreational marijuana business that sells, cultivates, manufatures, 
or otherwise allows the use of marijuana to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Firestone Prohibits the establishment or operation of marijuana 
establishments and businesses that invite or permit private 
assembly for the purpose of the use or consumption of marijuana 
or marijuana products.

ADOPTED^

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 60Packet Page     236



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fountain Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 

facilities, and retail marijuana stores. Moratorium on marijuana 
clubs.

ADOPTED^

Foxfield Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Regulation of the cultivation of marijuana in residential structures 
for personal use. 

ADOPTED-

Frederick Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Prohibition of the operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores.

ADOPTED^

Ft. Morgan Moratorium on the operation of marijuana establishments pursuant 
to Amendment 64 to Dec. 31, 2013. 

ADOPTED

Frisco Moratorium on the submission, acceptance or processing of 
applications and the licensing, permitting, establishment or 
operation of any recreational marijuana business to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Fruita Moratorium on private marijuana clubs to Oct. 1, 2013. ADOPTED

Glenwood Springs Moratorium on the submission, acceptance, processing, and 
approval of any and all applications for any permits, licenses or 
land use entitlements issued by the City related to the location or 
operation of a marijuana establishment (retail or club), to Oct. 1, 
2013.

ADOPTED

Greeley Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. Prohibition of marijuana 

ADOPTED^

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age and possession 
provisions.

ADOPTED-

Green Mountain Falls Prohibition of the operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores.

ADOPTED^

Greenwood Village Prohibition of any marijuana cultivation facility, marijuana product 
manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility, or retail marijuana 
store or marijuana club.

ADOPTED^

Regulation of the personal cultivation, possesion, and use of 
marijuana.

ADOPTED-

Gunnison Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Prohibition of any marijuana cultivation facility, marijuana product 
manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility, or retail marijuana 
store.

ADOPTED^

Gypsum Prohibition of the operation of clubs, cultivation facilities, product 
manufacturing facilities, testing facilities, and retail stores.

ADOPTED^

Holyoke Prohibition of  the  operation  of  marijuana  cultivation  facilities, 
marijuana  product  manufacturing  facilities,  marijuana  testing  
facilities,  retail marijuana stores, or retail marijuana 
establishments. SUNSETS at the time of  the 2014 general 
election, at which point voters can either approve or reject the 
ordinance

ADOPTED^

Hudson Prohibition of any marijuana cultivation facility, marijuana product 
manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility, or retail marijuana 
store. Prohibition of marijuana clubs.

ADOPTED^

Johnstown Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 61Packet Page     237



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015
Julesburg Prohibition of any marijuana cultivation facility, marijuana product 

manufacturing facility, marijuana testing facility, or retail marijuana 
store. Prohibition of use on town property.

ADOPTED^

La Junta Prohibiting the acceptance, processing and approval of 
applications for a use permit of any nature, variance, building 
permit, building license, sales tax license or other applicable 
entitlement for use of any property, space or location for an adult-
use retail marijuana outlet; prohitibiting the establishment of a retail 
adult-use marijuana outlet in any manner withing the city of La 
Junta; and setting forth other details related thereto.

ADOPTED^

Lafayette Moratorium on the submission, acceptance or processing of 
applications and the licensing, permitting, establishment or 
operation of any recreational marijuana business to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Lakewood Moratorium on the licensing, permitting, establishment, or operation 
of any new marijuana enterprise to Jan. 1, 2014

ADOPTED

Larkspur Moratorium on the licensing, permitting, establishment, or operation 
of any new marijuana enterprise to Nov. 4, 2014.

ADOPTED

Leadville Designated City Council of the City of Leadville as the "Local 
Licensing Authority" and granted it the same powers as a Local 
Licensing Authority under the Medical Marijuana Code and Retail 
Marijuana Code.

ADOPTED+

Limon Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Littleton Moratorium on the submission, acceptance or processing of 
applications and the licensing, permitting, establishment or 
operation of any recreational marijuana business to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Log Lane Village Moratorium on the Review of Applications for any and all Activity 
Permitted Pursuant to Amendment 64 to the Colorado Constitution 
Involving the Use of Marijuana to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Lone Tree Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Longmont Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. Prohibition of marijuana 

ADOPTED^

Lyons Moratorium on the licensing, permitting, establishment, or operation 
of any new business that sells, cultivates, or tests marijuana or any 
marijuna products, or any marijuana enterprise to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

Mead Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. Prohibition of private 
marijuana clubs. 

ADOPTED^

Montrose Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Monument Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores; unlawful to grow marijuana for 
personal use anywhere in the Town other than an enclosed, locked 
space which is not open or public; unlawful to make marijuana 
grown for recreational use available for sale in any manner. 
Separate ordinance to prohibit the use of marijuana in private 
clubs, lodges, and similar facilities.

ADOPTED^

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age and possession 
provisions.

ADOPTED-

Norwood Moratorium on the operation of marijuana establishments pursuant 
to Amendment 64 to Oct. 1, 2013.

ADOPTED

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 62Packet Page     238



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015
Palisade Temporary moratorium and delay on the acceptance, processing 

and approval of all applications for any Town of Palisade permit, 
license or any other application pertaining to the operation of 
marijuana cultivation facilities, marijuana product manufacturing 
facilities,  marijuana testing facilities, and retail marijuana stores, 
as well as marijuana clubs, until Jan. 15, 2015.

ADOPTED

Palmer Lake Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Parker Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Poncha Springs Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Severance Prohibition of the operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
product manufacturing facilities, testing facilities and retail stores 
within city limits

ADOPTED^

Steamboat Springs Moratorium on any business that permits or invites private 
assembly for the purpose of the use or consumption in any manner 
of marijuana or marijuana products in any form .

ADOPTED

Sterling Prohibition of the operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
product manufacturing facilities, testing facilities and retail stores 
within city limits

ADOPTED^

Superior Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, retail marijuana stores, and marijuana clubs. 

ADOPTED^

Thornton Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Vail Moratorium on the operation of marijuana establishments pursuant 
to Amendment 64 to Jan. 1, 2014.

ADOPTED

Victor Unlawful for any person to operate, cause to be operated, or permit 
to be operated in the City a marijuana establishment, and 
marijuana establishments are hereby prohibited at all locations in 
the City. (includes private marijuana clubs)

ADOPTED^

Westcliffe Prohibits "certain businesses related to the establishment, 
operation, and licensing of marijuana cultivation facilities, 
marijuana product manufacturing facilities, marijuana testing 
facilities and retail marijuana stores within the town of Westcliffe."

ADOPTED^

Westminster Prohibition on retail sale, distribution, cultivation and dispensing of  
recreational marijuana through marijuana establishments and 
optional premises cultivation operations.

ADOPTED^

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Williamsburg Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, and retail marijuana stores. 

ADOPTED^

Ordinance to comply with Amendment 64 age, grow, and 
possession provisions.

ADOPTED-

Windsor Prohibition of the operation of any marijuana business enterprise 
within the meaning of Amendment 64. Prohibition of the 
establishment and operation of private marijuana clubs.

ADOPTED^

Woodland Park Prohibition of marijuana cultivation, product manufacturing, testing 
facilities, retail marijuana stores, and marijuana membership clubs. 
Prohibits selling marijuana grown for personal use.  

ADOPTED^

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 63Packet Page     239



Appendix B: Municipal Actions & Elections
Table 6: Recreational Marijuana Prohibition, Regulation and Taxation: 2012-August 2013
Municipality Type of Issue 2012 2013 2014 2015
TOTALS Local Opt-Out Ballot Questions Results: 

Prohibit: 0 0

Allow: 0 0

Totals 0 0

 Council Actions:

Prohibit: 2 51

Regulate: 0 1

Comply with Amendment 64: 1 13

Moratoria:* 3 23

Totals 6 88

CUMULATIVE ELECTION TOTALS:

Prohibit: 0

Regulate: 0

CUMULATIVE COUNCIL ACTION TOTALS: 

Prohibit: 53

Regulate: 1

Comply: 14

Moratoria:* 26

TOTAL: 94 (56.4% prohibition rate)

* Does not include moratoria that have expired or were supplanted by subsequent ordinances  

 + Regulation by council action ^ Prohibition by council action  - Amendment of municipal code by council action 

Attachment E 
Colorado Municipal League Chart

Agenda Item 3G     Page 64Packet Page     240



 

 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

  

AGENDA TITLE: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7923 designating the 
building and property at 3015 Kalmia Ave., to be known as the Lundgren-Harper House, as an 
individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.    
   
Owner/Applicant: Kalmia Estates Development, LLC 

 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The purpose of this item is for City Council to hold a public hearing and consider adoption of 
Ordinance No. 7923 (Attachment A), designating the building and property at 3015 Kalmia 
Ave. as an individual landmark, in accordance with the purposes and standards of the 
Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981).  Findings are 
included in the ordinance.   
 
If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would designate the building and a portion 
of the property as an individual landmark. The property owner is in support of the landmark 
designation and submitted the designation application on February 22, 2013. The Landmarks 
Board considered the application on June 5, 2013 and voted 4-0 (K. Remley absent) to 
recommend the designation to City Council. Council approved Introduction and First 
Reading of the ordinance on Aug. 20, 2013.  The second reading for this designation will be 
a quasi-judicial public hearing.   
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     241



 

 

BACKGROUND: 
On February 22, 2013 the city received an application from Kalmia Estates Development, 
LLC, for individual landmark designation of the property at 3015 Kalmia Ave. This 
application is a condition of the Kalmia Estates subdivision agreement. 
 
 

 
Figure 1: Location Map, 3015 Kalmia Ave.  

 
 

 
Figure 2: Proposed Landmark Boundary Map, 3015 Kalmia Ave. (dashed line)  

 
The property is located just north of the Diagonal Highway and Mountain View Cemetery, 
west of 30th Street, and east of the Stazio Soccer Complex.  Historically, the entire property 
encompassed 21 acres, and is now approved for subdivision and development of 57 units, 
including the historic house currently being considered for landmark designation. A new 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     242



 

 

north-south street will bisect the property, extending from Kalmia Avenue on the south to 
Palo Parkway on the north. Until the last decade, the property was agricultural with grazing 
and orchards.   
 
The one-and-one-half story house appears to have been built around 1912 by Alfred and 
Laura Lundgren. The house is constructed of field stone laid in a random pattern, with wood 
shingled gable ends with bracketed wide eaves and exposed rafter rails. Windows on the 
house are primarily 1/1 double-hung replacement windows. A few original wood windows 
remain on the west elevation and north addition. A small bay on the east elevation projects 
from the house with a shed roof, painted green shingle cladding, with two 1/1 double-hung 
windows. A front-gabled porch on the front of the house has been partially enclosed with 
stone to match the existing house, with one original tapered column and stone base. The c. 
1949 tax assessor card indicates this alteration occurred after that time. The roof is clad in 
brown asphalt shingle, with a shed roof dormer facing south that contains two windows. A 
brick chimney protrudes from the center of the roof at its peak. A one-car stone garage is 
located just to the west of the house. The garage has a front facing gable roof with shingled 
gable ends with bracketed eaves.   
 
Alfred and Laura Lundgren lived in the house from its construction in c.1912 until 1938. 
Alfred was a stonemason by trade. From 1938 until 2003, the Lundgren’s daughter and son-
in-law Laurena and Ray Harper owned the house. Ray was also a stonemason, and was 
involved in several notable construction projects, including buildings at the University of 
Colorado, Boulder High School, several municipal buildings and many buildings in 
Longmont. 
 

 
Figure 3: 3015 Kalmia Avenue Tax Assessor Card photograph c.1949. 
Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     243



 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7923, designating the building and the property at 3015 
Kalmia Ave., to be known as the Lundgren-Harper House, as an individual landmark 
under the City of Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and 
local tax credits for approved rehabilitations and repairs, and studies have found that historic 
preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism.  Exterior changes to individually 
landmarked buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Community 
Planning and Sustainability Department at no charge.  The additional review process for 
landmarked buildings may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

 
Environmental: The preservation of historic buildings is inherently sustainable. Owners of 
individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and repair as much of the original 
building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby reducing the amount of 
building material waste deposited in landfills.  City staff can assist architects, contractors and 
homeowners with design and material selections and sources that are environmentally 
friendly.  Also, the Historic Preservation website provides information on improving the 
energy efficiency of older buildings. 
 
Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981.  The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process.  The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  
 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal:  The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing 
function of the Historic Preservation Program.   
 
Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 
 
LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On June 5, 2013 the Landmarks Board voted 4-0 (K. Remley absent) to recommend to City 
Council that the building and a portion of the property at 3015 Kalmia Ave. be designated as 
a local historic landmark, finding that it meets the standards for individual landmark 
designations in sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981, and is consistent with the criteria 
specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     244



 

 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK:  
Eric Grosinger, Boulder Apartments, 2865 Baseline Rd., spoke in support of the landmark 
designation. 
 
 

 
Figure 4: South and east elevations, 3015 Kalmia, 2013.   

 
ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review 
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review of an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and 
policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council 
“shall approve by ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed 
designation.” 
 
Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff and the Landmarks Board find that the proposed designation of the building and a 
portion of the property at 3015 Kalmia Ave. maintain an appropriate setting and environment 
for the building, enhance property value, stabilize the neighborhood, promote tourist trade 
and interest, and foster knowledge of the City’s living heritage (Section 9-11-1, B.R.C. 1981) 
(Attachment B).  Staff considers that the application meets the historic, architectural, and 
environmental criteria for individual landmarks (Attachment C) as outlined below: 
 
HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary: The building located at 3015 Kalmia Ave. has historic significance under criteria 1, 2, 
and 3. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     245



 

 

1. Date of Construction: c. 1912    
Elaboration: The house and garage are thought to have been built in 1912 by Alfred 
Lundgren, who was a stone mason by trade.   

 
2. Association with Persons or Events: Ray Harper 

Elaboration: Ray Harper was born June 12, 1907 in Duncan’s Bridge, MO.  He came to 
Valmont, Colorado in 1911, and married Laurena Lundgren in January of 1928.  Harper 
was a self employed masonry contractor from the mid-1940s until he retired in 1972. He 
was involved in several notable construction projects, including buildings at the 
University of Colorado, Boulder High School, several municipal buildings and many 
buildings in Longmont. He was a member of the Elks Club and the Bricklayers Union, 
and was awarded the Golden Trowel for his extended membership. Mr. Harper raised 
cattle on the property during his ownership from 1938 to 2003. Harper died in 2003 at the 
age of 96 and is buried in Mountain View Cemetery, across the street from the house.    

 
3. Development of the Community: Agriculture, Boulder Oil Field.   

Elaboration: This property is associated with the small farming and ranching movement 
that was significant to the development of Boulder. It appears from ownership records 
that the property associated with this house was also associated with farmers who lived in 
Boulder, but owned or rented land outside the city for farming and ranching. The 1915 
Drumm Wall Map of Boulder shows this property with an indication that a building 
existed in the same location as the current house. At that time, it was associated with 21 
acres of land.  In addition, at the southeast corner of the property was the Savannah No. 1 
or Boulder North Bend oil well.   

 
Recognition by Authorities: None observed 

 
 
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  Staff and the Landmarks Board consider that the building at 3015 Kalmia Ave. 
has architectural significance under criteria 1 and 5.   
 

1. Recognized Period or Style: Craftsman Bungalow 
Elaboration:  The house and garage are indicative of Craftsman Bungalow 
architecture which was most prevalent in Colorado from 1900 to 1930. According to 
the Guide to Colorado’s Historic Architecture and Engineering, the Bungalow form 
is most commonly associated with forms of one or one-and-one-half story, wood or 
masonry walls with a gently pitched front or side gabled roof with overhanging eaves, 
broad porches. Craftsman elements include exposed rafter ends, overhanging eaves, 
knee bracing at the eaves, and large or battered porch columns. The house and garage 
at 3015 Kalmia Avenue exhibit all of these elements, including native stone 
construction, a side-gabled form with overhanging eaves, triangular knee braces at the 
eaves, exposed rafter ends, and battered columns.    

2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: None known 
 

3. Artistic Merit: None observed 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     246



 

 

      4.  Example of the Uncommon: None observed 
 

5. Indigenous Qualities: Native stone construction 
Elaboration: The house and garage are constructed of native stone.   

 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  Staff and the Landmarks Board consider the building at 3015 Kalmia Ave. has 
environmental significance under criterion 3. 
 

1. Site Characteristics: None observed 
Elaboration: The site is proposed for significant redevelopment.   

 
2. Compatibility with Site: None observed 

 
3. Geographic Importance: Northeast Boulder 

Elaboration:  These buildings are associated with the agricultural movement of 
northeast Boulder, much of which is no longer evident today. Due to this unique 
location, the house serves, and would continue to serve, as an established and familiar 
visual feature of the community.   

 
4. Environmental Appropriateness: None observed 
 
5. Area Integrity: None observed.   

 
 
 
OPTIONS:  
 
City Council may approve, modify or not approve the second reading ordinance.   
 
Approved By: 
 
_____________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam, 
City Manager   
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Ordinance No. 7923  
B: Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C: Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks  
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     247



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     248



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
ORDINANCE  NO. 7923 

 
AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND THE 
A PORTION OF THE PROPERTY AT 3015 KALMIA AVE., 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE 
LUNDGREN-HARPER HOUSE, A LANDMARK UNDER 
CHAPTER 9-11, “HISTORIC PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, 
AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section l. The council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 9-11, 

“Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a special 

character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The council finds that: 1) on or about February 22, 2013, property owner 

Kalmia Estates Development, LLC, applied to the City of Boulder to designate the building and 

a portion of the property at said property as a landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public 

hearing on the proposed designation on June 5, 2013; and 3) on June 5, 2013, the board 

recommended that the council approve the proposed designation. 

 Section 3. The council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the council held 

a public hearing on the proposed designation on August 20, 2013, and upon the basis of the 

presentations at that hearing finds that the building and a portion of the property at 3015 Kalmia 

Ave. does possess a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or 

value warranting its designation as a landmark. 

 Section 4. There is hereby created as a landmark the building and property located at 

3015 Kalmia Ave., also known as the Lundgren-Harper House, whose legal landmark boundary 

is as follows: 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7923

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page     249



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

LOT 23, KALMIA ESTATES, AS OUTLINED IN THE PROPOSED 
LANDMARK BOUNDARY MAP IDENTIFIED AS FIGURE 2.  

 

Section 5. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a 

landmark are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction of circa 1912 by local 

stone mason Alfred Lundgren, its association with Ray Harper who was prominent citizen of 

Boulder and involved in several notable construction projects including buildings at the 

University of Colorado, Boulder High School and several municipal buildings, and is 

connected with the small farming and ranching movement that was significant to the 

Development of Boulder; and 2) its architectural significance is indicative of Craftsman 

Bungalow architecture which is most commonly associated with forms of one or one-and-

one-half story, wood or masonry walls with gently pitched front of side gabled roof with 

overhanging eaves, broad porches and in the case of this property the use of native stone 

construction; and 3) its environmental significance for its association with the agricultural 

movement of northeast Boulder, much of which is no longer evident today.  

Section 6. The council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is necessary 

to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

Section 7. The council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7923

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page     250



 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 
ONLY this 20th day of AUGUST, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

       Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

 
     
    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 
 

 

Attachment A 
Ordinance No. 7923

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page     251



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page     252



 
 

 

9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

 
9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states: 

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting, 
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras, 
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant 
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop 
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to 
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and 
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage. 

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but 
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in 
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition 
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other 
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will 
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by 
being compatible with them. 

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new 
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall 
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for 
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.  

 

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states: 

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance: 
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an 

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a 
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 
and designate a landmark site for each landmark; 

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of 
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and 
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a 
distinct section of the city;  

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings, 
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically 
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or 
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural, 
or aesthetic characteristics; and 

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district. 

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the 
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city. 

  
 

Attachment B 
Purposes and Intent

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page     253



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page     254



 
 
 

SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 
Individual Landmark 

September 1975 
 

On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 
for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   
 
Historic Significance 
 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 
 
Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable.  

Architectural Significance 
 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 

Attachment C 
Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page     255



development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

 
Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 
 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 
 
Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

 
 

Attachment C 
Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page     256



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: SEPT 3, 2013 

 
AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7925 amending chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7,10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5 and 
10-10, B.R.C. 1981, adding a new chapter 10-8.5; adopting by reference, with 
amendments, the 2012 International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, Energy 
Conservation, Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas and Plumbing 
Codes, and the 2011 Electrical National Code, amending sections 4-20-47, "Zoning 
Adjustment Filing Fees, and" 2-3-4 "Board of Building Appeals," B.R.C. 1981; and 
setting forth related details. 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Larry Donner, Fire Chief 
David Lowrey, Chief Fire Marshall 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Brett KenCairn, Senior Environmental Planner 
David Thacker, Building Services Manager/Chief Building Official 
Kirk Moors, Senior Plans Examiner/Assistant Building Official 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
At the Aug 20, 2013 City Council meeting, council considered the adoption of the 
following building and energy codes with local amendments: 

• 2012 International Building Code (IBC) 
• 2012 International Residential Code (IRC) 
• 2012 International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) 
• 2012 International Fire Code (IFC) 
• 2012 International Wildland Urban Interface Code (IWUIC) 
• 2012 International Mechanical Code (IMC) 
• 2012 International Plumbing Code (IPC) 
• 2012 International Fuel Gas Code (IFGC) 
• 2012 International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) 
• 2011 National Electric Code (NEC) 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     257



 
At the first reading, City Council had questions regarding the IFC, IWUIC and IRC.  The 
topic-specific discussion items are outlined in the analysis section. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff requests City Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7925 amending 
chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7,10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5 and 10-10, B.R.C. 
1981, adding a new chapter 10-8.5; adopting by reference, with amendments, the 2012 
International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, Energy Conservation, Fire, 
Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas and Plumbing Codes, and the 2011 
Electrical National Code, Amending Sections 4-20-47, "Zoning Adjustment Filing Fees, 
and" 2-3-4 "Board of Building Appeals," B.R.C. 1981; and setting forth related details. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
Updating current building codes can produce economic, environmental, and social 
benefits at multiple levels across a community. High-performance buildings reduce 
energy and environmental impacts, improve economic vitality, increase community pride, 
and may decrease utility rates by making peak energy demand more manageable.  
 
Economic: Higher performing buildings increase property values, command higher lease 
prices, cost less to operate, and improve occupant comfort in addition to reducing 
greenhouse gases. However, initial costs to construct these buildings are higher.   
Exceeding the 2012 IECC requirements for commercial construction by at least 30 
percent is projected to cost building owners an estimated 2 percent premium over 
baseline energy code compliant construction.  Energy use modeling of a commercial 
office building indicates that the building efficiency improvements related to the 
proposed energy code will yield 33 percent in energy savings and have an overall 
payback of eight years. Similarly, modeling of a mixed-use building indicates that the 
efficiency improvements of the proposed energy code will yield 35 percent in energy 
savings and seven years for the overall payback. 

Environmental: Using building and energy codes to ensure the energy efficiency of the 
building is within the limits of the code and will benefit the environment by reducing 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.  
 
Social:  Improving the energy codes above the minimum standard requires energy 
conservation in the residential, public and private sectors.  This results in less money 
flowing to energy costs over time, and more household and business income available for 
other uses. Additionally, the net outcome of decreased greenhouse gas emissions 
promotes a community-wide shift toward conservation and being good stewards of the 
built and natural environments. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     258



BACKGROUND 
Background information including board and commission, and public feedback can be 
found in the Aug. 20, 2013 first reading memo.  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS  
Staff and consultant costs for the update work have been included into the 2013 budget. 
The staff time needed to implement the updated codes is not expected to be higher than 
current code review requirements. 
 
ANALYSIS 
Detailed analysis of the energy and building code adoption proposal can be found in the 
Aug. 20, 2013 first reading memo.  This section covers analysis regarding council 
questions at the first reading.   
 
City Council had a few questions regarding the adoption of IFC, IWUIC and IRC.  The 
topic-specific discussion items are outlined below. 
 
At the meeting, a concern was raised about the adoption of the IFC potentially limiting 
the amount of rooftop space devoted to photovoltaic or solar thermal arrays. 
This concern was discussed at length during the Planning Board meeting on June 6, 2013.  
The Planning Board asked staff to work with the solar community to find an appropriate 
compromise allowing a satisfactory amount of rooftop space for PVs while still 
maintaining fire fighter safety.  Staff reached out to the solar community and held several 
meeting with local contractors and representatives from the Colorado Solar Energy 
Industries Association (CoSEIA).  During the meetings, several options were discussed.  
Staff also looked at several code amendment models from around the country.  The result 
was an amendment to IFC that was supported by CoSEIA as well as fire fighters. 

 
Another concern was raised about International Wildland Urban Interface Code (IWUIC) 
and the potential impacts to existing structures related to defensible space and mature 
landscaping.  Staff is proposing to eliminate the requirement for existing homes to 
comply with the defensible space provision.  Instead, if the code is adopted, staff will 
launch a public outreach campaign to educate homeowners about safety measures related 
to defensible spaces and potential removal of mature landscaping in the wildland fire 
zone.    
 
A question was also asked about the requirement of residential fire sprinklers, in all 
structures, as part of the IRC.  The City of Boulder has long required fire sprinklers in 
residential town homes and homes with limited access throughout the city.  Residential 
fire sprinklers have been added to the 2012 IRC and are required in all new residential, 
but not existing dwellings.   
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     259

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/08.20.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308191021.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/08.20.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308191021.pdf�


NEXT STEPS 
If codes are adopted, staff will move forward with public education by offering code 
update workshops during the third and fourth quarter of 2013.  Updates to the Site review 
criteria will be scheduled for Planning Board consideration during the fourth quarter of 
2013.  An update to the city’s Green Building, Green Points program is scheduled for the 
fourth quarter of 2014. 

ATTACHMENTS 
• ATTACHMENT A:  Proposed ordinance adopting and amending 2012  ICC codes and 2011 

NEC 

 
 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     260



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

ORDINANCE NO. 7925 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTERS 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 
10-6, 10-7, 10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5, AND 10-10, B.R.C. 1981; 
ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 10-8.5; ADOPTING BY 
REFERENCE, WITH AMENDMENTS, THE 2012 
INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE, BUILDING, 
RESIDENTIAL, ENERGY CONSERVATION, FIRE, 
WILDLAND-URBAN INTERFACE, MECHANICAL, FUEL 
GAS AND PLUMBING CODES, AND THE 2011 NATIONAL 
ELECTRICAL CODE; AMENDING SECTIONS 4-20-47, 
“ZONING ADJUSTMENT FILING FEES,” AND 2-3-4, 
“BOARD OF BUILDING APPEALS,”  B.R.C. 1981; AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Chapter 10-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-2 – PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE 

10-2-1 Legislative Intent.  

(a) The City Council finds: 

(1) Energy efficiency requirements for housing are necessary because: 

(A) Reducing greenhouse gas emissions in existing buildings is imperative to meet the 
City of Boulder's sustainability goals; 

(B) Rental housing represents the largest number of existing housing units in the City; 
and 

(C) Efforts to establish incentives for voluntary energy efficiency retrofits in rental 
housing have proven to be ineffective. 

(b) Reducing greenhouse gas emissions has been established as an important public policy 
objective and mandated by the City of Boulder due to: 

(1) The well-documented link between reduction of such emissions and current and 
projected climate change; and 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     261



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(2) The profound public health and safety impacts of such emissions, including but not 
limited to: 

(A) Increased risk of extreme weather events, 

(B) Increased flood severity, 

(C) Increased risk and intensity of catastrophic wildfire, 

(D) Increased insect invasions causing forest die-offs, and 

(E) Increased risk of drought. 

(c) The purposes of this chapter are as follows: 

(1) To protect the public health, safety and general welfare of the residents of the City by 
regulating existing residential rental and privately occupied residential structures and to 
promote conservation and the efficient use of energy; 

(2) To establish minimum energy efficiency requirements for existing rental and privately 
occupied housing in the City of Boulder with the goal of reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions; and 

(3) To address the unique needs and challenges associated with energy retrofits in existing 
rental and privately occupied housing. 

(d) The City Council hereby adopts the 2009 2012 edition of the International Property 
Maintenance Code as the Property Maintenance Code of the City of Boulder. This chapter 
establishes minimum code standards related to: administration; definitions; general requirements; 
light, ventilation and occupancy limitations; plumbing facilities and fixture requirements; 
mechanical and electrical systems; fire safety requirements; rental licensing and existing 
residential rental structure energy conservation. 

10-2-2 Adoption of the International Property Maintenance Code with Modifications.  

(a) The 2009 2012 edition of the International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) of the 
International Code Council is hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Property 
Maintenance Code and has the same force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, 
except as specifically amended for local application by this chapter. 

(b) IPMC Appendix chapters A, "Boarding Standard," and B, "Rental Housing Inspections," are 
adopted. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     262



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(c) For ease of reference, the following identifies all chapters, sections and appendices of the 
published and adopted IPMC and includes specific amendments for local application. Chapter, 
Section, Subsection or Appendix numbers of provisions not amended appear, followed by the 
words, "No changes." The amended text of specifically amended provisions appears below. 
Chapter, Section, Subsection or Appendix numbers of any provisions not adopted appear, 
followed by the word, "Deleted." 

CHAPTER 1 
SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION 

PART 1 — SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION 

SECTION 101 
GENERAL 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Property Maintenance Code of 
the City of Boulder, hereinafter referred to as "this code." 

101.2 Scope. This code shall apply to all existing residential  structures and all existing 
residential premises and constitute minimum requirements and standards for premises, 
structures, equipment and facilities for light, ventilation, space, heating, sanitation, 
energy conservation, protection from the elements, life safety, safety from fire and 
other hazards, and for safe and sanitary maintenance; this code also specifies the 
responsibility of the owners, operators and occupants related to code compliance; the 
occupancy of existing structures and premises, and provides for administration, 
licensing, enforcement and penalties. 

101.2.1 Application of Rental Licenses Code. Existing residential structures 
utilized as rental properties will also be subject to the requirements of Chapter 10-
3, "Rental Licenses," B.R.C. 1981. 

101.3 Intent. This code shall be construed to secure its expressed intent, which is to 
ensure public health, safety and welfare insofar as they are affected by the continued 
occupancy and maintenance of structures and premises. Except as provided below, 
existing structures and premises that do not comply with these provisions shall be 
altered or repaired to provide a minimum level of health and safety as required herein. 
Existing structures and premises that comply with all applicable codes in force at the 
time of construction will be deemed to comply with this code except where the code 
official determines that deviations from this code pose a danger to the health, safety or 
welfare of the public or occupants, and issues an order for the owner to correct those 
specific conditions or alterations. 

101.4 Severability. No changes. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     263



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

SECTION 102 
APPLICABILITY 

102.1 General. No changes. 

102.2 Maintenance. Equipment, systems, devices and safeguards required by this 
code shall be maintained in accordance with the code in effect when the structure or 
premises was legally constructed, altered or repaired and shall be maintained in good 
working order. 

102.3 Application of Other Codes. Repairs, additions or alterations to a structure, 
inspections or changes of occupancy, shall be done in accordance with the procedures 
and provisions of the City of Boulder Building Code, City of Boulder Residential 
Code, City of Boulder Fuel Gas Code, City of Boulder Mechanical Code, City of 
Boulder Plumbing Code, City of Boulder Fire Prevention Code, City of Boulder 
Energy Conservation and Insulation Code and City of Boulder Electrical Code. 

102.4 — 102.10 No changes. 

PART 2 — ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

. . . 

SECTION 106 
VIOLATIONS 

106.1 Violations. 

(a) General Provisions: 
(1) No person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, extend, repair, move, remove, 
improve, convert, demolish, equip, use, occupy, or maintain any building or 
structure in the City, or cause or permit the same to be done, except in conformity 
with all of the provisions of this code and in conformity with the terms and 
conditions of approval issued under this code, or of any directive of the code 
official.  No person shall violate a provision of this code, or fail to comply 
therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof.  No person shall fail to comply 
with any order issued by the code official under this code. 

(2) In accordance with the provisions of section 5-2-11, “Prosecution of Multiple 
Counts for Same Act,” B.R.C. 1981, each day during which illegal construction, 
alteration, maintenance, occupancy, or use continues, constitutes a separate offense 
remediable through the enforcement provisions of this code. 
(3) The owner, tenant, and occupant of a structure or land and the agents of each of 
them are jointly and severally liable for any violation of this code with respect to 
such structure or land. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     264



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(4) The remedies for any violation of any provision of this code or of any permit, 
certificate, or other approval issued under this code or other City of Boulder code, 
or of any directive of the code official, may be pursued singly or in combination.  

(5) If any person fails or refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under this 
section, the code official may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, 
certify due and unpaid charges to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as 
provided by section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and 
Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(6) If an order under section 107 is not complied with, the code official may 
institute any appropriate proceeding at law or in equity to restrain, correct or abate 
such violation, or to require the removal or termination of the unlawful occupancy 
of the structure in violation of the provisions of this code or the order or direction 
made pursuant thereto.  The code official may charge the cost of any action taken 
to correct a violation, plus up to fifteen percent of such cost, for administration to 
the property owner.  If any property owner fails or refuses to pay when due any 
charge imposed under this section, the code official may, in addition to taking 
other collection remedies, certify due any unpaid charges, including interest, to the 
Boulder County Treasurer, to be levied against the person’s property for collection 
by the county in the same manner as delinquent general taxes upon such property 
are collected, under the procedures described by section 2-2-12, “City Manager 
May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to County Treasurer for 
Collection,“ B.R.C. 1981. 

(b) Administrative Procedures and Remedies: 
(1) If the code official finds that a violation of any provision of this code or of any 
approval granted under this code exists, the manager, after notice and an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by chapter 1-3, "Quasi-
Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may take any one or more of the following 
actions to remedy the violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty according to the following schedule: 

(i) For the first violation of the provision or approval, $100; 

(ii) For the second violation of the same provision or approval, $300; and 

(iii) For the third violation of the same provision or approval, $1,000; 

(B) For a violation concerning the use of a residential building under a rental  
license, revoke such license; 

(C) Require the filing of a declaration of use as provided in subsection (e); or 

(D) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of this code or any approval granted under this code. 

(2) Prior to the hearing, the code official may issue an order that no person shall 
perform any work on any structure or land, except to correct any violation found 
by the code official to exist with respect to such structure or land. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     265

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(3) If notice is given to the code official at least forty-eight hours before the time 
and date set forth in the notice of hearing on any violation that the violation has 
been corrected, the code official will reinspect the structure or land. If the code 
official finds that the violation has been corrected, the manager may cancel the 
hearing. 

(4) No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the code official under 
this section. 

(c) Criminal Penalties. Violations of this code are punishable as provided in Section 5-
2-4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 
(d) Other Remedies. The city attorney may maintain an action for damages, 
declaratory relief, specific performance, injunction, or any other appropriate relief in 
the District Court in and for the County of Boulder for any violation of any provision 
of this code or any approval granted under this code. 
(e) Declaration of Use. If the code official determines that a person is using a structure 
in a way that might mislead a reasonable person to believe that such use is a use by 
right or otherwise authorized by this title, the code official may require such person to 
sign under oath a declaration of use that defines the limited nature of the use and to 
record such declaration in the office of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder against 
the title to the land. In addition to all other remedies and actions that the code official 
is authorized to use under the Boulder Revised Code or other applicable federal, state 
or local laws to enforce the provisions of this code, the code official is authorized to 
withhold any approval affecting such structure or land, including, without limitation, a 
building permit, use review, site review, subdivision, floodplain development permit, 
or wetland permit, until such time as the person submits a declaration of use that is in a 
form acceptable to the code official. 
106.12 — 106.3 No changesDeleted. 

106.4 Violation Penalties. Any person who shall violate a provision of this code, or 
fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, shall be prosecuted 
within the limits provided by state or local laws. Each day that a violation continues 
after due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offense. Violations of this 
code are punishable as provided in sections 9-15-3 through 9-15-5, of chapter 9-15, 
"Enforcement," B.R.C. 1981.Deleted. 

106.5 Abatement of Violation. No changes. 

SECTION 107 
NOTICES AND ORDERS 

107.1 Notice to Person Responsible. No changes. 

107.2 Except in those instances where section 308, "RUBBISH AND GARBAGE," or 
section 309, "PEST ELIMINATION," applies or if a violation of chapter 10-3, "Rental 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     266

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Licenses," B.R.C. 1981, is alleged, whenever the code official determines that there is 
or has been a violation of any provision of this code, notice shall be given of such 
determination to the person responsible to correct the violation. The notice shall: 

1. Be in writing 

2. Include a description of the real estate sufficient for identification. 

3. Include a statement of the violation or violations and why the notice is being 
issued. 

4. Include a correction order allowing a reasonable time to make the repairs and 
improvements required to bring the dwelling unit or structure into compliance with 
the provisions of this code. 

5. Inform the property owner or other person responsible to correct the violation of 
the right to appeal. 

6. Include a statement of the rights under section 106.1 (a)(6) to file a lien in 
accordance with section 106.3. 

107.3 Method of Service. Such notice shall be deemed to be properly served if a copy 
thereof is: 

1. Delivered personally upon the responsible person, or by leaving a copy thereof 
at the person’s usual place of abode, with any person eighteen years of age or older 
and who is a member of the person’s family; or at the person's usual workplace, 
with the person's supervisor, secretary, administrative assistant, bookkeeper, 
human resources representative or managing agent; or by delivering a copy to a 
person authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process. 

2. Sent by certified or registered mail addressed to the owner at the last known 
address with return receipt requested; or 

3. Delivered in any other manner as prescribed by law. If the notice is returned 
showing that the letter was not delivered, a copy thereof shall be posted in a 
conspicuous place in or about the structure affected by such notice. Service of such 
notice in the foregoing manner upon the owner's agent or upon the person 
responsible for the structure shall constitute service of notice upon the owner. 

107.4 — 107.5 No changes. 

107.5 Penalties. Penalties for noncompliance with orders and notices shall be as set 
forth in section 106.1. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page     267



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

107.6 Deleted. 

. . . 

SECTION 111 
MEANS OF APPEAL 

111.1 Application of Appeal. 

(a) Any appeal under this section shall be heard by the Board of Building Appeals 
established under section 2-3-4, “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 1981, unless the 
city manager determines, due to the nature of the issues in a particular appeal, to 
appoint a hearing office under section 1-3-5, “Hearings and Determinations,” B.R.C. 
1981. 

(b) Any person directly affected by a decision of the code official or by an order issued 
under this code may appeal the decision or order on the ground that: 

(1) The decision or order was based on an error of fact or on an erroneous 
interpretation of this code or the rules legally adopted thereunder; 

(2) The code official has erroneously failed to approve an alternative material or 
method pursuant to Section 105.2 prior to its installation or use.  In determining 
such an appeal the board shall apply the standards of Section 105.2, but the board 
shall have no jurisdiction to consider if a material or method expressly prohibited 
by this code is an acceptable alternative; or 

(3) The code official has erroneously failed to grant a modification pursuant to 
Section  105.1 prior to its installation.  In determining such an appeal the board or 
hearing officer shall apply the standards of Section 105.1.  

The code official has the burden of proof under paragraph 1.  The 
appellant has the burden of proof on appeals brought pursuant to paragraphs 2. 
and 3.  The board or hearing officer shall determine the appeal and decide 
whether the code official’s interpretation or application of such code was correct 
or in error at a hearing under the procedures described in Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-
Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) An application for appeal must be filed in writing with the city manager within 
fourteen days after the date the decision or order was served. 

(d) An applicant for an appeal shall pay the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-47, 
“Zoning Adjustment and Building Appeals Filing Fees,” B.R.C. 1981.  The fee for an 
appeal heard by a hearing officer shall be the same as the fee for an appeal heard by 
the Board of Building Appeals. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page     268



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(e) The city manager may apply to the Board of Building Appeals, without fee, for an 
advisory opinion concerning alternative methods, applicability of specific 
requirements, approval of equipment and materials, and granting of special permission 
as contemplated in Sections 105.1 or 105.2 of the Property Maintenance Code. 

(f) The board or hearing officer has neither authority to interpret Chapter 1 (the 
administrative requirements) of this code, except as expressly provided in this section, 
nor, because this code sets minimum standards, to waive any requirement of this code. 

 
Any person directly affected by a decision of the code official or a notice and order 
issued under this code shall have the right of appeal to the board of appeals, provided 
under the procedures prescribed by chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 
1981, if a written application for appeal is filed with the code official within ten days 
after the day the decision, notice or order was served. An application for appeal shall 
be based on a claim that the true intent of this code or the rules legally adopted 
thereunder have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not fully 
apply, or the requirements of this code are adequately satisfied by other means. 

111.2 Membership of Board. The board of appeals shall consist of the Board of 
Building Appeals, established under section 2-3-4, "Board of Building Appeals," 
B.R.C. 1981, unless the city manager determines, due to the nature of the issues in a 
particular appeal, to appoint a hearing officer under section 1-3-5, "Hearings and 
Determinations," B.R.C. 1981.Deleted. 

111.2.1 Alternate Members. Deleted. 

112.2.2 Chairman. Deleted. 

112.2.3 Disqualification of Member. Deleted. 

112.2.4 Secretary. Deleted. 

112.2.5 Compensation of Members. Deleted. 

111.3 Notice of Meeting. Deleted. 

111.4 Open Hearing. Deleted. 

111.4.1 Procedure. Deleted. 

111.5 Postponed Hearing. Deleted. 

111.6 Board Decision. Deleted. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page     269



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

111.6.1 Records and Copies. Deleted. 

111.6.2 Administration. Deleted. 

111.7 Court Review. Deleted. 

111.8 Stays of Enforcement. Deleted. 

111.9 Fees. The fee for filing an appeal is that prescribed in section 4-20-47, "Zoning 
Adjustment and Building Appeals Filing Fees," B.R.C. 1981. Deleted. 

SECTION 112 
STOP WORK ORDER 

112.1 — 112.3 No changes. 

112.4 Failure to Comply. Any person who shall continue any work after having been 
served with a stop work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform 
to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall be subject to the penalties as detailed 
in section 106.1, "Violations Penalties." as detailed in section 106.4. 

. . . 

CHAPTER 3 
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

. . . 

SECTION 605 
ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT 

605.1 — 605.2 No changes. 

605.2.1 Non-grounding type electrical receptacles (two-prong receptacles). Where 
attachment to an equipment grounding conductor (two-wire circuits) does not exist in 
the receptacle enclosure, the installation shall comply with 1, 2 or 3 below. 

1. A two-prong receptacle shall be permitted to be replaced with another two-prong 
receptacle. 

2. A two-prong receptacle may be replaced with a ground-fault circuit interrupter-
type (GFCI) three-prong receptacle. These receptacles shall be marked "No 
Equipment Ground." An equipment grounding conductor shall not be connected 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page     270



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

from the GFCI-type receptacle to any outlet supplied from the GFCI-type 
receptacle. 

3. A two-prong receptacle may be replaced with a three-prong, grounding-type 
receptacle where supplied through a GFCI device. Three-prong, grounding-type 
receptacles, supplied through the GFCI shall be marked "GFCI Protected" and "No 
Equipment Ground." An equipment grounding conductor shall not be connected 
between the grounding-type receptacles. 

605.3 Luminaires. Deleted. 

605.4. Wiring. No changes. 

605.4605.5 Branch Circuits in Buildings with More Than One Occupancy. Each 
occupant shall have ready access to all circuit breakers protecting the conductors 
supplying that occupancy. 

605.5605.6 Flexible Cord Uses Not Permitted. Flexible cords and cables shall not be 
used: 

1. As a substitute for the fixed wiring of the structure. 

2. Where run through holes in walls, structural ceilings, suspended ceilings, 
dropped ceilings or floors. 

3. Where run through doorways, windows or similar openings. 

… 

CHAPTER 7 
FIRE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 

SECTIONS 701 — 703 
No changes. 

SECTION 704 
FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 

704.1 — 704.4 No changes. 

704.5 Residential Rental Smoke Alarms. In R-occupancies governed by chapter 10-
3, "Rental Licenses," B.R.C. 1981, smoke alarms shall be installed and inspected as 
required in this section. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page     271



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

704.6 Smoke Alarm Inspections. Smoke alarm inspections shall be conducted by the 
property owner or agent as detailed below. 

1. Smoke alarms that receive their primary power from the building wiring shall be 
checked for good operating condition once each year and if supplied with battery 
backup, the battery shall be replaced as necessary for proper function of the smoke 
alarm. 

2. Battery-powered smoke alarms shall be tested for proper function on an annual 
basis. Batteries shall be replaced as necessary for proper function of the smoke 
alarm. 

704.7 Fire Alarms. Fire alarms in existing residential structures shall be installed in 
accordance with chapter 10-8, section 907.3, "Fire Prevention Code," B.R.C. 1981. 

SECTION 705 
PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 

705.1 Where Required. Portable fire extinguishers shall be installed as required by 
the City of Boulder Fire Code Section 906. 

705.1.1 In new and existing R-1, R-2 and R-4 occupancies, portable fire 
extinguishers need only be installed when interior corridors and common areas 
exist in accordance with section 906.1 and table 906.3(2) for light (low) hazard 
occupancies and sections 906.3 through 906.9. 

APPENDIX A 
BOARDING STANDARD 

A101 — A103 No changes. 

APPENDIX B 
RENTAL HOUSING INSPECTION AND LICENSING 

B101 Scope. Appendix B sets standards for administering the rental housing 
maintenance, inspection and licensing process. 

B102 Rental Licenses. Residential rental licenses are applied for and renewed in 
accordance with chapter 10-3, "Rental Licenses," B.R.C. 1981. 

B103 Inspections. "Baseline" and "Renewal inspections" shall be performed and 
certified by licensed contractors as detailed in chapter 4-4, "Building Contractor 
License," B.R.C. 1981. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page     272



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

APPENDIX C  
ENERGY EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENT 

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL RENTAL STRUCTURES ENERGY CONSERVATION 

C101 

SCOPE 

C101.1 Scope. Appendix C sets standards for residential rental dwelling unit energy 
efficiency. Effective January 2, 2019, the energy efficiency requirements of this 
section shall apply to all residential rental dwelling units licensed according to B.R.C. 
1981, 10-3-2, Rental Licenses, except: 

1. Buildings that can be verified as meeting or exceeding the energy efficiency 
requirements of the Energy Conservation and Insulation Code, Chapter 10-7, 
B.R.C. 1981. 

2. Any manufactured home. 

3. Accessory Dwelling Units and Attached Owner Accessory Units as detailed in 
section 9-6-3, "Specific Use Standards Residential Uses." B.R.C. 1981. 

. . . 

Section 2.  Chapter 10-5, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-5 - BUILDING CODE 

10-5-1 Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health and safety by regulating the 
construction, alteration, repair, wrecking, and moving of structures in the city. The city council 
hereby adopts the 2006 2012 edition of the International Building Code and the 1997 edition of 
the Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings with certain amendments and 
deletions thereto found to be in the best interests of the residents of the city. 

10-5-2 Adoption of International Building Code with Modifications. 

(a) The 2006 2012 edition of the International Building Code of the International Code Council 
is hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Building Code and has the same force and 
effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, except as specifically amended by the provisions 
of this chapter. 

(b) The Appendix chapters I, “PATIO COVERS,;” and J, “GRADING,;” and K, 
“ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS,” and sections contained therein are adopted. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page     273



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(c) Section 101.1, “Title,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Building Code of the City of Boulder 
or building code, hereinafter referred to as “this code.” Where other codes are referenced in 
this code those code provisions shall not apply unless otherwise adopted by the City of 
Boulder. Where reference is made anywhere in this code to the “Department” or 
“Department of Building Safety” it shall have the same meaning as the “Division of 
Building Safety.” 

(d) Section 101.4, “Referenced codes,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Chapter 1, “Administration,” in this code shall also apply and serve as Chapter 1, 
“Administration,” in the following codes adopted by reference in this title: Chapter 
10-5.5, International Residential Code; Chapter 10-9, International Mechanical Code; 
Chapter 10-9.5, International Fuel Gas Code; and Chapter 10-10, International Plumbing 
Code, B.R.C. 1981. Where administrative provisions are expressly adopted, or adopted in 
an altered form, for use in those chapters, they shall supersede any conflicting provisions of 
the administrative provisions of this chapter. 

The other codes listed in Sections 101.4.1 through 101.4.7 6 and referenced elsewhere in 
this code shall be considered as part of the requirements of this code as applicable. 

(e) Section 101.4.5, “Property Maintenance,” is repealed.  Section 102.6, “Existing structures,” is 
amended by addition of the following:  

Existing structures and their systems, equipment, devices, installations and safeguards shall 
be maintained in proper operating condition in accordance with the original design and in a 
safe and sanitary condition.  Structures, their systems, equipment, devices, installations and 
safeguards required by this code shall be maintained in compliance with the code in effect 
when they were installed.  The owner or the owner’s designated agent shall be responsible 
for the maintenance of the structures, their systems, equipment, devices, installations and 
safeguards. To determine compliance with this provision, the city manager shall have 
authority to require a structure, equipment, system, device, installations or safeguards to be 
reinspected. 

(f) Section 103, “Department of Building Safety,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section 103 

“Division of Building Safety” means the administrative unit established by the city 
manager or the manager’s delegates, and the personnel assigned to the unit by the manager. 

(g) 104.8, “Liability,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Liability 

No employee of the city who enforces, attempts to enforce, or is authorized to enforce this 
code renders him or herself or the city liable to third parties for any damage or injury to the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page     274



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

person or property of such third parties as a result of the enforcement or non-enforcement 
of this code. The city assumes no duty of care by virtue of the adoption of this code. No 
person is justified in relying upon the approval of a plan, the results of an inspection, or the 
issuance of a certificate of inspection or occupancy, and such approvals, inspections, and 
certificates are not a guarantee that the plan or work so approved, inspected, or certificated 
in fact complies with all the requirements of this code. It is the duty of the person owning, 
controlling, or constructing any building or structure to insure that the work is done in 
accordance with the requirements of this code, and it is such persons and not the city who 
are responsible for damages caused by negligent breach of such duty. 

(h)_Subsection 104.10.1, “Flood hazard areas,” is repealed. 

(hi) Section 105.2, “Work exempt from permit,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

105.2 Work Exempt from permit. Exemptions from the building permit requirements of this 
code do not grant authorization for any work to be done in violation of the requirements of 
this code or any other laws or ordinances of the city. Building permits shall not be required 
for the following: 

General: 

1. One story detached non-conditioned buildings accessory to a residential structure and 
not more than 80 square feet in area or ten feet in height and not being served by any 
electrical, mechanical or plumbing fixtures or systems. 

2. Fences not over three six feet high. 

3. Retaining walls which are not over 3 feet in height measured from the bottom of the 
footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or impounding Class I, II, or 
III-A flammable liquids. 

4. Sidewalks and driveways not more than thirty inches above grade and not over any 
basement or story below and which are not part of an accessible route. 

5. Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting, cabinets, countertops, and similar finish work. 

6. Temporary motion picture, television, and theater stage sets and scenery. 

7. Prefabricated swimming pools accessory to a Group R-3 occupancy which are less 
than 24 inches deep, do not exceed 5,000 gallons, and are installed entirely above ground. 

8. Shade cloth structures constructed for nursery or agricultural purposes and not 
including service systems. 

9. Swings and other playground equipment accessory to detached one-and two-family 
dwellings. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page     275



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

10. Window awnings in Group R and Group U occupancies supported entirely by an 
exterior wall and which do not project more than 54 inches from the exterior wall. 

11. Moveable cases, counters and partitions not over 5 feet 9 inches in height. 

12. Replacement of windows in low-rise residential buildings that are three-stories or less 
in height. 

 

13. Replacement of exterior siding on low-rise residential buildings that are three-stories 
or less in height. 

 

14. Building energy efficiency components that (a) are required as part of a City energy 
efficiency program; (b) do not include any electrical, heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning equipment, solar photo voltaic and solar hot water heating systems; and (c) 
are inspected by a HERS rater (a Home Energy Rating System rater certified through 
Residential Energy Services Network) or a city licensed energy inspector as defined in 
chapter 4-4, "Building Contractor License," B.R.C. 1981. 

 

Electrical: 

Minor repair and maintenance work, including the replacement of lamps or the 
connection of approved portable electrical equipment to approved permanently installed 
receptacles, radio and television transmitting stations, temporary testing systems for the 
testing or servicing of electrical systems or apparatus and those items in Article 90.2 (B) 
of the electrical code. 

Gas: 

1. Portable heating appliances. 

2. Replacement of any minor part that does not alter approval of equipment or make such 
equipment unsafe. 

Mechanical: 

1. Portable heating appliance, portable cooling unit, portable evaporative cooler or 
portable ventilation equipment. 

2. Steam, hot, or chilled water piping within any heating or cooling equipment regulated 
by this code. 

3. Replacement of any part which does not alter an approval or listing or make any 
appliance or equipment unsafe. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page     276



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

4. Self contained refrigeration system containing ten pounds (4.54 kg) or less of 
refrigerant and actuated by motors of one horsepower (746 W) or less. 

Plumbing: 

1. The stopping of leaks in drains, water, soil, waste, or vent pipe provided, however, that 
if any concealed trap, drain pipe, water, soil, waste or vent pipe becomes defective and it 
becomes necessary to remove and replace the same with new material, such work shall be 
considered as new work and a permit shall be obtained and inspection made as provided 
in this code. 

2. The clearing of stoppages or the repairing of leaks in pipes, valves, or fixtures, and the 
replacement of water closets, provided such repairs do not involve or require the 
replacement or rearrangement of valves or pipes. 

(ij) A paragraph is added to Section 105.3.1, “Action on application,” to read: 

No building permit shall be issued until approved by every department of the city or Boulder 
County that has applicable regulations, including, without limitation, the following 
departments: building, flood control, utilities, wastewater, health, fire, engineering, zoning, 
planning, parks, and city clerk. 

(jk) Section 105.3.2, “Time limitation of application,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

105.3.2 Time limitation of application. An application for a permit for any proposed work 
shall be deemed to have been abandoned one hundred eighty days after the date of filing 
unless the permit has been issued; except that the building official is authorized to grant not 
more than two extensions of time for additional periods not exceeding ninety 180 days each. 
The extension shall be requested in writing before the expiration date and justifiable cause 
demonstrated. 

(kl) Section 105.5, "Expiration," is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section 105.5 Expiration. Every permit issued shall become invalid unless the work on the 
site authorized by such permit is commenced within one hundred eighty days after its 
issuance, or if the work authorized on the site by such permit is suspended or abandoned for a 
period of one hundred eighty days after the time the work is commenced. The building 
official is authorized to grant in writing one or more extensions of time for periods not more 
than one hundred eighty days each. The extension shall be requested in writing and 
justifiable cause demonstrated. Every permit issued by the building official under the 
provisions of this code shall expire by limitation and become null and void if the building or 
work authorized by such permit is not completed and approved for occupancy within three 
years from the date the permit was issued. The permit fee for renewals may be prorated based 
on the amount of work completed and approved under the previous permit. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page     277



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(lm) Section 106.1107.1, “Submittal DocumentsGeneral,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

106.1107.1 Submittal DocumentsGeneral. An applicant for a building permit shall submit a 
minimum of two sets of plans and specifications with each application when required by 
the building official for enforcement of any provisions of this code. 

(1) An professional engineer or architect registered in the State of Colorado shall prepare 
the plans and specifications for and observe the construction of all buildings except for the 
following: 

(a) Detached dwellings intended solely for private use, occupancy, or resale, 
including accessory buildings commonly associated with the same; 

(b) Farm buildings and buildings for the marketing, storage, or processing of farm 
products; 

(c) Minor additions, alterations, or repairs to the foregoing buildings that do not cause 
the completed buildings to exceed the applicable limitations herein set forth; or 

(d) Non-structural alterations of any nature to any building, if such alterations do not 
affect the safety of the building. 

(2) Drawings and specifications for footings and foundations shall bear the seal and 
signature of a professional engineer or architect registered in Colorado and be designed as 
specified in chapter 18 of the building code for all occupancies. except those classified as 
R-3 and U, which shall be designed as specified in Chapter 4 of the residential code.  

Exceptions:  

(a) Detached structures not intended for human occupancy;  

(b) Additions to existing detached dwellings not exceeding 150 square feet. 

 (mn)106.3.2107.3.2, “Previous Aapprovals,” is amended to read: 

106.3.2107.3.2 Previous Approvals. This code shall not require changes in the construction 
documents, construction or designated occupancy of a structure for which a lawful permit 
has heretofore been issued or otherwise lawfully authorized, and the constraints of which 
have been pursued in good faith within one hundred eighty days after the effective date of 
this code and has not been abandoned.  No person shall fail to comply with all of the 
conditions of such building permit and the provision of the building code under which such 
building permit has been issued. 

(no) Section 108.3109.3, “Building Ppermit Vvaluations,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

108.3109.3 Building permit valuation. The valuation for buildings shall be as set forth in 
subsections 4-20-4(d) and (e), B.R.C. 1981. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page     278



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(op) Section 112113, “Board of Appeals,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

 Section 112113 Appeals and Advisory Opinions. 

(a) Any appeal under this section shall be heard by the Board of Building Appeals 
established under section 2-3-4, “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 1981, unless the city 
manager determines, due to the nature of the issues in a particular appeal, to appoint a 
hearing officer under section 1-3-5, “Hearings and Determinations,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(b)(a) A person refused a building permit or refused approval of work done under a permit 
on the grounds that the proposed or completed construction fails to comply with this code 
or any other city building code other than the fire code may appeal the decision to the board 
of zoning adjustment and building appeals on the ground that: 

(1.) The denial was based on an error in fact or an erroneous interpretation of such 
code by the city manager; 

(2.) The city manager has erroneously failed to approve an alternate material or 
method pursuant to Section 104.11 prior to its installation or use. In determining such 
an appeal the board or hearing officer shall apply the standards of Section 104.11, but 
the board or hearing officer shall have no jurisdiction to consider if a material or 
method expressly prohibited by this code is an acceptable alternative; or 

(3.) The city manager has erroneously failed to grant a modification pursuant to 
Section 104.10 prior to its installation. In determining such an appeal the board or 
hearing officer shall apply the standards of Section 104.10; or. 

(4.) The city manager has erroneously failed to approve an alternative design pursuant 
to Section K105 prior to its installation or use.  In determining such an appeal, the 
board or hearing officer shall apply the standards of Section K105, but the board or 
hearing officer shall have no jurisdiction to consider if a design expressly prohibited 
by this code is an acceptable alternative.  

The city manager has the burden of proof under paragraph 1. The appellant has the 
burden of proof on appeals brought pursuant to paragraphs 2, and 3 and 4. The board 
or hearing officer shall determine the appeal and decide whether the city manager’s 
interpretation or application of such code was correct or in error at a hearing under 
the procedures described by Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c)(b) Any person whose building permit or certificate of occupancy or certificate of 
completion has been suspended or revoked may appeal such action by the city manager to 
the board of building appeals on the ground that the suspension or revocation was based on 
an error in fact or an erroneous application of this code to the facts. The city manager has 
the burden of proving the facts upon which the manager relies at such a hearing. 

(d) An application for appeal must be filed in writing with the city manager within fourteen 
days after the date of refusal of the building permit or approval of work performed under 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page     279



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

the permit or revocation or suspension of the building permit or certificate of occupancy or 
certificate of completion stating the basis for appeal. 

(e)(c) An applicant for an appeal to the board of appeals shall pay the fee prescribed by 
Section 4-20-47, “Zoning Adjustment and Building Appeals Filing Fees,” B.R.C. 1981.  
The fee for an appeal heard by a hearing officer shall be the same as the fee for an appeal 
heard by the Board of Building Appeals. 

(f)(d) The city manager may apply to the board of appealsBoard of Building Appeals, 
without fee, for an advisory opinion concerning alternative methods, applicability of 
specific requirements, approval of equipment and materials, and granting of special 
permission as contemplated in Sections 104.10 or 104.11 of the Building Code. 

(g)(e) The board of building appealsor hearing officer has no authority to interpret Chapter 
1 (the administrative requirements) and Chapter 34 of this code except as expressly 
provided in this section, nor, because this code sets minimum standards, to waive any 
requirement of this code. 

(pq) Section 113114, “Violations,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Violations Section 113114 Violations.. 
(a) General Provisions 

(1)  No person shall violate a provision of this code, or fail to comply therewith, or with 
any of the requirements thereof.  No person shall fail to comply with any order issued by 
the code official under this code. No person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, extend, 
repair, move, remove, improve, convert, demolish, equip, use, occupy, or maintain any 
building or structure in the City or cause or permit the same to be done except in 
conformity with all of the provisions of this code and in conformity with the terms and 
conditions of any permit, certificate, or other approval issued under this code, or of any 
directive of the building official.   

(2) In accordance with the provisions of section 5-2-11, “Prosecution of Multiple Counts 
for Same Act,” B.R.C. 1981, each day during which illegal construction, alteration, 
maintenance, occupancy, or use continues, constitutes a separate offense remediable 
through the enforcement provisions of this code. 

(3) The owner, tenant, and occupant of a structure or land, and the agents of each of 
them, are jointly and severally liable for any violation of this code with respect to such 
structure or land. 

(4) The remedies for any violation of any provision of this code or of any permit, 
certificate, or other approval issued under this code or other City of Boulder code, or of 
any directive of the code official, may be pursued singly or in combination.   

(5) If any person fails or refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under this section, 
the city manager may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, certify due and 
unpaid charges to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as provided by section 2-

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page     280



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to County Treasurer 
for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(b)(a) Administrative Procedures and Remedies 
(1) If the city manager finds that a violation of any provision of this title code or any 
approval granted under this title code exists, the manager, after notice and an opportunity 
for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," 
B.R.C. 1981, may take any one or more of the following actions to remedy the violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty according to the following schedule: 

(i) For the first violation of the provision or approval, $100.00; 

(ii) For the second violation of the same provision or approval, $300.00; and 

(iii) For the third violation of the same provision or approval, $1,000.00; 

(B) For a violation concerning the use of a residential building under a rental license, 
revoke such license; 

(C) Require the filing of a declaration of use as provided in subsection (e) of this 
section.  If the city manager determines that a person is using a structure in a way that 
might mislead a reasonable person to believe that such use is a use by right or 
otherwise authorized by this title, the manager may require such person to sign under 
oath a declaration of use that defines the limited nature of the use and to record such 
declaration in the office of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder against the title to 
the land. In addition to all other remedies and actions that the city manager is 
authorized to use under the Boulder Revised Code or other applicable federal, state or 
local laws to enforce the provisions of this title, the city manager is authorized to 
withhold any approval affecting such structure or land, including, without limitation, 
a building permit, use review, site review, subdivision, floodplain development 
permit, or wetland permit until such time as the person submits a declaration of use 
that is in a form acceptable to the city manager; or 

(D) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
this title code or any approval granted under this titlecode. 

(2) Prior to the hearing, the city manager may issue an order that no person shall perform 
any work on any structure or land, except to correct any violation found by the manager 
to exist with respect to such structure or land. 

(3) If notice is given to the city manager at least forty-eight hours before the time and 
date set forth in the notice of hearing on any violation that the violation has been 
corrected, the manager will reinspect the structure or land. If the manager finds that the 
violation has been corrected, the manager may cancel the hearing. 

(4) No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the manager under this 
section. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page     281



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(c)(b) Criminal Penalties. No person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, 
improve, remove, convert or demolish, equip, use, occupy, or maintain any building or 
structure in the City or cause or permit the same to be done, contrary to or in violation of any 
of the provisions of the building code. Violations of the buildingthis code are punishable as 
provided in Section 5-2-4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 
(d) Other Remedies. The city attorney may maintain an action for damages, declaratory 
relief, specific performance, injunction, or any other appropriate relief in the District Court in 
and for the County of Boulder for any violation of any provision of this code or any approval 
granted under this code. 
(e) Declaration of Use. If the city manager determines that a person is using a structure in a 
way that might mislead a reasonable person to believe that such use is a use by right or 
otherwise authorized by this title, the manager may require such person to sign under oath a 
declaration of use that defines the limited nature of the use and to record such declaration in 
the office of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder against the title to the land. In addition 
to all other remedies and actions that the city manager is authorized to use under the Boulder 
Revised Code or other applicable federal, state or local laws to enforce the provisions of this 
code, the city manager is authorized to withhold any approval affecting such structure or 
land, including, without limitation, a building permit, use review, site review, subdivision, 
floodplain development permit, or wetland permit until such time as the person submits a 
declaration of use that is in a form acceptable to the city manager. 

(r)  Section 116.1, “Conditions,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 
116.1 Conditions.  Premises, structures or existing equipment that are or hereafter become 
unsafe, insanitary or deficient because of inadequate means of egress facilities, inadequate 
light and ventilation, or which constitute a fire hazard, or are otherwise dangerous to human 
life or the public welfare, or that involve illegal or improper occupancy or inadequate 
maintenance, shall be deemed an unsafe condition.  Unsafe premises shall be made safe and 
unsafe structures shall be taken down and removed or made safe, as the building official 
deems necessary and as provided for in this section.  A vacant structure that is not secured 
against entry shall be deemed unsafe. 

(s)  Section 116.3, “Notice,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 
116.3 Notice.  If an unsafe condition is found, the building official shall serve on the owner, 
agent, or person in control of the structure or premises, a written notice that describes the 
condition deemed unsafe and specifies the required repairs, improvements, or modifications 
to be made to abate the unsafe condition, or that requires the unsafe structure to be 
demolished within a stipulated time.  Such notice shall require the person thus notified to 
declare immediately to the building official acceptance or rejection of the terms of the order. 

(t)  The last two sentences of Section 116.4, “Method of service,” are amended to read as 
follows: 

If the certified or registered letter is returned showing that the letter was not delivered, a copy 
thereof shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises or in or about the structure 
affected by such notice. Service of such notice in the foregoing manner upon the owner’s 
agent or upon the person responsible for the premises or structure shall constitute service of 
notice upon the owner. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page     282



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(u)  Section 116.5, “Restoration,” is amended by adding the following sentence: 
The abatement of an unsafe condition of premises shall comply with the requirements of this 
code. 

(qv)The definition of “Building Official” in Section 202 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

BUILDING OFFICIAL is the city manager. 

(rw) Section 202, “Definitions,” is amended by the addition of the following new definition: 

PERMIT ISSUANCE is the date that the approved building permit is paid for and received 
back from the city manager by the applicant or a representative of the applicant. 

(x) A new subsection 6. is added to section 708.1, “General.” to read:  

6. Walls separating marijuana growing, processing and dispensing occupancies from adjacent 
occupancies. 

(s)(y) A paragraph is added to Section (F) 903.2, “Where required,” to read: 

The maximum fire area without an automatic sprinkler system shall be determined by 
Section 903.1903.2 of the fire code. 

(t) Section 1007.3, “Exit Stairways”, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

1007.3 Exit Stairways.  In order to be considered part of an accessible means of egress, an exit 
stairway shall have a clear width of 48 inches (1219 mm) minimum between handrails and shall 
either incorporate an area of refuge within an enlarged floor-level landing or shall be accessed 
from either an area of refuge complying with Section 1007.6 or a horizontal exit. 

Exceptions: 

The area of refuge is not required at unenclosed interior exit stairways as permitted by Section 
1020.1 in buildings or facilities that are equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system 
installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2. 

The clear width of 48 inches (1219 mm) between handrails is not required at exit stairways in 
buildings of facilities equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system installed in 
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2. 

Areas of refuge are not required at exit stairways in buildings or facilities equipped throughout 
by an automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2. 

The clear width of 48 inches (1219 mm) between handrails is not required for exit stairways 
accessed from a horizontal exit. 

Areas of refuge are not required at exit stairways serving open parking garages. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page     283



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Areas of refuge are not required for smoke protected seating areas complying with Section 
1025.6.2. 

The areas of refuge are not required in Group R-2 occupancies. 

(z)   Section 907.2.11, “Single- and multiple-station smoke alarms,” is amended by the addition 
of the following subsections: 

907.2.11.5 Alterations, repairs, and enlargements. (1) When buildings or structures, or 
portions of buildings or structures classified as Group R are altered, repaired or enlarged and 
the work requires a building permit or (2) when one or more sleeping rooms are added or 
created, smoke alarms shall be installed for each dwelling or sleeping unit affected by such 
work in accordance with Section 907.2.11, except as provided otherwise in this Section or its 
Subsections. 

Exceptions:   

1. Work involving solely the exterior surfaces of the building or structure, such as 
replacement of roofing or siding or the addition of a porch or deck. 

2. Installation, alterations, and repairs of plumbing or mechanical systems. 

907.2.11.5.1 Exception to interconnection.  Section 907.2.11.3 applies except that 
interconnection of smoke alarms in existing areas shall not be required where alterations 
and repairs do not include removal of interior wall and ceiling finishes exposing the 
structure unless an attic, crawl space or basement is available to provide access for 
interconnection without removal of interior finishes. 

907.2.11.5.2 Exception to power source.  Section 907.2.11.4 applies except that (1) 
smoke alarms may be battery operated when installed in a building without commercial 
power and (2) hard wired smoke alarms shall not be required in existing areas where 
alterations or repairs do not result in the removal of interior wall and ceiling finishes 
exposing the structure unless an attic, crawlspace or basement is available to provide 
access for hard wiring without removal of interior finishes. 

(t)(aa) Section 1405.3, “Vapor Retarders” is amended by adding two exceptions: 

4. Commercial and multiple-residence buildings complying with the 2012 International 
Energy Conservation Code section C402.4, “Air leakage (mandatory).” 

5. Residential buildings complying with the 2012 International Energy Conservation 
Code section R402.4, “Air leakage (mandatory).” 

(u)(bb) Section 1505.1, “General,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

1505.1 General. All roof assemblies and roof coverings required to be listed by this section  
shall be tested in accordance with ASTM Standard E 108 or UL Standard 790. Class A roofs 
and the exceptions noted in 1505.3 for class B roofs as described in this chapter 15 are the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page     284



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

only roof assemblies and roof coverings allowed to be installed on any new or existing 
building within the city of Boulder. Wood shakes, wood shingles and wood roof covering 
materials are prohibited except as provided in Section 10-5-5, ”Wood Roof Covering 
Materials Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981, for certain minimal repairs. 

(v)(cc) Section 1608.1, “General,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

1608.1 General. The minimum roof snow load shall be thirty pounds per square foot, but the 
design roof load shall not be less than that determined by Section 1607. 

(dd) Section 1608.2, “Ground snow loads,” is deleted. 

(w)(ee) Section 1609.3.1, “Basic Wwind speed conversion,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

 1609.3.1 Wind velocities. In Table 1609.3.1, the three second gust wind speed for the city 
shall be 110 miles per hour. 

1609.3 Basic wind speed. The ultimate design wind speed, Vult, in mph, for the determination 
of wind loads, shall be in accordance with local jurisdiction requirements.  The ultimate 
design winds speeds, Vult, determined by the local jurisdiction shall be in accordance with 
Section 26.5.1 of ASCE 7.  Per the Colorado Front Range Wind Table, the ultimate design 
wind speed shall be 130 mph for areas west of Broadway Street and 120 mph for areas east 
of Broadway Street. 

(x)(ff) Sections 1612.3, 1612.4, and 1612.5 are repealed. 

(gg) Section 1705, “Required Verification and Inspection,” is amended by the following 
Subsection: 

1705.18. Special inspection for medical gas systems.  Medical gas systems shall be tested as 
detailed in Chapter 12, “Special Piping and Storage Systems,” of the City of  Boulder 
Plumbing Code. 

 (hh) Section J103, “Permits Required,” of Appendix J, “GRADING,” is amended by adding the 
following subsections: 

J103.3 Compliance with code and permit requirements.  No person shall fail to perform and 
no property owner shall fail to perform or fail to cause the performance of all grading in 
compliance with this code, the Boulder Revised Code, and the conditions of the grading 
permit.   

J103.4 No adverse affects.  No person shall perform and no property owner shall perform or 
fail to prevent any grading that adversely affects the property of another without first 
obtaining the consent of the owner of such property. 

J103.5  Unsafe premises.  No person shall perform and no property owner shall perform or 
fail to prevent grading that results in any premises that are unsafe.  For purposes of this 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page     285



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Appendix J, premises are considered unsafe if they are found to be dangerous to life, health, 
property, or the safety of the public.   

J103.6  Abatement of unsafe premises.  If the city manager determines that grading is not 
performed in accordance with the law and resulted in unsafe premises, the city may notify the 
owner of the unsafe premises, agent, or other person in control of the premises in accordance 
with Section 116.3 of this code.  If the person so notified fails to abate the unsafe condition 
as required by the notice, the city manager may enter the property, pursuant to an 
administrative warrant issued by the municipal court, and abate the unsafe condition.  The 
city manager may collect the full cost of the abatement and any expense to the city related to 
the abatement against the property owner, agent, or other person in control of the premises, 
and against the financial guarantee provided under Subsection J103.8.  The permit holder, 
property owner and guarantor shall be jointly and severally liable for such costs and 
expenses.  If the property owner fails or refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under 
this subsection, the city manager may certify due and unpaid charges, including interest, to 
the Boulder County Treasurer for collection, as provided in Section 2-2-12, “City Manager 
May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,’ B.R.C. 
1981. 

J103.7 Financial guarantee.  Prior to the issuance of a permit under this Appendix J, 
“Grading,” for any work on steep slope lots with a 15 percent or greater slope and on any 
projects with a cut, fill, or excavation of ten feet or more or cut, fill, or excavation less than 
two feet from the property line, the permittee or property owner shall provide a financial 
security in the form of a performance bond or other form of guarantee approved by the city 
manager that will satisfy the objectives of this subsection, for the benefit of the city to secure 
the abatement of  an unsafe condition of any premises that may result from grading work.  
The performance bond or other financial guarantee shall be provided for a period of two 
years, following the expiration of the permit, and shall be for $10,000 for construction costs 
less than $10,000 and for the value of the project permit for construction costs greater than 
$10,000.  At the time of permit application, the permittee shall submit documentation of the 
project costs, subject to review and approval by the City Manager.  A bond shall be issued by 
a company licensed to do business in Colorado and shall be in a form acceptable to the City 
Attorney.  The city manager shall review the performance bond or other financial guarantee 
annually to assure that it meets the term requirements and the full current cost of the 
completion of the work that is guaranteed and may require the permittee to augment the 
performance bond or other financial guarantee amount to meet such costs.       

 (y)(ii) A new Cchapter 99 is added to the Building Code to read: 

CHAPTER 99. FENCES AND WALLS. 

Section 9901. Definitions. 

(1) As used herein, the term “wall” means a free standing structure such as a fence or 
retaining wall. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page     286



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(2) As used herein and in Section 9-3.3-6, “Fences, Hedges, and Walls,” B.R.C. 1981, the 
term “finished grade” means the top surfaces of lawns, walks, drives, or other improved 
surfaces after completion of construction or grading operations, but not including 
vegetation growing on the surface. 

(3) For purposes of determining the maximum height allowable for any fence or wall 
other than wind load height as specified in subsection (4) of this section, refer to Section 
9-3.3-6, “Fences, Hedges, and Walls,” B.R.C. 1981, and the diagram below. 

[SPACE FOR DIAGRAM HERE] B.R.C. 9-9-15 (c) 

4) For purposes of determining wind load design in the case of a fence erected above a 
retaining wall, the height of such fence means the distance from the top of the retaining 
wall to the top of the fence, as illustrated in the figure below: 

[SPACE FOR DIAGRAM HERE] B.R.C. 9-9-15 (c) 

(5) Nothing in this section is intended to prohibit the installation of a guardrail for safety 
purposes which otherwise conforms to the requirements of this code. 

Section 9902. All fences and walls hereafter installed in the city shall comply with Section 9-
3.3-6, “Fences, Hedges, and Walls,” B.R.C. 1981, and the following provisions: 

(1) All fences and walls thirty-six inches high and lower shall have a wind load design of 
ten pounds per square foot or shall conform to paragraph (3) of this section. 

(2) All fences and walls thirty-seven through eighty-four inches high shall have a wind 
load design of twenty pounds per square foot or shall conform to paragraph (3) of this 
section. 

(3) As an alternative to the requirements of paragraphs (1) or (2), a wood fence that does 
not exceed seven feet in height may be installed if the following requirements are met: 

(a) All posts shall be at least four inch by four inch timber or two inch Schedule 40 
pipe and shall be set at least twenty-four inches in the ground in concrete; 

(b) All wood below grade shall be cedar, redwood, or penta pressure treated fir; 

(c) Post spacing shall be arranged so that the area of the fence between posts does not 
exceed 30 square feet; 

(d) Wood fencing more than fifty percent open may exceed the 30 square foot post 
spacing requirements if designed for a ten pound wind load. 

(4) Chain link fences. On all chain link fences, the fence posts shall be at least one and 
one-half inch diameter pipe, and shall be set at least twenty-four inches in the ground in 
concrete. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page     287



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(5) For the purpose of minimizing traffic hazards at street intersections by improving 
visibility for converging vehicles, obstructions higher than thirty inches above the 
adjacent top or curb elevation are not permitted to be planted, placed, or erected on any 
corner lot within the triangular portion of land designated as “Restricted Area” in the 
figure below or on the adjacent right of way: 

[SPACE FOR DIAGRAM HERE] 

6) Where permitted, fences exceeding seven feet in height shall conform to the zoning 
requirements for accessory structures. 

10-5-3 Adoption of Uniform Code for Abatement of Dangerous Buildings with 
Modifications. (Repealed) 

The 1997 edition of the Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings of the 
International Conference of Building Officials is hereby adopted by reference as the City of 
Boulder’s Abatement Code and has the same force and effect as though fully set forth in this 
chapter, except as specifically amended by the provisions of this section set forth below: 

(a) Section 201.3, “Right of Entry,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section 201.3 Right of Entry.  

(1) Whenever the city manager has probable cause to believe that there exists in any building or 
upon any premises any condition or code violation which makes such building or premises 
unsafe, dangerous, or hazardous, and the manager determines that an inspection of the property 
is necessary to discover the extent of the hazard and to order the appropriate corrections, the 
manager shall request entry from the occupants or, if the building is unoccupied, from the owner 
or any other person having charge or control over the building or premises. If entry is refused, or 
if the manager is unable, after making reasonable efforts, to locate a person responsible for an 
unoccupied building, or such person does not respond to the manager’s request, the manager 
shall apply to a judge of the municipal court for an inspection warrant pursuant to Subsection 2-
6-3(e), B.R.C. 1981. 

(2) In cases of emergency where there is imminent danger of injury to any person or of damage 
to property of another, the manager may enter any property to make any necessary inspections 
under this code or to take any other action authorized by this code without permission or warrant. 

(b) Section 203, “Violations,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Violations 

Section 203. (1) No person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, move, improve, remove, 
convert or demolish, equip, use, occupy or maintain any building or structure or cause or permit 
the same to be done in violation of the Code for Abatement of Dangerous Buildings. (2) No 
owner and no person having charge or control over any building or premises shall fail to comply 
with any order issued to such person under the Code for Abatement of Dangerous Buildings. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page     288



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(c) Section 205.1, “Board of Appeals,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Appeals 

Section 205.1. 

(a) The record owner of a building or the owner’s authorized agent or any person with any other 
legal interest in the building may appeal any order issued pursuant to Section 401.2 to the board 
of building appeals on the ground that such order was based on an erroneous interpretation or 
application of this or any other city code by the city manager. The city manager has the burden 
of proof in such an appeal. The board shall determine whether the city manager’s interpretation 
or application of such code was correct or in error at a hearing under the procedures described by 
Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. 

[SPACE FOR DIAGRAM HERE] (b) An applicant for an appeal to the board of building 
appeals shall pay the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-47, “Zoning Adjustment and Building 
Appeals Filing Fees,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) The board of building appeals has no authority to interpret the administrative provisions of 
this code nor may the board waive any requirement of this code. 

(d) The definition of “housing code” in Section 301, “General,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read: 

HOUSING CODE means Chapter 10-2, “Housing Code,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(e) The introductory paragraph of Section 302, “Dangerous Building,” is repealed and reenacted 
to read: 

For the purposes of this code, any building or structure which has any or all of the conditions or 
defects hereinafter described shall be deemed to be a dangerous building. 

(f) Paragraphs 4 and 5 of Section 401.2, “Notice and Order,” and Sections 401.4 and 401.5 are 
repealed and reenacted to read: 

4. Statements advising that if any required repair or demolition work (without vacation also 
being required) is not commenced within the time specified, the city manager: 

(I) will order the building vacated and posted to prevent further occupancy until the work is 
completed; 

(II) may proceed to cause the work to be done and charge the costs thereof against the property 
or its owner pursuant to Section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and 
Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981; and 

(III) may cause a summons and complaint to be served upon the property owner or any person 
having charge or control over the building or premises for failure to make required repairs or 
demolition within the time specified. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 33Packet Page     289



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

5. Statements advising: 

(I) that any person having any record title or legal interest in the building may appeal from the 
notice and order or any action of the city manager to the board of building appeals, provided the 
appeal is made in writing as provided in this code and filed with the city manager within ten days 
from the date of service of such notice and order; and 

(II) that failure to appeal will constitute a waiver of all right to an administrative hearing and 
determination of the matter. 

401.4 The method of service shall be as prescribed in Section 1-3-3, “Notice of Agency Action,” 
B.R.C. 1981. 

(g) The final paragraph of Section 501.1 is repealed. 

(h) Chapter 6, “Procedure for Conduct of Hearing Appeals,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Chapter 6. 

Appeal Procedure. Appeals shall be heard pursuant to Section  1-3-5, “Hearings and 
Determinations,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(I) Section 801.2, “Costs,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

The cost of such work plus twenty percent for administrative overhead shall be billed to the 
record owner of the property, and if not paid within thirty days of billing may be collected 
pursuant to Section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to 
County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(i) Chapter 9, “Recovery of Cost of Repair or Demolition,” is repealed. 

10-5-4 3 Building Permit Fees. 

Building permit fees are those prescribed by Subsection 4-20-4(c), B.R.C. 1981. Fees for other 
permits issued pursuant to this chapter and charges for services are those prescribed by 
Subsection 4-20-4(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

10-5-5 4 Wood Roof Covering Materials Prohibited. 

(a) No person shall install or cause to be installed any wood roof covering materials, including, 
without limitation, wood shakes or wood shingles. This prohibition includes wood roof covering 
materials with fire retardant treatments of any kind. 

(b) It shall be a specific defense to a charge of violation of subsection (a) of this section that the 
wood roof covering materials were installed before January 1, 2014, to repair portions of an 
existing wood roof, that the repair wood roof covering materials were factory pressure treated so 
as to be fire retardant and are approved as meeting Class B standards in accordance with Section 
1501.1 of the building code, and that the wood roof covering materials were installed in a 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 34Packet Page     290



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

quantity not exceeding fifty percent of the roof surface in any three-hundred-sixty-five-day 
period. 

(c)(b) No person owning a building with wood roof covering materials shall fail to remove or 
cause to be removed from the building all wood roof covering materials before January 1, 2014, 
and to replace the removed roofing with approved roof covering materials which conform to the 
International Building Code as adopted, and no person shall thereafter take possession or 
ownership of a building with wood roof covering materials. 

(d)(c) The following additional definition applies to this section and to Chapter 15 of the 
building code: 

“Wood roof covering material” means an exterior surface material used as a top covering and 
made of wood. “Wood,” for the purposes of this definition, means any natural or composite 
material containing at least fifty percent wood by volume. 

Section 3.  Chapter 10-5.5, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-5.5 – RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CODE 

10-5.5-1 Legislative Intent.   

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare by 
regulating the construction, alteration movement, enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, 
use and occupancy, location, removal and demolition of detached one and two-family dwellings 
and townhouses, not more than three stories above grade in height with a separate means of 
egress, and their accessory structures.  The city council hereby adopts the 20062012 edition of 
the International Residential Code with certain amendments thereto found to be in the best 
interests of the city.  

10-5.5-2 Adoption of the International Residential Code with Modifications.  

(a) The 2006 2012 edition of the International Residential Code of the International Code 
Council is hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Residential Building Code and has 
the same force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, except as specifically amended 
by the provisions of this chapter.  

(b) The Appendix chapters D, E, G, H, J, K, and OP and sections contained therein are adopted.  

(c) Section R101.1 “Title” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

R101.1 Title. These provisions shall be known as the Residential Code of the City of Boulder or 
residential code and shall be cited as such and will be referred to herein as “this code.”.  

(d) Sections R102 through R114 are repealed. This code shall be administered in accordance 
with Chapter 1, “Administration,” of the International Building Code as adopted, with 
amendments, by Section 10-5-2, “Adoption of International Building Code With Modifications,” 
B.R.C. 1981.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 35Packet Page     291



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(e) The following definitions are added to Section R202, “Definitions”: 

NEW DWELLING UNIT.  A dwelling unit is considered to be a new dwelling unit when 
the entire structure is newly built and when the dwelling unit is built on top of an existing 
foundation, such as caissons, footings, and other foundation systems, that remains from a 
demolished structure.  An addition to a dwelling unit is considered a new dwelling unit 
when the floor area of the addition equals or exceeds 200% percent of the floor area of 
the existing dwelling unit. 

STORAGE ROOMS OR SPACES. Storage rooms or spaces are rooms or spaces with a 
level of finish sufficient only to make the room usable for the intended storage purposes.  
Rooms or areas that exceed these minimums will be considered habitable space and will 
have to meet the code requirements applicable to habitable space. 

(f) A new sentence is added to the end of Section 301.1, “Application,” stating: 

Structural calculations demonstrating how the proposed construction meets the applicable 
requirements for load supports must be provided to the building official. 

(e) (g) The climatic and geographic design criteria applicable to Table R301.2 (1) are:  

Ground Snow Load = thirty pounds per square foot with a minimum Roof Snow Load of 
30 pounds per square foot. 

Three second wind gust velocity = 110 MPH 120 MPH east of Broadway, 130 MPH west 
of Broadway 

Seismic Design Category = B  

Weathering = severe  

Frost line depth = 32 inches  

Termite = slight  

Decay = none to slight 

Winter Design Temp = 2 degrees Fahrenheit  

Ice barrier underlayment required = NO  

Flood Hazards = See B.R.C. 1981 Sections 9-3-3 through 9-3-9 

Air freezing index = 459  

Mean annual temp = 52.1  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 36Packet Page     292



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(f)(h) Section R301.2.4, “Floodplain construction”: A new sentence is added to the end of the 
section reading “All work on structures in the scope of this Ccode shall also meet the 
requirements of B.R.C. 1981 Sections 9-3-3 through 9-3-9, B.R.C. 1981.”  

(i) The exception listed in R302.2, “Townhouses,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Exception: A common 1-hour fire-resistance rated wall assembly tested in accordance 
with ASTME 119 or UL 263 is permitted for townhouses equipped throughout with an 
automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with the requirements of Section 
P2904 if such walls do not contain plumbing or mechanical equipment, ducts or vents in 
the cavity of the common wall.  The wall shall be rated for fire exposure from both sides 
and shall extend to and be tight against exterior walls and the underside of the roof 
sheathing. Electrical installations shall be installed in accordance with Chapters 34 
through 41 and Chapter 43. Penetrations of electrical outlet boxes shall be in accordance 
with Section R302.4. For townhouses not equipped throughout with an automatic 
sprinkler system installed in accordance with the requirements of Section P2904, a 
common 2-hour fire-resistance-rated wall is permitted if such walls do not contain 
plumbing or mechanical equipment, ducts or vents in the cavity of the common wall. 
Electrical installations shall be installed in accordance with Chapters 34 through 41 and 
Chapter 43. Penetrations of electrical outlet boxes shall be in accordance with Section 
R302.4. 

(j) The first sentence of the Exception to Item 2 in Section R302.2.2, “Parapets,” is amended by 
deleting “ a minimum class C roof covering” and replacing it with “a minimum class B roof 
covering.” 

(k) Section R302.5.1, “Opening protection,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

R302.5.1 Opening protection. Openings from a garage directly into a room used for 
sleeping purposes shall not be permitted. Other openings between the garage and 
residence shall be equipped with weather stripped, solid wood doors not less than 1 and 
3/8 inches (35 mm) in thickness, solid or honeycomb-core steel doors not less than 1and 
3/8 inches (35 mm) in thickness, or 20-minute fire-rated doors, equipped with a self-
closing device. 

 

(l) Section R309.5, “Fire sprinklers,” is deleted. 

 

(m) Section R311.2, “Egress doors,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

 

R311.2 Egress doors.  At least one egress door shall be provided for each dwelling unit. 

The egress door shall be side hinged, and shall provide a minimum clear width of 32 
inches (813 mm) when measured between the face of the door and the stop, with the door 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 37Packet Page     293

javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2012_34_par001.htm');
javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2012_43_par001.htm');
javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2012_3_par049.htm');
javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2012_29_par050.htm');
javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2006f2_33_par001.htm');
javascript:Next('./icod_irc_2006f2_42_par001.htm');


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

open 90 degrees (1.57 rad). The minimum clear height of the door opening shall not be 
less than 78 inches (1981 mm) in height measured from the top of the threshold to the 
bottom of the stop. 

  

(n) The following sentences are added to the end of R311.7.5.1, “Risers”: 

Where the bottom or top riser adjoins a sloping public way, walkway or driveway having 
an established grade and serving as a landing, the bottom or top riser is permitted to be 
reduced along the slope, with the variation in height of the bottom or top riser not to 
exceed one unit vertical in 12 units horizontal (8-percent slope) of stairway width. The 
nosings or leading edges of treads at such non-uniform height risers shall have a 
distinctive marking stripe, different from any other nosing marking provided on the stair 
flight. The distinctive marking stripe shall be visible in descent of the stair and shall have 
a slip-resistant surface. Marking stripes shall have a width of at least 1 inch (25 mm) but 
not more than 2 inches (51 mm). 

(o) A new Section R311.9, “Access to exterior balconies, porches, decks and other walking 
surfaces from the interior of the building,” is added, reading as follows: 

R311.9 Access to exterior balconies, porches, decks, and other walking surfaces from the 
interior of the building. Access to exterior balconies, porches, decks, and other walking 
surfaces from the interior of the building shall be through a side hinged or sliding glass 
door and shall provide a minimum clear width of 24 inches (610 mm), when measured 
between the face of the door and the stop, when the door, other than the sliding glass 
door, is open 90 degrees (1.57 rad). The minimum clear height of the door opening shall 
not be less than 78 inches (1981 mm) in height, measured from the top of the threshold to 
the bottom of the stop. Access to exterior balconies, porches, decks, and other walking 
surfaces from the interior of the building for the required egress door shall meet the 
provisions of 311.2 for required height and width. 

(p) Section R313.1, “Townhouse automatic fire sprinkler systems,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read as follows: 

R313.1 Townhouse automatic fire sprinkler systems. Effective September 1, 2014, an 
automatic residential sprinkler system shall be installed in townhouses. 

Exception: An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall not be required 
when additions or alterations are made to existing townhouses that do not have an 
automatic residential fire sprinkler system installed. Additions which create a new 
dwelling unit are not exempt from the provisions or Section R313.1. 

(q) Section R313.2, “One- and two-family dwelling automatic fire sprinkler systems,” is repealed 
and reenacted to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 38Packet Page     294



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

R313.2 One- and two-family dwelling automatic fire sprinkler systems. Effective 
September 1, 2014, an automatic residential sprinkler system shall be installed in one- 
and two-family dwellings. 

Exception: An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall not be required 
when additions or alterations are made to existing buildings that do not have an 
automatic residential fire sprinkler system installed. Additions which create a new 
dwelling unit are not exempt from the provisions of Section R313.2. 

(r) Section R315.1, Carbon monoxide alarms,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

R315.1 Carbon monoxide alarms.  For new construction, an approved carbon monoxide 
alarm shall be installed outside each sleeping area in the immediate vicinity of bedrooms 
in dwelling units within which fuel-fired appliances are installed and in dwelling units 
and accessory structures containing habitable space that have attached garages. All 
carbon monoxide alarms shall be installed so as to meet the requirements of Section 
R315, Carbon Monoxide Alarms, and of the applicable provisions of C.R.S.§38-45-101 
through 106. Where the provisions of this code and the C.R.S. are in conflict, the most 
restrictive shall govern. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a 
specific requirement, the specific requirement shall be applicable. 

(s) Section R322, “Flood resistant construction,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

R322 Flood resistant construction. Buildings and structures constructed in whole or in 
part in the floodplain must be designed and constructed in accordance with the floodplain 
regulations of Title 9, Land Use Regulation,, B.R.C. 1981. 

(t) The first paragraph of Section R401.1, “Application,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

R401.1 Application.  The provisions of this chapter shall control the design and 
construction of the foundation and foundation spaces for all buildings. In addition to the 
provisions of this chapter, the design and construction of foundations in a floodplain as 
established in Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, shall meet the provisions all 
applicable provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation,, B.R.C. 1981. Where, in any 
specific case, the provisions of this code and the B.R.C. are in conflict, the most 
restrictive shall govern. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a 
specific requirement, the specific requirement shall be applicable. Wood foundations 
shall be designed and installed in accordance with AF&PA PWF. 

(u) A new Section R401.5, “Placement of backfill,” is added to read: 

R401.5 Placement of backfill.  The provisions of Section 1804.2 of the Building Code of 
the City of Boulder shall apply to the placement of backfill. 

(v) Section 408.7, “Flood resistance,” is repealed and reenacted to read:   

Agenda Item 5B     Page 39Packet Page     295



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

408.7 Flood resistance. Buildings located in a floodplain as established in Title 9, Land 
Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, shall comply with the applicable provisions in Title 9, 
Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(w) Exception 1 in Section R703.2, “Water-resistive barrier,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Exception 1: In detached accessory buildings which are not intended to be conditioned 
and where the interior wall cavities will remain exposed and unfilled. 

(x) Exception 3 of Section 806.5, “Unvented attic and unvented enclosed rafter assemblies,” is 
deleted. 

(g)(y) Section R902.1, “Roof covering materials,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

R902.1. Roof covering materials. All roof covering materials shall be listed as Class A as tested 
in accordance with UL Standard 790 or ASTM Standard E 108. Roof assemblies with covering 
of brick, masonry, slate, clay or concrete roof tile, exposed concrete roof deck, ferrous or copper 
shingles or sheets and metal sheets and shingles, shall be considered Class A roof coverings. 
Unless otherwise specified in this section, roof coverings shall be installed to resist the 
component and cladding loads specified in table R301.2(2), adjusted for height and exposure in 
accordance with table R301.2 (3).   

(h)(z) Section R905.7, “Wood shingles,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

R905.7. Wood shingles. Wood shakes, wood shingles and wood roof covering materials are 
prohibited except as provided in Section 10-5-5, “Wood Roof Covering Materials Prohibited,” 
B.R.C. 1981, for certain minimal repairs.  

(i)(aa) Section R905.8, “Wood shakes,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

R905.8. Wood shakes. Wood shakes, wood shingles and wood roof covering materials are 
prohibited except as provided in Section 10-5-5, “Wood Roof Covering Materials Prohibited,” 
B.R.C. 1981, for certain minimal repairs.  

(j)(bb) Chapter 11, “Energy Efficiency”. 

Sections N1101 through N1103 N1105 are repealed. A new Section N1101 is added to read: 

N1101. Scope. Regulations concerning the design and construction of buildings for the effective 
use of energy and requirements for green building practices shall be administered in accordance 
with the 2006 2012 International Energy Conservation Code as adopted, with amendments, by 
Chapter 10-7, “Energy Conservation and Insulation Code”, B.R.C. 1981 and Chapter 10-7.5 
“Green Points”, B.R.C. 1981. 

(cc) Section M1301.1.1, “Flood-resistant installation,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

M1301.11 Flood-resistant installation. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, the mechanical appliances, equipment and systems shall be 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 40Packet Page     296



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

located or installed in accordance with the applicable provisions of Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(dd) A new Section M1308.3, “Rooftop equipment support and clearances,” is added to read: 

M1308.3 Rooftop equipment support and clearances.   

(1) Mechanical equipment placed, replaced, or resting over roofing shall be 
supported by curbs or legs which shall be flashed to the roofing and made 
watertight. Mechanical equipment includes, but is not limited to, heating 
equipment, cooling and refrigeration equipment, ventilating fans, blowers, and 
other similar devices located on the roof. 

(2) Flat roofs. On roofs having a pitch of less than 2 in 12, mechanical equipment 
shall be supported on a solid curb greater in size than the equipment which it 
serves. Curbs may be manufactured or built-in-place. If built-in-place, the curb 
shall be covered with metal of at least 26 gauge. The metal shall be weather tight. 
The curb shall be a minimum of 9 inches above the finished roof. 

(A) Ducts less than four4 feet in width shall have at least twelve12 inches 
clearance from the finished roof surface to the bottom of the duct. 

 

(B) Ducts between four4 feet and eight 8 feet in width shall have at least 
twenty-four24 inches clearance from the finished roof surface to the 
bottom of the duct. 

 

(C) Ducts over eight8 feet in width shall have at least thirty-six36 inches 
clearance from the finished roof surface to the bottom of the duct. 

(3) Pitched Roofs. On roofs having a roof pitch exceeding 2 in 12, mechanical 
equipment may be set on legs which provide a minimum of 11 inches clearance 
between the finished roof surface and the equipment frame. 

 

(ee) Section M1401.5, “Flood hazard,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

M1401.5 Flood hazard.  In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use Regulation, 
B.R.C. 1981, heating and cooling equipment and appliances  shall be located or installed 
in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981.  

(k) Section M1501.1 “Outdoor discharge” is amended by adding “at a point where it will not 
create a nuisance” to the first sentence to read:  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 41Packet Page     297



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

The air removed by every mechanical exhaust system shall be discharged to the outdoors at a 
point where it will not create a nuisance.  

(l) A new sentence is added to item 2 of Section M1601.1.1, “Above-ground duct systems,” to 
read:  

Flexible air duct shall not exceed 7 feet in length and flexible connectors are limited to toilet 
rooms and bathroom exhaust systems only.  

(ff) Section M1601.4.9, “Flood hazard areas,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

M1601.4.9 Flood hazard areas. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, duct systems shall be located or installed in accordance with the 
provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981.  

(mgg) A new sentence is added to Section M1602.1, “Return air,” to read:  

Within individual dwelling units there shall be at least one return air opening on each floor.  

(hh) Section M2001.4, “Flood-resistant installation,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

M2001.4 Flood-resistant installation. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, boilers, water heaters and their control systems shall be located 
or installed in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 
1981. 

(ii) Section M2201.6, “Flood-resistant installation,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

M2201.6 Flood-resistant installation. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, tanks shall be located or installed in accordance with the 
provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(jj) A new Section M2303, “Solar photovoltaic power systems,” is added to read: 

M2303 Solar photovoltaic power systems.  Solar photovoltaic power systems shall also 
meet the provisions of Section E3804, as amended. 

(kk) Section G2404.7, “Flood hazard,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

G2404.7 Flood hazard. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use Regulation, 
B.R.C. 1981, the appliance, equipment, and system installations regulated by this code, 
shall be located or installed in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(n) Exceptions 2, 3, and 4 to Section G2406.2, “Prohibited locations,” are repealed, and 
exception 5 is amended by adding “thermally isolated” to the first sentence to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 42Packet Page     298



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

The appliance is installed in a thermally isolated room or space that opens only onto a bedroom 
or bathroom, and such room or space is used for no other purpose and is provided with a solid 
weather-stripped door equipped with an approved self-closing device. 

(o) A new sentence is added to Section G2407.6, “Outdoor combustion air,” to read:  

The room in which the appliances are receiving outdoor combustion air must be thermally 
isolated from the conditioned space of the dwelling unit or such outdoor air must be conditioned 
prior to entering the dwelling unit or room in which the appliance served, is located.  

(p) G2415.4 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

G2415.4 Piping through foundation wall.  Gas piping shall enter the building above grade 
through the foundation wall, building or structure. 

(q) Section G2415.9, “Minimum burial depth,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

G2415.9 Minimum burial depth. Underground piping systems shall be installed at a minimum 
depth of 12 inches below grade for metallic piping and a minimum depth of 18 inches for non-
metallic piping. Where such depths cannot be obtained, equivalent protection must be provided 
by other means approved by the building official.  

(r) Section G2415.9.1 is repealed. 

(s) Section G2417.4.1, “Test pressure,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

G2417.4.1. Test pressure. The test pressure to be used shall be no less than 1 ½ times the 
proposed maximum working pressure, but not less than 10 psig.  

(ll) Items 2 and 3 of Section G2427.8,  “Venting system termination location,” are amended by 
adding a new sentence to the end of each Items 2 and 3 reading: 

Vents shall terminate a minimum of 18 inches (46 mm) above finished grade in the 
immediate vicinity of each vent. 

(t) Section G2432.1, “Decorative appliances for installation in fireplaces,” is amended by adding 
a new item 2432.1.2 to read:  

G2432.1.2. Within a vented fireplace the damper must be removed or welded open and glass 
doors installed over the fireplace opening.  

(u) Section G2434.1, “Vented gas fireplaces,” is amended by adding a new item G2434.1.1 to 
read:  

G2434.1.1. Vented gas fireplaces shall be provided with outside combustion air and glass doors. 

(v) Section G2435.1, “Vented gas fireplace heaters,” is amended by adding a new item 
G2435.1.1 to read:  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 43Packet Page     299



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

G2435.1.1. Vented gas fireplace heaters shall be provided with outside combustion air.  

(w) Section G2445.4, “Prohibited locations,” is repealed and reenacted to read:  

These appliances shall not be used in bedrooms or rooms readily used for sleeping purposes. 

(x) Section P2503.6 “Water-supply system testing,” is amended by deleting the words “for 
piping systems other than plastic” in the first paragraph. 

(mm) Section P2503.7, “Water supply system testing,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

P2503.7 Water- supply system testing. Upon completion of the water-supply system or a 
portion of it, the system or portion completed shall be tested and proved tight under a 
water pressure of not less than the working pressure of the system or by an air test of not 
less than 100 psi (689.5 kPa). This pressure shall be held for not less than 15 minutes. 
The water used for tests shall be obtained from a potable water source.” 

 

(nn) The Exception to P2601.2, Connections to drainage system,” is deleted in its entirety.   

 

(oo) Section P2601.3, “Flood hazard areas,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

P2601.3 Flood hazard areas. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, plumbing fixtures, drains, and appliances shall be located or 
installed in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(pp) The first sentence of Section P2602.2, “Flood resistant installation,” is repealed and 
reenacted to state: 

In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981: 

Items 1 and 2 remain unchanged. 

(y) Section P2603.6.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

(z) Section P2801.5.1 “Piping for safety pan drains shall be of those materials listed in Table 
P204.5.” is repealed. 

(aa) Section P2904.5 is amended by adding a new paragraph to read: 

Water service line pipe between the water meter and building shall be Type K copper if it is in 
the public right-of-way, a public utility easement, or on other public property. 

(qq) Section P 3001.3, “Flood- resistant installation,” is repealed and reenacted to state: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 44Packet Page     300



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

P3001.3 Flood -resistant installation. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use 
Regulation, B.R.C. 1981,drainage, wastes and vent systems shall be located and installed 
to prevent infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and discharges from the systems 
into floodwaters. 

(rr) Section P3009, “Gray Water Recycling Systems,” is deleted in its entirety.   

(ss) Section P3101.5, “Flood resistance,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

P3101.5 Flood resistance. In floodplains, as established in Title 9, Land Use Regulation, 
B.R.C. 1981, vents shall be located or installed in accordance with the provisions of Title 
9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(bb) Section P3103.1 “Roof extensions” is amended to read: 

Open vent pipes that extend through a roof shall be terminated at least 12 inches (305 mm) above 
the roof on the high side of the vent, except that where a roof is to be used for any other purpose 
other than weather protection, the vent extension shall run at least 7 feet (2138 mm) above the 
roof. 

(cc) Section E3501.6.2. “Service Disconnect Location”. A new sentence is added to the end to 
read: Service entrance conductors shall not exceed ten feet maximum developed length unspliced 
between the meter housing and the main disconnect. This allows the service entrance conductors 
to run within the building up to ten feet and to terminate at the disconnecting means. 

(dd) The last sentence of section E3508.1.1.1, concerning metal underground water pipe as a 
grounding electrode system, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

The supplemental electrode shall be permitted to be bonded to the grounding electrode 
conductor, the grounded service-entrance conductor, the grounded service raceway, or any 
grounded service enclosure by means of a separate grounding electrode conductor. 

(tt) A new Section E3804, “Solar photovoltaic power systems,” is added to read: 

E3804 Solar photovoltaic power systems.  Solar photovoltaic power systems shall meet 
the provisions of Sections 605.11 through 605.11.3.2.3 of the City of Boulder Fire Code. 

(ee) Section E3808.14 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

E3808.14 Connecting receptacle grounding terminal to box.  An equipment bonding jumper shall 
be used to connect the gounding of a grounding-type receptacle to a grounded box. 

(ff) Section E3901.6”Access” , the last sentence is repealed and reenacted to read: 

They shall be so installed that the center of the grip of the operating handle of the switch or 
circuit breaker, when in its highest position, will not be more than six feet seven inches nor less 
than three feet above the floor or working platform if within a building, or exterior grade or a 
working platform if on the exterior of a building. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 45Packet Page     301



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(uu) Section E4209.3, “Accessibility,” is amended by adding the following to the end of the 
Section: 

Equipment shall be accessed by a panel with a minimum size of 12 inches (305 mm). 

(gg) Section AJ102.4 is amended to read: 

Replacement Windows. Regardless of the category of work, when an existing window, including 
sash and glazed portion is replaced, the replacement window shall be in accordance with the 
2006 International Energy Conservation Code as adopted, with amendments, by Chapter 10-7, 
“Energy Conservation and Insulation Code”, B.R.C. 1981 and Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Points”, 
B.R.C. 1981.  

(vv) Section AJ102.5, “Flood hazard areas,” is repealed and reenacted to read.:   

AJ102.5 Flood hazard areas. Work performed in existing buildings located in a 
floodplain, as established by Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981, shall be done in 
accordance with the applicable provisions of Title 9, Land Use Regulation, B.R.C. 1981. 

(hh) Section AK102.1, “Airborne Sound,” is amended to read:  

Airborne sound insulations for wall and floor-ceiling assemblies shall meet a Sound 
Transmission Class rating 50 when tested in accordance with ASTM Standard E 90. Penetrations 
or openings in construction assemblies for piping, electrical devices, recessed cabinets, bathtubs, 
soffits; or heating, ventilating, or exhaust ducts shall be sealed, lined, or insulated, or otherwise 
treated to maintain the required rating . Dwelling unit entrance doors which share a common 
space shall be tight fitting to the frame and sill. 

(ii) Section AK103.1, “Structural-Borne Sound,” is amended to read:  

Floor/ceiling assemblies between dwelling units or between a dwelling unit and a public or 
service area within a structure shall have an impact insulation class (IIC) rating of not less than 
50 when tested in accordance with ASTM Standard E 492.  

(jj) Section AO101.1, The  words “and for subsurface landscape irrigation” are repealed, and a 
new sentence is added to the end of the exception to read: 

Such systems shall be designed as required by the Boulder County Health Department.  

(kk) FigureAO101.1 (2) is repealed. 

(ll) Section AO103 is repealed in its entirety. 

(ww) A new footnote notation “b” is added to the heading and a new footnote “b” is added to AP 
Table AP103.3(2), “Load values assigned to fixtures,” reading: 

b. For the purpose of determining the largest instantaneous demand required in order to 
size a water meter, or for determining the amount of the plant investment fee, this table is 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 46Packet Page     302



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

repealed and replaced by the Fixture Unit/GPM Demand Chart and PIF Computation 
sheet found at Appendix A to Chapter 11-1, Water Utility, B.R.C. 1981.  

Section 4.  Chapter 10-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-6 – ELECTRICAL CODE 

10-6-1 Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health and safety by regulating the 
installation, alteration, or repair of or addition to electrical conductors or equipment installed 
within or on any structure in the city. The city council hereby adopts the 20052011 edition of the 
National Electrical Code with certain amendments and deletions thereto found to be in the best 
interests of the residents of the city. 

10-6-2 Adoption of the National Electrical Code with Modifications. 

(a) The 20052011 edition of the National Electrical Code of the National Fire Protection 
Association is hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Electrical Code or electrical 
code and has the same force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, except as 
specifically amended by the provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Article 90 is repealed. This code shall be administered in accordance with Chapter 1, 
“Administration,” of the 2012 edition of the International Building Code  and Appendix K, 
“Administrative Provisions,” of the 2012 edition of the International Building Code, as adopted, 
respectively, with amendments, by Section 10-5-2, “Adoption of the International Building Code 
with Modifications,” B.R.C. 1981 the 2006International Code Council Electrical Code (ICCEC) 
with the deletion of ICCEC Section 1202.2 Nonmetallic-sheathed Cable.  

(c) The following definition is added to part “I. General” of Article 100, “Definitions:” 

Dried in. The building or structure is protected from weather in that all openings can be 
closed, the roofing material is installed, and the exterior walls provide the building or 
structure with a weather-resistant exterior wall envelope. 

(c)(d) Subsection 210-.70(aA)3 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

(3) Storage or Equipment Spaces. For attics, underfloor spaces, utility rooms and 
basements, at least one lighting outlet controlled by a wall switch shall be installed where 
these spaces are used for storage or contain equipment requiring servicing. The control 
wall switch shall be located at the usual point of entry to such space. The lighting outlet 
shall be provided at or near the equipment requiring servicing. 

(d)(e) The first sentence of Section 230.2, “Number of Services,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 47Packet Page     303



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

230.2. Number of Services. A building or other structure shall be supplied by only one 
service unless permitted in 230.2(A) through (D) and approved prior to permit issuance 
or prior to the start of any electrical work indicated on the permit. 

(e)(f) A new item 3 is added to Section 230.2(B), Special Occupancies, to read: 

(3) Fire areas separated by a minimum two hour fire wall as defined by the building code 
may be considered as separate buildings for the purpose of calculating the number of 
services if approved by the building official. 

(f)(g) A new item 4 is added to Section 230.2(C), Capacity Requirements, to read: 

(4) Where the existing service is being used to capacity and has been properly 
maintained. 

(g)(h) Subsection 230-40, concerning the number of service-entrance conductor sets, is amended 
by deleting exceptions 3 and 4. 

(h)(i) Subsection 230-.70(A)(1)(a), concerning the location of service equipment disconnecting 
means, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

(a) Readily Accessible Location. The service disconnecting means shall be installed at a 
readily accessible location either immediately adjacent to or attached to the outside of a 
building or structure, or inside nearest the point of entrance of the service conductors. 

(1) Service entrance conductors shall not exceed ten feet maximum developed 
length unspliced between the meter housing and the main disconnect. This allows 
the service entrance conductors to run within the building up to ten feet and to 
terminate at the disconnecting means. 

(2) Electrical rooms containing building main disconnects located within a 
structure shall be located near the point of service entrance and on the exterior 
wall with a door leading directly outside. The door shall be identified with three 
inch high lettering stating “Electrical Equipment Room.” 

(i)(j) Section 250.146, concerning connecting receptacle grounding terminal to box, is amended  
by the deleting items (A), (B) and (C). 

(j) The last sentence of the first paragraph of Subsection 250.53(D)2, concerning metal 
underground water pipe as a grounding electrode system, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

The supplemental electrode shall be permitted to be bonded to the grounding electrode 
conductor, the grounded service-entrance conductor, the grounded service raceway, or 
any grounded service enclosure by means of a separate grounding electrode conductor. 

(k)Section 310.12(C) is amended by specifying the colors of ungrounded conductors to be black, 
red, blue for 120/208 volt systems and brown, orange, yellow for 277/480 volt systems. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 48Packet Page     304



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(k) A new section 310.12, “Conductor Identification,” is added to read: 

310.12 Conductor Identification. The colors of ungrounded conductors shall be black, 
red, and blue for 120/208 volt systems and brown, orange, and yellow for 277/480 volt 
systems. 

(l) A new item (6) is added to section 334.10, “Uses Permitted,” to read: 

(6) Type NM, Type NMC, and Type NMS shall not be installed in any building or any 
structure until the building or structure is completely dried in. 

(l) The first sentence of section 334.10(2) is amended to read: 

(2) Multifamily dwellings permitted to be of types II, III, IV and V construction except as 
prohibited in 334.12.   

(m) The first sentence of Section 334.10(3) is amended to read: 

(3) Other structures permitted to be of Types IIB,IIIB, IVB and VB construction of 
10,000 square feet or less. 

(n)(m) The last second sentence of the introductory portion of Subsection 404.8(A), concerning 
the location of switches, is repealed and reenacted to read:  

They shall be so installed such that the center of the grip of the operating handle of the 
switch or circuit breaker, when in its highest position, will not be more than six feet seven 
inches nor less than three feet above the floor or working platform if within a building, or 
exterior grade or a working platform if on the exterior of a building. 

(o)(n) Subsection 517.-13(A), concerning grounding of receptacles and fixed electric equipment 
in patient care areas, is amended by adding a sentence to read: 

Receptacles and electrical outlets within examining rooms, treatment rooms, and similar 
areas where the patient may come in contact with electrical devices in these rooms shall 
be listed hospital grade and identified as such. 

(p) Subsection 518-4(B), concerning Non-rated Construction, is repealed and reenacted to read:  

(B) Non-rated Construction. Non-metallic-sheathed cable, Type AC cable, electrical non-
metallic tubing, and rigid non-metallic conduit shall be permitted to be installed in buildings or 
portions of buildings of non-rated types of construction in accordance with section 334.10(3). 

(oq) Subsection 680.73, “Accessibility,” is amended by adding the following: Equipment shall 
be accessed by a panel with a minimum size of twelve inches by twelve inches. 

(p)A new subsection (I) is added to section 690.4, “Installation,” to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 49Packet Page     305



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(I) Compliance with Fire Code. Solar photovoltaic power systems shall be installed in 
accordance with the requirements of sections 605.11.1 through 605.11.4 of the City of 
Boulder Fire Code. 

(r)(q) Subsection 690.916 (C) LocationPhotovoltaic Source Circuits. Concerning direct current 
solar photovoltaic source conductors entering into a building add the following text.:  

(1) Rooftop mounted solar photovoltaic array systems whose source conductor circuits 
are entering the building are toshall be protected against overcurrent at their source on the 
roofs with a slope of 4 inches of rise in 12 inches of run or less slope before entering the 
building.  

(2) Rooftop mounted solar array systems whose source conductor circuits are entering the 
building are to be protected against overcurrent at their source but no more than 900 mm 
(3 feet) from the roof eave on roof with a slope of more than 4 inches of rise in 12 inches 
of run. 

10-6-3 Electrical Permit Fees. 

Electrical permit fees are those prescribed by Subsection 4-20-8(a), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 5.  Chapter 10-7, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-7 – ENERGY CONSERVATION AND INSULATION CODE 

10-7-1 Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health, safety, and welfare by encouraging the 
conservation of scarce energy resources through the regulation of building construction standards 
to minimize energy consumption for heating, cooling, lighting, and ventilating structures in the 
city and to encourage building design utilizing green building techniques. 

10-7-2 Energy Conservation Code. 

(a) Council adopts by reference the 2006 2012 International Energy Conservation Code of the 
International Code Council with the amendments specified below. This chapter shall be 
administered, applied, and interpreted in accordance with and as part of Chapter 10-5, “Building 
Code,” B.R.C. 1981.  This chapter is also intended to comply with and be interpreted and 
enforced so as to comply with 42 U.S.C. Section 6297(f)(3) and any other federal requirements 
to avoid preemption.  For purposes of 42 U.S.C. Section 6297(f)(3), “new construction” shall be 
interpreted to include all work that triggers the requirements established in this chapter. 

(b) Section C101.4.3 Additions, alterations, renovations and repairs. A new sub-section is added 
previous to the exceptions to read as follows: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 50Packet Page     306



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

C101.4.3.1 All permit applications involving demolition, new construction and remodels and/or 
additions of residential buildings greater than 500 square feet shall meet the requirements of this 
code and Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Points”, B.R.C. 1981 as applicable. 

(c)(b) Exception 3 of section C101.4.3 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 

3.1. For an interior remodel of a residential structure, where the work authorized by a 
building permit under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not alter more 
than 500 square feet of the existing conditioned space, existing ceiling, wall, or floor 
cavities exposed during construction are exempt from meeting the provisions for new 
construction provided that exposed wall framing cavities are insulated to their fullest 
depth, but no less than R-13, and attics and exposed or accessible floor/ceiling assemblies 
separating conditioned spaces from unconditioned spaces are insulated to their fullest 
depth, but no less than R-38 wherever possible. All replacement fenestration shall meet 
the prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3. Portions of basements and 
crawlspaces separating conditioned spaces from unconditioned spaces shall meet the 
prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3 for climate zone 5 wherever 
possible. The provisions of section R402.2 shall apply. 

3.2. For additions to residential structures where the work authorized by a building permit 
under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not add more than 500 square 
feet, building envelope components shall meet the provisions of  Table R402.1.1 or 
R402.1.3, and applicable portions of Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Points”, B.R.C. 1981. The 
provisions of section R402.2 shall apply. 

3.3 .Remodels of non-residential structures where the work authorized by a building 
permit under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not alter more than 500 
square feet. 

(d)(c) Section C1023.1.1 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 

Section C1032.1.1 Above Code Programs. Except for those residential structures and 
portions of structures exempt from this code, the requirements of Chapter 10-7.-5 “Green 
Building and Green Points Program”, B.R.C. 1981 shall be used to demonstrate 
compliance with the energy efficiency components of this code. 

(e)(d) SectionECTION 104C103.1 is repealed and reenacted to read as follows: 

104C103.2 1 General. Construction documents and other supporting data shall be submitted in 
one or more sets with each application for a permit. The construction documents and designs 
submitted under the provisions of this chapter shall be prepared by and bear the stamp of a 
Colorado licensed professional engineer or architect. Documents submitted for the purposes of 
section 404 and C5076 shall be submitted by a Colorado licensed engineer, architect or a 
professional who demonstrates the knowledge and experience to perform such calculations. 
Where special conditions exist, the code official is authorized to require additional construction 
documents to be prepared by a licensed professional. 

Exceptions: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 51Packet Page     307



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

1. The code official may waive the submission of construction documents and other 
supporting data if the official finds that the nature of the work does not require review of 
the documents or data to obtain compliance. This waiver authority does not apply to 
documents required to be prepared by a licensed architect or engineer. 

(f)(e)  Sections C103.3 through C103.5 are deleted. 

(f)  Section C1045.3, “Final Inspection,” is amended by adding a new paragraph to read: 

The applicant must provide at time of final inspection of a commercial building written 
verification which bears the stamp of a licensed architect or engineer or special inspector 
as described in section 1079.3.47 of the 2012 edition of the International Building Code 
that the structure conforms with the provisions of Chapter 54. 

(g)  Sections C104.5 through C104.8.1 are deleted. 

(h)  Section C107, “Fees,” is deleted. 

(i)  Section C108, “Stop Work Order,” is deleted. 

(j)  Section C109, “Board of Appeals,” is deleted. 

(g)(k) Section C202, the definition of “Code Official” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Code official is the city manager. 

(h)(l) Section C401501.1 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section C501401.1 Scope.  

The requirements contained in this chapter are applicable to new commercial buildings and 
additions to or remodels of commercial buildings. Commercial buildings shall exceed the energy 
efficiency requirements of ASHRAE/IESNA Standard 90.1 Energy Standard for Building Except 
for Low-Rise Residential Buildings by at least 30 percent or other approved equivalent design 
criteria. 

501401.1.1 Alternative approaches for compliance.  

The following methods of compliance may be used in place of the approach described in section 
501401.1 above: 

1. Buildings of 20,000 square feet or less may be designed to a prescriptive standard as 
detailed in this chapter or through other measures that result in a building that is at least 
30 percent more energy efficient than the 2006 2012 IECC. 

2. Commercial core and shell buildings that have 50 percent or less finished floor area 
may divide the 30 percent energy efficiency requirement between the core and shell 
building design and the future interior tenant finish design. The energy efficiency savings 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 52Packet Page     308



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

percentages assigned to each element of the building shall be designated at the time of the 
submittal of the building permit for the core and shell permit. 

3. The construction documents for remodeling an existing commercial envelope, 
mechanical and lighting systems shall demonstrate compliance with this section in one of 
the following ways described below. The construction documents shall include 
compliance documentation that demonstrates that: 

A. The altered building area or systems will meet the requirements of section 
506C407, "Total Building Performance" 2006 2012 IECC and the resulting 
compliance package shows an altered building area or system that is 30 percent 
more energy efficient than the 2006 2012 IECC; 

B. The remodel area will meet an approved set of prescriptive requirements that 
are at least 30 percent more efficient than the 2006 2012 IECC. An applicant may 
use the ASHRAE Advanced Energy Design Guides for such prescriptive 
requirements, or equivalent method that is approved by the city manager; or 

C. The remodel area meets the 2006 2012 IECC requirements and is submitted 
with an energy efficiency implementation plan prepared by a licensed architect or 
registered professional engineer which shows how the process will contribute to 
future energy efficiency improvements to bring the building up to 30 percent 
above the 2006 2012 IECC.  

 
(m) Section C401.2, “Application,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

C401.2  Application.   

1.Buildings larger than 20,000 square feet must demonstrate compliance through third 
party performance modeling that is approved by the city manager.  

2. Commercial buildings of 20,000 square feet or less, meeting the requirements of this 
Section C401 through the alternate approach of compliance found in C401.1,1 
Subparagraph 1. by demonstrating that a building or system is 30 percent more energy 
efficient than the 2012 IECC, shall also comply with: 

a. The requirements of Sections C402, C403, C404, C405, and C406; or 

b.    The requirements of Sections C407, C402.4, C403.2, C404, C405.2, C405.3, 
C405.4, C405.6, and C405.7.   

(n)  Section C401.2.1 is deleted. 

(o)  Section R101.4.3 Additions, alterations, renovations and repairs. A new sub-section is added 
previous to the exceptions to read as follows: 

R101.4.3.1 All permit applications involving demolition, new construction and remodels 
and/or additions of residential buildings greater than 500 square feet shall meet the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 53Packet Page     309



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

requirements of this code and Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Building and Green Points 
Program”, B.R.C. 1981 as applicable. 

(p) Exception 3 of section R101.4.3 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 

3.1. For an interior remodel of a residential structure, where the work authorized by a 
building permit under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not alter more 
than 500 square feet of the existing conditioned space, existing ceiling, wall, or floor 
cavities exposed during construction are exempt from meeting the provisions for new 
construction provided that exposed wall framing cavities are insulated to their fullest 
depth, but no less than R-13, and attics and exposed or accessible floor/ceiling assemblies 
separating conditioned spaces from unconditioned spaces are insulated to their fullest 
depth, but no less than R-38 wherever possible. All replacement fenestration shall meet 
the prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3. Portions of basements and 
crawlspaces separating conditioned spaces from unconditioned spaces shall meet the 
prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3 for climate zone 5 wherever 
possible. The provisions of section R402.2 shall apply. 

3.2. For additions to residential structures where the work authorized by a building permit 
under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not add more than 500 square 
feet, building envelope components shall meet the provisions of  Table 402.1.1 or 
402.1.3, and applicable portions of Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Building and Green Points 
Program”, B.R.C. 1981. The provisions of section 402.2 shall apply. 

 (q)  Section R102.1.1 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 

Section R102.1.1 Above Code Programs. Except for those residential structures and 
portions of structures exempt from this code, the requirements of Chapter 10-7-5 “Green 
Building and Green Points Program”, B.R.C. 1981 shall be used to demonstrate 
compliance with the energy efficiency components of this code. 

(r)  Section R103.1 is repealed and reenacted to read as follows: 

R103.1 General. Construction documents and other supporting data shall be submitted in 
one or more sets with each application for a permit. The construction documents and 
designs submitted under the provisions of this chapter shall be prepared by and bear the 
stamp of a Colorado licensed professional engineer or architect. Documents submitted for 
the purposes of section R405 shall be submitted by a Colorado licensed engineer, 
architect or a professional who demonstrates the knowledge and experience to perform 
such calculations. Where special conditions exist, the code official is authorized to 
require additional construction documents to be prepared by a licensed professional. 

Exceptions: 

1. The code official may waive the submission of construction documents and 
other supporting data if the official finds that the nature of the work does not 
require review of the documents or data to obtain compliance. This waiver 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 54Packet Page     310



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

authority does not apply to documents required to be prepared by a licensed 
architect or engineer. 

(s)  Sections R103.3 through R103.5 are deleted. 

(t)  Sections R104.5 through R104.8.1 are deleted. 

(u) Section R107, “Fees,” is deleted. 

(v) Section R108, “Stop Work Order,” is deleted. 

(w)  Section R109, “Board of Appeal,” is deleted. 

(x)  Section R202, the definition of “Code Official” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Code official is the city manager. 

Section 6.  Chapter 10-7.5, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-7.5 – GREEN BUILDING AND GREEN POINTS PROGRAM 

10-7.5-1 Legislative Intent and Purpose.  

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health safety and welfare by regulating 
residential construction with the intent to conserve energy, water and other natural resources, 
preserve the health of our environment through optional and mandatory requirements related to 
design, construction, operations, recycling, and deconstruction This chapter has the following 
additional purposes: 

(a) It provides criteria for rating the environmental performance of residential 
construction practices and provides guidelines for documentation that demonstrates 
conformance with the criteria; 

(b) It encourages cost-effective and sustainable residential building methods, by 
encouraging conservation of fossil fuels, water and other natural resources, reduction of 
greenhouse gas emissions, recycling of construction materials, reducing solid waste and 
improving indoor air quality; 

(c) It identifies the specific requirements for complying with the Green Points Program 
and how the program interfaces and exceeds the 2006 2012 International Energy 
Conservation Code adopted in Chapter 10-7, "Energy Conservation and Insulation Code," 
B.R.C. 1981; 

(d) It includes mandatory green building requirements to ensure that construction waste 
and deconstruction materials are recycled, reused, or otherwise diverted from land fills, 
and minimum requirements to ensure that dwellings are constructed in an efficient 
manner; and 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 55Packet Page     311



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(e) It includes provisions intended to provide for joint administration with the processing 
of building permits for remodeling, adding on, and constructing dwelling units; and. 

(f) It is intended to comply with, and be interpreted and enforced so as to comply with, 42 
U.S.C. Section 6297(f)(3) and any other federal requirements to avoid preemption.  For 
purposes of 42 U.S.C. Section 6297(f)(3), “new construction” shall be interpreted to 
include all work that triggers the requirements established in this chapter. 

10-7.5-2 Scope and Administration.  

(a) Scope. The provisions of this chapter apply to the following: 

(1) New construction, remodels, or additions to a dwelling, including without limitation 
single-unit dwellings, multi-unit dwellings, and dwellings within mixed use 
developments. 

(2) Any two or more building permits for the same structure that are applied for in any 12 
month period shall be considered as one application for the purpose of meeting the 
requirements of Sections 10-7.5-3, "Mandatory Green Building Requirements" and 10-
7.5-4, "Resource Conservation – Green Points," B.R.C. 1981. 

(3) The requirements of this chapter shall apply to construction activities of all types of 
dwellings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 

(4) The requirements of this chapter are in addition to and do not replace the 
requirements within the Boulder Revised Code, including without limitation all of the life 
safety codes, the historic preservation ordinance, the land use code and the City of 
Boulder Design and Construction Standards. 

(b) Administration. The Green Points Program shall be administered, applied, and interpreted in 
accordance with Chapter 1, "Administration," Chapter 2, "Definitions," of the International 
Building Code (IBC) and the International Residential Code (IRC) as adopted with amendments 
by Sections 10-5-2, "Adoption of International Building Code with Modifications," and 10-5.5-2, 
"Adoption of International Residential Code with Modifications," B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) Inspection and Compliance. No person shall fail to comply with the requirements of this 
chapter. No person shall construct in violation of a Green Points approval. All approvals and 
inspections of Green Point's applications and requirements shall be done in conjunction with a 
residential building permit application and field inspections. An application shall be made on a 
form that is approved by the city manager. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with all 
of the provisions of this chapter prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy by the city 
manager. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 56Packet Page     312



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(d) Exceptions. Any structure that includes dwellings that are pursuing a U.S. Green Building 
Council's LEEDT (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) Silver Certification or 
comparable green building rating certification or higher will be exempt from the Green Points 
requirements. No person that applies for this exception shall fail to complete the LEEDtm 
certification process and receive such certification within six months after the final inspection on 
the building permit. The city manager may grant an extension to this time period if a request is 
made by the applicant and the applicant demonstrates a good cause as to why additional time is 
needed to complete the certification. 

10-7.5-3 Mandatory Green Building Requirements.  

(a) Energy Efficiency – New Dwelling Units. An applicant for a building permit for each new 
dwelling shall demonstrate that the building is more energy efficient than a building that meets 
the minimum requirements of Chapter 10-7, "International Energy Conservation and Insulation 
Code," B.R.C. 1981. Table 1 lists the minimum energy efficiency requirements. 

TABLE 1A - Tiers for Energy Efficiency Thresholds 

Type of Project Square 
Footage Energy Efficiency Thresholds Above Code 

New Construction   Up to 3,000 30 20 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC 

3,001-5,000 5040 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC 

5,001 and up 7565 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC 

Multi-Unit 
Dwellings Applies to all 3020 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 

IECC 

(b) Thresholds for Application of New Construction Standards to Entire Building as the Result of 
an Addition. Any addition which meets any of the thresholds described below will require that 
the conditioned floor area of the entire building be upgraded to meet new construction standards 
for energy efficiency in Subsection 10-7.5-3(a), B.R.C. 1981. 

(1) The addition is 100 percent or more than the conditioned floor area of the existing 
dwelling unit and the dwelling unit will have a total conditioned floor area after the 
addition to the dwelling unit that is up to 3,000 sq. ft in size. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 57Packet Page     313



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(2) The addition is 50 percent or more than the conditioned floor area of the existing 
dwelling unit and the dwelling unit will have a total conditioned floor area after the 
addition to the dwelling unit that is from 3,001 to 5000 sq. ft in size. 

(3) The addition is 25 percent or more than the conditioned floor area of the existing 
dwelling unit and the dwelling unit will have a total conditioned floor area after the 
addition to the dwelling unit that is over 5001 sq. ft in size. 

(c) Energy Efficiency – Additions and Remodels. An applicant for a building permit for a 
remodel or an addition to a dwelling that does not exceed the thresholds in subsection (b) above 
shall demonstrate that it meets the energy efficiency requirements of this section. A building 
permit for an addition to or a remodel of a dwelling unit shall meet one of the following 
standards: 

(1) Requirement if upgrading the energy efficiency of the entire structure. The applicant 
may demonstrate that the entire building meets the HERS requirements that are described 
in Table 1B below; or 

(2) Requirement for the new addition or the area of the house that is subject to a remodel. 
The applicant may demonstrate that the addition or the area of the building subject to a 
remodel meets the requirement of the IECC for the remodel area or addition as described 
in Table 1B below. Building permits under this requirement shall also meet the 
following: 

(A) Complete a blower door test before application for the building permit to 
determine whether the building has a fresh air infiltration rate of no more than 0.5 
natural air changes per hour (NACH) compliance rating. If this standard is 
exceeded, then the applicant shall meet the requirement of paragraph (B). 

(B) Improve, repair and seal the dwelling unit, verified by a subsequent blower 
door test and prior to a certificate of occupancy or completion that demonstrates 
that: 

(i) for buildings that had an air infiltration rate of 1.0 NACH or greater, 
then the building shall have a NACH 50 percent or less than the original 
blower door test, 

(ii) for all other buildings, the building has an air infiltration rate of not 
greater than 0.5 NACH compliance rating. 

TABLE 1B - Tiers for Energy Efficiency Thresholds 

Total Conditioned Area HERS Rating Increased efficiency above the 2012 IECC 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 58Packet Page     314



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Up to 3,000 100 15 percent 

3,001 – 5,000 85 30 percent 

5,001 and up 70 50 percent 

 

(3) Remodels – Limitations. A remodel that does not substantially remove the interior 
finish of the thermal envelope of the conditioned space is not required to meet the energy 
efficiency requirements of Table 1B.  

(d) Compliance with Energy Efficiency Requirements. A dwelling that is required to meet the 
energy efficiency requirements for new construction shall demonstrate that it meets such 
standard by: 

(1) Using the Home Energy Rating System (HERS). The HERS rating will be used for 
the verification of energy performance of new construction. A HERS rating shall be 
performed by a rater accredited by the Residential Energy Services Network (RESNET); 

(2) For multidwelling projects, through a HERS rating sampling protocol authorized and 
approved by the city manager; or 

(3) For multidwelling projects, by demonstrating that the energy efficiency has been 
achieved by using the methodology in section R405 404, "Simulated Performance 
Alternative" or section 506C407, "Total Building Performance" of the 2006 2012 
International Energy Conservation Code. 

(e) Energy Audit. An applicant for a building permit for an addition to a dwelling or a remodel of 
a dwelling shall be required to obtain an energy audit. The applicant shall provide proof of the 
completion of the energy audit with a building permit application. The energy audit of the house 
shall quantify the annual energy performance of the building according to generally accepted 
standards for energy audits approved by the city manager. An energy audit or an optional HERS 
rating report will indicate how efficiently the building is operating and where inefficiencies are 
occurring. 

(f) Lighting Efficiency. Prior to final inspection for an addition to a dwelling or a remodel of a 
dwelling the applicant shall install energy efficient lamps (light bulbs) with a luminous efficacy 
of 40 lumens per watt or above in at least 50 percent of the existing home's light fixtures. 

 (g) Direct Vent Furnace. When the scope of the work of an addition to a dwelling or a remodel 
of a dwelling requires replacement of a furnace, the furnace shall be replaced with a direct vent 
unit that has a minimum 90 percent AFUE. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 59Packet Page     315



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(h) Direct Vent Boiler. When the scope of the work of an addition to a dwelling or a remodel of a 
dwelling requires replacement of a boiler, the boiler shall be replaced with a direct vent unit that 
has a minimum 85 percent AFUE. 

(if) Construction Waste Recycling. An applicant for a building permit for a new dwelling or an 
addition to a dwelling shall demonstrate that a minimum of 50 percent of construction waste is 
recycled. Waste diversion calculations and tracking spreadsheet form must be provided at project 
completion which shows that the minimum recycling requirements have been met. No person 
shall fail to complete the diversion calculations and tracking spreadsheet or recycle construction 
waste as required by this section. 

(jg) Demolition Management. An applicant proposing to demolish the dwelling, as that term is 
defined in Section 10-7.5-7, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, shall demonstrate through a 
deconstruction plan that at least 65 percent of material by weight from deconstruction of the 
existing structure, including concrete and asphalt, will be diverted from the landfill. Verification 
of deconstruction plan compliance must be provided prior to final inspection. No person shall 
fail to follow or otherwise implement an approved deconstruction plan. 

10-7.5-4 Resource Conservation – Green Points.  

. . . 

Section 7.  Chapter 10-8, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

CHAPTER 10-8 – Fire Prevention Code 

10-8-1 Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect public health and safety by regulating the use, condition, 
construction, alteration, and repair of property, structures, and occupancies in the city in order to 
prevent the ignition and spread of fire and risk of harm to persons or property from fire and other 
causes. The city council hereby adopts the 20062012 edition of the International Fire Code with 
certain amendments, additions, and deletions thereto found to be in the best interests of the city. 
The standards provided in this chapter shall be used, insofar as they are applicable, in 
determining whether a condition is a hazardous one, whether any work that has been performed 
has been done in an approved manner, or whether any equipment is of an approved type or 
quality, and in any determination concerning fire hazards and fire safety in the city building code 
not specifically provided for therein. 

10-8-2 Adoption of International Fire Code with Modifications. 

(a) The 20062012 edition of the International Fire Code of the International Code Council are 
adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Fire Code and has the same force and effect as 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 60Packet Page     316



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

though fully set forth in this chapter, except as specifically amended by the provisions of this 
chapter. 

(b) The Fire Code adopted by subsection (a) of this section is amended in the following places: 

(1) Section 102.3 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

102.3 Change of use or occupancy.  No change shall be made in the use or occupancy of 
any structure that would place the structure in a different division of the same group or 
occupancy or in a different group of occupancies, unless such structure is made to 
comply with the requirements of this code and the International Building Code. 

(2) Section 103.1 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

103.1 Division of Fire Safety 

A Division of Fire Safety is established within the fire department under the direction of 
the manager, which shall consist of such fire department personnel as may be assigned 
thereto by the manager. The function of this division shall be to assist the manager in the 
administration and enforcement of the provisions of this code. 

(3) Section 103.4, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

103.4 Liability 

The fire code shall not be construed to hold the City of Boulder or any of its employees 
or agents responsible for any damage to persons or property by reason of inspection or 
reinspection or failure to inspect or reinspect as herein provided or by reason of the 
approval or disapproval of any equipment as herein provided. 

No employee of the city who enforces, attempts to enforce, or is authorized to enforce the 
fire code renders him or herself or the city liable to third parties for any damage or injury 
to the person or property of such third parties as a result of the enforcement or non-
enforcement of the fire code. The city assumes no duty of care by virtue of the adoption 
of the fire code. No person is justified in relying upon the approval of a plan, the results 
of an inspection, or the issuance of a certificate of inspection or occupancy, and such 
approvals, inspections, and certificates are not a guarantee that the plan or work so 
approved, inspected, or certificated in fact complies with all requirements of the fire 
code. It is the duty of the person owning, controlling, or constructing any building or 
structure to insure that the work is done in accordance with the requirements of the fire 
code, and it is such persons and not the city who are responsible for damages caused by 
negligent breach of such duty. 

(4) 104.4 Identification, is repealed and reenacted to read:  

104.4 Identification. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 61Packet Page     317



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

For the purposes of this section, the term “fire code official” includes all firefighters 
appointed pursuant to Section 2-5-4, “Identification Card for Firefighters,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(5) Section 105.6 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

105.6 Required operational permits.  The fire code official may issue an operational 
permit for the following operations: 

(a) 105.6.14, Explosives 

(b) 105.6.30, Open Burning 

(c) 105.6.32, Open Flames and Candles 

(d) 105.6.36 Pyrotechnic special effects material 

(e) 105.6.434 is amended by the addition of the following: 

105.6.43  Temporary Membrane Structures, tents and canopies.  An operational 
permit may be issued with the construction permit that will be issued by the 
building official. 

(6) Section 105.7 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

105.7 Required construction permits.  All construction permits will be issued by the 
building official.  The Division of Fire Safety will be the approving authority for 
following: 

(a) 105.7.1 Automatic fire-extinguishing systems 

(b) 105.7.64 Fire alarm and detection systems and related equipment 

(c) 105.7.75 Fire pumps and related equipment 

(d) 105.7.152 Standpipe systems 

(7) Sections 108, “Board of Appeals,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

108 Board of Appeals 

(a) Any appeal under this section shall be heard by the Board of Building Appeals 
established under section 2-3-4, “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 1981, unless 
the city manager determines, due to the nature of the issues in a particular appeal, to 
appoint a hearing officer under section 1-3-5, “Hearings and Determinations,” B.R.C. 
1981. 

(a)(b) Appeal of refusal to approve work or building permit.  A person refused a building 
permit or refused approval of work done under a permit on the grounds that the 
proposed or completed construction fails to comply with this code or any other city 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 62Packet Page     318



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

building code may appeal the decision to the board of zoning adjustment and building 
appeals on the grounds that: 

1. The denial was based on an erroneous interpretation of such code by the city 
manager; or 

2. The city manager has erroneously failed to approve an alternate material or 
method pursuant to Section 104.9 of the fire code prior to its installation or use. In 
determining such an appeal the board or hearing officer shall apply the standards 
of Section 104.9 of the fire code. 

The city manager has the burden of proof under paragraph 1 above. The appellant has 
the burden of proof on appeals brought pursuant to paragraph 2. The board or hearing 
officer shall determine the appeal and decide whether the city manager's 
interpretation or application of such code was correct or in error at a hearing under 
the procedures described by Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(b)(c) Appeal of suspension or revocation of building permit or certificates.  Any person 
whose building permit or certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion has 
been suspended or revoked may appeal such action by the city manager to the board 
of appeals on the ground that the suspension or revocation was based on an error in 
fact or an erroneous application of this code to the facts. The city manager has the 
burden of proving the facts upon which the manager relies at such a hearing. 

(d) An application for appeal must be filed in writing with the city manager within 
fourteen days after the date of refusal of the building permit or approval of work 
performed under the permit or revocation or suspension of the building permit or 
certificate of occupancy or certificate of completion stating the basis for appeal. 

(e) Appeals Concerning Existing Conditions  

i.   Any aggrieved person who has been issued an order or other notice of 
violation under this fire code, other than a summons and complaint, under Section 
102.1 and 102.2 concerning legally existing conditions in a structure based upon the 
city manager’s determination that such conditions constitute a distinct hazard to life 
or property, and who believes the alleged violation to be factually or legally 
contrary to the requirements of this fire code or rules and regulations issued 
pursuant to this fire code may appeal the order or notice. An appellant shall file the 
appeal with the board within thirty days from the date of service of the notice of 
alleged violation. The appellant may request enlargement of time to file if such 
request is made before the end of the time period. The city manager may extend for 
a reasonable period the time to file with the board if the applicant shows good cause 
therefor. 

ii.  Any person aggrieved by a decision of the city manager upon a reinspection 
that any or all of the violations alleged in the notice of violation have not been 
adequately corrected may appeal such determination by filing a notice of appeal 
within fourteen days of the date of the reinspection. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 63Packet Page     319



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

iii.      The appeal will be conducted under the procedures of Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-
Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. The burden of proof is on the city manager to 
establish an alleged violation. 

iv. If the board of appeals or hearing officer affirms the determination by the city 
manager, it shall grant the person a reasonable period of time to correct the 
violation appealed. Any subsequent determination by the manager as to whether the 
violations alleged in the notice of violation have been adequately corrected is final. 

v. If no person appeals a notice of violation under this section, the provisions of 
the notice becomes final when the time for filing an appeal with the board has 
expired. An order appealed to court is final unless a stay is in effect. 

vi. If a person to whom the city manager has issued a notice of violation does not 
appeal under this section, such person may not raise as a defense to any subsequent 
prosecution in municipal court for a violation of an order that the conditions alleged 
to be violations in the notice of violation were not in fact or law violations. 

(c)(f) An applicant for an appeal to the board of appeals shall pay the fee prescribed by 
Section 4-20-52, “Fire Code Permit and Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981.  The fee for 
an appeal heard by a hearing officer shall be the same as the fee for an appeal heard 
by the Board of Building Appeals. 

(d)(g) The city manager may apply to the board of appealsBoard of Building Appeals, 
without fee, for an advisory opinion concerning alternative methods, applicability of 
specific requirements, approval of equipment and materials, and granting of special 
permission as contemplated in Sections 104.8 or 104.9 of the fire code. 

(e)(h) The bBoard of Building aAppeals or hearing officer has no authority to interpret 
Chapter 1 (the administrative requirements) of this code except as expressly provided 
in this section, nor, because this code sets minimum standards, to waive any 
requirement of this code. 

(8)  Appeals Concerning Existing Conditions  

(i) Any aggrieved person who has been issued an order or other notice of violation under 
this fire code, other than a summons and complaint, under Section 102.1 and 102.2 
concerning legally existing conditions in a structure based upon the city manager’s 
determination that such conditions constitute a distinct hazard to life or property, and 
who believes the alleged violation to be factually or legally contrary to the 
requirements of this fire code or rules and regulations issued pursuant to this fire code 
may appeal the order or notice to the board of building appeals in a manner provided 
by the board under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial 
Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. An appellant shall file the appeal with the board within thirty 
days from the date of service of the notice of alleged violation. The appellant may 
request enlargement of time to file if such request is made before the end of the time 
period. The city manager may extend for a reasonable period the time to file with the 
board if the applicant shows good cause therefor. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 64Packet Page     320



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(ii) Any person aggrieved by a decision of the city manager upon a reinspection that any 
or all of the violations alleged in the notice of violation have not been adequately 
corrected may appeal such determination by filing a notice of appeal with the board 
of appeals within ten days of the date of the reinspection. 

(iii) The appeal will be conducted under the procedures of Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial 
Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. The burden of proof is on the city manager to establish an 
alleged violation. 

(iv) If the board of appeals affirms the determination by the city manager, it shall grant 
the person a reasonable period of time to correct the violation appealed. Any 
subsequent determination by the manager as to whether the violations alleged in the 
notice of violation have been adequately corrected is final. 

(v) The fee for filing an appeal is that prescribed by Section 4-20-52, “Fire Code Permit 
and Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(f)(i) An aggrieved person seeking judicial review of a decision of the bBoard of 
Building aAppeals or hearing officer made under this section shall file a 
complaint for such review within thirty days after the date of the decision 
under Colorado Rule of Civil Procedure 106(a)(4). 

(g) If no person appeals a notice of violation to the board of appeals, the provisions of 
the notice becomes final when the time for filing an appeal with the board has 
expired. An order appealed to court is final unless a stay is in effect. 

(h) If a person to whom the city manager has issued a notice of violation does not 
appeal to the board, such person may not raise as a defense to any subsequent 
prosecution in municipal court for a violation of an order that the conditions alleged 
to be violations in the notice of violation were not in fact or law violations. 

(i)(j) If the city manager determines that the subject of an order or notice issued under 
this fire code constitutes an immediate hazard to the public health, safety, or 
welfare, the manager may order immediate compliance. Persons subject to such 
orders shall comply forthwith, but shall be entitled to a prompt post-compliance 
appeal hearing before the board of building appeals or a hearing officer under the 
procedures specified in this section. 

(8)  Section 109.1, “Unlawful acts,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

109.1  Violations. 

(a) General Provisions: 
(1)  No person shall violate a provision of this code, or fail to comply therewith, 
or with any of the requirements thereof.  No person shall fail to comply with any 
order issued by the city manager under this code. No person shall erect, construct, 
enlarge, alter, extend, repair, move, remove, improve, convert, demolish, equip, 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 65Packet Page     321



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

use, occupy, maintain, or utilize any building, structure, occupancy, premises, or 
system in the Ccity or cause or permit the same to be done except in conformity 
with all of the provisions of this code and in conformity with the terms and 
conditions of approval issued under this code, or of any directive of the code 
official.   

(2) In accordance with the provisions of section 5-2-11, “Prosecution of 
Multiple Counts for Same Act,” B.R.C. 1981, each day during which illegal 
construction, alteration, maintenance, occupancy, or use continues, constitutes a 
separate offense remediable through the enforcement provisions of this code. 

(3) The owner, tenant, and occupant of a structure or land, and the agents of 
each of them, are jointly and severally liable for any violation of this code with 
respect to such structure or land. 

(4)  The remedies for any violation of any provision of this code or of any 
permit, certificate, or other approval issued under this code or other City of 
Boulder code or of any directive of the fire code official may be pursued singly or 
in combination.  

(5) If any person fails or refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under this 
section, the fire code official may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, 
certify due and unpaid charges to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as 
provided by section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and 
Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(6) The fire code official may charge the cost of any action taken to correct or 
abate a violation, as authorized by this code, plus up to fifteen percent of such 
cost for administration to the property owner.  If any property owner fails or 
refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under this section, the fire code 
official may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, certify due any 
unpaid charges, including interest, to the Boulder County Treasurer, to be levied 
against the person’s property for collection by the county in the same manner as 
delinquent general taxes upon such property are collected, under the procedures 
described by section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and 
Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,“ B.R.C. 1981. 

(b) Administrative Procedures and Remedies: 
(1) If the fire code official finds that a violation of any provision of this code or 
any approval granted under this code exists, the manager, after notice and an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by chapter 1-3, "Quasi-
Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may take any one or more of the following 
actions to remedy the violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty according to the following schedule: 

(i) For the first violation of the provision or approval, $100; 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 66Packet Page     322

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(ii) For the second violation of the same provision or approval, 
$300; and 

(iii) For the third violation of the same provision or approval, 
$1,000. 

(B) For a violation concerning the use of a residential building under a 
rental license, revoke such license; 

(C) Require the filing of a declaration of use as provided in subsection (e); 
or 

(D) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of this code or any approval granted under this code. 

(2) Prior to the hearing, the fire code official may issue an order that no person 
shall perform any work on any structure or land, except to correct any violation 
found by the fire code official to exist with respect to such structure or land. 

(3) If notice is given to the fire code official at least forty-eight hours before the 
time and date set forth in the notice of hearing on any violation that the violation 
has been corrected, the fire code official will reinspect the structure or land. If the 
fire code official finds that the violation has been corrected, the manager may 
cancel the hearing. 

(4) No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the fire code official 
under this section. 

(c) Criminal Penalties. Violations of this code are punishable as provided in Section 5-2-
4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 
(d) Other Remedies. The city attorney may maintain an action for damages, declaratory 
relief, specific performance, injunction, or any other appropriate relief in the District 
Court in and for the County of Boulder for any violation of any provision of this code or 
any approval granted under this code. 
(e) Declaration of Use. If the fire code official determines that a person is using a 
structure in a way that might mislead a reasonable person to believe that such use is a use 
by right or otherwise authorized by this title, the fire code official may require such 
person to sign under oath a declaration of use that defines the limited nature of the use 
and to record such declaration in the office of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder 
against the title to the land. In addition to all other remedies and actions that the code 
official is authorized to use under the Boulder Revised Code or other applicable federal, 
state or local laws to enforce the provisions of this code, the city manager is authorized to 
withhold any approval affecting such structure or land, including, without limitation, a 
building permit, use review, site review, subdivision, floodplain development permit, or 
wetland permit until such time as the person submits a declaration of use that is in a form 
acceptable to the fire code official. 

(9) Section 109.3.3, “Prosecution of violations,” is repealed. 

(10) Section 109.4, “Violation penalties,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 67Packet Page     323

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

109.4 Abatement of violation.   

In addition to the imposition of the penalties described in Section 109.1 Violations, the fire 
code official is authorized to institute appropriate action to prevent unlawful construction or 
to restrain, correct or abate a violation; or to prevent illegal occupancy of a structure or 
premises; or to stop an illegal act, conduct of business or occupancy of a structure on or 
about any premises. 

(9)(11) Chapter 2, “Definitions,” is amended by the addition of the following additional 
definitions: 

“Accessible Private Drive” means a twenty foot unobstructed clear width with a twelve 
foot hard-all weather drivable surface which can support forty tons on ten wheels and has 
a SU-30 turning radius for the fire department’s fire apparatus.  

“Attached Dwelling Unit” means a structure which contains more than one dwelling 

unit regardless of any fire separation features.  

“Fire code official” means the city manager or the manager's delegate. 

“Detached Dwelling Unit” means a structure which contains only one dwelling unit 

together with any building accessory to the dwelling unit, and is structurally 

independent of other structures or occupancies, and has a fire separation distance of 

not less than six feet from other structures. 

“Emergency Vehicle Access Street” means a street meeting the requirements of this code 
and the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standard. 

“Fire Access Distance” means the distance between two hydrants, or the distance 

from a hydrant to any external portion of any building or buildings or the distance 

from the center line of a non-dead-end emergency vehicle access street to the point 

on the curb on such street from which access to such building is gained, measured 

along public or private (but accessible to fire equipment) roadways or fire lanes, as 

would be traveled by motorized firefighting equipment. 

“Fire Department” or “Municipal Fire Department” means the Fire Department of the 
City of Boulder, Colorado. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 68Packet Page     324



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

“House Behind a House” exists if the dwelling unit is on a lot which does not front on an 
emergency vehicle access street meeting the requirements of Sections 503.1 and 503.2, or 
the dwelling unit is not served by a fire lane meeting the requirements of Section 502.1 
from an emergency vehicle access street to an entrance to the dwelling unit, and access 
from the emergency vehicle access street to the unit is obstructed by any structure. 

“Portable Appliance” Means any appliance that is designed to be moved or relocated on a 
daily basis without any special knowledge.  This includes, but not limited to, box or 
oscillating fans, power tools, vacuums cleaners and floor polishers.   

“Tank Truck” means any single rear axle, self-propelled motor vehicle, equipped with a 
cargo tank mounted thereon, and used for the transportation of flammable and 
combustible liquids, but this term excludes any combination of units, such as a semi-
trailer. Said tank truck shall not exceed 35,000 GVW, and its total capacity shall not 
exceed 3,000 gallons. 

“Transport route” means: 

(1) Denver-Boulder Turnpike (U.S. 36) from the south city limits to Baseline 
Road. 

(2) Foothills Parkway (Colorado 157) from U.S. 36 to the north city limits. 

(3) 28th Street from Baseline Road to the north city limits. 

(4) Arapahoe Avenue from Folsom28th Street to the east city limits. 

(5) Canyon Boulevard from 28th Street to the west city limits. 

(6) Pearl Street/Pearl Parkway from Folsom28th Street to the east city limits. 

(7) Longmont Diagonal Highway (Colorado 119) as it passes through the city 
limits. 

(8) Valmont Road from Folsom Streetthe Foothills Parkway (Colorado 157) to 
55th Street. 

(9) Airport Road and Airport BoulevardRoad. 

(10)(9) Baseline Road from the east side of 28th Street (U.S. 36)27th Way to 
Foothills Parkway (Colorado 157). 

(11) 55th Street from Valmont Road to Arapahoe Avenue. 

(12) 30th Street from Arapahoe to Diagonal Highway (Colorado 119). 

(13) Longmont Diagonal Highway (Colorado 119) from 28th Street to and 
connecting with Foothills Parkway (Colorado 157). 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 69Packet Page     325



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(14) South Foothills Highway/Broadway (Colorado 93) from the south city limits 
to 27th Way and connecting to Baseline Road.  

“Unobstructed By Any Structure Above Grade” means that no structure blocks the view 
so that there is not at least one entire face of the building substantially visible in a direct 
line over the lot upon which the building sits from the nearest emergency vehicle access 
street, and no structure would significantly interfere with a stream of water being sprayed 
on the building by a nozzle mounted on a fire truck parked on the nearest emergency 
vehicle access street. For the purposes of this definition, a legal fence shall not be 
considered an obstruction if it has a gate which opens at least three feet wide, which is 
not locked, and through which firefighters on foot have ready access to the building 
within the distance limitations. 

(10)(12) Section 307, “Open Burning, Recreational Fires and Portable Outdoor Fireplaces,” 
is repealed and reenacted to read: 

307 Open Burning and Recreational Fires.  

(1) No person shall kindle or maintain outside of a habitable building or outside of an 
exterior fireplace built in accordance with the City of Boulder Building Code any 
bonfire or burn or permit to be burned any trash, paper, rubbish, wastepaper, wood, 
weeds, brush, plants, or other combustible or flammable material anywhere within the 
city limits or anywhere on city property outside of the city limits, except when: 

(a) The burning is in the course of an agricultural operation in the growing of 
crops as a gainful occupation and presents no fire hazard to other property in the 
vicinity; 

(b) The burning is a smokeless flare or a safety flare used to indicate some 
danger to the public; 

(c) The burning is a training fire conducted by the fire department, or is a 
training fire conducted by another fire department, or privately for industrial or 
commercial fire training purposes; or 

(d) The burning is solely for the purpose of fuels mitigation to alleviate wildland 
fire potential, or weed abatement to assist restoration of native plants, and. 

(2) Mobile or portable type outdoor fire places are prohibited within the city limits or 
anywhere on city property outside of the city limits. 

(11)  Section 308 is repealed and reenacted to read:  

308 Open Flames.  Open flames are prohibited within the city limits.  

Exception:  Where a permit is obtained through the Boulder Fire Department, Division of 
Fire Safety.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 70Packet Page     326



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(12)(13) Exceptions 1 and 2 to Section 311.2.2., “Fire protection,” are repealed. 

(13)(14) A new Section  401.3.1.1 401.9, “Fire Alarm Fees,” is added to read: 

(a) After the fire department has responded to two alarms of fire from any property or 
address in any calendar year, the city manager may impose a charge for each 
additional response to an alarm which originates from the property during the same 
calendar year, in accordance with the schedule prescribed by Section 4-20-52, “Fire 
Code Permit and Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(b) The city manager may waive a charge imposed for a fire alarm response if the 
property owner of record demonstrates that such alarm was caused by a fire or the 
threat of a fire, or that such alarm was not under the property owners control. It shall 
not be a defense that the alarm system is malfunctioning, unless the owner or 
manager is able to demonstrate that said alarm system is currently being serviced to 
remedy the problems being encountered. 

(c) If any fee is not paid within thirty days after demand therefor has been mailed to 
the record owner of the building, the city manager may certify the amount due 
to the County Treasurer pursuant to Section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify 
Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 
1981. 

(14)(15)Section 503.2.1, “Dimensions,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

503.2.1 Dimensions. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not less 
than 20 feet (6,096 mm), except for approved security gates in accordance with Section 
503.6, and an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 15 feet (4,572 mm).   

(15)(16) Section 5078.5.1, “Where required,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

5078.5.1 Where required.  Location and spacing of fire hydrants will be in accordance with 
the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards. 

(16)(17) Section 603.4, “Portable unvented heaters,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

603.4 Portable unvented heaters.  Portable unvented fueled-fired heating equipment are 
prohibited. 

(18) Subsection 605.11.3.2.1, “Residential buildings with hip roof layouts”, is repealed and 
reenacted to read: 

605.11.3.2.1 Residential buildings with hip roof layouts.  Panels/modules installed on 
residential buildings with hip roof layouts shall be located in a manner that provides a 3-
foot-wide (914 mm) clear access pathway from the eave to the ridge on each roof slope 
where panels/modules are located.   

Exceptions: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 71Packet Page     327



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

 1. These requirements shall not apply to roofs with slopes of 2 units   

                                     vertical in 12 units horizontal (2:12) or less. 

 

 2. These requirements shall not apply to roofs where each panel/module 
array area on the roof is 1,000 square feet (92.90 m²)  or less  in size, no 
continuous section of panels/modules is larger than 150 feet in length or 
width, a clear access pathway of not less than 12-inch-width is provided 
along each side of all horizontal ridges, and a clear access pathway of not 
less than 30-inch-width is provided from the eave to the ridge of one roof 
slope where panels/modules are located.   

3. These requirements shall not apply to roofs where each panel/module 
array area on the roof is 1,000 square feet (92.90 m²)  or less  in size, no 
continuous section of panels/modules is larger than 150 feet in length or 
width, a clear access pathway of not less than 12-inch-width is provided 
along each side of all horizontal ridges, and, where panels/modules are to 
be placed on both sides of a hip, a clear access pathway of not less than 
18-inch-width is provided along each side of such hip.   

4.  These requirements shall not apply to roofs  where the total combined 
area of solar array does not exceed 33 percent as measured in plan view of 
the total roof area of the structure, 

(19)  Subsection  605.11.3.2.2, “Residential buildings with a single ridge,” is repealed and 
reenacted to read: 

605.11.3.2.2  Residential buildings with a single ridge.  Panels/modules installed on 
residential buildings with a single ridge shall be located in a manner that provides two, 
3-foot-wide (914 mm) clear access pathways from the eave to the ridge on each roof 
slope where panels/modules are located.   

Exceptions: 

1.  This requirement shall not apply to roofs with slopes of 2 units vertical 
in 12 units horizontal (2:12) or less. 

2. This requirement shall not apply to roofs where each panel/module 
array area on the roof is 1,000 square feet (92.90 m²)  or less in size, no 
continuous section of panels/modules is larger than 150 feet in length or 
width, and a clear access pathway of not less than 12-inch-width is 
provided along each side of the horizontal ridge provided that: 

a. The total combined area of solar array does not exceed 33 percent 
as measured in plan view of the total roof area of the structure; or 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 72Packet Page     328



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

b. A 30-inch-wide clear access path is provided from the eave to the 
ridge of a roof slope where panels/modules are located. 

(20)  Subsection 605.11.3.2.3, “Residential buildings with roof hips and valleys,” is repealed 
and reenacted to read: 

605.11.3.2.3  Residential buildings with roof hips and valleys.  Panels/modules 
installed on residential buildings with roof hips and valleys shall be located no closer 
than 18 inches (457 mm) to a hip or a valley where panels/modules are to be placed on 
both sides of a hip or valley.  Where panels are to be located on only one side of a hip 
or valley that is of equal length, the panels shall be permitted to be placed directly 
adjacent to the hip or valley.  In addition, a 12-inch-wide clear access pathway shall be 
provided along each side of any horizontal ridge. 

Exceptions: 

1.  This requirement shall not apply to roofs with slopes of two2 units 
vertical in 12 units horizontal (2:12) or less. 

2.  These requirements shall not apply to roofs where a 30-inch-wide 
clear access pathway is provided from the eave to the ridge as well as 12-
inch-wide clear access pathways along each side of any horizontal ridge. 

(21)  Subsection 605.11.3.2.4, “Residential building smoke ventilation,” is repealed and 
reenacted to read: 

605.11.3.2. 4  Pathways.  All access pathways required under this Section 605.11.3.2 
shall be provided in a structurally strong location on the building capable of supporting 
the live load of fire fighters accessing the roof. 

 (17)(22)Section 901.6, “Inspection, testing and maintenance,” is amended by the addition of 
the following: 

If any building, structure, or portion of the same is protected by a fire detection, 

alarm and extinguishing system or the owner has agreed with the city manager so 

to protect the building or structure or portion thereof, then no person shall shut 

off or disable such system except as authorized under Section 11-1-45, Water to Be 

Shut Off for Failure to Pay, B.R.C. 1981, and no owner, manager, or tenant of 

such space shall fail to prevent the shutting off or disabling of such system.  It is a 

specific defense to a charge of violation of this section that the system was shut off 

in order to perform maintenance work on the system, that it was shut off for the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 73Packet Page     329



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

minimum period of time necessary to perform such work, and that maintenance 

personnel were on the premises performing such work during the entire time the 

system was shut off. The minimum penalty for violation of this section, no portion 

of which may be suspended, is a fine of $1,000.00. 

(18)(23) Section 903 is amended by the addition of the following: 

Any new building or change of occupancy of an existing building that does not have 
approved fire department access as required by the fire code may be required by the fire 
code official to have an automatic fire sprinkler system installed regardless of the 
building size. 

(19)(24) Section 903.1, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section 903.1 General. An automatic sprinkler system shall be installed in the 
occupancies and locations as set forth in this section. Changes in use, as defined in 
Section 10-5-2, “Adoption of International Building Code with Modifications,” B.R.C. 
1981, shall comply with the provisions listed below. 

(25) The first sentence of Section 903.2 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Approved automatic sprinkler systems in new buildings and structures shall be provide 
in the locations described in Section 903.2.1 through 903.2.15. 

(20)(26) Section 903.2.1 is amended by the addition of the following: 

903.2.1 Group A. All basements classified as, or a part of, a Group A occupancy shall 
be provided with an automatic sprinkler system regardless of the gross square footage. 

(a) Section 903.2.1.1 Group A-1, # 1 is repealed and reenacted to read. 

1. The fire area exceeds 2,000 square feet (185.8m2) 

(b) Section 903.2.1.2 Group A-2, # 1 is repealed and reenacted to read. 

1.  The fire area exceeds 2,000 square feet (185.8m2) 

(c) Section 903.2.1.3 Group A-3, # 1 is repealed and reenacted to read. 

1.  The fire area exceeds 2,000 square feet (185.8m2) 

(d)  Section 903.2.1.4 Group A-4, # 1 is repealed and reenacted to read. 

1.  The fire area exceeds 2,000 square feet (185.8m2) 

(21)(27) A new subsection is added to Section 903.2.1 is added to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 74Packet Page     330



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

903.2.1.6, Group B occupancies., is enacted to read: aAn automatic sprinkler system 
shall be provided throughout all new Group B occupancies greater than 2,000 gross 
square feet (185.8m2). 

(22)(28) Section  903.2.32, Group E. #1is repealed and reenacted to read: 

(a) Throughout all Group E fire areas greater than 2000 (185.8m2) in area. 

(b) Exception is repealed. 

(c) All basements classified as, or a part of, a Group E occupancy shall be provided 
with an automatic sprinkler system regardless of the gross square footage 

(23)(29) Section 903.2.43, Group F-1 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new Group F occupancies 
greater than 2000 square feet (185.8m2). 

(30) Exceptions 3 and 4 to Section 903.2.6, Group I, are repealed. 

(24)(31) Section 903.2.76, Group M is repealed and reenacted to read: 

An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new Group M 
occupancies greater than 2000 square feet (185.8m2). 

(25)(32) The first sentence of Section 903.2.87, but not Subsections 903.2.8.1 and 903.2.8.2, 
is repealed and reenacted to readamended by the addition of the following:  

Effective September 1, 2014, an automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 
903.3 shall be provided throughout all buildings with a Group R fire area;  detached one- 
and two- family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more 
than three stories above grade plane in height with a separate means of egress and their 
accessory structures shall comply with the fire sprinkler system requirements of the City 
of Boulder Residential Building Code. 

   

Prior to September 1, 2014, the following standards apply:   

An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3 shall be 
provided throughout all buildings with a Group R fire area. 

(a) Exception 1: Detached and two unit attached dwelling units are not required to 
have an automatic fire sprinkler system if they are not used as residential board 
and care occupancies, and the distance, unobstructed by any structure above 
grade, landscaping or topographical obstructions, from the curb face of the 
emergency vehicle access street on which the structure is addressed, to a face of 
the unit containing an entrance, is not greater than one hundred feet.  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 75Packet Page     331



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(b) Exception 2. A detached dwelling unit is not required to have an automatic 
fire sprinkler system if it is not used as a residential board and care occupancy, 
and is located on a lot larger than 14,500 square feet, in which the driveway meets 
the requirements of a fire department accessible private drive, and extends 
without interruption from the nearest emergency vehicle access street on which 
the structure is addressed, to the side of the building which contains the main 
entrance.   

(c) If more than one principal building is constructed on a lot pursuant to the 
exceptions listed in Section 9-3.2-16, “Two Detached Dwelling Units on a Single 
Lot,” B.R.C. 1981, then each building other than the building closest to an 
emergency vehicle access street on which the structure is addressed, shall be 
protected by an approved and supervised automatic sprinkler system in 
accordance with Section 903.3. 

Exception: If a lot has frontage on two streets and each street is an emergency 
vehicle access street, then two buildings, each closest to their respective streets, 
shall not be required to be so protected by this subsection. 

(d) Houses behind houses shall be protected throughout by an approved automatic 
sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3. 

(26)(33) Section 903.2.98 Group S-1, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new Group S-1 
occupancies greater than 2000 square feet (185.8m2) , including, but not limited to, 
repair garages. 

(27)(34) Section 903.2.109 Group S-2, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new Group S-2 
occupancies greater than 2000 square feet (185.8m2). 

(28)(35) A new sectionSection, 903.2.13 “Group U occupancies,” is added to read: 

Section 903.2.12.3 Group U Ooccupancies. An automatic sprinkler system shall be 
provided throughout all new Group U occupancies greater than 2,000 gross square feet 
(185.8m2). 

(29)(36)A new Section 903.2.12.4 is added to read: 

Section 903.2.14 Any occupancy, structure or unit required to be protected by a 
sprinkler system by one provision of the fire code or the building code, and falling 
within an exception to a requirement of such protection to any other provision of the 
fire code or building code, shall be so protected. 

(30)(37) A new Section 903.2.12.5 is added to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 76Packet Page     332



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Section 903.2.15  If the floor area of an addition to any existing occupancy as 
described in 903.1 through 903.2.12.3 above is greater than either fifty percent of the 
existing gross floor area or 2,000 square feet, and the total altered structure would be 
required to be protected by a sprinkler system by this section if it were new 
construction, then the entire addition shall be protected throughout by an approved and 
supervised automatic sprinkler system, installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1. 
Said sprinkler system shall be continuous throughout the addition up to a fire barrier 
built in accordance with the building code for that occupancy. 

(31)(38) Section 903.3.1.1.1 Exception 4 is repealed  

(32) Section 903.3.5.1 is repealed  

(33)(39)  Section 903.3.5.1.2 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

903.3.5.1.2 Residential combination services.  Combination of domestic and fire 
service lines shall be in accordance with the City of Boulder Design and Construction 
Standard. 

(34)(40) Section 903.4.1, “Monitoring,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

903.4.1 SignalMonitoring. Alarm, supervisory and trouble signals shall be distinctly 
different and shall be automatically transmitted to an Underwriters Laboratory listed 
centralsupervising station.  

Exceptions: 

1. Underground key or hub valves in roadway boxes provided by the 
municipality or public utility need not be supervised. 

2.   Systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13D. 

(35)(41) Section 903.4.2, “Alarms,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

903.4.2 Alarms.  Approved audible and visual devices shall be connected to every new 
automatic sprinkler system.  Such sprinkler water-flow alarm devices shall be 
activated by water flow equivalent to the flow of a single sprinkler of the smallest 
orifice size installed in the system.  Alarm devices shall be provided in the interior of 
the building in accordance with NFPA 72 and on the exterior of the building in an 
approved location.  Where a fire alarm system is installed, actuation of the automatic 
sprinkler shall actuate the building fire alarm system.   

(36)(42) A new Section 903.7, “Response time sprinkler requirement,” is adopted to read: 

903.7 Response time sprinkler requirement. 

(a) It is the city's goal, as reflected in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan's 
urban fire service criteria, that land not be annexed unless the response time for 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 77Packet Page     333



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

service is normally six minutes or less. Nonetheless, there may be occasions when 
annexation outside the existing six minute limit but within eight minutes or less is, 
due to special circumstances, in the city's best interest. Before such land is 
annexed, consideration must be given to the need for and provision of additional 
fire stations and equipment to serve properly the area being annexed and to bring 
it within the six minute limit eventually. Protection by a sprinkler system as 
required by subsection (c) below is a temporary substitute, and is not intended to 
eliminate the requirement for additional fire stations and equipment.  

(b) Land used or to be used for residential purposes will not normally be annexed 
if it is outside the six minute limit unless excepted from this policy by subsection 
(d) below.  All new dwelling unit on land annexed outside the six minute limit 
shall be protected by an automatic fire sprinkler system. 

(c) On land annexed after the effective date of this chapter and not excepted 
under subsection (d) below, all new non-residential construction and any existing 
non-residential structures shall be provided throughout with an approved and 
supervised fire sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1 
adopted in Chapter 10-8, “Fire Prevention Code,” B.R.C. 1981, if such land is 
outside of the six minute City of Boulder fire response time from city fire stations 
housing at least one pumper which is rated at one thousand gallons per minute 
pumping capacity or greater, and which requires a crew of three or more for 
proper operation. 

(d) The requirements of this Section may be waived by the city council by a 
provision doing so in an annexation agreement incorporated into an annexation 
ordinance if, in the opinion of the city council it is in the city's best interest to do 
so because: 

(1) Of changed or special conditions; 

(2) The land to be annexed is located on Arapahoe Avenue west of the 
city; or 

(3) The land to be annexed is below the blue line, west of Broadway, south 
of Norwood Avenue, and north of Table Mesa Drive. 

Exceptions (2) and (3) above reflect the fact that it is not anticipated that 
new fire stations will be constructed to bring these areas within the six 
minute limit. In other areas it is anticipated that new fire stations will 
eventually be constructed or upgraded to bring the service area within this 
limit. 

(37)(43) A new Section 903.8, “Fire suppression systems,” is added to read: 

903.8  Fire Suppression Systems 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 78Packet Page     334



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

All existing structures in the following categories shall be protected throughout by an 
approved and supervised automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 903.3.1 Except that any structure or portion thereof required by 
this section to be so protected prior to the effective date of this ordinance shall be 
immediately so protected: 

(a) R-1 and R-2 occupancies greater than fifty five feet high. 

(b) Hotels and motels. Exceptions: One- and two-story structures, and three 
story structures with an exterior exit balcony for all rooms above grade. 

(c) Congregate residences classified as Group R-4.  

(d) Group I-1 and I-2 occupancies as defined in the fire code. 

(e) Basements greater than 2,000 gross square feet.  

Exception 1. Basements below R occupancies. 

Exception 2. Basements used exclusively for “services to the building,” 
such as electric meters, compressors, and so forth. But “services to the 
building” shall not include any storage (either combustible or non-
combustible), nor routine human occupancy. 

Exception 3. Basements where there is provided at least 20 square feet of 
opening entirely above the adjoining ground level in each fifty lineal feet 
or fraction thereof of exterior wall in the basement on at least one side of 
the building. Openings shall have a minimum dimension of not less than 
30 inches, and shall be accessible to the fire department from the exterior 
and shall not be obstructed in a manner that firefighting or rescue cannot 
be accomplished from the exterior. 

When openings are provided on only one side and the opposite wall of 
said basement is more than seventy-five feet from such openings, said 
basement shall be provided with an approved automatic sprinkler system, 
or openings as specified above shall be provided on at least two sides of an 
exterior wall of the basement. 

(f) All Group A occupancies used primarily for dining, drinking or motion 
picture viewing, shall be protected throughout by an approved and supervised 
automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 903.3.1 when said Group A occupancy is greater than 2,000 gross 
square feet in size. 

For Group A occupancies described in this part (f) not currently provided with 
complete automatic sprinkler protection, this paragraph shall take effect 
during a remodel or renovation which 1) requires one or more building 
permits with a combined valuation (labor and materials) of $30.00 per square 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 79Packet Page     335



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

foot or more within any calendar year, and 2) necessitates business closure for 
a combined period of five calendar days or more, in the aforementioned 
calendar year. 

(38)(44) Section 907.6.515, is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Section 907.6.515 Monitoring. Fire alarm systems shall be supervised by an 
Underwriters Laboratory listed centralsupervising station. 

(45) Section 1103.5, “Sprinkler systems,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

1103.5. Sprinkler systems. The automatic sprinkler system requirements set forth in 
Sections 903.1 and 903.2 of this code shall be complied with in existing buildings where 
the occupancy or use, as defined in Chapter 3 of the Building Code of the City of Boulder, 
changes in a fire area exceeding 2,000 square feet.   

(39)(46) Section 335601.2.4.2, “Fireworks,” is amended by the addition of the following: 

The city manager shall require a certificate of insurance to protect persons and 

property from death or injury as a result of the fireworks display, in an amount not 

less than $150,000.00 per person injured and $600,000.00 per incident. The insurance 

shall cover any liability of the city or any employee or agent thereof arising out of or 

connected with the permit and the fireworks display permitted thereunder. Before 

any permit for a fireworks display is issued, the applicant shall comply with the 

provisions of this Section. 

(40)(47) Section 345701.4, “Permits,” is amended by the addition of the following: 

(1) A regular permit allows a permittee on a transport route to take delivery of flammable 
and combustible liquids from any delivery vehicle or from a tank truck where the premises 
are not located on a transport route. Upon payment of the fee provided in Section 4-20-52, 
“Fire Code Permit and Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, the city manager shall issue to an 
applicant therefor a permit to receive deliveries of flammable and combustible liquids at a 
particular location or outlet if the manager finds that: 

(a) The outlet or location contains sufficient room to accommodate the delivery 
vehicle, so that the delivery vehicle is capable of being parked entirely within the 
property boundary lines of the outlet or location and in such a manner that no part of 
the vehicle extends into any street, sidewalk, or alley while the vehicle is off-loading 
and no backing of the vehicle either into or out of station property is necessary; 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 80Packet Page     336



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(b) The entrance and exit access-ways for the delivery vehicle are so arranged that no 
obstruction of traffic will result from the vehicle entering or leaving the outlet or 
location; and 

(c) The storage tanks for flammable and combustible liquids are located underground 
and constructed in accordance with the applicable provisions of this code, unless 
specifically allowed to be installed above ground by other sections of this code. 

(2) A special permit allows a permittee to take delivery of flammable and combustible 
liquids on premises outside of transport routes from specified delivery vehicles other than a 
tank truck. The owner or person in control of any outlet or location holding a regular permit 
may, upon payment of the fee provided in Section 4-20-52, “Fire Code Permit and 
Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, apply to the city manager for a special permit allowing 
delivery with a vehicle other than a tank truck as defined in Section 221. The city manager 
shall schedule with the applicant a simulated demonstration with an empty vehicle of the 
size and design that the applicant will use under the permit. The applicant shall furnish the 
vehicle and driver at its cost. The simulated test shall be observed by the city manager who 
shall issue the special permit if the manager finds that: 

(a) The outlet or location contains sufficient room to accommodate the delivery 
vehicle, so that the delivery vehicle is capable of being parked entirely within the 
property boundary lines of the outlet or location in such a manner that no part of the 
vehicle shall extend into any street, sidewalk or alley while the vehicle is off-loading, 
and no backing of the vehicle either into or out of the station property is necessary; 

(b) The entrance and exit access-ways for the delivery vehicles are so arranged that 
no obstruction of traffic will result from the vehicle entering or leaving the outlet or 
location; 

(c) The roads and streets are accessible to fire-fighting equipment and vehicles; 

(d) The topography or configuration of the roads and streets does not involve 
potential difficulties in containing, fighting, or suppressing a fire or spill and does not 
impair the ability of a transport vehicle to maneuver safely; and 

(e) The traffic congestion and flow of vehicles using the roads and streets will not 
create potential hazards to transport vehicles. Upon issuance, the permit will 
designate a specific route to be followed from the nearest transport route to the permit 
location and to return to the transport route. The permit will specify a vehicle 
capacity. Special permits are valid only between 3:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. But, for the 
delivery of gasoline or diesel fuel only, if the permit location is in an industrial zone, 
and is connected to a transport route by a former transport route established by 
ordinance 4636 (1982), and the applicant demonstrates that there were no incidents 
involving the discharge of gasoline or diesel fuel from delivery vehicles using the 
relevant portion of such former route, then the city manager may issue the special 
permit for such other hours as the applicant is able to demonstrate present no more 
hazard than delivery during the hours of 3:00 a.m. through 6:00 a.m. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 81Packet Page     337



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(3) Revocation or Suspension of Permits. 

(a) Each of the following is a ground for revocation of a special permit: 

1. Failure of a transport vehicle to park entirely on the site while unloading; 

2. Obstructing of sidewalks while unloading; 

3. Backing the vehicle onto or off of the site; 

4. Obstruction of traffic while entering or leaving;  

5. Failure of a transport driver to follow the prescribed route to or from the 
permit location; or 

6. Failure to maintain a copy of the special permit on the premises. 

7. Failure of a transport driver to be present while off loading. 

(b) Each of the following is a ground for suspension of a regular permit for up to 
fourteen days: 

1. Failure of a transport vehicle to park entirely on the site while unloading; 

2. Obstructing of sidewalks while unloading; 

3. Backing the vehicle onto or off of the site; 

4. Obstruction of traffic while entering or leaving; or 

5. Failure of a transport driver to follow the prescribed route to or from the 
permit location. 

6. Failure of a transport driver to be present while off loading. 

(c) When matters are brought to the attention of the city manager, which if 
substantiated would be grounds for revocation of a special permit or suspension of a 
regular permit, the manager shall issue a written notice thereof to the permittee 
containing a concise written statement of the violation constituting grounds for 
revocation or suspension and indicating that the revocation or suspension shall take 
effect fourteen days after the issuance of said notice unless the permittee appeals in 
accordance with the terms of Section 1083.1.4. 

(d) All special permit revocations shall be for a period of six months, after which 
time the permittee may reapply for a special permit. During the period of revocation, 
the outlet may continue to operate with and according to the terms of a regular permit. 

(4) If, due to changed conditions, including without limitation changes in the transport 
routes, the manager has probable cause to believe that an existing regular or special permit 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 82Packet Page     338



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

no longer meets the criteria for issuance, the manager may require a new simulated 
demonstration. For purposes of notice and appeal, such proceedings shall be deemed a new 
application, but no additional fee shall be charged.  

(41)(48) A new Section 345701.6, “Prohibited acts,” is adopted to read: 

(a) No owner and no person in control of any outlet or location shall accept deliveries of 
flammable or combustible liquids, unless such person has applied for and has been issued a 
permit therefor by the city manager. 

(b) No owner and no person in control of any outlet or location for which a permit to 
accept deliveries of flammable or combustible liquids has been issued shall accept 
deliveries of such liquids unless delivery is in compliance with all the provisions of this 
code and any conditions on the permit. 

(c) No person shall spill more than thirty-two fluid ounces of flammable or combustible 
liquid upon the ground. 

(d) No person shall fail to notify the fire department of any spill of flammable or 
combustible liquid of more than thirty-two fluid ounces at the earliest practicable moment 
after said spill has occurred. 

(e) Except to replace existing tanks, no person shall install any tanks used for the storage 
of any type of flammable or combustible liquid, or other hazardous material or waste in the 
floodplain as defined in Section 9-9-2, “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981. This prohibition is not 
retroactive, but no person shall use or maintain any tank installed in violation of this 
prohibition. 

(f) No person shall weld or cut by torch on the premises of a service station or allow or 
cause crankcase drainings to be spilled or poured onto the ground. No person shall dispose 
of hazardous materials by dumping or pouring on the ground or into a storm drain or 
sanitary sewer or any connection thereto. 

(42)(49) Section 345704.2, “Tank Sstorage,” is amended by the addition of the following.  

(a) Except for fuel carried on tank trucks, above-ground storage of all Class I, II, and III 
flammable and combustible liquids in aggregate amounts of more than 500 gallons of such 
liquids on a single lot is allowed only in those areas of the city zoned “industrial.” All 
installations shall comply in all respects with Chapter 5734. Any tank intended for the bulk 
storage of any Class I, II or III flammable or combustible liquid may be stored above 
ground only in those areas of the City zoned industrial.  

(b) All service stations, as defined in Chapter 22, regardless of zoning, shall install all 
bulk fuel storage tanks, oil storage tanks, and waste oil storage tanks underground and meet 
all requirements of Chapter 22 and Chapter 34. All bulk fuel storage tanks, oil storage 
tanks, and waste oil storage tanks in a residential zone shall be installed underground and 
meet all requirements of Chapter 34. Liquefied natural gas (LNG) or liquefied petroleum 
gas (LP-Gas) may be stored above ground in areas of the city zoned “industrial” and 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 83Packet Page     339



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

dispensed at such sites by a service station, if the city manager finds that such installation 
meets all the requirements of applicable fire codes before any dispensing of such fuel and 
proper and necessary on-site fire control devices are provided. The fee for review and 
inspection of such a specialized installation shall be as provided in Section 4-20-52, “Fire 
Code Permit and Inspection Fees,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) All underground tanks used for dispensing or bulk storage of any flammable or 
combustible liquid shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 5734, “Flammable and 
Combustible Liquids,” any other pertinent city codes, including without limitation those 
concerning fire and flood, the Colorado State Oil Division, and the manufacturer's 
specifications for installation. Plans for installation shall be approved by the Colorado State 
Oil Division and the city flood control office, before the city may issue permits for 
construction, installation, and use of the tanks. No person shall install a used tank. 

(d) No person shall install a tank or tanks for the dispensing or bulk storage of any 
flammable or combustible liquid, including temporary installations on construction sites, 
until such person has first submitted plans for the installation to the city manager and has 
received approval of such plans and of the installation. 

(43)(50) A new Section 345706.2.8.2, “Safety devices required for outlets or locations accepting 
deliveries of flammable or combustible liquids, is adopted to read: 

No owner and no person in control of any outlet or location shall accept deliveries of 
flammable and combustible liquids, and no person shall make deliveries of such liquids 
to any outlet or location, unless the following conditions are met during such delivery: 

(a) The hose connection employed in making a delivery of flammable or combustible 
liquids contains the safety device known as a “glass elbow” to allow inspection of the 
contents of the delivery hose; and 

(b) Any hose used in making deliveries of flammable or combustible liquids contains 
the apparatus commonly known as a tight-fill connection device to secure the off-
loading device of the delivery vehicle to the intake structure of the storage tank. 

(c) Exceptions to (1) and (2) above may be granted by the city manager for industrial 
installations if conditions warrant. 

(44)(51) A new Section 345706.2.8.3, Full compartment dumps required,” is adopted to read: 

Any person delivering flammable and combustible liquids in a vehicle that contains 
compartments larger than six hundred gallons shall empty each such compartment at a 
single stop, if any delivery of liquids is made at any outlet or location from any such 
compartment. 

(52) In Chapter 80, “Referenced Standards,” the NFPA standard reference numbers for 13, 13D, 
13R, and 72 are repealed and reenacted to read: 

13-13 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 84Packet Page     340



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

13D-13 

13R-13 

72-13 

10-8-3 Violations. 

Any violation of the International Fire Code, any appendix thereto adopted by this chapter, or of 
any order issued by the city manager thereunder is punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, 
“General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981. Every twenty-four-hour period in which a violation exists 
constitutes a separate violation. 

Section 8.  A new Chapter 10-8.5, B.R.C. 1981, is enacted to read: 

Chapter 10-8.5 Wildland Code 

 

10-8.5-1 Legislative Intent. 

 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect public health and safety by regulating the use, condition, 
construction, alteration, repair and maintenance of buildings, structures and premises within the 
wildland-urban interface areas in the City in order to prevent the spread of fire and risk of harm 
to persons and property from the intrusion of fire from wildland fire exposures and fire 
exposures from adjacent structures as well as to prevent structure fires from spreading to 
wildland fuels. The city council hereby adopts the 2012 edition of the International Wildland-
Urban Interface Code with certain amendments, additions, and deletions thereto found to be in 
the best interests of the city. 

 

10-8.5-2  Adoption of the International Wildland-Urban Interface Code with 
Modifications. 

 

(a) The 2012 edition of the International Wildland-Urban Interface  Code of the International 
Code Council are adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Wildland Code and has the same 
force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, except as specifically amended by the 
provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Appendix B, “Vegetation Management Plan” and Appendix C, “Fire Hazard Severity Form” 
and sections contained therein are adopted. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 85Packet Page     341



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(c) Section 102.4.1, “Conflicts,” is  amended to read: 

102.4.1 Conflicts.  Where conflicts exist between provisions of this code and the 
referenced standards or the building, residential, or fire code, the most restrictive 
provisions shall govern.  

(d) Section 103.1, “Creation of an enforcement agency,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

103.1 Division of Building Safety.  “Division of Building Safety” means the 
administrative unit established by the city manager or the manager’s delegates, and the 
personnel assigned to the unit by the manger.  The Division of Building Safety 
administers the City of Boulder Wildland Code assisted by a Division of Fire Safety, 
established within the fire department, under the direction of the city manager.   

(e) Section 104.3, “Liability of the code official,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

104.3.  Liability.  The Wildland Code shall not be construed to hold the City of Boulder 
or any of its employees or agents responsible for any damage to persons or property by 
reason of inspection or reinspection or failure to inspect or reinspect as herein provided or 
by reason of the approval or disapproval of any equipment as herein provided. 

No employee of the city who enforces, attempts to enforce, or is authorized to enforce the 
Wildland Code renders him or herself or the city liable to third parties for any damage or 
injury to the person or property of such third parties as a result of the enforcement or non-
enforcement of the fire code. The city assumes no duty of care by virtue of the adoption 
of the Wildland Code. No person is justified in relying upon the approval of a plan, the 
results of an inspection, or the issuance of a certificate of inspection or occupancy, and 
such approvals, inspections, and certificates are not a guarantee that the plan or work so 
approved, inspected, or certificated in fact complies with all requirements of the Wildland 
Code. It is the duty of the person owning, controlling, or constructing any building or 
structure to einsure that the work is done in accordance with the requirements of the fire 
code, and it is such persons and not the city who are responsible for damages caused by 
negligent breach of such duty. 

(f) Section 106, “Appeals,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

SECTION 106 APPEALS 

106.1 Appeals. 

(a) Any appeal under this section shall be heard by the Board of Building 
Appeals established under section 2-3-4, “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 
1981, unless the city manager determines, due to the nature of the issues in a 
particular appeal, to appoint a hearing office under section 1-3-5, “Hearings and 
Determinations,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(b) Any person directly affected by a decision of the code official or an order 
issued under this code may appeal the decision or order on the ground that: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 86Packet Page     342



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

1. The decision or order was based on an error of fact or an erroneous 
interpretation of this code or the rules legally adopted thereunder; or 

2. The code official erroneously failed to approve an alternative material 
or method pursuant to Section 105.3 prior to its installation or use.  In 
determining such an appeal the board shall apply the standards of Section 
105.3, but the board shall have no jurisdiction to consider if a material or 
method expressly prohibited by this code is an acceptable alternative; or 

3. The code official has erroneously failed to grant a modification 
pursuant to Section  105.1.  In determining such an appeal the board or 
hearing officer shall apply the standards of Section 105.1.  

The code official has the burden of proof under paragraph 1.  The 
appellant has the burden of proof on appeals brought pursuant to 
paragraphs 2. and 3.  The board or hearing officer shall determine the 
appeal and decide whether the code official’s interpretation or application 
of such code was correct or in error at a hearing under the procedures 
described in Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) An application for appeal must be filed in writing with the city manager within 
fourteen days after the date the decision or order was served. 

(d) An applicant for an appeal shall pay the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-47, 
“Zoning Adjustment and Building Appeals Filing Fees,” B.R.C. 1981.  The fee 
for an appeal heard by a hearing officer shall be the same as the fee for an appeal 
heard by the Board of Building Appeals. 

(e) The city manager may apply to the Board of Building Appeals, without fee, 
for an advisory opinion concerning alternative methods, applicability of specific 
requirements, approval of equipment and materials, and granting of special 
permission as contemplated in Sections 105.1, “Practical difficulties,” or Section 
105.3, “Alternative materials or methods,” of the Wildland Code. 

(gf) The board or hearing officer has no authority to interpret Chapter 1 (the 
administrative requirements) of this code except as expressly provided in this 
section, nor, because this code sets minimum standards, to waive any requirement 
of this code. 

(g) Section 107, “Permits,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

107 Permits. The provisions of Section 105, “Permits,” of the City of Boulder Building 
Code, Section 105, “Permits,” of the City of Boulder Fire Code, and Section 105, 
“Permits,” of the City of Boulder Residential Code, apply, as otherwise applicable to the 
work requiring the permit. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 87Packet Page     343



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(h) Section 108.1, “General,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

108.1 General. The requirements of Section 106.1, “Submittal Documents,” of the City of 
Boulder Building Code apply. 

(i) Section 109.4.6, “Prosecution of violation,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

109.4.6 Violations 

(a) General Provisions 
(1) No person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, extend, repair, move, remove, 
improve, convert, demolish, equip, use, occupy, or maintain any building or 
structure in the City or cause or permit the same to be done except in conformity 
with all of the provisions of this code and in conformity with the terms and 
conditions of approval issued under this code, or of any directive of the code 
official.  No person shall violate the provisions of this code, fail to comply with 
any requirements thereof, or fail to comply with any order issued by the code 
official under this code. 

(2) In accordance with the provisions of section 5-2-11, “Prosecution of Multiple 
Counts for Same Act,” B.R.C. 1981, each day during which illegal construction, 
alteration, maintenance, occupancy, use, or violation continues, constitutes a 
separate offense remediable through the enforcement provisions of this code. 

(3) The owner, tenant, and occupant of a structure or land and the agents of each 
of them are jointly and severally liable for any violation of this code with respect 
to such structure or land. 

(4) The remedies for any violation of any provision of this code or of any permit, 
certificate, or other approval issued under this code or other City of Boulder code 
or of any directive of the code official may be pursued singly or in combination.  

(5) If any person fails or refuses to pay when due any charge imposed under this 
section, the code official may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, 
certify due and unpaid charges to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as 
provided by section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and 
Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(6) The code official may charge the cost of any action taken to correct or abate 
a violation, as authorized by this code, plus up to fifteen percent of such cost for 
administration to the property owner.  If any property owner fails or refuses to 
pay when due any charge imposed under this section, the code official may, in 
addition to taking other collection remedies, certify due any unpaid charges, 
including interest, to the Boulder County Treasurer, to be levied against the 
person’s property for collection by the county in the same manner as delinquent 
general taxes upon such property are collected, under the procedures described by 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 88Packet Page     344



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to 
County Treasurer for Collection,“ B.R.C. 1981. 

(b) Administrative Procedures and Remedies 
(1) If the code official finds that a violation of any provision of this code or any 
approval granted under this code exists, the manager, after notice and an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by chapter 1-3, "Quasi-
Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may take any one or more of the following 
actions to remedy the violation: 

(A) Impose a civil penalty according to the following schedule: 

(i) For the first violation of the provision or approval, $100; 

(ii) For the second violation of the same provision or approval, 
$300; and 

(iii) For the third violation of the same provision or approval, 
$1,000; 

(B) For a violation concerning the use of a residential building under a 
rental license, revoke such license; 

(C) Require the filing of a declaration of use as provided in subsection (e); 
or 

(D) Issue an order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of this code or any approval granted under this code. 

(2) Prior to the hearing, the code official may issue an order that no person shall 
perform any work on any structure or land, except to correct any violation found 
by the code official to exist with respect to such structure or land. 

(3) If notice is given to the code official at least forty-eight hours before the time 
and date set forth in the notice of hearing on any violation that the violation has 
been corrected, the code official will reinspect the structure or land. If the code 
official finds that the violation has been corrected, the manager may cancel the 
hearing. 

(4) No person shall fail to comply with any action taken by the code official under 
this section. 

(c) Criminal Penalties. Violations of this code are punishable as provided in Section 5-2-
4, "General Penalties," B.R.C. 1981. 
(d) Other Remedies. The city attorney may maintain an action for damages, declaratory 
relief, specific performance, injunction, or any other appropriate relief in the District 
Court in and for the County of Boulder for any violation of any provision of this code or 
any approval granted under this code. 
(e) Declaration of Use. If the code official determines that a person is using a structure in 
a way that might mislead a reasonable person to believe that such use is a use by right or 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 89Packet Page     345

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter5-2.htm#section5_2_4


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

otherwise authorized by this title, the code official may require such person to sign under 
oath a declaration of use that defines the limited nature of the use and to record such 
declaration in the office of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder against the title to the 
land. In addition to all other remedies and actions that the code official is authorized to 
use under the Boulder Revised Code or other applicable federal, state or local laws to 
enforce the provisions of this code, the code official is authorized to withhold any 
approval affecting such structure or land, including, without limitation, a building permit, 
use review, site review, subdivision, floodplain development permit, or wetland permit 
until such time as the person submits a declaration of use that is in a form acceptable to 
the code official. 

(j) Section 109.4.7, “Violation penalties,” is repealed. 

(k)The definition of “Code Official” in Section 202, “Definitions,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read: 

CODE OFFICIAL.  Code official means the city manager or the city manager’s delegate. 

(l) Section 403.2, “Driveways,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

403.2  Driveways.  Driveways shall be provided when any portion of an exterior wall of 
the first story of a building is located more than 100 feet (30 480 mm) from a fire 
apparatus access road. 

(m) Section 403.2.1, “Dimensions,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

403.2.1 Dimensions.  Driveways shall be provided as defined in Section 503.2.1. 
“Dimensions,” of the City of Boulder Fire Code,  as locally amended in Section 10-8-1(15), 
B.R.C. 1981,, for an “accessible private drive” and with a minimum unobstructed height of 
15 feet (4572 mm). 

(n) Section 403.2.4, “Turnarounds,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

403.2.4 Turnarounds.  Driveway turnarounds shall have a turning radius to accommodate an 
SU-30 vehicle.  Driveways that connect with a road or roads at more than one point shall be 
considered as having a turnaround if all changes in direction meet the radii requirements for 
driveway turnaround.  

(o) Section 403.3, “Fire apparatus access road,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

403.3 Fire apparatus access road.  When required, fire apparatus access roads shall meet the 
requirements of the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standard.  

(p) Section 404.2, “Water sources,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

404.2 Water sources.  Water sources shall be designed and installed in accordance with the 
City of Boulder Design and Construction Standard.   

(q) Section 505.2, “Roof covering,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 90Packet Page     346



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

505.2  Roof covering.  Roofs shall be installed in accordance with the requirements of the 
City of Boulder Building Code and the City of Boulder Residential Building Code., as 
applicable. 

(r) Section 506.2, “Roof covering,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

506.2 Roof covering.  Roofs shall be installed in accordance with the requirements of the 
City of Boulder Building Code and the City of Boulder Residential Building Code., as 
applicable. 

(s) Section 507, “Replacement or repair of roof coverings,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

507  Replacement or repair of roof coverings.  Replacement or repair of any wood roof shall 
meet the requirements of section 10-5-5, Wood Roof Covering Materials Prohibited, B.R.C. 
1981.   

(t) Section 601.1 “Scope” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

601.1 Scope.  The provisions of this chapter establish general requirements for new 
buildings, structures, and premises located within wildland-urban interface areas.  Only the 
requirements of Sections 607.1,, “General,” and 607.2,”Storage for off-site use,” shall apply 
to new and existing buildings, structures and premises located within wildland-urban 
interface areas. 

(u) The first sentence of Appendix C, “Fire Hazard Severity Form,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read: 

This appendix may be used in place of Table 502.1 to determine the fire hazard severity. 

 

Section 9.  Chapter 10-9, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

Chapter 10-9 Mechanical Code 

10-9-1 Legislative Intent.  

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health and safety by regulating the 
installation, alteration, and repair of heating, ventilating, cooling, and refrigeration devices in 
structures in the city. The city council hereby adopts the 20062012 edition of the International 

Mechanical Code with certain amendments and deletions thereto found to be in the best interests 
of the residents of the city. 

10-9-2 Adoption of the International Mechanical Code with Modifications. 

(a) The 20062012 edition of the International Mechanical Code, including Appendices A thereto 
of the International Code Council, is hereby adopted by reference as the Mechanical Code of the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 91Packet Page     347



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

City of Boulder or mechanical code and has the same force and effect as though fully set forth in 
this chapter, except as specifically amended by the provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Except as specified below, Chapter 1 is repealed. This code shall be administered in 
accordance with Chapter 1, “Administration,” of the International Building Code as adopted, 
with amendments, by Section 10-5-2, “Adoption of International Building Code with 
Modifications,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(1) Section 101.2, “Scope,” is adopted as an administrative provision. 

(2) Section 101.2.1, “Appendices,” is adopted as an administrative provision. Appendix 
A is adopted as a part of this code. 

(3) Section 101.3, “Intent,” is adopted as an administrative provision. 

(c) Section 301.107 “Electrical” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

301.107 Electrical. Electrical wiring, controls and connections to equipment and appliances 
regulated by this code shall be in accordance with Chapter 10-6, “Electrical Code,” B.R.C. 
1981. 

(d) Section 306.5 “Equipment and appliances on roofs or elevated structures” is repealed and 
reenacted to read: 

306.5 Equipment and appliances on roofs or elevated structures. Where equipment and 
appliances requiring access are installed on roofs or elevated structures at a height exceeding 16 
feet (4877mm), such access shall be provided by a permanent approved means of access. The 
means of access shall start at no more than 8 feet (2438 mm) above finished grade or floor level 
and continue unobstructed to the equipment and appliances level service space.  

(e)(d)  A new Section 306.6, Rooftop equipment support and clearances, is added: 

306.6 Rooftop equipment support and clearances. 

(1) Mechanical equipment placed, replaced, or resting over roofing shall be supported by 
curbs or legs which shall be flashed to the roofing and made watertight. Mechanical 
equipment shall include, but not be limited to, heating equipment, cooling and 
refrigeration equipment, ventilating fans, blowers, and other similar devices located on 
the roof. 

(2) Flat roofs. On roofs having a pitch of less than 2 in 12, mechanical equipment shall be 
supported on a solid curb greater in size than the equipment which it serves. Curbs can be 
manufactured or built-in-place. If built-in-place, the curb shall be covered with metal of 
at least 26 gauge. All seams and miter corners of the metal shall be riveted and soldered 
so as to be weathertight. The curb shall be a minimum of 9 inches above the finished 
roof. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 92Packet Page     348



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(A) Ducts less than four feet in width shall have at least twelve inches clearance 
from the finished roof surface to the bottom of the duct. 

(B) Ducts between four feet and eight feet in width shall have at least twenty-four 
inches clearance from the finished roof surface to the bottom of the duct. 

(C) Ducts over eight feet in width shall have at least thirty-six inches clearance 
from the finished roof surface to the bottom of the duct.  

(3) Pitched Roofs. On roofs having a slope over a 2 and 12, mechanical equipment may 
be set on legs which provide a minimum of 11 inches clearance between the finished roof 
surface and the equipment frame. 

(f)(e) Section 603.6.1.1 “Duct length” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

603.6.1.1 Duct length. Approved Class 0 and Class 1 flexible air duct shall not exceed 
sevenfourteen feet in length. 

(g) Section 603.6.2.1 “Connector length” is modified to read limited in length to 7 feet (2134 
mm). 

(h)(f)Section 606.3, “Installation” is amended by the addition of a new sentence to read: 

Smoke detectors must be capable of being tested from a remote and readily accessible 
location. 

10-9-3 Mechanical Permit Fees. 

Mechanical permit fees are those prescribed by Subsection 4-20-13(c), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 10.  Chapter 10-9.5, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

Chapter 10-9.5 Fuel Gas Code 

10-9.5-1 Legislative Intent.  

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health and safety by regulating fuel gas 
systems and gas-fired appliances in the city. The city council hereby adopts the 20062012 edition 
of the International Fuel Gas Code as a new chapter 10-9.5 with certain amendments thereto 
found to be in the best interest of the city. 

10-9.5-2 Adoption of the International Fuel Gas Code With Modifications.  

(a) The 20062012 edition of the International Fuel Gas Code of the International Code Council is 
hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Fuel Gas Code or fuel gas code and has the 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 93Packet Page     349



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

same force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, except as specifically amended by 
the provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Except as specified below, Chapter 1 is repealed. This code shall be administered in 
accordance with Chapter 1, "Administration," of the International Building Code as adopted, 
with amendments, by Section 10-5-2, "Adoption of International Building Code with 
Modifications," B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) SECTION 101, "GENERAL," is adopted as an administrative provision with the following 
amendments: 

(1) 101.1, "Title," is amended to read: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Fuel Gas Code of the City of 
Boulder or fuel gas code. 

(2) SECTION 107, "INSPECTIONS AND TESTING," is adopted as an administrative 
provision. 

(3) Exceptions 2, 3 and 4 in Section 303.3, "Prohibited locations," are repealed. 

(4) Section 404.4 Piping through foundation wall is repealed and reenacted to read: 

404.4 Piping through foundation wall. Gas piping shall enter the building above grade 
through the foundation wall, building or structure. 

(5) Section 404.9 "Minimum burial depth" is repealed and reenacted to read: 

404.9 Minimum burial depth. Underground piping systems shall be installed at a 
minimum depth of 12 inches below grade for metallic piping and a minimum depth 
of 18 inches for non-metallic piping or where such depths cannot be obtained, other 
equivalent protection must be provided. 

(56)  Section 404.9.1 is repealed. 

(67) Section 406.4.1 "Test pressure" is repealed and reenacted to read: 

The test pressure to be used shall be no less than 1-1/2 times the proposed 
maximum working pressure, but not less than 10 psig. 

(8) Section 406.4.2 "Test duration" is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Test duration shall not be less than 15 minutes. 

(89) Section 602.1 "General" is amended by adding a new sentence to read: 

Within a vented fireplace the damper must be removed or welded open and glass 
doors installed over the fireplace opening. 

(10) Section 604 "VENTED GAS FIREPLACES" is amended by adding a new section to 
read: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 94Packet Page     350



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

604.3 Combustion air. Vented gas fireplaces shall be provided with outside combustion air 
and glass doors. 

(11) Section 605 "VENTED GAS FIREPLACE HEATERS" is amended by adding a new 
section to read: 

605.2 Vented gas fireplace heaters shall be provided with outside combustion air. 

(12) Section 621.4 "Prohibited locations" is amended by adding a new sentence to read: 

These appliances shall not be used in bedrooms or rooms readily used for sleeping 
purposes. 

 

Section 11.  Chapter 10-10, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

Chapter 10-10 Plumbing Code 

10-10-1 Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health and safety by regulating the 
installation, alteration, and repair of plumbing devices in structures in the city. The city council 
hereby adopts the 20062012 edition of the International Plumbing Code with certain 
amendments and deletions thereto found to be in the best interests of the residents of the city. 

10-10-2 Adoption of the International Plumbing Code with Modifications. 

(a) The 20062012 edition of the International Plumbing Code, published by the International 
Code Council, including appendices C Gray Water Recycling Systems, andAppendix E, “ Sizing 
of Water Piping System,” is hereby adopted by reference as the City of Boulder Plumbing Code 
or plumbing code, and has the same force and effect as though fully set forth in this chapter, 
except as specifically amended by the provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Except for Sections 101, 102, and 107, Chapter 1 is repealed. This code shall be administered 
in accordance with Chapter 1, “Administration,” of the International Building Code as adopted, 
with amendments, by Section 10-5-2, “Adoption of International Building Code with 
Modifications,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(c) Section 101.1 is repealed and reenacted to read: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Plumbing Code for the City of Boulder or 
plumbing code and will be referenced herein as “this code.” 

(d) The Exception to Section 301.3, “Connections to drainage system,” is deleted in its entirety. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 95Packet Page     351



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(e)Section 312.5, “Water supply system test,” is amended by deleting the words “for piping 
systems other than plastic” and by modifying the test pressure required from 50 psi (344 kPa) to 
100 psi (688 kPa). 

(e)(f) Section 504.7.1 “Piping for safety pan drains shall be of those materials listed in Table 
605.4.” is repealed. 

(f)(g) Section 610, “Disinfection of potable water system,” is repealed. 

(g)(h) Section 605.34 is amended by adding a new paragraph to read: 

Water service line pipe between the water meter and building shall be Type K copper if it is in 
the public right-of-way, a public utility easement, or on other public property. 

(h)(i) Section 712.4.2, “Capacity,” is amended by the addition of a new sentence to read: 

Sewage pumps and sewage ejectors serving public fixtures shall be provided with dual pumps 
and ejectors arranged to operate independently in case of overload or failure. 

(j) Section 903.1, “Roof extension,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Open vent pipes that extend through a roof shall be terminated not less than 6 inches 
above the roof, except that where a roof is to be used for any purpose other than weather 
protection, the vent extensions shall terminate not less than 7 feet above the roof. 

(k)Section 1003.1, “Where required,” is amendment by adding the following: 

 Grease, oil, and sand interceptors shall hold a minimum capacity of 750 gallons 
and shall be remotely located.   

(l) Section 1003.3, “Grease interceptors,” is amended by adding the following: 

Grease interceptors shall not receive the drainage and retain grease from more than four 
fixtures.  A grease interceptor shall not be connected to  heated water fixtures, including, 
without limitation, dishwashers, and shall not be connected before waste disposal units, 
including without limitation, garbage disposals and grinders. 

(m) Section 1003.4, “Oil separators required,” is repealed. 

(i)(n) Section 1101.3, “Prohibited drainage,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

No rain, surface, or subsurface water shall be connected to or discharged into any drainage 
system, unless first approved by the Administrative Authoritycode official. 

(j)(o) Section 1106.1, “General,” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

1106.1 General. The size of the vertical conductors and leaders, building storm drains, building 
storm sewers, and any horizontal branches of such drains or sewers shall be based on the 100-
year hourly rainfall rate of 2.5 inches per hour or other approved local weather data. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 96Packet Page     352



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(k)(p) Chapter 13, “Gray Water Recycling Systems,” is deleted in its entirety.  

Appendix C, Section C101, last sentence of exception is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Such systems that may impact public health in commercial and multiple residence projects shall 
be designed as required by the Boulder County Health Department. 

(l)(q) Table E103.3(2), “Load Values Assigned to Fixtures,” is amended by the addition of a new 
sentence to read: 

For the purpose of determining the largest instantaneous demand required in order to size a water 
meter, or for determining the amount of the plant investment fee, this table is repealed and 
replaced by the Fixture Unit/GPM Demand Chart and PIF Computation Sheet found at Appendix 
A to Chapter 11-1, “Water Utility,” B.R.C. 1981. 

(m)(r) Table E103.3(3), “Table for Estimating Demand,” is amended by the addition of a new 
sentence to read: 

For the purpose of determining the largest instantaneous demand required in order to size a water 
meter, or for determining the amount of the plant investment fee, this table is repealed and 
replaced by the Fixture Unit/GPM Demand Equations and PIF Computation Sheets found at 
Appendix A to Chapter 11-1, “Water Utility,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 12.  Section 4-20-47, “Zoning Adjustment Filing Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended to read: 

4-20-47. Zoning Adjustment and Building Appeals Filing Fees.  

(a) The fee for filing an appeal to or requesting a variance from the board of zoning adjustment 
under subsection 9-9-21(s) or section 10-3-9, "Temporary License Appeals," 10-2-2, “Adoption 
of the International Property Maintenance Code with Modifications,” 10-5-2, "Adoption of 
International Building Code With Modifications," 10-6-2, "Adoption of the National Electrical 
Code With Modifications," 10-8.5-2, “Adoption of the International Wildland-Urban Interface 
Code with Modifications,” 10-9-2, "Adoption of the International Mechanical Code With 
Modifications," 10-9.5-2, “Adoption of the International Fuel Gas Code with Modifications,” 10-
10-2, "Adoption of the International Plumbing Code With Modifications," or 10-12-24, "Appeals 
and Variances," B.R.C. 1981, is $106.00, except that the fee for an emergency appeal is $210.00. 

(b) The fee for requesting a variance from the board of zoning adjustment under subsection 9-9-
21(s), B.R.C. 1981, is $550.00. 

(c) The fee for requesting a setback variance or for a variance for parking spaces in front yard 
setbacks from the board of zoning adjustment under section 9-2-3, "Variances and 
Interpretations," B.R.C. 1981, is $550.00. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 97Packet Page     353

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter10-10.htm#section10_10_2
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter10-10.htm#section10_10_2


 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

(d) The fee for filing an appeal to the board of zoning adjustment under section 10-12-24, 
"Appeals and Variances," B.R.C. 1981, is $550.00. 

 Section 13.  Section 2-3-4, Board of Building Appeals, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

2-3-4. Board of Building Appeals. 

(a) The City of Boulder Board of Building Appeals consists of the five members of the Board of 
Zoning Adjustment, who shall sit as the Board of Building Appeals. 

(b) The chief city building official and the city fire chief shall be advisory members of the board 
without vote. The city manager shall be secretary of the board. 

(c) In addition to any other duties the council may prescribe, the responsibility of the board is to 
hear appeals by any person as provided in section 9-9-21, "Signs," chapters 10-2, "Property 
Maintenance Code," 10-5, "Building Code," 10-6, "Electrical Code," 10-7, "Energy Conservation 
and Insulation Code," 10-8, "Fire Prevention Code," 10-8.5, “Wildland Code,” 10-9, 
"Mechanical Code," 10-10, "Plumbing Code," and 10-12, "Mobile Homes," B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 14.  The City Council orders and directs the city manager to make any additional 

citation and reference changes not included in this ordinance that are necessary to properly 

implement the adoption of 2012  editions of the International Codes and the adoption of the 2011 

edition of the National Electrical Code and all related local amendments. 

Section 15.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty days after its final passage by 

City Council.  It shall be applied to building permit applications submitted after the effective 

date.  Building permits applied for before the effective date shall be considered under the 

program in effect at the time of application. 

Section 16.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 98Packet Page     354



 

K:\PLBI\o-2012 ICC Codes Adoption Ordinance-1804-0001.doc 

   

Section 17.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this _____ day of ___________ 2013. 

 

        _____________________________  

        Mayor 

Attest: 

 

___________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _______ day of _________ 2013. 

 

        _____________________________  

        Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 99Packet Page     355



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 100Packet Page     356



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the Boulder Police Master Plan, 
approve the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Police Master Plan Summary, 
and amend the BVCP Urban Service Criteria and Standards for Urban Police Protection. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager
Mark Beckner, Police Chief
Dave Hayes, Deputy Police Chief 
Greg Testa, Deputy Police Chief 
Joanna Crean, Public Works Project Coordinator  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The core mission of the Boulder Police Department (BPD) is to work with the 
community of Boulder to provide a safe and secure city through education, enforcement 
and investigative services. The purpose of this item is to seek acceptance from City 
Council of the updated Police Master Plan, approval of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Police Master Plan Summary, and amend the BVCP Urban 
Service Criteria and Standards for Urban Police Protection.

Originally developed in 1996 and revised in 2001, the Police Master Plan is being 
updated to better reflect current and emerging trends, which include an increasing 
population and changing demographics; a rise in the number of calls for service; 
changing community expectations; advances in technology and communication and the 
use of technology to investigate crimes; and requirements for court evidence. The 
updated Police Master Plan is being restructured within the context of the Sustainability 
Framework to reflect the BVCP and the city’s approach to Priority Based Budgeting. The 
Master Plan is intended to guide the BPD for the next five-to-seven years in addressing 
the business operations of police service delivery in a manner that meets the community’s 
standards and sustainability goals. A complete copy of the Police Master Plan is included 
as Attachment A. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page     357



The Planning Board reviewed and recommended City Council acceptance of the Police 
Master Plan by unanimous vote on July 25, 2013. 

RECOMMENDATION

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:

Motion to accept the Boulder Police Master Plan, approve the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Police Master Plan Summary, and amend the BVCP Urban 
Service Criteria and Standards for Urban Police Protection.

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
Economic – Police enforce the laws that help maintain a safe community for 
businesses to operate. The Boulder Police Department (BPD) provides support to 
keep the community safe from crime and improve quality of life concerns so that 
Boulder remains an attractive place to live, work and recreate.  
Environmental – BPD’s use of alternative modes of transportation such as foot 
patrols, bicycle patrols and alternative fuel vehicles helps promote renewable 
fuels and reduces emission impacts. Also related to the environment is preparing 
for natural disasters, such as floods and wildfires. When a natural disaster occurs, 
police are involved in crowd control, providing public safety, directing traffic and 
organizing search teams.  
Social – BPD protects people, homes and businesses by delivering services 
equitably and fairly and helps to provide a predictable sense of safety and 
security. By working in partnership with the community, BPD can increase its 
effectiveness in solving community problems, reducing crime and making 
neighborhoods safer and more attractive. 

OTHER IMPACTS
Fiscal – Implementation of the Police Master Plan will take place over a number 
of years. BPD anticipates incorporating new initiatives into the future budget 
processes as city resources allow. For example, upgrading technology in order to 
improve response times and increase efficiency will be considered as part of a 
future budget process.
Staff time – Implementation of elements of the Police Master Plan may require 
additional staff resources. For example, a phased in approach to add sworn 
officers and civilian staff members has been submitted for consideration as part of 
the 2014 budget process.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK
The city’s Planning Board discussed the Police Master Plan at its July 25, 2013 meeting 
and recommended acceptance (4-0, B. Bowen, A. Brockett, L. May absent) of the Police 
Master Plan to City Council. Planning Board also approved (4-0) the proposed BVCP 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page     358



Police Master Plan Summary and revisions to the BVCP Urban Service Criteria and 
Standards for Urban Police Protection. 

PUBLIC PROCESS
Opportunities for public input included public hearings at the Planning Board meeting on 
July 25, 2013 and City Council meeting on September 3, 2013. In addition, from the 
summer of 2009 through 2010, focus group meetings were conducted with internal 
workgroups, external stakeholders, and the general public to obtain feedback about 
community concerns, as well as current and future police services. In 2011, an online 
survey was developed to solicit further information from the general public.  

BACKGROUND
The BVCP provides the overall policy framework for departmental master planning 
including a general statement of the community’s long-term desired future. Departmental 
and system master plans take the goals and policies of the BVCP and provide specific 
guidance for delivering city services. In 1996, BPD completed its first Master Plan, 
which was later revised in 2001. The BPD Master Plan is now being updated to better 
reflect current and emerging trends. The updated BPD Master Plan is being restructured 
within the context of the Sustainability Framework to reflect both the BVCP and the 
city’s approach to Priority Based Budgeting. 

As part of the master plan update process, BPD completed a workload and staffing 
analysis known as the Staffing and Deployment Assessment (Assessment) in June 2012. 
The Assessment recommendations were presented to City Council on April 30, 2013. 
Since the Assessment was completed, many recommendations have been implemented or 
are in the process of being implemented. Other recommendations are being brought 
forward as part of the 2014 budget process and the BPD Master Plan update. Information 
related to the Assessment as well as the BPD Master Plan update process can be found at: 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/police > “BPD Master Plan.”

On May 28, 2013, a City Council dinner discussion was held in order to provide them 
with an update on the status of the Police Master Plan and obtain feedback on the 
proposed strategies and initiatives to address the provision of police services. City 
Council’s feedback was then incorporated into the final Police Master Plan. 

ANALYSIS
The Police Master Plan is the City of Boulder’s five-to-seven-year plan to support public 
safety services by building on BPD’s strengths, addressing existing deficiencies and 
defining a future course that ensures continued high-quality and cost-effective law 
enforcement services. This update to the Police Master Plan takes into consideration 
current and emerging trends that impact the future of police response, including an 
increasing population and changing demographics; a rise in the number of calls for 
service; changing community expectations; advances in technology and communication 
and the use of technology to investigate crimes; and requirements for court evidence.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page     359



Attachment A provides the Police Master Plan in detail. Included in this section are 
some of the key areas from the Police Master Plan. 

Sustainability Framework
The Sustainability Framework is a tool for departmental master planning to help ensure 
that each plan aligns with and advances the goals and priorities of the City Council and 
community. The categories of the framework build upon the BVCP and the city’s Priority 
Based Budgeting (PBB) approach. Both the BVCP and PBB were developed with 
community input processes and are used to guide long-term decision making as well as 
the city’s annual budget prioritization process. The Sustainability Framework was first 
used in the Fire Master Plan and it has evolved as part of the Police Master Plan process. 
The framework will continue to evolve as it is applied in subsequent master plan efforts.  

BPD Strategies and Initiatives
As part of the master plan update process, BPD developed a number of strategies and 
initiatives within the context of the Sustainability Framework to address the provision of 
police services. For each Sustainability Framework category area, the BPD’s strategy is 
identified along with initiatives or action items to more strategically provide police 
services while meeting current and anticipated future community needs. While the 
initiatives are under a specific sustainability category, the initiatives often impact 
multiple areas. Details of each initiative are included in Attachment A, beginning on 
page 15 and summarized in a table on pages 28 and 29.

Investment Priorities and Implementation 
In accordance with the city’s business planning methodology, the Police Master Plan 
proposes three spending plans which focus on supporting programs that have strong 
community support:

Fiscally Constrained plan based on 2013 budget allocations ($31,747,022
ongoing),
Action plan that assumes an increase in revenue to the department through the 
budget process based on the proposed initiatives (estimated $1,507,703 ongoing; 
estimated $4,720,605 one-time), and
Vision plan, which is not fiscally constrained in any way ($6,350,000 one-time).

BPD receives over 99 percent of its funding from the General Fund with the vast majority 
spent on personnel and fixed expenses. Implementation of the Police Master Plan will 
take place over a number of years to even out budgetary and other impacts. BPD is 
already moving ahead with many of the recommendations in the master plan that do not 
require additional funding or staff. In the future, BPD will incorporate new initiatives into 
the planning and budget processes as city resources allow. With this master plan as a 
guide, BPD will use the city’s Priority Based Budgeting approach to develop annual 
budget requests. Progress will be reviewed and accomplishments reflected as part of the 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page     360



annual budget process. Every effort will be made to ensure that BPD efforts reflect City 
Council and community goals. 

BVCP URBAN SERVICE CRITERIA AND STANDARDS
The BVCP urban services standards set the benchmark for providing a full range of urban 
services in the Boulder Valley. These standards are intended to be minimum 
requirements or thresholds for facilities and services that must be delivered to existing 
urban development, or new development and redevelopment to be considered adequate. 
The service standards for key urban services are evaluated and revised in master planning 
processes to ensure the thresholds and measurements are current and appropriate 
measures of service delivery.    

BPD is currently meeting the majority of the BVCP urban service criteria and standards. 
The BVCP urban service criterion currently calls for BPD to respond to: “any potentially 
life-threatening police emergency normally within four and a half minutes from the time 
the call for assistance is received by the Communications center (however, the range for 
that average within the established city shall not exceed six minutes).” BPD feels that the 
police response to true emergency situations is meeting the standard. However, the data 
captured through the computer aided dispatch (CAD) system includes both emergency 
and non-emergency response to Priority One1 calls. As a result the average response from 
the time a call was received to the arrival of an officer has increased from 2:15 to 6:28 
minutes. The increase is mostly due to changes in tracking time, improvements in record 
keeping, and partly related to the fact that there are fewer officers available to respond. 
BPD has recently implemented a new CAD system that allows for better tracking of calls 
for service both in terms of time that calls are received, entered into the system, 
dispatched, and officers arrive as well as more easily extracted data such as number, type 
and details for calls for service handled by a particular officer. The new CAD system also 
assigns emergency or Priority One calls by closest unit using a Global Positioning 
System (GPS) feature rather than a dispatcher assigning these calls based solely on 
district assignment, which should improve police response time. After additional data has 
been collected using the new CAD system, BPD will further evaluate opportunities for 
improvement in response times. In addition, BPD is requesting additional staff resources 
as part of the 2014 budget process to increase officer availability. 

BPD recommends one change to the BVCP Urban Police Protection Service Criteria and 
Standards as shown underlined below: 

Adding to the “Location and Adequacy of Equipment and Facilities” that the location of 
patrol districts also be based on crime rates and neighborhoods/geography. BPD utilizes 
contemporary standards in calls for service and crime rates in order to determine the most 
efficient distribution of officers. Police departments focus on where the crime is located 
rather than on an “even” distribution of response times in order to use resources in the 

                                                          
1 “Priority One Calls” includes calls that require the immediate presence of a law enforcement officer in 
order to protect individuals from injury or life-threatening situations, or other emergency situations which 
require and depend upon an immediate response. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page     361



most cost effective and efficient manner. BPD proposes adding “crime rates and 
neighborhoods/geography” to the standard for locating patrol districts. 

(4) Location and Adequacy of Equipment and Facilities 
(a) Ensure the availability and maintenance of police equipment, particularly that 
affecting officer safety. 
(b) Locate patrol districts based on crime rates and geography/neighborhoods so that they 
are within an average four and a half minute emergency response time 24 hours per day. 

These revisions to the BVCP Urban Service Criteria and Standards for Urban Police 
Protection have been approved by Planning Board on July 25, 2013. If approved by City 
Council, these revisions will be incorporated into the BVCP document. 

MASTER PLAN SUMMARY
The following updated summary of the Police Master Plan for the BVCP is 
recommended for approval: 

Police
The Boulder Police Department (BPD) provides both service and safety and has 
adopted a philosophical shift from a traditional 911-driven, purely reactive 
approach to an emphasis on community-based, prevention-oriented police 
services. The department defines its fundamental responsibilities as the following: 

Enforcing laws and preserving public safety and order;
Reducing crime and disorder through prevention and intervention;  
Responding to community needs through partnerships and joint problem-
solving; 
Investigating and reporting serious and non-serious crimes for prosecution; 
Providing information and service referrals; and 
Managing and administering departmental operations.

This updated summary has been approved by Planning Board on July 25, 2013. If 
approved by City Council, this summary will be incorporated into the BVCP document. 

NEXT STEPS
Upon City Council acceptance, the Police Master Plan implementation will take place 
over a number of years to even out budgetary impacts. BPD anticipates incorporating 
new initiatives into the future budget processes as city resources allow. 

ATTACHMENTS
A – Boulder Police Master Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page     362



Boulder 
Police 
Department
2013 MASTER PLAN

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page     363



Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page     364



Table of Contents

Executive Summary Page 1 

Chapter 1:  Introduction Page 5 

Chapter 2:  Mission and Vision Page 9

Chapter 4:  Recommendations Page 15

Chapter 5:  Investment Priorities and Funding Options Page 31

Chapter 6:  Performance Measures Page 35

Chapter 7:  Implementation and Next Steps Page 39

Chapter 3:  Trends, Community Needs & Sustainability Framework Page 11

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page     365



Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page     366



EX
EC

UT
IV

E 
SU

M
M

A
RY

1

Executive Summary
One of the foundations of a 
community’s ability to go about 
its daily life is the basic feeling of 
safety. Governments at all levels 
share this responsibility. The core 
mission of the Boulder Police 
Department (BPD) is to work with 
the community of Boulder to 
provide a safe and secure city 
through education, enforcement 
and investigative services. Sworn 
of cers and non commissioned, 
civilian personnel take pride in 
their commitment to uphold 
the law, maintain peace, and 
strive toward the city’s vision 
of “service excellence for an 
inspired future.”

With a 2013 budget of $31.7 
million, 173 sworn of cers and 
104 civilian employees, BPD 
provides a broad spectrum 
of law enforcement services 
including responding to both 
emergency and non emergency 
calls for service, crime 
prevention, investigations, traf c 
enforcement, animal control 
and code enforcement. BPD 
serves the community by building 
partnerships to address crime 
and crime related problems. 
This is sometimes referred to 
as a community oriented or 
community policing philosophy.

As with all city master plans, 
the Police Master Plan takes its 
overall policy direction from the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP). Speci cally, the 
goals and policies of the BVCP 

provide guidance for delivering city services. The Police Master 
Plan is the City of Boulder’s ve to seven year plan to guide the 
business operations of police service delivery in a manner that 
meets the community’s standards and sustainability goals. Originally 
developed in 1996 and revised in 2001, the Police Master Plan is 
being updated to better re ect current and emerging trends, which 
include an increasing population and changing demographics; 
a rise in the number of calls for service; changing community 
expectations; advances in technology and communication and the 
use of technology to investigate crimes; and requirements for court 
evidence. The 2013 Police Master Plan moves the BPD towards the 
vision of being a leading edge police department, with state of the
art technology, well trained of cers and staff, up to date equipment 
and suf cient work space needed to provide the best service 
possible to the community. 

Recommendations: Strategies and Initiatives
BPD developed a number of strategies within the context of the 
Sustainability Framework to address the provision of emergency 
and non emergency services. The categories of the Sustainability 
Framework build upon the BVCP and the city’s Priority Based 
Budgeting (PBB) approach:  two key initiatives that de ne long term 
community goals and priorities. The Sustainability Framework is a tool 
to help ensure that each departmental master plan aligns with and 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11Packet Page     367



2 Executive Summary

Safe Community – Adjust service delivery to meet new community 
expectations while maintaining basic public safety. Sample initiatives 
include: Evaluate additional options to handle requests for service and 
phase in additional sworn of cers and civilian staff over ve years to provide 
more time for community policing activities and proactive enforcement.

Healthy and Socially Thriving Community – Provide a safety net of services, 
early intervention and prevention to meet critical human service needs. 
Sample initiatives include: Re ne “community policing” approach and 
develop future strategies to further support livable neighborhoods and 
vibrant business districts and continue to build better relationships with 
community groups which are often disengaged.

Livable Community -Ensure public safety services support evolving urban 
areas and that urban areas support crime prevention. Sample initiatives 
include: Evaluate Neighborhood Impact Team and apply lessons learned 
to future approaches to public safety and support collaboration on area 
plans and development review projects.

Accessible & Connected Community – Ensure safety for all modes of 
travel and ef ciency for emergency response. Sample initiatives include: 
Continue to utilize alternative modes of transportation such as foot 
patrols, bicycle patrols and energy ef cient vehicles in response and 
leverage technology to monitor traf c, identify safety issues, and improve 
enforcement capabilities.

Environmentally Sustainable Community – Reduce energy consumption 
and emissions by focusing on zero waste and energy ef ciency initiatives 
and improve preparedness for natural disasters, such as oods and wild res. 
Sample initiatives include: Improve BPD’s environmental sustainability 
efforts through recycling and composting and expand Field Guide for 
Flood Response to include all hazards. 

Economically Vital Community– Provide a high level of policing services 
ensuring safety and security in the community. Sample initiatives include: 
Continue to plan and develop safe procedures for the increasing number 
of special events and maintain commercial crime prevention efforts 
through education, enforcement, and investigation.

Good Governance – Use resources more ef ciently and effectively to 
provide professional police services to the community. Sample initiatives 
include: Develop a strategic approach to better meet the changing 
demands of technology in the areas of forensics, criminal investigation, 
communication, and data collection and establish a strategic funding 
plan for maintenance and replacement of BPD capital assets, including 
facilities, vehicles, and all technology needs.

advances the goals and priorities of the City Council and community. For each Sustainability Framework 
category area, the BPD’s strategy is identi ed along with initiatives. (For more details on the Sustainability 
Framework category areas see Chapter Three, beginning on page 11.) Each strategy is supported by 
speci c initiatives: (For more details see Chapter Four, beginning on page 15.)

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12Packet Page     368



3

Investment Priorities and  
Funding Options
BPD receives over 99 percent of 
its funding from the General Fund 
with the vast majority spent on 
personnel costs. More than 80 
percent of BPD spending falls into 
the highest scoring quartile of all 
programs when scored through 
the city’s Priority Based Budgeting 
approach. In accordance with 
the city’s business planning 
methodology, the master plan 
proposes three spending plans: 
a Fiscally Constrained plan 

based on 2013 budget targets, 
an Action Plan that assumes 
an increase in revenue to the 
department and a Vision Plan 
which is scally unconstrained 
but can help provide policy 
guidance by illustrating the 
ultimate goals of the community. 
All plans focus on supporting 
priority programs and those that 
have strong community support. 
(For more details see Chapter 
Five, beginning on page 31.)  

Performance Measures
Performance measures are 
used to monitor service and 
progress toward the master 
plan strategies. Historically, 
police effectiveness has been 
measured by crime statistics, 
response times and some rough 
guidelines about the appropriate 

number of of cers per 1,000 
residents. BPD also includes victim 
feedback, District Attorney’s 
Of ce feedback, benchmark 
community comparison data, 
and community input in 
evaluating performance. Overall, 
BPD is doing well in the areas of 
solving crimes (clearance rates), 
re ecting community diversity 
and other values, training, and 
holding employees accountable 
to high standards. Over the 
last 15 years, BPD has worked 
toward greater professionalism 
in meeting the mission of working 
with the community to provide 
service and safety. Nationally, 
Boulder has a lower crime rate 
compared to other similar cities. 
An area for improvement is in 
average response from the time 
a call was received to the arrival 
of an of cer for Priority One  calls. 
The response time has increased 
which is mostly due to changes 
in tracking time, improvements 
in record keeping, and partly 
related to the fact that there 
are fewer of cers available to 
respond. Implementation of 
technological improvements 
will assist in more accurate data 
collection and BPD will further 
evaluate opportunities for 
improvement in response time 
standards. (For more details see 
Chapter Six, beginning on page 35.)

Implementation and Next Steps
With the adoption of this master 
plan, BPD commits to the 
initiatives outlined in the scally 
constrained plan (within the 
existing budget) and to actively 
pursue the funding and resource 
leveraging needed to implement 
the action and vision plans. 
As a result, implementation of 
the Police Master Plan will take 
place over a number of years 
to spread out budgetary and 
other impacts. BPD is already 
moving ahead with many of 
the recommendations in the 
master plan, speci cally within 
the scally constrained plan, 
that do not require additional 
funding or staff. With this master 
plan as a guide, BPD will use the 
city’s Priority Based Budgeting 
approach to develop annual 
budget requests. Progress will be 
reviewed and accomplishments 
re ected as part of the annual 
budget process. Every effort will 
be made to ensure that BPD 
efforts complement City Council 
and community goals. (For more 
details see Chapter Seven, 
beginning on page 39.) 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13Packet Page     369



Agenda Item 5C     Page 14Packet Page     370



C
HA

PT
ER

 O
N

E

5

Introduction
 Reviewed and revised 

department policies to re ect 
contemporary standards 
such as creating a policy to 
provide additional direction 
on appropriate discretion for 
prohibiting racial pro ling.

 Developed and implemented 
a new Code Enforcement Unit 
and a new Animal Control Unit.

 Increased inclusiveness 
through the use of “leadership 
teams” and advisement 
committees within the 
organization. As a result, 
BPD now provides basic and 
advanced Spanish language 
instruction to employees.

 Built a state of the art 
computer forensics lab staffed 
with a certi ed computer  
forensic detective.

 Enhanced traf c safety with 
the use of photo enforcement. 
Accidents caused by drivers 
running red lights have been 
reduced by 57 percent and red
light violations by 65 percent.

What is the Boulder Police Master Plan?
The Police Master Plan is the City of Boulder’s ve
to seven year plan to support public safety services 
by building on the Boulder Police Department’s 
(BPD) strengths, addressing existing de ciencies 
and de ning a future course that ensures 
continued high quality and cost effective law 
enforcement services. 

Originally developed in 1996 and revised in 
2001, the Police Master Plan is being updated to 
better re ect current and emerging trends, which 
include an increasing population and changing 
demographics; a rise in the number of calls for 
service; changing community expectations; 
advances in technology and communication and 
the use of technology to investigate crimes; and 
requirements for court evidence. The Master Plan is 
intended to guide the BPD for the next ve to seven 
years in addressing the business operations 
of police service delivery in a manner that meets 
the community’s standards and sustainability goals. 

Major Accomplishments since 2001
Since the last master plan was accepted by City 
Council in 2001, BPD has:

 Built a state of the art rearms range and a new 
training facility that has become a regional center 
for specialized training for the North Central Region.

 Developed and implemented the City of 
Boulder Police/Fire Communications Center.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 15Packet Page     371



6 Chapter One - Introduction

Ho  does the Master Plan t into City ide Planning Efforts?
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) provides the overall 
policy framework, including a general statement of the community’s 
long term desired future. Departmental master plans take the goals 
and policies of the BVCP and provide speci c guidance for delivering 
city services. Master plans establish detailed policies, priorities, service 
standards, facility, capital and system needs and budgeting for the 
delivery of services.

The updated Police Master Plan is being restructured within the 
context of the Sustainability Framework, which is a tool built upon the 
BVCP policy areas and the city’s Priority Based Budgeting approach. 
The goal of the Sustainability Framework is to help ensure that each 
master plan aligns with and advances the goals and priorities of the 
City Council and community. The Sustainability Framework consists 
of seven category areas which provide the context to develop 
strategies and initiatives to continue to improve service to the 
Boulder community.

This master plan evaluates the Police Protection Urban Service 
Criteria and Standards outlined in the BVCP. It recommends 
strategies for protecting the public safety while responding to growth 
and it discusses areas where the department intends to comply with 
recognized best practices.

How does the Master Plan affect daily life in Boulder?
The master plan de nes a future course for providing high quality and 
cost effective public safety services through education, enforcement 
and investigative services. It also re ects the department’s intent 
to continue to improve public safety services, which will bene t 
everyone who lives, works and plays in Boulder.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 16Packet Page     372



7

Rape
1% Robbery

1%

Aggravated
Assault
5%

Burglary
15%

Vehicle Theft
4%

Arson
1%

Larceny/Theft
73%

Assaults
19% Forgery

2%
Fraud
13%

Drug Abuse
10%

DUI
24%

Vandalism
27%

Weapons
2%

Sex Assaults
(misdemeanor)

3%

Master Plan Development
In the fall of 2008, the second 
revision of the master plan began 
with the formation of a Master 
Plan Committee (MPC), which 
was comprised of commissioned 
and non commissioned 
employees who were tasked 
with focusing on enhancing 
BPD’s ability to provide services 
to the community. Several teams 
from the MPC were assigned 
to explore topics in the areas 
of administration, recruitment 
and training, technology, work 
ow and business practices, and 

environmental sustainability. 
From the summer of 2009 
through 2010, focus group 
meetings were conducted with 
internal workgroups, external 
stakeholders, and the general 
public to obtain feedback about 
community concerns, as well 
as current and future police 
services. In 2011, an online survey 
was developed to solicit further 
information from the general 
public. In June 2012, an outside 
consultant completed a workload 
and staf ng analysis known as 
the Staf ng and Deployment 
Assessment. Using input from the 
focus group meetings, online 
community survey, the Staf ng 
and Deployment Assessment, 
and reviewing population and 
demographic trends, a number 
of strategies and initiatives have 
been developed as part of the 
master plan update.

Department 
Anniversary

In 2003 the police 
department celebrated 

its 125th anniversary

Agenda Item 5C     Page 17Packet Page     373



8 Chapter one - Introduction

In February of 1878, a newly formed Boulder City Council drafted an ordinance 
“to provide for the organization of the police of the town.” Marshal William 
Debord and one or two other men were charged with keeping the peace. Prior 
to this, law enforcement came under the jurisdiction of several Boulder County 
sheriffs and a series of constables. The city streets were made of dirt, and only 
a few laws had been passed. Marshals (later chiefs) were appointed by the 
mayor or city manager based more on their personal relationship with the 
mayor than on their professional abilities. Crime was rarely serious and involved 
prostitution, disorderly conduct and alcohol abuse. In the mid 1900’s, changes 
came in the way of automobiles and telephones, and with these changes 
came an emphasis on nding a credible police chief. Claude Head was hired 
in 1923, when written rules and policies were established in the city. Boulder’s 
oldest unsolved murder occurred when 45 year old Of cer Elmer Cobb was shot 
and killed on his way to work. At the time, people speculated that he knew too 
much about local bootlegging operations, and paid for that knowledge with his 
life. In 1949, Myron Teegarden was appointed as chief. His administration was in 
charge during a time that coincided with municipal growth: the City of Boulder 
nearly doubled in population in the 1950’s. Of cers conducted foot and vehicle 
patrols equipped with two way radios for quick communications and rapid 
response to calls. Technological advances grew through the 1970’s and 1980’s. 
Computers opened up a new world of reporting, information gathering and 
information retrieval. Training requirements increased as the need for highly
skilled of cers grew. As the population expanded, so did the crime rate. A new 
approach called community oriented policing was developed that focused on 
working closely with the community to solve problems. This approach was fully 
adopted in the 1990’s. Since then, the Boulder Police Department (BPD) has 
become a leader in developing community partnerships and working directly 
with community members to address crime. New technologies have changed 
the face of crime and the way it is solved, and BPD continues to strive for its 
goals of excellence in community service and ensuring public safety.

History of the Boulder Police Department

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18Packet Page     374



C
HA

PT
ER

 T
W

O

9

Mission and Vision

Overview of Current Operations
BPD provides safety, education, enforcement and investigative 
services to the City of Boulder. The police department employs 
173 commissioned  of cers, including the chief and deputy chiefs, 
and 104 civilian employees, including 86 support staff and 18 non
commissioned enforcement personnel (code enforcement, animal 
control, accident report specialists and photo radar enforcement). 
With a 2013 budget of $31.7 million, BPD responds to emergency 
and non emergency calls for service including natural disasters and 
provides the following services:

 Enforcing state criminal statutes and city ordinances as well as   
 protecting United States and Colorado constitutional rights;

 Conducting criminal investigations and managing evidence and  
 property information related to cases;

 Partnering with the community to address crime and civil disorder  
 problems;

 Providing public safety and crime prevention education for the  
 community;

 Managing public safety at special events like the Bolder Boulder;
 Operating the police and re communications (dispatch) center;
 Conducting traf c and driving while under the in uence (DUI)   

 enforcement as well as investigating traf c accidents;
 Providing victim services, animal control, code enforcement, and  

 photo radar enforcement.

Organizationally, the police department is structured into two main 
divisions: Operations Division and Support and Staff Services Division. 
The Operations Division consists primarily of patrol and investigations 
by commissioned of cers. The division is responsible for enforcement 
and investigative functions through four primary sections, including: 

 Traf c and Administration; 
 Watch I (day shift patrol); 

To provide service excellence for an inspired future by being 
a leading edge police department, with state of the art 
technology, well trained of cers and staff, up to date equipment 
and suf cient work space needed to provide the best service 
possible to the community. 

Vision for the Boulder Police Department

Working with the community 
to provide service and safety.

Boulder Police 
Department 
Core Mission

 Watch II and III (afternoon  
 and evening patrol); and 

 Investigations (detectives). 

The Support and Staff Services 
Division basically provides all 
the support to the Operations 
Division, maintains the internal 
operations of the department, 
and provides non enforcement 
services to the public. The 
primary sections of this division 
include:

 Records, Property and   
 Evidence;

 Training; 
 Communications (dispatch); 
 Finance and Personnel; 
 Photo Radar; and 
 Building Operations and   

      Maintenance.

The department currently 
operates with a eet of 
105 vehicles. This includes 
motorcycles and vehicles for 
patrol, traf c, animal control 
and code enforcement. The 
department also maintains a 
number of unmarked cars used 
by administration, detectives and 
building maintenance.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 19Packet Page     375



10 Chapter two - Mission and Values

BPD fosters community relationships in many 
different ways, such as: 

 Placing School Resource Of cers in 
schools to promote safety and cultivate 
relationships with students and administrators 
and offer threat mitigation training.

 Participating on the CU/City Oversight  
Committee which addresses alcohol issues 
and other problems associated with the 
university, its sororities and fraternities.  

 Serving as liaisons to groups and 
organizations, such as: adult protection, 
Alcohol Recovery Center, Attention Homes, 
Blue Sky Bridge, child protection, domestic 
violence, neighborhood and Latino groups, 
homeless shelter, mental health and the 
Safehouse.

 Attending HOA meetings to provide   
dog related information.

Relationship Building

To maintain pro ciency in a wide variety of police 
services, the department conducts a broad range 
of training. Mandatory courses include an extensive 
rearms program encompassing quali cations 

and tactical training, ri e and shotgun clinics 
and mandatory and voluntary skills development 
sessions. Of cers attend skills training programs 
several times a year which include water rescue, 
riot training, vehicle tactics and rapid emergency 
deployment blocks. Defensive tactics training 
includes areas such as hand skills, ground ghting 
and hands on weapon retention. Of cers are re
certi ed in areas like rst aid, CPR and Computer 
Voice Stress Analysis (CVSA). In addition, of cers 
are encouraged to complete voluntary training 
such as Spanish classes, bike classes, stress 
management, interview and interrogation courses. 

Philosophy
Public safety and crime prevention are the 
department’s top priorities. City provided police 
service is designed to protect the public through 
education, prevention, response, enforcement, 
and investigative services. BPD provides 
both service and safety and has adopted a 
philosophical shift from a traditional 911 driven, 
purely reactive approach to an emphasis on 
community based, prevention oriented police 
services. Often referred to as community oriented 
policing, the BPD believes in building partnerships 
with the community to work on solving crime and 
crime related problems. One primary goal of this 
approach is to reduce crime and disorder by 
carefully examining the characteristics of problems 
in neighborhoods and then applying appropriate 
problem solving remedies. To be successful, this 
effort should engage many different groups within 
the city including neighborhood alliances, local 
schools, human service agencies, church groups 
and members of the business community.

Summary of BPD Programs 
BPD de nes its fundamental responsibilities as  
the following:

 Enforcing laws and preserving public safety  
 and order; 

 Reducing crime and disorder through   
 prevention and intervention; 

 Responding to community needs through  
 partnerships and joint problem solving;

 Investigating and reporting serious and non  
 serious crimes for prosecution; 

 Providing information and service referrals; and 
 Managing and administering departmental  

 operations.

 Customer service
 Respect
 Integrity
 Collaboration
 Innovation

 BPD Values

Normally, 8 of cers are on 
patrol or shift per time period. 
Police is staffed 24 hours a 
day, seven days a week. 

Number of Of cers 
on patrol

Agenda Item 5C     Page 20Packet Page     376



C
HA

PT
ER

 T
HR

EE

11

Trends, Community Needs and 
Sustainability Framework

As part of the master plan development, key 
demographic trends, crime statistics, and 
community demands that have implications for the 
Boulder Police Department (BPD) were identi ed as 
emerging trends. 

TRENDS: Factors Driving the Need for Change
Based on the key demographic trends, crime 
statistics, and changing conditions in the 
community, BPD considers the following factors 
as having important implications for the future of 
police response.

 Increase in Population and Changes in 
Demographics – The City of Boulder’s 2013 
population is estimated at 99,716, with projections 
indicating an increase to 114,000 by 2035. This 
gure could be even higher as the University 

of Colorado – with a current enrollment of 
approximately 30,000 students – projects an 
additional 11,000 students by 2030. Boulder's Latino 
population nearly doubled between 1990 and 

2000, increasing to eight percent. Trends indicate 
this will continue. Boulder’s population is aging, 
and the county’s population of age 60 and over is 
expected to nearly double by 2020.  

 Increase in the Number of Calls for Service – 
There continues to be a long term upward trend 
in calls for service. In an analysis of calls for service 
data1 from 2011 to 2012 there is an increase of 3.9 
percent in calls. Based on historical information, 
there is a prediction of an approximately three 
percent upward trend in calls for service over the 
next six years.  

 New Issues and Changing Community 
Expectations – Over the years, BPD has shifted from 
a traditional 911 driven, purely reactive approach 
to one that emphasizes community engagement, 
crime prevention, and maintaining Boulder’s high 
quality of life. Police departments are increasingly 
drawn into dif cult social and community 

  1Calls for service data is tracked in the Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system. The city has recently implemented a new CAD 
system with improved data collection. As a result, data prior to 2011 includes different information and was not used in this analysis.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 21Packet Page     377



12 Chapter Three - Trends, Community Needs & Sustainability Framework

criminal justice system. The cost of staying current 
with this technology has increased over time as 
improvements are made and new technology 
emerges. In addition, police departments must 
address the different ways people communicate, 
including cell phones, computers, texting and 
various types of social media. This includes the 
community demand for greater access and 
availability of more information, quickly and in 
various ways.  

 Use of Technology in 
Crimes and Requirements 
for Court Evidence – 
Police departments 
must plan for the use 
of new technologies 
in the commission 
of crimes like fraud, 
cybercrime, internet 
child pornography, 
and identity theft. With 
the rapid advances 
in forensic science, police departments and 
prosecutors are under greater scrutiny when 
presenting evidence in court. Juries increasingly 
demand better evidence, better reporting and 
more thorough investigations. Police departments 
must be prepared to handle these greater 
demands with more specialized services to support 
the complexity of the analysis. 

COMMUNITY NEEDS: Sustainability Framework
As part of the master plan update, BPD evaluated 
the community needs within the context of 
the Sustainability Framework. The Sustainability 
Framework is a tool to help ensure that each 
departmental master plan aligns with and 
advances the wide range of goals and priorities of 
the City Council and community. The categories 
of the Sustainability Framework build upon the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
and the city’s Priority Based Budgeting (PBB) 
approach:  two key initiatives that de ne long term 
community goals and priorities. Both the BVCP and 
PBB were developed from extensive community 
input processes and are used to guide long
term decision making as well as the city’s annual 
budget process.

problems that do not align with 
traditional perspectives of law 
enforcement. For example, the 
BPD faces demands to manage 
public spaces like the municipal 
campus, the Boulder Creek 
path, and the streets of University 
Hill because of behaviors and 
lifestyle choices that disrupt 
others’ enjoyment of public 
space or otherwise negatively 
impact the quality of life, but do 
not result in dangerous criminal 
activity.  The department also 
responds regularly to calls 
related to medical needs, 
mental health issues, substance 
abuse issues, and family and 
domestic problems.  During 
the economic downturn and 
prolonged recovery, the police 
department is one of the few 
government entities accessible 
24 hours/seven days a week.  

 Advances in Technology 
and Changes in Communication 
– Law enforcement agencies 
around the country are 
dealing with rapidly evolving 
technologies designed to 
improve the ef ciency of 
police work and the ability to 
solve crimes. Many of these 
new technologies are now 
integral to standard operating 
practices, and expected by 
both the community and the 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 22Packet Page     378



13

Safe Community – When the City of Boulder….enforces the law and protects 
residents and property from physical harm; and fosters a climate of safety and 
social inclusiveness….then it will be a Safe Community. BPD’s strategy to create a 
Safe Community is to adjust service delivery to meet new community expectations 
while maintaining basic public safety.

Healthy and Socially Thriving Community – When the City of Boulder….supports 
the physical and mental well being of its community members; cultivates a wide
range of recreational, cultural, educational, and social opportunities; fosters 
inclusion, embraces diversity and respects human rights….then it will be a Healthy 
and Socially Thriving Community. BPD’s strategy to support a Healthy and Socially 
Thriving Community is to provide a safety net of services, early intervention and 
prevention to meet critical human service needs.

Livable Community – When the City of Boulder….sustains and enhances a compact 
development pattern with appropriate densities and mix of uses that provides 
convenient access to daily needs for people of all ages and abilities; supports a 
diversity of housing and employment options for vibrant and livable neighborhoods 
and business districts; and maintains abundant and accessible public gathering 
spaces….then it will be a Livable Community. BPD’s strategy to achieve a Livable 
Community is to ensure public safety services support the evolving urban areas. 

Accessible & Connected Community – When the City of Boulder….maintains and 
develops a balanced transportation system that supports all modes of travel; 
maintains a safe system and shifts trips away from single occupant vehicles; 
and provides open access to information, encourages innovation, enhances 
communication and promotes community engagement….then it will be an 
Accessible and Connected Community. BPD’s strategy to achieve an Accessible 
and Connected Community is to ensure safety for all modes of travel and ef ciency 
for emergency response. 

Environmentally Sustainable Community – When the City of Boulder….promotes 
an ecologically balanced community; prevents and mitigates threats to the 
environment; and ensures the ef cient use of energy resources ...then it will be 
an Environmentally Sustainable Community. BPD’s strategy to contribute to an 
Environmentally Sustainable Community is to reduce energy consumption and 
emissions by focusing on zero waste and energy ef ciency initiatives and to 
improve preparedness for natural disasters, such as oods and wild res.

Economically Vital Community – When the City of Boulder….develops and 
maintains a healthy, resilient economy and maintains high levels of services and 
amenities….then it will be an Economically Vital Community. BPD’s strategy to 
contribute to the community’s Economic Vitality is to provide a high level of 
policing services ensuring safety and security in the community.

Good Governance – When the City of Boulder….models stewardship of the 
nancial, human, information and physical assets of the community; supports 

strategic decision making with timely, reliable and accurate data and analysis; 
and enhances and facilitates transparency, accuracy, ef ciency, effectiveness 
and quality customer service….then it will have provided Good Governance. BPD’s 
strategy to provide Good Governance is to use resources more ef ciently and 
effectively to provide professional police services to the community.

The seven category areas of the Sustainability Framework are listed below. The 
categories provide the context to develop strategies and initiatives to continue to better 
serve the Boulder community, as outlined in Chapter 4.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 23Packet Page     379



Agenda Item 5C     Page 24Packet Page     380



C
HA

PT
ER

 F
O

UR

15

Recommendations
Strategies and Initiatives
BPD strives toward service excellence by working 
with the community to provide service and safety. 
As part of the master plan update, BPD developed 
a number of strategies within the context of the 
Sustainability Framework to address the provision 
of police services. The Sustainability Framework 
is a tool to help ensure that each departmental 
master plan aligns with and advances the goals 
and priorities of the City Council and community. 

For each 
Sustainability 
Framework 
category 
area, the 
BPD’s strategy 
is identi ed 
along with 
initiatives or 
action items 
to more 
strategically 

provide police services while meeting current and 
anticipated future community needs. While the 
initiatives described in this section are under a 
speci c category, they often impact multiple areas 
as re ected in the summary table on pages 28 and 29.  

Safe Community – Adjust service 
delivery to meet new community 
expectations while maintaining basic 
public safety. 

BPD protects people, homes and businesses by 
delivering services equitably and fairly and helps to 
provide a predictable sense of safety and security. 
By working in partnership with the community, 
BPD can increase its effectiveness in solving 
community problems, reducing crime and making 
neighborhoods safer and more attractive. BPD 
needs to adjust service delivery in order to meet 
the needs of the community. Through ef ciencies 
and differential response strategies, BPD anticipates 
increasing the time for of cers to engage in 

proactive problem solving. Key 
initiatives in this area include:  

 Evaluate additional options 
to handle requests for service. 
Having multiple options for 
addressing requests for police 
response allows the department 
to provide tailored service to 
members of the community 
while potentially delivering cost 
savings to the city. BPD has an 
ongoing education campaign 
to inform the community of 
options for service including on
line reporting. When community 
members call regarding non
emergency events, dispatchers 
educate community members 
about on line information and 
reporting options. However, it 
is the city’s policy that police 
respond in person if a caller 
wants to see an of cer. BPD will 
continue to evaluate additional 
options to handle requests for 
service such as enhancing on
line reporting capabilities and 
adjusting, as appropriate, the 
prioritization of calls for service.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 25Packet Page     381



16 Chapter Four - Recommendations

 Implement a change in BPD’s policy to reduce the amount of time spent responding 
to false alarms. Boulder’s current intrusion alarm ordinance is focused on registering 
the alarm with the city. BPD’s alarm response policy requires an attempt to verify an 
alarm prior to calling police. Even so, BPD responded to 1,907 false alarms in 2012 using 
approximately 375 hours or the equivalent of nine weeks of staff time. The effect of this 
policy is that the police department supports private alarm companies by providing 
the response to alarms on which private businesses earn a pro t. BPD receives no 
funding for providing this service. For these reasons, some police departments have 
discontinued responding to burglar alarms. BPD is changing the city’s policy to require 
actual veri cation of a break in (i.e., strict veri cation) prior to calling police. This will 
eliminate responses to false alarms and has been successful in other communities. This 
change will only apply to burglar alarms and will not change BPD’s response to robbery 
alarms (banks) or personal help alarms that are triggered by individuals. 

 Phase-in additional sworn of cers and civilian staff over ve years to provide more 
time for community policing activities and proactive enforcement. Currently, BPD has 
enough staf ng to meet average standards for calls per of cer and response times. 
However, this does not necessarily take into account the type of policing provided 
by BPD, including proactive enforcement on the University Hill, downtown, and Pearl 
Street Mall. In order to enhance the department’s ability to provide direct services 
to the community, BPD is expanding the combination of sworn of cers and civilian 
staff. Civilian employees can be hired, at lower salaries than those earned by sworn 
of cers, to do some work currently done by of cers. However, the bene ts of this 
approach need to be evaluated against the fact that the use of civilian staf ng limits 
how those resources can be used in the department. Therefore, BPD proposes phasing 
in an additional eight sworn of cers and four civilian staff members over the next ve 
years. The civilian staff will provide additional report specialist capabilities, including 
responding to some calls for service that do not require police of cers. Appropriate 
staf ng of the BPD will continue to be evaluated within the context of meeting current 
and future needs of the community

 Adapt to changing needs and requirements in enforcing alcohol and marijuana. 
BPD has a two person team dedicated to alcohol and medical marijuana enforcement 
and inspection. Depending on the outcome of the state statue and local ordinance 
discussions related to recreational marijuana, BPD will adapt and change the 
enforcement and inspection approach, as necessary. To enforce the current city 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 26Packet Page     382



17

in the Share A Gift program. All of these efforts are 
designed to strengthen the safety net services for 
those in need which ultimately supports the well
being of the community.

 Re ne community policing  approach 
and develop future strategies to further support 
livable neighborhoods and vibrant business 
districts. “Community policing” is a philosophy 
and commitment to working in partnership with 
the community. This involves more than just 
responding to calls for service. It requires time for 
of cers to spend developing relationships with 
community members to work together to nd 
solutions to community problems. BPD has long 
practiced the philosophy of “community policing.” 
For example, BPD mentors at risk youth, provides 
School Resource Of cers, and pairs of cers with 
fraternities and sororities (Adopt a Frat). A focus 

group comprised of community and department 
members will be formed in the fall of 2013 to discuss 
the “community policing” philosophy and what it 
means in Boulder. Information from the focus group 
discussions will be used as a guide in developing 
future strategies for 2014 and beyond. These efforts 
are designed to focus and clearly articulate the 
direction for BPD in terms of community policing 
and service to the community.

code with respect to marijuana establishments, 
the city created a cross organizational team 
that conducts joint inspections of marijuana 
establishments. Recently, BPD partnered with 
the City Attorney’s Of ce, City Clerk’s Of ce and 
Boulder Fire Department to develop a plan for 
a similar approach for alcohol enforcement. In 
addition, BPD is taking a strategic approach to 
overconsumption of alcohol by devoting more 
time to problem liquor licensed establishments and 
investigating abiding establishments less frequently. 
BPD also participates in the CU/City Oversight 
committee which addresses alcohol issues and 
other problems associated with the university. BPD 
will continue to make adjustments to alcohol and 
marijuana enforcement and inspections in order to 
adapt to new regulations and changing needs in 
the community.  

Healthy and Socially Thriving 
Community – Provide a safety net 
of services, early intervention and 
prevention to meet critical human 
service needs. 

BPD is increasingly called upon for non
emergency matters; the need for these responses 
is often related to quality of life issues or social 
problems that rarely rise to a criminal level. While 
the types of social problems vary, it typically 
includes mental health, domestic/ family 
intervention and juvenile delinquency. As a 
result, many opportunities exist for collaboration 
between police of cers, social service agencies 
and social workers. BPD will continue to build 
on these partnerships as well as strengthen the 
relationships with other community groups. Key 
initiatives in this area include:

 Strengthen partnerships with social service 
providers to meet critical human service needs. 
Due to the nature of the work, police often 
encounter individuals who need assistance 
beyond public safety services. Police frequently 
refer individuals to social service programs for 
additional support. BPD will build upon the 
existing partnerships with the social service 
programs provided in the community. BPD will also 
continue to be proactively involved in intervention 
and prevention programs, such as family and 
child advocacy, mentoring at risk youth and 
pairing of cers with low income public housing 
developments (Adopt a Site). In addition, BPD 
will continue to coordinate community outreach 
projects for disenfranchised community members 
and underprivileged, such as community liaison 
of cers, the Safety First program, and participation 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 27Packet Page     383



18 Chapter Four - Recommendations

 Continue to build better relationships with 
community groups which are often disengaged. 
BPD works to build relationships with the community, 
focusing efforts on those who sometimes feel 
disengaged from the police department, including 
the Latino, elderly and other minority populations. 
One area of concern, especially within the Latino 
community, is deportation.  Latino residents who 
may be in the US illegally are afraid to report crimes 
out of fear they may be deported. BPD actively 
encourages victims to report crime and treats 
everyone with the same respect and customer 
service regardless of their citizenship status. In April 
2013, BPD was publicly recognized and thanked 
by the Boulder County District Attorney for work on 
behalf of victims of fraud related to immigration 
papers. Engaging every group is important in 
creating a safe environment for all members of 
the community.

Livable Community – Ensure public 
safety services support evolving 
urban areas and that urban areas 
support crime prevention. 
With more development or 

redevelopment comes more activity, which can 
increase the need for police services. As the 
City of Boulder moves toward more compact 
development there is an impact on public 
safety services. In areas with more multi housing 
or business complexes, it is harder for police to 
locate the exact address when someone calls 
for service. In a building with many tenants and 
a secure entrance, it can be dif cult for police 
to enter the building to respond to a community 
complaint or request for assistance. These are some 
of the challenges that BPD needs to address when 
responding in a community that is evolving with 
more urban areas. As staf ng and resources allow, 
smaller geographical areas will be covered on 
bike and foot patrols which will allow more visibility 
and connection with the community. BPD will 
also continue to be involved with evaluating and 
planning for changes so that building types, uses 
and programs can be designed for active spaces 
that are safe. Key initiatives in this area include:

 Evaluate Neighborhood Impact Team and 
apply lessons learned to future approaches to 
public safety. To address community concerns 
about public safety, the Neighborhood Impact 
Team was implemented to provide greater 
visibility in the downtown core area, while creating 
personal relationships with residents and businesses 
to solve crime and to address quality of life issues. 

The Neighborhood Impact Team combines 
University Hill of cers, swing shift (5 p.m. to 3 a.m.) 
of cers from the Pearl Street Mall and additional 
district of cers to ultimately comprise a team of 
12 of cers and two sergeants. The team’s area of 
responsibility is the University Hill and Pearl Street 
Mall corridor, and the downtown campus, and 
includes increased foot and bike patrols with 
additional police presence on the Boulder Creek 
Path. The success of the Neighborhood Impact 
Team will be evaluated and any lessons learned will 
be applied to future public safety approaches in 
high visibility areas. 

 Support collaboration on area plans and 
development review projects. As areas of the 
community undergo redevelopment that increases 
density, improves connections and creates livable 
public spaces, BPD will partner with other city 
departments during planning, engineering, design 
and review of plans and projects to ensure that 
redeveloped areas become quality places with 
adequate infrastructure and access by emergency 
responders. For example, the Boulder Civic Area 
is a visionary “community driven” project which 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 28Packet Page     384



19

help community members le reports, get ngerprinted, and 
often provide local directions. The Public Safety Building is the 
main police facility and offers full services to the public during the 
week, including seeing an of cer, ling a crime or accident report, 
getting ngerprinted, etc. The building also includes training rooms, 
rearms range, locker and workout rooms, a communications 

center, Colorado Bureau of Investigation DNA lab, and all of the 
department’s administrative of ces. The Public Safety Building, along 
with many of the other city’s existing facilities, is undersized based 
on existing standards. Through the Facilities and Asset Management 
(FAM) Division, a citywide space analysis will be completed with the 
initial focus on the downtown, due to the Civic Area project, in the 
fourth quarter of 2013. The remainder of the citywide analysis will be 
completed, including the Public Safety Building, as part of the FAM 
Master Plan update in 2014.

 Protect and ensure quality urban environment through code 
enforcement. The City of Boulder Code Enforcement Unit focuses 
on nuisance oriented problems and quality of life issues including 
scattered trash, overgrown weeds and snow that hasn’t been 
removed within the 24 hour time limit. In October 2011, code 
enforcement duties were transferred from the Public Works 
Department to BPD to provide a more focused approach to 
enforcement. With the BPD Code Enforcement Unit, the approach 
has changed to 24 hour/ 7 day a week access to staff, a decrease 
in response time, more structure in the process and reporting, and 
more dedicated resources designed to improve customer service. 
The Code Enforcement team manages issues citywide, but makes 

aims to rethink and evolve the 
downtown’s most expansive 
public space. BPD closely 
monitors this part of downtown 
due to the number of community 
members who visit the area, 
including a large transient and 
homeless population. As a 
result, BPD will be involved in the 
process in order to balance the 
changes in the downtown with 
preserving public safety and order. 

 Evaluate size and design of 
police facilities for effectiveness 
and ef ciency. BPD has three 
facilities – one primary location 
at the Public Safety Building 
(1805 33rd St.) and two annexes, 
one on University Hill (13th and 
College) and one on the Pearl 
Street Mall (Pearl St. and 15th 
St.). The Public Safety Building 
has been used by BPD since 
1989, and the annexes have 
been used for 10 to 20 years, 
depending on the location. 
The annex on University Hill 
is used only for staff (either 
Neighborhood Impact Team 
members or other of cers) 
who need to complete of ce 
work and need telephone and 
computer access. The Pearl 
St. Mall annex is open to the 
public, and offers two civilian 
staff members who take reports, 
two code enforcement of cers 
and the code enforcement 
supervisor. Annex employees 

frequent trips to high complaint neighborhoods like University Hill. 
Many complaints are received about trash concerns which are 
often animal created, and the team tries to educate residents 
about ways to deter wildlife. The rst priority is education about the 
problem and helping to identify solutions. BPD will continue to use 
code enforcement to help to ensure quality of life issues are handled 
ef ciently and effectively.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 29Packet Page     385



20 Chapter Four - Recommendations

Accessible and Connected Community 
– Ensure safety for all modes of travel 
and ef ciency for emergency response. 
BPD is committed to preserving and 

enhancing the safe and balanced transportation 
system that the community expects. Maintaining 
safety in Boulder’s multi modal transportation 
system will require continued traf c enforcement, 
educational efforts for drivers, pedestrians, and 
cyclists, and support for transportation planning 
and engineering efforts to make all modes of travel 
safe in the community. 

enforcing the ordinance. Of cers 
pass out bike light coupons 
to offenders during a warning 
period. BPD also supports the 
national campaign to educate 
drivers of the dangers of texting 
and driving. BPD’s approach 
is to educate the community 
and then proactively enforce to 
ensure all modes of travel are safe.

 Continue to utilize alternative 
modes of transportation such 
as foot patrols, bicycle patrols 
and energy ef cient vehicles 
in response. As is the case 
across the city organization, 
BPD uses alternative modes 
of transportation such as 
foot patrols, bicycle patrols 
and alternative fuel vehicles. 
Demands for police presence 
and concerns over safety in 
key districts, such as University 
Hill and Boulder Creek Path, 
increases the need for foot 
and bicycle patrols to raise 
visibility and address concerns 
about the transient population, 
alcohol issues, and safety. 
BPD will continue to identify 
opportunities to further expand 
the alternative modes while also 
balancing the need for of cer 
safety, enforcement capabilities, 
equipment needs, response 
capabilities, and prisoner 
transport. As part of the city’s 

BPD is also a user of the transportation system and 
therefore has responsibilities to both help shape the 
system and adapt to it.  In addition to its traditional 
safe and fast vehicular response, BPD uses 
alternative modes, such as foot and bike patrols, 
to help connect with the community and reduce 
environmental impacts. BPD also takes advantage 
of new technologies like alternative fuel vehicles to 
reduce the city’s carbon footprint. Key initiatives in 
this area include:

 Address traf c safety through education and 
enforcement. While Boulder encourages more 
bicycle and pedestrian traf c, it is important to 
ensure that all participants in the community’s 
transportation system  pedestrians, bicyclists and 
drivers  practice safe travel behavior. BPD assists 
in addressing traf c safety through education 
and enforcement. For instance, the city recently 
adopted a new crosswalk safety ordinance. 
BPD assisted the Transportation Division with 
education and outreach efforts regarding bike 
and pedestrian safety at crosswalks. This was 
accomplished through public announcements, 
warnings as well as enforcement. Similarly, BPD 
assists in educating the community about using 
bike lights when riding at night before actively 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 30Packet Page     386



21

help ease victims’ fears and help prevent others 
from taking advantage of the disaster situation. 
When a natural disaster occurs, police are involved 
in crowd control, providing public safety, directing 
traf c, and organizing search teams. Preventing 
and mitigating threats to the community from 
natural disasters involves planning, preparation, 
equipment, and training. Key initiatives in this area 
include:

 Continue to use Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design (LEED) targets for facility 
development. BPD’s main facility, the Public Safety 
Building, and both of its annexes, have received 
energy ef cient lighting and weatherization 
upgrades as part of the city’s Energy Performance 
Contract. This includes replacing xtures with 
energy ef cient lighting and new light switches, 
a new HVAC system, boilers, water heaters, roof, 
sprinkler system and water conserving measures. 
Any future expansion or remodeling of the 
Public Safety Building will include LEED targets as 
supported across the city organization. 

 Improve BPD’s environmental sustainability 
efforts through recycling and composting. As part 
of the city’s climate action plan, BPD is working 
on ways to improve recycling and composting 
efforts as well as considering a time table to reach 
a goal of zero waste. As part of these efforts, BPD 
will install more three in one waste stations (which 
include recycling, compost, and trash receptacles) 
in facilities along with providing training about 
what items are compostable and recyclable. The 
recycling and composting data will be tracked and 
evaluated to ensure improved efforts. In addition, 
part of BPD’s recycling efforts includes collecting 
soda cans by the Citizen’s Police Academy Alumni2 
and bringing them to the recycling center. Seized 

climate commitment goals, 90 percent of newly 
purchased vehicles must be alternatively fueled. 
Currently, of the 108 police vehicles, 62 percent 
are alternative fuel vehicles, including hybrid or 
E85 (ethanol fuel blend). The lower percent is due 
to the fact that some emergency equipment is 
either not available in alternative fuel models 
or it is not a viable option given the needed 
equipment. BPD will continue to evaluate future 
vehicle purchases for alternative fuel options.

 Leverage technology 
to monitor traf c, identify 
safety issues, and improve 
enforcement capabilities. 
As part of the traf c safety 
program, BPD and the 

Transportation Division have added photo radar 
enforcement to some neighborhoods and school 
zones, and have installed photo red lights at 
some high traf c intersections. Photo radar is 
an automated camera system used to enforce 
speed limits. It is operated in an unmarked 
vehicle by a specially trained police employee. 
The photo red light systems are installed at key 
Boulder intersections that have a high number 
of collisions. Running red lights is one of the most 
frequent causes of accidents at intersections in 
Boulder. Photo safety technologies have proven 
to be effective, have been in use for more than 
30 years, and are used in more than 45 countries. 
The goal is to reduce speeding on a variety 
of streets in Boulder and to reduce red light 
infractions. BPD will continue to coordinate with 
the Transportation Division to share data on traf c 
intersections and to evaluate current and future 
technological options to further improve safety 
and enforcement capabilities.

Environmentally Sustainable 
Community – Reduce energy 
consumption and emissions by focusing 
on zero waste and energy ef ciency 
initiatives within the department; and 
Improve preparedness for natural 
disasters, such as oods and wild res. 

BPD participates in the ongoing city program to 
conserve energy, reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions, use renewable energy, reduce waste 
and limit toxins in the environment. BPD’s use of 
alternative fuel vehicles helps promote renewable 
fuels and reduces emission impacts. 

Natural disasters, such as oods, tornadoes and 
res, all cause speci c damage and chaos. A 

strong police presence in these situations can 

2Citizen’s Police Academy is offered to City of Boulder and Boulder County residents to learn about police operations and 
philosophy one night per week for approximately 10 weeks. The Citizen’s Police Academy Alumni is a small group of academy 
graduates who continue to meet on a regular basis and volunteer their time, and sometimes money, to BPD. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 31Packet Page     387



22 Chapter Four - Recommendations

or found kegs are also returned to liquor stores. 
Proceeds from both of these efforts go towards the 
bomb squad program. BPD also contributes to the 
city’s reuse efforts by donating used bullet resistant 
vests and uniforms to a number of smaller police 
departments including, Native American police 
departments located on federal reservations. BPD 
has also donated two way radios that no longer 
work on the city’s radio infrastructure to smaller 
police departments as well as to volunteer re 
departments. 

 Continue to follow a scheduling plan to 
reduce commuting. BPD follows a scheduling 
plan that reduces employee commuting by 
allowing employees to work ten hour days, four 
days a week. This plan was originally implemented 
several years ago, but it has only recently been 
expanded throughout the department. As work 
requirements have allowed, BPD has supported 
staff changing to the ten hour day, four days per 
week schedule. For each employee who takes 
advantage, two commuting trips per week are 
saved. Of the approximately 275 BPD employees, 
only 18 live within the city limits. The expansion of 
the ten hour days, four days per week schedule 
throughout the BPD has resulted in a reduction of 
fuel consumption and GHG emissions. BPD plans 

to continue the current schedule 
and evaluate in the future if there 
are other opportunities to reduce 
employee commuting.  

 Continue to collaborate 
and coordinate with other 
city departments, Of ce of 
Emergency Management, 
Boulder County Sheriff’s Of ce 
and other service providers 
in preparing for threats to 
the community. BPD works 

collaboratively with other departments, agencies, 
and the community to minimize the risks to life and 
property, while maintaining the ability to provide 
emergency police services. For instance, BPD 
works closely with the City of 
Boulder/Boulder County Of ce 
of Emergency Management 
(Boulder OEM). The Boulder 
OEM coordinates with local, 
state, and federal partners to 
facilitate planning and response 
to emergency situations. A 
commander is dedicated as 
a Boulder OEM liaison during 
any natural disaster, and 
participates in the planning and 

development of responses. In the 
event of a large scale natural 
disaster, all police department 
members would be expected 
to assist including all non
commissioned personnel, patrol, 
traf c, detectives, dispatch and 
administration. BPD completes 
regular training exercises with the 
Boulder County Sheriff’s Of ce 
and at times, the University of 
Colorado–Police Department. 
The city’s SWAT and bomb 
teams also train with the Boulder 
County Sheriff’s Of ce and the 
Longmont Police Department on 
large scale crowd management 
and crime related events. BPD 
is always working to continually 
improve coordination with 
other agencies through training 
exercises, simulated drills, 
and by incorporating areas 
that are identi ed as needing 
improvement. 

 Purchase new Incident 
Command Vehicle to update 
response capability and improve 
critical incident response. BPD 
has special equipment that may 
be used for critical incidents 
such as natural disasters, major 
criminal events, situations 
involving numerous casualties, or 
events requiring a large number 
of resources. The Incident 
Command Vehicle (ICV) is used 
to provide a private and secure 
area where command staff can 
strategize and deal with critical 
situations at the site of an event 
for prolonged periods of time. 
The current vehicle is 13 years 
old and, was designed based on 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 32Packet Page     388



23

that is they feel and are safe. As part of this effort, 
BPD works to maintain high levels of public safety, 
promoting a healthy, resilient economy for the City 
of Boulder. BPD will continue to provide support 
to keep the community safe and free of crime so 
Boulder remains an attractive place to live, work 
and recreate. Key initiatives in this area include: 

 Continue to plan and develop safe procedures 
for the increasing number of special events. A 
special event is an activity or event held on or in 
City of Boulder property and/or facilities where a 
concern for the protection of participants, users 
and/or property exists. The City of Boulder provides 
for a variety of special events that contribute to the 
individual, social, economic and environmental 
health and well being of the community. Since 
Boulder is considered a popular place to live and 
work, it is not surprising that the number of special 

events has grown over the years. 
Each event is unique, which 
means that each event requires 
a different approach to manage 
safety. BPD will continue to 
develop plans to manage the 
events in a safe manner, which 
often includes coordinating 
traf c, crowd control, escape 
routes, and other appropriate 
measures. 

 Maintain commercial crime 
prevention efforts through 
education, enforcement, and 
investigation. BPD is actively 
involved in providing crime 

the needs at the time. BPD needs have changed 
due to an increased focus on collaboration with 
other agencies and the nature of events that 
need to be managed.  A new ICV would provide 
the necessary interior space con guration for 
conducting brie ngs, while also accommodating 
the need for dispatch to coordinate other 
activities from the same vehicle with new radio 
and Computer Aided Dispatch technology. 
Updating BPD’s response capability will improve 
critical incident response, which is important in a 
community that is considered the number one 
ash ood risk in the state of Colorado. 

 Expand Field Guide for Flood Response 
to include all hazards. Mitigation, prevention, 
training and property planning are the best ways 
to ef ciently and effectively handle incidents of 
mass destruction, including wildland res and 
oods. In conjunction with the Boulder Fire Rescue 

Department and the University of Colorado Police 
Department, BPD authors the City of Boulder Field 
Guide for Flood Response (Field Guide) to analyze 
the potential for oods and the impact they would 
have on the community. The guide is designed for 
police of cers and re ghters to use to establish 
the priorities for protecting life, property and critical 
infrastructure and is updated yearly. Currently, the 
Field Guide is focused on ood response, but BPD 
is in the process of expanding the document to 
include all hazards response such as wildland res. 

Economically Vital Community – Provide 
a high level of policing services ensuring 
safety and security in the community. 
Police enforce the laws that allow 

businesses to run smoothly. In general, police act 
to create an environment/situation where people 
are treated fairly and their rights are protected – 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 33Packet Page     389



24 Chapter Four - Recommendations

prevention tips and trainings to the business community and schools. 
For instance, BPD has conducted approximately ten security 
assessments in 2012. In addition, BPD completed numerous safety 
presentations, including at least 24 site visits, with security reviews 
of both businesses and schools. BPD has also offered trainings on 
shoplifting to local businesses, including banks. By working directly 
with the business community on crime prevention and education, 
BPD assists companies to develop, promote, and operate a safe work 
environment. BPD will continue to work with companies to provide 
basic crime prevention advice to reduce the occurrence and cost of 
crime to business and the wider community.

 Continue efforts with local schools on threat mitigation  
education to improve safety. “Threat mitigation” refers to educating 
school personnel on how to make the school safer by practicing 
lock down drills, assessing threats, identifying at risk students, and 
supporting anti bullying programs. Supporting a safe environment 
in the schools contributes to students’ learning and growing, as well 
as providing a sense of security which helps to attract people and 
businesses to the community. BPD is committed to providing service, 
counseling, and education to Boulder’s youth. BPD has ve School 
Resource Of cers (SRO’s) who are assigned to 11 high schools and 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 34Packet Page     390



25

middle schools in the Boulder Valley School District. 
SRO’s train monthly to hone their skills on tactical 
movement, room clearing and evacuations. Two 
Active Harmful Event trainings occur twice a year, 
with participation by with school administration and 
faculty. The Cops in the Classroom program will 
continue to be offered upon request to elementary 
schools. This is a program designed to educate 
children on a variety of issues such as drug and 
alcohol usage, peer pressure, self esteem, etc. 
The program is also designed to build relationships 
between children and police of cers in a non
threatening environment. BPD will continue these 
efforts to support the local schools and improve 
safety in the community.

Good Governance – Use resources more 
ef ciently and effectively to provide 
professional police services to the 
community. 

BPD strives to enforce the laws and preserve 
public safety and order in a highly effective and 
ef cient manner. In doing so, BPD must balance 
the community needs with the proper use of 
resources to gain ef ciencies. This is done through 
strategic assignment of personnel, effective use 
of technology and advances in communication, 
and partnerships with other agencies such as 
the Boulder County Sheriff’s Department and the 
Colorado Bureau of Investigation. Maintaining 
state of the art equipment, contemporary 
policies and procedures, and suf cient training 
are all crucial toward keeping the community as 
safe as possible. Key initiatives related to good 
governance include:

 Facilitate cooperation and partnerships with 
other jurisdictions and agencies to share resources 
and improve ef ciencies. BPD seeks partnership 
opportunities that will help increase resource 
availability, save money, or increase ef ciencies. 
Examples of recent partnerships include the new 

Colorado Bureau of Investigation (CBI) DNA lab, 
and the Boulder County Regional Bomb Squad. 
BPD created a partnership with CBI for a regional 
DNA lab located in the city’s Public Safety Building. 
In exchange for the city’s monetary contribution 
toward this project BPD, as well as other law 
enforcement agencies in Boulder County, will 
receive priority for DNA cases submitted to CBI. 
BPD also created an intergovernmental agreement 
to combine the city’s Bomb Response Team with 
Boulder County and Longmont to form a regional 
bomb squad. This regionalization has improved our 
response capability for the entire county without 
increasing costs. BPD will continue to explore 
additional opportunities to partner with other 
jurisdictions to share limited resources and improve 
overall ef ciencies.

 Develop a strategic approach to better meet 
the changing demands of technology in the areas 
of forensics, criminal investigation, communication, 
and data collection. As improvements in 
technology and forensics continue to advance 
in the ght against crime, BPD must keep current 
in the use of technology and forensic techniques 
available to law enforcement to protect the 
community. This includes improving BPD’s Records 
Management System (RMS) and communication 
capabilities through such means as upgrading 
the radio infrastructure, providing cell phones 
to personnel, and enhancing the mobile report 

writing capabilities. Fully using 
appropriate technology is a 
signi cant “force multiplier” 
in that it simpli es operations 
and enhances service 
delivery. BPD has created an 
IT Police Technical Team (PTT) 
to coordinate upgrades of 
software and technology so 
the department can remain 
current with contemporary 
standards. This is a team of 
technology trained employees 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 35Packet Page     391



26 Chapter Four - Recommendations

who will help identify technology 
needs and establish priorities, 
as well as collaboratively solve 
technology issues department
wide. In addition, two positions 
have been added through 
re allocation to provide cross 
training and greater coordination 
of technology support. 

 Establish a strategic funding 
plan for maintenance and 
replacement of BPD capital 
assets, including facilities, 
vehicles, and all technology 
needs. Similar to other city 

departments, BPD contributes annually to eet and equipment 
replacement, ongoing operations and maintenance, and major 
maintenance/facility renovation and replacement for the Public 
Safety Building. However, BPD has not had a full funding plan for the 
replacement of all the technologies used by the department, such 
as the Records Management System, communications equipment, 
and mobile data computers (BPD currently contributes about 21 
percent of the needed costs for replacement of the mobile data 
computers). The cost of staying current with the rapidly evolving 
technology has increased over time as improvements are made 
and new technology emerges. For instance, BPD currently pays the 
majority of the costs related to the city’s radio infrastructure out of 
the department’s general fund budget. Much of this equipment 
is old and will need to be replaced in 3 5 years both because of 
age, and because of narrow banding  currently slated for 2018. In 
a recent Capital Improvement Project (CIP) request BPD estimated 
this cost at $1.5 million. The city is exploring whether to create an 
on going internal service fund to help pay for some or all of these 
costs, starting in 2015. For all of police technology needs, BPD, 
in collaboration with IT and Finance, will create and maintain a 
forward looking funding plan for maintenance and replacement. 
This will be done in conjunction with the assessment of technological 
needs, the gap between what is needed and what we currently 
have, and a prioritized approach to coordinate technology 
maintenance and replacement 
across the department.  

 Continue to adapt policies 
and procedures to re ect 
best practices to enhance 
operations and management 
of the police department. In 
order to further professional 
development it is important 
to remain current on new 
standards and practices in 
the policing community. BPD 
accomplishes this through 
continued education programs, 
including attending training 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 36Packet Page     392



27

seminars and conferences, on a yearly basis. 
BPD also subscribes, and at times contributes 
articles, to monthly police publications through 
the International Association of Police Chiefs 
and the Police Executive Research Forum. 
Beginning in the late 1990’s, BPD participates 
in the Benchmark Cities, which is a group of 
approximately 28 police departments in cities 
of similar size and demographics which value 
sharing information, and using that information 
to improve services and ef ciencies. Each year, 
the Benchmark Cities compare and contrast 
data, policies and approaches to issues and then 
meet to discuss the information. Learning from 
the Benchmark Cities, as well as participating in 
professional development and keeping abreast 
of current policing development through relevant 
publications all contribute to implementing 
best practices to enhance operations and 
management of the BPD.

 Hire a commander to manage new or 
expanded units in the department. BPD has 
operated with one less commander position since 
re organization approximately 15 years ago. 
BPD has grown over the past 15 years and new 
responsibilities have been added (Animal Control, 
Code Enforcement, Marijuana Enforcement, 
additional special events) without a corresponding 
increase in management staff. The addition of 
another commander position will allow BPD to more 
equitably distribute the management workload, 
provide more effective management, help 
improve accountability, improve adherence to 
performance standards, and thus increase public 
safety. 

 Maintain contemporary and professionally 
recommended training standards. As is the case 
with many police departments, a signi cant portion 

of the budget is dedicated to 
personnel (e.g., 90 percent of 
the BPD’s budget is personnel 
costs). Continuing to invest in 
the primary asset of the police 
department  the staff  through 
appropriate training is critical. 
BPD training instructors are 
certi ed in areas of expertise and 
sent to refresher or advanced 
training as needed. Each Boulder 
police of cer receives continuing 
education training every year to 
ensure peak performance for the 
community. BPD uses a training 
sergeant to coordinate training 
with patrol and other work 
groups across the department. 
In an effort to remain current, 
BPD will continue to maintain the 
professionally recommended 
training standards across the 
department.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 37Packet Page     393



SUSTAINABILITY CATEGORIES

STRATEGY

IN
IT

IA
TI

VE
S

Co
mm

un
ity 

Pol
icin

g

Refine “community policing” approach and develop future strategies to  further support livable neighborhoods and vibrant 
business districts.

Evaluate Neighborhood Impact Team and apply lessons learned to future approaches to public safety.

Adapt to changing needs and requirements in enforcing alcohol and marijuana.

Te
ch
no
lo
gy Leverage technology to monitor traffic, iden fy safety issues, and improve enforcement capabili es.

Develop a strategic approach to be er meet the changing demands of technology in the areas of forensics, criminal inves ga on, 
communica on, and data collec on.

Re
sp

on
di

ng
 

to
 C

al
ls 

fo
r 

Se
rv

ic
e

Evaluate addi onal op ons to handle requests for service.

Implement a change in BPD’s policy to reduce the amount of me spent responding to false alarms.

Ph
ys
ic
al
 P
la
nn
in
g/
U
rb
an
 

De
sig

n

Support collabora on on area plans and development review projects.

Evaluate size and design of police facili es for effec veness and efficiency.

Protec ng and ensuring quality urban environment through code enforcement.

Con nue to plan and develop safe procedures for the increasing number of special events.

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l Con nue to u lize alterna ve modes of transporta on such as foot patrols, bicycle patrols and energy efficient vehicles in response. 

Con nue to use Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) targets for facility development.

Improve BPD’s environmental sustainability efforts through recycling and compos ng.

Pu
bl
ic
 O
ut
re
ac
h 
an
d 
Ed
uc
a
on Strengthen partnerships with social service providers to meet cri cal human service needs.

Con nue to build be er rela onships with community groups which are o en disengaged.

Address traffic safety through educa on and enforcement.

Maintain commercial crime preven on efforts through educa on, enforcement, and inves ga on.

Con nue efforts with local schools on “threat mi ga on” educa on to improve safety.

Pe
rs
on
ne
l -
 S
ta
ffi
ng
 - 
Tr
ai
ni
ng

Phase-in addi onal sworn officers and civilian staff over five years to provide more me for community policing ac vi es and 
proac ve enforcement.

Con nue to follow a scheduling plan to reduce commu ng.

Expand Field Guide for Flood Response to include all-hazards.

Hire a commander to manage new or expanded units in the department.

Maintain contemporary and professionally recommended training standards.

Ge
ne

ra
l -

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Con nue to collaborate and coordinate with other city departments, Office of Emergency Management, Boulder County Sheriff’s 
Office and other service providers in preparing for threats to the community.

Purchase new Incident Command Vehicle to update response capability and improve cri cal incident response.

Facilitate coopera on and partnerships with other jurisdic ons and agencies to share resources and improve efficiencies.

Establish a strategic funding plan for maintenance and replacement of BPD capital assets, including facili es, vehicles, and all 
technology needs.

Con nue to adapt policies and procedures to reflect best prac ces to enhance opera ons and management of the 
police department.

28 Chapter Four - Recommendations

Red X indicates the primary sustainability category that relates to the initiative.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 38Packet Page     394



Safe 
Community

Healthy and
Socially Thriving
Community

Livable 
Community

Accessible and 
Connected
Community

Environmentally 
Sustainable 
Community

Economically 
Vital 
Community

 Good  
Governance

Adjust service 
delivery to meet 
new community 
expecta ons while 
maintaining basic 
public safety.

Provide a safety net 
of services, early 
interven on and 
preven on to meet 
cri cal human service 
needs.

Ensure public safety 
services support 
evolving urban areas 
and that urban 
areas support crime 
preven on.

Ensure safety for 
all modes of travel 
and efficiency 
for emergency 
response.

Reduce energy 
consump on and 
emissions by focusing on 
zero waste and energy 
efficiency ini a ves.  
Improve preparedness 
for natural disasters

Provide a high level 
of policing services 
ensuring safety 
and security in the 
community.

Use resources 
more efficiently 
and effec vely 
to provide 
professional police 
services to the 
community.

29Agenda Item 5C     Page 39Packet Page     395



Agenda Item 5C     Page 40Packet Page     396



C
HA

PT
ER

 F
IV

E

31

Investment Priorities and 
Funding Options

BPD receives its funding for 
personnel costs and non
personnel expenditures from 
the General Fund, with the vast 
majority of money spent on 
personnel costs. With a 2013 
budget of $31.7 million, BPD 
receives over 99 percent from 
the General Fund and less than 
1 percent from other sources 
including grants (approximately 
$80,000 per year) and asset 
forfeiture3  money (less than 

3Asset forfeiture is money awarded to the Boulder Police Department as a result of seizures from drug cases in which Boulder police 

enforcement is becoming less and less since it now only comes from cases that are prosecuted federally.

$50,000 in 2012). Personnel expenses account for 86 
percent ($27,213,347) of the total budget, and xed 
expenses such as utilities and replacement fund 
contributions account for 5 percent ($1,619,410). 
This leaves 9 percent ($2,914,265) to pay for the 
daily operational expenses of the department.  

As a General Fund department with a majority of 
its annual appropriation allocated to personnel 
and xed expenses, there is little opportunity to 
enhance existing programs through re allocation. 
Speci c new appropriation from either the General 
Fund or other city revenue sources is required for 
new programs and capital needs.

Departmental master planning is focused on 
aligning the design of departmental operations, 
programs, and annual spending plans with stated 
community priorities. This update to the Police 
Master Plan uses the Sustainability Framework 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 41Packet Page     397



32 Chapter Five - Investment Priorities and Funding Options

$37 799 125

$31,747,022

Action Plan

Fiscally Constrained Plan

Funding Plans
(Includes ongoing and one time costs)

$44,149,125

$37,799,125

Vision Plan

Action Plan

described in Chapter 4 and the 
city’s Priority Based Budgeting 
(PBB) to ensure that planned 
activities are supporting 
community priorities and are funded
in accordance with those priorities. 
 
PBB is the iterative process of 
prioritizing city programs in terms 
of their in uence on achieving 
de ned “results” which are the 
high level, overarching objectives 
that represent the priorities of 
City Council and the community. 
PBB results were de ned as part 
of the 2011 budget process 
through an extensive community 
process. One of PBB’s primary 
objectives is to ensure that, 
through sound scal planning, 
the city achieves an ongoing 
nancial balance between the 

amount of funding available and 
the cost of providing services 
and programs. Because crime 
prevention (safety), emergency 
response, traf c enforcement 
and criminal investigation are 
generally high priorities for the 
community, the bulk of BPD 
spending (over 80 percent) 
scores in the top 25 percent of 
all community programs ( rst 
quartile) administered by the city. 
These high scores are largely a 
result of very strong alignment 
with the Safe Community result 
within the PBB approach. (See 
Sidebar on Page 33.) 

Funding Plans
In 2006, the city introduced a 
business plan approach that 
required each department 
to imagine a future without 
increased revenues.  This 
approach acknowledged a 
tough scal reality and led to a 
continual rebalancing of priorities 
and expenditures. The result was 
a tiered spending plan based on 
three scenarios, each re ecting 
different assumptions about 
available resources: FISCALLY 
CONSTRAINED, ACTION and 
VISION.

1998:
 0.15 percent Public Safety Tax was passed to dedicate 

funds to public safety, including paying for additional of cer 
positions and equipment. The estimated annual revenue 
increase is $3.4 million. Dedicate tax sunset at the end of 
2004. 

2008:
 “Retention of Property Taxes” was passed to pay for 

necessary city purposes and services. The estimated annual 
revenue increase for the General Fund is $1.2 million.

 The inde nite extension on the existing General Fund 
0.38 percent City Sales and Use Tax was passed. While not a 
new revenue source, it generates about $9.7 million annual 
for the General Fund.

2009:  0.15 percent Sales and Use Tax extension was passed. 
While not a new revenue source, it generates about $3.8 
million annually for the General Fund.

2011:  Ballet Item 2A passed, allowing the city to use existing 
revenue to bond for approximately $49 million in needed 
capital maintenance and improvements. Speci cally, 
for BPD, this provides $1.07 million towards the following 
projects:

 Upgrading Records Management System 
 Adding In Car Video Systems
 Replacing Bomb Robot 
 Improving Radio Infrastructure 
 Building New DNA Lab (in partnership with Colorado   

 Bureau of Investigation)

City of Boulder Recent Revenue History

Agenda Item 5C     Page 42Packet Page     398



33

The FISCALLY CONSTRAINED
plan is a prioritized or 
reprioritized service plan within 
existing budget targets. The 
intention of this funding plan 
is to refocus and make the 
most of existing resources. 
The department’s goal in this 
area is to maintain services. 
Initiatives in the Police Master 
Plan considered for the Fiscally 
Constrained Funding Plan 
are those that are mostly 
procedural or operational 
changes that require limited or 
no funding to accomplish.

The ACTION plan delineates 
the “next step” of service or 
facility expansion that should 

be taken when increased funding is available. It assumes increased funding and 
enhances existing programs or begins new programs. Police Master Plan initiatives listed 
under Action Plan add new positions, upgrade BPD to state of the art technology, and 
fund maintenance and replacement of all BPD capital assets including technology 
needs. The Action Plan requires additional operational and capital funding. BPD, in 
coordination with the City Manager and the city’s Chief Financial Of cer, will evaluate 
and analyze potential sources of additional revenue, including but not limited to 
capital bond funding, grants and existing or new taxes.  

The VISION plan is the complete set of services and facilities desired by the community 
when funding is available or there are alternative proposals to fund them. It is scally 
unconstrained but can help provide policy guidance by illustrating the ultimate goals 
of the community. It is a long range view to address future needs and de ciencies. In 
the Police Master Plan, the initiative in the Vision Plan addresses aging and undersized 
facilities to make improvements in operational effectiveness. 

All three funding plans focus on supporting priority programs and those that have strong 
community support. This will be an ongoing process to check future initiatives against 
current budget priorities to ensure that the city allocates funding to areas that have 
been broadly embraced as community priorities. More speci cally, it ensures that the 
largest amounts of funding will be matched to the highest priorities.  

…Enforces the law, taking into account the needs of individuals and community values;
…Plans for and provides timely and effective response to calls;
…Fosters a climate of safety for individuals in homes, businesses, neighborhoods and 
public places; 
…Encourages shared responsibility, provides education on personal and community 
safety and fosters an environment that is welcoming and inclusive, and;
…Provides safe and well maintained public infrastructure, and provides adequate 
and appropriate regulation of public/private development and resources.

A Safe Community will be achieved when the City of Boulder…

Traffic/Photo
Enforcement,
$4,146,592

Patrol, $12,301,036

Administration/
Overhead

Communications,
$2,845,447

Victim
Services,
$176,139

Property
Evidence/Records
Management,
$1,831,484

Detectives/
Investigations,
$4,268,292

Special Events,
$64,092

Code
Enforcement/Animal
Control, $757,336

Crime
Prevention,
$347,915

Crime Analysis/Crime
Lab, $399,739

School Resource
Officers, $605,263

Special Enforcement/
Narcotics, $201,383

Overhead,
$3,802,303

Agenda Item 5C     Page 43Packet Page     399



34 Chapter Five - Investment Priorities and Funding Options

FUNDING
PLANS

INITIATIVES SUSTAINABILITY
CATEGORIES

Evaluate size and design of police facilities for effectiveness and efficiency.

Develop a strategic approach to better meet the changing demands of technology in the areas of 
forensics, criminal investigation, communication, and data collection.

Phase-in additional sworn officers and civilian staff over five years to provide more time for community 
policing activities and proactive enforcement.

Hire a commander to manage new or expanded units in the department.

Purchase new Incident Command Vehicle to update response capability and improve critical incident 
response.

Establish a strategic funding plan for maintenance and replacement of BPD capital assets, including 
facilities, vehicles, and all technology needs.

Refine “community policing” approach and develop future strategies to further support livable 
neighborhoods and vibrant business district.

Evaluate a Neighborhood Impact Team and apply lessons learned to future approaches to public safety.

Leverage technology to monitor traffic, identify safety issues, and improve enforcement capabilities.

Evaluate additional options to handle requests for service.

Implement a change in BPD’s policy to reduce the amount of time spent responding to false alarms.

Support collaboration on area plans and development review projects.

Protect and ensure quality urban environment through code enforcement.

Continue to plan and develop safe procedures for the increasing number of special events.

Continue to utilize alternative modes of transportation such as foot patrols, bicycle patrols, and energy 
efficient vehicles in response.

Continue to use Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) targets for facility 
development.

Improve BPD’s environmental sustainability efforts through recycling and composting.

Strengthen partnerships with social service providers to meet critical human service needs.

Continue to build better relationships with community groups which are often disengaged.

Address traffic safety through education and enforcement.

Maintain commercial crime prevention efforts through education, enforcement, and investigation.

Continue efforts with local schools on “threat mitigation” education to improve safety.

Continue to follow a scheduling plan to reduce commuting.

Expand Field Guide for Flood Responses to include all-hazards.

Maintain contemporary and professionally recommended training standards.

Continue to collaborate and coordinate with other city departments, Office of Emergency Management, 
Boulder County Sheriff ’s Office, and other service providers in preparing for threats to the community.

Facilitate cooperation and partnerships with other jurisdictions and agencies to share resources and 
improve efficiencies.

Adapt to changing needs and requirements in enforcing alcohol and marijuana.

Continue to adapt policies and procedures to reflect best practices to enhance operations and 
management of the police department.

VI
SI

O
N

A
C

TIO
N

FI
SC

A
LL

Y 
C

O
N

ST
RA

IN
ED

Agenda Item 5C     Page 44Packet Page     400



C
HA

PT
ER

 S
IX

35

Performance Measures
Performance measurement allows public of cials, 
department managers and community members 
to evaluate the effectiveness and quality of public 
services. Performance measures are used by 
federal, state and local governments to respond 
to increasing demands for accountability and 
greater interest from public of cials concerned with 
evaluating program effectiveness and allocating 
resources. Historically, police effectiveness has 
been measured by crime statistics, response times 
and some rough guidelines about the appropriate 
number of of cers per 1,000 residents. BPD also 
includes victim feedback, District Attorney’s Of ce 
feedback, benchmark community comparison 
data and community input in evaluating 
performance and perception of safety.

Crime Statistics
Based on the last ve years of data, BPD 
is continuing to respond to an average of 
approximately 3,000 serious and 5,000 less serious 
crime cases per year. Serious crimes include 
murder, rape, robbery, aggravated assault, 

burglary and theft while less serious crimes include 
assault, forgery, vandalism, drug abuse offenses, 
DUI and disorderly conduct. Nationally, Boulder 
has a lower crime rate compared to other similar 
cities. Over the last ve years, traf c enforcement 
has averaged approximately 16,500 summonses 
(includes accidents and non accidents) per year 
and an average of 3,200 accidents per year.

Embedded within both the serious and less 
serious crime statistics (depending on the case) 
are family crimes. While family crime rates have 
remained relatively steady over the last four 
years, the number of cases being investigated by 
detectives has increased dramatically. This is due 
to a change in handling family crimes to improve 
service and effectiveness. Every case not solved by 
an immediate arrest is assigned to a detective for 
investigation. Some of the cases with an immediate 
arrest are also assigned to a detective to complete 
additional follow up for prosecution. This change 
has resulted in a 354 percent increase over four 
years in the number of family crime cases handled 

The top three causes of 
traf c accidents in the 
city are failure to avoid 
interfering with vehicle 

ahead, inattentive 
driving and improper 

backing.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 45Packet Page     401



36

by detectives. Fifty one cases were investigated in 
2009, versus 232 cases in 2012. Of those 232 cases, 
58 were felonies, 155 were misdemeanors, and 19 
were classi ed as incidents.

Response Time Standards
Average response from the time a call was 
received to the arrival of an of cer for Priority 
One4 calls has increased from 2:15 to 6:28. The 
increase is mostly due to changes in tracking time, 
improvements in record keeping, and partly related 
to the fact that there are fewer of cers available 
to respond. BPD has recently implemented a new 
computer aided dispatch (CAD) system that allows 
for better tracking of calls for service both in terms 
of time that calls are received, entered into the 
system, dispatched, and of cers arrive as well 
as more easily extracted data such as number, 
type and details for calls for service handled by a 
particular of cer. The new CAD system also assigns 
emergency or Priority One calls by closest unit using 
a Global Positioning System (GPS) feature rather 
than a dispatcher assigning these calls based 
solely on district assignment, which should improve 
police response time. Implementation of these 
technological improvements will assist in more 
accurate data collection and increased utilization 
of data in the management of BPD.

The BVCP currently calls for BPD to respond to: 
“any potentially life threatening police emergency 
normally within four and a half minutes from the 
time the call for assistance is received by the 
Communications center (however, the range 

for that average within the 
established city shall not exceed 
six minutes).” After additional 
data has been collected using 
the new CAD system, BPD will 
further evaluate opportunities for 
improvement in response times.

 

Comparison to Benchmark 
Communities
Another useful performance 
measure is the comparison of 
various data against police 
agencies of similar size and 
makeup. BPD is part of the 
Benchmark City Survey, which 
was originally developed in 1997 

2012 Benchmark City Comparison

Boulder Average

Population 99,069 142,980
Budget 29.6 million 34.5 million
Citizens per Of cer 573 707
Calls per Of cer 349 344
Part I Crimes*/1,000 residents 31 34
Part I Crimes* Cleared 32 percent 24 percent
DUI arrests/1,000 residents 7 4

(*Part I Crimes include aggravated assault, battery, arson, auto theft, burglary, homicide, rape, robbery 
and felony theft.)

  4

from injury or life-threatening situations, or other emergency situations which require and depend upon an immediate response.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 46Packet Page     402



37

by a core group of police chiefs from around the 
country to establish a measurement tool to ensure 
departments are providing the best service possible 
within their respective communities. Annually, the 
benchmark cities complete a survey which allows 
participating agencies to compare themselves 
across a wide variety of criteria. In comparison to 
the benchmark cities, Boulder typically has shorter 
response times; is within the average range for 
number of serious crimes; and is above average in 
the number of of cers per resident. In areas such as 
alcohol enforcement, women in policing, number 
of calls per of cer and clearance rates5, Boulder is 
at or near the top in leading the benchmark cities. 

Community and Victim Feedback
In addition, BPD conducts random customer service 
surveys of people who have been contacted by a 
police of cer as a result of a 911 or non emergency 
phone call. Approximately seventy people are 
contacted each month and asked to rate how 
they feel their call was handled and the quality 
of their interaction with both the dispatcher and 
of cer. Survey participants also answer brief, open
ended questions that address their perception of 
the department, professionalism, courtesy, and 
overall awareness of issues facing the community. 
The detective section also conducts monthly 
customer service surveys, with an annual goal of 
at least 20 percent of the surveys completed in 
Spanish.

How are we doing?
Overall, BPD is doing well in the areas of solving 
crimes (clearance rates), re ecting community 
diversity and other values, training, and holding 
employees accountable to high standards. Over 
the last 15 years, BPD has worked toward greater 
professionalism in meeting the mission of working 
with the community to provide service and safety. 

Calls for Service

Total* Calls per Of cer Of cers 1000 
residents

2008 58,870 344 1.74
2009 59,428 348 1.74
2010 58,892 344 1.75
2011 61,372 357 1.75
2012 60,443 349 1.75

  5

or criminal) is "cleared" when an arrest is made, the complaint is found to be false or baseless, the victim drops the case, or the 
offender dies. 

*Total calls for service do not include about 30,000 additional contacts that are generated each year by officers, such as traffic stops, 
on-site arrests and pedestrian contacts.

The 2011 Boulder Community Survey indicated 
that ratings of feelings of safety from violent 
crime dropped somewhat in 2011 compared 
to 2007 (went from a rating of 83 to 78, using a 
100 point scale with 0 very unsafe to 100 very 
safe). However, this rating was above the national 
benchmark and higher than had been observed 
in several previous implementations of the survey. 
The rating of safety from property crimes remained 
stable from 2007 to 2011 (69 to 68), and was higher 
than the national benchmark. About one in ten 
respondents reported they had dialed 9 1 1 in the 
past year, similar to the proportion in 2007. Safety 
ratings varied across the sub communities. Overall, 
men and respondents ages 35 to 54 tended to feel 
safer from potential threats than women and the 
youngest and oldest respondents. Discrimination 
due to background or personal characteristics was 
rated lower by Hispanic respondents, respondents 
of other races and non students.  

Another community survey will be completed 
in 2014 and information collected, along with 
other customer feedback, crime statistics 
and comparison to other communities’ data, 
will continue to be evaluated in the ongoing 
assessment of police effectiveness. The 
performance measures will also continue to be 
evaluated as part of the annual citywide budget 
process.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 47Packet Page     403



Agenda Item 5C     Page 48Packet Page     404



C
HA

PT
ER

 S
EV

EN

39

Implementation and Next Steps
With the adoption of this 
master plan, BPD commits to 
the initiatives outlined in the 
scally constrained plan (within 

the existing budget) and to 
actively pursue the funding 
and resource leveraging 
needed to implement the 
action and vision plans. As a 
result, implementation of the 
Police Master Plan will take 
place over a number of years 
to spread out budgetary and 
other impacts. BPD is already 
moving ahead with many of 
the recommendations in the 
master plan, speci cally within 
the scally constrained plan, 
that do not require additional 
funding or staff. Examples 
include forming focus groups 

to discuss the “community policing” philosophy and what it means in 
Boulder; expanding the Field Guide to Flood Response to include all 
hazards; and evaluating the Neighborhood Impact Team in order to 
apply lessons learned to future approaches in public safety.
 
In the future, BPD will incorporate new initiatives into the planning and 
budget processes as city resources allow. Examples include phasing 
in additional sworn of cers and civilian staff members (submitted 
for consideration as part of the 2014 budget process); upgrading 
technology in order to improve response times and increase 
ef ciency; replacing the mobile command post for emergency 
response; and expanding the Public Safety Building to better 
accommodate staf ng and technology needs.

With this master plan as a guide, BPD will use the city’s Priority Based 
Budgeting approach to develop annual budget requests. Progress 
will be reviewed and accomplishments re ected as part of the 
annual budget process. Performance measures will be used to 
monitor service and progress toward the master plan strategies. Every 
effort will be made to ensure that BPD efforts align with City Council 
and community goals.

Agenda Item 5C     Page 49Packet Page     405



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 50Packet Page     406



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: September 3, 2013 

AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of a motion to approve The Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area.

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability (CP&S) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, CP&S 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Tracy Winfree, Director of Public Works for Transportation 
Molly Winter, Director of Downtown and University Hill Management  
 Division and Parking Services 
Kirk Kincannon, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Patrick von Keyserling, Communications Manager
Valerie Maginnis, Director of Library and Arts 
Karen Rahn, Director of Human Services 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer, Project Coordinator 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, Project Coordinator 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this agenda item is for City Council to consider approval of the draft Plan for 
Boulder’s Civic Area (Attachment A).

Packet Page     407



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to approve the draft Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area ((Attachment A) and initiate 
implementation.

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

Economic – Overall, the investment in the Civic Area called for in the plan will help 
support the continued economic vitality of the downtown and surrounding area.  More 
detailed analysis of the financial feasibility and economic impacts of implementing 
specific elements of the plan will be prepared during the Implementation Phase and 
reviewed by City Council.  Major elements include a redesigned urban park at the core 
flanked by mixed-use, 24/7 activity potentially including a public market hall, wrapped 
structured parking, performing arts space, and a mixed-use community 
services/innovation and events center.

Environmental – The plan aims to improve the ecological health and water quality of 
Boulder Creek by expanding and improving adjacent green space, while providing 
opportunities for its enjoyment by the public.  In addition, future pedestrian, bicycle and 
transit improvements will help reduce or minimize vehicular trips and their associated 
greenhouse gas emissions.  The removal of surface parking lots will improve ground 
permeability and reduce the urban heat island effect in the area.  Furthermore, large 
healthy mature trees in the area will be retained as part of the new park.

Social – A key component of the plan is to improve life and property safety by removing 
buildings and parking from the Boulder Creek High Hazard Flood Zone.  In addition, the 
enhancements to the Civic Area outlined in the plan will be planned and designed to be 
inclusive, welcoming and appealing to a diverse population of all ages, incomes, 
ethnicities, abilities and interests.  Numerous local organizations and groups have and 
will continue to partner with the city in creating and realizing the vision for the area.

OTHER IMPACTS

Fiscal –The budgetary impact of the specific improvements referenced in the plan will be 
assessed in the Implementation Phase and reviewed by City Council.  Possible funding 
sources for public improvements have been identified in Part 3 of the plan (Attachment
A).

Staff Time – A temporary (two-year) staff position to manage implementation of the plan 
has been requested in the proposed 2014 budget.  Additional staff time from numerous 

Packet Page     408



departments will be required in varying amounts to implement the plan over the next six 
years and beyond. 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS FEEDBACK
Since council’s July 30 study session, the boards and commissions have not provided new 
feedback.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Since July 30, staff has received additional feedback from the Dairy Center for the Arts, the 
Farmers’ Market and Hugh Moore, Vice President, Tesseract Board of Directors.  These are 
included in the summary of all public input in 2013, available online on the project website 
(www.BoulderCivicArea.com).  

BACKGROUND
The Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area reflects a year-long collaboration of the Boulder community, 
boards and commissions and City Council to create a long term vision for the civic heart of 
Boulder.  The area will be transformed into an even more special, unique and beautiful place that 
reflects the community’s shared values as well as its diversity, providing space and programs for 
people to gather, recreate, eat, learn, deliberate and innovate. 

City Council has provided the overall direction for the plan and reviewed its development 
throughout the process.  At a July 30, 2013 study session, council provided comments on the 
preliminary draft plan.  A summary of the study session is included in this meeting packet, 
separate from this memo, since acceptance of the summary is on council’s agenda for Sept. 3, 
2013.  Prior to that, council gave direction at their June 11 regular meeting. 

FINAL DRAFT PLAN 
Based on council’s discussion in July, the following changes have been made to the draft plan: 

- Broadway has been added to the Access & Mobility page with notes to improve 
intersections and crossings to reduce the barrier effect. 

- Clarifications on the analysis and considerations for a public market hall, moving the 
bandshell, parking quantities, changes over time to flood mapping, the children’s play 
area adjacent to the library, and restoring native riparian vegetation vs. safety concerns. 

In addition, several final elements have been added to complete the draft plan that council 
reviewed in July.  These include: 

- Performance Guidelines for the West End  

- Appendices (available online at www.BoulderCivicArea.com) 
o Plan Process (detailed timeline graphic, public involvement summaries by phases, 

and Project Goals, Objectives and Assumptions) 
o Resource Inventory (maps, building inventory, history of landmarks, flood zone 

information, zoning district information, Greenways Reach Inventory, etc.) 

Packet Page     409



o Ideas Competition summary booklet 
o NAIOP Challenge CU and DU booklets 
o Technical analyses (parking, flood, financial) 

- Additional graphics and photographs 

- Minor editorial corrections and clarifications 

At the Sept. 3 meeting, staff will provide information on the follow up items identified at the 
July 30 study session, including the embodied energy of New Britain and Park Central, recent 
outreach to the Dairy Center for the Arts, and ADA requirements for parking structures. 

NEXT STEPS 
Staff will incorporate any changes that council requests on Sept. 3, and do final plan formatting.  
The completed plan will be available as a PDF online and on file at city offices and the library, 
and will constitute the officially adopted version of the plan.  Additionally, staff will create Web 
and poster versions of the plan.  The poster will serve as a condensed version of the plan, handy 
for sharing and distributing at events, meetings and conferences. 

Staff will begin implementing the plan immediately as outlined in the Implementation and 
Phasing section.

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A:   Draft Plan for Boulder’s Civic Area (appendices are available 
online at www.BoulderCivicArea.com) 

Packet Page     410



PAGE TITLE
CHAPTER TITLE 1

The Plan for
Boulder’s 
Civic Area
Draft
September 2013

Packet Page     411



2

City Council Members 

Matt Appelbaum, Mayor

Lisa Morzel, Mayor Pro Tem

Suzy Ageton

KC Becker

Macon Cowles

Suzanne Jones

George Karakehian

Tim Plass

Ken Wilson

Boards and Commissions 
Arts Commission

Boulder Design Advisory 

Board

Downtown Management 

Commission

Human Relations 

Commission

Landmarks Board

Library Commission

Parks and Recreation 

Advisory Board

Planning Board

Transportation Advisory 

Board

Water Resources Advisory 

Board

West Senior Center Advisory 

Board

Organizations 

Boulder Bridge House

Boulder Center for the 

Performing Arts

Boulder County Farmers' 

Market

Boulder Housing Partners

Boulder Journey School

Boulder Museum of 

Contemporary Art

City Boards and 

Commissions

Coen + Partners

Acknowledgements
Special thanks to the people and organizations below who 
donated their time and ideas throughout the Civic Area 
planning process—and many other individuals.

And thanks for 
over 5,000 ideas 

submitted 
locally and 

internationally!!

Downtown Boulder, Inc.

Dushanbe Tea House

Growing Up Boulder

Homelessness Planning 

Group

Hotel Boulderado

Mustard's Last Stand

PlanBoulder

St. Julien Hotel and Spa

Tesseract Productions

Urban Land Institute

Consultants
Russell + Mills Studios

Fox Tuttle

WWE

Arland Economics

Studio Terra

Crowdbrite

Eco Arts Connections

Ideas Competition Winners
Deborah Yin

Julie Husband

Carl Stewart

Ion Community Solutions

Lawrence Anderson

Ed Shalkey

George Burmeister

Matthew Robenalt

Patricia Kasch

Michael Blea

Wesley Allingham

Tom Magnuson

Ray Kramer

Burkart & Associates

Andrew Knight

Sukirti Ghosh

Charles Benick

Jane Jordan

Carl Worthington

Nancy Blackwood

Paul Trementozzi

Josephy Anatasi

Charlie Hager

Joel Price

Deana Swetilk

Lesli Parchman Olson

Jenny McMinn

Juhee Oh

Mark Bessoudo

Matt Harris

Ideas Competition Jurors
Ed Blakely

Rebecca Colbert

Andrew Earles

Ian Engle

Richard Epstein

Peter Park

Emily Patterson

Arleen Taniwaki

NAIOP Challenge Winners
Andrew Browning

Jason Elliott 

Cody Kirkpatrick

Dan Konecny

Nathan Stern

Andrea Woodhams

City Staff
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities

Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer, Project 

Coordinator

Michael Banuelos, Communication Specialist

Jane Brautigam, City Manager

Jennifer Bray, Communication Specialist

Tina Briggs, Landscape Designer

Katherine Buckley, Comprehensive Planning 

Intern

Joe Castro, Facilities and Fleet Manager

Bill Cowern, Traffic Operation Engineer

Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent

David Driskell, Executive Director, Community 

Planning and Sustainability 

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer

Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, 

Project Coordinator

Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager

Jeff Haley, Parks Planning Manager

Robert Harberg, P.E., CFM, Principal Engineer-

Utilities

Jody Jacobson, Communications Manager

Patrick von Keyserling, Communications 

Director

Kirk Kincannon, Director of Parks and 

Recreation

Lane Landrith, Business Coordinator, Downtown 

and University Hill Management Division & 

Parking Services

Valerie Maginnis, Director of Library and Arts

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner

Melinda Melton, Administrative Specialist

Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director

Annie Noble, Flood and Greenways Engineering 

Coordinator

Karen Rahn, Director of Human Services

Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public 

Works

Greg Ravenwood, Administrative Specialist - 

Arts

Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, Community 

Planning and Sustainability

Michael Sweeney, Transportation Planning and 

Operations Coordinator

Molly Winter, Director of Downtown and 

University Hill Management Division & 

Parking Services

Catherine Williams, Parks Planner

Tracy Winfree, Director of Public Works for 

Transportation

Marie Zuzack, Planner

Packet Page     412



3

Contents
The Vision. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

The Intent. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Guiding Principles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part 1: Overview

The Place  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

The Civic Area's Future  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Access and Mobility. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Park at the Core: Improving It. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Park at the Core: Activating It . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

The East End. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

The West End. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Program Elements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Park Performance Criteria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

East End Performance Criteria. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

West End Performance Criteria. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part 2: The Plan for People & Place

Strategies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Phasing Plan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Civic Area Phasing. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

City Council & Board/Commission Implementation Roles. . . . . . . .

Part 3: Implementation & Phasing

Conceptual illustration of nature 
play space for children along 
Boulder Creek.

Plans and sketches illustrated by Russell + Mills Studios

Note: Some illustrations and images are place 
holders and may change

Packet Page     413



4 Packet Page     414



5PART 1:  OVERVIEW

THE VISION

Part 1: 
Overview
The Vision

Boulder's Civic Area will be a place for everyone—a lively and 

distinct destination that reflects our community's values, where 

people of all ages, abilities, backgrounds and incomes feel 

welcome to recreate, socialize, deliberate, learn and access 

city services.  The green space and beauty along Boulder Creek 

will provide significant open space and parkland and will be the 

unifying design that weaves existing and new facilities with a 

rich diversity of civic, commercial, recreational, artistic, cultural 

and educational amenities and programs. The Civic Area also 

Just imagine... It's 2025 and you are walking through the 
Civic Area. It will be the heart of Boulder with nature at its 
core, flanked by bookends of civic, cultural, and commercial 
buildings that are alive with activity, collaboration, and 
innovation at the east and west. You see a variety of people 
and activities surrounding Boulder Creek, interspersed 
between timeless architecture and a great downtown park. 

will continue to be the 

service center for Boulder 

municipal government and 

a new center for innovation, 

where community members, 

officials, and partners can 

meet, interact, deliberate, 

and innovate.  All together, 

these elements create a true 

civic heart for the Boulder 

community, a place where 

the city's past, present, 

and future are debated, 

celebrated, and realized.   

Packet Page     415



6
PART 1: OVERVIEW

PLAN INTRODUCTION

The Intent
This plan for the Civic Area reflects over 5,000 ideas and a year-

long Boulder collaboration.  Over that period, the community came 

together to define a future for the Civic Area - one that reaffirms 

shared values and provides a path for engagement and addressing 

change over time.  Reflecting back, Boulder began with series of 

questions:   What if... the area could be a transformative place 

for gatherings, recreation, dialogue and innovation?  What if... it 
could showcase sustainability values?  What if... it could have an 

expanded farmers' market and provide space for arts, culture, 

education and other events?    

This plan demonstrates how successfully the community has 

answered these questions and provided ideas for how the Civic 

Area can transform into an even more extraordinary place that 

reflects the community's shared values as well as its diversity.   

The plan maintains beloved places—the Dushanbe Teahouse, the 

Boulder Public Library, the Farmers' Market, Sister Cities plaza, 

and others — and views of the Flatirons and access to Boulder 

Creek.  It also: 

 • identifies future facility needs;

 • makes more space for art, food and culture; and

 • provides a flexible vision that allows a creative and innovative 

city to maintain its sense of place in the heart of the Civic 

Area—while positioning it to be a model of future innovation. 

Most importantly, this plan is for and about 

the people of Boulder, a plan for all who have 

been and will continue to be involved.  

Packet Page     416



7
PART 1: OVERVIEW

PLAN INTRODUCTION

This Plan is a slightly new type of plan in the City of Boulder.  

It illustrates future prospects for the largest publicly-owned 

place in the heart of Boulder's Civic Area, south of downtown 

and flanked by private properties.  Like an area plan, it is 

consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and 

provides direction for a specific geographic area and its land use.  

However, it also defines policies, priorities, facility needs, and 

capital budgeting (as with a Master Plan).  The plan's intent is to:

1. provide flexible guidance, allowing for change over time based 

on further analysis and new information;

2. set forth an illustrative future plan for mostly publically 

owned land and guide decision making, coordination, and 

detailed site design;

3. give direction for the future of adjacent private lands, 

encouraging coordinated planning and proposals that are 

consistent with the intent of this plan; 

4. support continued interdepartmental coordination and 

collaboration to create integrated outcomes; and

5. provide the foundation for  a comprehensive and multi-faceted 

financing strategy, including capital budgeting for facilities 

and multiple types of financing sources—public, private, 

non-profit, grants, and others—to accomplish the expressed 

vision.  Implementation of the plan is dependent on funding— 

available and newly identified sources.

Details of the plan will change, especially 

because of its dependence on funding and 

coordination with multiple parties.  As 

details change, it will not be necessary for 

the city to formally amend the plan, as long 

as the overall outcomes adhere to the vision 

statement, guiding principles, and ideas and 

general direction conveyed in the plan and 

its illustrations.  If changes to the vision, 

principles or general direction are proposed, 

City Council will  amend the plan.  Annually, 

City Council will revisit the work program and 

implementation schedule to determine what 

progress has been made and what remains 

to be done.   Additionally, City Council and 

appropriate city boards and commissions will 

review and give direction or approval on the 

various specific improvements to make the 

plan's vision a reality.  The implementation 
section (Part 3) details the role of council as well as boards and 

commissions in the transformation of the Civic Area.

Packet Page     417



8
PART 1: OVERVIEW

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

The Civic Heart
of Boulder

The Boulder Civic Area has symbolic, geographic, and functional 

importance and should serve as an inclusive place for people to 

interact with each other and with government. The area should 

be complementary to Pearl Street (the commercial heart) 

and downtown.  In the future, the Civic Area will adhere to the 

following principles.

 • City Center: Serve as the primary location for city 

management and government, including functional and 

interactive places for the community to interface and 

conduct city business and be creative;  

 • Diversity: Represent the cultural richness, history, and 

diversity of our community;

 • Art Center: Continue to be one of the major centers for 

art in Boulder;

 • Phasing: Allow for phasing, with flexibility for new ideas 

to be ever-evolving and incorporated over time; 

 • Unified Public Space: Be maintained as the largest 

thematically cohesive, unified public outdoor space in 

Central Boulder; 

 • Design Excellence: Be a model of design excellence with 

compelling architecture and design reflecting forward 

thinking;

 • Destination: Be an enjoyable destination for the 

community and visitors; Be an integrated place that 

blends "natural" and "built" environments;

 • Welcoming and Safe: Be designed to be welcoming, 

accessible, comfortable, clean and safe;

 • Space for All: Foster programming and design of spaces 

and facilities to encourage use and participation by 

all age groups, income levels, and visitors and locals, 

avoiding the predominance of any one group of people; 

 • Linking Areas: Complement and link with surrounding 

neighborhoods and destinations, including downtown, 

Goss-Grove, CU and University Hill, and Boulder High 

School; and

 • Canyon Boulevard as Complete Street: Include a 

new urban design and streetscape character for 

Canyon Boulevard - to make it more of a "boulevard" 

with attractive landscaping that is comfortable for 

pedestrians, bicycles, and accessible by transit.

Guiding Principles
Seven key principles guide the vision for Boulder's Civic Area. 
They were approved by City Council early in the planning 
process to inform development of the plan.  The principles will 
continue to provide direction as the plan is implemented, when 
analyses are prepared, and as detailed planning, design and 
financing decisions are made.

1.

Packet Page     418



9
PART 1: OVERVIEW

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Life & Property
Safety

The Boulder Civic Area is located within the 100-year floodplain, 

and much of the land lies within the High Hazard Zone (HHZ).  

The city will meet or exceed existing flood standards, including 

avoiding placing new structures and parking in the HHZ and 

will be proactive about planning for and educating about floods.  

Specifically, the city will adhere to the following principles. 

 • Flood Regulations: Ensure any proposal meets or exceeds 

all current flood-related codes and regulations, which 

prohibit new development and substantial improvement to 

existing facilities in the HHZ;

 • Parking and Structures Relocation: Proactively develop a 

plan for removal of surface parking and structures that are 

in the HHZ and plan how to relocate facilities and uses after 

a flood;

 • Flood Safety Education: Educate the public and Civic 

Area and building users about safety and risks associated 

with flooding and natural and public values of water (e.g., 

through public art, landscape elements, and interpretive 

signage);

 • Landscape Plans: Create future landscape plans that 

enhance public safety and orientation of visitors to flood 

egress routes, while also enhancing the aesthetic or artistic 

character of the area; and  

 • Critical Facilities: Ensure that any new facilities (e.g., 

emergency services, critical government operations, and 

facilities that house vulnerable populations such as day 

cares and nursing homes) will be in compliance with a 

potential Critical Facilities ordinance, if adopted.

Outdoor Culture 
& Nature

The Boulder Civic Area is a central place to enjoy the outdoors in 

the middle of the city.  The linear "green" along Boulder Creek 

will be a unifying focus, providing natural beauty, ecological 

function and flood safety as well as recreational, art, and cultural 

opportunities.  The city will follow these principles. 

 • Maintain/Expand Green: Maintain or expand the green, 

open space (no net loss), particularly in the High Hazard 

Flood Zone — as a blend of natural, restored creek, urban 

parks and playgrounds, and community gardens;

 • Cohesive Green Space: Create a unifying "linear green" 

theme and cohesive outdoor spaces - uniting the parks 

south of downtown as a significant asset to the city's 

overall park system; 

 • Protect Significant Trees: Protect existing significant 

trees and shrubs (taking into consideration their 

anticipated lifespan) and maintain an ecologically healthy 

creek channel;

 • Public Art: Blend public art into outdoor spaces to attract, 

inspire, educate, and encourage exploration and play;

p
h

o
to

 c
re

d
it

: 
S

h
a

n
e

 C
o

e
n

2.

3.

Packet Page     419



10
PART 1: OVERVIEW

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Celebration
of History
& Assets

The Boulder Civic Area has a historical focus and many long-

standing functions and facilities highly valued by the community, 

such as the library, Sister City Plaza,  Farmers' Market and 

teahouse.  Existing community assets will continue to play a 

vital role in the area.  The following principles will guide the 

community.

 • Farmers' Market: Continue and expand the Farmers' 

Market as a vital component of the area, source of 

community pride and economic benefit, and source for 

local and healthy food.  Partner to expand the Farmers' 

Market extent and function as an outdoor market, and 

possibly expand it as a year-round (or extended season) 

local foods marketplace;   

 • Local Food and Farms: Encourage sharing of information 

about local food and farms and regional relations (e.g., 

Farmers Ditch);

 • Inclusive History: Preserve, reflect and celebrate the 

area's fully inclusive history (e.g., indigenous populations, 

mining, the railroad, Olmsted's linear park and 

landmarked structures);

 • Historic Structures: Preserve historic structures in 

accordance with city policies and regulations; 

 • Integration of History: Integrate history with arts, culture, 

local food, and any new structures or designs; and 

 • Existing Assets: Ensure that existing assets contribute 

positively to the area and are vital and useful (e.g., address 

Bandshell use, access and delivery/noise; increase 

enjoyment of Sister City Plaza).

••

••

••

Outdoor Culture 
& Nature (cont.)

 • Boulder Creek: Allow safe access to Boulder Creek in 

locations that will not damage ecological value; 

 • Views: Provide and maintain views and breathing room;

 • Farmer's Ditch: Improve the park-like quality and linear 

connections along the Farmer's Ditch; 

 • Welcoming Space: Make outdoor spaces feel safe and 

welcoming (e.g., through lighting, seating, strategic 

landscape and design, programs and activity, and 

enforcement); and

 • Recreation: Provide increased opportunities for outdoor 

recreation including  nature exploration and play, fishing, 

kayaking, jogging, yoga, tai chi, etc.

•

•

•

•

••

••

3.

4. 

Packet Page     420



11
GUIDING PRINCIPLES

PART 1: OVERVIEW

The Boulder Civic Area has well-used bicycle and pedestrian 

amenities and convenient transit connections, serving as both an 

important destination and connector.  Travel and access to the 

area will continue to be improved.  The following principles will 

guide the city. 

 • Improvements: Continue to improve the pedestrian and 

bicycle experience and amenities;

 • Wayfinding: Continue to improve connections and 

wayfinding to/from downtown for those on foot or bike or 

using transit;

 • Parking: Explore replacement of surface lots with 

structured parking; Assess the parking needs for 

proposed new uses to address the carrying capacity for all 

modal access and potential for shared parking;

 • Boulder Creek Path: Address conflicts and connectivity 

along the Boulder Creek Path, which is a significant 

transportation route and recreational amenity (in and 

through the area); 

 • Thoroughfares: Reduce the barrier-effect of major 

thoroughfares (e.g., Canyon Boulevard, Arapahoe Avenue 

and Broadway) and improve their aesthetic quality; and

 • 13th Street: Explore feasibility of shared, closed, or events 

street(s) (e.g., 13th Street).

Enhanced Access
& Connections

Place for  
Community
Activity & Arts

The Boulder Civic Area offers potential to expand civic services or 

cultural, arts, science, educational or entertainment amenities 

that are otherwise lacking in the community.  Any new facilities 

will provide a high level of public benefit and will be guided by the 

following principles.

 • Architecture and Design: Increase the area's potential 

for great beauty and attention through artistically 

compelling architecture and site design; 

 • Indoor & Outdoor Space: Elegantly blend indoor and 

outdoor spaces to encourage movement and gathering; 

 • Mixed-Use: Provide a vibrant mix of uses and design to 

encourage activity and inclusiveness throughout daytime 

and evening hours and around the year; and

 • Harmonious with Downtown: Fit the area's overall public 

purpose and be harmonious with (but not a replication 

of) activity on Pearl Street and downtown.  

5. 

6. 

Packet Page     421



12
PART 1: OVERVIEW

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

All future uses and changes in the Boulder Civic Area's public 

properties will exemplify the community's sustainability values 

(i.e., economic, social and environmental) and will be guided by 

the following principles. 

 • Partnerships: Rely on and encourage partnerships in 

which key roles, such as administrative, maintenance 

operations, financial and program services, are 

collaboratively but formally shared between the city and 

other entities;

 • Financial Analysis: Demonstrate consideration of sound 

financial analysis, including likely capital and ongoing 

operations and maintenance costs for public and private 

uses;

 • Community Benefits: Prove community and social benefit, 

increase inclusiveness, and minimize impact to like-uses, 

venues and nearby neighborhoods; 

 • Environmental Considerations: Conserve energy, 

consider the use of renewable energy, minimize waste and 

carbon emissions, conserve water and improve water and 

air quality; and

 • Experiential: Provide educational and experiential 

components.

Sustainable &
Viable Future

••

••••

••••

••

••••

7.

Packet Page     422



13
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

THE PLACE

Part 2: 
A Plan for People & Place

The Boulder Civic Area is envisioned to transform into a place for 

community inclusiveness and activity— a cohesive and expanded 

central "green" park at the core, bookended by vibrant "built" 

mixed-use blocks on the west and east ends.  Boulder Creek 

serves as the defining feature that establishes much of the 

natural beauty amidst the Civic Area's central green and captures 

the beauty of downtown Boulder. Along the creek will be a variety 

of park spaces, play areas, art, mobile food, and programmed 

activities filled with a diversity of people.  To encourage safety 

and night use, the park will be better lit, landscaping will be 

cleared and maintained, and new adjacent day and night uses 

will provide more "eyes on the park."  Buildings and urban plazas 

will complement this expansive outdoor "playground" on the 

east and west "bookends," offering more places for people to 

gather, shop, learn, meet, dine and be entertained.  These uses 

will harmonize with existing and historic structures and places, 

such as the Dushanbe Teahouse, Sister Cities Plaza, Municipal 

Building, Storage and Transfer Building (Boulder Museum of 

Contemporary Art/BMoCA). The whole area will complement 

downtown to meet broad community needs.  

Additionally, removing buildings and parking lots currently in 

the High Hazard Flood Zone (HHZ) will improve safety and create 

additional park land. The vision approximately doubles the area's 

useable pervious surface, promoting  "green" infrastructure to 

help mitigate storm water run-off and urban heat island effects. 

Green infrastructure also adds the benefit of improving the 

quality of place and increasing surrounding property values. In 

turn, the land outside of the HHZ on both ends of the area will be 

redeveloped to add more vitality and excitement to the Civic Area.

The Place
The Civic Area vision embodies thousands of community-driven 
ideas.  It adds green space for recreation, while creating new 
built spaces for essential community functions.  It addresses 
public safety and environmental issues while at the same time 
meeting the community's recreational, cultural, and diversity 
objectives.  

Packet Page     423



14

The East End (from 13th Street to 14th Street between Canyon 

Boulevard and Arapahoe Avenue) will include an expanded 

Farmers' Market and plaza space, the Dushanbe Teahouse, 

the BMoCA building, possibly a public market hall, a mixed-

use community services /innovation center and performing 

arts space, and structured parking to support these functions. 

Additionally, small restaurants, cafes, incubator offices, hotel 

and/or residential units, will be mixed in with city services and 

civic functions, such as event and meeting space.  This will 

ensure activity and interest throughout the day and night, all 

week long, all year round.

The West End (from the library west to 9th Street between 

Canyon and Arapahoe) will include the existing library on both 

sides of the creek—possibly expanded for arts and culture, a 

cafe, a redeveloped senior center, the landmarked Municipal 

Building—possibly repurposed for the arts or a museum—a new 

multi-use building on the St. Julien Civic Use pad, as well as 

structured parking.   Here too is the possibility of mixing private 

and public development to generate 24/7 vitality.

Access and mobility will be improved so people can get to, 

around, within, and through the Civic Area better. Throughout the 

area, there will be enhanced pedestrian and bicycle paths and 

crossings and improved connections to the downtown, transit 

center and adjacent neighborhoods.  Canyon Boulevard will be 

transformed into a "complete street" with more dedicated space 

for bikes and pedestrians and beautified landscaping, while still 

accommodating cars and buses.  The function and aesthetics of 

Broadway, 13th and 14th streets will also be enhanced to make 

them more pedestrian and bike friendly.

Packet Page     424



The Civic Area's Future

CA
N

YO
N

 B
LV

D

AR
AP

AH
OE

 A
VE

BROADWAY 

9TH  ST

14T
H  ST

13TH  ST

PE
AR

L 
ST W

AL
N

UT
 S

T

SP
RU

CE
 S

T

10TH  ST

11TH  ST

15T
H  ST

16T
H  ST

17T
H  ST

Ci
vi

c 
Us

e 
Pa

d
M

un
ic

ip
al

Bu
ild

in
g

Li
br

ar
y

BM
oC

A

Du
sh

an
be

13TH  ST

Du
sh

an
be

BM
oC

A

M
un

ic
ip

al

Bu
ild

in
g

T
h

e
 B

o
u

ld
e

r
 P

u
b

li
c
 

L
ib

r
a

r
y
 i

s
 a

 p
o

p
u

la
r
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 a

s
s
e

t 

th
a

t 
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

te
s
 t

o
 

th
e

 v
it

a
li

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 

a
re

a
. 

 I
t 

is
  
a

n
d

 w
il

l 

c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 b

e
 

a
c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
 a

n
d

 

w
e

lc
o

m
in

g
 a

 

d
iv

e
r
s
e

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

o
f 

a
ll

 a
g

e
s
, 

in
c
o

m
e

s
, 

e
th

n
ic

it
ie

s
 

a
n

d
 i

n
te

re
s
ts

.

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

o
u

td
o

o
r
 a

r
t —

 
s
c
u

lp
tu

re
, 

p
la

z
a

s
 a

n
d

 

g
a

th
e

r
in

g
 s

p
a

c
e

s
—

w
il

l 

c
o

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 
e

x
is

ti
n

g
 a

r
t 

to
 b

r
in

g
 m

o
re

 b
e

a
u

ty
 a

n
d

 

in
te

re
s
t 

to
 t

h
e

 a
re

a
.

B
o

u
ld

e
r
 C

re
e

k
 w

il
l 

re
m

a
in

 a
 u

n
if

y
in

g
 

fo
c
a

l 
fe

a
tu

re
 f

o
r
 C

iv
ic

 P
a

r
k

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 

e
n

ti
re

 a
re

a
. 

 I
t 

w
il

l 
c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 b

e
 a

 

n
a

tu
r
a

l 
c
o

r
r
id

o
r
 w

it
h

 t
re

e
s
 a

n
d

 

c
re

e
k

s
id

e
 v

e
g

e
ta

ti
o

n
, 

in
te

r
s
p

e
r
s
e

d
 

w
it

h
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 p

o
in

ts
 t

o
 t

h
e

 w
a

te
r.

L
if

e
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
e

r
ty

 s
a

fe
ty

 w
il

l 
b

e
 

im
p

ro
v
e

d
 b

y
 r

e
m

o
v
in

g
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
 (

N
e

w
 B

r
it

a
in

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k

 

C
e

n
tr

a
l)

 a
n

d
 s

u
r
fa

c
e

 p
a

r
k

in
g

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 

H
ig

h
 H

a
z
a

rd
 F

lo
o

d
 Z

o
n

e
 (

H
H

Z
).

  
T

h
e

 

u
n

d
e

r
ly

in
g

 l
a

n
d

 w
il

l 
b

e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d

 a
s
 

p
a

r
k

 s
p

a
c
e

.

C
iv

ic
 P

a
r
k

 a
n

d
 C

e
n

tr
a

l 
P

a
r
k

  
a

re
 

d
o

w
n

to
w

n
’s

 m
o

s
t 

e
x
p

a
n

s
iv

e
 p

u
b

li
c
 

o
p

e
n

 s
p

a
c
e

s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

v
id

e
 a

m
p

le
 r

o
o

m
 

to
 g

a
th

e
r
, 

re
c
re

a
te

 a
n

d
 e

n
jo

y
 b

e
in

g
 

o
u

td
o

o
r
s
  
in

 t
h

e
 m

id
d

le
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y.

C
it

y
 s

e
r
v
ic

e
s
 e

m
b

o
d

y
 t

h
e

 

c
iv

ic
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 a

re
a

 a
n

d
 

w
il

l 
c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 b

e
 h

o
u

s
e

d
 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 o

r
 

n
e

a
r
b

y.
  
N

e
w

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 s
p

a
c
e

 a
n

d
 

g
a

th
e

r
in

g
 p

la
c
e

s
 w

il
l 

e
n

g
e

n
d

e
r
 e

v
e

n
 m

o
re

 c
iv

ic
 

in
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t.

 

T
h

e
 t

r
a

d
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 

e
x
u

b
e

r
a

n
c
e

 o
f 

th
e

 

o
u

td
o

o
r
 F

a
r
m

e
r
s

’ 
M

a
r
k

e
t 

a
lo

n
g

 1
3

th
 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 

m
a

in
ta

in
e

d
 a

n
d

 

e
x
p

a
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 k

e
e

p
 

p
a

c
e

 w
it

h
 t

h
e

 

m
a

r
k

e
t’

s
 p

o
p

u
la

r
it

y.
  

It
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

s
u

p
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 b
y
 a

 

n
e

w
 p

u
b

li
c
 m

a
r
k

e
t 

h
a

ll
, 

a
 y

e
a

r
-
ro

u
n

d
 

v
e

n
u

e
 f

o
r
 l

o
c
a

l 
fo

o
d

 

a
n

d
 g

o
o

d
s
.

F
a

r
m

e
r

’s
 D

it
c
h

 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 a

 l
in

e
a

r
 

w
a

te
r
 a

m
e

n
it

y
 t

o
 

w
a

lk
, 

b
ik

e
 a

n
d

 r
e

la
x
 

a
lo

n
g

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

s
 

in
to

 t
h

e
 G

o
s
s
/G

ro
v
e

 

n
e

ig
h

b
o

r
h

o
o

d
. 

 

D
e

s
ig

n
a

te
d

 a
n

d
 e

li
g

ib
le

 

la
n

d
m

a
r
k

s
—

th
e

 

M
u

n
ic

ip
a

l 
B

u
il

d
in

g
, 

th
e

 

C
it

y
 M

o
v
in

g
 a

n
d

 

S
to

r
a

g
e

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 (
n

o
w

 

B
M

o
C

A
),

 t
h

e
 T

e
a

h
o

u
s
e

 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 B
a

n
d

s
h

e
ll

—
 

e
n

r
ic

h
 t

h
e

 a
re

a
 a

n
d

 

re
fl

e
c
t 

it
s
 h

is
to

r
y.

C
a

n
y
o

n
 B

o
u

le
v
a

rd
 

w
il

l 
b

e
 t

r
a

n
s
fo

r
m

e
d

 

in
to

 a
 t

r
u

e
 b

o
u

le
v
a

rd
, 

w
it

h
 e

n
h

a
n

c
e

d
 b

ik
in

g
 

a
n

d
 w

a
lk

in
g

 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ts

 a
n

d
 

m
o

re
 a

tt
r
a

c
ti

v
e

 

la
n

d
s
c
a

p
in

g
. 

  

C
A

N
Y

O
N

 
B

O
U

L
E

V
A

R
D

R
IC

H
 H

IS
T

O
R

Y

F
A

R
M

E
R
’S

D
IT

C
H

F
A

R
M

E
R

S
’

M
A

R
K

E
T

C
IV

IC
 H

E
A

R
T

P
A

R
K

L
IF

E
 S

A
F

E
T

Y
B

O
U

L
D

E
R

 C
R

E
E

K
P

L
A

C
E

 F
O

R
A

R
T

S

B
O

U
L

D
E

R
L

IB
R

A
R

Y

T
h

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
’s

 F
u

tu
re

B
o

u
ld

e
r’

s
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 w

il
l 

b
e

 a
 p

la
ce

 f
o

r 
e

ve
ry

o
n

e
—

a
 l

iv
e

ly
 a

n
d

 d
is

ti
n

c
t 

d
e

s
ti

n
a

ti
o

n
 t

h
a

t 
re

fl
e

c
ts

 o
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y’

s
 v

a
lu

e
s
, 

w
h

e
re

 p
e

o
p

le
 o

f 
a

ll
 a

g
e

s
, 

a
b

il
it

ie
s
, 

b
a

c
k

g
ro

u
n

d
s
 a

n
d

 i
n

co
m

e
s
 f

e
e

l 
w

e
lc

o
m

e
 t

o
 r

e
c
re

a
te

, 
s
o

c
ia

li
ze

, 
d

e
li

b
e

ra
te

, 
le

a
rn

 a
n

d
 a

cc
e

s
s
 c

it
y 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 

 T
h

e
 g

re
e

n
 s

p
a

ce
 a

n
d

 b
e

a
u

ty
 a

lo
n

g
 

B
o

u
ld

e
r 

C
re

e
k

 w
il

l 
p

ro
vi

d
e

 s
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

o
p

e
n

 s
p

a
ce

 a
n

d
 p

a
rk

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 w
il

l 
b

e
 t

h
e

 s
p

in
e

 o
f 

a
 u

n
if

yi
n

g
 d

e
s
ig

n
 t

h
a

t 
w

e
a

ve
s
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 n
e

w
 f

a
c
il

it
ie

s
 w

it
h

 a
 

ri
c
h

 d
iv

e
rs

it
y 

o
f 

c
iv

ic
, 

co
m

m
e

rc
ia

l,
 r

e
c
re

a
ti

o
n

a
l,

 a
rt

is
ti

c
, 

c
u

lt
u

ra
l 

a
n

d
 e

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
a

m
e

n
it

ie
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

g
ra

m
s
. 

T
h

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 a

ls
o

 w
il

l 
co

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 b

e
 t

h
e

 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

e
n

te
r 

fo
r 

B
o

u
ld

e
r 

m
u

n
ic

ip
a

l 
g

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 a
 n

e
w

 c
e

n
te

r 
fo

r 
in

n
o

va
ti

o
n

, 
w

h
e

re
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
, 

o
ff

ic
ia

ls
, 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 c

a
n

 m
e

e
t,

 

in
te

ra
c
t,

 a
n

d
 d

e
li

b
e

ra
te

, 
a

n
d

 i
n

n
o

va
te

. 
 A

ll
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r,

 t
h

e
s
e

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 c
re

a
te

 a
 t

ru
e

 c
iv

ic
 h

e
a

rt
 f

o
r 

th
e

 B
o

u
ld

e
r 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y.
  

 

T
h

e
 p

la
n

 g
ra

p
h

ic
s
 a

n
d

 d
ra

w
in

g
s
 s

h
o

w
n

 h
e

re
 a

re
 

in
te

n
d

e
d

 t
o

 i
ll

u
s
tr

a
te

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

ce
p

ts
 a

n
d

 p
ri

n
c
ip

le
s
 

co
n

ta
in

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

la
n

. 
 T

h
e

y 
a

re
 n

o
t 

m
e

a
n

t 
to

 

p
re

s
c
ri

b
e

 t
h

e
 e

x
a

c
t 

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
, 

ty
p

e
 o

r 
s
iz

e
 o

f 
fu

tu
re

 

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
 o

r 
a

m
e

n
it

ie
s
. 

 T
h

e
 a

c
tu

a
l 

p
h

ys
ic

a
l 

fo
rm

 

o
f 

th
e

 a
re

a
 w

il
l 

e
vo

lv
e

 o
ve

r 
1

0
 o

r 
m

o
re

 y
e

a
rs

 a
n

d
 

w
il

l 
li

k
e

ly
 b

e
 d

if
fe

re
n

t 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e
s
e

 i
ll

u
s
tr

a
ti

o
n

s
.

Packet Page     425



C
A

N
Y

O
N

 B
O

U
L

E
V

A
R

D

C
a

n
yo

n
 B

o
u

le
va

rd
 w

il
l 

b
e

 e
n

h
a

n
c
e

d
 

fr
o

m
 9

th
 t

o
 1

7
th

 S
tr

e
e

t 
to

 b
e

c
o

m
e

 a
 

c
o

m
p

le
te

 s
tr

e
e

t,
 i

n
c
o

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g

 

d
e

d
ic

a
te

d
 b

ik
e

 l
a

n
e

s
, 

s
a

fe
 p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 m
o

re
 s

tr
e

e
t 

tr
e

e
s
 

a
n

d
 l

a
n

d
s
c
a

p
in

g
 w

h
il

e
 s

ti
ll

 

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti

n
g

 c
a

rs
 a

n
d

 b
u

s
e

s
.

C
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 t

o
 e

n
a

b
le

 l
o

c
a

l 
a

n
d

 

re
g

io
n

a
l 

p
u

b
li

c
 t

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 i

n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e

 H
O

P
, 

S
K

IP
, 

B
X

 a
n

d
 A

B
 i

n
 t

h
e

 C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

 t
o

 

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

 a
c
c
e

s
s
ib

il
it

y 
fo

r 

d
o

w
n

to
w

n
 p

a
rk

 u
s
e

rs
.

P
U

B
L

IC
 T

R
A

N
S

IT

B
IC

Y
C

L
E

 /
 P

E
D

E
S

T
R

IA
N

M
a

in
ta

in
 a

n
d

 e
x
p

a
n

d
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
b

ic
yc

le
 

a
n

d
 p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 p
a

th
w

a
ys

 t
o

 

fa
c
il

it
a

te
 b

e
tt

e
r 

c
ir

c
u

la
ti

o
n

 a
s
 w

e
ll

 

a
s
 c

o
n

n
e

c
ti

o
n

s
 t

o
 n

e
a

rb
y 

a
re

a
s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 P

e
a

rl
 S

te
e

t 
M

a
ll

, 

G
o

s
s
/G

ro
ve

, 
C

U
 a

n
d

 U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y 
H

il
l.

1
3

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

1
3

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 k
e

p
t 

a
s
 i

s
 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 o

p
e

n
 t

o
 v

e
h

ic
u

la
r 

tr
a

ff
ic

 

e
x
c
e

p
t 

d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 F
a

rm
e

rs
’ M

a
rk

e
t 

o
r 

c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 t
ra

n
s
fo

rm
e

d
 i

n
to

 a
n

 

u
rb

a
n

 p
la

za
 w

it
h

 b
ik

e
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 a

n
d

 a
 

s
tr

o
n

g
e

r 
c
o

n
n

e
c
ti

o
n

 t
o

 P
e

a
rl

 S
tr

e
e

t 

M
a

ll
.

G
O

S
S

/G
R

O
V

E
 A

C
C

E
S

S

C
re

a
te

 a
n

 e
a

s
t-

w
e

s
t 

b
ik

e
/p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 c
o

rr
id

o
r 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

th
e

 G
o

s
s
/G

ro
ve

 n
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

 

s
ta

rt
in

g
 a

t 
1

4
th

 S
tr

e
e

t 
a

n
d

 

c
o

n
ti

n
u

in
g

 t
o

 1
7

th
 S

tr
e

e
t.

1
4

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 

1
4

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 k
e

p
t 

a
s
 i

s
, 

c
o

n
ve

rt
e

d
 t

o
 t

ra
n

s
it

-o
n

ly
 w

h
il

e
 

m
a

in
ta

in
in

g
 b

ik
e

 a
n

d
 p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 

a
c
c
e

s
s
 o

r 
c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 c
o

n
ve

rt
e

d
 t

o
 a

 

tr
a

n
s
it

 a
n

d
 g

e
n

e
ra

l 
u

s
e

 s
tr

e
e

t.

P
A

R
K

IN
G

O
ve

rt
im

e
, 

th
e

 s
u

rf
a

c
e

 p
a

rk
in

g
 w

il
l 

b
e

 r
e

m
o

ve
d

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 l

if
e

 s
a

fe
ty

 

a
n

d
 t

o
 o

p
e

n
 u

p
 m

o
re

 p
a

rk
la

n
d

; 

h
o

w
e

ve
r,

 t
h

e
s
e

 s
p

a
c
e

s
 w

il
l 

b
e

 

re
p

la
c
e

d
 w

it
h

 C
A

G
ID

 p
a

rk
in

g
 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
s
 o

n
 e

it
h

e
r 

o
r 

b
o

th
 t

h
e

 

w
e

s
t 

a
n

d
 e

a
s
t 

e
n

d
 o

f 
th

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
. 

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

R
e

d
u

c
e

 B
ro

a
d

w
a

y 
a

s
 a

 b
a

rr
ie

r 
b

y 

e
m

p
lo

yi
n

g
  

d
e

s
ig

n
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
 

im
p

ro
ve

 p
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

 s
a

fe
ty

 a
t 

th
e

 

A
ra

p
a

h
o

e
 a

n
d

 C
a

n
yo

n
 i

n
te

rs
e

c
ti

o
n

s
. 

D
e

s
ig

n
 t

re
a

tm
e

n
ts

 s
im

il
a

r 
to

 t
h

e
  

s
p

e
c
ia

l 
b

ri
c
k

 p
a

ve
rs

 u
s
e

d
 a

t 
th

e
 

P
e

a
rl

 S
tr

e
e

t 
M

a
ll

 a
n

d
 B

ro
a

d
w

a
y 

 

c
ro

s
s
in

g
, 

a
s
 a

n
 e

x
a

m
p

le
, 

w
o

u
ld

 h
e

lp
 

to
 r

e
d

u
c
e

 t
h

e
 b

a
rr

ie
r 

p
e

rc
e

p
ti

o
n

 

w
h

il
e

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 s

a
fe

ty
.

A
c

c
e

s
s

 a
n

d
 M

o
b

il
it

y
A

c
c
e

s
s
 a

n
d

 m
o

b
il

it
y 

a
re

 i
m

p
o

rt
a

n
t 

to
 t

h
e

 v
it

a
li

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
. 

P
e

o
p

le
 u

s
in

g
 a

ll
 

tr
a

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 m
o

d
e

s
—

w
h

e
th

e
r 

o
n

 f
o

o
t,

 b
ic

yc
le

, 
b

u
s
 o

r 
c
a

r—
n

e
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 g
e

t 

a
ro

u
n

d
 e

a
s
il

y.
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
ls

o
 n

e
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 c
o

n
n

e
c
t 

to
 s

u
rr

o
u

n
d

in
g

 d
e

s
ti

n
a

ti
o

n
s
 

s
a

fe
ly

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

ve
n

ie
n

tl
y.

 T
h

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 a

n
d

 D
o

w
n

to
w

n
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
h

a
ve

 w
e

ll
-u

s
e

d
 

m
u

lt
i-

m
o

d
a

l 
a

m
e

n
it

ie
s
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
n

e
c
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e

 1
3

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

c
o

n
tr

a
-f

lo
w

 b
ik

e
 

la
n

e
s
, 

lo
c
a

l 
a

n
d

 r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
tr

a
n

s
it

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 T

ra
n

s
it

 C
e

n
te

r,
 b

ik
e

 p
a

rk
in

g
, 

B
o

u
ld

e
r 

C
re

e
k

 P
a

th
, 

P
e

a
rl

 S
tr

e
e

t 
M

a
ll

, 
a

n
d

 a
 p

a
rk

in
g

 d
is

tr
ic

t 
(C

A
G

ID
).

 H
o

w
e

ve
r,

 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
ts

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
th

e
 a

re
a

 c
o

u
ld

 s
ti

ll
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
.

Access and MobilityPacket Page     426



Park at the Core: Improving It

C
E

N
T

R
A

L
 P

A
R

K
M

u
s

ic
 -

 P
e

r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e

s
 -

 M
a

r
k

e
t

  
 

C
e

n
tr

a
l 

P
a

rk
 i

n
c
lu

d
e

s
 t

h
e

 b
a

n
d

s
h

e
ll

, 
g

ra
s
s
y 

s
e

a
ti

n
g

 f
o

r 
th

e
 F

a
rm

e
rs
’ M

a
rk

e
t 

a
n

d
 l

a
rg

e
, 

m
a

tu
re

 t
re

e
s
. 

 B
a

n
d

s
h

e
ll

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

in
g

 w
il

l 

b
e

 i
n

te
n

s
if

ie
d

, 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 F

a
rm

e
rs
’ M

a
rk

e
t 

w
il

l 

e
x
p

a
n

d
 i

n
to

 t
h

e
 p

a
rk

. 
 I

f 
th

e
 b

a
n

d
s
h

e
ll

 i
s
 

re
lo

c
a

te
d

 l
a

te
r,

 i
n

 i
ts

 p
la

c
e

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 a
 n

e
w

 

p
a

rk
 p

a
vi

li
o

n
 o

r 
ye

a
r-

ro
u

n
d

 m
a

rk
e

t 
h

a
ll

.

N
A

T
U

R
E

 I
N

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

N
a

tu
r
e

 -
 P

la
y

 -
 W

a
te

r
  

C
iv

ic
 P

a
rk

 s
o

u
th

 o
f 

th
e

 c
re

e
k

 w
il

l 
b

e
 

a
 s

o
ft

, 
n

a
tu

ra
li

s
ti

c
, 

s
h

a
d

y 
re

fu
g

e
 t

h
a

t 

re
la

te
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 l
ib

ra
ry

 a
n

d
 b

e
 d

e
s
ig

n
e

d
 

w
it

h
 c

h
il

d
re

n
 a

n
d

 f
a

m
il

ie
s
 i

n
 m

in
d

. 
 

F
e

a
tu

re
s
 m

a
y 

in
c
lu

d
e

 p
u

b
li

c
 a

rt
, 

a
 

n
a

tu
re

 p
la

y 
to

t 
lo

t,
 a

 c
h

il
d

re
n
’s

 

re
a

d
in

g
 g

a
rd

e
n

, 
a

 w
a

te
r 

p
la

y 

s
c
u

lp
tu

re
 a

n
d

 m
o

re
 s

e
a

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 

p
ic

n
ic

 

C
IV

IC
 F

R
O

N
T

 D
O

O
R

E
a

t 
- 

R
e

la
x

 -
 G

a
th

e
r
 

 

C
iv

ic
 P

a
rk

 n
o

rt
h

 o
f 

th
e

 c
re

e
k

 w
il

l 

re
m

a
in

 a
n

 o
p

e
n

, 
s
u

n
n

y 
 G

re
a

t 

L
a

w
n

 f
o

r 
g

a
th

e
ri

n
g

 a
n

d
 

u
n

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
d

 s
p

o
rt

, 
b

u
t 

it
 w

il
l 

a
ls

o
 

b
e

 n
e

w
ly

 a
c
ti

va
te

d
 w

it
h

 a
 n

e
w

 

li
b

ra
ry

 c
a

fe
 w

it
h

 o
u

td
o

o
r 

s
e

a
ti

n
g

, 

fo
o

d
 t

ru
c
k

s
 a

n
d

 c
a

rt
s
, 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

s
, 

c
la

s
s
e

s
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

e
ve

n
ts

, 
d

e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
ti

o
n

 g
a

rd
e

n
s
 

a
n

d
 s

c
u

lp
tu

re
 d

is
p

la
ys

.

T
H

E
 C

R
E

E
K

S
p

la
s

h
 -

 C
o

n
te

m
p

la
te

 -
 F

lo
a

t
  

B
o

u
ld

e
r 

C
re

e
k

 w
il

l 
b

e
 

e
n

h
a

n
c
e

d
 b

y 
c
re

a
ti

n
g

 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s
 f

o
r 

a
c
c
e

s
s
, 

d
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 v

ie
w

p
o

in
ts

 a
lo

n
g

 t
h

e
 

s
id

e
, 

m
a

in
ta

in
in

g
 t

h
e

 r
ip

a
ri

a
n

 

p
la

n
ti

n
g

 (
in

 a
 m

a
n

n
e

r 

c
o

m
p

a
ti

b
le

 w
it

h
 s

a
fe

ty
 

c
o

n
c
e

rn
s
),

 a
n

d
 v

a
ry

in
g

 t
h

e
 

s
h

o
re

li
n

e
 t

re
a

tm
e

n
t 

w
it

h
 

ve
g

e
ta

ti
o

n
 i

n
 s

o
m

e
 a

re
a

s
 a

n
d

 

te
rr

a
c
e

d
 r

o
c
k

 s
h

o
re

s
 i

n
 o

th
e

rs
.

b
e

h
a

t 

n
e

d
 

  

J
u

s
t 

im
a

g
in

e
 w

h
a

t 
it

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

c
o

m
e

P
a

r
k

 a
t 

th
e

 C
o

r
e

: 
Im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 I

t
O

ve
r 

h
a

lf
 o

f 
th

e
 2

7
 a

c
re

s
—

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 h
e

a
rt

—
o

f 
th

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 i

s
 C

iv
ic

 a
n

d
 C

e
n

tr
a

l 
p

a
rk

s
 w

it
h

 B
o

u
ld

e
r 

C
re

e
k

 f
lo

w
in

g
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
, 

a
 g

re
e

n
 s

p
in

e
 t

h
a

t 
u

n
if

ie
s
 s

p
a

c
e

s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
s
 n

a
tu

ra
l 

b
e

a
u

ty
, 

e
c
o

lo
g

ic
a

l 
ri

c
h

n
e

s
s
, 

s
h

a
d

e
, 

re
c
re

a
ti

o
n

, 
a

rt
 a

n
d

 p
la

c
e

s
 t

o
 

g
a

th
e

r.
 P

a
rk

 a
m

e
n

it
ie

s
 a

n
d

 a
c
ti

vi
ti

e
s
, 

s
u

c
h

 a
s
 k

io
s
k

s
, 

fo
o

d
 a

n
d

 s
e

a
ti

n
g

, 
li

g
h

ti
n

g
, 

a
n

d
 c

o
h

e
s
iv

e
 s

ig
n

a
g

e
 w

il
l 

b
e

 a
d

d
e

d
 

th
ro

u
g

h
o

u
t 

fo
r 

a
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
lo

o
k

 a
n

d
 f

e
e

l,
 a

n
d

 g
re

e
n

 s
p

a
c
e

 w
il

l 
e

x
p

a
n

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 r
e

lo
c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

a
rk

in
g

 a
n

d
 s

tr
u

c
tu

re
s
 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

 H
ig

h
 H

a
za

rd
 Z

o
n

e
 (

H
H

Z
) 

to
 o

th
e

r 
p

la
c
e

s
. 

 A
d

ja
c
e

n
t 

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
 w

il
l 

c
re

a
te

 “e
ye

s
 o

n
 t

h
e

 p
a

rk
” a

n
d

 m
a

k
e

 t
h

e
 a

re
a

 f
e

e
l 

m
o

re
 i

n
c
lu

s
iv

e
, 

s
a

fe
 a

n
d

 f
a

m
il

y-
fr

ie
n

d
ly

.

Packet Page     427



C
E

N
T

R
A

L
 P

A
R

K
: 

A
 P

L
A

C
E

 F
O

R
 M

U
S

IC
..

. 
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

S
..

. 
T

H
E

 M
A

R
K

E
T

..
.

N
A

T
U

R
E

 I
N

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

: 
A

 P
L

A
C

E
 F

O
R

 E
X

P
L

O
R

IN
G

..
. 

O
B

S
E

R
V

IN
G

..
. 

P
L

A
Y

IN
G

..
.

C
IV

IC
 F

R
O

N
T

 D
O

O
R

: 
A

 P
L

A
C

E
 F

O
R

 E
A

T
IN

G
..

. 
R

E
L

A
X

IN
G

..
. 

V
IE

W
IN

G
 A

R
T

..
.

T
H

E
 C

R
E

E
K

: 
A

 P
L

A
C

E
 F

O
R

 S
P

L
A

S
H

IN
G

..
. 

F
L

O
A

T
IN

G
..

. 
W

IL
D

L
IF

E
..

.

J
u

s
t 

im
a

g
in

e
 w

h
a

t 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
il

l 
b

e
 d

o
in

g

P
a

r
k

 a
t 

th
e

 C
o

r
e

: 
A

c
ti

va
ti

n
g

 I
t

T
h

e
 C

iv
ic

 A
re

a
 i

s
 b

u
s
tl

in
g

 w
it

h
 a

c
ti

vi
ty

 a
s
 y

o
u

 g
o

 f
o

r 
a

 b
ik

e
 r

id
e

 a
lo

n
g

 t
h

e
 c

re
e

k
 p

a
th

. 
C

h
il

d
re

n
 a

re
 s

p
la

s
h

in
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

w
a

te
r 

a
n

d
 c

li
m

b
in

g
 o

n
 r

o
c
k

s
 a

s
 p

a
re

n
ts

 r
e

la
x
 a

n
d

 w
a

tc
h

 n
e

a
rb

y.
 C

yc
li

n
g

 o
n

, 
yo

u
 s

e
e

 a
 b

a
ll

e
t 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 w
it

h
 a

 

c
a

p
ti

va
te

d
 a

u
d

ie
n

c
e

 s
p

ra
w

le
d

 a
c
ro

s
s
 a

 g
ra

s
s
y 

s
lo

p
e

. 
Y

o
u

 s
e

e
 a

 s
m

a
ll

 y
o

g
a

 c
la

s
s
 i

n
 a

n
 i

n
ti

m
a

te
 s

p
a

c
e

 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 a
 n

e
w

 

p
o

s
e

 a
n

d
 a

 s
m

a
ll

 g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

p
e

o
p

le
 n

e
s
tl

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 v

e
g

e
ta

ti
o

n
 b

y 
th

e
 c

re
e

k
 s

im
p

ly
 e

n
jo

yi
n

g
 t

h
e

 n
a

tu
re

. 
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
re

 

s
it

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 l
a

u
g

h
in

g
 i

n
 a

 c
a

fé
 a

n
d

 s
o

a
k

in
g

 u
p

 t
h

e
 s

u
n

. 

Park at the Core: Activating ItPacket Page     428



The East End

T
h

e
 E

a
s

t 
E

n
d

: 
A

 p
la

ce
 t

o
 d

e
li

b
e

ra
te

, 
e

n
jo

y 
a

rt
, 

g
a

th
e

r,
 e

a
t,

 s
h

o
p

, 
a

n
d

 i
n

n
o

va
te

P
ic

tu
re

 T
h

is
! 

  
It

 i
s
 2

0
2

5
, 

a
n

d
 y

o
u

 a
re

 s
it

ti
n

g
 o

n
 a

 r
o

o
ft

o
p

 p
a

ti
o

, 
s
ip

p
in

g
 a

 c
o

o
l 

d
ri

n
k

, 
o

ve
rl

o
o

k
in

g
 a

 p
la

za
 a

b
u

zz
 w

it
h

 F
a

rm
e

rs
’ M

a
rk

e
t.

  
P

e
o

p
le

 a
re

 s
p

il
li

n
g

 i
n

 a
n

d
 o

u
t 

o
f 

th
e

 m
a

rk
e

t 
h

a
ll

 w
it

h
 t

h
e

ir
 l

o
c
a

l 
fo

o
d

 

p
u

rc
h

a
s
e

s
. 

 A
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

e
rs

o
n

 w
a

lk
s
 b

y,
 h

a
vi

n
g

 j
u

s
t 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 h
e

r 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
 a

t 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 c
e

n
te

r;
 s

h
e
’s

 o
n

 h
e

r 
w

a
y 

to
 t

h
e

 t
ra

n
s
it

 c
e

n
te

r.
  

A
 l

o
c
a

l 
e

n
tr

e
p

re
n

e
u

r 
ri

d
e

s
 a

w
a

y 
fr

o
m

 a
 d

is
c
u

s
s
io

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

a
 n

e
w

 

p
ro

g
ra

m
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 b

ic
yc

le
 p

a
rk

in
g

 f
a

c
il

it
y 

w
h

il
e

 p
e

o
p

le
 a

rr
iv

e
 f

o
r 

a
 m

u
s
ic

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 i
n

 t
h

e
 e

ve
n

ts
 c

e
n

te
r 

th
a

t 
w

il
l 

b
ri

n
g

 i
n

 p
e

o
p

le
 f

ro
m

 a
ro

u
n

d
 B

o
u

ld
e

r.
 O

u
ts

id
e

, 
th

e
 B

o
u

ld
e

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
C

in
e

m
a

 b
ri

n
g

s
 i

n
 

fa
m

il
ie

s
 w

it
h

 p
ic

n
ic

 b
la

n
k

e
ts

 t
o

 e
n

jo
y 

a
 m

o
vi

e
. 

 E
a

rl
ie

r 
th

a
t 

d
a

y,
 a

 g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

vo
lu

n
te

e
rs

 c
le

a
n

e
d

 u
p

 t
h

e
 c

re
e

k
, 

s
p

o
n

s
o

re
d

 b
y 

th
e

 b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
th

a
t 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 a
 l

u
n

c
h

ti
m

e
 m

e
a

l 
in

 e
xc

h
a

n
g

e
 f

o
r 

w
o

rk
. 

In
 t

h
e

 e
ve

n
in

g
, 

fi
ve

 a
n

d
 s

ix
 y

e
a

r 
o

ld
s
 a

re
 p

la
yi

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

la
za

 f
o

u
n

ta
in

, 
th

e
ir

 p
a

re
n

ts
 w

a
tc

h
in

g
 o

ve
r 

a
re

 e
n

jo
yi

n
g

 w
in

e
 a

n
d

 c
h

e
e

s
e

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 f
o

o
d

 m
a

rk
e

t 
h

a
ll

, 
w

h
il

e
 b

o
o

s
 a

n
d

 c
h

e
e

rs
 a

re
 u

tt
e

re
d

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

  

p
a

c
k

e
d

 a
u

d
ie

n
ce

 u
p

s
ta

ir
s
 i

n
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il

 C
h

a
m

b
e

rs
 w

h
e

re
 a

 b
a

ll
o

t 
m

e
a

s
u

re
 i

s
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
b

a
te

d
 b

y 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

c
il

.

CA
NYO

N BL
VD

AR
AP

AH
OE

 AV
E

13TH ST

14TH ST

13TH ST

14TH ST

CA
NYO

N BL
VD

AR
AP

AH
OE

 AV
E

P
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
b

e
lo

w

 g
ra

d
e

 p
a

r
k

in
g

P
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
b

e
lo

w

 g
ra

d
e

 p
a

r
k

in
g

D
u

s
h

a
n

b
e

T
e

a
h

o
u

s
e

B
M

o
C

A
A

r
a

p
a

h
o

e

A
v

e
.

B
o

u
ld

e
r

C
re

e
k

E
x

is
ti

n
g

 B
u

il
d

in
g

B
:  

 M
IX

ED
-U

SE
 (F

O
O

D
, E

VE
N

TS
, A

N
D

 S
ER

VI
CE

)
In

c
lu

d
e

s
 a

 s
m

a
ll

e
r 

e
ve

n
ts

 c
e

n
te

r 
(u

p
 t

o
 5

0
0

 s
e

a
ts

)/
fl

e
x
ib

le
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 

s
p

a
ce

 a
n

d
 a

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

e
n

te
r.

  
T

h
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

e
n

te
r 

w
o

u
ld

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 p
u

b
li

c
 a

n
d

 

p
ri

va
te

 o
ff

ic
e

s
 a

n
d

 c
it

y 
h

a
ll

 f
u

n
c
ti

o
n

s
 (

u
p

 t
o

 1
1

0
,0

0
0

 s
f)

, 
a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

 s
p

a
ce

. 
 T

h
is

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 a
b

o
ve

 t
h

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

h
a

ll
 t

h
a

t 
in

c
lu

d
e

s
 l

o
c
a

l 
fo

o
d

 

a
n

d
 c

a
fe

s
, 

e
tc

. 
 

A
:  

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
 (F

O
O

D
 A

N
D

 C
U

LT
U

R
E)

In
c
lu

d
e

s
 a

 m
id

-s
iz

e
d

 (
u

p
 t

o
 1

,2
0

0
 s

e
a

ts
) 

p
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 a

rt
s
 c

e
n

te
r,

 s
o

m
e

 p
ri

va
te

 

o
ff

ic
e

s
 (

u
p

 t
o

 1
0

0
,0

0
0

 s
f)

, 
a

n
d

 s
m

a
ll

 u
n

it
 r

e
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l 
o

r 
h

o
te

l 
(u

p
 t

o
 2

0
0

 k
e

ys
).

  

A
 m

a
rk

e
t 

h
a

ll
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 l

o
c
a

te
d

 i
n

 C
e

n
tr

a
l 

P
a

rk
.

T
h

e
 b

lo
c
k

 w
il

l 
in

c
lu

d
e

 t
h

e
 o

u
td

o
o

r 
F

a
rm

e
rs

’ M
a

rk
e

t 
(e

x
p

a
n

d
e

d
),

 T
e

a
h

o
u

s
e

, 

s
to

ra
g

e
 a

n
d

 t
ra

n
s
it

 b
u

il
d

in
g

 (
B

M
o

C
A

),
 o

u
td

o
o

r 
s
p

a
ce

 a
n

d
 p

a
rk

s
, 

a
n

d
 s

tr
u

c
tu

re
d

 

p
a

rk
in

g
. 

T
h

e
 A

tr
iu

m
 B

u
il

d
in

g
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 r

e
p

u
rp

o
s
e

d
 o

r 
re

d
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
. 

 W
it

h
 f

u
th

e
r 

a
n

a
ly

s
is

, 
a

n
y 

o
f 

th
e

 a
b

o
ve

 p
o

s
s
ib

le
 p

ro
g

ra
m

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 c
o

u
ld

 a
ls

o
 o

cc
u

r 
h

e
re

, 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 t
h

e
y 

m
e

e
t 

th
e

 d
e

s
ig

n
 g

u
id

e
li

n
e

s
 a

n
d

 c
ri

te
ri

a
. 

S
o

m
e

 p
o

s
s
ib

le
 o

p
ti

o
n

s
 

m
a

y 
in

c
lu

d
e

: 
 

Fo
r 

C
on

ti
nu

ed
 C

on
si

de
ra

ti
on

..
.

M
a

rk
e

t 
H

a
ll

 (
1

0
,0

0
0

-1
5

,0
0

0
 s

q
ft

)

S
e

rv
ic

e
/I

n
n

o
va

ti
o

n
 C

e
n

te
r

E
ve

n
ts

P
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 A

rt
s

M
u

s
e

u
m

N
ig

h
t 

ti
m

e
 u

s
e

s

P
os

si
bl

e 
P

ro
gr

am
 E

le
m

en
ts

*T
h

e
 E

a
s
t 

E
n

d
 i

n
c
lu

d
e

s
 f

iv
e

 p
ri

va
te

 p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s
. 

A
s
 t

h
e

 p
la

n
 i

s
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

, 
th

e
 C

it
y 

w
il

l 
co

o
rd

in
a

te
 

  
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 o

w
n

e
rs

 o
n

 d
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
.

C
a

n
y

o
n

 B
o

u
l

e
v

a
r

d

Packet Page     429



The West End

T
h

e
 W

e
s

t 
E

n
d

: 
A

 p
la

ce
 t

o
 l

e
a

rn
, 

p
la

y,
 c

re
a

te
, 

a
n

d
 r

e
la

x
P

ic
tu

re
 T

h
is

! 
  
T

h
e

 y
e

a
r 

is
 2

0
2

5
, 

a
n

d
 y

o
u

 a
re

 v
is

it
in

g
 B

o
u

ld
e

r’s
 m

a
in

 l
ib

ra
ry

 t
o

 d
o

 r
e

s
e

a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 c
h

e
c
k

 o
u

t 
e

-b
o

o
k

s
 f

o
r 

yo
u

r 
u

p
co

m
in

g
 i

n
te

rn
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
tr

ip
. 

 Y
o

u
 p

e
ru

s
e

 t
h

e
 c

o
ll

e
c
ti

o
n

, 
e

n
jo

yi
n

g
 a

 c
o

ff
e

e
 

a
t 

th
e

 l
ib

ra
ry

 c
a

fe
, 

a
n

d
 s

tr
o

ll
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 p
a

rk
 t

o
 t

h
e

 f
o

rm
e

r 
M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 t
o

 m
e

e
t 

yo
u

r 
fr

ie
n

d
 a

n
d

 h
e

r 
c
h

il
d

 t
o

 c
re

a
te

 a
 n

e
w

 p
a

in
ti

n
g

. 
 A

ft
e

rw
a

rd
, 

yo
u
’ll

 v
is

it
 t

h
e

 c
re

e
k

s
id

e
 p

la
y 

a
re

a
 n

e
a

r 
th

e
 

li
b

ra
ry

 t
o

 w
a

tc
h

 t
h

e
 c

h
il

d
re

n
 c

li
m

b
 t

h
e

 r
o

c
k

s
, 

s
p

la
s
h

 i
n

 t
h

e
 w

a
te

r,
 a

n
d

 f
e

e
d

 t
h

e
 d

u
c
k

s
 a

n
d

 t
o

 w
a

tc
h

 p
e

o
p

le
 s

tr
o

ll
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e

 p
a

rk
 p

ro
m

e
n

a
d

e
. 

  

P
o

s
s

ib
le

 P
ro

g
r
a

m
 E

le
m

e
n

ts

B
:  

 A
R

TS
 A

N
D

 C
U

LT
U

R
E 

FO
CU

S
In

c
lu

d
e

s
 r

e
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 n
o

rt
h

 l
ib

ra
ry

 s
it

e
 t

o
 a

cc
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

 a
 s

m
a

ll
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
in

g
 a

rt
s
 f

a
c
il

it
y 

a
n

d
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 s

p
a

ce
, 

a
n

d
 r

e
p

u
rp

o
s
e

d
 M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 a
s
 a

 h
a

n
d

s
-o

n
 a

rt
s
 c

e
n

te
r 

o
r 

m
u

s
e

u
m

. 
 T

h
e

 S
e

n
io

r 
C

e
n

te
r 

is
 

re
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 a
s
 a

 m
u

lt
i-

p
u

rp
o

s
e

 f
a

c
il

it
y,

 p
o

s
s
ib

ly
 i

n
c
lu

d
in

g
 s

o
m

e
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
. 

A
:  

CI
TY

 S
ER

VI
CE

S 
A

N
D

 L
IB

R
A

R
Y

In
c
lu

d
e

s
 n

o
rt

h
 l

ib
ra

ry
 m

u
c
h

 a
s
 i

t 
is

 t
o

d
a

y 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 

co
n

ti
n

u
in

g
 t

o
 o

p
e

ra
te

 a
s
 c

it
y 

h
a

ll
. 

 T
h

e
 S

e
n

io
r 

C
e

n
te

r 
s
it

e
 m

a
y 

re
d

e
ve

lo
p

 

a
s
 m

u
n

ic
ip

a
l 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 (

w
it

h
 S

e
n

io
r 

C
e

n
te

r 
re

lo
c
a

ti
n

g
 e

ls
e

w
h

e
re

, 
p

o
s
s
ib

ly
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 d

o
w

n
to

w
n

) 
o

r 
re

d
e

ve
lo

p
 o

n
s
it

e
 a

s
 a

 m
u

lt
i-

p
u

rp
o

s
e

 s
e

n
io

r 

T
h

e
 W

e
s
t 

E
n

d
 w

il
l 

in
c
lu

d
e

 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 s

o
u

th
 w

in
g

 o
f 

th
e

 l
ib

ra
ry

 a
s
 i

t 
is

 

to
d

a
y,

 t
h

e
 M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l 

B
u

il
d

in
g

, 
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 p

a
rk

in
g

, 
a

n
d

 o
u

td
o

o
r 

s
p

a
ce

 a
n

d
 

p
a

rk
s
. 

W
it

h
 f

u
rt

h
e

r 
a

n
a

ly
s
is

, 
a

n
y 

o
f 

th
e

 a
b

o
ve

 p
o

s
s
ib

le
 p

ro
g

ra
m

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 

co
u

ld
 a

ls
o

 o
cc

u
r 

h
e

re
, 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 t
h

e
y 

m
e

e
t 

th
e

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 c
ri

te
ri

a
. 

S
o

m
e

 

p
o

s
s
ib

le
 o

p
ti

o
n

s
 m

a
y 

in
c
lu

d
e

: 

Fo
r 

C
on

ti
nu

ed
 C

on
si

de
ra

ti
on

..
.

M
u

lt
i-

P
u

rp
o

s
e

 S
e

n
io

r 

C
e

n
te

r 
(r

e
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

)

C
a

fe

C
iv

ic
 U

s
e

 P
a

d

N
ig

h
t 

T
im

e
 U

s
e

s

P
os

si
bl

e 
P

ro
gr

am
 E

le
m

en
ts

CA
NY

ON
 BL

VD

9TH ST

CA
NY

ON
 BL

VD

AR
AP

AH
OE

 AV
E

P
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
b

e
lo

w
 g

ra
d

e
 p

a
r
k

in
g

A
ra

p
a

h
o

e

A
v

e
.

B
o

u
ld

e
r

C
re

e
k

C
a

n
y

o
n

 
B

o
u

l
e

v
a

r
d

R
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 

S
e

n
io

r
 C

e
n

te
r

S
it

e

L
ib

r
a

r
y

 N
o

r
th

C
iv

ic
 U

s
e

 P
a

d

P
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
b

e
lo

w
 g

ra
d

e
 p

a
r
k

in
g

Packet Page     430



21
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

Program Elements

Park at the CoreThe Idea: The green space and beauty along Boulder Creek will 

provide significant natural and programmed park spaces and 

will be a "ribbon" that weaves together existing and new parks 

facilities.  The park will be active and safe, with a rich diversity of 

civic, recreational, artistic and cultural amenities and programs. 

The four major focus areas are:

1. The Creek

2. The Civic Front Door

3. Nature in the City

4. Central Park

The Creek: Boulder Creek will continue to be a focal point 

and unifying element running through the park. The creek will 

be enhanced by creating opportunities for access, designing 

viewpoints along the side, maintaining the riparian planting (in 

a manner compatible with safety concerns), and varying the 

shoreline treatment with vegetation in some areas and terraced 

rock shores in others.

The Civic Front Door: Civic Park north of the creek will remain an 

open, sunny  Great Lawn for gathering and unstructured sport, 

but it will also be newly activated with outdoor dining, musical 

and dance performances, yoga and exercise classes, and other 

events, such as "Picnic in the Park."  Seating for a new library 

cafe will spill out onto adjacent terraces.  Food trucks and carts 

will add culinary diversity, while folks enjoy live music and 

games, like ping-pong and chess, and browse demonstration 

gardens and sculpture displays.

Many different possible elements may enliven the Civic Area 
and attract people and activity. The elements listed below 
represent potential ways to develop the area.

Example of reinstated library cafe.

Packet Page     431



22
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

The Idea:  To protect life and property from Boulder Creek flood 

hazards, remove/relocate the New Britain and Park Central 

buildings, as well as parking lots, from the High Hazard Flood 

Zone.  In their place will be expanded park space with amenities 

and activities.

Park at the Core 
(Cont.)

Nature in the City: Civic Park south of the creek will be a 

naturalistic, shady refuge that relates to the library, and 

Boulder Creek will be designed with children and families in 

mind.  Improvements will be coordinated with the planned 

renovation and reconfiguration of the library's interior space 

and function, aimed at better integrating the interior physically 

and programmatically with nearby outdoor space.  Features 

may include public art enhancing the physical and visual link 

between outdoor and indoor spaces, a nature play tot lot, a 

children's reading garden, a water play sculpture, intimate picnic 

and seating areas among shade trees and along the creek, and 

themed gardens, such as edible, shade or xeric/low water.

Central Park: Central Park currently accommodates the historic 

bandshell and several majestic State Champion trees, and also 

provides grassy seating for the Farmers' Market.  Bandshell 

programming will be intensified, with, for example, summer 

youth drama camp, open mic night and puppet theater. The 

Farmers' Market will expand into the park, with additional vendor 

and/or performer space and new paving and picnic tables.  The 

bandshell may be relocated later to improve its functionality 

and accommodate enhancements along Canyon Boulevard. In 

its place could be a new park pavilion, such as a horticultural 

conservatory, or year-round market hall.

Illustrative example for water 
feature at Central Park

Life & Property
Safety

Packet Page     432



23
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

Life & Property
Safety (Cont.)

Although flood risk will remain and may increase due to climate 

change and hydrologic and hydraulic changes, the city will 

continue to monitor and manage the risks associated with 

providing active outdoor spaces along a relatively natural creek 

channel. Any new  buildings or significantly altered existing 

buildings in the 100-year flood plain must be flood-proofed 

according to city regulations.

Farmers' MarketThe Idea:  The Farmers' Market will continue to operate on 13th 

Street and expand to the west and into the plaza, improve access 

and function, and possibly extend days or hours of operation. 

In 2012, the Farmers' Market celebrated 25 years of operation, 

and it is one of the most notable draws in the Civic Area.  It 

operates on 13th Street on Wednesday afternoons and Saturday 

mornings from April to October. The locally grown fresh produce 

fits Boulder's values for healthy living, eating fresh, and 

supporting local businesses and farmers. 

The city has invested in improvements along 13th Street to 

provide better space for the market stalls.  The Farmers' Market, 

working with the city, is exploring how to better provide drop-off/

pick-up access for customers, easier access for vendors, and 

closer and more accessible parking. Also with the city, it will 

explore how a year-round "public market hall" could complement 

its mission to provide a marketplace for local and Colorado 

agriculture producers.     

Illustrative example of 13th Street 
Plaza  with Farmers' Market and 
market hall

Packet Page     433



24
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

Market; considerations will include synergy with the Farmers' 

Market function; cost; prospective tenant interest, projected 

market demand and impact; usability on non-market days; 

suitability of adjunct uses; synergy with adjacent uses; and 

access and parking.   

Bandshell The Idea:  Explore feasibility of relocating the bandshell within 

the Civic Area or to a location that allows increased usefulness as 

an outdoor theater.  In the near term, maintain the bandshell and 

increase its programming for performances.    

The Glen Huntington Bandshell, built in 1938, is a local historic 

landmark and protected under the city's Historic Preservation 

Ordinance.  It is architecturally significant as an example of Art 

Deco architecture in Boulder and has been a visual landmark 

for over 75 years. Today, it faces challenges, including limited 

programming, worn appearance, uncomfortable seating, frequent 

transient occupation, and traffic noise and access challenges for 

performances. The context also has changed significantly from 

the 1930s.  The north end of the bandshell is within the Canyon 

Boulevard future right-of-way, which could pose a problem for 

creating a "complete street."

Public input has been mixed about whether the bandshell 

should remain in Central Park and see increased performance 

programming, rehabilitation, and improved function, or be 

relocated. The city generally discourages relocation of historic 

resources and Landmarks Board approval would be required for 

Public Market Hall The Idea:  The public market hall, or food hall, may supplement 

(not replace) the outdoor seasonal market on 13th Street, subject 

to further coordination with the Farmers' Market and analysis.  

It could be a new vertically mixed-use structure or repurposed 

Atrium building.

A public market hall would provide a year-

round venue for local food and other locally 

produced goods and provide additional space 

for the Farmers' Market to expand during 

the peak season.  A new building could be 

in the 13th/14th Street block or expanded 

into Central Park.  On 13th Street, it would 

ideally be mixed vertically with other uses.  

Additionally, the building could be designed 

for specific market needs.  If the market hall 

were to be located in the Atrium building, city 

offices would have to be relocated, and the 

functionality of the market would be limited 

by the building configuration and size.  The 

market hall concept will be further analyzed 

by the city in partnership with the Farmers' 
Reading Terminal Market, 

Philadelphia

p
h

o
to

 c
re

d
it

: 
w

w
w

.j
a

u
n

te
d

.c
o

m

Packet Page     434



25
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

Arts, Culture & 
Science

The Idea: Continue to explore a blend of indoor and outdoor 

facilities and spaces as an integral and important component of 

new programs for the Civic Area, including: 

 • Programming parks for permanent and temporary 

art installations or as outdoor cultural, arts, and 

science displays;

 • Ideas to incorporate an appropriate public amenity 

such as art and cultural related multi-use event 

space into a potential building at the Civic Use Pad.

 • Housing the Boulder Museum of Contemporary 

Art (BMoCA) in a new facility such as the Municipal 

Building, or in an expanded facility at its existing 

location. 

 • Possible repurposing of the Municipal Building (if 

city facilities are consolidated in new building(s)) for 

art, cultural related uses; and 

 • New facilities as an addition to (or as a 

redevelopment of) the north wing of the library.

Energy Garden - Outdoor science, Miami 
Science MuseuemThe community wants new arts, culture, and science in the Civic 

Area and has expressed interest for community events venue for 

meetings, banquets, reception dinners, charitable events, etc.  

BMoCA is exploring expansion of its facility, either at its current 

relocation.  Additional analysis is needed on the feasibility, cost 

and implications of moving the bandshell.

   

Bandshell (Cont.)

Concept illustration of pogrammed bandshell

p
h

o
to

 c
re

d
it

: 
w

w
w

.m
ia

m
is

c
i.

o
rg

Packet Page     435



26
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

To optimize day/night uses, any new building 

should be part of a mix of uses, including possibly 

a vertical mix with the public market hall, other 

small restaurants or cafes, community event space, 

and plazas and outdoor spaces.  More than 25,000 

customers are served each year in seven city 

buildings in the Civic Area (excluding the Main Library 

and Senior Center), and multiple events and meetings 

occur.  A center with private incubator space could 

accommodate multiple community needs. 

Mixed-Use
Community Services /

Innovation and
Events Center

The Idea: Create a mixed-use community services/innovation and 

events center (one or several buildings on the 13th/14th Street 

block) as a space for public, private collaboration, gathering, 

and celebration through events.  Buildings will integrate well 

with outdoor plazas, theatre, etc. and exemplify the community's 

sustainability values.  The building may accommodate 

replacement of city functions removed from the HHZ or any 

repurposed buildings (possibly the Municipal Building and/or  

Atrium), other city functions, and/or other community needs. 

T

ss

aa

ss

aa

c

b

aa

o

a

Performing 
Arts Center

The Idea:  Continue to explore feasibility of a performing arts 

center—either as an addition to or redevelopment of the north 

wing of the Main Library or on 13th Street as part of a mixed-use 

complex.  A facility may generate excitement and should reflect 

emerging trends in arts facility programming and usage.  The 

demand for and capital and operation costs of a facility requires 

further study, as does its projected impact on the downtown and 

other venues in and near Boulder.  Any facility would need to 

meet the Guiding Principles and performance criteria in this plan.   

A nonprofit group, The Boulder Center for the 

Performing Arts, is conducting a feasibility study for 

a performing arts center.  The group has expressed 

preference for a mid-sized performing arts center 

(800-1,200 fixed seats) that would be built through a 

private/public partnership on city-owned land.  Various 

community groups and the Arts Commission have 

questioned demand for a larger facility but have noted 

possible needs for a smaller performance venue 

(approx 500 seats).  Furthermore, a flexible venue, 

rather than fixed seat auditorium, is of interest to 

A

P

a

p

(

p

c

q

p

(

r

location on 13th Street or moving to a new facility within the 

Civic Area.  Additionally, outdoor arts and science are ideas that 

resonate with the community.

Arts, Culture & 
Science (Cont.)

many in Boulder as it could provide space for large meetings 

and events as well as performances.  Regardless, any facility 

must ensure active use throughout the week to avoid creating an 

inactive zone downtown when it is not in use.    

Vertical mix of uses, San Francisco 
Ferry Building

Place for performances, meetings, 
etc. (NAIOP)

p
h

o
to

 c
re

d
it

:

 w
w

w
.p

e
rk

in
s
w

il
l.

co
m

Packet Page     436



27
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PROGRAM ELEMENTS

West Senior 
Center

The Idea: Continue to explore creation of a 21st Century Senior 

Center consistent with best practices and modes providing a 

wider range of services for older adults to recreate, socialize, 

and learn.  Explore co-location of the center with other 

services, activities, and amenities—either in its current location 

(redeveloping existing center) or elsewhere, possible includuing 

downtown, close to other human services 

The West Senior Center is west of the library and 

south of Boulder Creek  (built in 1974). The is 16,200 

square foot facility serves 56,400 customers a year, 

including Meals on Wheels, and the city offers many 

other senior programs here.  The Human Services 

Division soon will do a plan to explore the senior 

center's future, consistent with 21st Century best 

practices and models.  Often, newer centers are 

co-located with other services (such as children, 

youth, and family) to be convenient for customers and 

providers.  Additionally, they provide both dedicated 

space for senior adults and flexible, intergenerational 

community space such as classrooms.  They are 

also often paired with offices, arts and culture, and 

recreation facilities.   

Structured
Parking

The Idea: Relocate most surface parking in the Civic Area to 

wrapped structured parking on the west and east ends.  Some 

handicapped spaces and spaces for seniors may remain 

near building entrances;  however, most parking would be 

in structures designed to be convenient and attractive, and 

to include a mix of uses around the outside, similar to other 

downtown parking structures. 

To create a strong pedestrian environment for the Civic Area, 

"just enough" parking spaces will be provided for those who 

chose to arrive by car.  Parking demand is expected to increase 

with the new, additional uses and amenities, increased events 

and programming, and higher park visitorship envisioned by this 

plan.  However, that demand will be minimized to the greatest 

extent possible by providing facilities, services and a physical 

environment that support and encourage walking, biking and 

transit use, and by ensuring that parking spaces are shared by 

uses with different peak periods.  The appropriate number of 

parking spaces and their location will be determined through 

further analysis and discussion, and will take into account: 

current and projected parking supply and demand for specific 

uses and activities at different days, times and seasons, within 

and adjacent to the Civic Area; potential for coordinating uses and 

sharing spaces; pedestrian bicycle and transit enhancements; 

floodplain issues; site configurations; surrounding street network 

and access; and other factors.

Example for redeveloped 
senior center

Packet Page     437



28
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PARK PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Park Performance Criteria
Public parks are central to the vision for the Civic Area. These 
criteria establish program and design standards for parks 
within the area. 

Plazas and Gathering Places

Generally, large open spaces should be spatially defined into 

smaller, more easily identifiable and relatable areas. People 
commonly gather at articulated 

edges in or around a plaza. A 

distinct sense of place can be 

achieved by defining edges and 

establishing a sense of enclosure 

through the use of canopies, trees, 

shrub plantings, arcades, and 

trellises, which must be balanced 

with visibility and defensibility. For 

plazas, small parks, and portions 

of larger parks, peripheral uses 

that generate activity, such as 

eating and drinking outlets, small 

retail, and music performances 

are particularly important to 

the park's attractiveness and liveliness. 

Plazas will generally have a "human scale"if they are less than 
60 feet across. Avoid large, unarticulated areas, except for 
those intended for public gathering.  Provide a variety of sizes 
and shapes to encourage socializing and community building.

Access within the Park

The Boulder Civic Area has well-used bicycle and pedestrian 

amenities and convenient transit connections, serving as both an 

important destination and connector. Travel 

and access to the area will continue to be 

improved with enhanced pedestrian and 

bike as well as limited vehicular access.  

 • Traffic calming features and pedestrian-

oriented streetscape amenities for all 

streets surrounding and intersecting 

the park, including:  Canyon Boulevard, 

Arapahoe Avenue, 9th Street, Broadway, 

and 11th, 13th, 14th  and 15th Streets.

 • Pedestrian access across Canyon 

Boulevard should be improved at key 

crossing points.

The Peace Garden along Boulder 
Creek

Traffic calming streetscape at 
Broadway and Pearl Street

Packet Page     438



29
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PARK PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

 • Establish a hierarchy of types of paths that includes:  

commuter biking paths, children's biking paths, soft 

(unpaved) walking paths and health paths (perhaps 

incorporating stone inlays or other interactive art).  

 • Pathways should provide safe, protected pedestrian links 

from the park to adjacent uses, such as transit stops and the 

breezeway to the downtown core.  

 • Pathways should consider those park users who may wish 

to meander through or around the park as well as those who 

wish to move efficiently from point to point.

Art 

Encourage visual and performance arts 

by integrating art and opportunities for art 

to take place throughout the park.  Visual 

art may include earthworks, temporary 

or permanent sculptures, lighting 

installations, murals, etc.  Visual art may 

also be incorporated into park fixtures and 

furnishings such as park signage, gateway 

markers, pedestrian light posts, banners 

brackets, pavement, seating, tree grates and 

guards, bike corrals, etc.  Performance art 

spaces may include multiple performance 

venues of different types, including a stage 

with an amphitheatre as well as open plazas.

Food and Entertainment

Incorporate access to a variety of existing and new food 

establishments and vendors in the park, including permanent 

and temporary seasonal outdoor and indoor facilities.  Recognize 

Interactive art on the Pittsburgh 
Riverwalk

the community values of existing 

food establishments such as the 

Dushanbe Tea House, the Boulder 

Farmers'Market, and Mustard's Last 

Stand, and provide opportunities for 

enhancing their social and economic 

viability in the area. When Park 

Central Building is relocated, consider 

opportunities for Mustard's to continue 

to be part of the future development of 

the Civic Area. 

 • Provide cafe seating opportunities 

with flexible furniture, including 

permanent, fixed picnic seating at appropriate locations.

 • Expand outdoor seating and cafe opportunities at the North 

Library garden, including outdoor access to the library cafe.

 • Provide opportunities for an ice cream vendor and food trucks. 

Seating area at Chicago Millennium 
Park

Packet Page     439



30
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PARK PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Services Extending the Range of Uses

At plazas and performance spaces, provide secure electrical 

outlets, water spigots, restrooms, and other services that will 

encourage a greater range of uses.

Views and Viewpoints

Design park and site to take advantage of views to mountains, the 

creek and other amenities. Use vegetation and path orientation 

to frame and direct views. Incorporate park edge vegetation to 

screen views of surrounding roadways and parking, to create a 

sense of place and enclosure. Plan for views into the park from 

access points.

Noise Mitigation

Mitigate and detract attention from traffic and other ambient 

noise, in strategic locations for performance spaces as well 

quiet contemplative places, by using elements such as fountains, 

waterfalls and vegetation.

 

Public Amenities

 • Provide site furniture and amenities, such as waste 

receptacles, bicycle racks, drinking fountains, game tables, 

kiosks, children's play equipment and artwork at key locations 

within the park.

 • Provide restrooms that are 

accessible from outdoors 

within existing buildings, such 

as the library, and in future 

new buildings.  

 • Wayfinding elements, such 

as signage, lighting, entry 

gateways and pavement 

treatment, should be designed 

to provide a unified look to the 

park. 

 Build Green

 • Exceed minimum energy performance and take advantage of 

renewable resources.

 • Conserve water for landscaping.

 • Mitigate urban heat island and stormwater runoff.

Example of an artful bike rack from 
the Baltimore inner harbor.

Packet Page     440



31
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

PARK PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Safety and Security (CPTED)

Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED) refers 

to a group of strategies intended to reduce the fear of crime and 

the opportunities to commit crime. 

 • Natural Surveillance: This type of "passive surveillance" 

occurs when areas of the park are open to view by the public 

and neighbors and is a major crime deterrent. Maximize the 

number of "eyes on the park." Ensure that an officer driving 

by or through the park can see the facilities that might be 

targeted by offenders. Orient restrooms, 

shelters, and other structures so that they are 

easily visible from the roadways and parking 

areas.

 • Defensible Space: Design parks so that 

potential perpetrators cannot lurk or commit 

a crime and then flee via a convenient escape 

route.

 • Lighting: Lighting along pathways, plazas, 

entrances, parking structures, play areas, etc., 

should reflect the intended hours of operation 

and level of activity, and should not create glare 

and deep shadows.

 • Windows: Encourage windows and adjacent 
Example of interactive lighting for 
nighttime park useuses that look out onto parks and provide good natural 

surveillance to discourage criminal activity. 

 • Landscaping: Landscaping that is open and allows visibility 

and natural surveillance and doesn't allow places to hide. 
Hedges should be no higher than 3 feet 

and tree canopies should start no lower 

than 8 feet. This is especially important 

around entryways and windows.  Native, 

riparian vegetation should be restored and 

maintained along Boulder Creek in a manner 

that addresses both ecological health and 

safety concerns.

 • Territoriality: Visual cues show that 

the community "owns" its parks. Good 

maintenance and seasonal displays send a 

clear message that people care and won't 

tolerate crime in the area.
Diagram of landscaping that allows 
for visibility and natural surveillance

p
h

o
to

 c
re

d
it

: 
S

h
a

n
e

 C
o

e
n

Packet Page     441



32
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

EAST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

East End Performance Criteria 

The East End is envisioned as a mixed-use block 
that incorporates a variety of uses in existing 
buildings and future new developments. Desired 
uses include civic functions integrated vertically 
and/or horizontally with private uses such as a 
center for innovation, incubator offices, residential/
hotel and commercial uses. The area's proximity 
and link to the Pearl Street Mall via 13th Street, as 
well as access to transit services make this block 
conducive to maximizing synergy with existing 
public and private amenities. As the site with most 
potential for new development, special attention is 

(13th/14th Street Block)

Performance Related to Specific Land Uses

 • Service Center Performance:  

Develop civic uses such as municipal services as part of 

a mixed-use development vertically and/or horizontally 

integrated with other uses to encourage innovation and 

Illustrative example of a public 
market hall with expanded 
Farmers' Market

The East End: A place to deliberate, enjoy art, gather, eat, shop, and innovate
Picture This!   It is 2025, and you are sitting on a rooftop patio, sipping a cool drink, overlooking a plaza abuzz with Farmers’ Market.  People are spilling in and out of the market hall with their local food 

purchases.  A business person walks by, having just completed her meeting at the service center; she’s on her way to the transit center.  A local entrepreneur rides away from a discussion about a new 

program from the bicycle parking facility while people arrive for a music performance in the events center that will bring in people from around Boulder. Outside, the Boulder Outdoor Cinema brings in 

families with picnic blankets to enjoy a movie.  Earlier that day, a group of volunteers cleaned up the creek, sponsored by the business community that provided a lunchtime meal in exchange for work. 

In the evening, five and six year olds are playing in the plaza fountain, their parents watching over are enjoying wine and cheese from the food market hall, while boos and cheers are uttered from the  

packed audience upstairs in the Council Chambers where a ballot measure is being debated by City Council.

CANYON BLVD

ARAPAHOE AVE

13 TH ST

14 TH ST

13 TH ST

14 TH ST

CANYON BLVD

ARAPAHOE AVE

B:   MIXED-USE (FOOD, EVENTS, AND SERVICE)
Includes a smaller events center (up to 500 seats)/flexible performance 

space and a service center.  The service center would include public and 

private offices and city hall functions (up to 110,000 sf), and community 

meeting space.  This could be above the market hall that includes local food 

and cafes, etc.  

A:  MIXED-USE (FOOD AND CULTURE)
Includes a mid-sized (up to 1,200 seats) performing arts center, some private 

offices (up to 100,000 sf), and small unit residential or hotel (up to 200 keys).  

A market hall could be located in Central Park.

The block will include the outdoor Farmers’ Market (expanded), Teahouse, 

storage and transit building (BMoCA), a 10,000-15,000 square foot market hall, 

and structured parking.  With futher analysis, any of the above possible program 

elements could also occur here, provided they meet the design guidelines and 

criteria. Some possible options may include:  

For Continued Consideration...

Farmers’ Market  

Market Hall

Service/Innovation Center

Events

Performing Arts

Museum

Night time uses

Structured Parking

Outdoor space and parks

Possible Program Elements

Potential below

 grade parking

Potential below

 grade parking

Canyon

Blvd.
Dushanbe

TeahouseBMoCA
Arapahoe

Ave.
Boulder

Creek Existing Building

required for a careful mix of uses and their design  to achieve 
the guiding principles. Since all desired uses may not fit within 
the block, all efforts should be made to make sure the final 
plan reflects a balance in the type, mix, and scale of uses. The 
following performance criteria will guide program choices and 
site planning.

For more information, 

see The East End foldout 

on page 19

Packet Page     442



33
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

EAST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

creative collaboration. Day and evenings, during the week, 

Boulder residents, business owners and government officials 

gather to meet and deliberate over local choices and policies, 

and conduct business and work with partnering non-profits. 

 • Events/Performing Arts:

If a performing arts center is included, consider flexibility to 

include events and meeting space (e.g., for non-profits and 

businesses).  On the weekend and evenings, the center could 

*If new structures are proposed with below grade parking, the hydrologic 
impacts on the creek and riparian areas must be carefully considered.

be  a place for weddings, receptions 

and parties, and performances and 

art shows.  A center should be used 

during the day and multiple nights of 

the week. 

 • Day and Night Time Uses: 

Integrate uses that generate 24 

hour activities such as residential or 

hotel.

 • Pubic Plaza:

Develop an urban plaza space to 

serve as an organizing feature 

within the site and to provide a variety of public and outdoor 

functions as a complement to the more "green" park spaces 

to the west. 

 • *Structured Parking:

Provide appropriate amount of parking for adequate and 

convenient access to existing and future uses, balanced with 

area wide Transportation Demand Management. 

Building Form and Massing 

 • Building heights ranging from two to four stories. Along 

Canyon, provide up to four stories to help create a more urban 

character along this wide public right of way, while buildings 

along Arapahoe should help transition to the relatively lower 

height of the residential buildings in the vicinity.

 • At the ground level, buildings should have  permeability and 

transparency with visual and physical connections to indoor/

outdoor views and public spaces.

 • At least 60% of the ground floor area should be visually 

transparent along all major public streets and plazas, 

including Canyon Boulevard, Arapahoe Ave., 13th and 14th 

Streets as well as the public plaza.

 • Use high quality, durable materials which enhance the 

building and convey a sense of permanence.

 • Employ sustainable green building standards. 

Example of events/performing 
arts mixed-use facility (NAIOP 
Competition)

Packet Page     443



34
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

EAST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

 • To extent possible, include active market hall and food-related 

uses along Canyon Boulevard, 13th and 14th Streets, and 

facing new plazas.  

 • Consider the effect of building height on shading and views.

 • Building orientation should enhance the opportunity for views 

of the Flatirons, including opportunities for publicly accessible 

roof-tops.

 • Building entrances should be clear, direct, and welcoming 

and orient to public areas - streets, plazas, and parks.

 • Locate parking structure either underground, or above ground 

wrapped  with active uses to avoid visibility and degradation of   

the pedestrian environment. Structure should be well lit and 

easy to navigate in the interior.

Packet Page     444



35
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

WEST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

West End Performance Criteria
(Library and Senior Center)

The West End is envisioned as a cultural/arts core 
within the Civic Area that builds on the existing civic 
and cultural functions including the Main Library 
and the West Senior Center.  Building on this site 
provides opportunity to enhance both the indoor 
and outdoor functions of the existing amenities, as 
well as redevelopment and/or new development 
opportunities.  North of the Creek, the north wing 
of the library has potential for redevelopment as a 
state-of-the art facility for performing arts, taking 
advantage of its location with the expansive view of 
the Flatirons to the west and hotel and downtown 

Performance Related to Specific Land Uses

 • Library North:  Consider redevelopment as a multi-purpose 

and flexible performing arts facility, or rehabilitate the 

existing  Canyon Theatre with additional mezzanine seating 

The West End: A place to learn, play, create, and relax
Picture This!   The year is 2025, and you are visiting Boulder’s main library to do research and check out e-books for your upcoming international trip.  You peruse the collection, enjoying a coffee 

at the library cafe, and stroll through the park to the former Municipal Building to meet your friend and her child to create a new painting.  Afterward, you’ll visit the creekside play area near the 

library to watch the children climb the rocks, splash in the water, and feed the ducks and to watch people stroll along the park promenade.   

Possible Program Elements

Potential below grade parking
Arapahoe

Ave.

Boulder

Creek

Canyon

Blvd.Redeveloped 

Senior Center

Site

Library North

Civic Use Pad

Potential below grade parking

B:   ARTS AND CULTURE FOCUS
Includes redeveloped north library site to accommodate a small 

performing arts facility and museum, and repurposed Municipal 

Building as a hands-on arts center.  The Senior Center is redeveloped 

as a multi-purpose facility, possibly including some housing. 

A:  CITY SERVICES AND lIBRARY
Includes north library much as it is today and the Municipal Building 

continuing to operate as city hall.  The Senior Center site may redevelop 

as municipal services (with Senior Center relocating downtown) or 

redevelop onsite as a multi-purpose senior center facility. 

The West End will include the existing south wing of the library as it is 

today. With further analysis, any of the above possible program elements 

could also occur here, provided they meet the performance criteria. Some 

possible options may include: 

For Continued Consideration...

Boulder's Main Library 

(existing)

Multi-Purpose Senior 

Center (redeveloped)

Cafe

Municipal Building (existing)

Civic Use Pad

Night Time Uses

Structured Parking

Outdoor Space and Parks

Possible Program Elements

CANYON BLVD

9TH
 ST

CANYON BLVD

ARAPAHOE AVE

amenities directly across Canyon Boulevard. The consideration 
of the Civic Use Pad for a mix of public and private uses provides 
a potential synergetic relationship of land uses throughout 
the West End. In addition, a potential repurposed Municipal 
Building to the east, and the park in-between, provide further 
opportunity to create a unique and vibrant mix of outdoor/
indoor uses primarily focused on arts and cultural uses. 

For more information, 

see The West End foldout 

on page 20

Illustrative example of performing 
arts lobby 

Packet Page     445



36
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

WEST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA
*If new structures are proposed with below grade parking, the hydrologic 
impacts on the creek and riparian areas must be carefully considered.

to increase capacity and programming. If a performing arts 

center is included as part of a redeveloped library, consider 

flexibility to include events and meeting space (e.g., for non-

profits and businesses).  On the weekend and evenings, the 

center could be a place for weddings, receptions and parties, 

and performances and art shows.  

 • As part of of the proposed new cafe at the bridge, expand 

opportunities for outdoor seating and gathering to spill out 

onto the adjacent garden to the east. 

 • Library South:  Closely coordinate the proposed renovation 

and reconfiguration of the library's interior space with the 

redesign of Civic Park south of the creek to make it more kid 

and family friendly as well as a community destination and 

gathering place. The interior space and function of the library 

will should be integrated with the outdoor space through art, 

park design, play area and future programming of the library.  

Features may include  public art that enhance the physical 

and visual link between the  outdoor and indoor spaces, a 

nature play tot lot, a children's reading garden, a water play 

sculpture, intimate picnic and seating areas among shade 

trees  along the creek.

 • Senior Center: If redeveloped as a new senior facility, explore 

Example of redeveloped senior 
center

creation of a 21st century 

senior center providing a 

wider range of services, 

including potential senior 

housing, integrated and co-

located with the library, Civic 

Park and area indoor/outdoor 

art facilities for older adults 

to recreate, socialize, and 

learn. If the senior center is 

relocated elsewhere outside 

the Civic Area, consider 

the site for residential 

development, including 

potential micro units. Consider 

also potential coordination with Boulder Housing Partners 

and federal H.U.D. for incorporation of Arapahoe Apartments 

into new residential development. 

 • *Parking: Provide appropriate amount of parking for adequate 

and convenient access to existing and future uses, balanced 

with area wide Transportation Demand Management.

Packet Page     446



37
PART 2: A PLAN FOR PEOPLE & PLACE

WEST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Building Form and Massing 

 • Building heights ranging from two to four stories along 

Canyon to create a more urban character along this wide 

public right of way, and to establish a better formal relation in 

mass and scale with St. Julien and the future development at 

the Civic Use Pad.

 • Along Arapahoe, building scale and mass should help 

transition to the relatively lower height  of residential 

buildings in the vicinity. Building heights should be limited to 

no more than three stories.

 • At the ground level, buildings facing Canyon Boulevard and 

Arapahoe Avenue should have  permeability and transparency 

with visual and physical connections to indoor/outdoor views 

and public spaces, with at least 60% visual transparency 

along all major public streets and park space.  

 • Use high quality, durable and timeless materials which 

enhance the buildings and convey a sense of permanence.

 • Employ sustainable green building standards. 

 • Consider the effect of building height on shading and views.

 • Building orientation should enhance the opportunity for views 

of the Flatirons, especially along west building facades.

 • To the extent possible, include opportunities for publicly 

accessible roof-top spaces.

 • Building entrances should be clear, direct, and welcoming 

and orient to public areas - streets, plazas, and parks.

 • Locate parking structure either underground, or above ground 

wrapped  with active uses to avoid visibility and degradation of   

the pedestrian environment. Structure should be well lit and 

easy to navigate in the interior.

D
on

't 
do

 th
is

:

O
r 

th
is

:

In
st

ea
d,

 d
o 

th
is

:

O
r 

th
is

:

No!

Yes!

No! No!No!

Yes!

Yes!Yes!

Packet Page     447



38 Packet Page     448



39
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

STRATEGIES

Part 3:
Implementation 
& Phasing

What might it take to accomplish the plan for the Civic Area?  
The following strategies will help accomplish the plan.

Strategies

Coordination:

Partnerships: Cooperate 

with non-profit and service 

organizations to ensure that 

in all programming or built 

spaces, there are options for 

people of all incomes and 

abilities to use the space or 

participate in events together.  

As spaces are redeveloped or 

reprogrammed, enable ways 

to create space for service 

provision even if it is not a 

direct city-provided service. 

Maintenance and Operations: 

Develop on-going community-

oriented maintenance 

activities for the Civic Area.  

Develop regular ways to 

involve community members 

in clean-up and maintenance 

and to build civic pride and 

cooperation. Engender a 

different way of thinking 

about this area throughout 

the community. For example, 

have an on-going clean up 

paid program for low-income 

or homeless residents, 

possibly sponsored by 

business community, and also 

structure regular times for 

full community projects

1 - Phasing/Prioritization "Roadmap."  Identify key steps and 

phasing necessary to sequentially and systematically work 

toward the vision in the near-term and over time.  (See phasing 

tables and diagrams on pages 42-47 for initial prioritization and 

phasing.) 

2 - Coordination.  Designate a staff coordinator and other 

staff within the city to work across city departments and with 

community partners to carry out the plan (e.g., nonprofit 

organizations, such as the Farmers' Market and BMoCA, private 

land owners and developers, and others, such as the Ocean 

Coalition, Bridge House and Boulder Chamber). See sidebar on 

right for further details.  

Examples of Partners

Packet Page     449



40
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

STRATEGIES

3 - Detailed Planning and Design.  Develop detailed site plans 

for certain parts of the Civic Area (e.g., master plan for the 

core park, for the East and West End blocks and for the future 

Canyon Boulevard). Further engage the community and boards 

and commissions to review and give feedback on detailed plans. 

Develop cost estimates for infrastructure and improvements. 

4 - Investment Strategy.  Identify a comprehensive portfolio of 

financing tools and development structures to pay for capital 

improvements  through phases and identify ongoing operations 

and maintenance funds.  The financial and investment strategy 

could include any combination of: 

 • public financing through voter-approved bonds or sales 

tax;

 • private financing;

 • districts such as general improvement districts, 

metropolitan districts and others; 

 • endowments;

 • certificates of participation (COPs);

 • general fund and Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 

alignment of priorities;

 • public improvement fees;

Investment Strategy

A mix of uses will take a mix 
of strategies. For example 
some options may be:  

 • Arts/Culture/Parks:  
private/public shared 
financing, supplemented 
with grants

 • City facilities:  public 
financing supplemented 
with private funds

 • Offices or retail:  

private/public 
partnership, city lease 
or sale

 • Parking Structure:  

Central Area General 
Improvement District 
(CAGID) and user fees  

 • Housing:  private, 
public-private 
partnership, possible 
trust, lease/sale by city

Example of a mixed-use facility 
made possible with multiple 
investment strategies

Packet Page     450



41
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

PHASING PLAN

The tables on the pages that follow identify the likely phasing 
and timing to implement the plan.  This phasing plan is 
preliminary and depends on approval of a coordinator position 
for the project and availability of funding sources (public, 
private and other). The phases are broken into the following 
approximate time periods:

 • Phase 1 (2013 - 2014)

 • Phase 2 (2014 - 2019); and 

 • Phase 3 (2019 and beyond)  

Phasing Plan

 • state and federal grants (e.g., state Great Outdoors 

Colorado funds for parks and open space, and National 

Endowment for the Arts);  

 • urban renewal financing; and 

 • crowd source funding.

The proposed land uses and ownership (e.g., private or public) 

to some degree determine what kind of financing strategies 

(financing tools and organizational structures) might be 

applicable.  See sidebar on left for further details.

5 - Land Use Code Update.  If the Land Use Code is inconsistent 

with the desired plan, update standards as necessary to 

incentivize or limit certain types of development.

6 -Programs and Activities.  Collaborate with appropriate 
partners to expand existing programs of activity or create new 
programs consistent with the Plan's vision and principles (e.g., 
programming new facilities, expanding flood education, and/or 
creating work opportunities for people who are homeless).  

7 - Construction.  Following detailed site planning and 
engineering, construct infrastructure, street improvements, 
art, informational pieces, park improvements or structures, 
and buildings. 

Packet Page     451



42
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASING

Civic Area Phasing
Phase 1: 2013-2014

P
h

a
s

e
 1

: 
2

0
1

3
-2

0
1

4

Packet Page     452



43
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASING

1
0

th S
t.

9
th S

t.

1
1

th s
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

1
3

th S
t.

1
4

th S
t.

1
5

th S
t.

1
6

th S
t.

1
7

th S
t.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Plaza Remediation/

Reconstruction

Children’s 

Play Area

(Location TBD)

Library Cafe Area

Legend

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Planning

Phase 1

Plaza Improvements

P
h

a
s

e
 1

: 
2

0
1

3
-2

0
1

4

This figure shows planning 

improvements for the first 

phase

Packet Page     453



44
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASINGCICICICICIIVIVIVIVIVIVICCCCCC ARARARARARAREAEAEAEAEAEA PPPPPPHAHAHAHAHAHASISISISISISINGNGNGNGNGNG

Phase 2: 2014-2019
P

h
a

s
e

 2
: 

2
0

1
4

-2
0

1
9

Packet Page     454



45
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASING

9
th S

t.

1
1

th s
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

1
3

th S
t.

1
4

th S
t.

15 th St.

1
7

th S
t.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Canyon Blvd.

Intersection

Improvements

Art/Sculpture

Garden

Civic Use

Pad
Canyon Blvd.

“Complete Street”
13th St. Mixed-Use 

Project

Bike/Ped Trail

Connection

13th St. Promenade 

Improvements/

Farmers’ Market

Legend

Buildings Implemented

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Access & Mobility Implemented

Phase 2

Planning

Previously Implemented

Children’s
Play Expansion

(Location TBD)
Park

Improvements

P
h

a
s

e
 2

: 
2

0
1

4
-2

0
1

9

Phase 2 will focus on core 

park improvements and 

planning for the east and 

west ends, as well as the 

13th Street block and parts 

of Canyon Boulevard

Packet Page     455



46
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASING

1
0

th S
t.

9
th S

t.

1
1

th s
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

1
3

th S
t.

1
4

th S
t.

1
5

th S
t.

1
6

th S
t.

1
7

th S
t.

Canyon Blvd.

Arapahoe Ave.

Municipal Building

Re-Purposed

or Remain as Is

West End North Canyon Blvd.

“Complete Street”

Parking/Buildings

Removed

Updated Central

Park
East End

SouthWest End South

Legend

Buildings Implemented

Parks & Plazas Implemented

Access & Mobility Implemented

Phase 3

Previously Implemented

Phase 3: 2019+
P

h
a

s
e

 3
: 

2
0

1
9

+

The final phase will focus on 

park improvements and the 

bookends

P
h

a
s

e
 3

: 
2

0
1

9
+

Packet Page     456



47
PART 3: PHASING & IMPLEMENTATION

CIVIC AREA PHASING

Table 4: City Council & Board/Commission 

Implemention Roles
Additional guidance from City Council and the boards and 

commissions with purview in the Civic Area will be needed to 

implement this plan. This table describes their roles.

Packet Page     457



Packet Page     458



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM  

MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

MEETING DATE:  September 3, 2013 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE:  Update on Ballot Order 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
 
 
 
At the August 20, 2013 City Council meeting, the council adopted a resolution 
recommending a proposed order for nine city ballot items on the November 2013 ballot.  
Subsequently, the Daily Camera reported that state law superseded the council’s 
recommendation, although the recommendation was consistent with that law.  In fact, 
there is nothing in the Colorado Revised Statutes addressing the order of initiated ballot 
measures in city elections.  There is, however, a rule adopted by the Secretary of State in 
September 2011.  A copy of the relevant section of this rule is attached.   
 
Rule 6-5-2(c) provides in relevant part as follows: 
 
Each political subdivision shall determine the order of the ballot issues for their political 
subdivision in accordance with the requirements of Colorado Constitution Article X, 
Section 20 and Title 1. . . . 
 
 (c) For each grouping of ballot issues and ballot questions, the order shall be as follows: 
 

1. Referred measures to increase taxes; 
2. Referred measures to retain excess revenues; 
3. Referred measures to increase debt; 
4. Other referred measures; 
5. Initiatives to increase taxes; 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 1Packet Page     459



6. Initiatives to retain excess revenues; 
7. Initiatives to increase debt; 
8. Other citizen petitions. 

 
The citizen initiated ballot measure therefore will come last, as council recommended in 
the August 20 resolution.  There is another provision that requires a different numbering 
scheme.  Pursuant to rule 6-5-2(f)(2), citizen initiated ballot measures in municipal 
elections must have a number between 300 and 399.  Thus, while the other city measures 
will be numbered 2A through 2H, the initiated measure will be number 300.   
 
Agency rules adopted under the agency’s rulemaking authority have the force of law.  
Thus, the county recorder will be complying with this rule in establishing the ballot order 
and the numbering of measures.   
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A - Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 2Packet Page     460



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  1 

Rule 6.  Rules Concerning Coordinated Elections 

6.1 Participation in coordinated elections. 

6.1.1 For elections where the electors do not need to be registered electors, political 
subdivisions may conduct their own elections and must coordinate with the coordinated 
election official any ballot issue notice required by Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado 
Constitution. 

6.1.2 The affected political subdivision shall enter into intergovernmental agreements which 
delineate which tasks shall be the responsibility of the designated election official of the 
political subdivision and which shall be the responsibility of the coordinated election 
official. 

6.2 Procedures for Coordinated Elections Involving Jurisdictions Shared by Multiple Counties  

6.2.1 For each jurisdiction that is shared by multiple counties, a controlling county shall be 
designated for the purpose of assigning and coordinating the ballot letter/number for 
the shared races, issues, and questions in coordinated elections. 

6.2.2 The controlling county shall be the county where the administrative office of the political 
subdivision is maintained at the time that the controlling county is designated. 

(a) If the administrative office is not maintained within the boundaries of the political 
subdivision, the controlling county shall be the county where the largest number of 
active registered electors within the jurisdiction reside at the time that the 
controlling county is designated. 

(b) Once designated, the controlling county will not change unless approved by the 
Secretary of State upon request of any of the affected counties. 

6.2.3 Repealed. 

6.2.4 The controlling county shall coordinate with each county that shares the jurisdiction to 
assign the ballot number/letter in accordance with Rule 6.5 no later than the date of 
ballot certification. All counties within the shared jurisdiction shall ensure that the 
shared races, issues, and questions are printed on the ballot as certified by the 
Secretary of State or designated election official, and in the order assigned by the 
controlling county 

6.2.5 If any controlling county fails to fulfill its responsibilities in accordance with this Rule, 
any of the other counties in the shared jurisdiction may make a written request to the 
Secretary of State to temporarily assume the duties of the controlling county. The 
Secretary of State shall have the authority to act on behalf of the controlling county or 
to temporarily designate another county to act as the controlling county in order to 
assure implementation of this Rule. 

6.3 Form of election for November coordinated elections. 

6.3.1 The county clerk and recorder is the election official for coordinated elections which are 
held in November of each year. 

(a) The county clerk and recorder shall be responsible for mailing the Article X, Section 
20 Ballot Issue notice. 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 3Packet Page     461



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  2 

(b) The county clerk and recorder shall not be required to conduct more than one form 
of election unless he or she so chooses. 

6.3.2 School districts that have the opportunity to participate in a coordinated election may 
not elect to hold separate mail ballot elections but must participate in the form of 
election chosen by the county clerk and recorder. 

6.4 Form of coordinated elections held other than in November. 

6.4.1 For all other elections where political subdivisions hold an election on the same day, 
the electors or boundaries overlap and ballot issues as defined in Section 1-1-104 
(2.3), C.R.S., appear on the ballot of overlapping jurisdictions, the governing bodies or 
the designated election officials of such overlapping jurisdictions must name a 
coordinated election official who is responsible for assuring that the Article X, Section 
20 notice is given. 

6.4.2 The political subdivisions may contract with the appropriate county clerk and recorder 
to be the coordinated election official. 

6.5 Determination of ballot issues and texts. 

6.5.1 Each political subdivision shall prepare the list of candidates and the ballot title and text 
for ballot issues and ballot questions, as required by law. 

(a) The coordinated election official shall assure that the ballot title is on each ballot as 
required by law. 

(b) Political subdivisions may only require the coordinated election official to print the 
entire text of a ballot issue or ballot question on the ballot if they pay for any 
additional cost associated with printing and if sufficient space is on the voting 
equipment to print the entire text given the other issues, questions, and candidates 
on the ballot.  The coordinated election official shall tell the political subdivision how 
much space is available for text for each position on the ballot.  If the required 
ballot title and text is too long for the voting equipment, the coordinated election 
official may choose to conduct the election with a different form of ballot. 

(c) For counties where ballot election material must be printed in languages other than 
English, the political subdivisions are responsible for assuring proper translation of 
all election materials related to that political subdivision and must pay their pro-rata 
share of increased printing costs unless otherwise provided by the 
intergovernmental agreement. 

(d) For counties where election material is not required to be printed in languages 
other than English, the political subdivisions are not required to provide translation 
of all election materials nor pay a pro-rata share of the printing costs unless they so 
agree. 

6.5.2 Each political subdivision shall determine the order of the ballot issues for their political 
subdivision in accordance with the requirements of Colorado Constitution Article X, 
Section 20 and Title 1. 

(a) Referred measures shall be designated by a letter or by a number and a letter; 
initiatives shall be designated by a number. 

(b) For each grouping of ballot issues and ballot questions by a political subdivision, all 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 4Packet Page     462



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  3 

referred measures shall precede all initiatives. 

(c) For each grouping of ballot issues and ballot questions, the order shall be as 
follows: 

1. Referred measures to increase taxes; 

2. Referred measures to retain excess revenues; 

3. Referred measures to increase debt; 

4. Other referred measures; 

5. Initiatives to increase taxes; 

6. Initiatives to retain excess revenues; 

7. Initiatives to increase debt; 

8. Other citizen petitions. 

(d) For statewide measures, initiatives shall be numbered in the order in which the 
statements of sufficiency are issued.  The numbers one through five shall be 
reserved for initiatives to increase taxes; the numbers six through ten shall be 
reserved for initiatives to retain excess revenues; the numbers eleven through 
fifteen shall be reserved for initiatives to increase debt; all other citizen petitions 
shall be numbered consecutively beginning with sixteen. 

(e) In accordance with section 1-5-407(5)(b), C.R.S., whether initiated or referred, 
every proposed change to the Colorado Constitution shall be called an 
“amendment” and every proposed change to the Colorado Revised Statutes shall 
be called a “proposition”  

(f) Ballot issues from the various political subdivisions shall be ordered on the ballot 
as provided in section 1-5-407(5), C.R.S: 

1. Each category of referred and initiated state amendments and propositions 
shall be numbered and listed on the ballot in the following series: 

 
A-Z State Referred Constitutional Amendments 
01-99 State Initiated Constitutional Amendments 
AA-ZZ State Referred Statutory Propositions 
101-199 State Initiated Statutory Propositions 

 If a referred or initiated measure contains both a proposed constitutional 
and statutory change, the measure shall be ordered on the ballot as a 
constitutional amendment. 

 

2. Each category of initiated local ballot issues and questions shall be 
numbered in the following series: 

 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 5Packet Page     463

Mtayer
Highlight



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  4 

200-299 County Issues 
300-399 Municipal Issues 
400-499 School District Issues 
500-599 Ballot Issues and Questions for other political 

subdivisions greater than a county. 
600-699 Ballot Issues and Questions for other political 

subdivisions which are wholly within a county. 

3. Each category of local referred ballot issues and questions shall be 
designated by a letter or a number and a letter in the following series: 

 
1A-1Z County Issues 
2A-2Z Municipal Issues 
3A-3Z School District Issues 
4A-4Z Ballot Issues and Questions for other political 

subdivisions greater than a county. 
5A-5Z Ballot Issues and Questions for other political 

subdivisions which are wholly within a county. 

4. Ballot questions and issues are numbered or lettered in the order in which the 
measures are certified to the ballot by the designated election official after the 
protest period has ended, or if a protest was filed after the protest has been 
completed. 

5. For other than state issues, if a county has multiple cities and/or multiple 
discrete school districts and other political subdivisions, the designated election 
official may either further subdivide the series and assign each political 
subdivision a specific series of numbers, or when the ballot is certified the 
designated election official may assign the final numbers/letters, making sure 
that all measures for each political subdivision are grouped together. 

6. For other than state issues and questions, if the same ballot issue or question 
will be on the ballot in more than one county, the county clerks shall confer with 
one another and shall give the same ballot number or letter to the ballot issue 
or questions. 

7. Each ballot question or issue shall contain the name of the political subdivision 
at the beginning of the ballot questions or issue.  If the designated election 
official chooses, the name of the political subdivision may appear before the 
grouping of questions, such as State Ballot Questions, Arapahoe County Ballot 
Questions, City of Aurora Ballot Questions, etc. 

6.5.3 General Provisions 

(a) The coordinated or designated election official may include the following statement 
with the ballot issue notice: “This notice is mailed to each address with one or more 
active, registered electors.  You may not be eligible to vote on all issues presented 
in this notice.” 

(b) The coordinated or designated election official may include the following statement 
on the ballot issue notice:  “The following is a summary of comments filed in favor 
of, or opposed to, the ballot issue.” 

6.6 Colorado Constitution Article X, Section 20 notice requirements. 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 6Packet Page     464

Mtayer
Highlight



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  5 

6.6.1 The state and local governments, excluding enterprises, have sole responsibility for 
drafting and distribution of the notice required by Article X, Section 20.  Any or all of the 
responsibilities may be delegated to the coordinated election official in the 
intergovernmental agreement. 

6.6.2 The notice shall be mailed to “All Registered Voters” at the mailing addresses of active 
registered electors in the county, as indicated on the voting record. 

(a) Nothing shall preclude the coordinated or designated election official from sending 
notice of various elections to persons who are not eligible electors if the notice sent 
is part of the coordinated notice and if the sending arises from the official’s efforts 
to mail the notice at “least cost”. 

(b) Nothing shall preclude the coordinated or designated election official from sending 
notice to each household in the county or political subdivision whether or not 
registered electors reside at that household as long as notice is sent which assures 
that all active registered electors are included on the mailing list. 

(c) Nothing shall preclude the coordinated or designated election official from sending 
notice to each registered elector in a particular political subdivision. 

6.6.3 The coordinated election official must include information in the package sent with the 
notice that tells electors whether the election is a mail ballot election, a polling place 
election, a vote center election or a combination of election forms. 

(a) If the election is a polling place election or a vote center election, the notice of the 
location of the polling place or vote center may be included in the consolidated 
mailing. 

(b) If a separate mail ballot election is being held by a political subdivision in the 
county at the same time as a polling place election or a vote center election, the 
notice shall include that information.  Section 1-5-205, C.R.S. 

6.6.4 If state statute allows the ballot issue notice and the ballot to be mailed at the same 
time, the ballot for the mail ballot election may be included with the notice. 

6.6.5 The political subdivisions must provide all completed Article X, Section 20 notices in 
camera ready format or as otherwise specified. 

6.6.6 The coordinated election official shall not be responsible for failure to meet the Article 
X, Section 20 constraints if the notice and summaries are not submitted by the political 
subdivision within the deadline and in the form required by the coordinated election 
official. 

(a) The summaries of comments for and against ballot issues shall not include 
language of a generally recognized profane, indecent, immoral, offensive, 
scandalous or libelous character.  No names of persons or private groups shall be 
included in any summary. 

(b) For purposes of counting words and to verify the five hundred constitutional limit for 
each “pro” and each “con” summary, a hyphenated word, unless it is divided by a 
continuation hyphen at the end of a line, counts as two or more words.  A number 
counts as one word, regardless of dollar signs, commas or periods within the 
number. 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 7Packet Page     465



Colorado Secretary of State  Election Rules [8 CCR 1505-1]  

Rule 6 – As amended 9/6/11  6 

6.7 Written comments concerning ballot issues submitted to the designated election official for the 
political subdivision shall not be withdrawn after the end of the business day on the last Friday 
immediately preceding the forty-fifth day before the election. 

 

Attachment A 
Secretary of State Rule 6 

Agenda Item 7A     Page 8Packet Page     466



 
 

 
 
 

TO: Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: September 3, 2013 

SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 

1. Call Ups 
  A. Use Review, case no. LUR2013-00020, and Site Review, case 

no. LUR2013-00037. This application involves a request to 
expand a previous Use Review approval (case no. LUR2012-
00011). The expansion would result in a 2,275 square-foot coffee 
shop with 62 seats (50 indoor and 12 outdoor), open seven days a 
week from 6 a.m. until 11 p.m., located at 1852 Arapahoe Ave. 
The expansion of the coffee shop will result in the loss of the 
existing residential unit. The development proposal also includes 
a 57 percent parking reduction, which requires a Site Review 
approval. The restaurant is located within the Residential High-1 
(RH-1) zone district. 

   
2. External Information Item 

 A. Boulder Housing Partners 2012 Annual Report to the Community 
   

3. Boards and Commissions 
 A. Human Relations Commission – August 19, 2013 
 B. Library Commission – July 10, 2013 
 C. Open Space and Mountain Parks – August 14, 2013 
 D. Water Resources Advisory Board – June 17, 2013 

 
4. Declarations 

 None. 
 

 

Packet Page     467



 

Packet Page     468



 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
 Jessica Vaughn, Planner I 
 
Date:   August 12, 2013 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item:  Use Review, case no. LUR2013-00020, and Site Review, case no. 
LUR2013-00037. This application involves a request to expand a previous Use Review approval 
(case no. LUR2012-00011). The expansion would result in a 2,275 square-foot coffee shop with 
62 seats (50 indoor and 12 outdoor), open seven days a week from 6 a.m. until 11 p.m., located 
at 1852 Arapahoe Ave. The expansion of the coffee shop will result in the loss of the existing 
residential unit. The development proposal also includes a 57 percent parking reduction, which 
requires a Site Review approval. The restaurant is located within the Residential High-1 (RH-1) 
zone district.    
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On August 1, 2013, Planning Board approved 5-0 (A. Brocket and L. May absent) the subject 
application with the conditions found in the disposition of approval, provided as Attachment A.   
 
The applicant’s proposal is for the expansion of a previously approved Use Review, case no. 
LUR2012-00011. The request to expand that approval would result in a 2,275 square-foot coffee 
shop with 62 seats, open seven days a week from 6 a.m. until 11 p.m. Refer to Table 1 for a 
summary of the requested expansion. The proposed expansion would also result in the loss of the 
existing residential unit currently present on the project site. 
 

Table 1: Use Review Expansion Summary 
 Previous Approval 

(Case no. LUR2012-00011) 
Current Proposal 

(Case no. LUR2013-00021) 
Hours 6 a.m. until 9 p.m. 6 a.m. until 11 p.m. 
Square Footage 1,475 square feet 2,275 square feet 
Interior Seating 24 seats 50 seats 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 1Packet Page     469



Figure 1: Existing Street Facade Figure 2: Original Storefront Circa 1930s 

Outdoor Seating N/A 12 seats 
Residential Unit 800 square feet 0 square feet (Removed) 
Parking 
Reduction 

30 percent (10 spaces 
required/7 provided) 

57 percent (16 spaces 
required/7 provided) 

Bicycle Parking 10 spaces 14 spaces 
 
Also as part of the development proposal, the applicant is proposing to restore the building back 
to its circa 1930s storefront as Winter Cigar Company. Refer to Figures 1 and 2 below.  
 

 
The development proposal also includes a 57 percent parking reduction. A parking reduction in 
excess of 50 percent is required to be reviewed and approved through the Site Review process.  
 
Refer to Attachment B for the applicant’s proposed plan set and management plan. 
 
The board’s approval is subject to a 30-day call-up period by City Council. Refer to the city’s 
website for the staff memorandum to the Planning Board and other related background materials, 
including the applicant’s supplemental materials and the staff analysis of the Use Review 
criteria. City Council may call-up the application within the 30-day call-up period which expires 
on Monday, September 16, 2013. 
 
City Council is scheduled to consider this application at its September 3, 2013 public meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Staff time: The Use Review application has been processed through the provisions of a standard 
review process and is within normal staff work plans. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
Economic: The proposed coffee shop creates an active, neighborhood scale retail use. 
 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 2Packet Page     470



Figure 3: Vicinity Map

Environmental: The location of the proposed coffee shop along a major transit and pedestrian 
corridor will contribute to the walkability of the surrounding neighborhood by providing a 
neighborhood scale amenity and gathering place. 
 
Social: The development proposal includes restoration of the existing building façade back to 
it’s circa 1930s retail façade, which will restore a current void in the Arapahoe Avenue 
streetscape. The restoration of the building back to its historic character will create a sense of 
permanence not only as a cultural resource, but also as a community amenity. In addition, the 
nature of the proposed use will provide a more active and pedestrian oriented street frontage that 
will enhance the pedestrian experience. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Site Context. The project site is located directly on 
Arapahoe Avenue on the outer edges of the Goss 
Grove Neighborhood and within the Residential High-
1 (RH-1) zone district (see Figure 3 at the right). 
Currently, the project site is comprised of one single-
family residential unit, however in the past it has been 
utilized as a variety of nonresidential uses as well as a 
mixed-use building with one residential unit, including 
a beauty salon (1970’s) as well as a cigar shop 
(1930’s). Most recently, the property was used as a 
preschool and a single-family dwelling. 
 
In close proximity to the site there are a variety of 
commercial uses, including retail, auto repair and 
service related businesses, lodging, restaurant and the University of Colorado main campus, 
Naropa University and Boulder Valley High School as well as single and multi-family residential 
uses, including student rentals and owner occupied single family residences.  
 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION 
 
At its August 1, 2013 public hearing, the Planning Board approved the subject Use Review and 
Site Review request with a vote of 5-0, (A. Brocket and L. May absent). Since the board’s 
findings were different from the staff recommendation, the board elected to continue the item to 
its next business meeting, August 15, 2013, to adopt findings of fact. 
 
At its August 15, 2013 meeting, Planning Board adopted the findings of fact found in 
Attachment D. Below is a summary of Planning Board’s application of the Use Review criteria 
and Site Review criteria as well as a summary of the Board’s conclusions.  
 
The Planning Board found the proposed use and development to be consistent with the Use 
Review criteria and Site Review criteria. Planning Board found the project site to be an 
appropriate location for the proposed use and the use consistent with the character of the 
surrounding residential neighborhood. It also found the proposed use to serve a compelling social 
and recreational need of human interaction and socialization by creating a social meeting space 
that, currently, does not exist in this neighborhood thereby overcoming the presumption against 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 3Packet Page     471



the removal of the residential unit in this residential district. Finally, Planning Board found that 
the proposed development meets the Site Review criteria, including consistency with the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan land use map, on balance, with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan policies, and with the criteria applicable to the requested parking reduction.  
 
Refer to the city’s website for the Planning Board minutes and audio of the hearing. 
 
City Council may call-up the application within the 30-day call-up period which expires on 
Monday, September 16, 2013. City Council is scheduled to consider this application for call-up 
at its September 3, 2013 public meeting. 
 
INITIAL STAFF ANALYSIS 
 
On balance, the development proposal was found to be consistent with the Use Review and Site 
Review criteria as well as the parking reduction criteria. However, in completing the initial staff 
review, staff found that the development proposal was inconsistent with specific criteria, 
including Use Review Criterion #6, which speaks to preserving existing residential units and Site 
Review criterion pursuant to section 9-2-14(h)(1)(A), B.R.C. 1981, that speaks to the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan land use map, and goals and policies, especially those that speak to 
the retention/preservation of housing. Therefore, staff could not make a finding that the proposed 
Use Review and Site Review request was consistent with the applicable review criteria and 
recommended denial of the requested Use Review, case no. LUR2013-00020, and Site Review, 
case no. LUR2013-00037. 
 
Refer to Attachment C for the complete analysis of the Use Review, Site Review and Parking 
Reduction criteria. 
 
Use Review Criteria. In completing the Use Review analysis, it was determined that the project 
site was an appropriate location for the proposed coffee shop use given: 
 

 The location of the project site along both a major transit corridor (Arapahoe Avenue) 
and a highly traveled pedestrian corridor (19th Street);  

 
 The compatibility with surrounding uses and their intensity, given the neighborhood scale 

and limited hours of the proposed use; and   
 

 Maintaining consistency with the general character of the area as an active, pedestrian 
oriented mixed-use neighborhood.   

 
However, staff also found that because the proposal would result in the conversion of the 
existing residential unit to a non-residential use that ultimately the proposal was not consistent 
with Use Review Criterion #6, which speaks to preserving residential units, except where a 
compelling social, human services, governmental, or creational need in the community is found.  

 
Criterion #6 is consistent with the city’s recent and past efforts to provide a jobs/housing 
balance. A “compelling social or human services need” has been identified as an entity or 
service, such as a non-profit, that provides services to traditionally underserved segments of the 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 4Packet Page     472



population, including low income households or disabled persons, or an entity that provides 
needed social services such as a day care center or senior center. 
 
Overall, staff found that the conversion of the existing residence to a non-residential use, 
specifically a coffee shop that is otherwise permitted, but at a smaller scale under a previous 
approval (LUR2012-00011), is not consistent with Criterion #6. Therefore, staff could not make 
a finding that the development proposal is consistent with the Use Review criteria and 
recommended denial of the Use Review application.   
 
Site Review Criteria. In completing the staff analysis of the Site Review request, the 
development proposal was found to be generally consistent with the majority of the Site Review 
criteria, including those that speak to: 
 

 Creating building design that contributes to a safe and vibrant streetscape,  
 Landscape that provides an aesthetic enhancement over the existing conditions,  
 Minimizing site access points and utilizing a parking design that minimizes vehicle 

conflicts; and  
 Designing open space to be accessible and functional. 

 
However, staff found that the development proposal to convert the existing residential unit to a 
non-residential use was not consistent with Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use map, 
and goals and policies. Pursuant to section 9-2-14(h)(1)(A), B.R.C. 1981, which states, “the 
proposed site plan is consistent with the land use map and the service area map and, on balance, 
the policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.” As part of the BVCP, the land use map 
establishes general land use designation for particular areas as well as definitions. The project 
site is identified as High Density Residential, which is defined as an area having “more than 14 
units per acre,” and where, “within certain residential areas, there is also the potential for limited 
small neighborhood shopping facilities, offices or services through special review” (page 66, 
BVCP). Because the proposed conversion of the existing residential use to a nonresidential use is 
inconsistent with the Use Review criteria, specifically Criterion #6, the development proposal is 
also inconsistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive land use map and land use 
designations.  
 
In addition, staff also identified the below BVCP goals and policies which speak directly to the 
preservation/retention of residential units:  
 

 Creating more affordable housing, and mitigating the impacts of traffic congestion. 
(From BVCP Policy 1.19 Jobs:Housing Balance). 

 Providing options for people to live, work and shop within close proximity. (BVCP 
Policy 2.16 Mixed Use and High Density Development). 

 Creating livable residential neighborhoods that offer a different type of living 
environment than is currently offered in the city. (BVCP 7.10 Balancing Housing 
Supply with Employment Base). 

 
Therefore, staff could not make a finding that the development proposal is consistent with the 
Site Review criteria and recommended denial if the Site Review application. 
 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 5Packet Page     473



Parking Reduction Criteria. The requested parking reduction was found to be consistent with 
the parking reduction criteria. Given the location of the project site along a major transit corridor 
(Arapahoe Avenue) that provides bus service, a highly trafficked pedestrian corridor (19th Street) 
linking downtown through Goss Grove to the University of  Colorado main campus, as well as 
the parking provided on-site and off-site parking the parking demand generated by the use would 
be adequately accommodated. In addition, the applicant’s Transportation Demand Management 
techniques would encourage the use of alternative modes of transportation by providing excess 
bike parking and bus passes for employees, both of which will decrease the overall number of 
vehicles trips to the project site. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
A. Notice of Disposition dated August 15, 2013. 
B. Approved Plans and Management Plan. 
C. Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis. 
D. Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact. 
E. Additional Public Comment. 

Call Up Item 1A     Page 6Packet Page     474



Attachment A 
Notice of Disposition - August 15, 2013

Call Up Item 1A     Page 7Packet Page     475



Attachment A 
Notice of Disposition - August 15, 2013

Call Up Item 1A     Page 8Packet Page     476



Attachment A 
Notice of Disposition - August 15, 2013

Call Up Item 1A     Page 9Packet Page     477



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     478



Room name
101

150 SF

1t

101

CENTER LINE

DOOR NUMBER

WINDOW NUMBER

CONTROL POINT

1

A101

SIM
BUILDING SECTION
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

1

A101

SIM
WALL SECTION
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

A101
1

SIM
DETAIL OR ENLARGED DRAWING
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

1

ROOM NAME
ROOM NUMBER
AREA

EXTERIOR ELEVATION
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

INTERIOR ELEVATION
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

EQUIPMENT TAG:
LETTER = GROUP FUNCTION
NUMBER = ITEM NUMBER

PLUMBING TAG:
LETTER = PLUMBING TAG
NUMBER = ITEM NUMBER

A101
1

SIM
DETAIL DRAWING
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

P1

REVISION MARKER: TRIANGLE
CONTAINS REVISION DOCUMENT
NUMBER. REVISION DOCUMENT
IS NUMBERED IN TITLEBLOCK
AT RIGHT.  CLOUD INDICATES
AREA OF REVISION.

E1

A101

1

A101

1

1
A101

SIM DETAIL SECTION
REFERENCE DRAWING NUMBER

EARTH / COMPACT FILL

CONCRETE

GYPSUM BOARD

PLASTER / SAND

CMU BLOCK

PLYWOOD

WOOD

BATT INSULATION

RIGID INSULATION

STEEL

ROUGH WOOD

WOOD BLOCKING

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

7/
10

/2
01

3 
2:

11
:3

1 
PM

P:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

13
_G

os
sG

ro
ve

Co
ffe

e\
01

 d
ra

w
in

gs
\R

ev
it\

01
_U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
\1

3_
18

52
 A

RA
PA

HO
E_

Go
ss

Gr
ov

eC
of

fe
e 

- R
ev

is
io

ns
.rv

t

As indicated

T1.01

TITLE / GEN. INFORMATION

10 JULY 2013

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

SITE REVIEW

GENERAL NOTES
1-ALL WORK PERFORMED, INCLUDING MATERIALS FURNISHED, WORKMANSHIP, MEANS AND METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION
SHALL CONFORM WITH APPLICABLE AND LATEST REQUIREMENTS OF THE NATIONAL, STATE AND LOCAL BUILDING CODES,
ALL LOCAL AND STATE HANDICAP ACCESS AND USE REGULATIONS, ANY FIRE DEPARTMENT REGULATIONS, UTILITY COMPANY
REQUIREMENTS, LANDLORD'S RULES AND REGULATIONS, AND GENERAL CONDITIONS OF APPLICABLE OWNER/CONTRACTOR
AGREEMENT.

2-BEFORE COMMENCING WORK, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FILE ALL REQUIRED CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE WITH THE
OWNER, LANDLORD AND THE BUILDING DEPARTMENT, OBTAIN ALL REQUIRED PERMITS, AND PAY ALL FEES REQUIRED
BY THE GOVERNING AGENCIES.

3-THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT THE SITE AND VERIFY THAT ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS AGREE WITH INFORMATION SHOWN
ON THE DRAWINGS.  ANY CONFLICTS, OMISSIONS OR DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE
ARCHITECT FOR RESOLUTION PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.  NO ALLOWANCES WILL SUBSEQUENTLY BE MADE
ON HIS BEHALF FOR ANY ADDITIONAL EXPENSES WHICH ARE INCURRED DUE TO INSPECTION OF EXISTING CONDITIONS.

4-PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK, ORDERING OF MATERIALS AND SHOP FABRICATION OF ANY MATERIALS, THE CONTRACTOR
SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AS INDICATED ON THE DRAWING AND SHALL REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE
ARCHITECT FOR RESOLUTION.

5-DRAWINGS INDICATE LOCATION, DIMENSIONS, REFERENCES, AND TYPICAL DETAIL FOR CONSTRUCTION.  MINOR DETAILS
NOT USUALLY SHOWN OR SPECIFIED, BUT NECESSARY FOR PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF ANY PART OF THE WORK SHALL BE
INCLUDED AS IF THEY WERE INDICATED IN THE DRAWINGS.  FOR CONDITIONS NOT ILLUSTRATED, NOTIFY ARCHITECT FOR
CLARIFICATION AND OF SIMILAR DETAIL.

6-THE SCOPE OF WORK INCLUDES ALTERATION TO EXISTING FACILITIES.  WORK WHICH IS REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH THE
INTENT OF THE DESIGN SHALL BE PERFORMED TO PROVIDE A COMPLETE AND FINISHED PRODUCT, INCLUDING WORK WHICH
MAY NOT BE SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED ON THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, AND SHALL BE INCLUDED IN ALL BIDS.
CONTRACTOR TO INSPECT AT TIME OF DELIVERY ALL FIXTURES PROVIDED BY OWNER TO INSURE PROPER QUANTITY, THAT
ITEMS ARE DEFECT FREE, AND MATCH INVOICE.  CONTRACTOR TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR INSTALLATION, WHICH MAY INCLUDE
BLOCKING, SHIMING, ETC.  IT IS THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO COORDINATE ALL ITEMS SUPPLIED BY
OWNER'S VENDORS AND TO VERIFY THAT ALL MATERIALS RECEIVED ARE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFICATION HEREIN.
ANY DAMAGES ITEMS OR DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN MATERIALS SPECIFIED AND MATERIALS SHIPPED SHALL BE REPORTED TO
THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE PROMPTLY.

7-THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PROTECTION OF ALL INSTALLATIONS, CONDITIONS, MATERIALS AND
FINISHES WITHIN THE PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION AREA AND ALL ADJOINING PROPERTY AFFECTED BY CONTRACTOR'S
OPERATIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ADEQUATE SHORING AND BRACING FOR ALL STRUCTURAL REMOVAL TASKS.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR REMOVAL TASKS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE SOLE
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY DAMAGE OR INJURIES CAUSED BY OR DURING THE EXECUTION OF THE WORK.  ANY EXISTING
MATERIALS AND FINISHES WHICH ARE DAMAGED, SHALL BE REPLACED AS NECESSARY WITH NEW MATCHING MATERIAL AT
THE CONTRACTOR'S OWN COST AND EXPENSE.

8-THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DO ALL CUTTING, CHASING, CORE DRILLING, PATCHING AND REPAIRING AS REQUIRED TO
PERFORM ALL OF THE WORK THAT MAY BE INDICATED ON THE DRAWING, AND ALL OTHER WORK THAT MAY BE REQUIRED
TO COMPLETE THE JOB.  PATCHING SHALL MATCH ADJACENT SYSTEMS, MATERIALS AND FINISHES UNLESS OTHERWISE
NOTED.

9-CONTRACTOR SHALL EMPLOY ADEQUATE NUMBER OF SKILLED WORKMEN WHO ARE THOROUGHLY TRAINED AND
 EXPERIENCED IN THE NECESSARY CRAFTS AND WHO ARE COMPLETELY FAMILIAR WITH THE SPECIFIED REQUIREMENTS AND
THE METHODS NEEDED FOR PROPER PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK.  ALL WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED BY DULY LICENSED
TRADESMEN AND AS REQUIRED BY STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS FOR EACH APPLICABLE TRADE, (PLUMBING,
ELECTRICAL, ETC.) WHO SHALL ARRANGE FOR AND OBTAIN REQUIRED INSPECTIONS AND SIGNS OFFS.

10-THESE DRAWINGS ARE DIVIDED INTO SECTIONS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  CONTRACTOR, SUBCONTRACTORS, VENDORS
AND MATERIAL SUPPLIERS SHALL REFER TO ALL RELEVANT SECTIONS IN BIDDING AND PERFORMING THEIR WORK AND SHALL
BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL ASPECTS OF THEIR WORK REGARDLESS OF WHERE THE INFORMATION OCCURS ON THE DRAWINGS.

11-CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO COORDINATE WORK OF ALL TRADES AND SHALL PROVIDE ALL DIMENSIONS
REQUIRED FOR OTHER TRADES.  SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATION OF THEIR WORK WITH THE
WORK OF OTHERS, AND SHALL VERIFY THAT ANY WORK RELATING TO THEM WHICH MUST BE PROVIDED BY OTHERS, HAS
BEEN COMPLETED AND IS ADEQUATE PRIOR TO COMMENCING THEIR WORK.

12-CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE STRUCTURAL BACKING/BLOCKING FOR ALL WALL AND CEILING MOUNTED FIXTURES,
FINISHES, EQUIPMENT, BATH ACCESSORIES, ETC.

13-CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL ALL MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT AS PER MANUFACTURER'S WRITTEN INSTRUCTION AND/OR
RECOMMENDATIONS.

14-CONTRACTOR SHALL AT ALL TIMES DURING THE COURSE OF THE CONTRACT KEEP THE ADJOINING PREMISES, INCLUDING
STREET AND OTHER AREAS ASSIGNED TO OR USED BY THE CONTRACTOR, FREE FROM ACCUMULATIONS OF WASTE
MATERIALS AND RUBBISH CAUSED BY CONTRACTOR'S AND SUBCONTRACTOR'S EMPLOYEES.

15-CONTRACTOR SHALL ASSIST WITH DELIVERY AND STORAGE OF OWNER SUPPLIED ITEMS, AND DISPOSE OF ANY
RESULTING TRASH.

16-CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY WITH OWNER AND IMPLEMENT ALL LANDLORD CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN CRITERIA, SHOWN
ON THIS SET OF DRAWINGS OR ACKNOWLEDGED IN WRITING.

17-CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS FOR ALL TRADES PRIOR TO INSTALLATION, AND SAMPLES OF ALL
 MATERIAL AND COLOR FINISHES FOR ARCHITECTS APPROVAL.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE TIMELY AND COMPLETE DATA
ON ANY DEVIATION/SUBSTITUTION FROM CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

18-CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR A THOROUGH, PROFESSIONAL CLEANING OF THE ENTIRE FACILITY PRIOR TO
OWNER TAKEOVER DATE.  ALL EXPOSED HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SURFACES INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE
FOLLOWING MUST BE WIPED CLEAN AND FREE OF DUST: WALLS, EXPOSED STRUCTURAL MEMBERS, STAIRS AND RAILINGS,
CABINETRY, LIGHTING FIXTURES/LAMPS, DUCT WORK, SPRINKLER PIPES, STOREFRONT SYSTEMS, INTERIOR/ EXTERIOR
GLAZING, ETC. ALL FLOORS MUST BE MOPPED CLEAN.

19-CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE THREE (3) COPIES OF AS BUILT INFORMATION, OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE MANUALS,
INCLUDING ALL PRODUCT GUARANTEES AND WARRANTIES.

20-CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR A CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY PRIOR TO FINAL RETAINAGE INVOICE, ANY AND ALL
TRADE TESTING AND SIGNOFFS, AND SHALL VERIFY THAT THEY HAVE BEEN SECURED AS ISSUED BY REQUIRED LOCAL
AUTHORITIES PRIOR TO OWNER OCCUPANCY.

21-CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ARCHITECT WITH SAMPLES OF ALL FINISHES, TEXTURES, AND COLORS (10) BUSINESS
DAYS PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

SYMBOL LEGEND

ABBREVIATIONS

& AND
@ AT
# NUMBER
C COPYRIGHT
A/C AIR CONDITIONING
ADD. ADDENDUM
ADJ. ADJUSTABLE
ALT. ALTERNATE
A.F.F. ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR
ALUM. ALUMINUM
APPROX. APPROXIMATE
BLDG. BUILDING
B.O. BOTTOM OF
BTWN. BETWEEN
B.U.R. BUILT UP ROOF
CAB. CABINET
CEM CEMENT
CER. CERAMIC
C.I.P. CAST IN PLACE
CLG. CEILING
CLR. CLEARANCE
C.J. CONTROL JOINT
CLOS. CLOSET
COL. COLUMN
CONC. CONCRETE
CONT. CONTINUOUS OR CONTINUE
D DEPTH
DTL. DETAIL
D.F. DRINKING FOUNTAIN
DR DOOR
D.S. DOWN SPOUT
DWR. DRAWER
(E) EXISTING
E.J. EXPANSION JOINT
EL. ELEVATION
ELEC. ELECTRIC(AL)
EQ. EQUAL
EXT. EXTERIOR
FIN. FINISH
F.F. FINISH FLOOR
FT. FOOT/FEET
GA. GAUGE
G.C. GENERAL CONTRACTOR
GL. GLASS
GWB GYPSUM WALL BOARD
HDR. HEADER
HOR. HORIZONTAL
H.P. HIGH POINT
HT. HEIGHT
HVAC HEATING/VENTILATION/AIR CONDITIONING

IN. INCHES
INSTAL. INSTALLATION
INSUL. INSULATION
JAN. JANITOR
LAM. LAMINATE
LAV. LAVATORY
MAX. MAXIMUM
MECH. MECHANICAL
MIN. MINIMUM
MTL. METAL
(N) NEW
NAT. NATURAL
N.I.C. NOT IN CONTRACT
N.T.S. NOT TO SCALE
O.C. ON CENTER
PART. PARTITION
P-LAM PLASTIC LAMINATE
PLYWD. PLYWOOD
RE: REFER(ED)
REINF. REINFORCING
REQ'D REQUIRED
RM. ROOM
R.O. ROUGH OPENING
SCHED. SCHEDULE
S.F. SQUARE FEET
SHT. SHEET
SPEC. SPECIFICATION(S)
SQ. SQUARE
STN. STL. STAINLESS STEEL
STL. STEEL
STRUCT. STRUCTURAL
T&G TONGUE AND GROOVE
T.B.D. TO BE DETERMINED
T.B.S. TO BE SELECTED
TEL. TELEPHONE
T.O. TO OF
TYP. TYPICAL
VERT. VERTICAL
VNR. VENEER
V.I.F. VERIFY IN FEILD
WT. WIDTH
W/ WITH
W.C. WATER CLOSET
W.I.C. WALK IN CLOSET
WD. WOOD
W.H. WATER HEATER
WIN. WINDOW
VCT VINYL COMPOSITE TILE

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

PROJECT DIRECTORY

INDEX OF DRAWINGS

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS: WINTER CIGAR COMPANY BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER, CO 80302

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: A PARCEL LOCATED IN THE NE 1/4 OR SEC. 31, 
T1N R70W, 6TH P.M., BOULDER COUNTY, 
COLORADO DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
978097, BOULDER COUNTY RECORDS

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: REMODEL EXISITNG SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED 
RESIDENCE TO COFFEE SHOP.

SQUARE FOOTAGE: COFFEE SHOP: 2,277 SF

LOT AREA 7,000 SF

PERMITTING AUTHORITY: CITY OF BOULDER

ZONING: RH-1

OWNER: ARAPAHOE MERCANTILE COMPANY, LLC
1000 BROADWAY SUITE 210
BOULDER, CO 80302

ARCHITECT: ARCH 11, INC
3100 CARBON PL, #100
BOULDER, CO 80301
[P]  303 546 6868
[F]  303 433 3910
www.arch11.com

E.J. MEADE, ARCHITECT
X106
[C] 303 579 3098
ejmeade@arch11.com

JAMES TREWITT, PROJECT MANAGER
X101
jtrewitt@arch11.com

LOCATION MAP

VICINITY MAP

DRAWING LIST

DRAWING # TITLE ISSUE DATES REVISION DATE
CURRENT REVISION

DESCRIPTION

T1.01 TITLE / GEN. INFORMATION 05.06.2013
T1.02 SITE PLANS 05.06.2013
T1.03 PHOTOGRAPHS 05.06.2013
A1.01 FLOOR PLANS 05.06.2013
A2.01 EXISTING EXT. ELEVATIONS 05.06.2013
A2.02 PROPOSED EXT. ELEVATIONS 05.06.2013

No. Description Date

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 10Packet Page     479



EXISTING ELECTRICAL
METERS

EXISTING GAS
METER TO REMAIN

EXISTING HYDRANT

PLANTER

PL
AN

TI
N

G
 S

TR
IP

EXISTING 2,275 SQ. FT
ONE  STORY BUILDING

TELECOM. EASEMENT AREA43' - 0" 4' - 6"

A2.021

A2.02

2

A2.02

3

A2.02 4

EXISTING STREET TREE TO REMAIN

NORTH

OPEN SPACE

2' - 0"

NEW GATE W/ PANIC
HARDWARE

LOADING

GRADE EQUAL

NEW TRASH ENCLOSURE

NEW STREET TREE

4

5

6

1

2

COMPACT

3

STANDARD

7

COMPACT

STANDARD

STANDARD

STANDARD

(10) BIKE PARKING SPACES

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

7'
 - 

9"
7'

 - 
9"

9'
 - 

0"
9'

 - 
0"

9'
 - 

0"
9'

 - 
0"

8'
 - 

0"
8'

 - 
0"

7'
 - 

0"

24' - 0"

NEW ADA RAMP

WOOD PATIO TO BE EXPANDED

49' - 6"

EXISTING GATE TO BE REMOVED,
REPLACE W/ FENCING TO
MATCH EXISTING

PLANTING STRIP

EXISTING CURB CUT TO BE REMOVED

5'
 - 

0"

NEW BIKE RACK PROVIDED IN COMPLIANCE WITH
SECTIONS 9-9-6(B) & 9-9-6(G) OF BOULDER REVISED
CODE & SECTION 2.11(E) OF BOULDER DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS

NEW WALL MOUNTED
BIKE STORAGE

NEW CONCRETE WALK &
RAMP

19' - 0"

TYP.

3' - 6" 2' - 6"2' - 6"

4' - 0"

15' - 0" 28' - 0"

8'
 - 

2 
1/

2"

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

PA
R

KI
N

G
N

EW
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

NEW OPENING AT FENCE INTO SITE
TO ACCESS BIKE RACKS, DECK

AND DOOR TO COFFEE SHOP

EXISTING CURB CUT TO BE REMOVED

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING FENCE, TO
REMAIN

EXISTING FENCE, TO
REMAIN

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING ELECTRICAL METERS

GAS METER

EXISTING HYDRANT

PLANTER

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
 S

TR
IP

EXISTING 2,275 SQ. FT
ONE  STORY BUILDING

CONC. STEP

GATE

EXISTING GATE

1

2

3 STANDARD

STANDARD

STANDARD

TELECOM. EASEMENT AREA

4

5

6 STANDARD

7 STANDARD

STANDARD

STANDARD

2' - 0" 19' - 0"

8 STANDARD

EQ
EQ

EQ
EQ

EQ
EQ

EQ

9 STANDARD

10 STANDARD

20
' -

 0
"

20
' -

 0
"

17' - 0" 9' - 0" 2' - 6"

50' - 0"

2'
 - 

6"

A2.01

3

A2.012

A2.01

1

A2.01 4

EXISTING WOOD RAMP

NORTH

EXISTING OPEN SPACE

EXSITING GATE TO REMAIN

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TR
EE

T
PA

R
KI

N
G

EXISTING PLANTING STRIP

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING FENCE, TO
REMAIN

EXISTING FENCE, TO
REMAIN

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

7/
22

/2
01

3 
11

:3
0:

06
 A

M
P:

\P
ro

je
ct

s\
13

_G
os

sG
ro

ve
Co

ffe
e\

01
 d

ra
w

in
gs

\R
ev

it\
01

_U
se

 R
ev

ie
w

\1
3_

18
52

 A
RA

PA
HO

E_
Go

ss
Gr

ov
eC

of
fe

e 
- R

ev
is

io
ns

.rv
t

 1/8" = 1'-0"

T1.02

SITE PLANS

19 JULY 2013

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

SITE REVIEW

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"1 PROPOSED SITE PLAN
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"2 EXISTING SITE PLAN

SITE AREA
FLOOR AREA

TOTAL:
LOT COVERAGE

BUILDING FOOT PRINT:
OPEN SPACE AREA:
PARKING AREA:

RESIDENTIAL UNIT:
COFFEE SHOP: N/A

2,275 S.F.
1,218 S.F. 1,412 S.F.

2,275 S.F.

2,275 S.F.
N/A

2,275 S.F.
2,275 S.F.
2,275 S.F.

3,507 S.F. 3,313 S.F.

LAND USE SUMMARY TABLE
EXISTING PROPOSED

7,000 S.F.7,000 S.F.

No. Description Date

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 11Packet Page     480



SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

2/
16

/2
01

2
5:

44
:1

5 
PM

P:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

10
_1

85
2A

ra
pa

ho
e\

01
 d

ra
w

in
gs

\R
EV

IT
\1

2_
18

52
 A

RA
PA

HO
E.

rv
t

1/4" = 1'-0"

1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

T1.03

PHOTGRAPHS

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING

No. Description Date

SCALE: NTS1 HISTORIC CONDITION | VIEW TO SOUTH WEST

SCALE: NTS3 EXISTING CONDITIONS | VIEW FROM 19th

SCALE: NTS2 EXISTING CONDITIONS | VIEW TO SOUTH WEST

SCALE: NTS4 EXISTING CONDITIONS | VIEW OF PARKING LOT

10 JULY 2013

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 12Packet Page     481



EXISTING BRICK PLANTER

ARAPAHOE

19
TH

NEW 275 SF
WOOD DECK

DOWN

DW

ICE
MACHINE

DELI CASE

GRAB-N-GO

WALK IN COOLER

NEW GATE W/
PANIC

HARDWARE

INFILL EXISTING
DOOR

NEW WALL MOUNTED BICYCLE
RACK FOR (4) EMPLOYEE
BICYCLES

PL
AN

TI
N

G
 S

TR
IP

PLANTING STRIP

NEW CONCRETE
LANDING & RAMP

N
EW

 C
O

N
C

R
ET

E
W

AL
K

3'
 - 

3 
1/

2"

EXISTING ELECTRICAL
METERS

3' - 0" 1' - 6"

UP 2 RISERS
@ 6"

EXISTING FENCE, TO REMAIN PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

UP 2 RISERS
@

7"

EXISTING STUCCO PLANTER

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TU
C

C
O

 P
LA

N
TE

R

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
 S

TR
IP

ARAPAHOE

19
TH

EXIST WOOD
PATIO TO BE

REMOVED

CONCRETE WALK
TO REMAIN

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMN, TYP

2 RISERS UP, TO
BE REMOVED

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMN, TYP

EXISTING PLANTER

CONCRETE STEP
TO BE REMOVED

DOWN

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL UNIT: 2,275 S.F.

EXSITING GATE TO
REMAIN

EXISTING BRICK PLANTEREXISTING PLANTING STRIP

VEGETATION

VE
G

ET
AT

IO
N

EXISTING FENCE, TO REMAIN PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

7/
10

/2
01

3 
2:

11
:2

5 
PM

P:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

13
_G

os
sG

ro
ve

Co
ffe

e\
01

 d
ra

w
in

gs
\R

ev
it\

01
_U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
\1

3_
18

52
 A

RA
PA

HO
E_

Go
ss

Gr
ov

eC
of

fe
e 

- R
ev

is
io

ns
.rv

t

 1/4" = 1'-0"

A1.01

FLOOR PLANS

10 JULY 2013

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

SITE REVIEW

SCALE:  1/4" = 1'-0"1 PROPOSED PLAN
SCALE:  1/4" = 1'-0"2 EXISTING  PLAN

No. Description Date

NEW STEEL HANDRAILS WITH
EDGE PROTECTION BARRIER

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 13Packet Page     482



T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

EXISTING WOOD SIDING

EXISTING WOOD
AWNING

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMNS, TYP.

EXISTING
STUCCO
FINISH

EXISTING STUCCO
PLANTERS

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

EXISTING WOOD SIDING

EXISTING WOOD
AWNING

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMNS, TYP.

EXISTING
STUCCO FINISH

EXISTING STUCCO
PLANTERS

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

WOOD SIDING

EXISTING WOOD SIDING

EXISTING WOOD
AWNING

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMN

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

BASEMENT
93' - 0"

T.O. PLATE
110' - 0"

LEVEL 4
114' - 0"

EXISTING WOOD SIDING

EXISTING WOOD
AWNING

EXISTING WOOD
COLUMNS, TYP.

EXISTING
STUCCO FINISH

EXISTING STUCCO
PLANTER

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

7/
10

/2
01

3 
2:

11
:2

7 
PM

P:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

13
_G

os
sG

ro
ve

Co
ffe

e\
01

 d
ra

w
in

gs
\R

ev
it\

01
_U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
\1

3_
18

52
 A

RA
PA

HO
E_

Go
ss

Gr
ov

eC
of

fe
e 

- R
ev

is
io

ns
.rv

t

 1/8" = 1'-0"

A2.01

EXISTING EXT. ELEVATIONS

10 JULY 2013

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

SITE REVIEW

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"1 EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"2 EXISTING EAST ELEVATION

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"3 EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"4 EXISTING WEST ELEVATION No. Description Date

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 14Packet Page     483



T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD SIDING

NEW STUCCO FINISH TO MATCH
BENJAMIN MOORE COLOR OC-48

(HAZY SKIES) REMOVE EXISTING
STUCCO PLANTERS

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD AWNING &
ASSOCIATED
STRUCTURE

EXISTING WINDOWS TO
REMAIN

17
' -

 7
 3

/4
"

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD SIDING NEW STUCCO

FINISH

REMOVE EXISTING
STUCCO PLANTERS

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD AWNING &

ASSOCIATED
STRUCTURE

NEW CONCRETE
LANDING

EXISTING WINDOWS
TO REMAIN, TYP.

NEW STUCCO FINISH
TO MATCH BENJAMIN
MOORE COLOR OC-48
(HAZY SKIES)

(2) NEW WINDOWS,
TO MATCH EXISTING

NEW AWNING TO
COVER BIKE RACK &
EMERGENCY
EGRESS

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD SIDING

REMOVE EXISTING
STUCCO PLANTERS

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD AWNING &
ASSOCIATED
STRUCTURE

EXISTING WOOD SIDING,
PAINT TO MATCH NEW
STUCCO COLOR

NEW WALL MOUNTED
BICYCLE RACK

T.O. FINISH FLOOR
100' - 0"

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD SIDING

NEW STUCCO FINISH TO
MATCH BENJAMIN MOORE

COLOR OC-48 (HAZY SKIES)

REMOVE EXISTING
STUCCO PLANTERS

REMOVE EXISTING
WOOD AWNING &

ASSOCIATED
STRUCTURE

NEW WALL MOUNTED
BICYCLE RACK FOR (4)
EMPLOYEE BICYCLES

NEW CONCRETE WALK & RAMP

SCALE:

PROJECT NUMBER:

ISSUE DATE:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

COPYRIGHT 2013 - THESE DRAWINGS AND THE DESIGN THEY
REPRESENT REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF ARCH 11, INC. AND
ARE INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION AT THE
STATED LOCATION. ANY UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR
OTHER USE OF THESE DRAWINGS OR DESIGN IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED.

PHASE:

7/
10

/2
01

3 
2:

11
:3

0 
PM

P:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

13
_G

os
sG

ro
ve

Co
ffe

e\
01

 d
ra

w
in

gs
\R

ev
it\

01
_U

se
 R

ev
ie

w
\1

3_
18

52
 A

RA
PA

HO
E_

Go
ss

Gr
ov

eC
of

fe
e 

- R
ev

is
io

ns
.rv

t

 1/8" = 1'-0"

A2.02

PROPOSED EXT. ELEVATIONS

10 JULY 2013

HO

JT

WINTER CIGAR CO.
BUILDING
1852 ARAPAHOE AVENUE
BOULDER CO, 80302

SITE REVIEW

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"1 PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION
SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"2 PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"3 PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"4 PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION

No. Description Date

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 15Packet Page     484



 
 July 11, 2013
1852

 
Arapahoe

 
Avenue

  
 
 Coffee Shop Management Plan 
 
Hours of Operation: 6:00am-11:00pm Monday-Friday  
7:00am-11:00pm Saturday; 7:00am-11:00pm Sunday  
 
Shop Size: 2,275 square feet including ‘back of house’, bar area, bathrooms and seating area.  
Seating  :  50  inside / 12  outside (275 sq. ft. patio/ deck). 
  
Shop Characteristics: Casual neighborhood coffee shop/cafe, a few tables and counter space.  
Serve coffees, sandwiches and snacks for here and to-go.  Some on-site food preparation.  Quiet 
atmosphere with free internet and occasional live performance/music.  
 
Number of Employees: Full time: 3-4; part time: 1-4.  
 
Patronage: Approximately 250-400 patrons per day.  
 
Parking:  7 spaces located behind the building, including 1 handicap space.  
Bike rack(s) will be available on site providing 10 spaces for patrons and 4 long term spaces for employees.    
Most patrons expected to be on foot or bike.  
Most employees expected/encouraged to walk or ride, ECO passes will be provided to all employees.  
RTD stops are located on both sides of Arapahoe within a block of the shop.  
 
Trash and Recycling: Weekly pickup of both trash and recycling.  
Dumpster located in alley.  
 
Deliveries: Pastries and Newspapers between 4:40am-7am daily.  
Milk between 6:30am-1:00pm 2-3 times per week.  
All others between 10:00am-6pm.  
All deliveries will be through parking lot and rear ADA door. 
 
Noise: No live outdoor music, DJs, or bands. 
Live performance indoors 1-2 week (music, poetry readings, etc.) no later than 9pm.  
Patio will have small outdoor speakers to play music from iPod at low volume, no later than 9pm.    
 

 

Attachment B - Approved Plans and Management Plan

Call Up Item 1A     Page 16Packet Page     485



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     486



 

 

USE REVIEW CRITERIA 

Criteria for Review: No use review application will be approved unless the 
approving agency finds all of the following: 

Y (1) Consistency with Zoning and Non-Conformity: The use is consistent with the 
purpose of the zoning district as set forth in Section 9-5-21(c), "Zoning Districts 
Purposes," B.R.C. 1981, except in the case of a non-conforming use; 

 
The project is within the Residential High-1 (RH-1) zone district, which is defined as:  
 

“High density residential areas primarily used for a variety of types of attached 
residential units, including, without limitation, apartment buildings, and where 
complementary uses may be allowed” (section 9-5-2(c)(1)(F), B.R.C. 1981).   

 
The proposed coffee shop is consistent with the definition of the RH-1 zone district as it will 
be a neighborhood scale service use that is complimentary to the existing and surrounding 
vibrant pedestrian oriented neighborhood. 
 

Y (2) Rationale: The use either: 
 

Y (A)      Provides direct service or convenience to or reduces adverse impacts to the 
surrounding uses or neighborhood; 

 
The proposed coffee shop will provide a direct service/convenience to the 
neighborhood. Currently, there are a limited number of neighborhood service retail 
uses in proximity to the existing high density residential development that provide 
convenience to pedestrians as well as a neighborhood scale gathering place. 
 
As part of the applicant’s development proposal, they have included a 
management plan that intends to mitigate adverse impacts, including limiting the 
hours of operation to 11 p.m., outdoor music to 9 p.m. and indoor acoustic 
performances to 9 p.m.  
 

N/A (B) Provides a compatible transition between higher intensity and lower 
intensity uses;  

 
N/A (C) Is necessary to foster a specific city policy, as expressed in the Boulder 

Valley Comprehensive Plan, including, without limitation, historic 
preservation, moderate income housing, residential and non-residential 
mixed uses in appropriate locations, and group living arrangements for 
special populations; or 

 

Case #:  LUR2013-00020  
 
Project Name: 1852 Arapahoe Coffee 
Shop Expansion 
 
Date: July 18, 2013 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 17Packet Page     487



N/A (D) Is an existing legal non-conforming use or a change thereto that is permitted 
under subsection (e) of this section; 

 
Y 3) Compatibility: The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed 

development or change to an existing development are such that the use will be 
reasonably compatible with and have minimal negative impact on the use of nearby 
properties or for residential uses in industrial zoning districts, the proposed 
development reasonably mitigates the potential negative impacts from nearby 
properties; 

 
The location, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed coffee shop use are 
compatible with the active, pedestrian oriented neighborhood. The applicant has proposed a 
management plan that will help mitigate adverse impacts to the surrounding neighborhood 
by limiting deliveries to the hours of 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. and indoor performances, including 
poetry readings and small (one-person acoustic band) music venues to end at 9 p.m. 
 
The project site, located along a major transit corridor and a highly traveled pedestrian 
corridor, 19th Street, that links the University Colorado main campus to the Goss Grove 
neighborhood and downtown as well as the adjacent multi-family residential development, is 
an appropriate location for the proposed coffee shop. Additionally, Boulder High School and 
the Naropa campuses also generate pedestrian activity in the area.  
 
The coffee shop will maintain hours of operation (6 a.m. to 11 p.m., Monday through Sunday) 
that are compatible with other neighborhood late night uses in proximity to the site, including 
the Pita Pit (1509 Arapahoe Ave.) and Jalino’s Pizza (1647 Arapahoe Ave.), both of which 
close after midnight. In addition, there are a number of more traditional neighborhood retail 
and service uses in the area such as Arapahoe Import Services (1722 Arapahoe Ave.), 
Rocky Mountain Anglers (1904 Arapahoe Ave.), Arapahoe Motors (1914 Arapahoe Ave.), 
Boulder Stained Glass (1920 Arapahoe Ave.), and Flippin’ Burgers (2000 Arapahoe Ave.), all 
of which are generally open during daytime hours with early evening closing times. 
 
Since the proposed coffee shop is not considered “a late night” use, it is not anticipated to 
generate safety concerns or contribute to quality of life impacts on the surrounding 
residential uses.  
 
As part of the development proposal the applicant is requesting an increase in the parking 
reduction that was previously granted from 30 percent to 57 percent, which requires Site 
Review approval. Given the location of the project site along a major pedestrian corridor that 
links the Goss Grove neighborhood to the University of Colorado main campus, Boulder 
Valley High School, Naropa University and the adjacent high density residential uses, the 
proposed coffee shop will cater to a primarily pedestrian, neighborhood based clientele. On-
site bicycle parking will be provided in excess of what is required (three spaces required 
where 14 are provided), in addition to providing bus passes to employees, which will 
encourage the use of alternative means of transportation.  

 
Because the development proposal includes restoration of the existing building façade back 
to its circa 1930s retail façade, it will not only improve the existing deteriorating condition of 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 18Packet Page     488



the building, but also contribute to  the historic (and somewhat eclectic) architecture already 
present along Arapahoe Avenue and within the Goss Grove neighborhood. In addition, the 
proposed façade changes will result in a building that once again addresses the street and 
that will enhance the pedestrian experience while contributing to a more engaging street life 
with a well-pronounced main building entrance at the corner. New street trees will be 
required and will contribute to the enhancing the streetscape as well.  
 

N/A (4) Infrastructure: As compared to development permitted under Section 9-6-1, 
"Schedule of Permitted Uses of Land," B.R.C. 1981, in the zone, or as compared to 
the existing level of impact of a non-conforming use, the proposed development will 
not significantly adversely affect the infrastructure of the surrounding area, 
including, without limitation, water, wastewater, and storm drainage utilities and 
streets; 

 
N/A. The infrastructure required to serve the proposed use is existing. No additional 
infrastructure is required as a result of this proposal. 
 

Y  (5) Character of Area: The use will not change the predominant character of the 
surrounding area; and 

 
The predominant character of the area can be identified as vibrant and pedestrian rich based 
on the mix of residential and educational uses in close proximity to the site, including three 
main campuses, Naropa, University of Colorado and Boulder Valley High. The site is also 
located on the outer edge of the Goss Grove neighborhood, where Arapahoe Avenue and 
19th Street both serve as direct pedestrian links to the University of Colorado main campus, 
Naropa’s main campus and Boulder High School.   
 
Currently, the corner of Arapahoe Avenue and 19th Street is an inactive space in the 
Arapahoe streetscape as the current use as a private residence accessed from the alley 
does not address the street. The residential use does not engage the street as there are no 
building entries or transparent windows located along the street facing side of the building. 
The nature of the proposed use being an active, public use will provide a much more vibrant 
and pedestrian oriented street frontage by providing a public nonresidential neighborhood 
amenity and gathering place. 
 
In addition, the proposed façade restoration will create an active and enhanced streetscape 
with the addition of street trees as well as building entrances at the street along a highly 
traveled pedestrian route; and complement the historic architectural fabric of the Goss Grove 
neighborhood. 

 
N   (6) Conversion of Dwelling Units to Non-Residential Uses: There shall be a 

presumption against approving the conversion of dwelling units in the residential 
zoning districts set forth in Subsection 9-5-2(c)(1)(a), B.R.C. 1981, to non-
residential uses that are allowed pursuant to a use review, or through the change 
of one non-conforming use to another non-conforming use. The presumption 
against such a conversion may be overcome by a finding that the use to be 
approved serves another compelling social, human services, governmental, or 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 19Packet Page     489



recreational need in the community including, without limitation, a use for a day 
care center, park, religious assembly, social service use, benevolent organization 
use, art or craft studio space, museum, or an educational use. 

 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan goals and policies promote creating housing 
and preserving existing housing including: 

 

 Creating more affordable housing, and mitigating the impacts of traffic 
congestion. (From BVCP Policy 1.19 Jobs:Housing Balance). 

 Providing options for people to live, work and shop within close proximity. 
(BVCP Policy 2.16 Mixed Use and High Density Development). 

 Creating livable residential neighborhoods that offer a different type of living 
environment than is currently offered in the city. (BVCP 7.10 Balancing Housing 
Supply with Employment Base). 

 
More recently, the city has launched a new initiative that aims to develop a housing 
strategy for the next generation and related implementation tools to respond to current 
and projected housing issues in Boulder. Since the late 1990s, when the city last 
undertook a comprehensive housing planning effort, the city’s affordable housing 
program has evolved and the local housing market has changed in many ways. To date, 
City Council has held two related study sessions to establish guiding principles and key 
assumptions. An interdepartmental team has also analyzed demographic, economic, 
and housing market data. Several early conclusions from this analysis are that Boulder:  
 

 Is losing middle income households;  

 Continues to see significant housing price increases;  

 Has a very low rental vacancy rate that is causing rents to rise; 
and  

 Has a single family detached housing stock that is increasingly out of reach for 
middle income households while remaining affordable in surrounding 
communities.  
 

The next steps in this effort are to conduct a more detailed housing assessment that 
includes a choices analysis (i.e., what specific factors influence different households 
decision to live in Boulder versus surrounding communities), best practices research, 
and identification of opportunity areas. Phase 1, “Foundations for Action” will be 
complete in the fall of 2013. The outcomes of this phase will drive the scope and 
schedule for Phase 2, Strategic Direction into 2014.  

 
This criterion seeks to preserve residential units, except where a compelling social, 
human services, governmental, or creational need in the community is found, which is 
directly in line with the city’s recent and past efforts to provide additional housing and 
preserve existing housing stock. Staff has identified a “compelling social or human 
services need” as an entity or service, such as a non-profit, that provides services to 
traditionally underserved segments of the population, including low income households 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 20Packet Page     490



or disabled persons, or an entity that provides needed social services such as a day care 
center or senior center. 

 
Staff finds the conversion of the existing residence to a non-residential use, specifically a 
coffee shop that is otherwise permitted, but at a smaller scale under a previous approval 
(LUR2012-00011), is not supportable under staff’s interpretation of the use serving a 
"compelling need."     

 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 21Packet Page     491



 
 
CRITERIA FOR REVIEW 
 
No site review application shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 
 
(1) Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan: 
 
_N_(A) The proposed site plan is consistent with the land use map and the service area map 
and, on balance, the policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 
 
As indicated by the map at the right, the property is designated as Residential High (HR) by the 
BVCP.  As noted in the BVCP, areas designated as Residential High are defined as having 
densities of 14 or more dwelling units per acre.   
 
The project is site is zoned Residential High -1 (RH-1) which is defined as:  
 

“High density residential areas primarily used for a variety of types of attached residential units, 
including, without limitation, apartment buildings, and where complementary uses may be 
allowed” (section 9-5-2(c)(1)(F), B.R.C. 1981).   

 
The proposed coffee shop is consistent with the definition of the RH-1 zone district as it will be a 
neighborhood scale service use that is complimentary to the existing and surrounding vibrant 
pedestrian oriented neighborhood. 
 
That said, the development proposal was not found to be consistent with the BVCP goals and 
policies that speak to providing housing options and balancing housing supply with employment 
base. Overall, staff found that the development proposal to convert the existing residential unit to a 
non-residential use was not consistent with Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, 
which speak to:  
 

 Creating more affordable housing, and mitigating the impacts of traffic congestion. 
(From BVCP Policy 1.19 Jobs:Housing Balance). 

 Providing options for people to live, work and shop within close proximity. (BVCP 
Policy 2.16 Mixed Use and High Density Development). 

 Creating livable residential neighborhoods that offer a different type of living 
environment than is currently offered in the city. (BVCP 7.10 Balancing Housing 
Supply with Employment Base). 

 
Therefore, staff could not make a finding that the development proposal is consistent with the Site 
Review criteria.   
 
N/A (B) The proposed development shall not exceed the maximum density associated with 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan residential land use designation.  
 
The development proposal is nonresidential only. 
 

Case #:  LUR2013-00037 
 
Project Name:  1852 Arapahoe Coffee 
Shop Expansion 
 
Date: July 18, 2013 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 22Packet Page     492

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=15557&Itemid=5169


_Y_(C) The proposed development’s success in meeting the broad range of BVCP 
policies considers the economic feasibility of implementation techniques require to meet 
other site review criteria. 
 
As a result of the development proposal, no public amenities are required that would render the 
development proposal economically infeasible. 
 
(2) Site Design: Projects should preserve and enhance the community's unique sense of place 
through creative design that respects historic character, relationship to the natural environment, 
multi-modal transportation connectivity and its physical setting. Projects should utilize site design 
techniques which are consistent with the purpose of site review in subsection (a) of this section and 
enhance the quality of the project. In determining whether this subsection is met, the approving 
agency will consider the following factors: 
 
_Y_(A) Open Space: Open space, including, without limitation, parks, recreation areas, 
and playgrounds: 
 

_Y_(i) Useable open space is arranged to be accessible and functional and incorporates 
quality landscaping, a mixture of sun and shade and places to gather; 
 
Open space is provided in excess of what is required (10-20 percent of the roughly 7,000 
square-foot lot) with 1,412 square feet. As part of the open space program, the 
development proposal provides open space areas in a variety of forms and sizes, including 
a deck providing an outdoor gathering space with covered seating and landscape yards 
providing screening and separation between uses.  
 
N/A (ii) Private open space is provided for each detached residential unit; 

 
 The development proposal does not include residential uses. 
 

N/A (iii) The project provides for the preservation of or mitigation of adverse impacts 
to natural features, including, without limitation, healthy long-lived trees, significant 
plant communities, ground and surface water, wetlands, riparian areas, drainage 
areas and species on the federal Endangered Species List, "Species of Special 
Concern in Boulder County" designated by Boulder County, or prairie dogs 
(Cynomys ludiovicianus), which is a species of local concern, and their habitat; 
 
There are no natural features present on the project site. 
 
N/A (iv) The open space provides a relief to the density, both within the project and 
from surrounding development; 
 
The development proposal is not residential in nature.  
 
_Y_(v) Open space designed for active recreational purposes is of a size that it will 
be functionally useable and located in a safe and convenient proximity to the uses 
to which it is meant to serve; 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 23Packet Page     493



 
The open spaces provided on site provide for passive recreation opportunities, including a 
patio area. In addition, the open space amenities are all accessible spaces that encourage 
connectivity through the site. 
 
N/A (vi) The open space provides a buffer to protect sensitive environmental 
features and natural areas; and 
 
There are no natural features present on the project site. 
 
N/A (vii) If possible, open space is linked to an area- or city-wide system. 

 
N/A (B) Open Space in Mixed Use Developments (Developments that contain a mix of 
residential and non-residential uses) 
 
_Y_(C) Landscaping 
 

_Y_(i) The project provides for aesthetic enhancement and a variety of plant and hard 
surface materials, and the selection of materials provides for a variety of colors and 
contrasts and the preservation or use of local native vegetation where appropriate; 
 
Based on the linformation provided, the landscape proposed will provide an improvement 
of the dilapidated condition of the existing landscape materials on site, including street 
trees and landscape side yards. 
 
Prior to building permit submittal detailed landscape plan, including size, quantity, and type 
of plants existing and proposed; type and quality of non-living landscaping materials; any 
site grading proposed; and any irrigation system proposed, to insure compliance with this 
approval and the City's landscaping requirements.  Removal of trees must receive prior 
approval of the Planning Department.  Removal of any tree in City right of way must also 
receive prior approval of the City Forester. 
 
N/A (ii) Landscape design attempts to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts to 
important native species, plant communities of special concern, threatened and 
endangered species and habitat by integrating the existing natural environment into 
the project; 
 
Not applicable; there are not native species or plant communities of special concern 
associated with the project site. 
 
_Y_(iii) The project provides significant amounts of plant material sized in excess of 
the landscaping requirements of sections 9-9-12, "Landscaping and Screening 
Standards" and 9-9-13, "Streetscape Design Standards," B.R.C. 1981; and 
 
Based on the information provided, the landscape proposed will provide an improvement 
of the dilapidated condition of the existing landscape materials on site, including street 
trees and landscape side yards.  

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 24Packet Page     494

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_12
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_13


 
Prior to building permit submittal detailed landscape plan, including size, quantity, and type 
of plants existing and proposed; type and quality of non-living landscaping materials; any 
site grading proposed; and any irrigation system proposed, to insure compliance with this 
approval and the City's landscaping requirements.  Removal of trees must receive prior 
approval of the Planning Department.  Removal of any tree in City right of way must also 
receive prior approval of the City Forester. 
 
_Y_(iv) The setbacks, yards, and useable open space along public rights-of-way are 
landscaped to provide attractive streetscapes, to enhance architectural features, 
and to contribute to the development of an attractive site plan. 
 
Based on the information provided the general landscape improvements are an 
improvement over the existing conditions, including street trees.  
 
Prior to building permit submittal detailed landscape plan, including size, quantity, and type 
of plants existing and proposed; type and quality of non-living landscaping materials; any 
site grading proposed; and any irrigation system proposed, to insure compliance with this 
approval and the City's landscaping requirements.  Removal of trees must receive prior 
approval of the Planning Department.  Removal of any tree in City right of way must also 
receive prior approval of the City Forester. 
 

_Y_(D) Circulation: Circulation, including, without limitation, the transportation system that serves 
the property, whether public or private and whether constructed by the developer or not: 
 

N/A (i) High speeds are discouraged or a physical separation between streets and the 
project is provided; 
 
The project site is comprised of one lot. No street connections are proposed. 
 
_Y_(ii) Potential conflicts with vehicles are minimized; 
 
As part of the development proposal the applicant will be eliminating the curb cut along 
19th Street and taking access from the alley, reducing the number of pedestrian vehicle 
conflicts. 
 
N/A (iii) Safe and convenient connections are provided that support multi-modal 
mobility through and between properties, accessible to the public within the project 
and between the project and the existing and proposed transportation systems, 
including, without limitation, streets, bikeways, pedestrianways and trails; 
 
There are no connections through the project site. 
 
_Y_(iv) Alternatives to the automobile are promoted by incorporating site design 
techniques, land use patterns, and supporting infrastructure that supports and 
encourages walking, biking, and other alternatives to the single-occupant vehicle; 
 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 25Packet Page     495



As part of the development proposal, the applicant is providing excess bike parking, both 
short and long term bike parking opportunities as well as EcoPasses for employees. 

 
_Y_(v) Where practical and beneficial, a significant shift away from single-occupant 
vehicle use to alternate modes is promoted through the use of travel demand 
management techniques; 
 
Given the location of the proposed use along a highly trafficked pedestrian route as well as 
a major transit corridor with two bus stops within a block of the site, but also in close 
proximity to high density residential development, the majority of the patronage will likely 
be pedestrian or bicycle related traffic, significantly decreasing the number of vehicle trips 
to the site. Given the seven on-site parking spaces, availability of on-street parking as well 
as the Transportation Demand Management practices, including providing Ecopasses for 
employees as well as additional bike parking, alternate modes of transportation will be 
encouraged.  

 
N/A (vi) On-site facilities for external linkage are provided with other modes of 
transportation, where applicable; 
 
There are no connections through the project site. 
 
N/A (vii) The amount of land devoted to the street system is minimized; and 
 
The project site is comprised of one lot. No street connections are proposed. 
 
N/A (viii) The project is designed for the types of traffic expected, including, without 
limitation, automobiles, bicycles, and pedestrians, and provides safety, separation 
from living areas, and control of noise and exhaust. 
 
The project site is comprised of one lot. No street connections are proposed. 
 

_Y_(E) Parking 
 

_Y_(i) The project incorporates into the design of parking areas measures to provide 
safety, convenience, and separation of pedestrian movements from vehicular 
movements; 
 
As part of the development proposal the applicant is eliminating a curb cut from 19th Street, 
which will result in reducing cut-through traffic as well as minimizing vehicle pedestrian 
conflicts in proximity to a busy intersection and along a highly trafficked pedestrian 
pathway. 
 
_Y_(ii) The design of parking areas makes efficient use of the land and uses the 
minimum amount of land necessary to meet the parking needs of the project; 
 
As part of the development proposal, the applicant is requesting a parking reduction to 
minimize the area of land dedicated to parking. A total of 16 parking spaces are required 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 26Packet Page     496



where seven are being provided. Refer to the “Additional Criteria for Parking Reductions 
below in subsection 9-2-14(h)(2)(K), B.R.C. 1981 for a complete analysis of the criteria. 
 
N/A (iii) Parking areas and lighting are designed to reduce the visual impact on the 
project, adjacent properties, and adjacent streets; and 
 
At this time, outdoor lighting is not proposed. Should outdoor lighting be proposed, a 
photometrical plan meeting the criteria pursuant to section 9-9-16, “Lighting, Outdoor,” 
B.R.C. 1981 will be provided as part of the Technical Document Review. 
 
_Y_(iv) Parking areas utilize landscaping materials to provide shade in excess of the 
requirements in Subsection 9-9-6 (d), "Parking Area Design Standards," and Section 
9-9-14, “Parking Lot Landscaping Standards,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
The surface parking lot will be screened from view utilizing fencing and landscape 
materials.  
 
Prior to building permit submittal detailed landscape plan, including size, quantity, and type 
of plants existing and proposed; type and quality of non-living landscaping materials; any 
site grading proposed; and any irrigation system proposed, to insure compliance with this 
approval and the City's landscaping requirements.  Removal of trees must receive prior 
approval of the Planning Department.  Removal of any tree in City right of way must also 
receive prior approval of the City Forester. 

 
_Y_(F) Building Design, Livability, and Relationship to the Existing or Proposed 
Surrounding Area 
 

N/A (i) The building height, mass, scale, orientation, and configuration are 
compatible with the existing character of the area or the character established by an 
adopted plan for the area; 
 
The building height, mass and scale are not being altered as part of the development 
proposal. 
 
N/A (ii) The height of buildings is in general proportion to the height of existing 
buildings and the proposed or projected heights of approved buildings or approved 
plans for the immediate area; 
 
The building height, mass and scale are not being altered as part of the development 
proposal. 

 
N/A (iii) The orientation of buildings minimizes shadows on and blocking of views 
from adjacent properties; 
 
The building height, mass and scale are not being altered as part of the development 
proposal. 
 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 27Packet Page     497

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_6
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_14


_Y_(iv) If the character of the area is identifiable, the project is made compatible by 
the appropriate use of color, materials, landscaping, signs, and lighting; 
 
The predominant character of the area can be identified as vibrant and pedestrian rich 
based on the mix of residential and educational uses in close proximity to the site, 
including three main campuses, Naropa, University of Colorado and Boulder Valley High. 
The site is also located on the outer edge of the Goss Grove neighborhood, where 
Arapahoe Avenue and 19th Street both serve as direct pedestrian links to the University of 
Colorado main campus, Naropa’s main campus and Boulder High School.   
 
Currently, the corner of Arapahoe Avenue and 19th Street is an inactive space in the 
Arapahoe streetscape as the current use as a private residence accessed from the alley 
does not address the street. The residential use does not engage the street as there are 
no building entries or transparent windows located along the street facing side of the 
building. The nature of the proposed use being an active, public use will provide a much 
more vibrant and pedestrian oriented street frontage by providing a public nonresidential 
neighborhood amenity and gathering place. 
 
In addition, the proposed façade restoration will create an active and enhanced 
streetscape with the addition of street trees as well as building entrances at the street 
along a highly traveled pedestrian route; and complement the historic architectural fabric of 
the Goss Grove neighborhood. 

 
_Y_(v) Projects are designed to a human scale and promote a safe and vibrant 
pedestrian experience through the location of building frontages along public 
streets, plazas, sidewalks and paths, and through the use of building elements, 
design details and landscape materials that include, without limitation, the location 
of entrances and windows, and the creation of transparency and activity at the 
pedestrian level; 
 
The project site is located along along a major transit corridor and highly trafficked 
pedestrian pathway. The development proposal will result in a building that is successfully 
oriented toward the street by relocating the building entry, and additional glazing along the 
street.  
 
In addition, an active alley is also provided with landscape and open space amenities, 
including a deck.  
 
N/A (vi) To the extent practical, the project provides public amenities and planned 
public facilities; 
 
The project site is comprised of one lot. No public amenities are proposed. 

 
N/A (vii) For residential projects, the project assists the community in producing a 
variety of housing types, such as multifamily, townhouses and detached single 
family units, as well as mixed lot sizes, number of bedrooms and sizes of units; 

 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 28Packet Page     498



N/A (viii) For residential projects, noise is minimized between units, between 
buildings, and from either on-site or off-site external sources through spacing, 
landscaping, and building materials; 

 
N/A (ix) A lighting plan is provided which augments security, energy conservation, 
safety, and aesthetics; 
 
At this time, outdoor lighting is not proposed. Should outdoor lighting be proposed, a 
photometrical plan meeting the criteria pursuant to section 9-9-16, “Lighting, Outdoor,” 
B.R.C. 1981 will be provided as part of the Technical Document Review. 
 
N/A (x) The project incorporates the natural environment into the design and avoids, 
minimizes, or mitigates impacts to natural systems; 

 
_?_(xi) Buildings minimize or mitigate energy use; support on-site renewable energy 
generation and/or energy management systems; construction wastes are 
minimized; the project mitigates urban heat island effects; and the project 
reasonably mitigates or minimizes water use and impacts on water quality. 
 
Additional information would be required in order to address this criterion. 
 
   Y   (xii)  Exteriors or buildings present a sense of permanence through the use of 
authentic materials such as stone, brick, wood, metal or similar products and 
building material detailing; 

 
Because the development proposal includes restoration of the existing building façade 
back to its circa 1930s retail façade, it will not only improve the existing deteriorating 
condition of the building, but also contribute to  the historic (and somewhat eclectic) 
architecture already present along Arapahoe Avenue and within the Goss Grove 
neighborhood. In addition, the proposed façade changes will result in a building that once 
again addresses the street and that will enhance the pedestrian experience while 
contributing to a more engaging street life with a well-pronounced main building entrance 
at the corner. New street trees will be required and will contribute to the enhancing the 
streetscape as well.  
 
N/A    (xiii)  Cut and fill are minimized on the site, the design of buildings conforms 
to the natural contours of the land, and the site design minimizes erosion, slope 
instability, landslide, mudflow or subsidence, and minimizes the potential threat to 
property caused by geological hazards; 

 
 N/A (xiv)  In the urbanizing areas along the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
boundaries between Area II and Area III, the building and site design provide for a 
well-defined urban edge; and 
 
 N/A (xv)  In the urbanizing areas located on the major streets shown on the map in 
Appendix A of this title near the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan boundaries 
between Area II and Area III, the buildings and site design establish a sense of entry 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 29Packet Page     499



and arrival to the City by creating a defined urban edge and a transition between 
rural and urban areas. 

 
Y (G) Solar Siting and Construction: For the purpose of ensuring the maximum potential for 
utilization of solar energy in the City, all applicants for residential site reviews shall place 
streets, lots, open spaces, and buildings so as to maximize the potential for the use of solar 
energy in accordance with the following solar siting criteria: 
 

N/A (i) Placement of Open Space and Streets: Open space areas are located 
wherever practical to protect buildings from shading by other buildings within the 
development or from buildings on adjacent properties. Topography and other 
natural features and constraints may justify deviations from this criterion. 
 
The project site is comprised of one lot. No street or open space connections are 
proposed. 
 
N/A (ii) Lot Layout and Building Siting: Lots are oriented and buildings are sited in a 
way which maximizes the solar potential of each principal building. Lots are 
designed to facilitate siting a structure which is unshaded by other nearby 
structures. Wherever practical, buildings are sited close to the north lot line to 
increase yard space to the south for better owner control of shading. 
 
The building height, mass and scale are not being altered as part of the development 
proposal. In addition, the improvement proposed will not impact or limit future solar energy 
collection. 
 
N/A (iii) Building Form: The shapes of buildings are designed to maximize utilization 
of solar energy. Buildings shall meet the solar access protection and solar siting 
requirements of section 9-9-17, "Solar Access," B.R.C. 1981. 
 
The building height, mass and scale are not being altered as part of the development 
proposal. In addition, the improvement proposed will not impact or limit future solar energy 
collection. 
 
_Y_(iv) Landscaping: The shading effects of proposed landscaping on adjacent 
buildings are minimized. 

 
Although there are landscaping improvements proposed, the impacts will be minimal to 
adjacent buildings given the location of the improvements mainly along street frontages. 

 
N/A (H) Additional Criteria for Poles Above the Permitted Height 
 
N/A (I) Land Use Intensity Modifications 
 
N/A (J) Additional Criteria for Floor Area Ratio Increase for Buildings in the BR-1 
District 
Y (K) Additional Criteria for Parking Reductions  

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 30Packet Page     500

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_17


 
(ii)  Criteria: Upon submission of documentation by the applicant of how the project 

meets the following criteria, the approving agency may approve proposed 
modifications to the parking requirements of section 9-9-6, "Parking Standards," 
B.R.C. 1981 (see tables 9-1, 9-2, 9-3 and 9-4), if it finds that: 

 
N/A (a) For residential uses, the probable number of motor vehicles to be owned by 
occupants of and visitors to dwellings in the project will be adequately 
accommodated; 

 
N/A. There are no residential uses associated with the project site. 

 
Y (b) The parking needs of any nonresidential uses will be adequately 
accommodated through on-street parking or off-street parking; 

 
The proposed coffee shop with 62 seats (50 indoor and 12 outdoor) requires a total of 16 
on-site parking spaces; seven of which will be provided on site. Given the location of the 
site adjacent to nearby residential neighborhoods and educational institutions a majority of 
customers arriving at the coffee shop will be residents or students arriving either by foot or 
bicycle decreasing the need for 16 parking spaces.  The coffee shop is located within a 
short walking distance of the bus stops on Arapahoe Ave which serve the RTD “Jump” 
route.  The coffee shop is located at the corner of a signalized intersection which makes 
reaching the coffee shop from the other side of Arapahoe or 19th Street easier.  On-street 
parking is also available along 19th Street with a 115 foot section of 19th Street directly 
adjacent to the coffee shop signed as twenty-minute parking with supports a majority of the 
“grab and go” customers.  

 
As part of the development proposal the applicant has proposed Transportation Demand 
Management practices that will encourage alternative modes of transportation. The 
applicant is proposing bicycle parking in excess of what is required; only three bicycle 
parking spaces are required while 14 are provided. The applicant is also providing 
EcoPasses for employees. Both of which will reduce vehicle trips to the project site.  

 
N/A (c) A mix of residential with either office or retail uses is proposed, and the 
parking needs of all uses will be accommodated through shared parking; 

 
N/A. The development proposal is not a mixed use development. 

 
N/A (d) If joint use of common parking areas is proposed, varying time periods of 
use will accommodate  proposed parking needs; and 

 
N/A. The development proposal includes one common parking area. 

 
N/A (e) If the number of off-street parking spaces is reduced because of the nature 
of the occupancy, the applicant provides assurances that the nature of the 
occupancy will not change. 

  

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 31Packet Page     501



N/A. The proposed reduction is not being considered based on the proposed occupancy 
type.  Instead the parking reduction support is justified through the pedestrian nature of the 
location of the project site, on-site and on-street parking provided, additional bicycle 
parking as well as the project site’s location along a major transit corridor.  
 

N/A (L) Additional Criteria for Off-Site Parking 
 

Attachment C 
Use Review, Site Review and Parking Reduction Criteria Analysis

Call Up Item 1A     Page 32Packet Page     502



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 33Packet Page     503



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 34Packet Page     504



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 35Packet Page     505



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 36Packet Page     506



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 37Packet Page     507



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 38Packet Page     508



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 39Packet Page     509



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 40Packet Page     510



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 41Packet Page     511



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 42Packet Page     512



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 43Packet Page     513



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 44Packet Page     514



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 45Packet Page     515



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 46Packet Page     516



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 47Packet Page     517



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 48Packet Page     518



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 49Packet Page     519



Attachment D 
Planning Board Adopted Findings of Fact

Call Up Item 1A     Page 50Packet Page     520



Attachment E 
Additional Public Comment

Call Up Item 1A     Page 51Packet Page     521



 

Packet Page     522



Boulder
Housing
Partners

Providing Homes, Creating Community, Changing Lives

 Packet Page     523

http://www.facebook.com/BoulderHousingPartners
https://twitter.com/Boulderhousing
http://boulderhousing.tumblr.com/


I  n 2012, we invested 
more than $8.6 million 

in renovation work on our 
Boulder Affordable Rentals 
portfolio.

Letter to City Council

August 2013

Dear Mayor Appelbaum and Boulder City Council:

On behalf of Boulder Housing Partners Board of  
Commissioners and staff, I am pleased to  
submit our 2012 annual report. Despite challenging 
times at the federal level, BHP had one of its most  
productive years ever.  A summary of the  
highlights, organized by the four goals that form the 
pillars of our organization, is below:

Goal One: Take care of what we own
• We invested more than $8.6 million in  

renovation work on our Boulder Affordable 
Rentals portfolio;

• We completed the $6 million renovation 
of  Bridgewalk, thus returning this 123 unit  
property to its full leverage as an income  
producing asset in our portfolio; 

• We had a very successful first year as a  
Moving to Work demonstration agency;

• We hosted an Environmental Defense Fund 
intern who built an energy performance  
tracking database for us;

• We refinanced all of our existing debt,  
resulting in measurably improved cash flow.

Goal Two: Increase our inventory
• BHP purchased the WestView apartments, 

adding 34 units of workforce housing to our 
inventory;

• We completed the Good Neighbor  
Statement of Operations for 1175 Lee Hill 
in a consensus recommendation from the  
community advisory group and won an  
allocation of 9% tax credits for the project;

• We purchased the land associated with the 
former Wallace Vacuum business;

• We finalized our financing for High Mar with 
an allocation of 4% tax credits; 

• We secured 25 veterans’ vouchers for  
Boulder County, and assigned our award 
to Boulder County Housing Authority to  
administer.

We purchased WestView 
apartments, adding 34 

units of workforce housing 
to our inventory;

 Packet Page     524



Angela McCormick, Chair

Betsey Martens, Executive Director

Goal Three: Enrich our housing with services and build community
• We received an award of two Americorps VISTA positions; hired and trained;
• We created a strong system of metrics and benchmarks for the Resident Services  

Department; 
• We recruited and organized 5,050 volunteer hours; in-kind value of $107,850;
• The BHP Foundation generated $68,000 in grants and donations, including 8 new grant sources

The BHP Foundation 
generated $68,000 in  

grants and donations,  
including 8 new grant  
sources.

Goal Four: Strengthen BHP and our role in 
the community

• Had a very strong year financially, performing 
better against every metric

• Continued our public relations efforts with  
unique and identifiable public image for all 
of BHP communications. In 2012 we issued 
122 Tweets; 38 press releases; landed 15  
stories in the Daily Camera; have 144 friends 
on Facebook and 10 on Tumblr.

• We continue to improve our website – 75,533 
visitors as of December 2012

• We assisted 14,000 walk-in customers and 
21,000 phone calls

• Won the “most improved” award from our  
insurance company for claims reduction

• Won many awards, including the Urban Land 
Institute’s global award and the NAHRO  
national award for excellence

 
On behalf of the residents, staff and Board, we 
want to express our appreciation for the strong 
support Council provides to us as we seek to 
serve the city of Boulder.  Any success we achieve 
is the result of partnerships with the City and  
other organizations and individuals that makes our  
community rich, diverse and economically strong.  

Any success we achieve     
is the result of  

partnerships with the City 
and other organizations 
and individuals that makes 
our community rich,  
diverse and economically 
strong.  

 Packet Page     525



3

Boulder
Housing
Partners

Providing Homes, Creating Community, Changing Lives

Site Map
Go to Menu

 Packet Page     526



Foothills United Way Spirit of Community Award

BHP received the Spirit of the Community Award for 
Partnership/Collaboration in conjunction with the 
Boulder Shelter for the Homeless for the Boulder County 
Housing First program.  Housing First is a program  
designed to shrink the chronically homeless population 
by placing homeless adults in permanent housing with 
intensive case management support.

Awards
Urban Land Institute (ULI) Global Award for 
Excellence

In 2012 Red Oak Park was awarded the ULI’s  
Global Award for Excellence for quality smart 
growth in neighborhood and community  
design and infill redevelopment, affordability, and  
environmental sustainability and energy  
conservation.  It was one of fourteen projects 
honored from a pool of over 200 applicants 
from around the world.  “This year’s 14 ULI 
Global Award winners are from eight coun-
tries and represent a broad array of property 
types and uses,” said Randall Rowe, chair of 
the ULI Urban Open Space Award Jury and 
chairman. “They are dramatic examples of the  
application of ULI best practices to real estate 
development and their enduring impact on  
diverse communities across the globe.”    

Red Oak Park Recognition

Red Oak Park won the 2012 Affordable Housing 
Project Award by the Colorado chapter of the National 
Association of Housing and Redevelopment Officials  
(CoNAHRO). The award recognizes a Colorado  
project that was completed in an innovative manner and  
conforms to best practices among housing,  
redevelopment, and community agencies.

Red Oak Park received the NAHRO Award of Merit 
in Housing and Community Development. The Merit 
Award serves to give national recognition to innovative 
housing and development projects provided by NAHRO  
members. 

BHP also received the 2012 NAHRO Agency Award of 
Excellence in program innovation for Red Oak Park

Celebrating Excellence 

Red Oak Park

In November 2011 BHP became the  
nation’s 33rd Moving to Work (MTW)  
housing authority through an agreement with 
the US Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD).  MTW is a demonstra-
tion program for housing authorities to design 
and test local affordable housing strategies 
that use federal dollars more efficiently, help  
residents move toward self-sufficiency, and 
increase housing choices for low-income  
families.  In 2012, we made the recertification  
process much easier for our households with  
elderly members and persons with disabilities.   

Moving to Work Program

BHP  
residents  
at Walnut  
Place, a  
Public
Housing 
senior site  Packet Page     527



 Packet Page     528

https://www.paypal.com/cgi-bin/webscr?cmd=_s-xclick&hosted_button_id=MTC34AGY8G4TY


Board of Commissioners 

Suzy Ageton
Stephen Eckert
Tom Hagerty 
Dick Harris
Scott Holton

Karen Klerman, Vice Chair
Angela McCormick, Chair
Valerie Mitchell
Jim O’Neal

Executive Director
Betsey Martens 

Yolanda Aguilar 
Tim Beal
Nina Bennett
Lynn Berge
Jodi Bogen
Krystle Brandt
Rene Brodeur
Steve Busch
Richard Butler
Rick Chek
Shannon Cox Baker
Caroline Crawford
Jeremy Ehrhart
George Ellis
Alejandro Favela
Mary Ann Garza
Carmen Giardiello
Paul Graham
Stuart Grogan
Penny Hannegan
Luz Maria Herrera
Anna Kay Johnson
Terry Johnson
Jim Koczela
Karen Kreutzberg
Rhoda Lee
Char Lemkee
Russ Lewis

Lisa Luckett 
Emily McCluskey
Jeff McBeth
Joshua McVay
Shelly Miezwa
Sally Miller
Suinya Mindiola
Annie Mount
Becky Nisttahuz
Daniel Nunez
Shari Owen
Dreu Patterson
Gaia Powers
Ryan Ramsay
Emily Reed
Tom Read
Laura Sheinbaum
Nancy Specian
Doug Spellman
Karin Stayton
Gale Stromberg
Martin Teetzel
Laura Valdez
Lidia Vargas
Lisa Vargas
Teena Wells
Liz Wolfert

Employees 

AmeriCorps VISTA Volunteers
Amanda Maya
Kathy Rivera

Betsey Martens, Executive Director

BHP Staff

Go to Menu
 Packet Page     529



Development Projects

Bridgewalk, Phase 3 
General Contractor:  Palace Construction
Architect:  EJ Architecture
Funding:  Wells Fargo
 
BHP completed the last phase of a three 
part series of complete interior and exterior  
renovations for the 123 Bridgewalk Apartments.   

Cornell House 
General Contractor:  Deneuve Construction
Architect:  Coburn Development
Funding:  BHP and Boulder County Historic 
Landmark Grant
 
The beautiful Cornell House received historic 
landmark designation in 2012.  It also underwent 
a complete interior and exterior renovation as 
well as landscaping improvements.

The Flats at 101 Canyon  
General Contractor:  Deneuve Construction
Architect:  Coburn Development
Funding:  BHP
 
The five-plex building was fully renovated on the 
exterior and the interior. The work involved 
refinishing and installing hard wood floors, new 
kitchens, new appliances, new bathrooms, new 
paint, air conditioning, a fire protection system, 
solar panels, decks and site work.

Woodlands  
General Contractor:  Deneuve Construction
Architect:  EJ Architecture
Funding:  BHP 

The 35 Woodlands Apartments received full  
interior renovations which included new  
kitchens, new bathrooms, new flooring, new 
paint, and air conditioning.  BHP also completed 
site work including a new safety surface on the 
playground, improved landscaping and irrigation.

The Asset Management Team completed many 
large renovation projects in 2012 for the portfolio.  
The following work was completed or started in 
2012:

Capital Improvements

Bridgewalk Before Bridgewalk After

Cornell Before Cornell After

The Flats @ 101 Before The Flats @ 101 After

Woodlands Before Woodlands After
 Packet Page     530



Midtown  
General Contractor:  Palace Construction
Architect:  Coburn Development
Funding:  City of Boulder grant and BHP funds

Planning and design work began in 2012 for the 
full interior and exterior and site renovation of the 
13 apartments at Midtown.

Twin Pines  
General Contractor:  Palace Construction
Architect:  EJ Architecture
Funding:  City of Boulder grant and BHP funds
 
Planning and design work began in 2012 for the 
full interior, exterior and site renovation of the 22 
apartments at Twin Pines.
 
Dakota Ridge 
General Contractor:  Palace Construction
Architect:  EJ Architecture
Funding:  City of Boulder grant and BHP funds

Planning and design work began in 2012 for 
interior and exterior upgrades of the 13 
apartments at Dakota Ridge

Whittier 
General Contractor:  Palace Construction
Architect:  Bryan Bowen Architecture
Funding:  City of Boulder grant and BHP funds
 
Planning and design work began in 2012 for the 
full interior, exterior and site renovation of the 10 
apartments at Whittier.

Midtown Before

BHP continues to plan for the renovation of its 
337 units in the public housing portfolio.  We 
are working with HUD to determine the best 
ways to finance and proceed with 
comprehensive renovations at these units.  

Public Housing Conversion

Midtown After

Twin Pines Before Twin Pines After

Whittier AfterWhittier Before

Dakota Ridge Before Dakota Ridge After

 Packet Page     531



We believe we can minimize our effect on climate change and be a green leader in Boulder by   
reducing energy and resource use in the multi-family housing sector, building more sustainable housing, 
and educating residents on resource conservation.

With every new development, property renovation and unit turn, we install energy and water efficient  
fixtures and appliances, as well as low VOC products.  Sustainable features and practices help decrease 
net energy use and reduce energy bills for both our organization and our residents.  Looking towards the  
future, we will continue to utilize green technology, work to analyze the data concerning the success of our 
sustainable practices, educate residents on efficient features available to them, and research new ways to 
bring greater efficiency and savings to our properties.  

Sustainability

New Development
Red Oak Park

Red Oak Park is an award-winning 100% permanently affordable, 
59 dwelling unit redevelopment of a mid-century deteriorated  
mobile home park in central Boulder.  The redevelopment  
included a new community center and playground with a program 
operated by CLACE, Latin American Center for Arts, Science and 
Education, that provides afterschool and community programs, 
community wireless internet access, solar panels, highly energy 
conserving units, and a very traditional neighborhood  
design.

Red Oak Park Phase I

Red Oak Park Solar Installation Walnut Place Solar Panels

 Packet Page     532



11

Red Oak Park Phase II

At the end of 2012, Boulder Housing Partners acquired the old 
Wallace Sewing Center and Vacuum repair store and property, 
approximately one acre, immediately west of the two vacant lots 
along the Valmont Road frontage of Red Oak Park.  Planning for 
the redevelopment of these three parcels will begin at the end of 
2013.

1175 Lee Hill

1175 Lee Hill is a proposed two story community consisting of 
thirty one, one bedroom apartments at the northwest corner 
of the intersection of Lee Hill Road and Broadway.  The build-
ing will house men and women who have experienced chronic  
homelessness using the nationally recognized model known as 
Housing First.  On site services and support will be provided to 
residents by caseworkers managed by the Boulder Shelter for the 
Homeless.  After an extensive public process, the City Council 
adopted a motion on April 17, 2012, enabling the project to move 
forward.  Later that summer, BHP was awarded 9% low income 
housing tax credits which are a key component of the financing 
for the project.  Finally, BHP launched a collaborative process to 
develop a voluntary Good Neighbor Statement of Operations for 
the building.  That process was completed in early 2013 with 
construction to begin by the end of that year.

High Mar

High Mar, a planned 59 unit senior facility located at 4990  
Moorhead Avenue in South Boulder, began construction in early 
2013.  BHP worked throughout the year to arrange the financing, 
manage the due diligence process, and complete the construction 
documents to break ground in this much needed housing, the first 
senior affordable project in Boulder since the early 1980’s.  

Red Oak Park Phase I

Red Oak Park Phase II

Lee Hill Design View I

Lee Hill Design View II

High Mar Design View I

Go to Menu
 Packet Page     533



Partnership Award Winners

The BHP Partnership Award is given to recognize the important work being done by individuals, residents, 
businesses, nonprofits, and governmental agencies who support BHP’s mission and exemplify successful 
partnership.  Recipients in 2012 were: 

• Barb and Joe Eberle
• Alex Zinga 
• Janet Fulton
• Community Cycles 

• Olga Jacoby
• David Shurman and Residents  

of Presbyterian Manor

• Peggy Fernandez 
• June Bianchi 
• Dave Wyatt & John Wyatt 
• Boulder County Care Connect 

Boulder Housing Partners would like to thank the 
following businesses and organizations for their 
collaboration and support in 2012:

Service Partners

AmeriCorps VISTA
Boulder Community Hospital
Boulder County Community Action Program
Boulder County Area Agency on Aging
Boulder County Community Justice Services
Boulder County Community Protection Division
Boulder County Department of Social Services
Boulder County Emergency Management
Boulder County Family Self Sufficiency (FSS)
Boulder County Genesis Program
Boulder County Headstart Program
Boulder County Housing Counseling
Boulder County Housing and Human Services
Boulder County Public Health
Boulder County Special Needs
Boulder Reads
Boulder Food Rescue
Boulder Public Library
Boulder Shelter for the Homeless
Boulder Valley School District
Calvary Bible Church/Sharefest
Care Connect
Center for People with Disabilities
Circle of Care – Arts for the Elders
City of Boulder Housing and Human Services
City of Boulder Fire Department
City of Boulder Police Department
City of Boulder Senior Services
City of Boulder Youth Services Initiative (YSI)
CLACE
Clinica (People’s Clinic)

Colorado Housing Finance Authority
Colorado Statewide Parenting Coalition
CSU SNAP-Ed Boulder County Extension 
Community Cycles
Community Food Share/Elder Share/Mobile
Food Pantry 
Front Range Community College
Community Infant Project at Boulder County
Health
Community Mediation Services
El Centro Amistad
Emergency Family Assistance Association
(EFAA)
Family Resource Schools  
Growing Gardens/La Cultiva
I Have a Dream (IHAD)
Intercambio - Uniting Communities
Lens Crafters
Longmont Housing Authority
Meals on Wheels
Mental Health Partners 
New Horizons Preschool
Office of District Attorney, City of Boulder
Origins Christian Church
Parenting Place
Resident Representative Council, Inc.
Safeway
SPAN- Safehouse Progressive Alliance
Tinker Arts Studio
University of Colorado VIA (Special Transit)
Workforce Boulder County
YWCA career center

Wanda Pelegrina 
Caldas, Sue Prant, 
and Rich Points of 
Community Cycles

Partnership Highlights 

Go to Menu
 Packet Page     534



Financial Responsibility

BHP Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Year Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

BHP Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY
2012 2011

ASSETS
  CURRENT ASSETS 6,721,570$        6,300,726$        
  NON CURRENT ASSETS 17,629,261 13,995,292
  CAPITAL ASSETS (NET OF DEPRECIATION) 37,818,017 34,635,587
TOTAL ASSETS 62,168,848$      54,931,605$      

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

  CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,658,052$        2,188,641$        
  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 29,636,091 23,552,119
  NET POSITION 29,874,705 29,190,845
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 62,168,848$      54,931,605$      

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

OPERATING REVENUE

  NET TENANT RENTAL INCOME 4,995,329$        4,737,023$        
  OPERATING GRANTS 9,025,091 8,943,255
  OTHER OPERATING REVENUE 1,615,458 2,104,978
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 15,635,878$      15,785,256$      

OPERATING EXPENSES

  SALARIES AND BENEFITS 3,882,527$        3,617,411$        
  HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS 6,753,087 6,293,419
  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 3,034,335 3,180,792
  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 2,496,559 1,801,115
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 16,166,508$      14,892,737$      

OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME (530,630)$          892,519$            

NON OPERATING (EXPENSE) INCOME
  CAPITAL GRANTS 1,610,465 2,541,395
  OTHER NON OPERATING (EXPENSE) INCOME (395,975) 448,729
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 683,860$           3,882,643$        

 Packet Page     535



BHP Revenue Details
 
Year Ended December 31, 2012

4800 Broadway, Boulder, CO 80304 • www.boulderhousing.org • (720) 564-4610

Boulder
Housing
Partners

Providing Homes, Creating Community, Changing Lives

Go to Menu
 Packet Page     536

http://boulderhousing.org/


 
City of Boulder 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 
 

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  August 19, 2013 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Kelly Williams (303) 441-4003 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners–  
 Jonathan Dings, Peter Osnes, Emilia Pollauf, Shirley White  
Staff –   
Carmen Atilano, Kelly Williams        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)     [REGULAR]     [SPECIAL]     [QUASI-JUDICIAL] 

AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER – The August 19, 2013 HRC meeting was called to order at 6:03 
p.m. by J. Dings.   

AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS – None 

AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – P. Osnes moved to accept the July 17, 2013 minutes.   
S. White seconded the motion.  Motion carries 4-0. 

AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) – None. 

AGENDA ITEM 5 – ACTION ITEMS  
A. Community Impact Fund Proposals 

1. Americas Latino Festival – Commission requested an itemized budget of expenses prior to next 
HRC meeting. Proposal will be considered at September 16, 2013 HRC meeting.  

2. CU/City Diversity Summit - S. White moved to accept the Request for Proposal in the amount of 
$2,500.00. P. Osnes seconded the motion. Motion carries 4-0.  

AGENDA ITEM 6 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. City Council Chamber Improvements, Facilities Assets Management- HRC was presented with 

the current design for planned renovations to Council Chambers and asked to provide 
feedback/suggestions. 

B. Work Plan Updates: 
1. Ballot Issue on Board and Commission Qualifications – 3rd reading at City Council on August 

20, 2013 and is on the consent agenda. 
2. Celebration of Immigrant Heritage – Immigrant Advisory Committee is planning a kick-off 

event on September 28, 2013 and the different grantees will be promoted throughout the week of 
October 1-6. Boulder Asian Pacific Alliance had to decline their grant award. 

3. Community Foundation TRENDS Report –report will be released on September 20, 2013. 
Community Foundation would like to attend October HRC meeting to present their report. 

4. Council 2013 Work Plan – C. Atilano and Karen Rahn provided HRC with items that City 
Council would like their feedback on regarding certain issues/items. 

C. Event Reports – S. White volunteered at the Boulder Asian Pacific Alliance event on Aug 10 and 11. 
D. Follow Up Tasks – corrections to July minutes, budget for Americas Latino Festival, execute contract 

for CU/City Diversity Summit, contact CAO regarding ballot participation, update 2013 work plan and 
invite Human Services Planning division to next HRC meeting. 

 
AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – P. Osnes moved to adjourn the August 19, 2013 meeting.  E. Pollauf 

seconded the motion. Motion carries 4-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 7:08 p.m. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 

HEARINGS: The next regular meeting of the HRC will be September 16, 2013 at 6:00 p.m. in City 
Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway.   

Boards and Commissions 3A          Page 1Packet Page     537



 

Packet Page     538



 

Approved Minutes 
Boulder Public Library Commission meeting 

July 10, 2013  
Main Library North Meeting Room 

 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT 

Anne Sawyer 
Celeste Landry 
Dan King 
Anna Lull 

 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT 

Donna O’Brien 
 
LIBRARY STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Valerie Maginnis, Library & Arts Director 
Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director 
Leanne Slater, Administrative Specialist 
   

CITY STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 
Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 
Joe Castro, Facilities & Fleet Manager 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer 
David Mallett, Budget Analyst 
Jennifer Bray, Communication Specialist III  

 
PUBLIC PRESENT 
Peter Richards 
Jacqueline Reid, organizational development consultant (on contract with the city) 
 
BOULDER TEEN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER PRESENT (BTAB) 
Nick Bozik 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 6:06 p.m. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
The agenda was approved with the additions included below. 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
No public participation. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PRESENTATIONS 

 

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 1Packet Page     539



 

A. CIVIC AREA PLAN UPDATE – LESLI ELLIS, COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING MANAGER, AND SAM ASSEFA, SENIOR 

URBAN DESIGNER (43 MINUTES)  
 

The Civic Area Plan Visioning Group will present their draft at a City Council study 
session on July 30.  In addition to the presentation to Library Commission, there will be a 
similar presentation at a final public meeting on July 11.  
 
The Civic Area is from 9th Street to 14th Street and from Arapahoe Ave to Canyon Blvd.  A 
primary goal of the Civic Area Plan is to relocate some of the buildings and parking out 
of the high-hazard flood zone.  Other features of the plan include: 

 Outdoor seating for a café in front of library’s north wing  
o Commission Concern – Library entrance would turn into a café. 
o Commission Question – Public seating or just for café customers?  Possible model is 

Dushanbe Tea House – seating for customers. 

 Parking for library on the west side, possibly with a bridge from parking to the 1992 wing 
o Commission Question – How would bridge work with upcoming renovation?  Moving 

parking is dependent on many variables and probably won’t happen for at least 10 
years. 

o Commission Comment – Underground parking won’t go over well with the public given 
the floodplain issues. 

o Commission Concern – Keep or move the book drop-off pull-in.  Don’t eliminate it. 

 Options under consideration for the library’s north wing include keeping the auditorium and 
gallery or turning the space into a performance arts center or a museum. 

o Commission Concern – The library would lose programming space if the north wing is 
repurposed.  Commission asked to be consulted before any change of the current status 
of the north wing becomes a part of the Civic Area plan. 

o Commission Comment – The commission is researching the possibility of a library 
district.  A district would have an impact on library facilities. 

 Access and mobility to areas within and exterior to the Civic Area 

 Park concept 
o Market Hall for the Farmers’ Market 
o Senior Center and Boulder Housing Partners sites west of the library may relocate or 

redevelop 
o Bandshell is a historic structure.  Current plan is to relocate it.   

 Commission Concern – Noise from the proposed amphitheater.  There isn’t yet a 
proposed maximum decibel level for the amphitheater area. 

 Commission Concern – Amphitheater programming could conflict with library 
programming. 

o Public art 
o Commission Question – How can the park area be more family friendly?  More activities 

for families, working with homeless organizations, more enforcement, clearing out 
brush and hiding areas, percentage of transients will diminish with increased use of 
area. 

o Commission Comment – Keep some natural places for kids to play.  Don’t have an over-
formalized park.  

 
Next steps include developing a roadmap and figuring out a financing strategy.  Some 
items like the outdoor library café could happen in the next two years, but the entire 

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 2Packet Page     540



 

project will likely take 20 years.  In terms of ballot issues, there could be a ballot issue as 
soon as 2014 with a second one around 7 years out.  There is usually a limited time to 
spend money raised via ballot measures.   

 
(More information can be found at: 
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JulMeetingHandout.pdf). 
 

B. FLOOD ASSESSMENT AND OPTIONS – JOE CASTRO, FACILITIES AND FLEET MANAGER (16 MINUTES)  
 

The definition of “high hazard zone” (HHZ) is unique to Boulder.  It is the area in the 
100-year floodplain with the greatest risk of loss of life.  A flood and structural analysis 
was done as part of the Civic Area.  The HHZ touches parts of the Main Library, 
particularly entrances and exterior mechanical equipment.  The library bridge, though 
elevated, is also in the HHZ.   
 
Facilities and Asset Management (FAM) has requested $400K for Main Library flood 
protection from the 2014 Capital Improvements Program Facility Renovation and 
Replacement Funds.  The goal is to floodproof to 2 feet higher than flood elevation.   
(Another FAM request for $147K is to reconstruct the library’s North Plaza as part of the 
Civic Area project.)  FAM would coordinate with the Civic Area and Main Library 
renovation projects.  If approved, planning and design would happen in 2014. 
 
The interior floor levels don’t need to be raised to meet floodproofing requirements, 
but floodproof doors and glass glazing are under consideration.  FAM doesn’t want to 
install floodwalls but is proposing floodgates to the Arapahoe entrance which accounts 
for a large part of the $400K.  It isn’t feasible to floodproof the air system as part of the 
library renovation.  Adding the flood gates during the renovation is a possibility, but 
Glenn Magee has concerns about trying to do both projects at once.  

 
(More information can be found at: 
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JulMeetingHandout.pdf). 

 

COMMISSION PRIORITY DISCUSSION AND INPUT 

 
A. MAIN LIBRARY RENOVATION PROJECT DESIGN ADVISORY GROUP UPDATE – GLENN MAGEE, FACILITIES 

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION MANAGER (43 MINUTES)  
 
Glenn Magee provided an update on the Main Library renovation project and responded 
to Commission questions from the June meeting : 
 
• Teen area will be closed in 
• The trees will be removed because of disease but it is a good opportunity for public art 
in those areas; a nationally renowned public art consultant is being contracted to help 
us find and broker great art for the library. A public art committee will be formed as 
defined by city’s Public Art Policy. 
• Look & Feel - colors and textures are just starting to be reviewed with studiotrope. 
• Technology plan for the main entrance - discussing touchscreen, smart boards, but LCD 

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 3Packet Page     541

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JulMeetingHandout.pdf
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/handouts/13JulMeetingHandout.pdf


 

monitors at a minimum based on budget. 
• Shelving plan document is still in the works. 

 
A suggestion was made to contact local companies and partner with them in order to create 
something truly innovative for the technology wall proposed for the library’s Arapahoe 
entrance.  An issue was raised to not limit ideas, based on current funding, and to get a 
sense of what evolving technologies may be developing in the field.  Magee responded that 
this was something to look into for the future. 
 
A comment was made that stated the importance of providing a sink in the teen area, 
especially in light of the fact that the teens are intending to be green and not use a lot of 
paper products.  
 
There was a question about whether the two library commissioners can be on a 
subcommittee for public art.  Maginnis responded that she would get back to the 
commission about that. 
 
(More information can be found at: http://news.boulderlibrary.org/). 

 
B. LIBRARY PROGRAM PRIORITIES AND LONG-RANGE PLANNING (20 MINUTES) 
 

Staff provided a draft of current services and programs for the Facilities and Community 
Space Goals.  Landry questioned whether some items under Point 1 (current services) 
should actually be under Point 3 (considered for implementation if funding is available).  The 
Library Program Prioritization Subcommittee (Sawyer and Lull) will look at a better way to 
capture this information and will come back with recommendations.  
 

1. Community Space Goal – Point 1 
Sawyer wanted to ensure that the library renovation isn’t considered the solution to 
meeting all goals.  For instance, the “Leading Edge Center for Information Technology” goal 
covers a lot more than what will be addressed by the renovation. 
 
Sawyer wondered why the Meadows and Reynolds renovations of teen space have not 
previously been brought to the attention of Commission.  Miles responded that the branch 
teen communities have been involved. 
 
Landry asked for more detailed metrics on the Responsive Service Delivery goal, e.g., book 
turnaround time.  Maginnis said that staff is going to be coming out with a 21st-century 
vision for service delivery in the coming months. 
 

2. Facilities Goal – Point 1 
Sawyer asked if the library is meeting FAM Division Action Plan standards for custodial 
services mentioned in the 2007 Master Plan.  Library staff needs to find out what those 
standards are in order to answer that question.  Custodial needs are not expected to change 
with the renovation.  Currently, the city is not financially meeting its maintenance goals. 
 
Miles said that in the last few years the library has been using money for salaries for vacant 
positions to replace furnishings.  From the renovation project going forward, furnishings will 

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 4Packet Page     542

http://news.boulderlibrary.org/


 

have a replacement fund.  Mallett stated that Miles and Maginnis have both embraced the 
concept of taking care of what we have and maintaining a certain level of service.   
 
Landry suggested that if commissioners want to learn more about the Main Library 
Expansion goal, they may reference pgs. 80-81 of the Facilities and Sustainability Study: 
http://boulderlibrary.org/masterplan/docs/BPL%20Facilities_Sustainability_Study_Final_Re
port_03-09.pdf). 
 
Sawyer suggested that we partner with other city departments in regards to meeting room 
schedules during the renovation, specifically to perhaps use a meeting room at the 
WestView Apartments, located on the northeast corner of Broadway and Yarmouth.  
Maginnis responded that she would need to speak to Boulder Housing Partners about this 
possibility beforehand. 
 

3. Points 2-4  
This is not a comprehensive list.  Joe Castro has not had a chance to review the list yet. 
 
Just as a review of points 2-4 for the Community Space and Facilities goals were combined, 
Landry was in favor of combining the two goals in the revised Master Plan goal.   

 
 

MATTERS FROM THE COMMISSION 

 
A. REALLOCATION OF CITY SALES TAXES  

 

Commission discussed this topic.  King presented a proposed letter to City Council 

in support of Councilmember Becker’s plan to reduce Open Space dedicated taxes to their Vision 

Plan level and release the excess monies for use by other city departments, like the library.  

Prior to the meeting, Landry emailed commissioners, Maginnis and Miles a possible alternate 

statement which included examples of services and programs listed in the 2007 Master Plan that 

BPL could provide with additional funding.  King said that one of the library’s needs that could 

use this additional funding, that has some community and Council support, is the operations of a 

North Boulder Branch Library.  There was some discussion about this idea.   

 

Sawyer stated that she had a problem taking a stand on this issue because she didn't feel it was 

the purview of the Commission to weigh in on funding amounts for other departments. She also 

felt that, because there are multiple plans being considered for how to use this money and 

multiple proposals that could be taken to the voters, the Commission didn't have the data or 

time for analysis to recommend 

one position over another. 

 

King stated that he felt a letter to request additional funding for the library based on the fact 

that the library has been operating on a shoestring budget would be appropriate. Sawyer agreed 

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 5Packet Page     543

http://boulderlibrary.org/masterplan/docs/BPL%20Facilities_Sustainability_Study_Final_Report_03-09.pdf
http://boulderlibrary.org/masterplan/docs/BPL%20Facilities_Sustainability_Study_Final_Report_03-09.pdf


 

that the Commission does have the responsibility to advocate for the library to Council, but was 

uncomfortable taking a stand as the Library Commission in this case especially in short order. 

 

King made a motion that the commission “send a letter to City Council as yet to be crafted 

supporting releasing of excess funds for other city purposes.” This motion was not seconded.  

(For more information, please see the July 2013 Commission Memo found here: 

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/packet/JulyComplete%20Packet.pdf). 

 

Clarification, later:  The issue of whether some of the OSMP sales tax funds would be redirected 

to other city departments is one that City Council is considering putting before voters in the fall 

2013 election.  

 

 

B. UPDATE ON THE COMMISSION WORKSHOP 
  

The commission workshop has been postponed.  A new date and time is to be determined. 

MATTERS FROM THE DEPARTMENT 
 

A. PATRON SURVEY INFORMATION AND TIMELINE  
 

Maginnis reminded everyone that Commission has been discussing having a patron survey 
sooner rather than later.  She said that there had been some internal staff discussion regarding 
the next library patron survey and how it might be more efficient and fiscally relevant to 
conduct it in collaboration with the Library’s Master Plan update process, perhaps in late 2014.  
She offered that some “spot [or targeted] surveying” could possibly be done in the interim.  
Miles added that this recommendation was also made considering that patron feedback given 
after the renovation might be more useful, rather than receiving patron recommendations for 
things that have already been incorporated within the renovation project.   

Landry pointed out that the library has had patron surveys in every 2 years from 2002 to 2008.  
She feels that this survey is quite overdue.  Perhaps the library could do surveys before and after 
the renovation.  Since a consultant would do the survey, perhaps there would be less work for 
the staff.  Also many of the questions would stay the same, but if we go to a phone survey – a 
new method – that would change the survey.  Unfortunately, the library has not set aside 
money for a future survey. 

There was a statement made about how the commission has delayed some items in which they 

have been passionate about, and that the survey might provide useful information that could be 

relevant to other important items (e.g., the hiring of the special programs coordinator so that 

there can be more literary, library programming.)  Sawyer said that we may want to ask 

questions that we need answers to now.  Landry pointed out that a survey is a great step toward 

meeting the library’s public relations goal.  Maginnis is concerned about making assumptions 

about what the public thinks.  Landry asked what the marginal cost of asking more questions is if 

we are already surveying, say, 1000 people.  Landry also stated that the current survey is rather 

bland and doesn’t say very much.   

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 6Packet Page     544

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2013/packet/JulyComplete%20Packet.pdf


 

 

The Library Commission requested more information from staff:  1) costs for various kinds of 

surveys, 2) a proposed timeline for creating and conducting the survey for both Option A 

(spot/targeted survey) and Option B (full/complete survey), and 3) the manner of survey 

delivery (cell phone vs website vs snail mail and how many people to be surveyed). 

 

This discussion will continue at the August meeting. 

 

B. UPDATE ARTS AND CULTURAL ASSESSMENT ADDENDUM 
   

The report including the addendum will be made public after incorporation of the 2004 Boulder 

Library Foundation by-laws and the president of the foundation has reviewed the draft 

addendum.  [Note later: A meeting of staff, Commission and Foundation members to discuss the 

assessment had to be postponed from July to August 9.] 

 

CONSENT AGENDA, CONTINUED 

C. APPROVAL OF JUNE 5, 2013 MINUTES  
 
The June 5, 2013 minutes were unanimously approved as amended (3-0, King abstained as he 
was absent from the June meeting, and O’Brien was absent from this meeting.)  Commission 
requested information about participating in the Hennen’s American Public Library Ratings.  
Director Maginnis said she would get back to the commissioners with information about 
Hennen’s. 
 

ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE ACTION SUMMARY 
 
Commission discussed items for the Action Summary.   

 

NEXT COMMISSION MEETING (ROLLOVER ITEMS AND DATE) 
 
The next Library Commission meeting will be held at 6 p.m. on Wednesday, Aug. 7, 2013 at the Main 
Library in the North Meeting Room and will include the following agenda items: Main Library renovation 
project Design Advisory Group update, Review 2007 Master Plan funding goal information, North 
Boulder Library Station Timeline update. 
 
Announcement: Sawyer announced a community input meeting for the North Boulder Library Station is 
scheduled for Saturday, July 13, 2013 from 5-9 p.m. in the North Boulder Holiday Park. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:52 p.m. 
 

Approved By _____________________________________________      Date ______________________ 

Please note:  Commissioner Sawyer approved these minutes on Aug. 21, 2013.  

Boards and Commissions 3B         Page 7Packet Page     545



 

Packet Page     546



    
 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: August 14, 2013 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case x2025 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   
 
MEMBERS:  Allyn Feinberg, Tom Isaacson, Shelley Dunbar, Molly Davis 
 
STAFF:  Mike Patton    Jim Reeder Dean Paschall       Eric Stone      Kacey French    Phillip Yates 
   Dave Kuntz    Leah Case Michele Gonzales          
 
GUESTS: Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 
 
TYPE OF MEETING:                     REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  
 
AGENDA ITEM 1- Approval of the Minutes 
Tom Isaacson moved to approve the minutes from July 10, 2013 as amended.  Frances Hartogh seconded. 
The motion passed unanimously.     
 
AGENDA ITEM 2- Public Participation 
Both Andrew Shoemaker and Susan Douglass spoke in regards to the USA ProCycle Race.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 3- Director’s Updates 
FAM presentation – Council Chambers Audiovisual Upgrades 
Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manger, gave an update to the Board regarding a project 
identified to increase the usability of the Municipal Building Council Chambers with a focus on replacing 
outdated audio-visual presentation equipment to enhance the user and public experience. The map showing 
changes is saved in S:OSMP\admin\OSBT\Minutes\Minutes 2013.  
 
Open Space and Mountain Parks and Boulder County Parks and Open Space Joint Property 
Management: Superior Associates Property Management Plan 
Kacey French, Environmental Planner, gave a presentation to the Board regarding the Superior Associates 
Property Management Plan. The primary purpose of the plan is to document how Open Space and Mountain 
Parks (OSMP) will manage the jointly-owned property and to provide Boulder County Parks and Open 
Space (BCPOS) with a plan describing OSMP’s management. This presentation is saved in 

 

Boards and Commissions 3C          Page 1Packet Page     547



S:OSMP\admin\OSBT\Minutes\Minutes 2013\August. 
 
AGENDA ITEM 4- Matters from the Board 
Pro Cycle 
The Board held a discussion regarding the 2014 USA Pro Cycle Challenge, and the questions:  
A) whether Flagstaff Summit Drive is Open Space, because as part of Open Space, Charter Section 176 
restricts allowed uses to passive recreation, which this race is not; and  
B) whether the permits required to hold the race are “exclusive” or “non-exclusive”, since if they are 
“exclusive”, they are governed by Charter Section 177, which requires an affirmative vote of the OSBT.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – Recommendation to designate the ERTL property as a Habitat Conservation 
Area* 
Eric Stone, Resource Systems Division Manager, gave a presentation regarding the ERTL Property. With the 
purchase of the Energy Resource Technology Land, Inc. (ERTL) parcel, located east of the Weiser property 
and west of 95th Street along Boulder Creek, OSMP has a contiguous ownership and the opportunity for 
consistent management of the Boulder Creek Floodplain and White Rocks ecosystems. The property has 
never been open for public access and will remain closed until a management plan is developed. This memo 
describes the rationale for designating ERTL as a Habitat Conservation Area (HCA) to provide guidance for 
future management of the property. 
 
This item spurred one motion:  
Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve and recommend that the City 
Council pass a motion approving the designation of approximately 655 acres of the 685-acre ERTL 
property (8323 Valmont Road, Boulder, CO), shown in Attachment B, as part of the Lower Boulder 
Creek Habitat Conservation Area. Molly Davis seconded. This motion passed unanimously.  
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – Consideration of a motion to approve disposal of OSMP land described as a 
permanent easement on approximately 34,747 square feet or about 0.798 acres to Public Service 
Company of Colorado and Century Link to place power poles on the East Rudd property for the 
purpose of facilitating the construction of the planned Community Ditch Trail underpass at State 
Highway 93. This is a disposal of Open Space land under City Charter Section 177. * 
Jim Reeder, Land and Visitor Services Division Manager, gave a presentation regarding the disposal 
facilitating the construction of the underpass at State Highway (SH) 93. Currently, Public Service Company 
(PSCo) of Colorado has an electric power line and supporting poles that cross the area where the planned 
Community Ditch Trail underpass at SH 93 will be constructed. There are three poles that need to be 
relocated onto the OSMP property known as East Rudd. The poles cannot be relocated within Colorado 
Department of Transportation (CDOT) right-of-way (ROW) due to the grade differences and tight layout 
that will exist between the ditch, trail, underpass and retaining walls. Also, the highway itself will be 
widened to accommodate bike paths on both sides of the highway. At the present time, Century Link has a 
buried fiber cable in the CDOT ROW on SH 93. The building of the trail underpass will require this cable to 
be realigned and strung on the new power poles which PSCo will erect for its power line. 
 
This item spurred one motions: 
Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve, and recommend that City Council 
pass a motion approving, the disposal of Open Space land described as a permanent easement 
approximately 34,747 square feet, or about 0.798 acres, on the East Rudd Open Space property to 
Public Service Company of Colorado and Century Link for the placement of power poles for an 
electric power line and media cable across the East Rudd property in order to facilitate the 
construction of the planned Community Ditch Trail underpass at State Highway 93. Shelley Dunbar 
seconded. This motion passed unanimously.  
 

Boards and Commissions 3C          Page 2Packet Page     548



ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 8:33 p.m. 
 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   
None. 
 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   
The next OSBT meeting will be at 1777 Broadway in the Council Chambers September 11, 2013 at 6:00 
p.m. 
 

Boards and Commissions 3C          Page 3Packet Page     549



 

Packet Page     550



Boards and Commissions 3D        Page 1Packet Page     551



Boards and Commissions 3D        Page 2Packet Page     552



Boards and Commissions 3D        Page 3Packet Page     553



Boards and Commissions 3D        Page 4Packet Page     554



Approved by Council 10/19/04  

Council Working Agreements 
 

Council Process: 
• The Council will work on general discipline in being prepared to ask questions and make 

comments. 
• The Council asks the Mayor to intervene if discussion on agenda items extends beyond a 

reasonable time frame. 
• The council will engage in the practice of colloquy to fully explore the different sides of a 

specific point. 
• The Mayor will ask the city clerk to set the timer lights for council members if 

discussions begin to exceed efficient debate.  Members should respect the lights as a time 
reminder, but will not be bound by them as absolute limits. 

• Rather than restating a point, council members should simply say “I agree.” 
• The council agenda committee may, with advance notice, adjust each public speaker's 

time to two rather than three minutes during public hearings for items on which many 
speakers want to address the council. 

• Council members will grant each other permission to mentor and support each other on 
how each person contributes to the goal of being accountable for demonstrating 
community leadership. 

• In order to hear each other respectfully and honor the public, council will avoid body 
language that could convey disrespect, side conversations, talking to staff, whispering to 
neighboring council members, passing notes, and leaving the council chambers. 

• Regarding not revisiting past discussions, the council should check-in with fellow 
members periodically to ensure that this is not an issue. 

 
Council Communication: 

• Council members agree to keep quasi-judicial roles scrupulously clean between members 
of boards and members of council, like expressing ideas to board members on things 
coming before the Board, and carefully disclose or recuse themselves when they're is 
involvement with board members on a topic.   

• Council agrees to e-mail the city manager about issues that they run into that staff or 
boards may be working on so that the manager can be actively involved in managing 
issues and keeping the full council informed well in advance of items coming before 
council for action.  

• Members will keep the full council informed on issues from committees, public groups or 
other agencies that they are following, the a hot line e-mails, brief verbal reports at the 
end of council meetings or other means. 

• The Council will find ways to support majority council decisions and adequately inform 
the public, through response letters that explain how divergent points of view were heard 
and honored in decisions, via standard e-mail responses for hot issues, by occasional 
council Letters to the Editor to clarify the facts, or by seeking out reporters after meetings 
to explain controversial decisions. 

 
Council Committees 

• Council goal committee meetings will be scheduled to accommodate the council 
members on the committee.   

• Notice of the times and places for each goal committee meeting will be noticed once per 
month in the Daily Camera.   

• The council agenda will include time for reports from committees under Matters from 
Members of Council, noting that written communications from the committees are 
appropriate as well. 

 
 

Packet Page     555



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     556



 2013
Study Session Calendar

Printed on: 8/28/2013, 2:27 PM

Date Topic Time Televised
09/10/13 Recommended Budget #1 6-9 PM YES

09/24/13 Recommended Budget #2 6-8 PM   NO

09/24/13 Economic Sustainability Strategy 8-9 PM NO
11/26/13 No Meeting
12/10/13 Hold for CMO
12/24/13 No Meeting

Packet Page     557



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     558



September 17, 2013
Preliminary: 9/4 :: Final 9/11

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Declaration for Colorado Companies to Watch 10 Min

1st Reading Landmark Designation for 2205 Broadway
ERTL Acquisition, 1st Reading
Study Session Summary - Aug. 13

First Reading Hazardous Materials Management IGA with Boulder County 20 Mins. Time sensitive 

Parks and Recreation Master Plan 1 hour
2nd Reading - Adding a new chapter 6-16 Recreational Marijuana, and 
adding a new section 4-20-67 Recreational Marijuana Businesses 1 Hour

2nd Reading Critical Facilities and Lodging Facilities Ordinance 1 Hour

Ironman update - 2015 and Beyond 30 Min.

  

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     559



October 1, 2013
Preliminary: 9/18 :: Final 9/25

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

August 13 Study Session
First Reading, Electric Assist Bicycles Pilot Demo Project
First reading of amended ordinances regarding Voice and Sight Control evidence 
tags Moved from August Meeting Dates
Motion amending the Benson Annexation agreement
1st Readin Grandview Bungalow Relocation Project
2nd Reading Hazardous Materials Management IGA with Boulder County Time sensitive 
First Reading 500 Foot Rule & use Definitions/ BLA Structural Changes
First Reading ordinance amending the New Hire Fire and Police Money Purchase Plan
5th Reading to adopt Ordinance 7832 for Congregate Care Facilities

2nd Reading Landmark Designation for 2205 Broadway 20 Min
ERTL Acquisition, 2nd Reading 30 Min.
Public Hearing on the proposed 2014 City of Boulder Budget first reading: adopting 2014 budget, 
establishing the property tax mill levies, appropriating money, amending chapters 3-8, 3-9 and 4-20 
of BRC to change certain fees 2 Hours

October 3, 2013
Preliminary: 9/18 :: Final 9/25

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

2nd reading proposed Hogan-Pancost Annexation and request to vacate portion of right-of-way 4 Hours Scheduled per CAC

October 8, 2013
Preliminary: 9/26 :: Final 10/2

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Second reading of amended ordinances regarding Voice and Sight Control 
evidence tags 2.5 Hours Moved from August Meeting Dates
USAPCC Boulder Venue Proposal 1 Hour

  

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

Packet Page     560



October 15, 2013
Preliminary: 10/2 :: Final 10/9

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Second reading of an ordinance amending the New Hire Fire and Police Money Purchase Plan

Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to the 2014 budget of the city of 
Boulder and Boulder Junction Access Commission
Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to the 2014 budget of the city of 
Boulder, Boulder Junction Access Commission TDM
Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to 2014 CAGID Budget
Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to the 2014 budget of the City of 
Boulder University Hill Commercial District Fund
Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution formally adopting the 2014 budget for the Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority
Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to the 2014 budget of the city of 
Boulder Forest Glen Transit Pass General Improvement District Fund
Second Reading of the 2014 Budget

Consideration of a motion to adopt three resolutions pertaining to the 2014 budget of the city of 
Boulder, Boulder Junction Access Commission General Improvement District and Parking Fund 2 Hours
2014 Budget Items 2 Hours
2nd reading Alcohol: 500 Foot Rule & use Definitions/ BLA Structural Changes 2 Hours

Economic Sustainability Strategy 30 Min. None

  

October 22, 2013
Preliminary: 10/10 :: Final 10/16

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

2nd Readin Grandview Bungalow Relocation Project

If necessary: 3rd Reading Voice and Sight Control Ordinance
2nd Reading, Electric Assist Bicycles Pilot Demo Project 3 Hours

  

 

October 29, 2013
Preliminary: 10/17 :: Final 10/24

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

If necessary: Consideration of items relating to the 2014 budget Only if required
If necessary: 3rd Reading Alcohol Changes (500 Foot Rule and BLA Structure) Only if required

AMPS Update 1 Hour
Development of a Comprehensive Housing Strategy 1 Hour

  
CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: All Budget Items Will be Heard as One Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     561



November 12, 2013
Preliminary: 10/31 :: Final 11/6

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Platform of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 1 Hour

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO
November 19, 2013

10 AM Special Meeting 
Oath of Office

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Certification of Election Results and Oath of Office for new members
November 19, 2013

Preliminary: 11/6 :: Final 11/13
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

1st Reading Food Vehicle Follow Up to April 16, 2013 IP
First reading of an emergency ordinance BRC Supplement 118 Quarterly

First Reading Three NPP Expansions (in east Ridge/Pennsylvania, Mapleton, 
Whittier zones) and One Street Removal (in Fairview NPP zone)
First Reading of the Second Adjustment to Base Ordinance

  

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     562



December 3, 2013
Preliminary: 11/20 :: Final 11/27

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Second adjustment to Base - CAGID Resolution 
On the agenda right after 2nd reading 
of adj. to base

Second Reading of Second Adjustment to Base of the 2013 Budget None

Second Reading Three NPP Expansions (in east Ridge/Pennsylvania, 
Mapleton, Whittier zones) and One Street Removal (in Fairview NPP zone) 15 min.

December 17, 2013
Preliminary: 12/4 :: Final 12/11

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Tentative: 2nd Reading Food Vehicle Follow Up to April 16, 2013 IP

  

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     563



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     564



 
 
 
 

City Council Goals – 2013  
 
Top Priorities:  
 
1. Boulder’s Energy Future  
The top priority for the City in 2013 is the development of a framework for planning the 
energy future for the city of Boulder. This framework will focus on the idea of localization, 
the overarching goal of which is:  
To ensure that Boulder residents, businesses and institutions have access to energy that 
is increasingly clean, reliable and competitively priced.  
 
2. Climate Action Plan  
  
Outline the next generation of climate action efforts in Boulder  
 
Consider extension of CAP tax  
 
3. Affordable Housing  
  
Receive report of the Task force created in 2010 to evaluate goals and the approach to 
affordable housing and Based on Council review and discussion of these recommendations, 
develop an action plan to improve the availability of affordable housing in the city  
 
Consider policies regarding inclusionary housing for rental units  
 
4. Civic Center Master Plan  
  
Study and develop a master plan for the area between 15th and 9th Streets, with a focus on 
Farmer’s Market and area between Broadway and 15th Street.  
 

Packet Page     565



Next Tier Priorities:  
1. University Hill Revitalization  
  
Continue work of Ownership Group to develop comprehensive revitalization strategy  
 
Investigate formation of a general improvement district, including the commercial area and 
part of the residential area to control trash and other problems  
 
Change boundaries of BMS land use to coincide with UHGID through BVCP process  
 
Support private development and investment in Hill area  
 
Partner with CU to consider opportunities for properties in the Hill area  
 
Provide an opportunity to explore big ideas  
 
2. Homelessness  
  
Participate in Ten Year Plan to Address Homelessness  
 
Balance long term and short term approaches to address needs  
 
Invest new resources in Housing First model  
 
Work with partners, such as BOHO, to address approaches to immediate needs  
 
3. Boulder Junction Implementation  
 
Work with RTD and selected developer of site to maximize mixed use urban center  
  
Invest in planned infrastructure  
 
Achieve goals of plan while ensuring flexibility in working with developers  
 
Prioritize city actions to facilitate private investment  
 
Focus additional planning work on reconsidering use for Pollard site  
 

Packet Page     566



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 1

 
City Council 

2013 Work Plan by Council Goal 
 

TOP PRIORITIES 
 

GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr’’’sss   EEEnnneeerrrgggyyy   FFFuuutttuuurrreee   
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables  

 Recommended strategies to achieve 
community’s energy goals - Study 
Session and Public Hearing 

 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
based on the strategies 
approved by Council in 1st 
Quarter, ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at 
roundtables  

 Municipalization Exploration 
Project Work Plan Phase 2 – 
Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with updates 
to council at roundtables  

 Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables 

 Study Session  

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCllliiimmmaaattteee   AAAccctttiiiooonnn   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric 

Project 
 Climate Commitment – RFQ for 

consulting assistance for targets and 
goal setting, development of new 
GHG inventory, and tracking and 
reporting tools 

 Energy Efficiency: 
o Launch of 2013 program priorities 
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

employee education and outreach 
project (IP) 

 Disposable Bag Fee – 
implementation plan and revised 
budget (IP) 

 Transportation Master Plan (TMP) – 

 Commercial Energy Efficiency 
Strategy (CEES) - feedback on 
options (Study Session) 

 Climate Commitment – Study 
Session to review program 
annual targets, short/ long term 
goals, tracking and reporting 
systems 

 Electric/ Hybrid vehicles – 
project closeout 

 Energy Efficiency – finalize 
Market Innovations approach  
(Study Session) 

 Solar/ Wind Generation Facility 
Code Changes 

 SmartRegs – code changes 

 CEES – adopt Energy Rating and 
Reporting Ordinance 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency – launch 
Market Innovations competition 

 Zero Waste Master Plan (ZWMP) 
– draft 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency  
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

results of employee education 
and outreach (IP) 

 SmartRegs – options for quality 
control of rental housing 
inspections 

 

Packet Page     567



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 2

initial results of Transportation 
Funding Task Force (Study Session) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAffffffooorrrdddaaabbbllleee   HHHooouuusssiiinnnggg   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 ADU/ OAU – study results (IP) 
 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 

issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 Density and Distribution of 
affordable and special needs 
housing - report 

 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policy 
– consideration of ordinance 
changes following stakeholder 
engagement process 

 Mobile Homes Parks – legislative 
agenda 

 Comprehensive Housing 
Strategy 
o Stakeholder engagement 

process 
o Study Session 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCiiivvviiiccc   AAArrreeeaaa   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Board and community input 
 Council participation in Ideas 

Competition 
 

 Council direction on preferred 
option(s) and strategies  

 Draft plan  
o Development 
o Community input 
o Study Session 

 Municipal Space Study Final 
Report 

 Boulder Civic Area vision and 
plan  
o Study session 
o Public hearings on adoption 

 

 

Packet Page     568



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 3

 
NEXT TIER PRIORITIES 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUnnniiivvveeerrrsssiiitttyyy   HHHiiillllll    RRReeevvviiitttaaallliiizzzaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 2013 action priorities confirmed by 

Council at January retreat 
 Hill Residential Service District – 

update 
 Innovation District - update 

 Action on other priorities 
 Hill Residential Service District 

– 1st reading of petition 
 

 Capital infrastructure 
improvements for the residential 
and commercial areas – consider 
during CIP process 

 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAddddddrrreeessssssiiinnnggg   HHHooommmeeellleeessssssnnneeessssss      

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 City and Community Efforts – 

Denver sleeping ordinance (IP) 
 Housing First (1175 Lee Hill Road) 

– Statement of Operations (IP)  
 Work plan check in and priority – 

Council retreat 
 

 Analysis of funding for 
homeless services and 
alignment with the Ten Year 
Plan and unmet needs 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress 
update (IP) 

 Analysis and recommendations 
regarding banning panhandling on 
street corners 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress update 
(IP) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr   JJJuuunnnccctttiiiooonnn   IIImmmpppllleeemmmeeennntttaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Depot Square implementation – 

update 
 MU-4 zone change - consideration 
 TDM District Implementation 

Update (IP) 
 Update on potential policy issues 

related to key public improvements 
and city owned site (as needed) 

 Update on potential policy 
issues related to key public 
improvements and city owned 
site (as needed) 

 Boulder Junction Access District 
Parking – update  

 TDM Access District 
implementation - IP  

 

 

 
 
 

Packet Page     569



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 4

 
OTHER 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOttthhheeerrr   CCCiiitttyyy   GGGoooaaalllsss   aaannnddd   WWWooorrrkkk   PPPlllaaannn   IIIttteeemmmsss   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 13th Street Plaza - IP 
 28th Street Multi-use Path and 

Bikeable Shoulders Iris to Yarmouth 
CEAP – potential call up 

 Acquisition Plan Update - OSMP 
 Alcohol/ Land Use Code Changes – 

options and recommendations 
 Boating on Barker Reservoir 
 Burke Park/ Thunderbird Lake – 

recommendations on lake water 
levels and enhancing park facilities 

 BVCP Area III Planning Reserve 
Amendments (if approved by 
County) 

 Chautauqua Guiding Principles, 
Next Steps –update on progress 

 Civic Use Task Force – update from 
Council members 

 Cultural Master Plan 
 Design and Construction Standards 

Update – consideration of minor 
updates 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Hogan Pancost – annexation and 

site review 
o Wonderland Creek Townhouses – 

potential call up 
o 28th and Canyon (Eads/ Golden 

Buff) – potential call up 
o Landmark Lofts II (970 28th 

Street) – potential call up 
 East Arapahoe Study – potential 

action on limited zoning changes 
 Economic Sustainable Strategies – 

 Access and Parking 
Management Strategies – study 
session 

 Alcohol Land Use Code 
Changes - action 

 Baseline Underpass East of 
Broadway CEAP – Call up 

 Bike Parking Ordinance 
Updates 

 Capital Improvement Bond 
Projects status update - IP 

 Capital Projects – carry over 
and first supplemental 

 Critical Facilities Ordinance – 
public hearing and motion 

 Education Excise Tax – 
consideration of City Manager 
funding recommendations 

 Floodplain Management 
including Boulder Creek 
Mapping, South Boulder Creek 
Mitigation, and Critical 
Facilities 

 Human Rights Ordinance – 
proposed changes regarding age 
discrimination 

 Integrated Pest Management 
Program Changes - IP 

 International Building and 
Energy Codes – public hearing 

 North Boulder Subcommunity 
Plan - IP 

 Old Hire Fire and Police 
Pension Plans – Study Session 

 2014 Budget Process 
 Access and Parking Management 

strategies (update) 
 Boulder Reservoir Site 

Management Plan – status of 
planning efforts and outcomes of 
community engagement (IP) 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
study session 

 Carter Lake Pipeline – thru CIP 
process 

 Contractor Licensing – proposed 
changes (IP) 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Blue Spruce Auto (4403 

Broadway) – potential call up 
o Boulder Outlook Hotel 

Redevelopment (800 28th 
Street) –  potential call up 

o Colorado Building Parking Lot 
(1301 Walnut) - ordinances 

o 1000 Alpine – potential call up 
o 3085 Bluff – potential call up 
o 3390 Valmont (Former 

Sutherlands Site) – potential 
call up 

 Eco Pass- report on results of 
Joint Study with Boulder County 
on community-wide Eco Pass 
Feasibility 

 FAM Master Plan – study session 
 Harbeck-Bergheim House – 

Future Use Options (IP) 
 North Trail Study Area – study 

 Access and Parking Management 
Strategies – update 

 Agriculture Plan (OSMP) – public 
hearing 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
adoption of CIP; 2nd budget 
supplemental 

 Contractor Licensing – 
consideration of proposed changes 

 Design and Construction Standards 
Update – consideration of 
additional changes 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Village Shopping Center Hotel 

(26th and Canyon) – potential call 
up 

 East Arapahoe Study – check in on 
project scope and work plan (3/4Q) 

 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 
Buildings – results of employee 
education and outreach project (IP) 

 FAM Master Plan – consideration 
of acceptance 

 Fourmile Canyon Creek Violet 
Avenue to Broadway CEAP – 
potential call up 

 Human Relations Commission 
Work Plan update - IP 

 Human Services Fund allocations - 
IP 

 Light Response Vehicle Pilot 
Program - IP 

 OSMP Natural Resources 
Overarching Issues – Study session 

Packet Page     570



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 5

study session 
 Education Excise Tax Allocation of 

Funds – refine RFP criteria 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 

Buildings – employee education and 
outreach project (IP) 

 Floodplain Management including 
Boulder Creek Mapping, South 
Boulder Creek Mitigation, and 
Critical Facilities 

 Hazardous Materials Management 
IGA 

 Hydroelectric operations and 
opportunities - IP 

 Keep It Clean IGA 
 Mobile Food Vending – options for 

ordinance changes 
 Multi-hazard mitigation plan – 

possible consent item 
 Nuisance Mosquito Control Pilot 

Project Evaluation - IP 
 OSMP Overarching Issues – 

discussion and possible action on 
Voice and Sight Tag Program, 
Commercial Use Program, Pilot 
Parking Permit Program; IP on 
timeline and process for evaluation 
of remaining topics 

 Police Department Master Plan – 
Study Session 

 State of the Court Presentation 
 Sustainable Streets & Centers – 

update on proposed scope options, 
next steps and integration with 
TMP, East Arapahoe Area Plan and 
proposed Economic Sustainability 
Strategy 

 Transportation Funding (SS) 
 TMP Update – additional direction 

 OSMP natural resources – 
overarching policy issues 
o Temporal Regulations 
o Penalties for violations 
o Multi-modal access and 

parking opportunities 
o Analysis of trail network and 

distribution of activities 
 Parks and Recreation Master 

Plan 
 Pearl Street Mall Code Changes 
 Police Department Master Plan 
 Randolph Center Condominium 

Declaration 
 Recirculation of wastewater – 

CU Williams Village North (IP 
if necessary) 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell Creek 
and King’s Gulch Flood 
Mapping Update – public 
hearing and motion 

 Smoking Ban on Pearl Street 
Mall - IP 

 Snow and Ice Control 
Evaluation – study session 

 Transportation Funding – study 
session 

 TMP Update – additional 
direction 

 Twomile and Upper Goose 
Creek Flood Mapping Update – 
public hearing and motion 

 Water budgets – commercial, 
industrial and institutional – 
Council direction 

 Water supply status – IP 

session or dinner discussion 
 Old Hire Fire and Police Pension 

Plans – possible discussion during 
budget process 

 Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
 Regional Trail Connections 

(OSMP) – IP 
 South Boulder Creek Flood 

Mitigation Study – public hearing 
and motion 

 Transportation Demand 
Management Toolkit - IP 

 Valmont Butte Future Use 
Discussions – study session 

 Water Conservation Futures Study 
 Youth Opportunities Funding 

allocations - IP 

on remaining topics 
 Urban Wildlife – Consideration of 

Wildlife Protection Ordinance  
 Water budgets – commercial, 

industrial and institutional – 
consideration of changes 

Packet Page     571



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 6

 US36 Bikeway Maintenance – 
Enhancements IGA (tentative based 
on if extra community investments 
are desired) 

 Urban Wildlife – Black Bear 
Education and Enforcement pilot 
program update 

 Woodland Creek Diagonal to 
Winding Trail CEAP – potential call 
up 

 Zero Waste Master Plan Update 
 

KEY 
ADU Accessory Dwelling Units 
BVCP Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
CEAP Community and Environmental Assessment Process 
CIP Capital Improvement Program 
CU University of Colorado 
DUHMD/PS Downtown and University Hill Management District/ Parking Services (City 

Division) 
FAM Facility and Asset Management 
ICC International Code Council 
IGA Intergovernmental Agreement 
IP Information Packet 
OAU Owner Accessory Units 
OSMP Open Space/Mountain Parks Department 
RFQ Request for Qualifications 
RFP Request for Proposals 
TDM Transportation Demand Management 
TMP Transportation Master Plan 
ZWMP Zero Waste Master Plan 

 

Packet Page     572



 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS – 1ST AND 2ND QUARTER 2012  

 
TOP PRIORITIES: 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR’’’SSS   EEENNNEEERRRGGGYYY   FFFUUUTTTUUURRREEE   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Hiring of Executive Director for Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
 Retention of FERC and acquisition legal counsel 
 Initial work in developing appraisal of distribution system and preparing legal strategy 
 Initial work on Phase 1 of a new Energy Action Plan, including demand side programs and renewables modeling 
 Active participation at the PUC to advance Boulder’s energy goals and protect community interests 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility Agreement: City Council authorized the dedication of easements to Public Service 

Company of Colorado to facilitate upgrades to the city’s Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility. 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCLLLIIIMMMAAATTTEEE   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNN   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Third party review and evaluation of CAP tax funded programs to date 
 Preparation of November 2012 CAP tax ballot options for Council consideration 
 Initial steps to develop and refine a new Climate Action Framework consisting a renewed climate action commitment, five-year 

goals, annual targets, integration with appropriate master plans and city operations, and new reporting tools 
 Initial work to identify priorities for the next generation of energy efficiency programs (as part of Phase 1 of the Energy Action 

Plan) 
 Development of Commercial Energy Efficiency Strategy approach and stakeholder process (to be integrated as part of Phase 1 of 

the Energy Action Plan) 
 Continued delivery of CAP programs and services to achieve annual targets (EnergySmart, Ten for Change, SmartRegs 

compliance, etc.) 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities - (a) Energy Performance Contract (EPC) – Phase III; (b) Lease purchase financing 

for energy conservation measures; and (c) Energy improvements, lease amendments, and payments. - Implemented the third phase 
of Energy Performance Contracts (EPC) for city facilities, including the installation of another 347 kilowatts of solar photovoltaic 

Packet Page     573



 
at the Municipal Service Center buildings, Fleet Services, OSMP Annex and The Dairy Center for the Arts. 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities – Employee Education and Outreach Project (Information Packet) - A staff team 

participated in three workshops with McKinstry, the city’s Energy Performance Contractor, to help develop a new PowerED energy 
education and outreach program for employees. Program development will continue with other city staff focus groups through the 
end of December 2012. 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAFFFFFFOOORRRDDDAAABBBLLLEEE   HHHOOOUUUSSSIIINNNGGG   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Added 12 new permanently affordable homes to inventory  
 Affordable housing agreement for Gunbarrel Town Center 
 Affordable Housing Program Work plan - Council Consideration and Direction; new initiatives identified 
 Analysis completed of affordable housing distribution 
 Completed funding of major renovations to improve housing quality and economic sustainability of three BHP properties 
 Development of voluntary affordable housing agreement for Depot Square project 
 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policies – Council Consideration and Direction 
 Thistle Community Housing completing fire sprinklers in all of its properties 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCIIIVVVIIICCC   CCCEEENNNTTTEEERRR   MMMAAASSSTTTEEERRR   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Development of interdepartmental project team and approach; project goals and objectives; and public engagement strategy 
(reviewed at joint Planning Board / City Council study session in April) 
 Detailed design of community visioning process and articulation of key project assumptions (reviewed with Council at June 12 

study session) 
 Preparation of baseline materials and launch of public engagement in July. 
 The Municipal Space Study contract was awarded to StudioTerra on March 23.  FAM and the consultants are interviewing city 

departments and conducting research on industry trends and standards for office space.  Preliminary results of the space study, as it 
relates to the Civic Center Master Plan, will be presented at the July 31 study session. 

 

Packet Page     574

http://www.peoplepowerplanet.com/


 
 
 

NEXT TIER PRIORITIES: 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUNNNIIIVVVEEERRRSSSIIITTTYYY   HHHIIILLLLLL   RRREEEVVVIIITTTAAALLLIIIZZZAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Zoning change: Business Main Street (BMS) boundary to coincide with the University Hill General Improvement District 
boundary; rezoning of UHGID lots to BMS zoning (approved by Planning Board; scheduled for Council consideration in August) 
 Continued work of the Hill Ownership Group to develop a comprehensive revitalization strategy. 
 In coordination with a volunteer, stakeholder committee completed a proposal for a Residential Service District which includes: 

boundaries, scope of services, proposed budget, proposed governance structure, agreements for financial participation by tax-
exempt sororities and fraternities, and a timeline for a 2013 Petition and Election process.   
 Landmarking of Flatirons Theater building (and associated building renovation) 
 955 Broadway (Acacia Fraternity site redevelopment) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAADDDDDDRRREEESSSSSSIIINNNGGG   HHHOOOMMMEEELLLEEESSSSSSNNNEEESSSSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Council Consideration and Direction on:  1175 Lee Hill Project; added 31 permanent housing units for chronically homeless, 
disabled adults 
 Continued Homeless Service Provider Coordination Project to develop action plans for case management, outreach and service 

coordination 
 Continued implementation of Ten year Plan to Address Homelessness 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR   JJJUUUNNNCCCTTTIIIOOONNN   IIIMMMPPPLLLEEEMMMEEENNNTTTAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Developed and implemented a funding strategy to finance the acquisition of 100 parking spaces by the Boulder Junction Access 
District – Parking (BJAD-P) in the Depot Square parking garage including a Lease/Purchase Agreement between BJAD-P and the 
developer, and a City of Boulder/BJAD-P Cooperation Agreement 
 Developed a strategy to manage parking in the parking structure through technology and a management agreement among the 

Packet Page     575



 
users.  The arrangement provides for parking spaces to be paid, unbundled, and shared in a manner to meet the needs of the various 
users of Depot Square (hotel, residential, RTD) and general parking in BJAD-P spaces.  Agreement was reached with RTD 
regarding short term and long term parking management strategies given their current legislative mandate. 
 Finalized the ownership structure for five different owners to coordinate management of their units and common areas through a 

Condominium Declaration for the Depot Square project 
 Finalized a renovation agreement and lease consistent with guiding principles with Pedersen Development Corporation for the 

Depot 
 Finalized legal agreements for joint public/private development of Depot Square (RTD facility, shared parking, affordable housing, 

hotel, public space and rehabilitation of historic depot  
 Approved changes to the Transportation Network Plan in support of the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) 
 Revised Street Design for Pearl Parkway and Connections Plan Revisions (adopted by Council January 17) 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan and along with private redevelopment, a number of capital improvements are 

underway, including the installation of underground power lines, preparations for installing a traffic signal at Junction Place and 
Pearl Parkway, and portions of the Pearl Parkway multi-way boulevard 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan, design work continues for the bridge over Goose Creek and the multi-use path on the 

north side of Pearl Parkway between 30th Street and Foothills Parkway 
 Received a Federal Hazard Elimination Program grant award through the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) that will 

allow installation of a traffic signal at 29th Street and Valmont Road, improving safety and implementing improvements identified 
in the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) (project will begin in 2014)  
 Completion of engineering and building construction plan review for a 319 unit residential development at 3100 Pearl and the RTD 

Depot Square transit-oriented development  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page     576



 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   CCCIIITTTYYY   GGGOOOAAALLLSSS   AAANNNDDD   WWWOOORRRKKK   PPPLLLAAANNN   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

CCCAAAPPPIIITTTAAALLL   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   
 Anemone Trails (new) – design work completed 
 Arapahoe Avenue (Folsom to 30th) - Multimodal Improvements Project Completed construction on the Arapahoe Avenue multi-

use path project. The remaining street resurfacing and landscaping work will be completed in 2012. 
 Boulder Creek and South Boulder Creek – restoration of grassland and riparian areas continued 
 Broadway (Euclid to 18th) - Transportation Improvements Project - Made progress on the Broadway (Euclid to 18th) 

Transportation Improvements Project. 16th Street opened the first week of May and the Broadway underpass and the four lanes on 
Broadway (two in each direction) are scheduled for completion by early July. 

 Broke ground in January for a new multi-use path on the south side of Baseline, connecting U.S. 36 and the Bear Creek 
Underpass, including a pedestrian crossing for Baseline Road at Canyon Creek.  Completion of the multi-use path on the west end 
is underway through a redevelopment project. 

 Completed a new sidewalk along Gillaspie Drive, connecting Greenbriar Boulevard and Juilliard Street connecting to Fairview 
High School 

 Completed the course bunker renovation/playability project at Flatirons Golf Course by installing 19 new sand bunkers  
 Continued work at Valmont City Park, including additional construction at Valmont Bike Park; outreach and design for Valmont 

Dog Park; and design and construction of the interim disc golf course 
 Facility ADA Compliance - An Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) consultant completed comprehensive ADA assessments 

for the Park Central and Municipal buildings. Costs for the recommendations are being identified and prioritized, with other 
buildings planned for assessment. 

 Green Bear Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Gregory Canyon Trailhead Site Plan – initial site plan design work began 
 Homestead Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Library Facility Upgrades and Enhancements (New Children’s Library and New Teen Space): The selection of a design firm is 

underway 
 Linden Avenue Sidewalk Project (Safe Routes to School) - Completed a Safe Routes to School Project, providing a sidewalk on 

the north side of Linden Avenue between Fourth Street and Broadway. 
 New Wildland Fire Facilities - Responses to the request for qualifications (RFQ) for facility designs were received on May 11. 

Requests for proposals (RFP) to be sent in early June 
 Organic farming – agricultural contract written for 47 acres 

Packet Page     577



 
 Replaced traffic signal incandescent lamps with sustainable, energy-saving light-emitting diode (LED) lamps 
 Sanitas Stone Hut Repair – hut was reinforced and stonework repaired 
 South Boulder Creek West Trailhead – Parking areas for cars and horse trailers completed and open to public; working through 

permit process for outhouse and kiosk installations; interpretive signs in production 
 South Boulder Recreation Center - The contaminated sub floors from the gymnasium, racquetball court, and Pilates room have 

been removed and are expected to be replaced with new wood floors by early June 2012.  
 Street repair expanded efforts – began the first of three years 

 
OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   SSSIIIGGGNNNIIIFFFIIICCCAAANNNTTT   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNNSSS 111    
 Boulder B-cycle station at the North Boulder Recreation Center sponsored 
 Boulder Community Hospital Expansion Rezoning 
 BVCP: Area II study results and potential next steps (IP to City Council in July) 
 BVCP Comprehensive Rezoning (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 BVCP 2010 Major Update: planning reserve policy changes (study session discussion with Council on May 29; Council and 

County Commissioner dinner discussion on June 14) 
 Boulder Reservoir Master Plan completed 
 Boulder Valley School District Faculty and Staff Eco Pass Program Expansion - Continued partnership with the Boulder Valley 

School District (BVSD) to expand the BVSD faculty and staff Eco Pass program. 
 Chautauqua Stewardship Framework: Draft and Next Steps 
 City Website Redesign Kickoff - Kicked off redesign with Vision Internet and the City of Arvada. Gathered a list of key 

stakeholders and surveyed them regarding elements the new website should contain. 
 Code enforcement - reallocation of resources to the Boulder Police Department was fully implemented to ensure efficient and 

effective service delivery 
 Community and Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP) for flood mitigation and transportation improvements along Fourmile 

Canyon Creek, near Crest View Elementary School completed, including a City Council call-up opportunity. 
 Compatible Development implementation - annual report to Council 
 Congregate Care code changes (pending further consideration based on Council direction) 
 Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) procurement effort - Designed and implemented a staff engagement and 

procurement initiative to implement a new CRM application resulting in the unanimous selection of Government Outreach.  
Vendor contract negotiations are currently underway.  This initiative is designed to significantly improve our customers’ ability to 
request, track and ultimately receive more timely and effective services while providing staff with automated tools to better 

                                                 
 

Packet Page     578



 
manage these requests. 

 Disposable Bag Reduction Ordinance: research and options presented to Council on May 15; work on nexus study underway 
 Draft Fire-Rescue Master Plan completed and approved by Planning Board.   
 Economic Sustainability Strategy: phase one study of primary employer space needs underway; presentation of results to Council 

scheduled for August  
 Elks neighborhood park planning, outreach and design continued with construction and completion in 2013 
 Family Resource Center opened at Manhattan Middle School in partnership with Boulder County Housing and Human Services 
 FasTracks’ Northwest Rail Plan - Approved guiding principles for developing and designing a hybrid approach to FasTracks’ 

Northwest Rail Plan. 
 Fire Master Plan – Council feedback on strategies (April 3, 2012); Planning Board recommendation for acceptance (May 17, 

2012); Scheduled for Council consideration (June 19, 2012) 
 Heather wood Trail Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Council authorized the signing of an intergovernmental agreement 

(IGA) with Boulder County related to the maintenance of a trail that crosses the Wastewater Treatment Facility property. 
 Integrated Pest Management Policy Revision and Program Direction (Council provided direction on May 1) 
 Landmarking of First Christian Church building (950 28th Street) 
 Locomotive #30 narrow gauge historic cosmetic restoration completed  
 Mesa Memorial Park design and development initiated 
 Mosquito control annual report (Completed report on the IPM web site – link will be provided to council with first weekly 

mosquito report in June) 
 Named number 3 on list of best cities for bicycling by Bicycling Magazine, in part due to the Valmont Bike Park and new path 

connections made possible by the capital improvement bond 
 New Transportation Safety Ordinances - Approved ordinance changes to improve transportation safety in the city and initiated 

education and enforcement efforts to support the ordinance changes 
 Organic turf and landscape bed program at six park locations launched 
 Received a Safe Routes to School Grant to install a traffic signal at South Boulder Road and Manhattan Drive to create a safe 

crossing for middle school students taking transit, riding, or walking to and from school. 
 RH-2 Zone District Changes (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 Safe Streets Boulder report published in February. 
 SmartRegs - Continued the successful implementation of SmartRegs and the pilot program for rental housing licensing 

enforcement. The backlog of rental license compliance cases is almost entirely eliminated. 
 Transportation Report on Progress, Transportation to Sustain a Community published in February. 
 Valmont Butte – VCUP implementation commenced; excavation work began on April 4 with both the tribe-designated native 

cultural monitor and the city’s archaeologist consultant present.   

Packet Page     579



 
 Veterans and active duty military personnel recreation pass program developed 

 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
ADA = Americans with Disabilities Act 
BHP = Boulder Housing Partners 
BVSD = Boulder Valley School District 
BMS = Business Main Street   
CAP = Climate Action Plan 
CDOT = Colorado Department of Transportation  
EPC = Energy Performance Contract 
EET = Education Excise Tax 
FAM = Facilities and Asset Management (City Division) 
FERC = Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
IGA = Inter-governmental Agreement 
IP = Information Packet 
OSMP = Open Space/ Mountain Parks Department 
PUC = Colorado Public Utilities Commission 
RFP = Request for Proposals 
RFQ = Request for Qualifications 
RTD = Regional Transportation District 
TVAP = Transit Village Area Plan 
UHGID = University Hill General Improvement District 
VCUP = Colorado Voluntary Cleanup Program 
 
 

Packet Page     580



1/23/2013 
 

                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

Lisa Morzel  Mayor Pro Tem 
Suzy Ageton  Council Member 

KC Becker  Council Member 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

George Karakehian  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Ken Wilson  Council Member 
                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Community Planning + Sustainability -  Executive Director 

Paul J. Fetherston  Deputy City Manager 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
  Housing, Assistant City Manager for 

Mary Ann Weideman  Human Resources (Acting) Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 

Valerie Maginnis  Library and Arts Director 
Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 

Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 
Kirk Kincannon  Parks and Recreation Director 

Mark Beckner  Police Chief 
Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  

Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 
Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

 

Packet Page     581



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Karakehian, Wilson (alt) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Becker, Jones (Alternate) 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Ageton 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Plass, Morzel (at large seat) 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Wilson, Jones, Karakehian 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum, Ageton (alternate) 
US36 Commuting Solutions Ageton, Karakehian (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Morzel 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Cowles, Becker (alternate) 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Becker, Plass (alternate)  
Dairy Center for the Arts Karakehian 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Plass, Jones 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Morzel, Becker, Cowles 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Becker (appointed through 2015) 

Charter Committee Morzel, Cowles, Ageton, Karakehian 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Morzel, Jones, Becker 
Council Budget Action Plan Committee Ageton, Becker, Plass 
Evaluation Committee Karakehian, Morzel 
Legislative Committee Ageton, Karakehian, Wilson, Jones 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Ageton 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Karakehian 
Yamagata, Japan Wilson 
Mante, Mexico Plass 
Yateras, Cuba Cowles 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles 
 

Packet Page     582


	00_Agenda
	3A_August 5 Minutes
	3B_July 30 Study Session Summary on Climate Commitment
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Attachment A - July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

	3C_July 30 Study Session Summary on Civic Area Plan
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Attachment A - July 30, 2013 Study Session Summary

	3D_Fourth Reading Congregate Care
	Executive Summary
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7832
	Attachment B - Existing Snr. Housing Facilities Exempt from Proposed Code Amendments

	3E_Second Reading Deed of Vacation 6655 Lookout
	Executive Summary, recommendation
	Feedback and Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map
	Attachment B - Site Plan
	Attachment C - Ordinance No. 7924
	Attachment D - Draft Deed of Vacation

	3F_First Reading Hogan-Pancost Annexation
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Background
	Attachment B - Resolution No. 1126
	Attachment C - Ordinance No. ___ Vacating Right-of-Way
	Attachment D - Annexation Ordinance No. ___
	Attachment E - Annexation Agreement
	Attachment F - April 24, 25 and 26 Planning Board Minutes
	Attachment G - Public Comments from January 30 Open House
	Attachment H - Other Public Comments Received
	Attachment I - Annexation Map

	3G_Marijuana
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback and Requests
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Chapter 6-14 Ordinance
	Attachment B - Proposed Chapter 6-16 Ordinance
	Attachment C - Proposed Chapter 5-10 Ordinance
	Attachment D - Chart of Comparison of Requirements
	Attachment E - Colorado Municipal League Chart

	5A_Second Reading Lundgren-Harper House at 3015 Kalmia
	Executive Summary and Background
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Landmark Board Action, Feedback and Analysis
	Significance
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 7923
	Attachment B - Purposes and Intent
	Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

	5B_Second Reading ICC Adoption
	xexutive Summary, Recommendation and Impacts
	Background and Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

	5C_Police Master Plan
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Standards
	Master Plan Summary and Next Steps
	Attachment A - Police Master Plan

	5D_The Plan for Boulder's Civic Area
	Purpose, Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback, Background and Final Draft Plans 
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Boulder Civic Area Draft Plan

	7A_Ballot Order
	Summary
	Attachment A - Secretary of State Rule 6

	Information Packet
	Cover Sheet
	1A Call-up of Site & Use Review for 1852 Arapahoe - final
	2A BHPAnnualReport2012
	3A HRC  08192013
	3B  Library 07102103
	3C  OSMP  08142013
	3D  WRAB  06172013

	Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. SS Calendar
	2013 Study Session Calendar

	3. Master Calendar
	September '13
	October '13
	November '13
	December '13

	4. City Council Goals 2013
	5. Council Work Plan - 2013
	6. Workplan Update - 2012 Accomplishments
	7. Council and Key Staff
	8. Council Committee Assignments




